World Journal of *Gastroenterology*

World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1691-2004





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

World Journal of Gastroenterology

A peer-reviewed, online, open-access journal of gastroenterology and hepatology

Editorial Board

2014-2017

The World Journal of Gastroenterology Editorial Board consists of 1378 members, representing a team of worldwide experts in gastroenterology and hepatology. They are from 68 countries, including Algeria (2), Argentina (7), Australia (31), Austria (9), Belgium (11), Brazil (20), Brunei Darussalam (1), Bulgaria (2), Cambodia (1), Canada (26), Chile (4), China (163), Croatia (2), Cuba (1), Czech (6), Denmark (2), Egypt (9), Estonia (2), Finland (6), France (20), Germany (58), Greece (31), Guatemala (1), Hungary (15), Iceland (1), India (33), Indonesia (2), Iran (10), Ireland (9), Israel (18), Italy (195), Japan (151), Jordan (1), Kuwait (1), Lebanon (7), Lithuania (1), Malaysia (1), Mexico (11), Morocco (1), Netherlands (5), New Zealand (4), Nigeria (3), Norway (6), Pakistan (6), Poland (12), Portugal (8), Puerto Rico (1), Qatar (1), Romania (10), Russia (3), Saudi Arabia (2), Singapore (7), Slovenia (2), South Africa (1), South Korea (69), Spain (51), Sri Lanka (1), Sudan (1), Sweden (12), Switzerland (5), Thailand (7), Trinidad and Tobago (1), Tunisia (2), Turkey (55), United Kingdom (49), United States (180), Venezuela (1), and Vietnam (1).

EDITORS-IN-CHIEF

Stephen C Strom, Stockholm Saleh A Naser, Orlando Andrzej S Tarnawski, Long Beach Damian Garcia-Olmo, Madrid

ASSOCIATE EDITOR

Yung-Jue Bang, Seoul Vincent Di Martino, Besancon Roberto J Firpi, Gainesville Maria Gazouli, Athens Chung-Feng Huang, Kaohsiung Namir Katkhouda, Los Angeles Anna Kramvis, Johannesburg Peter L Lakatos, *Budapest* Han Chu Lee, Seoul Christine McDonald, Cleveland Nahum Mendez-Sanchez, Mexico City George K Michalopoulos, *Pittsburgh* Suk Woo Nam, Seoul Shu-You Peng, Hangzhou Daniel von Renteln, Montreal Angelo Sangiovanni, Milan Hildegard M Schuller, Knoxville Dong-Wan Seo, Seoul Jurgen Stein, Frankfurt Bei-Cheng Sun, Nanjing Yoshio Yamaoka, Yufu

GUEST EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS

Jia-Ming Chang, Taipei Jane CJ Chao, Taipei Kuen-Feng Chen, Taipei Tai-An Chiang, Tainan Yi-You Chiou, Taipei Seng-Kee Chuah, Kaohsiung Wan-Long Chuang, Kaohsiung How-Ran Guo, Tainan Ming-Chih Hou, Taipei Po-Shiuan Hsieh, Taipei Ching-Chuan Hsieh, Chiayi county Jun-Te Hsu, Taoyuan Chung-Ping Hsu, Taichung Chien-Ching Hung, Taipei Chao-Hung Hung, Kaohsiung Chen-Guo Ker, Kaohsiung Yung-Chih Lai, Taipei Teng-Yu Lee, Taichung City Wei-Jei Lee, Taoyuan Jin-Ching Lee, Kaohsiung Jen-Kou Lin, Taipei Ya-Wen Lin, Taipei Hui-kang Liu, Taipei Min-Hsiung Pan, Taipei Bor-Shyang Sheu, Tainan Hon-Yi Shi, Kaohsiung Fung-Chang Sung, Taichung Dar-In Tai, Taipei Jung-Fa Tsai, *Kaohsiung* Yao-Chou Tsai, New Taipei City Chih-Chi Wang, Kaohsiung Liang-Shun Wang, New Taipei City Hsiu-Po Wang, Taipei Jaw-Yuan Wang, *Kaohsiung* Yuan-Huang Wang, *Taipei* Yuan-Chuen Wang, Taichung Deng-Chyang Wu, Kaohsiung

Shun-Fa Yang, *Taichung* Hsu-Heng Yen, *Changhua*

MEMBERS OF THE EDITORIAL BOARD



Saadi Berkane, Algiers Samir Rouabhia, Batna

1

Argentina

N Tolosa de Talamoni, *Córdoba* Eduardo de Santibanes, *Buenos Aires* Bernardo Frider, *Capital Federal* Guillermo Mazzolini, *Pilar* Carlos Jose Pirola, *Buenos Aires* Bernabé Matías Quesada, *Buenos Aires* María Fernanda Troncoso, *Buenos Aires*



Golo Ahlenstiel, Westmead Minoti V Apte, Sydney Jacqueline S Barrett, Melbourne Michael Beard, Adelaide Filip Braet, Sydney Guy D Eslick, Sydney Christine Feinle-Bisset, Adelaide Mark D Gorrell, Sydney Michael Horowitz, Adelaide Gordon Stanley Howarth, Roseworthy Seungha Kang, Brisbane

Alfred King Lam, Gold Coast Ian C Lawrance, PerthFremantle Barbara Anne Leggett, Brisbane Daniel A Lemberg, Sydney Rupert W Leong, Sydney Finlay A Macrae, Victoria Vance Matthews, Melbourne David L Morris, Sydney Reme Mountifield, Bedford Park Hans J Netter, *Melbourne* Nam Q Nguyen, Adelaide Liang Qiao, Westmead Rajvinder Singh, Adelaide Ross Cyril Smith, *StLeonards* Kevin J Spring, Sydney Debbie Trinder, Fremantle Daniel R van Langenberg, Box Hill David Ian Watson, Adelaide Desmond Yip, Garran Li Zhang, Sydney

Austria

Felix Aigner, Innsbruck Gabriela A Berlakovich, Vienna Herwig R Cerwenka, Graz Peter Ferenci, Wien Alfred Gangl, Vienna Kurt Lenz, Linz Markus Peck-Radosavljevic, Vienna Markus Raderer, Vienna Stefan Riss, Vienna

Belgium

Michael George Adler, Brussels Benedicte Y De Winter, Antwerp Mark De Ridder, Jette Olivier Detry, Liege Denis Dufrane Dufrane, Brussels Sven M Francque, Edegem Nikos Kotzampassakis, Liège Geert KMM Robaeys, Genk Xavier Sagaert, Leuven Peter Starkel, Brussels Eddie Wisse, Keerbergen



SMP Balzan, Santa Cruz do Sul JLF Caboclo, Sao jose do rio preto Fábio Guilherme Campos, Sao Paulo Claudia RL Cardoso, Rio de Janeiro Roberto J Carvalho-Filho, Sao Paulo Carla Daltro, Salvador José Sebastiao dos Santos, Ribeirao Preto Eduardo LR Mello, Rio de Janeiro Sthela Maria Murad-Regadas, Fortaleza Claudia PMS Oliveira, Sao Paulo Júlio C Pereira-Lima, Porto Alegre Marcos V Perini, Sao Paulo Vietla Satyanarayana Rao, Fortaleza Raquel Rocha, Salvador AC Simoes e Silva, Belo Horizonte Mauricio F Silva, Porto Alefre Aytan Miranda Sipahi, Sao Paulo

Rosa Leonôra Salerno Soares, Niterói Cristiane Valle Tovo, Porto Alegre Eduardo Garcia Vilela, Belo Horizonte





Cambodia Francois Rouet, Phnom Penh



Brian Bressler, Vancouver Frank J Burczynski, Winnipeg Wangxue Chen, Ottawa Francesco Crea, Vancouver Mirko Diksic, Montreal Jane A Foster, Hamilton Hugh J Freeman, Vancouver Shahrokh M Ghobadloo, Ottawa Yuewen Gong, Winnipeg Philip H Gordon, Quebec Rakesh Kumar, Edmonton Wolfgang A Kunze, Hamilton Patrick Labonte, Laval Zhikang Peng, Winnipeg Javadev Raju, Ottawa Maitreyi Raman, Calgary Giada Sebastiani, Montreal Maida J Sewitch, Montreal Eldon A Shaffer, Alberta Christopher W Teshima, Edmonton Jean Sévigny, Québec Pingchang Yang, Hamilton Pingchang Yang, Hamilton Eric M Yoshida, Vancouver Bin Zheng, Edmonton



Chile

Marcelo A Beltran, La Serena Flavio Nervi, Santiago Adolfo Parra-Blanco, Santiago Alejandro Soza, Santiago



China Zhao-Xiang Bian, Hong Kong San-Jun Cai, Shanghai Guang-Wen Cao, Shanghai Long Chen, Nanjing Ru-Fu Chen, Guangzhou George G Chen, Hong Kong Li-Bo Chen, Wuhan Jia-Xu Chen, Beijing Hong-Song Chen, Beijing Lin Chen, *Beijing* Yang-Chao Chen, Hong Kong Zhen Chen, Shanghai

Ying-Sheng Cheng, Shanghai Kent-Man Chu, Hong Kong Zhi-Jun Dai, Xi'an Jing-Yu Deng, Tianjin Yi-Qi Du, Shanghai Zhi Du, Tianjin Hani El-Nezami, Hong Kong Bao-Ying Fei, Hangzhou Chang-Ming Gao, Nanjing Jian-Ping Gong, Chongqing Zuo-Jiong Gong, Wuhan Jing-Shan Gong, Shenzhen Guo-Li Gu, Beijing Yong-Song Guan, Chengdu Mao-Lin Guo, Luoyang Jun-Ming Guo, Ningbo Yan-Mei Guo, Shanghai Xiao-Zhong Guo, Shenyang Guo-Hong Han, Xi'an Ming-Liang He, Hong Kong Peng Hou, Xi'an Zhao-Hui Huang, Wuxi Feng Ji, Hangzhou Simon Law, Hong Kong Yu-Yuan Li, Guangzhou Meng-Sen Li, Haikou Shu-De Li, Shanghai Zong-Fang Li, Xi'an Qing-Quan Li, Shanghai Kang Li, Lasa Han Liang, Tianjin Xing'e Liu, Hangzhou Zheng-Wen Liu, Xi'an Xiao-Fang Liu, Yantai Bin Liu, Tianjin Quan-Da Liu, Beijing Hai-Feng Liu, Beijing Fei Liu, Shanghai Ai-Guo Lu, Shanghai He-Sheng Luo, Wuhan Xiao-Peng Ma, Shanghai Yong Meng, Shantou Ke-Jun Nan, Xi'an Siew Chien Ng, Hong Kong Simon SM Ng, Hong Kong Zhao-Shan Niu, Qingdao Bo-Rong Pan, Xi'an Di Qu, Shanghai Rui-Hua Shi, Nanjing Bao-Min Shi, Shanghai Xiao-Dong Sun, Hangzhou Si-Yu Sun, Shenyang Guang-Hong Tan, Haikou Wen-Fu Tang, Chengdu Anthony YB Teoh, Hong Kong Wei-Dong Tong, Chongqing Eric Tse, Hong Kong Hong Tu, Shanghai Rong Tu, Haikou Jian-She Wang, Shanghai Kai Wang, Jinan Xiao-Ping Wang, Xianyang Dao-Rong Wang, Yangzhou De-Sheng Wang, Xi'an Chun-You Wang, Wuhan Ge Wang, Chongqing



Xi-Shan Wang, Harbin Wei-hong Wang, Beijing Zhen-Ning Wang, Shenyang Wai Man Raymond Wong, Hong Kong Chun-Ming Wong, Hong Kong Jian Wu, Shanghai Sheng-Li Wu, Xi'an Wu-Jun Wu, Xi'an Qing Xia, Chengdu Yan Xin, Shenyang Dong-Ping Xu, *Beijing* Jian-Min Xu, Shanghai Wei Xu, Changchun Ming Yan, Jinan Xin-Min Yan, *Kunming* Yi-Qun Yan, Shanghai Feng Yang, Shanghai Yong-Ping Yang, Beijing He-Rui Yao, Guangzhou Thomas Yau, Hong Kong Winnie Yeo, Hong Kong Jing You, Kunming Jian-Qing Yu, Wuhan Ying-Yan Yu, Shanghai Wei-Zheng Zeng, Chengdu Zong-Ming Zhang, Beijing Dian-Liang Zhang, Qingdao Ya-Ping Zhang, Shijiazhuang You-Cheng Zhang, Lanzhou Jian-Zhong Zhang, Beijing Ji-Yuan Zhang, Beijing Hai-Tao Zhao, Beijing Jian Zhao, Shanghai Jian-Hong Zhong, Nanning Ying-Qiang Zhong, Guangzhou Ping-Hong Zhou, Shanghai Yan-Ming Zhou, Xiamen Tong Zhou, Nanchong Li-Ming Zhou, Chengdu Guo-Xiong Zhou, Nantong Feng-Shang Zhu, Shanghai Jiang-Fan Zhu, Shanghai Zhao-Hui Zhu, Beijing

Croatia

Tajana Filipec Kanizaj, Zagreb Mario Tadic, Zagreb



Czech

Jan Bures, Hradec Kralove Marcela Kopacova, Hradec Kralove Otto Kucera, Hradec Kralove Marek Minarik, Prague Pavel Soucek, Prague Miroslav Zavoral, Prague

Denmark Vibeke Andersen, *Odense*

E Michael Danielsen, Copenhagen



Mohamed MM Abdel-Latif, Assiut Hussein Atta, Cairo Ashraf Elbahrawy, Cairo Mortada Hassan El-Shabrawi, Cairo Mona El Said El-Raziky, Cairo Elrashdy M Redwan, New Borg Alrab Zeinab Nabil Ahmed Said, Cairo Ragaa HM Salama, Assiut Maha Maher Shehata, Mansoura

Estonia

Margus Lember, Tartu Tamara Vorobjova, Tartu

Finland Marko Kalliomäki, *Turku* Thomas Kietzmann, *Oulu* Kaija-Leena Kolho, *Helsinki* Eija Korkeila, *Turku* Heikki Makisalo, *Helsinki* Tanja Pessi, *Tampere*

France

Armando Abergel Clermont, Ferrand Elie K Chouillard, Polssy Pierre Cordelier, Toulouse Pascal P Crenn, Garches Catherine Daniel, *Lille* Fanny Daniel, Paris Cedric Dray, Toulouse Benoit Foligne, Lille Jean-Noel Freund, Strasbourg Hervé Guillou, Toulouse Nathalie Janel, Paris Majid Khatib, Bordeaux Jacques Marescaux, Strasbourg Jean-Claude Marie, Paris Driffa Moussata, Pierre Benite Hang Nguyen, Clermont-Ferrand Hugo Perazzo, Paris Alain L Servin, Chatenay-Malabry Chang Xian Zhang, Lyon

Germany Stavros A Antoniou, Monchengladbach Erwin Biecker, *Siegburg* Hubert E Blum, Freiburg Thomas Bock, Berlin Katja Breitkopf-Heinlein, Mannheim Elke Cario, Essen Güralp Onur Ceyhan, Munich Angel Cid-Arregui, Heidelberg Michael Clemens Roggendorf, München Christoph F Dietrich, Bad Mergentheim Valentin Fuhrmann, Hamburg Nikolaus Gassler, Aachen Andreas Geier, Wuerzburg Markus Gerhard, Munich Anton Gillessen, Muenster

Thorsten Oliver Goetze, Offenbach Daniel Nils Gotthardt, Heidelberg Robert Grützmann, Dresden Thilo Hackert, Heidelberg Joerg Haier, Muenster Claus Hellerbrand, Regensburg Harald Peter Hoensch, Darmstadt Jens Hoeppner, Freiburg Richard Hummel, Muenster Jakob Robert Izbicki, Hamburg Gernot Maximilian Kaiser, Essen Matthias Kapischke, Hamburg Michael Keese, Frankfurt Andrej Khandoga, Munich Jorg Kleeff, Munich Alfred Koenigsrainer, Tuebingen Peter Christopher Konturek, Saalfeld Michael Linnebacher, Rostock Stefan Maier, Kaufbeuren Oliver Mann, Hamburg Marc E Martignoni, Munic Thomas Minor, Bonn Oliver Moeschler, Osnabrueck Jonas Mudter, Eutin Sebastian Mueller, Heidelberg Matthias Ocker, Berlin Andreas Ommer, Essen Albrecht Piiper, Frankfurt Esther Raskopf, Bonn Christoph Reichel, Bad Brückenau Elke Roeb, Giessen Udo Rolle, Frankfurt Karl-Herbert Schafer, Zweibrücken Peter Schemmer, *Heidelberg* Andreas G Schreyer, Regensburg Manuel A Silva, Penzberg Georgios C Sotiropoulos, Essen Ulrike S Stein, Berlin Dirk Uhlmann, Leipzig Michael Weiss, Halle Hong-Lei Weng, Mannheim Karsten Wursthorn, Hamburg



Greece Alexandra Alexopoulou, Athens Nikolaos Antonakopoulos, Athens Stelios F Assimakopoulos, Patras Grigoris Chatzimavroudis, Thessaloniki Evangelos Cholongitas, Thessaloniki Gregory Christodoulidis, Larisa George N Dalekos, Larissa Urania Georgopoulou, Athens Eleni Gigi, Thessaloniki Stavros Gourgiotis, Athens Leontios J Hadjileontiadis, Thessaloniki Thomas Hyphantis, *Ioannina* Ioannis Kanellos, Thessaloniki Stylianos Karatapanis, Rhodes Michael Koutsilieris, Athens Spiros D Ladas, Athens Theodoros K Liakakos, Athens Emanuel K Manesis, Athens Spilios Manolakopoulos, Athens Gerassimos John Mantzaris, Athens Athanasios D Marinis, Piraeus



Nikolaos Ioannis Nikiteas, Athens Konstantinos X Papamichael, Athens George Sgourakis, Athens Konstantinos C Thomopoulos, Patras Konstantinos Triantafyllou, Athens Christos Triantos, Patras Georgios Zacharakis, Athens Petros Zezos, Alexandroupolis Demosthenes E Ziogas, Ioannina

Guatemala

Carlos Maria Parellada, Guatemala

Hungary

Mihaly Boros, Szeged Tamás Decsi, Pécs Gyula Farkas, Szeged Andrea Furka, Debrecen Y vette Mandi, Szeged Peter L Lakatos, Budapest Pal Miheller, Budapest Tamás Molnar, Szeged Attila Olah, Gyor Maria Papp, Debrecen Zoltan Rakonczay, Szeged Ferenc Sipos, Budapest Miklós Tanyi, Debrecen Tibor Wittmann, Szeged

Iceland Tryggvi Bjorn Stefánsson, *Reykjav*ík

india

Brij B Agarwal, New Delhi Deepak N Amarapurkar, Mumbai Shams ul Bari, Srinagar Sriparna Basu, Varanasi Runu Chakravarty, Kolkata Devendra C Desai, Mumbai Nutan D Desai, Mumbai Suneela Sunil Dhaneshwar, Pune Radha K Dhiman, Chandigarh Pankaj Garg, Mohali Uday C Ghoshal, Lucknow Kalpesh Jani, Vadodara Premashis Kar, New Delhi Jyotdeep Kaur, Chandigarh Rakesh Kochhar, Chandigarh Pradyumna K Mishra, Mumbai Asish K Mukhopadhyay, Kolkata Imtiyaz Murtaza, Srinagar P Nagarajan, New Delhi Samiran Nundy, Delhi Gopal Pande, Hyderabad Benjamin Perakath, Vellore Arun Prasad, New Delhi D Nageshwar Reddy, Hyderabad Lekha Saha, Chandigarh Sundeep Singh Saluja, New Delhi Mahesh Prakash Sharma, New Delhi Sadiq Saleem Sikora, Bangalore Sarman Singh, New Delhi Rajeev Sinha, Jhansi

Rupjyoti Talukdar, Hyderabad Rakesh Kumar Tandon, New Delhi Narayanan Thirumoorthy, Coimbatore

Indonesia David Handojo Muljono, Jakarta Andi Utama, Jakarta



Arezoo Aghakhani, *Tehran* Seyed Mohsen Dehghani, *Shiraz* Ahad Eshraghian, *Shiraz* Hossein Khedmat, *Tehran* Sadegh Massarrat, *Tehran* Marjan Mohammadi, *Tehran* Roja Rahimi, *Tehran* Farzaneh Sabahi, *Tehran* Majid Sadeghizadeh, *Tehran* Farideh Siavoshi, *Tehran*

Ireland

Gary Alan Bass, Dublin David J Brayden, Dublin Ronan A Cahill, Dublin Glen A Doherty, Dublin Liam J Fanning, Cork Barry Philip McMahon, Dublin RossMcManus, Dublin Dervla O'Malley, Cork Sinead M Smith, Dublin



Dan Carter, Ramat Gan Jorge-Shmuel Delgado, Metar Eli Magen, Ashdod Nitsan Maharshak, Tel Aviv Shaul Mordechai, Beer Sheva Menachem Moshkowitz, Tel Aviv William Bahij Nseir, Nazareth Shimon Reif, Jerusalem Ram Reifen, Rehovot Ariella Bar-Gil Shitrit, Jerusalem Noam Shussman, Jerusalem Igor Sukhotnik, Haifa Nir Wasserberg, Petach Tiqwa Jacob Yahav, Rehovot Doron Levi Zamir, Gedera Shira Zelber-Sagi, Haifa Romy Zemel, Petach-Tikva



ItalyLudovico Abenavoli, CatanzaroLuigi Elio Adinolfi, NaplesCarlo Virginio Agostoni, MilanAnna Alisi, RomePiero Luigi Almasio, PalermoDonato Francesco Altomare, BariAmedeo Amedei, FlorencePietro Andreone, BolognaImerio Angriman, PadovaVito Annese, FlorencePaolo Aurello, Rome

Salavtore Auricchio, Naples Gian Luca Baiocchi, Brescia Gianpaolo Balzano, Milan Antonio Basoli, Rome Gabrio Bassotti, San Sisto Mauro Bernardi, Bologna Alberto Biondi, Rome Ennio Biscaldi, Genova Massimo Bolognesi, Padua Luigi Bonavina, Milano Aldo Bove, Chieti Raffaele Bruno, Pavia Luigi Brusciano, Napoli Giuseppe Cabibbo, Palermo Carlo Calabrese, Bologna Daniele Calistri, Meldola Vincenza Calvaruso, Palermo Lorenzo Camellini, Reggio Emilia Marco Candela, Bologna Raffaele Capasso, Naples Lucia Carulli, Modena Renato David Caviglia, Rome Luigina Cellini, Chieti Giuseppe Chiarioni, Verona Claudio Chiesa, Rome Michele Cicala, Roma Rachele Ciccocioppo, Pavia Sandro Contini, Parma Gaetano Corso, Foggia Renato Costi, Parma Alessandro Cucchetti, Bologna Rosario Cuomo, Napoli Giuseppe Currò, Messina Paola De Nardi, Milano Giovanni D De Palma, Naples Raffaele De Palma, Napoli Giuseppina De Petro, Brescia Valli De Re, Aviano Paolo De Simone, Pisa Giuliana Decorti, Trieste Emanuele Miraglia del Giudice, Napoli Isidoro Di Carlo, Catania Matteo Nicola Dario Di Minno, Naples Massimo Donadelli, Verona Mirko D'Onofrio, Verona Maria Pina Dore, Sassari Luca Elli, Milano Massimiliano Fabozzi, Aosta Massimo Falconi, Ancona Ezio Falletto, Turin Silvia Fargion, Milan Matteo Fassan, Verona Gianfranco Delle Fave, Roma Alessandro Federico, Naples Francesco Feo, Sassari Davide Festi, Bologna Natale Figura, Siena Vincenzo Formica, Rome Mirella Fraquelli, Milan Marzio Frazzoni, Modena Walter Fries, Messina Gennaro Galizia, Naples Andrea Galli, Florence Matteo Garcovich, Rome Eugenio Gaudio, Rome Paola Ghiorzo, Genoa Edoardo G Giannini, Genova



Luca Gianotti, Monza Maria Cecilia Giron, Padova Alberto Grassi, Rimini Gabriele Grassi, Trieste Francesco Greco, Bergamo Luigi Greco, Naples Antonio Grieco, Rome Fabio Grizzi, Rozzano Laurino Grossi, Pescara Simone Guglielmetti, Milan Tiberiu Hershcovici, Jerusalem Calogero Iacono, Verona Enzo Ierardi, Bari Amedeo Indriolo, Bergamo Raffaele Iorio, Naples Paola Iovino, Salerno Angelo A Izzo, Naples Loreta Kondili, Rome Filippo La Torre, Rome Giuseppe La Torre, Rome Giovanni Latella, L'Aquila Salvatore Leonardi, Catania Massimo Libra, Catania Anna Licata, Palermo C armela Loguercio, Naples Amedeo Lonardo, Modena Carmelo Luigiano, Catania Francesco Luzza, Catanzaro Giovanni Maconi, Milano Antonio Macrì, Messina Mariano Malaguarnera, Catania Francesco Manguso, Napoli Tommaso Maria Manzia, Rome Daniele Marrelli, Siena Gabriele Masselli, Rome Sara Massironi, Milan Giuseppe Mazzarella, Avellino Michele Milella, Rome Giovanni Milito, Rome Antonella d'Arminio Monforte, Milan Fabrizio Montecucco, Genoa Giovanni Monteleone, Rome Mario Morino, Torino Vincenzo La Mura, Milan Gerardo Nardone, Naples Riccardo Nascimbeni, Brescia Gabriella Nesi, Florence Giuseppe Nigri, Rome Erica Novo, Turin Veronica Ojetti, Rome Michele Orditura, Naples Fabio Pace, Seriate Lucia Pacifico, Rome Omero Alessandro Paoluzi, Rome Valerio Pazienza, San Giovanni Rotondo Rinaldo Pellicano, Turin Adriano M Pellicelli, Rome Nadia Peparini, Ciampino Mario Pescatori, Rome Antonio Picardi, Rome Alberto Pilotto, Padova Alberto Piperno, Monza Anna Chiara Piscaglia, Rome Maurizio Pompili, Rome Francesca Romana Ponziani, Rome Cosimo Prantera, Rome Girolamo Ranieri, Bari Carlo Ratto, Tome

Barbara Renga, Perugia Alessandro Repici, Rozzano Maria Elena Riccioni, Rome Lucia Ricci-Vitiani, Rome Luciana Rigoli, Messina Mario Rizzetto, Torino Ballarin Roberto, Modena Roberto G Romanelli, Florence Claudio Romano, Messina Luca Roncucci, Modena Cesare Ruffolo, Treviso L ucia Sacchetti, Napoli Rodolfo Sacco, Pisa Lapo Sali, *Florence* Romina Salpini, Rome Giulio Aniello, Santoro Treviso Armando Santoro, Rozzano Edoardo Savarino, Padua Marco Senzolo, Padua Annalucia Serafino, Rome Giuseppe S Sica, Rome Pierpaolo Sileri, Rome Cosimo Sperti, Padua Vincenzo Stanghellini, Bologna Cristina Stasi, *Florence* Gabriele Stocco, Trieste Roberto Tarquini, Florence Mario Testini, Bari Guido Torzilli, Milan Guido Alberto Massimo, Tiberio Brescia Giuseppe Toffoli, Aviano Alberto Tommasini, Trieste Francesco Tonelli, Florence Cesare Tosetti Porretta, Terme Lucio Trevisani, Cona Guglielmo M Trovato, Catania Mariapia Vairetti, Pavia Luca Vittorio Valenti, Milano Mariateresa T Ventura, Bari Giuseppe Verlato, Verona Alessandro Vitale, Padova Marco Vivarelli, Ancona Giovanni Li Volti, Catania Giuseppe Zanotti, Padua Vincenzo Zara, Lecce Gianguglielmo Zehender, Milan Anna Linda Zignego, Florence Rocco Antonio Zoccali, Messina Angelo Zullo, Rome



Yasushi Adachi, Sapporo Takafumi Ando, Nagoya Masahiro Arai, Tokyo Makoto Arai, Chiba Takaaki Arigami, Kagoshima Itaru Endo, Yokohama Munechika Enjoji, Fukuoka Shunji Fujimori, Tokyo Yasuhiro Fujino, Akashi Toshiyoshi Fujiwara, Okayama Yosuke Fukunaga, Tokyo Toshio Fukusato, Tokyo Takahisa Furuta, Hamamatsu Osamu Handa, Kyoto Naoki Hashimoto, Osaka Yoichi Hiasa, Toon

Masatsugu Hiraki, Saga Satoshi Hirano, Sapporo Keiji Hirata, Fukuoka Toru Hiyama, Higashihiroshima Akira Hokama, Nishihara Shu Hoteya, Tokyo Masao Ichinose, Wakayama Tatsuya Ide, Kurume Masahiro Iizuka, Akita Toshiro Iizuka, Tokyo Kenichi Ikejima, Tokyo Tetsuya Ikemoto, Tokushima Hiroyuki Imaeda, Saitama Atsushi Imagawa, Kan-onji Hiroo Imazu, Tokyo Shuji Isaji, Tsu Toru Ishikawa, Niigata Toshiyuki Ishiwata, Tokyo Soichi Itaba, Kitakyushu Yoshiaki Iwasaki, Okayama Tatehiro Kagawa, Isehara Satoru Kakizaki, Maebashi Naomi Kakushima, Shizuoka Terumi Kamisawa, Tokyo Akihide Kamiya, Isehara Osamu Kanauchi, Tokyo Tatsuo Kanda, Chiba Shin Kariya, Okayama Shigeyuki Kawa, Matsumoto Takumi Kawaguchi, Kurume Takashi Kawai, Tokyo Soo Ryang Kim, Kobe Shinsuke Kiriyama, Gunma Tsuneo Kitamura, Urayasu Masayuki Kitano, Osakasayama Hirotoshi Kobayashi, Tokyo Hironori Koga, Kurume Takashi Kojima, Sapporo Satoshi Kokura, Kyoto Shuhei Komatsu, Kyoto Tadashi Kondo, Tokyo Yasuteru Kondo, Sendai Yasuhiro Kuramitsu, Yamaguchi Yukinori Kurokawa, Osaka Shin Maeda, Yokohama Koutarou Maeda, Toyoake Hitoshi Maruyama, Chiba Atsushi Masamune, Sendai Hiroyuki Matsubayashi, Suntogun Akihisa Matsuda, Inzai Hirofumi Matsui, Tsukuba Akira Matsumori, Kyoto Yoichi Matsuo, Nagoya Y Matsuzaki, Ami Toshihiro Mitaka, Sapporo Kouichi Miura, Akita Shinichi Miyagawa, Matumoto Eiji Miyoshi, Suita Toru Mizuguchi, Sapporo Nobumasa Mizuno, Nagoya Zenichi Morise, Nagoya Tomohiko Moriyama, Fukuoka Kunihiko Murase, Tusima Michihiro Mutoh, Tsukiji Akihito Nagahara, Tokyo Hikaru Nagahara, Tokyo Hidenari Nagai, Tokyo Koichi Nagata, Shimotsuke-shi



Masaki Nagaya, Kawasaki Hisato Nakajima, Nishi-Shinbashi Toshifusa Nakajima, Tokyo Hiroshi Nakano, Kawasaki Hiroshi Nakase, Kyoto Toshiyuki Nakayama, Nagasaki Takahiro Nakazawa, Nagoya Shoji Natsugoe, Kagoshima City Tsutomu Nishida, Suita Shuji Nomoto, Naogya Sachiyo Nomura, Tokyo Takeshi Ogura, Takatsukishi Nobuhiro Ohkohchi, Tsukuba Toshifumi Ohkusa, Kashiwa Hirohide Ohnishi, Akita Teruo Okano, Tokyo Satoshi Osawa, Hamamatsu Motoyuki Otsuka, Tokyo Michitaka Ozaki, Sapporo Satoru Saito, Yokohama Chouhei Sakakura, Kyoto Naoaki Sakata, Sendai Ken Sato, Maebashi Toshiro Sato, Tokyo Tomoyuki Shibata, Toyoake H Shimada, Tokyo Tomohiko Shimatani, Kure Yukihiro Shimizu, Nanto Tadashi Shimoyama, Hirosaki Masayuki Sho, Nara Ikuo Shoji, Kobe Atsushi Sofuni, Tokyo Takeshi Suda, Niigata M Sugimoto, Hamamatsu Ken Sugimoto, Hamamatsu Haruhiko Sugimura, Hamamatsu Shoichiro Sumi, Kyoto Hidekazu Suzuki, Tokyo Masahiro Tajika, Nagoya Hitoshi Takagi, Takasaki Toru Takahashi, Niigata Yoshihisa Takahashi, Tokyo Shinsuke Takeno, Fukuoka Akihiro Tamori, Osaka Kyosuke Tanaka, Tsu Shinji Tanaka, Hiroshima Atsushi Tanaka, Tokyo Yasuhito Tanaka, Nagoya Shinji Tanaka, Tokyo Minoru Tomizawa, Yotsukaido City Kyoko Tsukiyama-Kohara, Kagoshima Takuya Watanabe, Niigata Kazuhiro Watanabe, Sendai Satoshi Yamagiwa, Niigata Takayuki Yamamoto, Yokkaichi Hiroshi Yamamoto, Otsu Kosho Yamanouchi, Nagasaki Ichiro Yasuda, Gifu Yutaka Yata, Maebashi-city Shin-ichi Yokota, Sapporo Norimasa Yoshida, Kyoto Hiroshi Yoshida, Tama-City Hitoshi Yoshiji, Kashihara Kazuhiko Yoshimatsu, Tokyo Kentaro Yoshioka, Toyoake

Nobuhiro Zaima, Nara Jordan Khaled Ali Jadallah, Irbid Kuwait Islam Khan, Kuwait Lebanon

Bassam N Abboud. Beirut Kassem A Barada, Beirut Marwan Ghosn, Beirut Ivad A Issa, Beirut Fadi H Mourad, Beirut AIa Sharara, Beirut Rita Slim, Beirut



Lithuania Antanas Mickevicius, Kaunas



Malavsia Huck Joo Tan, Petaling Jaya



Mexico Richard A Awad, Mexico City Carlos R Camara-Lemarroy, Monterrey Norberto C Chavez-Tapia, Mexico City Wolfgang Gaertner, Mexico City Diego Garcia-Compean, Monterrey Arturo Panduro, Guadalajara OT Teramoto-Matsubara, Mexico City Felix Tellez-Avila, Mexico City Omar Vergara-Fernandez, Mexico City Saúl Villa-Trevino, Cuidad de México



Netherlands

Robert J de Knegt, Rotterdam Tom Johannes Gerardus Gevers, Nijmegen Menno Hoekstra, Leiden BW Marcel Spanier, Arnhem Karel van Erpecum, Utrecht



New Zealand

Leo K Cheng, Auckland Andrew Stewart Day, Christchurch Jonathan Barnes Koea, Auckland Max Petrov, Auckland



Nigeria

Olufunmilayo Adenike Lesi, Lagos Jesse Abiodun Otegbayo, Ibadan Stella Ifeanyi Smith, Lagos

Norway

Trond Berg, Oslo Trond Arnulf Buanes, Krokkleiva Thomas de Lange, Rud Magdy El-Salhy, Stord Rasmus Goll, Tromso Dag Arne Lihaug Hoff, Aalesund



Zaigham Abbas, Karachi Usman A Ashfaq, Faisalabad Muhammad Adnan Bawany, Hyderabad Muhammad Idrees, Lahore Saeed Sadiq Hamid, Karachi Yasir Waheed, Islamabad

Poland

Thomas Brzozowski, Cracow Magdalena Chmiela, Lodz Krzysztof Jonderko, Sosnowiec Anna Kasicka-Jonderko, Sosnowiec Michal Kukla, Katowice Tomasz Hubert Mach, Krakow Agata Mulak, Wroclaw Danuta Owczarek, Kraków Piotr Socha, Warsaw Piotr Stalke, Gdansk Julian Teodor Swierczynski, Gdansk Anna M Zawilak-Pawlik, Wroclaw



Portugal Marie Isabelle Cremers, Setubal Ceu Figueiredo, Porto Ana Isabel Lopes, LIsbon M Paula Macedo, Lisboa Ricardo Marcos, Porto Rui T Marinho, Lisboa Guida Portela-Gomes, Estoril



Filipa F Vale, Lisbon

Qatar Abdulbari Bener, Doha



Mihai Ciocirlan, Bucharest Dan LucianDumitrascu, Clui-Napoca Carmen Fierbinteanu-Braticevici, Bucharest Romeo G Mihaila, Sibiu Lucian Negreanu, Bucharest Adrian Saftoiu, Craiova Andrada Seicean, Cluj-Napoca Ioan Sporea, Timisoara Letiția Adela Maria Streba, Craiova Anca Trifan, Iasi





Victor Pasechnikov, Stavropol Vasiliy Ivanovich Reshetnyak, Moscow Vitaly Skoropad, Obninsk

想迎MM

Saudi Arabia

Abdul-Wahed N Meshikhes, Dammam M Ezzedien Rabie, Khamis Mushait

(***

Singapore

Brian KP Goh, Singapore Richie Soong, Singapore Ker-Kan Tan, Singapore Kok-Yang Tan, Singapore Yee-Joo Tan, Singapore Mark Wong, Singapore Hong Ping Xia, Singapore

÷

Slovenia

Matjaz Homan, Ljubljana Martina Perse, Ljubljana



South Korea

Seung Hyuk Baik, Seoul Soon Koo Baik, Wonju Soo-Cheon Chae, Iksan Byung-Ho Choe, Daegu Suck Chei Choi, Iksan Hoon Jai Chun, Seoul Yeun-Jun Chung, Seoul Young-Hwa Chung, Seoul Ki-Baik Hahm, Seongnam Sang Young Han, Busan Seok Joo Han, Seoul Seung-Heon Hong, Iksan Jin-Hyeok Hwang, Seoungnam Jeong Won Jang, Seoul Jin-Young Jang, Seoul Dae-Won Jun, Seoul Young Do Jung, Kwangju Gyeong Hoon Kang, Seoul Sung-Bum Kang, Seoul Koo Jeong Kang, Daegu Ki Mun Kang, Jinju Chang Moo Kang, Seodaemun-gu Gwang Ha Kim, Busan Sang Soo Kim, Goyang-si Jin Cheon Kim, Seoul Tae Il Kim, Seoul Jin Hong Kim, Suwon Kyung Mo Kim, Seoul Kyongmin Kim, Suwon Hyung-Ho Kim, Seongnam Seoung Hoon Kim, Goyang Sang Il Kim, Seoul Hyun-Soo Kim, Wonju Jung Mogg Kim, Seoul Dong Yi Kim, Gwangju Kyun-Hwan Kim, Seoul Jong-Han Kim, Ansan

Sang Wun Kim, Seoul Ja-Lok Ku, Seoul Kvu Taek Lee, Seoul Hae-Wan Lee, Chuncheon Inchul Lee, Seoul Jung Eun Lee, Seoul Sang Chul Lee, Daejeon Song Woo Lee, Ansan-si Hyuk-Joon Lee, Seoul Seong-Wook Lee, Yongin Kil Yeon Lee, Seoul Jong-Inn Lee, Seoul Kyung A Lee, Seoul Jong-Baeck Lim, Seoul Eun-Yi Moon, Seoul SH Noh, Seoul Seung Woon Paik, Seoul Won Sang Park, Seoul Sung-Joo Park, Iksan Kyung Sik Park, Daegu Se Hoon Park, Seoul Yoonkyung Park, *Gwangju* Seung-Wan Ryu, Daegu Il Han Song, Cheonan Myeong Jun Song, Daejeon Yun Kyoung Yim, Daejeon Dae-Yeul Yu Daejeon

iŘi

Spain Mariam Aguas, Valencia Raul J Andrade, Málaga Antonio Arroyo, Elche Josep M Bordas, Barcelona Lisardo Boscá, Madrid Ricardo Robles Campos, Murcia Jordi Camps, Reus Carlos Cervera Barcelona Alfonso Clemente, Granada Pilar Codoner-Franch, Valencia Fernando J Corrales, Pamplona Fermin Sánchez de Medina, Granada Alberto Herreros de Tejada, Majadahonda Enrique de-Madaria, *Alicante* JE Dominguez-Munoz, Santiago de Compostela Vicente Felipo, Valencia CM Fernandez-Rodriguez, Madrid Carmen Frontela-Saseta, Murcia Julio Galvez, Granada Maria Teresa García, Vigo MI Garcia-Fernandez, Málaga Emilio Gonzalez-Reimers, La Laguna Marcel Jimenez, Bellaterra Angel Lanas, Zaragoza Juan Ramón Larrubia, Guadalajara Antonio Lopez-Sanroman, Madrid Vicente Lorenzo-Zuniga, Badalona Alfredo J Lucendo, Tomelloso Vicenta Soledad Martinez-Zorzano, Vigo José Manuel Martin-Villa, Madrid Julio Mayol, Madrid Manuel Morales-Ruiz, Barcelona Alfredo Moreno-Egea, Murcia Albert Pares, Barcelona Maria Pellise, Barcelona José Perea, Madrid

Miguel Angel Plaza, Zaragoza María J Pozo, Cáceres Enrique Quintero, La Laguna Jose M Ramia, Madrid Francisco Rodriguez-Frias, Barcelona Silvia Ruiz-Gaspa, Barcelona Xavier Serra-Aracil, Barcelona Vincent Soriano, Madrid Javier Suarez, Pamplona Carlos Taxonera, Madrid M Isabel Torres, Jaén Manuel Vazquez-Carrera, Barcelona Benito Velayos, Valladolid Silvia Vidal, Barcelona



Arjuna Priyadarsin De Silva, Colombo



Sweden

Roland G Andersson, Lund Bergthor Björnsson, Linkoping Johan Christopher Bohr, Örebro Mauro D'Amato, Stockholm Thomas Franzen, Norrkoping Evangelos Kalaitzakis, Lund Riadh Sadik, Gothenburg Per Anders Sandstrom, Linkoping Ervin Toth, Malmö Konstantinos Tsimogiannis, Vasteras Apostolos V Tsolakis, Uppsala



Gieri Cathomas, *Liestal* Jean Louis Frossard, *Geneve* Christian Toso, *Geneva* Stephan Robert Vavricka, *Zurich* Dominique Velin, *Lausanne*

Thailand

Thawatchai Akaraviputh, Bangkok P Yoysungnoen Chintana, Pathumthani Veerapol Kukongviriyapan, Muang Vijittra Leardkamolkarn, Bangkok Varut Lohsiriwat, Bangkok Somchai Pinlaor, Khaon Kaen D Wattanasirichaigoon, Bangkok



Tunisia Ibtissem Ghedira, Sousse Lilia Zouiten-Mekki, Tunis





Mustafa Altindis, Sakarya Mutay Aslan, Antalya Oktar Asoglu, Istanbul Yasemin Hatice Balaban, Istanbul Metin Basaranoglu, Ankara Yusuf Bayraktar, Ankara Süleyman Bayram, Adiyaman Ahmet Bilici, Istanbul Ahmet Sedat Boyacioglu, Ankara Züleyha Akkan Cetinkaya, Kocaeli Cavit Col, Bolu Yasar Colak, Istanbul Cagatay Erden Daphan, Kirikkale Mehmet Demir, Hatay Ahmet Merih Dobrucali, Istanbul Gülsüm Ozlem Elpek, Antalya Ayse Basak Engin, Ankara Eren Ersoy, Ankara Osman Ersoy, Ankara Yusuf Ziya Erzin, Istanbul Mukaddes Esrefoglu, Istanbul Levent Filik, Ankara Ozgur Harmanci, Ankara Koray Hekimoglu, Ankara Abdurrahman Kadayifci, Gaziantep Cem Kalayci, Istanbul Selin Kapan, Istanbul Huseyin Kayadibi, Adana Sabahattin Kaymakoglu, Istanbul Metin Kement, Istanbul Mevlut Kurt, Bolu Resat Ozaras, Istanbul Elvan Ozbek, Adapazari Cengiz Ozcan, Mersin Hasan Ozen, Ankara Halil Ozguc, Bursa Mehmet Ozturk, Izmir Orhan V Ozkan, Sakarya Semra Paydas, Adana Ozlem Durmaz Suoglu, Istanbul Ilker Tasci, Ankara Müge Tecder-ünal, Ankara Mesut Tez, Ankara Serdar Topaloglu, Trabzon Murat Toruner, Ankara Gokhan Tumgor, Adana Oguz Uskudar, Adana Mehmet Yalniz, Elazig Mehmet Yaman, Elazig Veli Yazisiz, Antalya Yusuf Yilmaz, Istanbul Ozlem Yilmaz, Izmir Oya Yucel, Istanbul Ilhami Yuksel, Ankara



Navneet K Ahluwalia, Stockport Yeng S Ang, Lancashire Ramesh P Arasaradnam, Coventry Ian Leonard Phillip Beales, Norwich John Beynon, Swansea Barbara Braden, Oxford Simon Bramhall, Birmingham Geoffrey Burnstock, London Ian Chau, Sutton Thean Soon Chew, London Helen G Coleman, Belfast Anil Dhawan, London Sunil Dolwani, Cardiff Piers Gatenby, London Anil T George, London Pasquale Giordano, London Paul Henderson, Edinburgh Georgina Louise Hold, Aberdeen Stefan Hubscher, Birmingham Robin D Hughes, London Nusrat Husain, Manchester Matt W Johnson, Luton Konrad Koss, Macclesfield Anastasios Koulaouzidis, Edinburgh Simon Lal, Salford John S Leeds, Aberdeen JK K Limdi, Manchester Hongxiang Liu, Cambridge Michael Joseph McGarvey, London Michael Anthony Mendall, London Alexander H Mirnezami, Southampton J Bernadette Moore, Guildford Claudio Nicoletti, Norwich Savvas Papagrigoriadis, London Sylvia LF Pender, Southampton David Mark Pritchard, Liverpool James A Ross, Edinburgh Kamran Rostami, Worcester Xiong Z Ruan, London Dina Tiniakos, Newcastle upon Tyne Frank I Tovey, London Dhiraj Tripathi, Birmingham Vamsi R Velchuru, Great Yarmouth Nicholas T Ventham, Edinburgh Diego Vergani, London Jack Westwood Winter, Glasgow Terence Wong, London Ling Yang, Oxford



United States

Daniel E Abbott, *Cincinnati* Ghassan K Abou-Alfa, New York Julian Abrams, New York David William Adelson, Los Angeles Jonathan Steven Alexander, Shreveport Tauseef Ali, Oklahoma City Mohamed R Ali, Sacramento Rajagopal N Aravalli, Minneapolis Hassan Ashktorab, Washington Shashi Bala, Worcester Charles F Barish, Raleigh P Patrick Basu, New York Robert L Bell, Berkeley Heights David Bentrem, Chicago Henry J Binder, New Haven Joshua Bleier, Philadelphia Wojciech Blonski, Johnson City Kenneth Boorom, Corvallis Brian Boulay, Chicago Carla W Brady, Durham Kyle E Brown, Iowa City Adeel A Butt, Pittsburgh Weibiao Cao, Providence Andrea Castillo, Cheney Fernando J Castro, Weston

Adam S Cheifetz, Boston Xiaoxin Luke Chen, Durham Ramsey Cheung, Palo Alto Parimal Chowdhury, Little Rock Edward John Ciaccio, New York Dahn L Clemens, Omaha Yingzi Cong, Galveston Laura Iris Cosen-Binker, Boston Joseph John Cullen, Lowa Mark J Czaja, Bronx Mariana D Dabeva, Bronx Christopher James Damman, Seattle Isabelle G De Plaen, Chicago Punita Dhawan, Nashville Hui Dong, La Jolla Wael El-Rifai, Nashville Sukru H Emre, New Haven Paul Feuerstadt, Hamden Josef E Fischer, Boston Laurie N Fishman, Boston Joseph Che Forbi, Atlanta Temitope Foster, Atlanta Amy E Foxx-Orenstein, Scottsdale Daniel E Freedberg, New York Shai Friedland, Palo Alto Virgilio George, Indianapolis Ajay Goel, Dallas Oliver Grundmann, Gainesville Stefano Guandalini, Chicago Chakshu Gupta, St. Joseph Grigoriy E Gurvits, New York Xiaonan Han, Cincinnati Mohamed Hassan, Jackson Martin Hauer-Jensen, Little Rock Koichi Hayano, Boston Yingli Hee, Atlanta Samuel B Ho, San Diego Jason Ken Hou, Houston Lifang Hou, Chicago K-Qin Hu, Orange Jamal A Ibdah, Columbia Robert Thomas Jensen, Bethesda Huanguang "Charlie" Jia, Gainesville Rome Jutabha, Los Angeles Andreas M Kaiser, Los Angeles Avinash Kambadakone, Boston David Edward Kaplan, Philadelphia Randeep Kashyap, Rochester Rashmi Kaul, Tulsa Ali Keshavarzian, Chicago Amir Maqbul Khan, Marshall Nabeel Hasan Khan, New Orleans Sahil Khanna, Rochester Kusum K Kharbanda, Omaha Hyun Sik Kim, *Pittsburgh* Joseph Kim, Duarte Jae S Kim, Gainesville Miran Kim, Providence Timothy R Koch, Washington Burton I Korelitz, New York Betsy Kren, Minneapolis Shiu-Ming Kuo, Buffalo Michelle Lai, Boston Andreas Larentzakis, Boston Edward Wolfgang Lee, Los Angeles Daniel A Leffler, Boston Michael Leitman, New York



VIII

Suthat Liangpunsakul, Indianapolis Joseph K Lim, New Haven Elaine Y Lin, Bronx Henry C Lin, *Albuquerque* Rohit Loomba, La Jolla James David Luketich, Pittsburgh Li Ma, Stanford Mohammad F Madhoun, Oklahoma City Thomas C Mahl, Buffalo Ashish Malhotra, Bettendorf Pranoti Mandrekar, Worcester John Marks, Wynnewood Wendy M Mars, Pittsburgh Julien Vahe Matricon, San Antonio Craig J McClain, Louisville Tamir Miloh, Phoenix Ayse Leyla Mindikoglu, Baltimore Huanbiao Mo, Denton Klaus Monkemuller, Birmingham John Morton, Stanford Adnan Muhammad, Tampa Michael J Nowicki, Jackson Patrick I Okolo, Baltimore Giusepp Orlando, Winston Salem Natalia A Osna, Omaha Virendra N Pandey, Newark Mansour A Parsi, Cleveland Michael F Picco, Jacksonville Daniel S Pratt, Boston Xiaofa Qin, Newark

Janardan K Reddy, Chicago Victor E Reyes, Galveston Jon Marc Rhoads, Houston Giulia Roda, New York Jean-Francois Armand Rossignol, Tampa Paul A Rufo, Boston Madhusudana Girija Sanal, New York Miguel Saps, Chicago Sushil Sarna, Galveston Ann O Scheimann, Baltimore Bernd Schnabl, La Jolla Matthew J Schuchert, Pittsburgh Ekihiro Seki, La Jolla Chanjuan Shi, Nashville David Quan Shih, Los Angeles Shadab A Siddiqi, Orlando William B Silverman, Iowa City Shashideep Singhal, New York Bronislaw L Slomiany, Newark Steven F Solga, Bethlehem Byoung-Joon Song, Bethesda Dario Sorrentino, Roanoke Scott R Steele, Fort Lewis Branko Stefanovic, Tallahassee Arun Swaminath, New York Kazuaki Takabe, Richmond Naoki Tanaka, Bethesda Hans Ludger Tillmann, Durham George Triadafilopoulos, Stanford John Richardson Thompson, Nashville

Andrew Ukleja, Weston Miranda AL van Tilburg, Chapel Hill Gilberto Vaughan, Atlanta Vijayakumar Velu, Atlanta Gebhard Wagener, New York Kasper Saonun Wang, Los Angeles Xiangbing Wang, New Brunswick Daoyan Wei, Houston Theodore H Welling, Ann Arbor C Mel Wilcox, Birmingham Jacqueline Lee Wolf, Boston Laura Ann Woollett, Cincinnati Harry Hua-Xiang Xia, East Hanover Wen Xie, Pittsburgh Guang Yu Yang, Chicago Michele T Yip-Schneider, Indianapolis Sam Zakhari, Bethesda Kezhong Zhang, Detroit Huiping Zhou, Richmond Xiao-Jian Zhou, Cambridge Richard Zubarik, Burlington







World Journal of Gastroenterology

Contents

Weekly Volume 21 Number 6 February 14, 2015

EDITORIAL

1691 Gut microbiota and liver diseases *Minemura M, Shimizu Y*

THERAPEUTICS ADVANCES

1703 Robotic assisted Roux-en-Y hepaticojejunostomy in a post-cholecystectomy type E2 bile duct injury *Prasad A, De S, Mishra P, Tiwari A*

REVIEW

- 1707 Pancreatic cancer early detection: Expanding higher-risk group with clinical and metabolomics parameters *Urayama S*
- 1718 Vitamin D: A new player in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease? Eliades M, Spyrou E
- 1728 Biological therapy in inflammatory bowel diseases: Access in Central and Eastern Europe Rencz F, Péntek M, Bortlik M, Zagorowicz E, Hlavaty T, Śliwczyński A, Diculescu MM, Kupcinskas L, Gecse KB, Gulácsi L, Lakatos PL
- 1738 Management of patients with hepatitis B in special populations *Cholongitas E, Tziomalos K, Pipili C*

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

1749 Immunohistochemical expression of SP-NK-1R-EGFR pathway and VDR in colonic inflammation and neoplasia

Isidro RA, Cruz ML, Isidro AA, Baez A, Arroyo A, González-Marqués WA, González-Keelan C, Torres EA, Appleyard CB

- 1759 Beta-7 integrin controls enterocyte migration in the small intestine Kaemmerer E, Kuhn P, Schneider U, Clahsen T, Jeon MK, Klaus C, Andruszkow J, Härer M, Ernst S, Schippers A, Wagner N, Gassler N
- 1765 Sirtuin 1 in rat orthotopic liver transplantation: An IGL-1 preservation solution approach Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Bejaoui M, Folch-Puy E, Ben Abdennebi H, Varela AT, Rolo AP, Palmeira CM, Roselló-Catafau J
- 1775 Nitrite, a novel method to decrease ischemia/reperfusion injury in the rat liver *Björnsson B, Bojmar L, Olsson H, Sundqvist T, Sandström P*



Contents

- 1784 *In vitro* identification of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease-related protein hnRNPM *Takino J, Nagamine K, Takeuchi M, Hori T*
- 1794 Occult infection related hepatitis B surface antigen variants showing lowered secretion capacity *Kim H, Lee SA, Won YS, Lee HJ, Kim BJ*
- 1804 Overexpression of B7-H3 augments anti-apoptosis of colorectal cancer cells by Jak2-STAT3 Zhang T, Jiang B, Zou ST, Liu F, Hua D
- 1814 Overexpression of Csk-binding protein decreases growth, invasion, and migration of esophageal carcinoma cells by controlling Src activation Zhou D, Dong P, Li YM, Guo FC, Zhang AP, Song RZ, Zhang YM, Li ZY, Yuan D, Yang C

Case Control Study

- **1821** New parameter in diagnosis of acute appendicitis: Platelet distribution width *Dinc B, Oskay A, Dinc SE, Bas B, Tekin S*
- 1827 Digitally reinforced hematoxylin-eosin polarization technique in diagnosis of rectal amyloidosis Doganavsargil B, Buberal GE, Toz H, Sarsik B, Pehlivanoglu B, Sezak M, Sen S

Retrospective Cohort Study

1838 Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 protein expression and clinicopathological features in gastric cancer Chen H, Shen DP, Zhang ZZ, Liu JH, Shen YY, Ni XZ

Retrospective Study

- 1845
 Retrospective analysis of extra-gastrointestinal stromal tumors

 Yi JH, Park BB, Kang JH, Hwang IG, Shin DB, Sym SJ, Ahn HK, Lee SI, Lim DH, Park KW, Won YW, Lim SH, Park SH
- 1851 Tumor regression grades: Potential outcome predictor of locally advanced rectal adenocarcinoma after preoperative radiotherapy Peng YF, Yu WD, Pan HD, Wang L, Li M, Yao YF, Zhao J, Gu J
- 1857 Prediction of synchronous colorectal cancers by computed tomography in subjects receiving an incomplete colonoscopy: A single-center study Pang EJ, Liu WJ, Peng JY, Chen NW, Deng JH
- 1865 Prognostic factors and survival in patients with gastric stump cancer Huang H, Wang W, Chen Z, Jin JJ, Long ZW, Cai H, Liu XW, Zhou Y, Wang YN
- 1872 Application of air insufflation to prevent clinical pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy *Yang H, Lu XF, Xu YF, Liu HD, Guo S, Liu Y, Chen YX*



Contents

World Journal of Gastroenterology Volume 21 Number 6 February 14, 2015

Clinical Trials Study

1880 Effects of oral tacrolimus as a rapid induction therapy in ulcerative colitis Kawakami K, Inoue T, Murano M, Narabayashi K, Nouda S, Ishida K, Abe Y, Nogami K, Hida N, Yamagami H, Watanabe K, Umegaki E, Nakamura S, Arakawa T, Higuchi K

Observational Study

- 1887 Assessing cultural competency skills in gastroenterology fellowship training Balzora S, Abiri B, Wang XJ, McKeever J, Poles M, Zabar S, Gillespie C, Weinshel E
- 1893 Snapshot of an integrated psychosocial gastroenterology service Kinsinger SW, Ballou S, Keefer L
- **1900** Measures of patient radiation exposure during endoscopic retrograde cholangiography: Beyond fluoroscopy time

Kachaamy T, Harrison E, Pannala R, Pavlicek W, Crowell MD, Faigel DO

1907 Significance of low level infliximab in the absence of anti-infliximab antibodies *Ungar B, Anafy A, Yanai H, Ron Y, Yavzori M, Picard O, Fudim E, Loebstein R, Kopylov U, Chowers Y, Dotan I, Eliakim R, Ben-Horin S*

Prospective Study

- 1915 Human cytomegalovirus and Epstein-Barr virus infection in inflammatory bowel disease: Need for mucosal viral load measurement Ciccocioppo R, Racca F, Paolucci S, Campanini G, Pozzi L, Betti E, Riboni R, Vanoli A, Baldanti F, Corazza GR
- 1927 Acute fatty liver of pregnancy: Over six months follow-up study of twenty-five patients *Xiong HF, Liu JY, Guo LM, Li XW*
- 1932 Incidence and psychological-behavioral characteristics of refractory functional dyspepsia: A large, multicenter, prospective investigation from China *Jiang SM, Jia L, Lei XG, Xu M, Wang SB, Liu J, Song M, Li WD*

Randomized Controlled Trial

1938 Split-dose menthol-enhanced PEG vs PEG-ascorbic acid for colonoscopy preparation Sharara AI, Harb AH, Sarkis FS, Chalhoub JM, Badreddine R, Mourad FH, Othman M, Masri O

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

1945 Gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors treated with high dose octreotide-LAR: A systematic literature review

Broder MS, Beenhouwer D, Strosberg JR, Neary MP, Cherepanov D



Contents

World Journal of Gastroenterology Volume 21 Number 6 February 14, 2015

- **1956** Distinctive inflammatory bowel disease phenotype in primary sclerosing cholangitis *de Vries AB, Janse M, Blokzijl H, Weersma RK*
- **1972** Chronic hepatitis C genotype 1 treatment roadmap for resource constrained settings *Lim SG*

CASE REPORT

1982 Successful treatment of conversion chemotherapy for initially unresectable synchronous colorectal liver metastasis

Baba K, Oshita A, Kohyama M, Inoue S, Kuroo Y, Yamaguchi T, Nakamura H, Sugiyama Y, Tazaki T, Sasaki M, Imamura Y, Daimaru Y, Ohdan H, Nakamitsu A

- 1989 Rapidly aggravated skeletal muscle metastases from an intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma Lee J, Lee SW, Han SY, Baek YH, Kim SY, Rhyou HI
- **1994** Retreatment with peginterferon and ribavirin in chronic hepatitis C Jo YM, Lee SW, Han SY, Baek YH, Kim SY, Kim WJ, Ahn JH, Lee JY
- 2000 Successful treatment of complex cholangiolithiasis following orthotopic liver transplantation with interventional radiology

Zhou CG, Wei BJ, Gao K, Dai DK, Zhai RY



Contents	<i>World Journal of Gastroenterology</i> Volume 21 Number 6 February 14, 2015					
ABOUT COVER	Editorial Board Member of <i>World Journal of Gastroenterology</i> , Oliver Grundmann, PhD, Clinical Associate Professor, Director graduate online programs in Pharmaceutical Chemistry and Clinical Toxicology, Department of Medicinal Chemistry, College of Pharmacy, Department of Adult and Elderly Nursing, College of Nursing, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL 32610, United States					
AIMS AND SCOPE	World Journal of Gastroenterology (World J Gastroenterol, WJG, print ISSN 1007-9327, online ISSN 2219-2840, DOI: 10.3748) is a peer-reviewed open access journal. WJG was estab- lished on October 1, 1995. It is published weekly on the 7 th , 14 th , 21 st , and 28 th each month. The WJG Editorial Board consists of 1378 experts in gastroenterology and hepatology from 68 countries. The primary task of WJG is to rapidly publish high-quality original articles, reviews, and commentaries in the fields of gastroenterology, hepatology, gastrointestinal endos- copy, gastrointestinal surgery, hepatobiliary surgery, gastrointestinal oncology, gastroin- testinal radiation oncology, gastrointestinal imaging, gastrointestinal interventional ther- apy, gastrointestinal infectious diseases, gastrointestinal pharmacology, gastrointestinal pathophysiology, gastrointestinal laboratory medicine, gastrointestinal molecular biol- ogy, pastrointestinal immunology, gastrointestinal microbiology, gastrointestinal translational medicine, gastrointestinal diagnostics, and gastrointestinal therapeutics. WJG is dedicated to become an influential and prestigious journal in gas- troenterology and hepatology, to promote the development of above disciplines, and to improve the diagnostic and therapeutic skill and expertise of clinicians.					
INDEXING/ABSTRACTING	<i>World Journal of Gastroenterology</i> is now indexed in Current Contents [®] /Clinical Medicine, Science Citation Index Expanded (also known as SciSearch [®]), Journal Citation Reports [®] , Index Medicus, MEDLINE, PubMed, PubMed Central, Digital Object Identifier, and Directory of Open Access Journals ISI, Journal Citation Reports [®] , Gastroenterology and Hepatology, 2013 Impact Factor: 2.433 (36/74); Total Cites: 20957 (6/74); Current Articles: 1205 (1/74); and Eigenfactor [®] Score: 0.05116 (6/74).					
FLYLEAF I-IX	Editorial Board					
EDITORS FOR Response THIS ISSUE Proofing	sible Assistant Editor: Xiang Li Responsib sible Electronic Editor: Shuai Ma Proofing E g Editor-in-Chief: Lian-Sheng Ma	le Science Editor: Ya-Juan Ma Editorial Office Director: Jin-Lei Wang				
 NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Gastroenterology ISSN ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) LAUNCH DATE October 1, 1995 FREQUENCY Weekly EDITORS-IN-CHIEF Damian Garcia-Olmo, MD, PhD, Doctor, Professor, Surgeon, Department of Surgery, Universidad Autonoma de Madrid; Department of General Sur- gery, Fundacion Jimenez Diaz University Hospital, Madrid 28040, Spain Saleh A Naser, PhD, Professor, Burnett School of Biomedical Sciences, College of Medicine, University of Central Florida, Orlando, FL 32816, United States Stephen C Strom, PhD, Professor, Department of Laboratory Medicine, Division of Pathology, Karo- linska Institutet, Stockholm 141-86, Sweden 	 Andrzej S Tarnawski, MD, PhD, DSc (Med), Professor of Medicine, Chief Gastroenterology, VA Long Beach Health Care System, University of California, Irvine, CA, 5901 E. Seventh Str., Long Beach, CA 90822, United States EDITORIAL OFFICE Jin-Lei Wang, Director World Journal of Gastroenterology Room 903, Building D, Ocean International Center, No. 62 Dongsihuan Zhonglu, Chaoyang District, Beijing 100025, China Telephone: +86-10-59080039 Fax: +86-10-85381893 E-mail: editorialoffice@wignet.com Help Desk: http://www.wignet.com/seps/helpdesk.aspx http://www.wignet.com PUBLISHER Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 8226 Regency Drive, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-223-8242 Fax: +1-925-223-8243 E-mail: bpgoffice@wignet.com Help Desk http://www.wignet.com 	http://www.wjgnet.com PUBLICATION DATE February 14, 2015 COPYRIGHT © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. Articles pub- lished by this Open-Access journal are distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non- commercial License, which permits use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non commercial and is otherwise in compliance with the license. SPECIAL STATEMENT All articles published in journals owned by the Baishideng Publishing Group (BPG) represent the views and opin- ions of their authors, and not the views, opinions or policies of the BPG, except where otherwise explicitly indicated. INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS Full instructions are available online at http://www. wjgnet.com/1007-9327/g_info_20100315215714.htm ONLINE SUBMISSION http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/				



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1691 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1691-1702 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

EDITORIAL

Gut microbiota and liver diseases

Masami Minemura, Yukihiro Shimizu

Masami Minemura, the Third Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Toyama, Toyama 930-0194, Japan

Yukihiro Shimizu, Gastroenterology Center, Nanto Municipal Hospital, Toyama 932-0211, Japan

Author contributions: Minemura M wrote the second half of the manuscript; Shimizu Y organized the whole manuscript and wrote the first half of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest: The authors have no conflict-of-interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Yukihiro Shimizu, MD, PhD, Gastroenterology Center, Nanto Municipal Hospital, 936 Inami, Nanto, Toyama 932-0211, Japan. rsf14240@nifty.com

Telephone: +81-763-821475

Received: November 25, 2014

Peer-review started: November 26, 2014 First decision: December 26, 2014 Revised: January 8, 2015 Accepted: January 21, 2015 Article in press: January 21, 2015 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

Several studies revealed that gut microbiota are associated with various human diseases, *e.g.*, metabolic diseases, allergies, gastroenterological diseases, and liver diseases. The liver can be greatly affected by changes in gut microbiota due to the entry of gut bacteria or their metabolites into the liver through the portal vein, and the liver-gut axis is important to understand the pathophysiology of several liver diseases, especially non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and hepatic encephalopathy. Moreover, gut microbiota play a significant role in the development of alcoholic liver disease and hepatocarcinogenesis. Based on these previous findings, trials using probiotics have been performed for the prevention or treatment of liver diseases. In this review, we summarize the current understanding of the changes in gut microbiota associated with various liver diseases, and we describe the therapeutic trials of probiotics for those diseases.

Key words: Gut microbiota; Immune system; Liver disease; Metabolites; Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; Hepatic encephalopathy

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Gut microbiota are associated with various human diseases (*e.g.*, metabolic, gastroenterological and liver diseases, and allergies). Genomic analyses of gut microbiota have enabled the comprehensive identification of the population of gut bacteria and revealed that changes in these populations are involved in various diseases' pathophysiology. The liver is affected by changes in the intestinal milieu due to the entry of gut bacteria or their metabolites into the liver through the portal vein. Here we summarize the current understanding of changes in gut microbiota associated with various liver diseases. We also summarize the recent therapeutic trials of probiotics in liver diseases.

Minemura M, Shimizu Y. Gut microbiota and liver diseases. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1691-1702 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1691.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1691

INTRODUCTION

More than 10^{14} microorganisms live in the human gastroenterological tract, including > 10^4 bacterial species. Most of the bacteria are anaerobic, and the numbers and composition of the bacteria differ according to the site of the gut (Table $1^{[1]}$). The



WJG www.wjgnet.com

Minemura M et al. Gut microbiota and liver diseases

Table 1 Composition of gut microbiota ^[1]									
Microorganism Stomach Jejunum Ileum Colon									
Total count	$0-10^4$	$0-10^{5}$	$10^4 - 10^8$	10^{10} - 10^{12}					
Aerobic microorganisr	ns								
Streptococcus	$0-10^{3}$	$0-10^{4}$	$10^2 - 10^4$	$10^3 - 10^5$					
Enterococcus	rare	$0-10^{2}$	$10^2 - 10^4$	10^{5} - 10^{10}					
Staphylococcus	$0-10^{3}$	$0-10^{3}$	$10^2 - 10^5$	$10^4 - 10^6$					
Enterobacteria	$0-10^{2}$	$0-10^{3}$	$10^2 - 10^7$	$10^4 - 10^{10}$					
Anaerobic microorgan	Anaerobic microorganisms								
Peptostreptococcus	$0-10^{3}$	$0-10^{3}$	$10^2 - 10^6$	10^{10} - 10^{12}					
Bifidobacterium	$0-10^{2}$	$0-10^4$	$10^3 - 10^9$	$10^8 - 10^{11}$					
Lactobacillus	$0-10^{3}$	$0-10^4$	$10^2 - 10^5$	10^{6} - 10^{8}					
Clostridium	rare	rare	$10^2 - 10^4$	10^{6} - 10^{9}					
Eubacterium	rare	rare	rare	$10^9 - 10^{12}$					
Veillonella	$0-10^{2}$	$0-10^{3}$	$10^2 - 10^4$	$10^3 - 10^6$					
Fusobacterium	$0-10^{2}$	$0-10^{3}$	$10^3 - 10^4$	10^{6} - 10^{8}					
Bacteroides fragillis	rare	$0-10^{3}$	$10^3 - 10^7$	10^{10} - 10^{12}					
Prevotella	$0-10^{2}$	$10^2 - 10^4$	$10^3 - 10^4$	$10^4 - 10^5$					

numbers of bacteria increase from the stomach, to the jejunum, ileum and colon. The composition of the bacterial flora also changes according to age and diet^[2,3]. It has been clarified that gut microbiota play a critical role in the formation of the gut immune system^[4,5] and that they also affect the systemic immune system^[6,7]. Moreover, interactions between gut microbiota and the liver^[8-12] or brain^[13-15] have been analyzed. The composition of the microbiota is also associated with various diseases. In this review, we summarize the current understanding of the role of gut microbiota, especially in relation to liver diseases, and we describe relevant clinical trials of the treatment of liver diseases by probiotics.

COMPOSITION OF GUT MICROBIOTA

Methods for analyzing gut microbiota

Since most of the gut bacteria cannot be cultured, comprehensive analyses of them have been difficult^[16]. Advances in molecular biological techniques have enabled the analyses of the whole genomes of gut microbiota, and real-time PCR, microarray, and pyrosequencing have been applied to improve the resolution of the microbial biodiversity and quantification of microbial species^[17]. Among those genebased methods, DNA pyrosequencing based on 16S rRNA genes^[18] is currently the most useful method for comprehensive analysis of gut microbiota with high resolution and accurate quantification.

Composition of gut microbiota and its change according to age

Claesson *et al*^[19] analyzed the composition of intestinal microbiota by pyrosequencing of over 40000 16S rRNA gene V4 region amplicons. They found that the phylum *Bacteroides* was the most predominant species of bacteria in 68% of the individuals studied, with an average proportion of 57%, followed by the phylum *Firmicutes* with an average proportion of

40%. Other detected species were *Proteobacteria*, *Actinobacteria*, and *Faecalibacteria*. The composition differed dramatically among individuals, and was also different according to the individuals' ages. Elderly individuals were reported to show increased *Bacteroides* species diversity whereas *bifidobacteria* were reduced^[20], although contrasting results have been obtained^[21,22].

FUNCTIONS OF GUT MICROBIOTA

Digestion and metabolism

Human enzymes are known to be unable to digest complex carbohydrates and plant polysaccharides. Instead, gut microbiota ferment the non-digestible carbohydrates, including cellulose, resistant starch and inulin in the colon to yield energy for microbial growth and end products such as short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs)^[23]. The SCFAs formed are organic fatty acids, and the major SCFAs consist of acetate, propionate and butyrate. Butylate is an energy substrate for the colonic epithelium, and acetate and propionate are energy substrates for peripheral tissues^[23]. Propionic and butyric acids were shown to regulate cell proliferation and differentiation, and to induce hormone release^[24], the hepatic control of lipids, and carbohydrate metabolism^[25]. Moreover, several SCFAs have been shown to exert anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory effects^[26,27].

Immune response to gut microbiota

Although we harbor more than 10⁴ bacterial species in the gut and the composition is relatively stable in each person without causing inflammation^[28], the mechanisms responsible for maintaining the flora over the long term are not yet clearly understood. The maintenance of the gut flora may be based on immune tolerance to microbiota because of the formation of the repertoire of microbiota during early life after birth, when the immune system is too immature to eradicate intestinal micro-organisms.

Round et al^[29] showed that Bacteroides fragilis could induce immune tolerance to gut microbiota by developing and promoting functions of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells (Tregs) through polysaccharide A produced by the bacteria. In another study, certain Clostridium species, especially phylogenetic clusters IV and XIV (but not Lactobacillus or Bacteroides species) were the most effective in inducing the differentiation of Treqs^[30]. Natural killer T (NKT) cells, a subgroup of T cells that recognize self-antigens and microbial lipid antigens presented by CD1d, have an important role in the development and the composition of gut microbiota through the CD1d molecule. Conversely, the development and maturation of mucosal and systemic NKT cells are controlled by commensal gut microbiota^[31]. Moreover, CD1d presents self-antigens and microbial lipid antigens to NKT cells, which are



Table 2	Changes i	n gut microbiota in hur	man diseases ^{[35}

Diseases	Change in microbiota
Allergies	<i>Lactobacillus</i> spp.↓
	Bifidbacterium adolescentis \downarrow
	Clostridium difficile \downarrow
	Helicobacter pylori↓
Autism	Bacteroidetes ↑
	Proteobacteria ↑
	Actinobacteria \downarrow
	$Firmicutes \downarrow$
Obesity	Bacteroidetes ↓
	Lactobacillus ↑
	<i>Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes</i> ratio ↓
Type 2 Diabetes	$Firmicutes \downarrow$
	Clostridia ↓
	Betaproteobacteria ↓
	Bacteroidetes/Firmicutes ratio ↑
Celiac disease	Bacteroides vulgatus ↑
	Escherichia coli ↓
	Clostridium coccoides \downarrow

involved in the pathogenesis of human inflammatory bowel disease^[32]. Thus, cross-talk between the microbiota and CD1d-restricted NKT cells plays an important role in microbial homeostasis and intestinal inflammation.

These overall data suggest that the immune tolerance is important not only for the maintenance of gut microbiota, but also for suppressing harmful immune responses to microbiota in the gut. Inflammatory bowel diseases are now thought to be caused by an uncontrolled immune response to gut microbiota^[33].

Role of gut microbiota in the maturation of the immune system

The role of gut microbiota in gut immune maturation, including the numbers of intestinal CD4+and CD8+ T cells and dendritic cells, has been demonstrated in mice^[5]. The effect of early gut colonization on systemic immune responses was also shown by Hansen *et al*^[34], who reported that a single oral inoculation of a bacteria suspension made from caecal content of specific pathogen-free mice to germ-free mice at 3 wk of age, but not at 1 wk of age, permanently changed the gut microbiota composition, and the delayed colonization caused permanent changes in the immune systems of the mice. The mechanisms responsible for the influence of commensal bacteria on host immunity are thought to be nutrient- and metabolite-dependent.

Collectively, these data indicate an interplay between gut microbiota and the host's immune system.

GUT MICROBIOTA AND HUMAN DISEASES

Several specific changes in the composition of gut microbiota in a number of human diseases have been reported (Table $2^{[35]}$). It would be reasonable to speculate that not a single disease-causing microbe

but rather microbial dysbiosis causes those diseases.

GUT MICROBIOTA AND THE LIVER

Since 70% of the liver's blood is supplied from the portal vein, gut-derived toxins and microbial products constantly enter the liver. The liver could thus be greatly influenced by the composition and function of gut microbes, mainly by receiving metabolites derived from the microbes.

In normal conditions, small amounts of bacteria or bacterial metabolites enter the liver, and most of them are eliminated by Kupffer cells with little activation. However, when the gut-mucosal barrier is damaged by intestinal inflammation or portal hypertension, large amounts of bacteria enter the liver and activate Kupffer cells and hepatic stellate cells. One of the pathogenic bacteria-derived factors is lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and LPS activates those cells via its binding to Tolllike receptor 4 on their surface. Upon the activation of those cells, pro-inflammatory cytokines are produced and are involved in liver damage. It is of note that alcohol was shown to disrupt the intestinal epithelial cell tight junctions and impair the functioning of the gut barrier, leading to bacterial translocation and enhanced entry of bacteria metabolites into the portal vein^[36].

Moreover, the impaired motility of the intestines, increased epithelial permeability, and increased release of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the intestines found in cases of liver cirrhosis with portal hypertension may affect the liver^[37].

GUT MICROBIOTA AND LIVER DISEASES

There are several reports on the changes in gut microbiota in liver diseases, and the representative data are summarized in Table 3.

Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease

Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is a common disease all over the world, following the increasing prevalence of obesity and metabolic syndrome. About 10% of patients with NAFLD are now thought to progress to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) with the potential to develop liver cirrhosis and even hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Since it is now evident that the gut microbiota play an important role in energy storage and the subsequent development of obesity^[38], the role of gut microbiota in the development and progression of NAFLD has become a focus of research.

Indeed, the compositions of microbiota have been shown to differ in obese and lean individuals, with increased *Firmicutes* and decreased *Bacteroidetes* levels in the obese under the intake of the same amount of food^[39]. Extensive analyses of gut microbiota in patients with NAFLD have been performed recently, Minemura M et al. Gut microbiota and liver diseases

Table 3 Changes in gut microbiota in liver diseases						
Diseases	Change in microbiota	Ref.				
NAFLD	Bacteroidetes ↓					
	Prevotella ↑	[41]				
	Porphyromonas ↑					
Cirrhosis	Enterobacteriaceae \uparrow					
	<i>Streptococcaceae</i> ↑	[45,46]				
	Bifidobacteria ↓					
	Lachnospiraceae \downarrow					
	Bacteroidetes \downarrow					
	$Firmicutes \downarrow$	[47]				
	<i>Streptococcus</i> spp. ↑					
	<i>Veillonella</i> spp. ↑					
Alcoholics	Bacteroidaceae ↓	[50,51]				
	Prevotellaceae ↑					
Alcoholic liver cirrhosis	Enterobactericaea ↑	[53]				
Cirrhosis with	Porphyromonadacae \uparrow	[55]				
encephalopathy	Alcaligenacae ↑					

NAFLD: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease.

and individuals with NAFLD were found to show a lower percentage of *Bacteroidetes* and higher levels of *Prevotella* and *Porphyromonas* species compared to healthy controls. Moreover, the predisposition to develop to NAFLD was dependent on the expression of Toll-like receptors (TLR) 4 or 9, or tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) receptor^[40].

The mechanisms underlying the progression from simple fatty liver to NASH are not fully understood, but a study suggested that NASH harbors modified microbiota that produce endogenous ethanol, leading to the development of NASH^[39].

A bacteria-mediated mechanism for the progression of NASH was recently proposed by Imajo *et al*^[41]. They found that obesity-induced leptin upregulates CD14 *via* STAT3 signaling, resulting in hyper-responsibility to low-dose LPSs, leading to the liver inflammation and fibrosis of NASH.

Liver cirrhosis

In liver cirrhosis, the decreased secretions of bile acid^[42,43] and portal hypertension^[44] could affect the composition and the growth of gut microbiota. Previous studies^[45,46] revealed that the gut microbiota in patients with liver cirrhosis showed a higher prevalence of pathogenic bacteria such as Enterobacteriaceae and Streptococcaceae and a lower prevalence of beneficial bacteria such as Bifidobacteria and Lachnospiraceae compared to healthy controls. The gut microbial communities were the same irrespective of their etiologies, indicating that the composition characteristics in the liver cirrhosis patients were due mostly to the liver cirrhosis. Interestingly, a positive correlation was observed between the patients' Child-Turcotte-Pugh (CTP) scores and Streptococcaceae, whereas Lachnospiraceae was significantly decreased in the cirrhosis patients and negatively correlated with the CTP scores, suggesting a contribution of gut microbiota to the prognosis of patients with liver cirrhosis^[45,46].

Qin *et al*^[47] analyzed the gut microbiomes in liver cirrhosis patients by quantitative metagenomics, and they found that the gut microbiota in the patients contained less *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes* and more *Streptococcus* spp. and *Veillonella* spp. compared to healthy controls. Both *Streptococcus* spp. and *Veillonella* spp. are bacteria of oral origin and might be associated with the pathophysiology of liver cirrhosis. Although the functions and the contribution of these bacteria in the pathogenesis and complications of liver cirrhosis remain to be clarified, these findings could help develop a new therapeutic strategy against liver cirrhosis by focusing on the gut microbiota.

Alcoholic liver disease

Chronic alcohol consumption is related to fatty liver, liver fibrosis and liver cirrhosis, and both alcohol and acetaldehyde have been suspected to be pathogenic for liver injury. However, the importance of gut microbiota in the pathogenesis of alcoholic liver injury has been revealed. In alcohol-fed mice, Akkermansia and Bacteroides were increased, and Lactobacillus was decreased^[48]. In human alcoholics, a decrease in Bacteroidaceae and an increase in Prevotellaceae were found^[49]. Besides gut dysbiosis, increased gut permeability-due to the disruption of tight junctions caused by ethanol and acetaldehyde-leads to the increased entry of LPS, endotoxin and bacterial DNA into the liver^[50,51]. These activate Kupffer cells via TLR4 or TLR 9 on the cell surface, and induce proinflammatory cytokines from Kupffer cells^[52].

Tuomisto *et al*^[53] analyzed bacterial DNA in the feces of patients with alcoholic liver cirrhosis, and they found that the feces contained more bacterial DNA of *Enterobactericaea* compared to those of healthy volunteers. They also analyzed ascites, and found that 50% of the ascites from the alcoholic liver cirrhosis patients contained *Enterobactericaea*, a *Clostridium leptum* group or *Lactobacillus* spp.^[53].

Hepatic encephalopathy

Hepatic encephalopathy (HE) is a complication often found in patients with advanced liver cirrhosis. It greatly affects the quality of life in those patients. HE is characterized by reversible cognitive impairment which is caused not by organic organ damage but by toxic substances produced by microbiota in the intestine. Although ammonia is thought to be the main factor causing HE, other factors such as mercaptans, phenols, short- and medium-chain fatty acids and benzodiazepine-like compounds could contribute to the development of HE. Since most of these factors are derived from gut microbiota, analyses of the composition of the microbes will be important for both the understanding and management of HE.

A report from Bajaj et $al^{[54]}$ found that fecal



microbiota in cirrhotic patients contained significantly higher levels of Enterobacteriaceae, Alcaligeneceae, and Fusobacteriaceae and lower levels of Ruminococcaceae and Lachnospiraceae compared to those in controls. Moreover, in cirrhotic patients with HE, the correlation between Porphyromonadacae and Alcaligenacae with poor performance on cognitive tests was observed. However, Bajaj et al^[55] later reported that sigmoid colon mucosal microbiomes are different from stool microbiomes in patients with liver cirrhosis and HE, and they found that in patients with HE the mucosal microbiome, but not the stool microbiome, showed less Roseburia and more Enterococcus, Veillonella, Megasphaera, and Burkholderia compared to non-HE subjects. These data suggest that a stool microbiota analysis might not be enough to understand the pathogenesis of HE, and that changes in the colonic mucosal microbiota could contribute to the development of HE.

нсс

Eighty percent of HCCs develop in fibrotic or cirrhotic livers, and the main etiologies include hepatitis B, hepatitis C, and alcohol intake. However, as obesity has become more prevalent in most developed countries, the development of HCC in patients with NAFLD has been increasing. In viral hepatitis, chronic inflammation of the liver is thought to be associated with hepatocarcinogenesis, but the mechanism underlying the development of HCC in NAFLD patients has not been clarified.

Yoshimoto *et al*^[56] reported that obese mice show alterations of gut microbiota, leading to an increased production of a gut bacterial metabolite, deoxycholic acid (DCA), which is known to cause DNA damage. Increased levels of DCA in the enterohepatic circulation induce a senescence-associated secretory phenotype in the hepatic stellate cells, which secrete inflammatory and tumor-promoting factors in the liver. The obese mice showed HCC development after exposure to a chemical carcinogen. These data indicate that gut bacterial metabolites promote obesity-induced HCC development in mice. Yoshimoto *et al*^[56] also found that a similar pathway may contribute to NASHassociated HCC development in humans.

Dapito *et al*^[57] demonstrated in a mouse model that TLR4 activation by LPS from the intestinal microbiota was closely associated with injury- and inflammation-driven tumor promotion but not with the tumor initiation of hepatocarcinogenesis induced by a combination of diethylnitrosamine and the hepatotoxin carbon tetrachloride. The contribution of intestinal microbiota was confirmed by a decrease in hepatocarcinogenesis in germ-free mice compared to specific pathogen-free mice. On the other hand, a metabolite from gut microbiota, propionate, was shown to inhibit the cancer cell proliferation of liver cancer cells in the liver in a mouse model^[58].

Intratumoral interleukin-17-producing T helper cells (Th17) were found to be associated with poor prognoses of patients with HCC^[59], possibly due to the promotion of angiogenesis and tumor growth^[60], and most of these Th17 cells are generated in the gut by an interaction with gut microbiota^[61]. Therefore, there could be close associations among HCC progression, the generation of Th17 cells, and gut microbiota. Taken together, the above-described findings indicate that the development of liver cancer can be modulated by gut microbiota, suggesting the possibility of therapeutic intervention.

UTILIZATION OF PROBIOTICS IN LIVER DISEASES

Bacterial translocation and endotoxemia, which can be caused by increased permeability of the intestinal mucosa^[62], are thought to contribute to the pathogenesis of various complications in liver cirrhosis such as hepatic encephalopathy^[63,64] and spontaneous bacterial peritonitis^[65,66]. The changes of intestinal microflora might also be associated with the pathogenesis of NASH^[67]. Beneficial effects of probiotics have been reported in not only gastrointestinal but also liver diseases. Here we describe therapeutic trials using probiotics and their indications in liver diseases.

ΗE

HE is a common complication of liver cirrhosis^[63]. Gut flora are associated with the pathogenesis of HE^[64], because urease-producing gut bacteria such as Klebsiella and Proteus species can increase the production of ammonia and endotoxins. It was reported in several studies that the alteration of gut flora using probiotics and/or prebiotics could improve HE. The probiotics include strains of lactic acid bacilli (e.g., Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium), a nonpathogenic strain of Escherichia coli (e.g., E. coli Nissle 1917), Clostridium butyricum, Streptococcus salivarius, and Saccharomyces boulardii (a nonpathogenic strain of yeast), and VSL#3. The most-studied probiotic, VSL#3, consists of a mixture of eight probiotic strains (Streptococcus thermophilus, Bifidobacterium breve, B. longum, B. infantis, Lactobacillus acidophilus, L. plantarum, L. paracasei, and L. bulgaricus)^[68].

As of 2011, nine randomized controlled trials (RCTs) had been reported comparing probiotics and synbiotics with no intervention or placebo in patients with HE (Table 4)^[69-77]. Some of these studies included cases using lactulose for prebiotics or as control arms; lactulose acts by altering the colonic pH and improving gastrointestinal transit. McGee *et al*^[78] and Holte *et al*^[79] independently reported a systematic review and a meta-analysis of these randomized trials on probiotics for HE, respectively. Both groups found that patients treated with probiotics appeared to have reduced plasma ammonia concentrations compared

WJG www.wjgnet.com

Minemura M et al. Gut microbiota and liver diseases

Table 4 Randomized controlled trials for hepatic encephalopathy							
Ref.	Year Sample size		Treatment regimens	Duration	Favorable effects		
		(treatment/ placebo)					
^{1,2} Loguercio <i>et al</i> ^[69]	1987	40 (20/20)	Enterococcus Lactic Acid bacteria strain SF68 vs lactulose	10 d	NH₃↓ Performance status: improved		
² Loguercio et al ^[70]	1995	40 (21/19)	Enterococcus Lactic Acid bacteria strain SF68 vs lactulose	3 x 4 wk	NH₃↓ Psychometric test: improved		
^{1,2} Liu <i>et al</i> ^[71]	2004	55 (20/35)	Pediacoccus pentoseceus, Leuconostoc mesenteroides, Lactobacillus paracasei, and Lactobacillus plantarum with fermentable fibers vs fermentable fibers only or non-fermentable fiber	30 d	Endotoxemia↓ Child-Turcotte-Pugh classification: improved		
² Malaguarnera et al ^[72]	2007	60 (30/30)	<i>Bifidobacterium</i> (subtype not available) with fructo- oligosaccharide (FOS) <i>vs</i> mix of vitamins	90 d	NH₃↓ Psychometric test: improved		
^{1,2} Bajaj <i>et al</i> ^[73]	2008	25 (17/8)	Streptococcus thermophilus, Lactobacillus bulgaricus, Lactobacillus acidophilus, Lactobacillus casei, and Bifidobacteria vs none	60 d	Psychometric test: improved		
^{1,2} Sharma <i>et al</i> ^[74]	2008	105 (70/35)	Streptococcus faecalis, Clostridium butyricum, Bacillus mesentricus, and Lactic acid bacillus with lactulose vs lactulose	30 d	NH₃↓ Psychometric test: improved		
^{1,2} Mittal <i>et al</i> ^[75]	2011 (2009)	160 (120/40)	VSL#3 (containing Streptococcus thermophilus, Bifidobacterium breve, Bifidobacterium longum, Bifidobacterium infantis, Lactobacillus acidophilus, Lactobacillus plantarum, Lactobacillus paracasei, Lactobacillus bulgaricus) vs lactulose or placebo	3 mo	NH₃ (arterial) ↓		
¹ Malaguarnera <i>et al</i> ^[76]	2010	125 (63/62)	Bifidobacterium (subtype not available) and FOS vs lactulose	60 d	NH₃↓ Psychometric test: improved		
¹ Pereg <i>et al</i> ^[77]	2011	40 (20/20)	Lactobacillus acidophilus, Lactobacillus bulgaricus, Bifidobacterium bifidum, and Streptococcus thermophiles (Bio-plus, Supherb, Israel) vs placebo	6 mo	NH₃↓		
Agrawal <i>et al</i> ^[80]	2012	235 (157/78)	VSL#3 <i>vs</i> lactulose or none	> 3 mo	NH₃ (arterial)↓ Psychometric test: improved Secondary prophylaxis of HE		
Lunia <i>et al</i> ^[81]	2014	160 (86/74)	VSL#3 vs placebo	> 6 mo	NH₃ (arterial) ↓ Prevention of HE		

¹RCTs included in meta-analysis by McGee *et al*^[78], ²RCTs included in meta-analysis by Holte *et al*^[79].

to patients treated with placebo or no intervention, but treatment with neither probiotics nor synbiotics did not significantly alter the clinically relevant outcomes (*i.e.*, mortality and quality of life). The trials had high risks of systematic and random errors, because each sample size was small and the dosing periods and quantities of the probiotics were different among the trials.

After those meta-analyses, Agrawal et al^[80] reported a randomized trial examining the use of probiotics for the secondary prophylaxis of HE. The study assigned 235 patients who had suffered from HE previously, and the results showed that recurrent HE occurred in fewer patients who received probiotics or lactulose compared with no treatment (34% and 27%, respectively, vs 57%). There was no significant difference in recurrence rates between the patients who received probiotics and those who received lactulose. Lunia et al^[81] reported preventive effects of probiotics on the development of HE in patients with liver cirrhosis who had not experienced overt HE. Patients who received the probiotics were less likely to develop overt HE compared to controls (1.2% vs 19%; HR = 2.1). These prospective trials indicate

that probiotics could be effective in preventing overt HE.

On the other hand, *Lactobacillus* GG AT strain 53103 (LGG), which is a well-studied probiotic with a published history of safety and efficacy in humans, was examined to evaluate its safety and tolerability in patients with minimal HE^[82]. The trial showed that LGG was safe and well-tolerated in patients with cirrhosis and could cause reductions of the endotoxemia and TNF- α production seen in these patients^[82].

Among the various probiotics, the most efficacious species for HE appeared to be *Lactobacilli* and *Bifidobacteria*. However, additional prospective and randomized controlled trials are needed before these probiotics can be routinely recommended.

Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis

NAFLD is characterized by the accumulation of triglyceride in hepatocytes in non-alcohol users. NAFLD can progress to more severe liver diseases, such as NASH^[83,84]. It has been reported the NAFLD/NASH was associated with increased intestinal permeability and small bowel bacterial overgrowth, which could increase the production of proinflammatory cytokines

Table 5 Randomized controlled trials for non-alcoholic steatohepatitis								
Ref.	Year	Sample size (treatment/placebo)	Treatment regimens	Duration	Favorable effects	Other information		
¹ Aller <i>et al</i> ^[90]	2011	28 (14/14)	Lactobacillus bulgaricus and Streptococcus thermophiles vs placebo	3 mo	ALT \downarrow	Cardiovascular risk factors: NS		
¹ Vajro <i>et al</i> ^[91]	2011	20 (10/10)	Lactobacillus rhamnosus strain GG vs placebo	8 wk	ALT↓ PG-PS IgA↓	Hepatorenal US ratio: NS		
¹ Malaguarnera <i>et al</i> ^[92]	2012	66 (34/32)	Bifidobacterium longum with fructo- oligosaccharides vs placebo	24 wk	ALT ↓ CRP ↓ TNF-α ↓ LDL-cholesterol ↓ Serum endotoxin ↓ HOMA-IR↓ Steatosis ↓ NASH activity index ↓			
¹ Wong <i>et al</i> ^[93]	2013	20 (10/10)	Lactobacillus plantarum, Lactobacillus deslbrueckii, Lactobacillus acidophilus, Lactobacillus rhamnosus and Bifidobacterium bifidum (The Lepicol probiotic formula) vs usual care	6 mo	AST↓ Liver fat (IHTG)↓			

¹RCTs included in meta-analysis by Ma *et al*^[94]. PG-PS: Peptidoglycan-polysaccharide; IHTG: Intrahepatic triglyceride content; NASH: Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis; NS: Not significant.

and contribute to the pathogenesis of NASH^[85]. Several pharmacologic treatments for NAFLD/NASH have been reported, including insulin-sensitizers (*e.g.*, pioglitazone), antioxidants (*e.g.*, N-acetylcysteine, vitamin E), ursodeoxycholic acid, and anti-TNF- α agents, but a standard treatment has not been established^[86].

In animal models of NASH, treatments with probiotics such as VSL#3 improved the histological findings including reduced fat deposits and damage to the liver parenchyma, with decreasing serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels^[87,88]. VSL#3 also reduced oxidative and inflammatory liver damage in mouse NASH models^[89].

Several clinical trials of probiotics administered to patients with NAFLD have been reported. Loguercio et al^[70] found that the administration of VSL#3 might reduce liver injury and improve liver function in NAFLD patients. Four relatively high-quality RCTs that evaluated the effects of probiotics in NAFLD patients were reported (Table 5)^[90-93]. All four trials showed that probiotic therapy significantly decreased the serum levels of ALT, but only two of the trials revealed an improvement of liver steatosis, which was evaluated by repeated liver biopsies^[92] or protonmagnetic resonance^[93]. Ma *et al*^[94] performed a metaanalysis of these four RCTs to assess the efficacy of probiotic therapies, and they found that the probiotic therapy significantly decreased the levels of aminotransferases, total-cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein (HDL) and TNF- α in the serum, and the homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance. The lower levels of HDL in the probiotic-treated groups compared to the placebo groups was unexpected, and the mechanism is unclear. In two of the RCTs, probiotics were used with prebiotics in NAFLD patients, and the combination significantly reduced the patients' serum aminotransferase levels and liver steatosis.

Lactobacillus, bifidobacterium, and *streptococcus* are used as probiotics for patients with NASH, and prebiotics such as fructo-oligosaccharides (FOS) are frequently used with these probiotics because they can be fermented by *bifidobacteria* and *lactobacilli*^[95]. FOS could contribute to *bifidobacteria* growth as the dominant species in the large bowel and reduce the growth of harmful bacteria^[96].

Although the above-described studies have several limitations including small sample sizes and a lack of data about the patients' diets and exercise, the treatments with probiotics and prebiotics for patients with NAFLD are promising.

Alcoholic liver disease

The chronic consumption of alcohol induces various biological abnormalities including liver injury (ranging from fatty liver, liver fibrosis, and alcoholic hepatitis to liver cirrhosis), pancreatitis, impaired neutrophil functions, endotoxemia, and increased oxidative stress in the gut. Most of these abnormalities could be associated with altered gut microbiota, raising the possibility that probiotics would be effective for the improvement of these conditions.

In an open-label study with *Lactobacillus casei Shirota*^[97], patients with alcoholic cirrhosis who received the probiotic for 4 wk showed a restoration of neutrophil phagocytic capacity, possibly due to the decreased expression of TLR4 on the surface of these cells. In a mouse model fed an ethanol-containing diet, heat-killed *Lactobacillus brevis* (*L. brevis*) SBC8803 significantly decreased the serum levels of ALT and AST and the hepatic content of triglyceride and total cholesterol in the liver caused by ethanol, which may be associated with the up-regulation of TNF- α and sterol regulatory element-binding proteins in the liver^[98].

In a pilot study reported by Kirpich *et al*^[99], alcoholic patients who received*bifidobacteria*and</sup>

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

lactobacilli for 5 d showed increased numbers of those bacteria in the gut, and they showed significantly lower AST and ALT activity in the serum, indicating that a short-term administration of probiotics can change the gut microbiota, leading to the amelioration of liver injury induced by chronic alcohol consumption. The therapeutic effect of probiotics could be due to a reduction in oxidative stress and inflammation in the intestine and liver and the preservation of gut barrier function^[100]. *L. plantarum* was recently microencapsulated and administered to rats chronically fed alcohol^[101]. The rats showed reductions in the levels of endotoxemia, serum aminotransferase, NF- κ B, cytokines such as TNF- α , and IL12/p40, and they also showed improvements in the histology of the intestine and liver. Considering the greater survival of probiotics under gastric acidic conditions, this approach might be efficacious. However, the bacteriafree culture supernatant of Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG was proven to suppress the alcohol-induced intestinal permeability, endotoxemia and subsequent liver injury^[102]. It thus remains uncertain whether the survival of probiotics is necessary for obtaining the optimal effect of treatment with probiotics.

нсс

Most HCCs develop in the liver chronically infected by Hepatitis B or C virus. However, with the increasing prevalence of metabolic syndrome, the incidence of HCC from NASH has been increasing^[103]. Although the mechanism of HCC development from NASH in association with dysbiosis of gut microbiota has been proposed as mentioned above, no therapeutic trials for the prevention of HCC in patients with NASH have been reported, to our knowledge. Reports of the therapeutic prevention of HCC using probiotics are limited to aflatoxin-induced HCC. In a clinical study, healthy but aflatoxin-exposed subjects were randomly assigned to two groups; one group received a mixture of Lactobacillus rhamnosus LC705 and Propionibacterium freudenreichii subsp. shermanii strains and the other received a placebo, and the groups' urinary excretions of aflatoxin-DNA adduct (aflatoxin B(1)-N(7)guanine) were compared^[104]. The results showed that the elevated urinary excretion of aflatoxin B(1)-N(7)-guanine was significantly decreased in the probiotics group but not in the controls, suggesting the inhibition of the intestinal absorption of aflatoxin B(1) by probiotics^[104]. These data may also indicate that probiotics therapy could contribute to the inhibition of aflatoxin B-induced hepatocarcinogenesis. In a rat study examining the effects of probiotic fermented milk and chlorophyllin on the prevention of aflatoxin-induced hepatocarcinogenesis, the probiotics treatment reduced the expressions of c-myc, bcl-2, cyclin D1 and rasp-21, suggesting the protective potential of the probiotics in aflatoxin-induced hepatocarcinogenesis^[105].

Surgical procedures

Probiotic and symbiotic therapies have been attempted to maintain liver function or prevent post-surgical infections in patients undergoing liver resection or liver transplantation.

Rayes reported a randomized double-blind study with a composition of four lactic acid bacteria (Pediacoccus pentosaceus 5-33:3, Leuconostoc mesenteroides 77:1, Lactobacillus paracasei ssp. paracasei F19, and *L. plantarum* 2362) and four fibers^[106]. The treated group received probiotics for 15 d, and the control group received fibers only. The treated group showed less post-operative infections (3% in the treated group vs 48% in the control group) and needed shorter antibiotic therapy compared to the control group. Similar results were obtained in a study conducted in Japan^[107] in which probiotics treatment reduced the perioperative infections in liver transplantation recipients from 24% to 4%. In another study, treatment with probiotics 3 d preoperatively and 7 d postoperatively was found to be efficacious for the better and faster recovery of liver functions^[108]. These data suggest that perioperative probiotics or synbiotics may have significant benefits by reducing infections and by maintaining liver functions in patients undergoing liver resection or liver transplantation.

REFERENCES

- 1 **Orrhage K**, Nord CE. Bifidobacteria and lactobacilli in human health. *Drugs Exp Clin Res* 2000; **26**: 95-111 [PMID: 10941602]
- 2 Patrignani P, Tacconelli S, Bruno A. Gut microbiota, host gene expression, and aging. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2014; 48 Suppl 1: S28-S31 [PMID: 25291121]
- 3 Voreades N, Kozil A, Weir TL. Diet and the development of the human intestinal microbiome. *Front Microbiol* 2014; 5: 494 [PMID: 25295033 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00494]
- 4 Neish AS. Mucosal immunity and the microbiome. *Ann Am Thorac* Soc 2014; 11 Suppl 1: S28-S32 [PMID: 24437401]
- 5 Chung H, Pamp SJ, Hill JA, Surana NK, Edelman SM, Troy EB, Reading NC, Villablanca EJ, Wang S, Mora JR, Umesaki Y, Mathis D, Benoist C, Relman DA, Kasper DL. Gut immune maturation depends on colonization with a host-specific microbiota. *Cell* 2012; **149**: 1578-1593 [PMID: 22726443 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2012. 04.037]
- 6 Kamada N, Seo SU, Chen GY, Núñez G. Role of the gut microbiota in immunity and inflammatory disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2013; 13: 321-335 [PMID: 23618829 DOI: 10.1038/nri3430]
- 7 Spasova DS, Surh CD. Blowing on embers: commensal microbiota and our immune system. *Front Immunol* 2014; 5: 318 [PMID: 25120539 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00318]
- 8 **Quigley EM**, Monsour HP. The gut microbiota and the liver: implications for clinical practice. *Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013; 7: 723-732 [PMID: 24134195 DOI: 10.1586/17474 124.2013.848167]
- 9 Chassaing B, Etienne-Mesmin L, Gewirtz AT. Microbiota-liver axis in hepatic disease. *Hepatology* 2014; 59: 328-339 [PMID: 23703735 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26494]
- 10 Goel A, Gupta M, Aggarwal R. Gut microbiota and liver disease. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014; 29: 1139-1148 [PMID: 24547986 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.12556]
- Visschers RG, Luyer MD, Schaap FG, Olde Damink SW, Soeters PB. The gut-liver axis. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* 2013; 16:

Minemura M et al. Gut microbiota and liver diseases

576-581 [PMID: 23873346 DOI: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e32836410a4]

- 12 Schnabl B, Brenner DA. Interactions between the intestinal microbiome and liver diseases. *Gastroenterology* 2014; 146: 1513-1524 [PMID: 24440671 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.01.020]
- 13 Bruce-Keller AJ, Salbaum JM, Luo M, Blanchard E 4th, Taylor CM, Welsh DA, Berthoud HR. Obese-type Gut Microbiota Induce Neurobehavioral Changes in the Absence of Obesity. *Biol Psychiatry* 2014; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 25173628]
- 14 Hyland NP, Quigley EM, Brint E. Microbiota-host interactions in irritable bowel syndrome: epithelial barrier, immune regulation and brain-gut interactions. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 8859-8866 [PMID: 25083059]
- 15 **O'Mahony SM**, Clarke G, Borre YE, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. Serotonin, tryptophan metabolism and the brain-gut-microbiome axis. *Behav Brain Res* 2015; **277**: 32-48 [PMID: 25078296]
- 16 Lagier JC, Million M, Hugon P, Armougom F, Raoult D. Human gut microbiota: repertoire and variations. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* 2012; 2: 136 [PMID: 23130351 DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2012.00136]
- 17 Biagi E, Candela M, Fairweather-Tait S, Franceschi C, Brigidi P. Aging of the human metaorganism: the microbial counterpart. Age (Dordr) 2012; 34: 247-267 [PMID: 21347607 DOI: 10.1007/ s11357-011-9217-5]
- 18 Petrosino JF, Highlander S, Luna RA, Gibbs RA, Versalovic J. Metagenomic pyrosequencing and microbial identification. *Clin Chem* 2009; 55: 856-866 [PMID: 19264858 DOI: 10.1373/ clinchem.2008.107565]
- 19 Claesson MJ, Cusack S, O'Sullivan O, Greene-Diniz R, de Weerd H, Flannery E, Marchesi JR, Falush D, Dinan T, Fitzgerald G, Stanton C, van Sinderen D, O'Connor M, Harnedy N, O'Connor K, Henry C, O'Mahony D, Fitzgerald AP, Shanahan F, Twomey C, Hill C, Ross RP, O'Toole PW. Composition, variability, and temporal stability of the intestinal microbiota of the elderly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2011; **108** Suppl 1: 4586-4591 [PMID: 20571116]
- 20 Hopkins MJ, Macfarlane GT. Changes in predominant bacterial populations in human faeces with age and with Clostridium difficile infection. *J Med Microbiol* 2002; **51**: 448-454 [PMID: 11990498]
- 21 **Woodmansey EJ**. Intestinal bacteria and ageing. *J Appl Microbiol* 2007; **102**: 1178-1186 [PMID: 17448153 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2672. 2007.03400.x]
- 22 Woodmansey EJ, McMurdo ME, Macfarlane GT, Macfarlane S. Comparison of compositions and metabolic activities of fecal microbiotas in young adults and in antibiotic-treated and non-antibiotic-treated elderly subjects. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2004; 70: 6113-6122 [PMID: 15466557 DOI: 10.1128/AEM.70.10.6113-6122.2004]
- 23 Bergman EN. Energy contributions of volatile fatty acids from the gastrointestinal tract in various species. *Physiol Rev* 1990; 70: 567-590 [PMID: 2181501]
- 24 Puddu A, Sanguineti R, Montecucco F, Viviani GL. Evidence for the gut microbiota short-chain fatty acids as key pathophysiological molecules improving diabetes. *Mediators Inflamm* 2014; 2014: 162021 [PMID: 25214711]
- 25 Topping DL, Clifton PM. Short-chain fatty acids and human colonic function: roles of resistant starch and nonstarch polysaccharides. *Physiol Rev* 2001; 81: 1031-1064 [PMID: 11427691]
- 26 Maslowski KM, Vieira AT, Ng A, Kranich J, Sierro F, Yu D, Schilter HC, Rolph MS, Mackay F, Artis D, Xavier RJ, Teixeira MM, Mackay CR. Regulation of inflammatory responses by gut microbiota and chemoattractant receptor GPR43. *Nature* 2009; 461: 1282-1286 [PMID: 19865172 DOI: 10.1038/nature08530]
- 27 Sina C, Gavrilova O, Förster M, Till A, Derer S, Hildebrand F, Raabe B, Chalaris A, Scheller J, Rehmann A, Franke A, Ott S, Häsler R, Nikolaus S, Fölsch UR, Rose-John S, Jiang HP, Li J, Schreiber S, Rosenstiel P. G protein-coupled receptor 43 is essential for neutrophil recruitment during intestinal inflammation. *J Immunol* 2009; 183: 7514-7522 [PMID: 19917676 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900063]
- 28 Clemente JC, Ursell LK, Parfrey LW, Knight R. The impact of the

gut microbiota on human health: an integrative view. *Cell* 2012; **148**: 1258-1270 [PMID: 22424233 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.01.035]

- 29 Round JL, Mazmanian SK. Inducible Foxp3+ regulatory T-cell development by a commensal bacterium of the intestinal microbiota. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2010; 107: 12204-12209 [PMID: 20566854 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0909122107]
- 30 Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Shima T, Imaoka A, Kuwahara T, Momose Y, Cheng G, Yamasaki S, Saito T, Ohba Y, Taniguchi T, Takeda K, Hori S, Ivanov II, Umesaki Y, Itoh K, Honda K. Induction of colonic regulatory T cells by indigenous Clostridium species. *Science* 2011; 331: 337-341 [PMID: 21205640 DOI: 10.1126/science.1198469]
- 31 Zeissig S, Blumberg RS. Commensal microbial regulation of natural killer T cells at the frontiers of the mucosal immune system. *FEBS Lett* 2014; 588: 4188-4194 [PMID: 24983499]
- 32 Olszak T, Neves JF, Dowds CM, Baker K, Glickman J, Davidson NO, Lin CS, Jobin C, Brand S, Sotlar K, Wada K, Katayama K, Nakajima A, Mizuguchi H, Kawasaki K, Nagata K, Müller W, Snapper SB, Schreiber S, Kaser A, Zeissig S, Blumberg RS. Protective mucosal immunity mediated by epithelial CD1d and IL-10. *Nature* 2014; 509: 497-502 [PMID: 24717441 DOI: 10.1038/nature13150]
- 33 Ferreira CM, Vieira AT, Vinolo MA, Oliveira FA, Curi R, Martins Fdos S. The central role of the gut microbiota in chronic inflammatory diseases. *J Immunol Res* 2014; 2014: 689492 [PMID: 25309932]
- 34 Hansen CH, Nielsen DS, Kverka M, Zakostelska Z, Klimesova K, Hudcovic T, Tlaskalova-Hogenova H, Hansen AK. Patterns of early gut colonization shape future immune responses of the host. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e34043 [PMID: 22479515 DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0034043]
- 35 Ivanov II, Honda K. Intestinal commensal microbes as immune modulators. *Cell Host Microbe* 2012; **12**: 496-508 [PMID: 23084918 DOI: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.09.009]
- 36 Seo YS, Shah VH. The role of gut-liver axis in the pathogenesis of liver cirrhosis and portal hypertension. *Clin Mol Hepatol* 2012; 18: 337-346 [PMID: 23323248 DOI: 10.3350/cmh.2012.18.4.337]
- Quigley EM, Stanton C, Murphy EF. The gut microbiota and the liver. Pathophysiological and clinical implications. *J Hepatol* 2013; 58: 1020-1027 [PMID: 23183530 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.11.023]
- 38 Clarke SF, Murphy EF, Nilaweera K, Ross PR, Shanahan F, O' Toole PW, Cotter PD. The gut microbiota and its relationship to diet and obesity: new insights. *Gut Microbes* 2012; 3: 186-202 [PMID: 22572830 DOI: 10.4161/gmic.20168]
- 39 Henao-Mejia J, Elinav E, Jin C, Hao L, Mehal WZ, Strowig T, Thaiss CA, Kau AL, Eisenbarth SC, Jurczak MJ, Camporez JP, Shulman GI, Gordon JI, Hoffman HM, Flavell RA. Inflammasomemediated dysbiosis regulates progression of NAFLD and obesity. *Nature* 2012; **482**: 179-185 [PMID: 22297845]
- 40 Zhu L, Baker SS, Gill C, Liu W, Alkhouri R, Baker RD, Gill SR. Characterization of gut microbiomes in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) patients: a connection between endogenous alcohol and NASH. *Hepatology* 2013; 57: 601-609 [PMID: 23055155 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26093]
- 41 Imajo K, Fujita K, Yoneda M, Nozaki Y, Ogawa Y, Shinohara Y, Kato S, Mawatari H, Shibata W, Kitani H, Ikejima K, Kirikoshi H, Nakajima N, Saito S, Maeyama S, Watanabe S, Wada K, Nakajima A. Hyperresponsivity to low-dose endotoxin during progression to nonalcoholic steatohepatitis is regulated by leptin-mediated signaling. *Cell Metab* 2012; 16: 44-54 [PMID: 22768838 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.05.012]
- 42 **Miettinen TA**. Lipid absorption, bile acids, and cholesterol metabolism in patients with chronic liver disease. *Gut* 1972; **13**: 682-689 [PMID: 4118161 DOI: 10.1136/gut.13.9.682]
- 43 Sung JY, Shaffer EA, Costerton JW. Antibacterial activity of bile salts against common biliary pathogens. Effects of hydrophobicity of the molecule and in the presence of phospholipids. *Dig Dis Sci* 1993; 38: 2104-2112 [PMID: 8223087 DOI: 10.1007/BF01297092]
- 44 **Gunnarsdottir SA**, Sadik R, Shev S, Simrén M, Sjövall H, Stotzer PO, Abrahamsson H, Olsson R, Björnsson ES. Small intestinal



WJG www.wjgnet.com

Minemura M et al. Gut microbiota and liver diseases

motility disturbances and bacterial overgrowth in patients with liver cirrhosis and portal hypertension. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2003; **98**: 1362-1370 [PMID: 12818282 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2003. 07475.x]

- 45 Chen Y, Yang F, Lu H, Wang B, Chen Y, Lei D, Wang Y, Zhu B, Li L. Characterization of fecal microbial communities in patients with liver cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 2011; 54: 562-572 [PMID: 21574172 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24423]
- 46 Lu H, Wu Z, Xu W, Yang J, Chen Y, Li L. Intestinal microbiota was assessed in cirrhotic patients with hepatitis B virus infection. Intestinal microbiota of HBV cirrhotic patients. *Microb Ecol* 2011; 61: 693-703 [PMID: 21286703 DOI: 10.1007/s00248-010-9801-8]
- 47 Qin N, Yang F, Li A, Prifti E, Chen Y, Shao L, Guo J, Le Chatelier E, Yao J, Wu L, Zhou J, Ni S, Liu L, Pons N, Batto JM, Kennedy SP, Leonard P, Yuan C, Ding W, Chen Y, Hu X, Zheng B, Qian G, Xu W, Ehrlich SD, Zheng S, Li L. Alterations of the human gut microbiome in liver cirrhosis. *Nature* 2014; **513**: 59-64 [PMID: 25079328 DOI: 10.1038/nature13568]
- 48 Yan AW, Fouts DE, Brandl J, Stärkel P, Torralba M, Schott E, Tsukamoto H, Nelson KE, Brenner DA, Schnabl B. Enteric dysbiosis associated with a mouse model of alcoholic liver disease. *Hepatology* 2011; 53: 96-105 [PMID: 21254165 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.24018]
- 49 Mutlu EA, Gillevet PM, Rangwala H, Sikaroodi M, Naqvi A, Engen PA, Kwasny M, Lau CK, Keshavarzian A. Colonic microbiome is altered in alcoholism. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2012; 302: G966-G978 [PMID: 22241860 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00380.2011]
- 50 Fukui H, Brauner B, Bode JC, Bode C. Plasma endotoxin concentrations in patients with alcoholic and non-alcoholic liver disease: reevaluation with an improved chromogenic assay. J Hepatol 1991; 12: 162-169 [PMID: 2050995 DOI: 10.1016/0168-8 278(91)90933-3]
- 51 **Rivera CA**, Bradford BU, Seabra V, Thurman RG. Role of endotoxin in the hypermetabolic state after acute ethanol exposure. *Am J Physiol* 1998; **275**: G1252-G1258 [PMID: 9843760]
- 52 Roh YS, Seki E. Toll-like receptors in alcoholic liver disease, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis and carcinogenesis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013; 28 Suppl 1: 38-42 [PMID: 23855294]
- 53 Tuomisto S, Pessi T, Collin P, Vuento R, Aittoniemi J, Karhunen PJ. Changes in gut bacterial populations and their translocation into liver and ascites in alcoholic liver cirrhotics. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2014; 14: 40 [PMID: 24564202 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-14-40]
- 54 Bajaj JS, Ridlon JM, Hylemon PB, Thacker LR, Heuman DM, Smith S, Sikaroodi M, Gillevet PM. Linkage of gut microbiome with cognition in hepatic encephalopathy. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2012; 302: G168-G175 [PMID: 21940902 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00190.2011]
- 55 Bajaj JS, Hylemon PB, Ridlon JM, Heuman DM, Daita K, White MB, Monteith P, Noble NA, Sikaroodi M, Gillevet PM. Colonic mucosal microbiome differs from stool microbiome in cirrhosis and hepatic encephalopathy and is linked to cognition and inflammation. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2012; 303: G675-G685 [PMID: 22821944 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00152.2012]
- 56 Yoshimoto S, Loo TM, Atarashi K, Kanda H, Sato S, Oyadomari S, Iwakura Y, Oshima K, Morita H, Hattori M, Honda K, Ishikawa Y, Hara E, Ohtani N. Obesity-induced gut microbial metabolite promotes liver cancer through senescence secretome. *Nature* 2013; 499: 97-101 [PMID: 23803760 DOI: 10.1038/nature12347]
- 57 Dapito DH, Mencin A, Gwak GY, Pradere JP, Jang MK, Mederacke I, Caviglia JM, Khiabanian H, Adeyemi A, Bataller R, Lefkowitch JH, Bower M, Friedman R, Sartor RB, Rabadan R, Schwabe RF. Promotion of hepatocellular carcinoma by the intestinal microbiota and TLR4. *Cancer Cell* 2012; **21**: 504-516 [PMID: 22516259 DOI: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.02.007]
- 58 Bindels LB, Porporato P, Dewulf EM, Verrax J, Neyrinck AM, Martin JC, Scott KP, Buc Calderon P, Feron O, Muccioli GG, Sonveaux P, Cani PD, Delzenne NM. Gut microbiota-derived propionate reduces cancer cell proliferation in the liver. *Br J Cancer* 2012; 107: 1337-1344 [PMID: 22976799 DOI: 10.1038/

bjc.2012.409]

- 59 Zhang JP, Yan J, Xu J, Pang XH, Chen MS, Li L, Wu C, Li SP, Zheng L. Increased intratumoral IL-17-producing cells correlate with poor survival in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. *J Hepatol* 2009; **50**: 980-989 [PMID: 19329213 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jhep.2008.12.033]
- 60 Numasaki M, Fukushi J, Ono M, Narula SK, Zavodny PJ, Kudo T, Robbins PD, Tahara H, Lotze MT. Interleukin-17 promotes angiogenesis and tumor growth. *Blood* 2003; 101: 2620-2627 [PMID: 12411307 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2002-05-1461]
- 61 Ivanov II, Atarashi K, Manel N, Brodie EL, Shima T, Karaoz U, Wei D, Goldfarb KC, Santee CA, Lynch SV, Tanoue T, Imaoka A, Itoh K, Takeda K, Umesaki Y, Honda K, Littman DR. Induction of intestinal Th17 cells by segmented filamentous bacteria. *Cell* 2009; 139: 485-498 [PMID: 19836068 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.09.033]
- 62 Ersöz G, Aydin A, Erdem S, Yüksel D, Akarca U, Kumanlioglu K. Intestinal permeability in liver cirrhosis. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 1999; 11: 409-412 [PMID: 10321758 DOI: 10.1097/0004 2737-199904000-00009]
- Khungar V, Poordad F. Hepatic encephalopathy. *Clin Liver Dis* 2012;
 16: 301-320 [PMID: 22541700 DOI: 10.1016/j.cld.2012.03.009]
- 64 Häussinger D, Schliess F. Pathogenetic mechanisms of hepatic encephalopathy. *Gut* 2008; 57: 1156-1165 [PMID: 18628377 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2007.122176]
- 65 Koulaouzidis A, Bhat S, Saeed AA. Spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. World J Gastroenterol 2009; 15: 1042-1049 [PMID: 19266595 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.15.1042]
- 66 Lata J, Stiburek O, Kopacova M. Spontaneous bacterial peritonitis: a severe complication of liver cirrhosis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2009; 15: 5505-5510 [PMID: 19938187 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.15.5505]
- 67 Medina J, Fernández-Salazar LI, García-Buey L, Moreno-Otero R. Approach to the pathogenesis and treatment of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Diabetes Care* 2004; 27: 2057-2066 [PMID: 15277442 DOI: 10.2337/diacare.27.8.2057]
- 68 Loguercio C, Federico A, Tuccillo C, Terracciano F, D'Auria MV, De Simone C, Del Vecchio Blanco C. Beneficial effects of a probiotic VSL#3 on parameters of liver dysfunction in chronic liver diseases. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2005; **39**: 540-543 [PMID: 15942443 DOI: 10.1097/01.mcg.0000165671.25272.0f]
- 69 Loguercio C, Del Vecchio Blanco C, Coltorti M. Enterococcus lactic acid bacteria strain SF68 and lactulose in hepatic encephalopathy: a controlled study. *J Int Med Res* 1987; 15: 335-343 [PMID: 3125077]
- 70 Loguercio C, Abbiati R, Rinaldi M, Romano A, Del Vecchio Blanco C, Coltorti M. Long-term effects of Enterococcus faecium SF68 versus lactulose in the treatment of patients with cirrhosis and grade 1-2 hepatic encephalopathy. *J Hepatol* 1995; 23: 39-46 [PMID: 8530808 DOI: 10.1016/0168-8278(95)80309-2]
- 71 Liu Q, Duan ZP, Ha DK, Bengmark S, Kurtovic J, Riordan SM. Synbiotic modulation of gut flora: effect on minimal hepatic encephalopathy in patients with cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 2004; **39**: 1441-1449 [PMID: 15122774 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20194]
- 72 Malaguarnera M, Greco F, Barone G, Gargante MP, Malaguarnera M, Toscano MA. Bifidobacterium longum with fructooligosaccharide (FOS) treatment in minimal hepatic encephalopathy: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Dig Dis Sci* 2007; **52**: 3259-3265 [PMID: 17393330 DOI: 10.1007/ s10620-006-9687-y]
- 73 Bajaj JS, Saeian K, Christensen KM, Hafeezullah M, Varma RR, Franco J, Pleuss JA, Krakower G, Hoffmann RG, Binion DG. Probiotic yogurt for the treatment of minimal hepatic encephalopathy. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2008; **103**: 1707-1715 [PMID: 18691193 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2008.01861.x]
- 74 Sharma P, Sharma BC, Puri V, Sarin SK. An open-label randomized controlled trial of lactulose and probiotics in the treatment of minimal hepatic encephalopathy. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2008; 20: 506-511 [PMID: 18467909 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.0b013e3282f3e6f5]
- 75 **Mittal VV**, Sharma BC, Sharma P, Sarin SK. A randomized controlled trial comparing lactulose, probiotics, and L-ornithine L-aspartate in treatment of minimal hepatic encephalopathy. *Eur J*

Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011; **23**: 725-732 [PMID: 21646910 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.0b013e32834696f5]

- 76 Malaguarnera M, Gargante MP, Malaguarnera G, Salmeri M, Mastrojeni S, Rampello L, Pennisi G, Li Volti G, Galvano F. Bifidobacterium combined with fructo-oligosaccharide versus lactulose in the treatment of patients with hepatic encephalopathy. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2010; 22: 199-206 [PMID: 19730107 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.0b013e328330a8d3]
- 77 Pereg D, Kotliroff A, Gadoth N, Hadary R, Lishner M, Kitay-Cohen Y. Probiotics for patients with compensated liver cirrhosis: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. *Nutrition* 2011; 27: 177-181 [PMID: 20452184 DOI: 10.1016/j.nut.2010.01.006]
- 78 McGee RG, Bakens A, Wiley K, Riordan SM, Webster AC. Probiotics for patients with hepatic encephalopathy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2011; (11): CD008716 [PMID: 22071855]
- 79 Holte K, Krag A, Gluud LL. Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials on probiotics for hepatic encephalopathy. *Hepatol Res* 2012; 42: 1008-1015 [PMID: 22548675 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1872-034X.2012.01015.x]
- 80 Agrawal A, Sharma BC, Sharma P, Sarin SK. Secondary prophylaxis of hepatic encephalopathy in cirrhosis: an open-label, randomized controlled trial of lactulose, probiotics, and no therapy. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2012; **107**: 1043-1050 [PMID: 22710579 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2012.113]
- 81 Lunia MK, Sharma BC, Sharma P, Sachdeva S, Srivastava S. Probiotics prevent hepatic encephalopathy in patients with cirrhosis: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2014; 12: 1003-8.e1 [PMID: 24246768]
- 82 Bajaj JS, Heuman DM, Hylemon PB, Sanyal AJ, Puri P, Sterling RK, Luketic V, Stravitz RT, Siddiqui MS, Fuchs M, Thacker LR, Wade JB, Daita K, Sistrun S, White MB, Noble NA, Thorpe C, Kakiyama G, Pandak WM, Sikaroodi M, Gillevet PM. Randomised clinical trial: Lactobacillus GG modulates gut microbiome, metabolome and endotoxemia in patients with cirrhosis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2014; **39**: 1113-1125 [PMID: 24628464 DOI: 10.1111/apt.12695]
- 83 Ludwig J, Viggiano TR, McGill DB, Oh BJ. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: Mayo Clinic experiences with a hitherto unnamed disease. *Mayo Clin Proc* 1980; 55: 434-438 [PMID: 7382552]
- Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Caldwell SH. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: summary of an AASLD Single Topic Conference. *Hepatology* 2003; 37: 1202-1219 [PMID: 12717402 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2003.50193]
- 85 Miele L, Valenza V, La Torre G, Montalto M, Cammarota G, Ricci R, Mascianà R, Forgione A, Gabrieli ML, Perotti G, Vecchio FM, Rapaccini G, Gasbarrini G, Day CP, Grieco A. Increased intestinal permeability and tight junction alterations in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2009; **49**: 1877-1887 [PMID: 19291785 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22848]
- 86 Socha P, Horvath A, Vajro P, Dziechciarz P, Dhawan A, Szajewska H. Pharmacological interventions for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in adults and in children: a systematic review. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2009; 48: 587-596 [PMID: 19412008 DOI: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e31818e04d1]
- 87 Fedorak RN, Madsen KL. Probiotics and prebiotics in gastrointestinal disorders. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol* 2004; 20: 146-155 [PMID: 15703637 DOI: 10.1097/00001574-200403000-00017]
- 88 Li Z, Yang S, Lin H, Huang J, Watkins PA, Moser AB, Desimone C, Song XY, Diehl AM. Probiotics and antibodies to TNF inhibit inflammatory activity and improve nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2003; **37**: 343-350 [PMID: 12540784 DOI: 10.1053/ jhep.2003.50048]
- 89 Velayudham A, Dolganiuc A, Ellis M, Petrasek J, Kodys K, Mandrekar P, Szabo G. VSL#3 probiotic treatment attenuates fibrosis without changes in steatohepatitis in a diet-induced nonalcoholic steatohepatitis model in mice. *Hepatology* 2009; 49: 989-997 [PMID: 19115316 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22711]
- 90 Aller R, De Luis DA, Izaola O, Conde R, Gonzalez Sagrado M, Primo D, De La Fuente B, Gonzalez J. Effect of a probiotic on liver aminotransferases in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease patients: a double blind randomized clinical trial. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol*

Sci 2011; 15: 1090-1095 [PMID: 22013734]

- 91 Vajro P, Mandato C, Licenziati MR, Franzese A, Vitale DF, Lenta S, Caropreso M, Vallone G, Meli R. Effects of Lactobacillus rhamnosus strain GG in pediatric obesity-related liver disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2011; 52: 740-743 [PMID: 21505361 DOI: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e31821f9b85]
- 92 Malaguarnera M, Vacante M, Antic T, Giordano M, Chisari G, Acquaviva R, Mastrojeni S, Malaguarnera G, Mistretta A, Li Volti G, Galvano F. Bifidobacterium longum with fructo-oligosaccharides in patients with non alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Dig Dis Sci* 2012; 57: 545-553 [PMID: 21901256 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-011-1887-4]
- 93 Wong VW, Won GL, Chim AM, Chu WC, Yeung DK, Li KC, Chan HL. Treatment of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis with probiotics. A proof-of-concept study. *Ann Hepatol* 2013; 12: 256-262 [PMID: 23396737]
- 94 Ma YY, Li L, Yu CH, Shen Z, Chen LH, Li YM. Effects of probiotics on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a meta-analysis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2013; 19: 6911-6918 [PMID: 24187469 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i40.6911]
- 95 Tannock GW, Wilson CM, Loach D, Cook GM, Eason J, O'Toole PW, Holtrop G, Lawley B. Resource partitioning in relation to cohabitation of Lactobacillus species in the mouse forestomach. *ISME J* 2012; 6: 927-938 [PMID: 22094343 DOI: 10.1038/ismej.2011.161]
- 96 Gibson GR, Beatty ER, Wang X, Cummings JH. Selective stimulation of bifdobacteria in the human colon by oligofructose and inulin. *Gastroenterology* 1995; 108: 975-982 [PMID: 7698613 DOI: 10.1016/0016-5085(95)90192-2]
- 97 Stadlbauer V, Mookerjee RP, Hodges S, Wright GA, Davies NA, Jalan R. Effect of probiotic treatment on deranged neutrophil function and cytokine responses in patients with compensated alcoholic cirrhosis. *J Hepatol* 2008; 48: 945-951 [PMID: 18433921 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2008.02.015]
- 98 Segawa S, Wakita Y, Hirata H, Watari J. Oral administration of heat-killed Lactobacillus brevis SBC8803 ameliorates alcoholic liver disease in ethanol-containing diet-fed C57BL/6N mice. Int J Food Microbiol 2008; 128: 371-377 [PMID: 18976829 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2008.09.023]
- 99 Kirpich IA, Solovieva NV, Leikhter SN, Shidakova NA, Lebedeva OV, Sidorov PI, Bazhukova TA, Soloviev AG, Barve SS, McClain CJ, Cave M. Probiotics restore bowel flora and improve liver enzymes in human alcohol-induced liver injury: a pilot study. *Alcohol* 2008; 42: 675-682 [PMID: 19038698 DOI: 10.1016/ j.alcohol.2008.08.006]
- 100 Forsyth CB, Farhadi A, Jakate SM, Tang Y, Shaikh M, Keshavarzian A. Lactobacillus GG treatment ameliorates alcohol-induced intestinal oxidative stress, gut leakiness, and liver injury in a rat model of alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Alcohol* 2009; 43: 163-172 [PMID: 19251117 DOI: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2008.12.009]
- 101 Arora S, Kaur IP, Chopra K, Rishi P. Efficiency of double layered microencapsulated probiotic to modulate proinflammatory molecular markers for the management of alcoholic liver disease. *Mediators Inflamm* 2014; 2014: 715130 [PMID: 24966470]
- 102 Wang Y, Liu Y, Sidhu A, Ma Z, McClain C, Feng W. Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG culture supernatant ameliorates acute alcoholinduced intestinal permeability and liver injury. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2012; **303**: G32-G41 [PMID: 22538402 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00024.2012]
- 103 Michelotti GA, Machado MV, Diehl AM. NAFLD, NASH and liver cancer. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013; 10: 656-665 [PMID: 24080776 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2013.183]
- 104 El-Nezami HS, Polychronaki NN, Ma J, Zhu H, Ling W, Salminen EK, Juvonen RO, Salminen SJ, Poussa T, Mykkänen HM. Probiotic supplementation reduces a biomarker for increased risk of liver cancer in young men from Southern China. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2006; 83: 1199-1203 [PMID: 16685066]
- 105 Kumar M, Verma V, Nagpal R, Kumar A, Gautam SK, Behare PV, Grover CR, Aggarwal PK. Effect of probiotic fermented milk and chlorophyllin on gene expressions and genotoxicity during AFB1induced hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gene* 2011; **490**: 54-59 [PMID: 21963996 DOI: 10.1016/j.gene.2011.09.003]

Minemura M et al. Gut microbiota and liver diseases

- 106 Rayes N, Seehofer D, Theruvath T, Schiller RA, Langrehr JM, Jonas S, Bengmark S, Neuhaus P. Supply of pre- and probiotics reduces bacterial infection rates after liver transplantation--a randomized, double-blind trial. *Am J Transplant* 2005; **5**: 125-130 [PMID: 15636620 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2004.00649.x]
- 107 Eguchi S, Takatsuki M, Hidaka M, Soyama A, Ichikawa T, Kanematsu T. Perioperative synbiotic treatment to prevent infectious

complications in patients after elective living donor liver transplantation: a prospective randomized study. *Am J Surg* 2011; **201**: 498-502 [PMID: 20619394 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2010.02.013]

108 Rifatbegovic Z, Mesic D, Ljuca F, Zildzic M, Avdagic M, Grbic K, Agic M, Hadziefendic B. Effect of probiotics on liver function after surgery resection for malignancy in the liver cirrhotic. *Med Arh* 2010; 64: 208-211 [PMID: 21246916]

P- Reviewer: Jiang YF, Shen T S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: A E- Editor: Ma S







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1703 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1703-1706 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

THERAPEUTICS ADVANCES

Robotic assisted Roux-en-Y hepaticojejunostomy in a post-cholecystectomy type E2 bile duct injury

Arun Prasad, Sudipto De, Purak Mishra, Abhishek Tiwari

Arun Prasad, Sudipto De, Purak Mishra, Abhishek Tiwari, Department of Minimal Access and Robotic Surgery, Apollo Hospital, New Delhi 110076, India

Author contributions: Prasad A and De S designed the paper; Mishra P and Tiwari A performed the research; Prasad A and De S wrote the paper.

Conflict-of-interest: The authors have no competing commercial, political, personal, religious or intellectual interests related to the submitted work.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Arun Prasad, MS, FRCS, FRCSEd, Senior Consultant Surgeon, Department of Minimal Access and Robotic Surgery, Apollo Hospital, Room 1268, 2nd Floor, New Delhi 110076, India. surgerytimes@gmail.com

Telephone: +91-11-29871250 Fax: +91-11-29871368 Received: August 4, 2014 Peer-review started: August 5, 2014 First decision: September 15, 2014

Revised: October 18, 2014 Accepted: December 14, 2014 Article in press: December 16, 2014

Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

Roux-en-Y hepaticojejunostomy anastomosis is the treatment of choice for common hepatic duct injury type E2. It has been performed laparoscopically with the advancement of laparoscopic skill. Recently, a telemanipulative robotic surgical system was introduced, providing laparoscopic instruments with wrist-arm technology and 3-dimensional visualization of the operative field. We present a case of 36-year-old female patient who had undergone elective cholecystectomy 2 mo ago for gall stones and had a common bile duct injury during surgery. As the stricture was old and complete it could not be tackled endoscopically. We did a laparoscopic assisted adhesiolysis followed by robotic Roux-en-Y hepaticojejunostomy. No intraoperative complications or technical problems were encountered. Postoperative period was uneventful and she was discharged on the 4th postoperative day. At followup, she is doing well without evidence of jaundice or cholangitis. This is the first reported case of robotic hepaticojejunostomy following common bile duct injury. The hybrid technique gives the patient benefit of laparoscopic adhesiolysis and robotic suturing.

Key words: Hepaticojejunostomy; Common bile duct; Robotic surgery; Cholecystectomy complication; Hepatic duct

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Robotic surgery has the advantages of a 20 times magnified 3D vision for the surgeon. The intuitive and tremor free accurate movements of the robotic fingers make it an ideal tool to do fine reconstructive surgery. Hepaticojejunostomy is one such surgery specially when done for bile duct injury that occurred during cholecystectomy. We present the first ever reported robotic hepaticojejunostomy for iatrogenic bile duct injury.

Prasad A, De S, Mishra P, Tiwari A. Robotic assisted Rouxen-Y hepaticojejunostomy in a post-cholecystectomy type E2 bile duct injury. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1703-1706 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/ v21/i6/1703.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1703



INTRODUCTION

Although seen with any operation involving right upper guadrant dissection, injuries occurring during or following cholecystectomy account for more than 80% of all iatrogenic bile duct injuries. During laparoscopic or open cholecystectomy, injury to the common bile duct is an unusual but devastating complication^[1]. Inflammation in the porta, variable biliary anatomy, inappropriate exposure, aggressive attempts at hemostasis, and surgeon inexperience are commonly cited risk factors. Early reports suggested that surgical inexperience, performing less than 20 laparoscopic cholecystectomies, was highly correlated with bile duct injury, evidence has suggested that visual misperception accounts for 97% of iatrogenic biliary injuries and technical skill or knowledge accounts for only 3%. With sufficient cephalad retraction of the gallbladder fundus, the cystic duct overlies the common hepatic duct, running in a parallel path^[2]. Without inferolateral traction of the gallbladder infundibulum to dissociate these structures, dissection of the apparent cystic duct may actually include the common hepatic duct, placing it in jeopardy. By retracting Hartmann's pouch inferolaterally, and opening the triangle of Calot, the cystic duct is displaced from the porta, no longer collinear with the hepatic duct. The use of a 30-degree laparoscope is useful to provide adequate visualization of the critical view of safety during laparoscopic cholecystectomy^[3]. Also, in many of these cases, a confirmation bias occurs, in which surgeons tend to rely on evidence that supports their perception while simultaneously discounting visual cues that suggest an alternative explanation. Confirmation bias helps explain why most bile duct injuries are identified in the postoperative setting, not intraoperatively. The multifactorial nature of biliary injury highlights the concept that injury avoidance consists of many levels of protective mechanisms^[4]. Surgeon knowledge of biliary anatomy and aberrant anatomy, use of an angled laparoscope, appropriate and directed traction and counter-traction on the gallbladder, sufficient suspicion of findings that discount the current perspective, and converting to an open operation at the earliest suspicion can help decrease the likelihood of biliary injury. Although the use of routine versus selective cholangiography is controversial, evidence has suggested that cholangiography does not completely avoid bile duct injury, but may reduce the incidence and extent of injury^[5]. The original analysis of biliary reconstruction was based on the Bismuth classification, and has been modified by Strasberg. Classification of bile duct injuries is determined by location of injury and helps guide later surgical reconstruction^[6]. Among postoperative bile duct strictures, types E1 and E2 involve the common hepatic duct but not the bifurcation, with type E1 having a stump of more than 2 cm of the common hepatic duct below the confluence and type E2 being within

2 cm of the confluence. Type E3 strictures occur at the confluence preserving the extrahepatic ducts and, in type E4, the structuring process includes the extrahepatic biliary tree. Type E5 strictures involve aberrant right hepatic duct anatomy, with injury to the aberrant duct and common hepatic duct.

The standard treatment procedure for a type E2 stricture is a resection of the injured segment with mucosa to mucosa anastomosis using a Roux-en-Y jejunal limb^[7]. Choledochoduodenostomy is not done because most injuries to the bile duct occur higher in the biliary tree, close to the hilum, thus not allowing for tension-free anastomosis to the duodenum. Recently, many centers have reported their experience with laparoscopic Roux-en-Y hepaticojejunostomy. Although the use of laparoscopy to do the procedure has found to be feasible, most of these reports suggested that these procedures were complicated by technical difficulties. The use of da Vinci Robotic Surgical System helps decrease these technical difficulties. The da Vinci robot provides a three-dimensional vision instead of a two dimensional one through the laparoscope. The Robotic system also provides other advantages like reduction of tremor and scaling of motion which further increase the precision of the procedure. But the biggest advantage is the use wristed instrumentation which provides additional degrees of mobility compared to the restriction of the laparoscopic systems. We used the daVinci robot to do an Roux-en-Y Hepaticojejunostomy in a 36 years old female patient with Type E2 CBD injury post cholecystectomy.

CASE PRESENTATION

Our patient was a female of 36 years and came to us with multiple episodes of abdominal pain with deep icterus. She gave history of undergoing an elective open cholecystectomy at another hospital two months ago for gall stone disease. Her liver function tests were heavily deranged with high direct bilirubin (> 20 mg/dL) and OT/PT (538/422 mg/dL) and alkaline phosphatase (758 mg/dL). Ultrasonography demonstrated mild hepatomegaly with dilated intrahepatic biliary radicles (Figure 1). An magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography scan (Figure 2) revealed a tight short segment stricture in the common hepatic duct with gross intrahepatic biliary radical dilatation. Opinion was sought from gastroenterologist who felt that the stricture is not passable by Encoscopic Retrograde Cholangio-Pancreatography and surgical option has to be tried. The patient underwent laparoscopic adhesiolysis and da Vinci robotic Roux En Y hepaticojejunostomy.

SURGICAL TECHNIQUE

After placing the patient in supine position, pneumoperitoneum was created upto 12 mmHg using the Veress needle. Three 5 mm trocars were inserted to





Figure 1 Ultrasound showing dilated hepatic ducts.



Figure 2 Mri scan of the hepatic ducts.

carry out the adhesiolysis. We then placed the camera and instruments and the table was placed in reverse Trendelenburg and right up position. This allowed the intestines to fall away from the operating field Alongwith cephalad retraction to the liver the porta hepatis was exposed. Laparoscopic adhesiolysis was done with the help of a suction and cautery. The porta was freed from the duodenum and the transverse colon. Bile was aspirated from the confluence.

The robot was docked. Three 12-mm robotic trocars for camera and accessory device were applied. The jejunum was divided at 40 cm from the DJ flexure by an endoscopic stapler. Side-to-side enteroenterostomy anastomosis was done with the help of endoscopic stapler. The bile duct was opened (Figure 3) and was anastomosed to a Roux loop of jejunum with an antecolic Roux-en-Y end-to-side hepaticojejunostomy. The anastomoses was made using 3 0 Vicryl sutures at each of the corners (Figure 4). The hepatico-jejunostomy and jejuno-jejunostomy were re-checked for proper lie, bile leak and hemostasis. A drain was placed in the subhepatic region. The fascial and skin incisions were closed.

POSTOPERATIVE COURSE

Postoperatively, the patient was managed conservatively with i.v. antibiotics, analgesics and fluids. The subhepatic drain showed minimal drainage and was removed on second post operative day. She was started on liquids on the third post operative day and



Figure 3 Hepatic duct opened.



Figure 4 Robotic hepaticojejunostomy anastomosis.

progressed to normal diet on the fourth postoperative day. She was discharged without any complications. On follow up, she is doing well without any complaints.

DISCUSSION

The first uses of laparoscopic surgery were in the field of hepato-biliary surgery *i.e.*, cholecystectomy. Following advancements in the camera and instruments and the increased skill of surgeons, Minimal access surgery has invaded all parts of the body today. But the use of laparoscopy in the field of hepato-biliary surgery still remains restricted to cholecystectomies. This is mostly due to the limited exposure present in the area, along with dense adhesions increasing the risk of visceral injury. The instruments of laparoscopy are rigid in nature with limited degrees of freedom. This coupled with the fulcrum effect of laparoscopy which takes the movement away from the wrist and fingers to the elbow and 2-dimensional imaging, are the main contributors to the limitations of the laparoscopic approach^[8]. Robotic surgery becomes a great tool in hepato biliary by overcoming these shortcomings.

The daVinci robot has a three dimensional vision compared to the two dimensional view of the laparoscope which provides for the surgeon to be immersed in the oppressive field. Secondly, the motion scaling



and tremor reduction software increase the precision of the surgery and decrease blood loss. However, the main advantage of the da Vinci robot is the use of the wristed instruments for doing fine dissection in areas of dense adhesions and fine suturing of hepaticojejunostomy and jejunojejunostomy anastomoses^[9]. It might well be that in the future, advanced hepato biliary procedures like hepaticojejunostomy and Whipple's procedure may be done by robotic surgery.

Robotic surgery, with its implications in urologic and gynaecologic surgery, has had multiple mention in case reports. A few cases of hepaticojejunostomy for choledochal cysts have also been reported but no reports have been found for a Roux-en-Y hepaticojejunostomy for a biliary injury following cholecystectomy^[10,11].

On the other side of the coin, the disadvantages includes the bulky hardware which makes it impossible for the robot to be moved to other theatres. Although the lack of haptic feedback and loss of tactile sensation are propagated by noon believers to be the biggest obstacle, but the magnified three dimensional vision more than compensates for it. Finally, in a country like India, the increased initial cost of the machine along with high maintenance cost prevents it's penetration into peripheral areas^[12]. Although many people advocate a steep learning curve for advanced laparoscopic surgery, but the ease of dissection and suturing techniques with the robotic technique greatly reduce the learning curve.

Finally, we would like to say that the use of robotic surgery has immense scope in hepato biliary surgery with advanced surgeries like hepaticojejunostomy, CBD exploration and pancreaticoduodenectomy being facilitated by the ease of Robotic suturing^[13].

CONCLUSION

Summarising we are reporting a case of 36 years old female with a type E2 biliary injury and the use of daVinci surgical system to create a Roux-en-Y Hepaticojejunostomy. The most technically challenging step of this operation is the creation of the hepaticojejunostomy anastomosis. The daVinci surgical system triumphs over laparoscopy due to the ease of the suturing with the endowristed instruments. This is the first reported case of robotic Roux-en-Y hepaticojejunostomy following common bile duct injury. The hybrid technique gives the patient benefit of laparoscopic adhesiolysis and robotic suturing. But further experience is needed to evaluate the advantages on surgical technique and it is effect on decreased hospital stay for patients.

REFERENCES

- Shimura H, Tanaka M, Shimizu S, Mizumoto K. Laparoscopic treatment of congenital choledochal cyst. *Surg Endosc* 1998; 12: 1268-1271 [PMID: 9745070 DOI: 10.1007/s004649900834]
- 2 Tan HL, Shankar KR, Ford WD. Laparoscopic resection of type I choledochal cyst. *Surg Endosc* 2003; 17: 1495 [PMID: 12811656 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-003-4502-8]
- 3 Diao M, Li L, Li Q, Ye M, Cheng W. Single-incision versus conventional laparoscopic cyst excision and Roux-Y hepaticojejunostomy for children with choledochal cysts: a case-control study. *World J Surg* 2013; 37: 1707-1713 [PMID: 23539195 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-013-2012-y]
- 4 Diao M, Li L, Cheng W. Initial experience of single-incision laparoscopic hepaticojejunostomy using conventional instruments for correctable biliary atresia. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A 2012; 22: 615-620 [PMID: 22690690 DOI: 10.1089/lap.2011.0518]
- 5 Tanaka M, Shimizu S, Mizumoto K, Yokohata K, Chijiiwa K, Yamaguchi K, Ogawa Y. Laparoscopically assisted resection of choledochal cyst and Roux-en-Y reconstruction. *Surg Endosc* 2001; 15: 545-552 [PMID: 11591937]
- 6 Ballantyne GH, Moll F. The da Vinci telerobotic surgical system: the virtual operative field and telepresence surgery. Surg Clin North Am 2003; 83: 1293-1304, vii [PMID: 14712866 DOI: 10.1016/ S0039-6109(03)00164-6]
- 7 Lanfranco AR, Castellanos AE, Desai JP, Meyers WC. Robotic surgery: a current perspective. *Ann Surg* 2004; 239: 14-21 [PMID: 14685095 DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000103020.19595.7d]
- 8 Horgan S, Vanuno D. Robots in laparoscopic surgery. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A 2001; 11: 415-419 [PMID: 11814134 DOI: 10.1089/1 0926420152761950]
- 9 Hazey JW, Melvin WS. Robot-assisted general surgery. Semin Laparosc Surg 2004; 11: 107-112 [PMID: 15254649 DOI: 10.1177 /107155170401100207]
- 10 Cadière GB, Himpens J, Germay O, Izizaw R, Degueldre M, Vandromme J, Capelluto E, Bruyns J. Feasibility of robotic laparoscopic surgery: 146 cases. *World J Surg* 2001; 25: 1467-1477 [PMID: 11760751]
- 11 Woo R, Le D, Albanese CT, Kim SS. Robot-assisted laparoscopic resection of a type I choledochal cyst in a child. *J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A* 2006; 16: 179-183 [PMID: 16646713 DOI: 10.1089/ lap.2006.16.179]
- 12 Kang CM, Chi HS, Kim JY, Choi GH, Kim KS, Choi JS, Lee WJ, Kim BR. A case of robot-assisted excision of choledochal cyst, hepaticojejunostomy, and extracorporeal Roux-en-y anastomosis using the da Vinci surgical system. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech 2007; 17: 538-541 [PMID: 18097318 DOI: 10.1097/SLE.0b013e318150e57a]
- 13 Meehan JJ, Elliott S, Sandler A. The robotic approach to complex hepatobiliary anomalies in children: preliminary report. J Pediatr Surg 2007; 42: 2110-2114 [PMID: 18082719 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jpedsurg.2007.08.040]

P- Reviewer: Ogura T, Xu Z S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu XM





WJG www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1707 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1707-1717 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

REVIEW

Pancreatic cancer early detection: Expanding higher-risk group with clinical and metabolomics parameters

Shiro Urayama

Shiro Urayama, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Internal Medicine, University of California, Davis, Sacramento, CA 95817, United States

Author contributions: Urayama S conceived and wrote the paper.

Conflict-of-interest: The author has no conflict of interest related to the manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Shiro Urayama, MD, Professor, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Internal Medicine, University of California, Davis, 4150 V Street, PSSB Suite 3500, Sacramento, CA 95817,

United States. surayama@ucdavis.edu Telephone: +1-916-7347021 Fax: +1-916-7347908 Received: July 8, 2014 Peer-review started: July 8, 2014 First decision: August 15, 2014 Revised: October 1, 2014 Accepted: January 8, 2015 Article in press: January 8, 2015 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) is the fourth and fifth leading cause of cancer death for each gender in developed countries. With lack of effective treatment and screening scheme available for the general population, the mortality rate is expected to increase over the next several decades in contrast to the other major malignancies such as lung, breast, prostate and colorectal cancers. Endoscopic ultrasound, with its

highest level of detection capacity of smaller pancreatic lesions, is the commonly employed and preferred clinical imaging-based PDAC detection method. Various molecular biomarkers have been investigated for characterization of the disease, but none are shown to be useful or validated for clinical utilization for early detection. As seen from studies of a small subset of familial or genetically high-risk PDAC groups, the higher yield and utility of imaging-based screening methods are demonstrated for these groups. Multiple recent studies on the unique cancer metabolism including PDAC, demonstrate the potential for utility of the metabolites as the discriminant markers for this disease. In order to generate an early PDAC detection screening strategy available for a wider population, we propose to expand the population of higher risk PDAC group with combination clinical and metabolomics parameters.

Key words: Pancreatic cancer; Endoscopic ultrasound; Metabolomics; Early detection; Biomarkers

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: This is a summary of current pancreatic cancer cohort early detection studies and a potential approach being considered for future application. This is an area that requires heightened efforts as lack of effective treatment and screening scheme for wider population is leading this particular disease to be the second lethal cancer by 2030.

Urayama S. Pancreatic cancer early detection: Expanding higherrisk group with clinical and metabolomics parameters. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1707-1717 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1707.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1707



INTRODUCTION

Currently, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) is the fourth major cause of cancer mortality in the United States^[1]. It is predicted that 46420 new cases and 39590 deaths would result from pancreatic cancer in the United States in 2014^[2]. Worldwide, there were 277668 new cases and 266029 deaths from this cancer in 2008^[3]. In comparison to other major malignancies such as breast, colon, lung and prostate cancers with their respective 89%, 64%, 16%, 99% 5-year survival rate, PDAC at 6% is conspicuously low^[2]. For PDAC, the only curative option is surgical resection, which is applicable in only 10%-15% of patients due to the common discovery of late stage at diagnosis^[4]. In fact, PDAC is notorious for late stage discovery as evidenced by the low percentage of localized disease at diagnosis, compared to other malignancies: breast (61%), colon (40%), lung (16%), ovarian (19%), prostate (91%), and pancreatic cancer (7%)^[5]. With the existing effective screening methods, the decreasing trends of cancer death rate are seen in major malignancies such as breast, prostate and colorectal cancer. In contrast, it is estimated that PDAC is expected to be surfacing as the second leading cause of cancer death by 2030^[6].

With the distinct contribution of late-stage discovery and general lack of effective medical therapy, a critical approach in reversing the poor outcome of pancreatic cancer is to develop an early detection scheme for the tumor. In support of this, we see the trend that despite the poor prognosis of the disease, for those who have undergone curative resection with negative margins, the 5-year survival rate is 22% in contrast to 2% for the advanced-stage with distant metastasis^[7,8]. An earlier diagnosis with tumor less than 2 cm (T1) is associated with a better 5-year survival of 58% compared to 17% for stage IIB PDAC^[9]. Ariyama et al^[10] reported complete survival of 79 patients with less than 1 cm tumors after surgical resection. Furthermore, as a recent report indicates, the estimated time from the transformation to premetastatic growths of pancreatic cancer is approximately 15 years^[11]; there is a wide potential window of opportunity to apply developing technologies in early detection of this cancer.

In this article, we will review the recent studies on the PDAC early detection approaches and ongoing research endeavors in developing early detection schemes for this devastating disease, with specific attention to application of combined clinical and metabolomics parameters.

PDAC EARLY DETECTION AND DIAGNOSIS - IMAGING-BASED TESTS

Over the past few decades, endoscopic ultrasound

(EUS) has proven itself to be a superior imaging study for detection of a small or early-stage pancreatic neoplasm as compared to other modalities such as transabdominal ultrasound, computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), positron emission tomography scans and angiography^[12-14]. Yasuda et al^[15] and Rösch et al^[16] had initially demonstrated the superiority of EUS in detection of small pancreatic lesions. More recently, DeWitt et al^[17] had verified the superiority of EUS as compared to multi-detector CT scan. In another study, Khashab et al^[18] demonstrated that the sensitivity of EUS in detecting a pancreatic mass was significantly greater than that of CT images, and particularly for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors, which commonly consist of smaller lesions. In addition, EUS detected CT-negative tumors in more than 90% of the cases. As an additional diagnostic modality, EUS-guided fine needle aspiration (FNA) provides success rates of 90%-95%, with an overall sensitivity and specificity of 85%-90% and 98%-99%, respectively^[19-22]. Thus, the utility and the advantage of EUS enable visualization and targeting of small pancreatic masses. Lesions of 5 mm or less could be visualized and sampled, which might not have been accessible or identifiable by other imaging modalities^[23].

DIAGNOSTIC MOLECULAR MARKERS AND PANCREATIC CANCER

In order to enhance the diagnostic accuracy of PDAC, molecular markers on EUS-FNA samples have been evaluated in recent years. Utilities of DNA mutations and loss of heterozygosity are being reported as potential surrogate markers of the cancer^[24,25]. In a recent study, Takahashi et al^[26] assessed k-ras point mutations in PDAC and chronic focal pancreatitis samples obtained by EUS-FNA^[27,28]. The study revealed the presence of point mutations of k-ras in 74% of patients with PDAC compared to no mutations in chronic focal pancreatitis. In another study, Tada et al^[29] reported a high k-ras gene mutation rate in 20 of 26 cases of EUS-FNA specimens (77%) and in 12 of 19 cases of pancreatic juice (63%) in PDAC. However, the presence of *k*-ras mutations in a benign condition such as chronic pancreatitis and premalignant lesions such as intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm (IPMN) in addition to lack of such mutations in 20% of PDAC limit the usage of this test solely as a diagnostic or a detection tool. Other studies analyzing p53 by immunohistochemistry[30], telomerase activity with a ribonucleoprotein enzyme^[31], and a broad panel of microsatellite allele loss markers demonstrated similar results^[32]. In the presence of inconclusive EUS-FNA cytology, molecular markers could potentially complement EUS-FNA cytology results to help establish the diagnosis of malignancy.

Table 1	Pancreatic duc	tal adenocarci	noma related	genetic sync	lromes
---------	----------------	----------------	--------------	--------------	--------

Syndrome	Inheritance	Gene mutation	Risk of PDAC
Peutz-Jeghers syndrome ^[38]	AD	STK11/LKB1	SIR = 132
Hereditary pancreatitis ^[39-41]	AD	PRSS1	OR = 69.9
		SPINK1	
Familial atypical multiple mole melanoma syndrome ^[42-44]	AD	CDKN2A	SIR = 13-38
Hereditary breast-ovarian cancer	AD	BRCA2	BRCA2: OR = 3.5-10-fold increased risk
syndrome ^[45-51]		BRCA1	BRCA1: OR = 2.26 times average population
Lynch syndrome ^[52]	AD	MLH1, MSH2, MSH6 or PMS2	SIR = up to 8.6
Cystic fibrosis ^[53]	Autosomal recessive	CFTR	OR = 5.3-6.6

AD: Autosomal dominant; PDAC: Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma; SIR: Standardized incidence ratio.

SELECT POPULATION-BASED RESEARCH FOR EARLY DETECTION SCHEME DEVELOPMENT

PDAC screening in high-risk individuals

Currently, a general population-screening program for PDAC is not cost-effective because of low relative disease incidence and non-availability of simple, cheap, highly accurate non-invasive tests. The main goal of the screening is to identify clinically significant precursor or early stage PDAC. However, since overwhelming majority of premalignant and small PDAC lesions is asymptomatic, we do not have a definite surrogate marker to identify a subset population for screening. Consequently, as one of the approaches in investigating the risks, research has focused on identification of a subset of individuals with a higher-risk for PDAC development in order to elucidate the genetic predilection. Up to 10% of PDAC patients have a familial/genetic basis and they have increased risk of developing both pancreatic and extra-pancreatic malignancies^[33-37]. Classic categorization of high-risk patients are based on the highly associated genetic risks defined as those who have significant family history of the cancer or have an inherited PDAC syndrome with a known genetic abnormality (Table 1).

Familial pancreatic cancer: Familial pancreatic cancer (FPC) cohort (cancer in two or more first-degree relatives (FDRs) or in three or more affected family members - including one first-degree relative) is considered a high-risk and a candidate for screening program^[47,54,55]. Currently, the genetic foundation for FPC is not fully understood. Various investigations have demonstrated the presence of a germline mutation in the *BRCA2* gene^[47-49], association of BRCA1^[46,56], *paladin* gene mutation^[57] as well as other genes such as apolipoprotein A4, CEA, keratin 19, stratifin, trefoil factor, and S100A6^[58,59] in FPC, and more recently identification of PALB2^[60], as a pancreatic cancer susceptibility gene. These facts suggest that multiple and heterogeneous factors are likely at

play for the genesis of PDAC in this subset.

Analysis of the PDAC kindred data from Johns Hopkins' National Familial Pancreas Tumor Registry has shown that the risk of PDAC in individuals with two afflicted FDRs is 6.4% and the lifetime risk is 8%-12%; for persons with three afflicted FDRs, the relative and lifetime risks for PDAC increase to 32% and 16%-32%, respectively^[36]. Brune et al^[61] in their recent article reported a higher risk of PDAC among FPC kindred with a younger onset (age less than 50). Rulyak et al^[62] in another study found smoking as a significant risk factor in FPC cohort, especially among males and those under age 50. This factor increases the cancer risk by 2.0-3.7 times and lowers the onset age by 10 years. A risk assessment software tool, PancPRO, has been generated and is available for calculating the risk for individuals with familial pancreatic cancer (http://www4.utsouthwestern.edu/ breasthealth/cagene/default.asp)^[35].

Screening modalities and the current screening programs: Many of the screening programs have used additional investigational biomarker to complement imaging tests to identify the early lesions. A commonly used marker, CA19-9, is neither sensitive nor specific independently for early PDAC or precursor detection. Kim *et al*^[63] in their study found only 0.9% positive-predictive value using the standard cutoff value (37 U/mL). Other biomarkers investigated recently include MIC-1, CEACAM-1, SPan1, DUPAN, Alpha4GNT, and PAM4, but none is validated for routine clinical use^[64]. In another approach, elevated fasting-glucose level has been demonstrated to be associated with sporadic PDAC^[65] and is currently utilized by an European registry in high-risk people with mutational analysis of pancreatic juice along with *p16* promoter methylation status.

Several international screening programs exist for PDAC in high-risk individuals. "Cancer of the Pancreas Screening Study" (CAPS study), led by John Hopkins University, is the largest screening program that involves 24 American Centers of Excellence. To date, three studies, CAPS 1, CAPS 2 and CAPS 3, have been completed (Table 2).

Urayama S. Pancreatic cancer early detection with new parameters

Table 2 Results of screening programs for pancreatic cancer in high-risk groups n (%)							
Study	CAPS1	CAPS2	CAPS3	U of Washington	FaPaCa	Dutch Study	
Diagnostic Yield	2 (5.3)	8 (10)	92 (43)	10 (13)	1 (1.3)	10 (23)	

Positive finding of abnormal imaging such as mass (solid, cyst) or abnormal duct in the cases. CAPS: Cancer of the Pancreas Screening Study; FaPaCa: Familial Pancreatic Cancer Study.

In the CAPS 1, thirty-eight patients including 31 from a kindred with > 3 affected with PDAC, 6 with 2 affected relatives, and 1 patient with Peutz-Jeghers syndrome (PJS) were studied. Screening protocol with EUS revealed six pancreatic masses: 1 invasive PDAC, 1 benign IPMN, 2 serous cystadenomas, and 2 non-neoplastic lesions. The yield of screening was 5.3% in this study^[66]. In the CAPS 2, seventy-eight high-risk patients were studied^[67]. In 8 patients, the screening found pancreatic neoplasia, confirmed by surgery or FNA: 6 benign IPMNs, 1 IPMN that progressed to invasive PDAC, and another had highgrade pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PanIN-3). The CAPS 3 was a multicenter prospective cohort study involving annual EUS, MRI screening with assays of DNA and protein markers in serum and pancreatic juice. Over 200 patients were enrolled over a threeyear period. The study results on the detection modality comparison demonstrated that the EUS has the highest rate of detection of early neoplastic changes in up to 42.6% of the asymptomatic high-risk group^[68].

In another study from the University of Washington, high-risk familial cohorts were screened with EUS, beginning 10 years prior to the earliest index PDAC case. If EUS was normal, they underwent a repeat EUS in 2-3 years. With abnormal EUS findings, they were referred for ERCP and if abnormalities were noted, patients were offered surgical intervention^[69]. Among 75 screened subjects, 15 had gone to surgery for abnormal EUS and ERCP findings. All surgical cases revealed premalignant lesions: PanIN-3 in 10 and PanIN-2 in five cases^[70]. The study gave a yield of 13% (10 out of 75) for detecting PanIN-3 lesions. A single patient developed unresectable PDAC during the surveillance.

In a German PDAC screening program (FaPaCa), 76 patients were followed using annual EUS, MRCP, and laboratory assays (*CDKN2a* and *BRCA2* genetic analysis, CA19-9 and CEA). Any appreciable lesion was evaluated with EUS. With an abnormal finding, the patient underwent surgical exploration and if malignancy was detected, total pancreatectomy was performed. In 10 cases, lesions were seen on EUS as compared to only seven detected by MR scan. Out of the seven MRCP-positive cases, six underwent resections and the histology showed one PanIN-3, one PanIN-2, one PanIN-1, and three with other benign lesions. This resulted in a diagnostic yield of 1.3% for PanIN-3 detection^[71]. Another study from the Netherlands in 44 high-risk subjects demonstrated a 7% detection rate for asymptomatic PDAC and a 16% for premalignant lesions^[72].

The International CAPS Consortium have recently met and reported a suggested guideline for current PDAC screening based on the risk^[73]. A consensus (\geq 75% agreement by the participants) was reached that the following groups should be offered screening (only to individuals who are surgical candidate): (1) FDRs of the cancer patients from a familial pancreatic cancer cohort with at least two affected FDRs; (2) patients with Peutz-Jeghers syndrome; and (3) p16, BRCA2 and hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer mutation carriers with at least single affected FDR. The initial screening should include EUS and/or MRI. However, consensus was not reached on the beginning and the end age of screening/surveillance and the interval of the examination. Their conclusions also included requirement for further studies, and the clinical management should occur at high-volume centers with multidisciplinary teams.

FUTURE OF PANCREATIC CANCER SCREENING

Current screening programs have demonstrated that the EUS evaluation can detect premalignant lesions and early cancers in certain small subset of highrisk groups. However, as the overwhelming majority of PDAC cases involve patients who develop the disease sporadically without a recognized genetic abnormality, the application of this modality for PDAC detection screening is very limited for the general adult population.

Select population based approach

Identification of a higher-PDAC-risk group: As the prevalence of PDAC in the general United States population over the age 55 is approximately 68 per 100000, a candidate discriminant test with a specificity of 98% and a sensitivity of 100% would generate 1999 false-positive test results and 68 truepositives^[74]. Thus, relying on a single determinant for distinguishing the PDAC early-stage cases from the general population would necessitate a highly accurate test with a specificity of greater than 99%. More practical approach, then, would be to begin with a subset of population with a higher prevalence, and in conjunction with novel surrogate markers to curtail the at-risk subset, we could begin to identify the



group with significantly increased PDAC risk for whom the endoscopic/imaging-based screening strategy could be applied.

An initial approach in selection of the screening population is to utilize selective clinical parameters that could be used to curtail the subset of the general population at increased PDAC risk. For instance, based on the epidemiological evidence, such clinical parameters include hyperglycemia or diabetes, which are noted in 50%-80% of pancreatic cancer patients^[75-79]. Though not encompassing all PDAC patients, this subset includes a much larger proportion of PDAC patients for whom we may select further for screening. Similarly, patients with a history of chronic pancreatitis or obesity are reported to have increased PDAC risk during their lifetime^[80-85]. Recent findings from molecular biology and animal studies investigating effects of diet-induced obesity in a PDAC mouse model demonstrated increased occurrence of pancreatic inflammation and accelerated pancreatic neoplastic changes, supporting the association of obesity and pancreatic inflammation and PDAC risks^[86,87]. Considering that millions are being diagnosed with diabetes or glucose intolerance, chronic pancreatitis, or obesity annually in comparison to PDAC, however, further refinement of the screening patient group is critically needed to justify for developing a larger scale screening protocol.

Translational research - application of metabolomics approach

Initially established as a key methodology in the field of inborn metabolic errors and toxicology, metabolomics have developed over the years to examine a much wider array of low-molecular-weight products or intermediates within the biological state of a cell, tissue, organ, or organism. A metabolome represents a physiological readout of the biochemical state in an individual's body compartment, and provides the functional terminal signals of the genome and proteome, reflecting more closely the current phenotypic state of an individual in response to the environmental stimuli^[88]. Thus, metabolomics data has considerable potential in elucidating cancerdevelopment risks, with its additional capacity for providing temporal molecular information to the ongoing changes originating from genetic PDAC risk alone.

With the recent advancement in the technology and resumed interest in the cancer-associated metabolic abnormality^[89,90], application of metabolomics in the cancer field has attracted more attention^[91]. Cancer-related metabolic reprogramming, Warburg effect, has been known since nearly a century ago in association with various solid tumors including PDAC^[92], as cancer cells undergo energetically inefficient glycolysis even in the presence of oxygen in the environment (aerobic glycolysis)^[93]. A number

of common cancer mutations including Akt1, HIF (hypoxia-inducible factor), and p53 have been shown to support the Warburg effect through glycolysis and down-regulation of metabolite flux through the Krebs cycle^[94-101]. In PDAC, increased phosphorylation or activation of Akt1 has also been reported (illuminating on the importance of enzyme functionality)^[102] as well as involvement of HIF1 in the tumor growth via effects on glycolytic process^[103,104] and membranebound glycoprotein (MUC17) regulation^[105] reflective of activation of metabolic pathways. Further evidences of loss-of-function genetic mutations in key mitochondrial metabolic enzymes such as succinate dehydrogenase and fumarate hydratase, isocitrate dehydrogenase, phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase support carcinogenesis and the Warburg effect^[106-110]. Other important alternative pathways in cancer metabolism such as glutaminolysis and pyruvate kinase isoform suppression have been shown to accumulate respective upstream intermediates and reduction of associated end products such as NADPH, ribose-5phosphate and nucleic acids^[111-116]. As such, various groups have reported metabolomics biomarker applications for different cancers^[117,118].

As a major organ involved in metabolic regulation in a healthy individual, pancreatic disorder such as malignancy is anticipated to influence the normal metabolism, presenting further rationale and interest in elucidating the implication of malignant transformation and PDAC development. Proteomic analysis of the pancreatic cancer cells demonstrated alteration in proteins involved in metabolic pathways including increased expression of glycolytic and reduced Krebs cycle enzymes, and accumulation of key proteins involved in glutamine metabolism, in support of Warburg effect. These in turn play significant role in nucleotide and amino acid biosynthesis required for sustaining the proliferating cancer cells^[119]. Applications of sensitive mass spectrometric techniques in metabolomics study of PDAC detection biomarkers have led to identification of a set of small molecules or metabolites (or biochemical intermediates) that are potent discriminants of developing PDAC and the controls (See Figure 1 as an example of metabolomics based analysis, allowing segregation of PDAC from benign cases). Recent reports from our group as well as others have demonstrated that specific candidate metabolites consisting of amino acids, bile acids, and a number of lipids and fatty acids - suspected to be reflective of tumor proliferation as well as many systemic response yet to be determined - were identified as potential discriminant for blood-based PDAC biomarkers^[120-123]. As a further supporting data, elucidation of lipids and fatty acids as discriminant factors from PDAC and benign lesions from the cancer tissue and adjacent normal tissue has been reported recently^[124].

By virtue of simultaneously depicting the multiple



WJG www.wjgnet.com




Figure 1 Example of metabolomics based analysis, allowing segregation of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma from benign cases. Heat map illustration of discriminant capability of a metabolite set derived from gas chromatography and liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry plasma metabolomics dataset comparing pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma patients (Red or group 1; n = 110) and benign pancreas (includes benign cysts, chronic pancreatitis, and normal pancreas) (Green or group 2; n = 90). Metabolites are plotted on x-axis, and the cases on the y-axis. Blue color indicates data points with a value smaller than the median of the respective metabolite and the red indicates higher values. This candidate set of metabolites enabled the segregation of the two groups.

metabolite levels, metabolomics approach reveals various biochemical pathways that are uniquely involved in malignant conditions and has led to findings such as abnormalities of glycine and its mitochondrial biosynthetic pathway, as a potential therapeutic target in certain cancers^[125]. Moreover, in combination with other systems biology approaches

such as transcriptomics and proteomics, further refinement in characterization of cancer development and therapeutic targets as well as identification of potential biomarkers could be realized for PDAC. Since many enzymes in a metabolic network determine metabolites' level and nonlinear quantitative relationship from the genes to the proteome and metabolome levels exist, a metabolome cannot be easily decomposed to a specific single marker, which will designate the cancer state^[126]. Thus, in order to delineate a pathological state such as PDAC, multiple metabolomic features might be required for accurate depiction of a developing cancer. Future studies are anticipated to incorporate cancer systems' biological knowledge, including metabolomics, for optimal designation of PDAC biomarkers, which would be utilized in conjunction with a clinical-parameterderived population subset for establishing the PDAC screening population. Subsequently, further validation studies for the PDAC biomarkers need to be performed.

CONCLUSION

Current imaging-based detection and diagnostic methods for PDAC is effectively providing answers to clinical questions raised for patients with signs or symptoms of suspected pancreatic lesions. However, the endoscopic/imaging-based screening schemes are currently limited in applications to early PDAC detection in asymptomatic patients, aside from a small group of known genetically high-risk groups. There is a high demand for developing a method of selecting distinct subsets among the general population for implementing the endoscopic/imaging screening test effectively. Application of combinations of clinical risk parameters/factors with the developing molecular biomarkers from translational science such as metabolomics analysis brings hopes of providing us with early PDAC detection markers, and developing effective early detection screening scheme for the patients in the near future.

REFERENCES

- 1 **National Cancer Institute**. Cancer topics: Pancreatic cancer. Available from: URL: http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/types/ pancreatic
- 2 American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures, 2014. Available from: URL: http://www.cancer.org/research/cancerfactsstatis tics/cancerfactsfigures2014/index
- 3 Ferlay J, Shin HR, Bray F, Forman D, Mathers C, Parkin DM. Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBOCAN 2008. Int J Cancer 2010; 127: 2893-2917 [PMID: 21351269 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.25516]
- 4 Beger HG, Rau B, Gansauge F, Poch B, Link KH. Treatment of pancreatic cancer: challenge of the facts. *World J Surg* 2003; 27: 1075-1084 [PMID: 12925907 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-003-7165-7]
- 5 Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Hao Y, Xu J, Thun MJ. Cancer statistics, 2009. CA Cancer J Clin 2009; 59: 225-249 [PMID: 19474385 DOI: 10.3322/caac.20006]
- 6 Rahib L, Smith BD, Aizenberg R, Rosenzweig AB, Fleshman JM, Matrisian LM. Projecting cancer incidence and deaths to 2030: the unexpected burden of thyroid, liver, and pancreas cancers in the United States. *Cancer Res* 2014; 74: 2913-2921 [PMID: 24840647 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472]
- 7 Ahmad NA, Lewis JD, Ginsberg GG, Haller DG, Morris JB, Williams NN, Rosato EF, Kochman ML. Long term survival after pancreatic resection for pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2001; **96**: 2609-2615 [PMID: 11569683 DOI: 10.1111/

j.1572-0241.2001.04123.x]

- 8 Howard TJ, Krug JE, Yu J, Zyromski NJ, Schmidt CM, Jacobson LE, Madura JA, Wiebke EA, Lillemoe KD. A margin-negative R0 resection accomplished with minimal postoperative complications is the surgeon's contribution to long-term survival in pancreatic cancer. J Gastrointest Surg 2006; 10: 1338-1345; discussion 1345-1346 [PMID: 17175452 DOI: 10.1016/j.gassur.2006.09.008]
- 9 Egawa S, Takeda K, Fukuyama S, Motoi F, Sunamura M, Matsuno S. Clinicopathological aspects of small pancreatic cancer. *Pancreas* 2004; 28: 235-240 [PMID: 15084963 DOI: 10.1097/00006676-200 404000-00004]
- 10 Ariyama J, Suyama M, Ogawa K, Ikari T. [Screening of pancreatic neoplasms and the diagnostic rate of small pancreatic neoplasms]. *Nihon Rinsho* 1986; 44: 1729-1734 [PMID: 3537369]
- 11 Yachida S, Jones S, Bozic I, Antal T, Leary R, Fu B, Kamiyama M, Hruban RH, Eshleman JR, Nowak MA, Velculescu VE, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Iacobuzio-Donahue CA. Distant metastasis occurs late during the genetic evolution of pancreatic cancer. *Nature* 2010; 467: 1114-1117 [PMID: 20981102 DOI: 10.1038/nature09515]
- 12 Rösch T, Braig C, Gain T, Feuerbach S, Siewert JR, Schusdziarra V, Classen M. Staging of pancreatic and ampullary carcinoma by endoscopic ultrasonography. Comparison with conventional sonography, computed tomography, and angiography. *Gastroenterology* 1992; 102: 188-199 [PMID: 1727753]
- 13 Müller MF, Meyenberger C, Bertschinger P, Schaer R, Marincek B. Pancreatic tumors: evaluation with endoscopic US, CT, and MR imaging. *Radiology* 1994; 190: 745-751 [PMID: 8115622 DOI: 10.1148/radiology.190.3.8115622]
- 14 Agarwal B, Abu-Hamda E, Molke KL, Correa AM, Ho L. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration and multidetector spiral CT in the diagnosis of pancreatic cancer. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2004; **99**: 844-850 [PMID: 15128348 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1572-0241.2004.04177.x]
- 15 Yasuda K, Mukai H, Fujimoto S, Nakajima M, Kawai K. The diagnosis of pancreatic cancer by endoscopic ultrasonography. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1988; 34: 1-8 [PMID: 3280392 DOI: 10.1016/ S0016-5107(88)71220-1]
- 16 Rösch T, Lorenz R, Braig C, Feuerbach S, Siewert JR, Schusdziarra V, Classen M. Endoscopic ultrasound in pancreatic tumor diagnosis. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1991; 37: 347-352 [PMID: 2070987 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(91)70729-3]
- 17 DeWitt J, Devereaux B, Chriswell M, McGreevy K, Howard T, Imperiale TF, Ciaccia D, Lane KA, Maglinte D, Kopecky K, LeBlanc J, McHenry L, Madura J, Aisen A, Cramer H, Cummings O, Sherman S. Comparison of endoscopic ultrasonography and multidetector computed tomography for detecting and staging pancreatic cancer. *Ann Intern Med* 2004; **141**: 753-763 [PMID: 15545675 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-141-10-200411160-00006]
- 18 Khashab MA, Yong E, Lennon AM, Shin EJ, Amateau S, Hruban RH, Olino K, Giday S, Fishman EK, Wolfgang CL, Edil BH, Makary M, Canto MI. EUS is still superior to multidetector computerized tomography for detection of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; **73**: 691-696 [PMID: 21067742 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.08.030]
- 19 Vilmann P, Jacobsen GK, Henriksen FW, Hancke S. Endoscopic ultrasonography with guided fine needle aspiration biopsy in pancreatic disease. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1992; 38: 172-173 [PMID: 1568614 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(92)70385-X]
- 20 Hewitt MJ, McPhail MJ, Possamai L, Dhar A, Vlavianos P, Monahan KJ. EUS-guided FNA for diagnosis of solid pancreatic neoplasms: a meta-analysis. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; 75: 319-331 [PMID: 22248600 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.08.049]
- 21 Hébert-Magee S, Bae S, Varadarajulu S, Ramesh J, Frost AR, Eloubeidi MA, Eltoum IA. The presence of a cytopathologist increases the diagnostic accuracy of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration cytology for pancreatic adenocarcinoma: a meta-analysis. *Cytopathology* 2013; 24: 159-171 [PMID: 23711182 DOI: 10.1111/cyt.12071]
- 22 Luz LP, Al-Haddad MA, Sey MS, DeWitt JM. Applications of

endoscopic ultrasound in pancreatic cancer. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; **20**: 7808-7818 [PMID: 24976719 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20. i24.7808]

- 23 Fritscher-Ravens A, Izbicki JR, Sriram PV, Krause C, Knoefel WT, Topalidis T, Jaeckle S, Thonke F, Soehendra N. Endosonography-guided, fine-needle aspiration cytology extending the indication for organ-preserving pancreatic surgery. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2000; **95**: 2255-2260 [PMID: 11007226 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2000.02311.x]
- 24 Pellisé M, Castells A, Ginès A, Solé M, Mora J, Castellví-Bel S, Rodríguez-Moranta F, Fernàndez-Esparrach G, Llach J, Bordas JM, Navarro S, Piqué JM. Clinical usefulness of KRAS mutational analysis in the diagnosis of pancreatic adenocarcinoma by means of endosonography-guided fine-needle aspiration biopsy. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2003; **17**: 1299-1307 [PMID: 12755843 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2036.2003.01579.x]
- 25 Goggins M. Molecular markers of early pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol 2005; 23: 4524-4531 [PMID: 16002843 DOI: 10.1200/ JCO.2005.19.711]
- 26 Takahashi K, Yamao K, Okubo K, Sawaki A, Mizuno N, Ashida R, Koshikawa T, Ueyama Y, Kasugai K, Hase S, Kakumu S. Differential diagnosis of pancreatic cancer and focal pancreatitis by using EUS-guided FNA. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2005; **61**: 76-79 [PMID: 15672060 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(04)02224-2]
- 27 Maluf-Filho F, Kumar A, Gerhardt R, Kubrusly M, Sakai P, Hondo F, Matuguma SE, Artifon E, Monteiro da Cunha JE, César Machado MC, Ishioka S, Forero E. Kras mutation analysis of fine needle aspirate under EUS guidance facilitates risk stratification of patients with pancreatic mass. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2007; **41**: 906-910 [PMID: 18090159 DOI: 10.1097/mcg.0b013e31805905e9]
- 28 Bournet B, Souque A, Senesse P, Assenat E, Barthet M, Lesavre N, Aubert A, O'Toole D, Hammel P, Levy P, Ruszniewski P, Bouisson M, Escourrou J, Cordelier P, Buscail L. Endoscopic ultrasoundguided fine-needle aspiration biopsy coupled with KRAS mutation assay to distinguish pancreatic cancer from pseudotumoral chronic pancreatitis. *Endoscopy* 2009; **41**: 552-557 [PMID: 19533561 DOI: 10.1055/s-0029-1214717]
- 29 Tada M, Komatsu Y, Kawabe T, Sasahira N, Isayama H, Toda N, Shiratori Y, Omata M. Quantitative analysis of K-ras gene mutation in pancreatic tissue obtained by endoscopic ultrasonographyguided fine needle aspiration: clinical utility for diagnosis of pancreatic tumor. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2002; 97: 2263-2270 [PMID: 12358243 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2002.05980.x]
- 30 Itoi T, Takei K, Sofuni A, Itokawa F, Tsuchiya T, Kurihara T, Nakamura K, Moriyasu F, Tsuchida A, Kasuya K. Immunohistochemical analysis of p53 and MIB-1 in tissue specimens obtained from endoscopic ultrasonography-guided fine needle aspiration biopsy for the diagnosis of solid pancreatic masses. *Oncol Rep* 2005; 13: 229-234 [PMID: 15643503 DOI: 10.3892/ or.13.2.229]
- 31 Mishra G, Zhao Y, Sweeney J, Pineau BC, Case D, Ho C, Blackstock AW, Geisinger K, Howerton R, Levine E, Shen P, Ibdah J. Determination of qualitative telomerase activity as an adjunct to the diagnosis of pancreatic adenocarcinoma by EUS-guided fineneedle aspiration. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2006; 63: 648-654 [PMID: 16564867 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2005.11.056]
- 32 Salek C, Benesova L, Zavoral M, Nosek V, Kasperova L, Ryska M, Strnad R, Traboulsi E, Minarik M. Evaluation of clinical relevance of examining K-ras, p16 and p53 mutations along with allelic losses at 9p and 18q in EUS-guided fine needle aspiration samples of patients with chronic pancreatitis and pancreatic cancer. *World J Gastroenterol* 2007; **13**: 3714-3720 [PMID: 17659731 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v13.i27.3714]
- 33 Shi C, Hruban RH, Klein AP. Familial pancreatic cancer. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2009; 133: 365-374 [PMID: 19260742 DOI: 10.10 43/1543-2165-133.3.365]
- 34 Permuth-Wey J, Egan KM. Family history is a significant risk factor for pancreatic cancer: results from a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Fam Cancer* 2009; 8: 109-117 [PMID: 18763055 DOI: 10.1007/s10689-008-9214-8]

- 35 Wang W, Chen S, Brune KA, Hruban RH, Parmigiani G, Klein AP. PancPRO: risk assessment for individuals with a family history of pancreatic cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2007; 25: 1417-1422 [PMID: 17416862 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2006.09.2452]
- 36 Klein AP, Brune KA, Petersen GM, Goggins M, Tersmette AC, Offerhaus GJ, Griffin C, Cameron JL, Yeo CJ, Kern S, Hruban RH. Prospective risk of pancreatic cancer in familial pancreatic cancer kindreds. *Cancer Res* 2004; 64: 2634-2638 [PMID: 15059921 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-3823]
- Wang L, Brune KA, Visvanathan K, Laheru D, Herman J, Wolfgang C, Schulick R, Cameron JL, Goggins M, Hruban RH, Klein AP. Elevated cancer mortality in the relatives of patients with pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2009; 18: 2829-2834 [PMID: 19843679 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965. EPI-09-0557]
- 38 Giardiello FM, Brensinger JD, Tersmette AC, Goodman SN, Petersen GM, Booker SV, Cruz-Correa M, Offerhaus JA. Very high risk of cancer in familial Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 2000; 119: 1447-1453 [PMID: 11113065 DOI: 10.1053/ gast.2000.20228]
- 39 Rebours V, Boutron-Ruault MC, Schnee M, Férec C, Maire F, Hammel P, Ruszniewski P, Lévy P. Risk of pancreatic adenocarcinoma in patients with hereditary pancreatitis: a national exhaustive series. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2008; **103**: 111-119 [PMID: 18184119 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01597.x]
- 40 Lowenfels AB, Maisonneuve P, DiMagno EP, Elitsur Y, Gates LK, Perrault J, Whitcomb DC. Hereditary pancreatitis and the risk of pancreatic cancer. International Hereditary Pancreatitis Study Group. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1997; 89: 442-446 [PMID: 9091646 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/89.6.442]
- 41 Raimondi S, Lowenfels AB, Morselli-Labate AM, Maisonneuve P, Pezzilli R. Pancreatic cancer in chronic pancreatitis; aetiology, incidence, and early detection. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol* 2010; 24: 349-358 [PMID: 20510834 DOI: 10.1016/ j.bpg.2010.02.007]
- 42 Goldstein AM, Fraser MC, Struewing JP, Hussussian CJ, Ranade K, Zametkin DP, Fontaine LS, Organic SM, Dracopoli NC, Clark WH. Increased risk of pancreatic cancer in melanoma-prone kindreds with p16INK4 mutations. *N Engl J Med* 1995; 333: 970-974 [PMID: 7666916 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199510123331504]
- 43 Whelan AJ, Bartsch D, Goodfellow PJ. Brief report: a familial syndrome of pancreatic cancer and melanoma with a mutation in the CDKN2 tumor-suppressor gene. *N Engl J Med* 1995; 333: 975-977 [PMID: 7666917 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199510123331505]
- 44 Klein AP. Genetic susceptibility to pancreatic cancer. *Mol Carcinog* 2012; **51**: 14-24 [PMID: 22162228 DOI: 10.1002/mc.20855]
- 45 van Asperen CJ, Brohet RM, Meijers-Heijboer EJ, Hoogerbrugge N, Verhoef S, Vasen HF, Ausems MG, Menko FH, Gomez Garcia EB, Klijn JG, Hogervorst FB, van Houwelingen JC, van't Veer LJ, Rookus MA, van Leeuwen FE. Cancer risks in BRCA2 families: estimates for sites other than breast and ovary. *J Med Genet* 2005; 42: 711-719 [PMID: 16141007 DOI: 10.1136/jmg.2004.028829]
- Brose MS, Rebbeck TR, Calzone KA, Stopfer JE, Nathanson KL, Weber BL. Cancer risk estimates for BRCA1 mutation carriers identified in a risk evaluation program. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2002; 94: 1365-1372 [PMID: 12237282 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/94.18.1365]
- 47 Couch FJ, Johnson MR, Rabe KG, Brune K, de Andrade M, Goggins M, Rothenmund H, Gallinger S, Klein A, Petersen GM, Hruban RH. The prevalence of BRCA2 mutations in familial pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2007; 16: 342-346 [PMID: 17301269 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-06-0783]
- 48 Goggins M, Schutte M, Lu J, Moskaluk CA, Weinstein CL, Petersen GM, Yeo CJ, Jackson CE, Lynch HT, Hruban RH, Kern SE. Germline BRCA2 gene mutations in patients with apparently sporadic pancreatic carcinomas. *Cancer Res* 1996; 56: 5360-5364 [PMID: 8968085]
- 49 Hahn SA, Greenhalf B, Ellis I, Sina-Frey M, Rieder H, Korte B, Gerdes B, Kress R, Ziegler A, Raeburn JA, Campra D, Grützmann R, Rehder H, Rothmund M, Schmiegel W, Neoptolemos JP, Bartsch DK. BRCA2 germline mutations in familial pancreatic carcinoma.



J Natl Cancer Inst 2003; **95**: 214-221 [PMID: 12569143 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/95.3.214]

- 50 Lal G, Liu G, Schmocker B, Kaurah P, Ozcelik H, Narod SA, Redston M, Gallinger S. Inherited predisposition to pancreatic adenocarcinoma: role of family history and germ-line p16, BRCA1, and BRCA2 mutations. *Cancer Res* 2000; 60: 409-416 [PMID: 10667595]
- 51 Murphy KM, Brune KA, Griffin C, Sollenberger JE, Petersen GM, Bansal R, Hruban RH, Kern SE. Evaluation of candidate genes MAP2K4, MADH4, ACVR1B, and BRCA2 in familial pancreatic cancer: deleterious BRCA2 mutations in 17%. *Cancer Res* 2002; 62: 3789-3793 [PMID: 12097290]
- 52 Kastrinos F, Mukherjee B, Tayob N, Wang F, Sparr J, Raymond VM, Bandipalliam P, Stoffel EM, Gruber SB, Syngal S. Risk of pancreatic cancer in families with Lynch syndrome. *JAMA* 2009; 302: 1790-1795 [PMID: 19861671 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2009.1529]
- 53 McWilliams R, Highsmith WE, Rabe KG, de Andrade M, Tordsen LA, Holtegaard LM, Petersen GM. Cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator gene carrier status is a risk factor for young onset pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Gut* 2005; 54: 1661-1662 [PMID: 16227367 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2005.074534]
- 54 Greenhalf W, Grocock C, Harcus M, Neoptolemos J. Screening of high-risk families for pancreatic cancer. *Pancreatology* 2009; 9: 215-222 [PMID: 19349734 DOI: 10.1159/000210262]
- 55 Brand RE, Lerch MM, Rubinstein WS, Neoptolemos JP, Whitcomb DC, Hruban RH, Brentnall TA, Lynch HT, Canto MI. Advances in counselling and surveillance of patients at risk for pancreatic cancer. *Gut* 2007; 56: 1460-1469 [PMID: 17872573 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2006.108456]
- 56 Lynch HT, Deters CA, Snyder CL, Lynch JF, Villeneuve P, Silberstein J, Martin H, Narod SA, Brand RE. BRCA1 and pancreatic cancer: pedigree findings and their causal relationships. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet* 2005; **158**: 119-125 [PMID: 15796958 DOI: 10.1016/j.cancergencyto.2004.01.032]
- 57 Pogue-Geile KL, Chen R, Bronner MP, Crnogorac-Jurcevic T, Moyes KW, Dowen S, Otey CA, Crispin DA, George RD, Whitcomb DC, Brentnall TA. Palladin mutation causes familial pancreatic cancer and suggests a new cancer mechanism. *PLoS Med* 2006; **3**: e516 [PMID: 17194196 DOI: 10.1371/journal. pmed.0030516]
- 58 Earl J, Yan L, Vitone LJ, Risk J, Kemp SJ, McFaul C, Neoptolemos JP, Greenhalf W, Kress R, Sina-Frey M, Hahn SA, Rieder H, Bartsch DK. Evaluation of the 4q32-34 locus in European familial pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2006; **15**: 1948-1955 [PMID: 17035404 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965. EPI-06-0376]
- 59 Zervos EE, Tanner SM, Osborne DA, Bloomston M, Rosemurgy AS, Ellison EC, Melvin WS, de la Chapelle A. Differential gene expression in patients genetically predisposed to pancreatic cancer. *J Surg Res* 2006; 135: 317-322 [PMID: 16815451 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jss.2006.03.022]
- 60 Jones S, Hruban RH, Kamiyama M, Borges M, Zhang X, Parsons DW, Lin JC, Palmisano E, Brune K, Jaffee EM, Iacobuzio-Donahue CA, Maitra A, Parmigiani G, Kern SE, Velculescu VE, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Eshleman JR, Goggins M, Klein AP. Exomic sequencing identifies PALB2 as a pancreatic cancer susceptibility gene. *Science* 2009; **324**: 217 [PMID: 19264984 DOI: 10.1126/science.1171202]
- 61 Brune KA, Lau B, Palmisano E, Canto M, Goggins MG, Hruban RH, Klein AP. Importance of age of onset in pancreatic cancer kindreds. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2010; 102: 119-126 [PMID: 20068195 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djp466]
- 62 Rulyak SJ, Lowenfels AB, Maisonneuve P, Brentnall TA. Risk factors for the development of pancreatic cancer in familial pancreatic cancer kindreds. *Gastroenterology* 2003; 124: 1292-1299 [PMID: 12730869 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5085(03)00272-5]
- 63 Kim JE, Lee KT, Lee JK, Paik SW, Rhee JC, Choi KW. Clinical usefulness of carbohydrate antigen 19-9 as a screening test for pancreatic cancer in an asymptomatic population. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2004; 19: 182-186 [PMID: 14731128 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-

1746.2004.03219.x]

- 64 Bussom S, Saif MW. Methods and rationale for the early detection of pancreatic cancer. Highlights from the "2010 ASCO Gastrointestinal Cancers Symposium". Orlando, FL, USA. January 22-24, 2010. JOP 2010; 11: 128-130 [PMID: 20208319]
- 65 Stolzenberg-Solomon RZ, Graubard BI, Chari S, Limburg P, Taylor PR, Virtamo J, Albanes D. Insulin, glucose, insulin resistance, and pancreatic cancer in male smokers. *JAMA* 2005; 294: 2872-2878 [PMID: 16352795 DOI: 10.1001/jama.294.22.2872]
- 66 Canto MI, Goggins M, Yeo CJ, Griffin C, Axilbund JE, Brune K, Ali SZ, Jagannath S, Petersen GM, Fishman EK, Piantadosi S, Giardiello FM, Hruban RH. Screening for pancreatic neoplasia in high-risk individuals: an EUS-based approach. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2004; 2: 606-621 [PMID: 15224285 DOI: 10.1016/S1542-3565(04)00244-7]
- 67 Canto MI, Goggins M, Hruban RH, Petersen GM, Giardiello FM, Yeo C, Fishman EK, Brune K, Axilbund J, Griffin C, Ali S, Richman J, Jagannath S, Kantsevoy SV, Kalloo AN. Screening for early pancreatic neoplasia in high-risk individuals: a prospective controlled study. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006; 4: 766-81; quiz 665 [PMID: 16682259 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2006.02.005]
- 68 Canto MI, Hruban RH, Fishman EK, Kamel IR, Schulick R, Zhang Z, Topazian M, Takahashi N, Fletcher J, Petersen G, Klein AP, Axilbund J, Griffin C, Syngal S, Saltzman JR, Mortele KJ, Lee J, Tamm E, Vikram R, Bhosale P, Margolis D, Farrell J, Goggins M. Frequent detection of pancreatic lesions in asymptomatic highrisk individuals. *Gastroenterology* 2012; **142**: 796-804; quiz e14-5 [PMID: 22245846 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.01.005]
- 69 Kimmey MB, Bronner MP, Byrd DR, Brentnall TA. Screening and surveillance for hereditary pancreatic cancer. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2002; 56: S82-S86 [PMID: 12297755 DOI: 10.1016/ S0016-5107(02)70092-8]
- 70 Carlson C, Greenhalf W, Brentnall TA. Screening of hereditary pancreatic cancer families. In: Berger HG, Bucher M, Kozarek R, Lerch M, Neoptolemos J, Warshaw A, Whitcomb D, Shiratori K, editors. The Pancreas: An Integrated Textbook of Basic Science, Medicine and Surgery. Second Edition. Oxford UK: Wiley-Blackwell Publishing, 2008: 636-642 [DOI: 10.1002/9781444300123.ch64]
- 71 Langer P, Kann PH, Fendrich V, Habbe N, Schneider M, Sina M, Slater EP, Heverhagen JT, Gress TM, Rothmund M, Bartsch DK. Five years of prospective screening of high-risk individuals from families with familial pancreatic cancer. *Gut* 2009; **58**: 1410-1418 [PMID: 19470496 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2008.171611]
- 72 Poley JW, Kluijt I, Gouma DJ, Harinck F, Wagner A, Aalfs C, van Eijck CH, Cats A, Kuipers EJ, Nio Y, Fockens P, Bruno MJ. The yield of first-time endoscopic ultrasonography in screening individuals at a high risk of developing pancreatic cancer. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2009; 104: 2175-2181 [PMID: 19491823 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2009.276]
- 73 Canto MI, Harinck F, Hruban RH, Offerhaus GJ, Poley JW, Kamel I, Nio Y, Schulick RS, Bassi C, Kluijt I, Levy MJ, Chak A, Fockens P, Goggins M, Bruno M. International Cancer of the Pancreas Screening (CAPS) Consortium summit on the management of patients with increased risk for familial pancreatic cancer. *Gut* 2013; 62: 339-347 [PMID: 23135763 DOI: 10.1136/ gutjnl-2012-303108]
- 74 Lennon AM, Wolfgang CL, Canto MI, Klein AP, Herman JM, Goggins M, Fishman EK, Kamel I, Weiss MJ, Diaz LA, Papadopoulos N, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Hruban RH. The early detection of pancreatic cancer: what will it take to diagnose and treat curable pancreatic neoplasia? *Cancer Res* 2014; **74**: 3381-3389 [PMID: 24924775 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-0734]
- 75 Chari ST, Leibson CL, Rabe KG, Timmons LJ, Ransom J, de Andrade M, Petersen GM. Pancreatic cancer-associated diabetes mellitus: prevalence and temporal association with diagnosis of cancer. *Gastroenterology* 2008; 134: 95-101 [PMID: 18061176 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.10.040]
- 76 Chari ST, Leibson CL, Rabe KG, Ransom J, de Andrade M, Petersen GM. Probability of pancreatic cancer following diabetes: a population-based study. *Gastroenterology* 2005; 129: 504-511

Urayama S. Pancreatic cancer early detection with new parameters

[PMID: 16083707 DOI: 10.1016/j.gastro.2005.05.007]

- 77 Ogawa Y, Tanaka M, Inoue K, Yamaguchi K, Chijiiwa K, Mizumoto K, Tsutsu N, Nakamura Y. A prospective pancreatographic study of the prevalence of pancreatic carcinoma in patients with diabetes mellitus. *Cancer* 2002; 94: 2344-2349 [PMID: 12015758 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.10493]
- 78 Pannala R, Basu A, Petersen GM, Chari ST. New-onset diabetes: a potential clue to the early diagnosis of pancreatic cancer. *Lancet Oncol* 2009; 10: 88-95 [PMID: 19111249 DOI: 10.1016/ S1470-2045(08)70337-1]
- 79 Wang F, Herrington M, Larsson J, Permert J. The relationship between diabetes and pancreatic cancer. *Mol Cancer* 2003; 2: 4 [PMID: 12556242 DOI: 10.1186/1476-4598-2-4]
- 80 Lowenfels AB, Maisonneuve P, Cavallini G, Ammann RW, Lankisch PG, Andersen JR, Dimagno EP, Andrén-Sandberg A, Domellöf L. Pancreatitis and the risk of pancreatic cancer. International Pancreatitis Study Group. *N Engl J Med* 1993; **328**: 1433-1437 [PMID: 8479461 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199305203282001]
- 81 Arslan AA, Helzlsouer KJ, Kooperberg C, Shu XO, Steplowski E, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Fuchs CS, Gross MD, Jacobs EJ, Lacroix AZ, Petersen GM, Stolzenberg-Solomon RZ, Zheng W, Albanes D, Amundadottir L, Bamlet WR, Barricarte A, Bingham SA, Boeing H, Boutron-Ruault MC, Buring JE, Chanock SJ, Clipp S, Gaziano JM, Giovannucci EL, Hankinson SE, Hartge P, Hoover RN, Hunter DJ, Hutchinson A, Jacobs KB, Kraft P, Lynch SM, Manjer J, Manson JE, McTiernan A, McWilliams RR, Mendelsohn JB, Michaud DS, Palli D, Rohan TE, Slimani N, Thomas G, Tjønneland A, Tobias GS, Trichopoulos D, Virtamo J, Wolpin BM, Yu K, Zeleniuch-Jacquotte A, Patel AV. Anthropometric measures, body mass index, and pancreatic cancer: a pooled analysis from the Pancreatic Cancer Cohort Consortium (PanScan). Arch Intern Med 2010; 170: 791-802 [PMID: 20458087 DOI: 10.1001/archinternmed.2010.63]
- 82 Li D, Morris JS, Liu J, Hassan MM, Day RS, Bondy ML, Abbruzzese JL. Body mass index and risk, age of onset, and survival in patients with pancreatic cancer. *JAMA* 2009; 301: 2553-2562 [PMID: 19549972 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2009.886]
- 83 Calle EE, Kaaks R. Overweight, obesity and cancer: epidemiological evidence and proposed mechanisms. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2004; 4: 579-591 [PMID: 15286738 DOI: 10.1038/nrc1408]
- 84 Rapp K, Schroeder J, Klenk J, Stoehr S, Ulmer H, Concin H, Diem G, Oberaigner W, Weiland SK. Obesity and incidence of cancer: a large cohort study of over 145,000 adults in Austria. Br J Cancer 2005; 93: 1062-1067 [PMID: 16234822 DOI: 10.1038/ sj.bjc.6602819]
- 85 Larsson SC, Permert J, Håkansson N, Näslund I, Bergkvist L, Wolk A. Overall obesity, abdominal adiposity, diabetes and cigarette smoking in relation to the risk of pancreatic cancer in two Swedish population-based cohorts. *Br J Cancer* 2005; **93**: 1310-1315 [PMID: 16288300 DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6602868]
- 86 Dawson DW, Hertzer K, Moro A, Donald G, Chang HH, Go VL, Pandol SJ, Lugea A, Gukovskaya AS, Li G, Hines OJ, Rozengurt E, Eibl G. High-fat, high-calorie diet promotes early pancreatic neoplasia in the conditional KrasG12D mouse model. *Cancer Prev Res* (Phila) 2013; 6: 1064-1073 [PMID: 23943783 DOI: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-13-0065]
- 87 Philip B, Roland CL, Daniluk J, Liu Y, Chatterjee D, Gomez SB, Ji B, Huang H, Wang H, Fleming JB, Logsdon CD, Cruz-Monserrate Z. A high-fat diet activates oncogenic Kras and COX2 to induce development of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma in mice. *Gastroenterology* 2013; 145: 1449-1458 [PMID: 23958541 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.08.018]
- 88 Oliver SG. Functional genomics: lessons from yeast. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 2002; 357: 17-23 [PMID: 11839178 DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2001.1049]
- 89 Garber K. Energy boost: the Warburg effect returns in a new theory of cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2004; 96: 1805-1806 [PMID: 15601632 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/96.24.1805]
- 90 DeBerardinis RJ, Lum JJ, Hatzivassiliou G, Thompson CB. The biology of cancer: metabolic reprogramming fuels cell growth and proliferation. *Cell Metab* 2008; 7: 11-20 [PMID: 18177721 DOI:

10.1016/j.cmet.2007.10.002]

- 91 Spratlin JL, Serkova NJ, Eckhardt SG. Clinical applications of metabolomics in oncology: a review. *Clin Cancer Res* 2009; 15: 431-440 [PMID: 19147747 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1059]
- 92 Lai IL, Chou CC, Lai PT, Fang CS, Shirley LA, Yan R, Mo X, Bloomston M, Kulp SK, Bekaii-Saab T, Chen CS. Targeting the Warburg effect with a novel glucose transporter inhibitor to overcome gemcitabine resistance in pancreatic cancer cells. *Carcinogenesis* 2014; **35**: 2203-2213 [PMID: 24879635 DOI: 10.1093/carcin/bgu124]
- 93 **Warburg O**. On the origin of cancer cells. *Science* 1956; **123**: 309-314 [PMID: 13298683 DOI: 10.1126/science.123.3191.309]
- 94 Elstrom RL, Bauer DE, Buzzai M, Karnauskas R, Harris MH, Plas DR, Zhuang H, Cinalli RM, Alavi A, Rudin CM, Thompson CB. Akt stimulates aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 2004; 64: 3892-3899 [PMID: 15172999 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-03-2904]
- 95 Papandreou I, Cairns RA, Fontana L, Lim AL, Denko NC. HIF-1 mediates adaptation to hypoxia by actively downregulating mitochondrial oxygen consumption. *Cell Metab* 2006; **3**: 187-197 [PMID: 16517406 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2006.01.012]
- 96 Kim JW, Tchernyshyov I, Semenza GL, Dang CV. HIF-1-mediated expression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase: a metabolic switch required for cellular adaptation to hypoxia. *Cell Metab* 2006; 3: 177-185 [PMID: 16517405 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2006.02.002]
- 97 Lu CW, Lin SC, Chen KF, Lai YY, Tsai SJ. Induction of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase-3 by hypoxia-inducible factor-1 promotes metabolic switch and drug resistance. *J Biol Chem* 2008; 283: 28106-28114 [PMID: 18718909 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M803508200]
- 98 Mathupala SP, Heese C, Pedersen PL. Glucose catabolism in cancer cells. The type II hexokinase promoter contains functionally active response elements for the tumor suppressor p53. *J Biol Chem* 1997; 272: 22776-22780 [PMID: 9278438 DOI: 10.1074/ jbc.272.36.22776]
- 99 Matoba S, Kang JG, Patino WD, Wragg A, Boehm M, Gavrilova O, Hurley PJ, Bunz F, Hwang PM. p53 regulates mitochondrial respiration. *Science* 2006; **312**: 1650-1653 [PMID: 16728594 DOI: 10.1126/science.1126863]
- 100 Bensaad K, Tsuruta A, Selak MA, Vidal MN, Nakano K, Bartrons R, Gottlieb E, Vousden KH. TIGAR, a p53-inducible regulator of glycolysis and apoptosis. *Cell* 2006; 126: 107-120 [PMID: 16839880 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.05.036]
- 101 Kondoh H, Lleonart ME, Gil J, Wang J, Degan P, Peters G, Martinez D, Carnero A, Beach D. Glycolytic enzymes can modulate cellular life span. *Cancer Res* 2005; 65: 177-185 [PMID: 15665293]
- 102 Britton D, Zen Y, Quaglia A, Selzer S, Mitra V, Löβner C, Jung S, Böhm G, Schmid P, Prefot P, Hoehle C, Koncarevic S, Gee J, Nicholson R, Ward M, Castellano L, Stebbing J, Zucht HD, Sarker D, Heaton N, Pike I. Quantification of pancreatic cancer proteome and phosphorylome: indicates molecular events likely contributing to cancer and activity of drug targets. *PLoS One* 2014; **9**: e90948 [PMID: 24670416 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090948]
- 103 Qin Y, Zhu W, Xu W, Zhang B, Shi S, Ji S, Liu J, Long J, Liu C, Liu L, Xu J, Yu X. LSD1 sustains pancreatic cancer growth via maintaining HIF1α-dependent glycolytic process. *Cancer Lett* 2014; 347: 225-232 [PMID: 24561118 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2014.02.013]
- 104 Chien W, Lee DH, Zheng Y, Wuensche P, Alvarez R, Wen DL, Aribi AM, Thean SM, Doan NB, Said JW, Koeffler HP. Growth inhibition of pancreatic cancer cells by histone deacetylase inhibitor belinostat through suppression of multiple pathways including HIF, NFkB, and mTOR signaling in vitro and in vivo. *Mol Carcinog* 2014; **53**: 722-735 [PMID: 23475695 DOI: 10.1002/ mc.22024]
- 105 Kitamoto S, Yokoyama S, Higashi M, Yamada N, Matsubara S, Takao S, Batra SK, Yonezawa S. Expression of MUC17 is regulated by HIF1α-mediated hypoxic responses and requires a methylation-free hypoxia responsible element in pancreatic cancer. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e44108 [PMID: 22970168 DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0044108]
- 106 Selak MA, Armour SM, MacKenzie ED, Boulahbel H, Watson



DG, Mansfield KD, Pan Y, Simon MC, Thompson CB, Gottlieb E. Succinate links TCA cycle dysfunction to oncogenesis by inhibiting HIF-alpha prolyl hydroxylase. *Cancer Cell* 2005; **7**: 77-85 [PMID: 15652751 DOI: 10.1016/j.ccr.2004.11.022]

- 107 Isaacs JS, Jung YJ, Mole DR, Lee S, Torres-Cabala C, Chung YL, Merino M, Trepel J, Zbar B, Toro J, Ratcliffe PJ, Linehan WM, Neckers L. HIF overexpression correlates with biallelic loss of fumarate hydratase in renal cancer: novel role of fumarate in regulation of HIF stability. *Cancer Cell* 2005; 8: 143-153 [PMID: 16098467 DOI: 10.1016/j.ccr.2005.06.017]
- 108 King A, Selak MA, Gottlieb E. Succinate dehydrogenase and fumarate hydratase: linking mitochondrial dysfunction and cancer. *Oncogene* 2006; 25: 4675-4682 [PMID: 16892081 DOI: 10.1038/ sj.onc.1209594]
- 109 Pollard PJ, Brière JJ, Alam NA, Barwell J, Barclay E, Wortham NC, Hunt T, Mitchell M, Olpin S, Moat SJ, Hargreaves IP, Heales SJ, Chung YL, Griffiths JR, Dalgleish A, McGrath JA, Gleeson MJ, Hodgson SV, Poulsom R, Rustin P, Tomlinson IP. Accumulation of Krebs cycle intermediates and over-expression of HIF1alpha in tumours which result from germline FH and SDH mutations. *Hum Mol Genet* 2005; 14: 2231-2239 [PMID: 15987702 DOI: 10.1093/ hmg/ddi227]
- 110 MacKenzie ED, Selak MA, Tennant DA, Payne LJ, Crosby S, Frederiksen CM, Watson DG, Gottlieb E. Cell-permeating alphaketoglutarate derivatives alleviate pseudohypoxia in succinate dehydrogenase-deficient cells. *Mol Cell Biol* 2007; 27: 3282-3289 [PMID: 17325041 DOI: 10.1128/MCB.01927-06]
- 111 DeBerardinis RJ, Mancuso A, Daikhin E, Nissim I, Yudkoff M, Wehrli S, Thompson CB. Beyond aerobic glycolysis: transformed cells can engage in glutamine metabolism that exceeds the requirement for protein and nucleotide synthesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2007; **104**: 19345-19350 [PMID: 18032601 DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.0709747104]
- 112 Dang CV, Kim JW, Gao P, Yustein J. The interplay between MYC and HIF in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2008; 8: 51-56 [PMID: 18046334 DOI: 10.1038/nrc2274]
- 113 Dang CV. Rethinking the Warburg effect with Myc micromanaging glutamine metabolism. *Cancer Res* 2010; **70**: 859-862 [PMID: 20086171 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3556]
- 114 Christofk HR, Vander Heiden MG, Harris MH, Ramanathan A, Gerszten RE, Wei R, Fleming MD, Schreiber SL, Cantley LC. The M2 splice isoform of pyruvate kinase is important for cancer metabolism and tumour growth. *Nature* 2008; 452: 230-233 [PMID: 18337823 DOI: 10.1038/nature06734]
- 115 Vander Heiden MG, Cantley LC, Thompson CB. Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. *Science* 2009; **324**: 1029-1033 [PMID: 19460998 DOI: 10.1126/ science.1160809]
- 116 Jiang P, Du W, Wang X, Mancuso A, Gao X, Wu M, Yang X. p53 regulates biosynthesis through direct inactivation of glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase. *Nat Cell Biol* 2011; 13: 310-316 [PMID:

21336310 DOI: 10.1038/ncb2172]

- 117 Denkert C, Bucher E, Hilvo M, Salek R, Orešič M, Griffin J, Brockmöller S, Klauschen F, Loibl S, Barupal DK, Budczies J, Iljin K, Nekljudova V, Fiehn O. Metabolomics of human breast cancer: new approaches for tumor typing and biomarker discovery. *Genome Med* 2012; 4: 37 [PMID: 22546809 DOI: 10.1186/gm336]
- 118 Vermeersch KA, Styczynski MP. Applications of metabolomics in cancer research. J Carcinog 2013; 12: 9 [PMID: 23858297 DOI: 10.4103/1477-3163.113622]
- 119 Zhou W, Capello M, Fredolini C, Racanicchi L, Piemonti L, Liotta LA, Novelli F, Petricoin EF. Proteomic analysis reveals Warburg effect and anomalous metabolism of glutamine in pancreatic cancer cells. *J Proteome Res* 2012; **11**: 554-563 [PMID: 22050456 DOI: 10.1021/pr2009274]
- 120 Urayama S, Zou W, Brooks K, Tolstikov V. Comprehensive mass spectrometry based metabolic profiling of blood plasma reveals potent discriminatory classifiers of pancreatic cancer. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* 2010; 24: 613-620 [PMID: 20143319 DOI: 10.1002/rcm.4420]
- 121 Bathe OF, Shaykhutdinov R, Kopciuk K, Weljie AM, McKay A, Sutherland FR, Dixon E, Dunse N, Sotiropoulos D, Vogel HJ. Feasibility of identifying pancreatic cancer based on serum metabolomics. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2011; 20: 140-147 [PMID: 21098649 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-10-0712]
- 122 Kobayashi T, Nishiumi S, Ikeda A, Yoshie T, Sakai A, Matsubara A, Izumi Y, Tsumura H, Tsuda M, Nishisaki H, Hayashi N, Kawano S, Fujiwara Y, Minami H, Takenawa T, Azuma T, Yoshida M. A novel serum metabolomics-based diagnostic approach to pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2013; 22: 571-579 [PMID: 23542803 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-12-1033]
- 123 Ritchie SA, Akita H, Takemasa I, Eguchi H, Pastural E, Nagano H, Monden M, Doki Y, Mori M, Jin W, Sajobi TT, Jayasinghe D, Chitou B, Yamazaki Y, White T, Goodenowe DB. Metabolic system alterations in pancreatic cancer patient serum: potential for early detection. *BMC Cancer* 2013; 13: 416 [PMID: 24024929 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2407-13-416]
- 124 Zhang G, He P, Tan H, Budhu A, Gaedcke J, Ghadimi BM, Ried T, Yfantis HG, Lee DH, Maitra A, Hanna N, Alexander HR, Hussain SP. Integration of metabolomics and transcriptomics revealed a fatty acid network exerting growth inhibitory effects in human pancreatic cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 2013; **19**: 4983-4993 [PMID: 23918603 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0209]
- 125 Jain M, Nilsson R, Sharma S, Madhusudhan N, Kitami T, Souza AL, Kafri R, Kirschner MW, Clish CB, Mootha VK. Metabolite profiling identifies a key role for glycine in rapid cancer cell proliferation. *Science* 2012; **336**: 1040-1044 [PMID: 22628656 DOI: 10.1126/science.1218595]
- 126 ter Kuile BH, Westerhoff HV. Transcriptome meets metabolome: hierarchical and metabolic regulation of the glycolytic pathway. *FEBS Lett* 2001; 500: 169-171 [PMID: 11445079 DOI: 10.1016/ S0014-5793(01)02613-8]

P- Reviewer: Falconi M, Gangl A, Hayano K S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: A E- Editor: Ma S







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1718 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1718-1727 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

REVIEW

Vitamin D: A new player in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease?

Myrto Eliades, Elias Spyrou

Myrto Eliades, Division of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Nutrition, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD 21201, United States

Elias Spyrou, Department of Internal Medicine, Medstar Washington Hospital Center, Washington, DC 20010, United States

Author contributions: Eliades M and Spyrou E contributed equally to this work.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Myrto Eliades, MD, Division of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Nutrition, University of Maryland School of Medicine, 660 W. Redwood street, HH 496, Baltimore, MD 21201, United States. meliades@medicine.umaryland.edu

Telephone: +1-410-7066284 Fax: +1-410-7066219 Received: August 27, 2014 Peer-review started: August 28, 2014 First decision: September 15, 2014 Revised: October 25, 2014 Accepted: December 5, 2014

Article in press: December 8, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

Vitamin D through its active form 1a-25-dihydroxyvtamin D [1,25(OH)₂D] is a secosteroid hormone that plays a key role in mineral metabolism. Recent years have witnessed a significant scientific interest on vitamin D and expanded its actions to include immune modulation, cell differentiation and proliferation and inflammation regulation. As our understanding of the many functions of vitamin D has grown, the presence of vitamin D deficiency has become one of the most prevalent micronutrient deficiencies worldwide. Concomitantly, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) has become the most common form of chronic liver disease in western countries. NAFLD and vitamin D deficiency often coexist and epidemiologic evidence has shown that both of these conditions share several cardiometabolic risk factors. In this article we provide an overview of the epidemiology and pathophysiology linking NAFLD and vitamin D deficiency, as well as the available evidence on the clinical utility of vitamin D supplementation in NAFLD.

Key words: Steatohepatitis; Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; Fatty liver; Vitamin D

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is a multifactorial disease and its pathogenesis is closely linked to the metabolic syndrome. Vitamin D deficiency, which also shares similar associations with obesity and sedentary lifestyle, is often found together with NAFLD. As our understanding of the many functions of vitamin D has grown, emerging evidence points to a closely linked and potentially causative relationship between vitamin D deficiency and NAFLD. As such, vitamin D is now emerging as an immunomodulatory and antifibrotic agent. However, in order to implement clinical recommendations larger, randomized, placebo-control trials are required to better evaluate the efficacy of vitamin D replacement in NAFLD.

Eliades M, Spyrou E. Vitamin D: A new player in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease? *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1718-1727 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1718.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1718

INTRODUCTION

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) has become the most common form of chronic liver di-





Figure 1 Vitamin D synthesis and metabolism. DBP: D binding protein; VDRE: Vitamin D response element.

sease in Western countries with prevalence as high as $30\%^{[1,2]}$, thus exceeding that of viral hepatitis and alcoholic liver disease. NAFLD represents a continuum of hepatic injuries, which progress from simple fatty liver to steatohepatitis (NASH), cirrhosis or even hepatocellular carcinoma. The metabolic syndrome is universally considered as the key factor in the pathogenesis of NAFLD^[3,4]. However, the evolution of liver inflammation in NAFLD and the progression from simple fatty liver to steatohepatitis and hepatic fibrosis is more complex^[5]. As our understanding in the pathogenesis of NASH continues to evolve, vitamin D is emerging as an important player in the development and progression of NAFLD. This review will assess the role of vitamin D deficiency in the pathogenesis of NAFLD, explore the epidemiologic evidence that supports a link between vitamin D deficiency and NAFLD and provide available evidence on the clinical utility of vitamin D replacement in NAFLD subjects.

VITAMIN D METABOLISM

Vitamin D is a fat-soluble vitamin. Although, multiple forms of this vitamin exist, vitamin D₂ (ergocalciferol) and vitamin D₃ (cholecalciferol) are the two major forms. Vitamin D₂ is produced by some organisms of phytoplankton, invertebrates and yeast in response to ultraviolet irradiation but it is not constitutively produced by vertebrates. Thus this form of vitamin D has been exploited commercially and is used for fortification and supplementation. Vitamin D₃ on the other hand, originates in the skin of most vertebrates including humans, after irradiation of 7-dehydrocholesterol with ultraviolet light (UVB) (Figure 1). Dietary vitamin D₂ is absorbed by the small intestine and incorporated into chylomicrons where it is transported to the liver bound to vitamin D-binding protein. In the liver, vitamin D from both the skin and diet is then metabolized by 25-hydroxylase (CYP2R1) to 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D], which

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

is the major circulating metabolite and the most widely used indicator of vitamin D stores. 25(OH)D is transported to the kidney where it undergoes hydroxylation by 1a-hydroxylase (CYP27B1) to the biologically active form 1a,25-dihydroxyvitamin D [1,25(OH)₂D]. Finally, *via* binding to vitamin D receptor (VDR), 1,25(OH)₂D is able to exert its biological actions.

The synthesis of 1,25(OH)2D is tightly regulated by the synthetic activity of 1a-hydroxylase and the catabolic activity of 24-hydroxylase (CYP24A1) which catabolizes 1,25(OH)2D to the water soluble and biologically inactive calcitoic acid which is then excreted in the bile. Parathyroid hormone, 1,25(OH)2D and Fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) are the main regulators of these enzymes. 1,25(OH)2D decreases its own synthesis though negative feedback but also by way of inhibition of parathyroid hormone (PTH) which is the main stimulus for 1a-hydroxylase transcription. Fibroblast growth factor 23, secreted from osteoblasts, acts on the kidneys to suppress renal expression of 1a-hydroxylase and to promote 24-hydroxylase activity which result in reduced production of 1,25(OH)2D.

VITAMIN D TARGETS

The leading and most widely known physiological function of 1,25(OH)₂D is to regulate mineral and skeletal homeostasis. However, over the last decades the functions of vitamin D have been broadened beyond those on skeletal tissue and calcium homeostasis. Indeed, the finding of VDR expression in a wide range of tissues such as the immune system (T and B cells, macrophages, and monocytes), the reproductive system (uterus, testis, ovary, prostate, placenta, and mammary glands), the endocrine system (pancreas, pituitary, thyroid and adrenal cortex), in muscles (skeletal, smooth and heart muscles), and in brain, skin, and liver has stimulated considerable interest in understating the putative pleiotropic properties of vitamin D and introduced the idea of a paracrine/autocrine role in regulating cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis as well as immune-cells regulation^[6,7].

VITAMIN D DEFICIENCY AND NAFLD: THE EPIDEMIOLOGIC EVIDENCE TO DATE

Numerous publications propose that low levels of 25(OH)D are strongly associated with features of the metabolic syndrome^[8,9] and may play an important role in modifying the risk for cardio-metabolic outcomes including Type 2 diabetes (T2DM), hypertension and cardiovascular disease^[10]. A recent systematic review found that 25(OH)D levels > 25 ng/mL were associated with 43% lower risk of T2DM compared to

levels < 14 ng/mL^[11]. In the same study, vitamin D treatment improved insulin resistance among patients with baseline glucose intolerance. Similarly, another meta-analysis showed that vitamin D supplementation improves insulin resistance compared to placebo, albeit the effect was weak^[12]. In support of the beneficial role of vitamin D in diabetes and insulin resistance are the findings of various animal studies showing that lack of VDR in mice or vitamin D deficiency impairs insulin secretion from pancreatic beta cells^[13]. In contrast to the above findings, are the results of a recent meta-analysis by Seida *et al*^[14]. In this study, 35 randomized controlled trials were examined with a total of 43407 patients. No significant effect of vitamin D supplementation on the prevention of diabetes in individuals without diabetes, or on the reduction of insulin resistance and hyperglycemia in those with pre-diabetes or established type 2 diabetes was found. However these results are limited by the presence of moderate heterogeneity between the studies, the associated risks of bias and the short term of follow up.

Given the strong association of NAFLD with obesity and the metabolic syndrome, recent years have witnessed a significant scientific interest into the potential role of vitamin D in NAFLD. Accumulating epidemiological data suggest that low levels of serum 25(OH)D are associated with NAFLD as diagnosed either by biochemistry, imaging or biopsy. These data are summarized in a recently published meta-analysis in which NAFLD subjects were 26% more likely to be vitamin D deficient compared to controls^[15]. In US the largest of these studies was by Liangpunsakul et al^[16] in which the authors reported that in a subset of 1287 adult participants from the NHANES III database, those with unexplained elevation in serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels - a proxy of NAFLD - had lower 25(OH)D levels than those with normal ALT levels (24.7 ± 10.4 ng/mL vs 26.8 ± 10.9 ng/mL, P < 0.01). Compared to the lowest quartile, patients with the two top quartiles of serum 25(OH)D levels had significantly lower prevalence of unexplained elevation in serum ALT, independently of metabolic syndrome features^[16]. In Asia, the largest study was a cross-sectional study of 6567 Korean men which found that subjects in the lowest tertile of 25(OH)D levels had a significantly increased risk for NAFLD compared to thosein the highest tertile, even after adjusting for body mass index and metabolic syndrome (OR = 1.247 and 1.408 vs the highest tertile, P < 0.001^[17]. A more recent Korean study however, showed contradictory results. In this study the authors analyzed data from the Korean National Health and Nutrition Examination database (KNHANES IV) with more than 16000 individuals and found that obese subjects (BMI > 25) with > 2 components of the metabolic syndrome were more likely to have elevated liver enzymes compared to normal weight subjects; however there was no



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Potential mechanisms and evidence to support a benefit for vitamin D in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease

Mechanisms	Evidence				
Improvement in insulin secretion and insulin Presence of VDR in pancreatic beta cells ^[26]					
resistance	Expression of 1- α -hydroxylase enzyme in pancreatic beta cells ^[79]				
	Impaired insulin secretory response in mice lacking a functional VDR ^[13]				
	Transcriptional activation of the human insulin gene by 1,25(OH)2D ^[80]				
	Vitamin D deficiency impairs glucose-mediated insulin secretion from rat pancreatic beta cells in vitro ^[81]				
	and in vivo ^[82]				
	Vitamin D enhances insulin responsiveness for glucose transport in muscle cells ^[83]				
	Vitamin D up-regulates glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) translocation and glucose utilization in				
	adipocytes ^[44]				
Improvement in adipose tissue inflammation	Higher 25(OH)D concentrations were independently associated with higher adiponectin concentrations in				
	a large cohort of men and women ^[40]				
	Reduction of IL-6 in adipocytes after supplementation of vitamin D in mice fed high fat diet ^[84]				
	1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D treatment in human adipocytes inhibits NF- κ B pathway and reduces pro-				
	inflammatory cytokine release ^[85,86]				
	1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D inhibits macrophage recruitment and increases adiponectin expression in preadipocytes ^[87]				
Improvement in hepatic inflammation	Vitamin D deficiency causes TLR activation and exacerbates hepatic inflammation ^[42]				
	Artificial sunlight therapy in rats reduced liver inflammation and apoptosis ^[43]				
	VDR expression on cholangiocytes was inversely correlated with steatosis severity and nonalcoholic fatty				
	liver disease score in NASH patients ^[31]				
Improvement in hepatic fibrosis	Presence of VDR in HSC ^[24]				
	Vitamin D treatment suppresses HSC proliferation in cultured HSC from rats ^[73]				
	Vitamin D treatment downregulates pro-fibrotic marker TIMP-1 and collagen type I production in				
	cultured HSCs ^[73,74]				
	VDR knockout mice develop spontaneous liver injury with fibrosis ^[30]				

VDR: Vitamin D receptor; TLR: Toll-like receptor; IL: Interleukin; TLR: Toll like receptor; NASH: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis; HSC: Hepatic stellate cells.

significant difference in vitamin D levels between the groups^[18].

Targher *et al*^[19] was the first to study the association between biopsy-proven NAFLD and vitamin D levels. The study confirmed that 25(OH)D concentrations were lower in NAFLD subjects compared to matched controls. Furthermore 25(OH)D levels predicted the histological severity of NAFLD, with NASH patients having lower 25(OH)D levels compared to those with isolated fatty liver. These findings have been confirmed by four other studies with biopsyproven NAFLD in adults^[20,21] and in children^[22,23].

Collectively, the data from the published studies indicate that NAFLD subjects are more likely to be vitamin D deficient compared to controls. However, definite directionality of the results cannot be ascertained due to the nature of the above studies (*i.e.*, cross-sectional) and the limitations observed which include the variability in the method of diagnosis of NAFLD, clinical heterogeneity among the study groups and variability in defining vitamin D deficiency.

NAFLD PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

Our understanding of the pathogenesis of NAFLD has evolved from the relatively simplistic "two-hit" hypothesis to the "multiple-hits" hypothesis^[5]. In this model, a number of diverse, parallel processes contribute to the development and progression of liver inflammation from simple hepatic steatosis to

steatohepatitis and hepatic fibrosis. A number of these pathways can be affected by vitamin D and relate to the hormonal, immunologic and cellular differentiation "non-classical" effects of vitamin D. Below, we will discuss each of these pathways. A summary of evidence is provided in Table 1 and Figure 2 provides a schematic representation of these mechanisms.

PUTATIVE MECHANISMS LINKING VITAMIN D DEFICIENCY TO NAFLD

Vitamin D signaling

Vitamin D mediates its intracellular signals via its receptor VDR which is constitutively expressed in the liver^[24,25]. It has been estimated that VDR regulates over 200 genes involved in glucose and lipid metabolism^[13,26], inflammation^[27], cellular proliferation and differentiation and apoptosis^[28]. In a GWAS study of NAFLD subjects, four single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) were found to have significant association with NAFLD. Among these four SNPs GC gene was included which is predominately expressed in hepatocytes and codes for vitamin D binding protein, the main carrier protein for vitamin $D^{[29]}$. We also know from animal studies that normal functioning of VDR is crucial for liver fibrosis, as VDR knockout mice exhibit spontaneous liver injury with fibrosis^[30]. In humans, Barchetta *et al*^[31] showed that liver VDR expression is inversely correlated with severity of NAFLD on histopathology, independently



WJG www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Schematic representation of metabolic, anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrotic effects of vitamin D on hepatocytes and non-parenchymal hepatic cells (hepatic stellate cells, Kupffer cells) in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Left: At the initial stage of lipogenesis, $1,25(OH)_2D$ acts on adipocytes and inhibits NF- κ B transcription, known as the pro-inflammatory "master switch", and thus inhibits the expression of the inflammatory cytokines IL-6, TNF- α and IL-1 β . It also increases adiponectin secretion from adipocytes and enhances GLUT-4 receptor expression in myocytes, both of which improve insulin resistance; Middle: Increased gut permeability allows translocation of bacterial pathogens which can activate Toll like receptors on Kupffer cells. 1,25(OH)₂D downregulates the expression of TLR-2, TLR-4 and TLR-9 in these cells and thus ameliorates inflammation; Right: 1,25(OH)₂D acts on hepatic stellate cells by binding to VDR and reduces proliferation of these cells that play a major role in inducing fibrosis. VDR: Vitamin D receptor; TLR: Toll like receptor; LPS: Lipopolysacharides.

from other metabolic parameters such as BMI, insulin resistance or adiponectin.

Adipose tissue, insulin resistance and hepatic inflammation - the role of vitamin D

Insulin resistance, a key risk factor in the pathogenesis of NAFLD, is linked to the development of oxidative stress and lipotoxicity^[32,33]. As a result, hepatic steatosis resulting from accumulation of free fatty acids is associated with a state of chronic hepatic inflammation. An important mediator in this process is nuclear factor κ - β (NF- κ B) that functions as a pro-inflammatory "master switch" by upregulating the transcription of a wide range of inflammatory mediators. Accordingly, increased NF-kB activity in the livers of high fat diet mice is associated with the increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including TNF- α , IL-6, IL-1 β and activation of Kupffer cells^[34]. These cytokines are capable of producing all of the classical histological features of NASH including hepatocyte necrosis/apoptosis, neutrophil chemotaxis and activation of hepatic stellate cells. Moreover, human studies have demonstrated increased cytokine gene expression in the livers of patients with NASH compared to obese controls with normal livers, with the increased expression correlating with histolocical severity^[35]. Adiponectin on the other hand, has

been described as the prototypic adipokine by way of its function as an anti-inflammatory agent. In murine models, high levels of adiponectin have been experimentally shown to decrease necroinflammation and steatosis in alcoholic and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease^[36] as well as improved insulin resistance^[37]. Moreover, studies in humans showing reduced serum levels of adiponectin and reduced hepatic expression of its receptor in patients with NASH compared with body mass index-matched patients with steatosis^[38,39], provide strong supportive evidence that reduced adipocyte production of adiponectin plays an important role in the pathogenesis of progressive NAFLD.

The role of vitamin D in adipokine activity is an active area of research. Vaidya *et al*^[40] showed a positive association between 25(OH)D concentrations and levels of adiponectin in a large cohort of patients. Interestingly, this relationship was independent of BMI. Furthermore, in a double-blind, randomized, controlled trial of Iranian type 2 diabetic patients, daily intake of 1000 IU vitamin D either with or without extra calcium for 12 wk resulted in a significant increase of serum adipokines including adiponectin and decreased cellular secretion of the inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-1β^[41].

Additional evidence from animal studies further support the notion of an immunomodulatory role of



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

vitamin D in NAFLD. To explore the effect of vitamin D deficiency on inflammatory markers Roth *et al*^[42] used a rat model consistent of 4 groups; rats were fed either a low-fat diet alone (LFD) or with vitamin D depletion (LFD + VDD) or high-fat Western diet which was either replete (WD) or deficient in vitamin D (WD + VDD). In VDD groups, blood 25(OH)D levels were reduced compared to the replete diet groups. Mice fed WD/VDD showed increased hepatic steatosis comprared to LFD groups. Liver histology also showed increased lobular inflammation and NAFLD activity score in WD/VDD group compared to the WD alone group. In addition WD/VDD mice had increased hepatic mRNA levels of resistin, IL-4, IL-6 and TNF- α markers known to be implicated in oxidative stress and hepatic inflammation. Accordingly in another rat NASH model^[43], phototherapy increased 25(OH)D and 1,25(OH)2D levels while reducing hepatocyte inflammation, fibrosis and apoptosis compared to controls. Phototherapy also improved insulin resistance and increased serum adiponectin in association with reduced hepatic expression of inflammatory genes TNF- α and TFG- β . In total, these findings suggest that vitamin D deficiency worsens NAFLD related to upregulation of hepatic inflammatory and oxidative stress genes.

Another interesting and plausible mechanism underlying the association of diabetes/insulin resistance with low vitamin D levels has been recently showed in an *in-vitro* study where 3T3L1 adipocytes were treated with high glucose in the presence or absence of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D. 1,25(OH)₂D treatment of adipocytes caused significant up-regulation of GLUT4 receptor expression and its translocation to cell surface, and an increase in glucose uptake as well as glucose utilization^[44]. Supplementation also stimulated adiponectin secretion in high glucose-treated cells, lending further weight of a beneficial effect of vitamin D in reducing adipose tissue inflammation.

Intestinal microbiome and innate immunity in NAFLD and the role of viatamin D deficiency

The liver is positioned between the gut and systemic circulation and in addition to its synthetic function it has a key role in degrading and removing toxins, exogenous antigens, and infectious agents responding to exogenous antigenic molecules. This role makes the liver not only a metabolic organ but also a mediator of systemic and local innate and adaptive immunity^[45]. The intestinal epithelial cells prevent the translocation of bacterial products to the portal circulation. When this barrier is ineffective the liver cells are exposed to bacterial products and this translocation may impair liver homeostasis and trigger liver inflammation, inducing the innate immune response^[46,47]. A study from Italy showed that patients with NAFLD have increased

gut permeability and small intestinal bacterial overgrowth (SIBO). Both gut permeability and the prevalence of SIBO correlated with the severity of steatosis but not with presence of NASH in this study^[48].

Bacterial lipopolysaccharides (LPS) are activators of the immune system and in animal models were involved in the development of both systemic inflammation and obesity^[49]. Toll Like receptor-4 (TLR-4) recognizes a diverse array of pathogen associated molecular patterns including LPS^[50]. The role of TLR-4 has been studied and there is a clear association between TLR-4 activation and NAFLD^[48,49,51-54]. Interestingly, the development and progression of NAFLD by western diet is exacerbated by vitamin D deficiency through the activation of TLR2 and TLR4 by way of CD14/LBP, and stimulation of downstream inflammatory signaling molecules leading to steatosis and inflammation^[42].

Toll-like receptor 5 (expressed in the gut mucosa helping defense against infection) is implicated in the development of metabolic syndrome and alterations in gut microbiota. In a study published in 2010, TLR-5-deficient mice developed hyperphagia, obesity, insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis. In this study, transfer of microbiota from TLR-5-deficient mice to healthy mice led to development of *de novo* disease, indicating a possible connection between TLR-5 and intestinal microbiota in NAFLD^[55]. In contrast to this study, Kanuri *et al*^[54] found that TLR-5 is significantly overexpressed in patients with NAFLD compared to controls thus making the role of TLR-5 in the development of NAFLD unclear.

A different subtype of TLR, TLR-9 is activated by bacterial/viral DNA and has been implicated in the development of steatohepatitis in animal models^[56]. Miura *et al*^[57] showed that TLR-9-deficient mice failed to develop inflammation *vs* controls when exposed to IL-1b. In another study mentioned earlier the investigators showed that vitamin D deficient mice following Western Diet had increased levels of messenger RNA of TLR-2, TLR-4, and TLR-9^[42]. However, there are no randomized controlled trials studying whether vitamin D replacement is beneficial in suppressing the effects of TLR-4 and TLR-9.

The role of the major components of the innate immunity like macrophages and Kuppfer cells^[58-61], neutrophils^[62-64], eosinophils^[65] and dendritic cells (DC)^[66,67] in the pathogenesis of NAFLD and insulin resistance has been studied but a detailed report extends beyond the goals of the current review. It is however interesting to note the immunomodulatory effect of vitamin D in DC. Dendritic cells express VDR^[68] and treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D inhibits DC maturation and promotes a tolerogenic phenotype in some studies^[69,70]. However Henning *et al*^[66] showed that DC depletion markedly exacerbates intrahepatic fibroinflammation. Thus the role of vitamin D in the

regulation of this pathway is not clear yet.

Vitamin D and hepatic fibrosis

The development of liver fibrosis in NAFLD indicates advanced disease and is in fact the strongest predictor for disease-specific mortality^[71]. It is characterized by an accumulation of extracellular matrix (ECM) with subsequent destruction of the normal liver architecture, leading to liver cell dysfunction. Hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) play a critical role in the development of liver fibrosis, since they are responsible for excessive deposition of ECM proteins, predominantly type I collagen. Two main processes lead to liver fibrosis. First, HSCs become activated, resulting in increased cellular proliferation and biotransformation to an activated myofibroblast-like cell. Second, there is an increase in ECM protein synthesis and deposition, predominantly type I collagen. TGF- β 1 signaling pathway plays a central role in this process, as it is the main stimulating factor for profibrotic ECM synthesis^[72].

Although it has been known for some time that vitamin D has anti-proliferative and anti-fibrotic properties and plays an important role in the regulation of ECM, little has been known until recently about the effects of vitamin D on HSCs. Indeed, the finding of a robust VDR expression in HSCs^[24] has led to the discovery that VDR signaling can suppress fibrotic gene expression and inhibit proliferation of HSCs^[30,73]. Elegant mechanistic studies with VDR knockout mice confirmed the development of spontaneous liver injury with fibrosis in these mice^[30]. Moreover, in an experimental mouse model of liver injury, co-treatment with VDR ligand attenuated the progression of liver fibrosis^[30]. Consistent with the above studies are the findings of another *in-vitro* study, this time in human HSCs, in which treatment with 1,25(OH)2D caused inhibition of fibrogenesis by inhibiting type 1 collagen formation^[74]. The underlying mechanism by which VDR prevents this pathological process has only been recently elucidated and involves the antagonistic action of VDR on SMAD transcription factor - a key transcription factor in the pro-fibrotic process linking TGF- $\beta 1^{[30]}$.

VITAMIN D AS A TREATMENT FOR NAFLD/NASH

In total, the evidence to date suggests that vitamin D may be beneficial in preventing the progression of NAFLD. Therefore, clinical trials that directly evaluate the effect of vitamin D supplementation on disease progression in NAFLD subjects are warranted. Only recently were the results of a small double-blind, placebo-control study in NAFLD subjects published. In this study^[75], the investigators randomly assigned NAFLD participants in the vitamin D group (50000 IU every 14 d for 4 mo) and the control group (no

vitamin D supplementation). After a follow-up period of 4 mo, there were no significant differences in the serum levels of liver enzymes, HOMA-IR or grades of hepatic steatosis, measured by ultrasound, between the two groups. However there was a significant decrease in the levels of hsCRP and MDA (malondialdehyde) - a marker of lipid peroxidation - in the subjects treated with vitamin D. The negative results of this study on the markers of steatosis and liver injury have to be interpreted carefully given the limited number of participants (n = 53) and the relatively short term of follow up. On the contrary, the confirmation that vitamin D treatment resulted in improvement of inflammatory biomarkers in NAFLD subjects suggests that vitamin D supplementation may be considered as an adjunctive therapy to attenuate systemic inflammation in NAFLD.

CONCLUSION

Vitamin D deficiency is commonly associated with NAFLD and has even been correlated with disease severity. The metabolic, anti-inflammatory and antifibrotic properties of vitamin D provide plausible mechanisms by which vitamin D may impact on the various steps of disease progression and severity. Cumulatively, this would suggest that vitamin D replacement might be effective in the treatment of NAFLD. However, controversies exist in the field given the limited number of prospective randomized studies in humans examining the role of vitamin D supplementation in NAFLD, the presence of variability on the methodologies used for detecting vitamin D levels^[76] as well as the lack of consensus in the scientific community on defining the optimal levels of vitamin D (> 20 ng/mL vs > 30 ng/mL)^[77,78].

In conclusion, larger, randomized, placebo-controlled trials are required to better evaluate the efficacy of vitamin D replacement and parameters of therapy in NAFLD. Until then, it is premature to recommend vitamin D supplementation for the specific treatment of NAFLD even though its role seems to be promising.

REFERENCES

- Lazo M, Clark JM. The epidemiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a global perspective. *Semin Liver Dis* 2008; 28: 339-350 [PMID: 18956290 DOI: 10.1055/s-0028-1091978]
- 2 Browning JD, Szczepaniak LS, Dobbins R, Nuremberg P, Horton JD, Cohen JC, Grundy SM, Hobbs HH. Prevalence of hepatic steatosis in an urban population in the United States: impact of ethnicity. *Hepatology* 2004; 40: 1387-1395 [PMID: 15565570 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20466]
- Moore JB. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: the hepatic consequence of obesity and the metabolic syndrome. *Proc Nutr Soc* 2010;
 69: 211-220 [PMID: 20158939 DOI: 10.1017/S0029665110000030]
- 4 Fabbrini E, Sullivan S, Klein S. Obesity and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: biochemical, metabolic, and clinical implications. *Hepatology* 2010; 51: 679-689 [PMID: 20041406 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.23280]



- 5 Tilg H, Moschen AR. Evolution of inflammation in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: the multiple parallel hits hypothesis. *Hepatology* 2010; 52: 1836-1846 [PMID: 21038418 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24001]
- 6 Holick MF. Vitamin D deficiency. *N Engl J Med* 2007; **357**: 266-281 [PMID: 17634462 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra070553]
- 7 Verstuyf A, Carmeliet G, Bouillon R, Mathieu C. Vitamin D: a pleiotropic hormone. *Kidney Int* 2010; 78: 140-145 [PMID: 20182414 DOI: 10.1038/ki.2010.17]
- 8 Ju SY, Jeong HS, Kim do H. Blood vitamin D status and metabolic syndrome in the general adult population: a dose-response metaanalysis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2014; 99: 1053-1063 [PMID: 24423309 DOI: 10.1210/jc.2013-3577]
- 9 Pittas AG, Lau J, Hu FB, Dawson-Hughes B. The role of vitamin D and calcium in type 2 diabetes. A systematic review and metaanalysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007; 92: 2017-2029 [PMID: 17389701]
- 10 Pittas AG, Chung M, Trikalinos T, Mitri J, Brendel M, Patel K, Lichtenstein AH, Lau J, Balk EM. Systematic review: Vitamin D and cardiometabolic outcomes. *Ann Intern Med* 2010; 152: 307-314 [PMID: 20194237 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-152-5-20100 3020-00009]
- 11 Mitri J, Muraru MD, Pittas AG. Vitamin D and type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2011; 65: 1005-1015 [PMID: 21731035 DOI: 10.1038/ejcn.2011.118]
- George PS, Pearson ER, Witham MD. Effect of vitamin D supplementation on glycaemic control and insulin resistance: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabet Med* 2012; 29: e142-e150 [PMID: 22486204 DOI: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2012.03672. x]
- 13 Zeitz U, Weber K, Soegiarto DW, Wolf E, Balling R, Erben RG. Impaired insulin secretory capacity in mice lacking a functional vitamin D receptor. *FASEB J* 2003; 17: 509-511 [PMID: 12551842 DOI: 10.1096/fj.02-0424fje]
- 14 Seida JC, Mitri J, Colmers IN, Majumdar SR, Davidson MB, Edwards AL, Hanley DA, Pittas AG, Tjosvold L, Johnson JA. Clinical review: Effect of vitamin D3 supplementation on improving glucose homeostasis and preventing diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2014; **99**: 3551-3560 [PMID: 25062463 DOI: 10.1210/jc.2014-2136]
- 15 Eliades M, Spyrou E, Agrawal N, Lazo M, Brancati FL, Potter JJ, Koteish AA, Clark JM, Guallar E, Hernaez R. Meta-analysis: vitamin D and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2013; **38**: 246-254 [PMID: 23786213 DOI: 10.1111/ apt.12377]
- 16 Liangpunsakul S, Chalasani N. Serum vitamin D concentrations and unexplained elevation in ALT among US adults. *Dig Dis Sci* 2011; 56: 2124-2129 [PMID: 21503677 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-011-1707-x]
- 17 Rhee EJ, Kim MK, Park SE, Park CY, Baek KH, Lee WY, Kang MI, Park SW, Kim SW, Oh KW. High serum vitamin D levels reduce the risk for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in healthy men independent of metabolic syndrome. *Endocr J* 2013; 60: 743-752 [PMID: 23411507]
- 18 Hong HC, Lee JS, Choi HY, Yang SJ, Yoo HJ, Seo JA, Kim SG, Kim NH, Baik SH, Choi DS, Choi KM. Liver enzymes and vitamin D levels in metabolically healthy but obese individuals: Korean National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Metabolism* 2013; 62: 1305-1312 [PMID: 23643404 DOI: 10.1016/ j.metabol.2013.04.002]
- 19 Targher G, Bertolini L, Scala L, Cigolini M, Zenari L, Falezza G, Arcaro G. Associations between serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 concentrations and liver histology in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* 2007; 17: 517-524 [PMID: 16928437 DOI: 10.1016/j.numecd.2006.04.002]
- 20 Abawi MBA, Baranova A, Afendy A, Page S, Stepanova M. Vitamin D levels in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) patients correlate with apoptosis and serum levels of M30. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2011; 106 (Supplement 2): S121
- 21 Dasarathy JPP, Allampati S, Hawkins CA, Brandt PT, Khiyami A, McCullough AJ, Dasarathy S. Hypovitaminosis D associated with

more advanced non alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2012; **56** (Issue S1): 889A-890A

- 22 Manco M, Ciampalini P, Nobili V. Low levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D(3) in children with biopsy-proven nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2010; **51**: 2229; author reply 2230 [PMID: 20513013 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23724]
- 23 Nobili V, Giorgio V, Liccardo D, Bedogni G, Morino G, Alisi A, Cianfarani S. Vitamin D levels and liver histological alterations in children with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Eur J Endocrinol* 2014; 170: 547-553 [PMID: 24412930 DOI: 10.1530/ EJE-13-0609]
- 24 Gascon-Barré M, Demers C, Mirshahi A, Néron S, Zalzal S, Nanci A. The normal liver harbors the vitamin D nuclear receptor in nonparenchymal and biliary epithelial cells. *Hepatology* 2003; 37: 1034-1042 [PMID: 12717384 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2003.50176]
- 25 Han S, Li T, Ellis E, Strom S, Chiang JY. A novel bile acidactivated vitamin D receptor signaling in human hepatocytes. *Mol Endocrinol* 2010; 24: 1151-1164 [PMID: 20371703 DOI: 10.1210/ me.2009-0482]
- 26 Maestro B, Dávila N, Carranza MC, Calle C. Identification of a Vitamin D response element in the human insulin receptor gene promoter. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* 2003; 84: 223-230 [PMID: 12711007]
- 27 Chun RF, Liu PT, Modlin RL, Adams JS, Hewison M. Impact of vitamin D on immune function: lessons learned from genomewide analysis. *Front Physiol* 2014; 5: 151 [PMID: 24795646 DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2014.00151]
- 28 Jiang YJ, Teichert AE, Fong F, Oda Y, Bikle DD. 1α,25(OH)2dihydroxyvitamin D3/VDR protects the skin from UVB-induced tumor formation by interacting with the β-catenin pathway. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2013; 136: 229-232 [PMID: 23026511 DOI: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2012.09.024]
- 29 Adams LA, White SW, Marsh JA, Lye SJ, Connor KL, Maganga R, Ayonrinde OT, Olynyk JK, Mori TA, Beilin LJ, Palmer LJ, Hamdorf JM, Pennell CE. Association between liver-specific gene polymorphisms and their expression levels with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2013; 57: 590-600 [PMID: 23213074 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26184]
- 30 Ding N, Yu RT, Subramaniam N, Sherman MH, Wilson C, Rao R, Leblanc M, Coulter S, He M, Scott C, Lau SL, Atkins AR, Barish GD, Gunton JE, Liddle C, Downes M, Evans RM. A vitamin D receptor/SMAD genomic circuit gates hepatic fibrotic response. *Cell* 2013; **153**: 601-613 [PMID: 23622244 DOI: 10.1016/ j.cell.2013.03.028]
- 31 Barchetta I, Carotti S, Labbadia G, Gentilucci UV, Muda AO, Angelico F, Silecchia G, Leonetti F, Fraioli A, Picardi A, Morini S, Cavallo MG. Liver vitamin D receptor, CYP2R1, and CYP27A1 expression: relationship with liver histology and vitamin D3 levels in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis or hepatitis C virus. *Hepatology* 2012; 56: 2180-2187 [PMID: 22753133 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.25930]
- 32 Albano E, Mottaran E, Occhino G, Reale E, Vidali M. Review article: role of oxidative stress in the progression of non-alcoholic steatosis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2005; **22** Suppl 2: 71-73 [PMID: 16225478 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2005.02601.x]
- 33 Bechmann LP, Hannivoort RA, Gerken G, Hotamisligil GS, Trauner M, Canbay A. The interaction of hepatic lipid and glucose metabolism in liver diseases. *J Hepatol* 2012; 56: 952-964 [PMID: 22173168 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.08.025]
- 34 Cai D, Yuan M, Frantz DF, Melendez PA, Hansen L, Lee J, Shoelson SE. Local and systemic insulin resistance resulting from hepatic activation of IKK-beta and NF-kappaB. *Nat Med* 2005; 11: 183-190 [PMID: 15685173 DOI: 10.1038/nm1166]
- 35 Crespo J, Cayón A, Fernández-Gil P, Hernández-Guerra M, Mayorga M, Domínguez-Díez A, Fernández-Escalante JC, Pons-Romero F. Gene expression of tumor necrosis factor alpha and TNF-receptors, p55 and p75, in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis patients. *Hepatology* 2001; **34**: 1158-1163 [PMID: 11732005 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2001.29628]
- 36 Xu A, Wang Y, Keshaw H, Xu LY, Lam KS, Cooper GJ. The fat-



derived hormone adiponectin alleviates alcoholic and nonalcoholic fatty liver diseases in mice. *J Clin Invest* 2003; **112**: 91-100 [PMID: 12840063 DOI: 10.1172/JCI17797]

- 37 Liu Y, Palanivel R, Rai E, Park M, Gabor TV, Scheid MP, Xu A, Sweeney G. Adiponectin stimulates autophagy and reduces oxidative stress to enhance insulin sensitivity during high-fat diet feeding in mice. *Diabetes* 2015; 64: 36-48 [PMID: 25071026 DOI: 10.2337/db14-0267]
- 38 Hui JM, Hodge A, Farrell GC, Kench JG, Kriketos A, George J. Beyond insulin resistance in NASH: TNF-alpha or adiponectin? *Hepatology* 2004; 40: 46-54 [PMID: 15239085 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.20280]
- 39 Kaser S, Moschen A, Cayon A, Kaser A, Crespo J, Pons-Romero F, Ebenbichler CF, Patsch JR, Tilg H. Adiponectin and its receptors in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Gut* 2005; 54: 117-121 [PMID: 15591515 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2003.037010]
- 40 Vaidya A, Williams JS, Forman JP. The independent association between 25-hydroxyvitamin D and adiponectin and its relation with BMI in two large cohorts: the NHS and the HPFS. *Obesity* (Silver Spring) 2012; 20: 186-191 [PMID: 21760630 DOI: 10.1038/oby.2011.210]
- 41 Neyestani TR, Nikooyeh B, Alavi-Majd H, Shariatzadeh N, Kalayi A, Tayebinejad N, Heravifard S, Salekzamani S, Zahedirad M. Improvement of vitamin D status via daily intake of fortified yogurt drink either with or without extra calcium ameliorates systemic inflammatory biomarkers, including adipokines, in the subjects with type 2 diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2012; 97: 2005-2011 [PMID: 22442277 DOI: 10.1210/jc.2011-3465]
- 42 Roth CL, Elfers CT, Figlewicz DP, Melhorn SJ, Morton GJ, Hoofnagle A, Yeh MM, Nelson JE, Kowdley KV. Vitamin D deficiency in obese rats exacerbates nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and increases hepatic resistin and Toll-like receptor activation. *Hepatology* 2012; 55: 1103-1111 [PMID: 21994008 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.24737]
- 43 Nakano T, Cheng YF, Lai CY, Hsu LW, Chang YC, Deng JY, Huang YZ, Honda H, Chen KD, Wang CC, Chiu KW, Jawan B, Eng HL, Goto S, Chen CL. Impact of artificial sunlight therapy on the progress of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in rats. *J Hepatol* 2011; 55: 415-425 [PMID: 21184788 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2010.11.028]
- Manna P, Jain SK. Vitamin D up-regulates glucose transporter
 4 (GLUT4) translocation and glucose utilization mediated by cystathionine-γ-lyase (CSE) activation and H2S formation in
 3T3L1 adipocytes. *J Biol Chem* 2012; 287: 42324-42332 [PMID: 23074218 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M112.407833]
- 45 **Kita H**, Mackay IR, Van De Water J, Gershwin ME. The lymphoid liver: considerations on pathways to autoimmune injury. *Gastroenterology* 2001; **120**: 1485-1501 [PMID: 11313320]
- 46 Crispe IN. The liver as a lymphoid organ. Annu Rev Immunol 2009; 27: 147-163 [PMID: 19302037 DOI: 10.1146/annurev. immunol.021908.132629]
- 47 Seki E, Brenner DA. Toll-like receptors and adaptor molecules in liver disease: update. *Hepatology* 2008; 48: 322-335 [PMID: 18506843 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22306]
- 48 Miele L, Valenza V, La Torre G, Montalto M, Cammarota G, Ricci R, Mascianà R, Forgione A, Gabrieli ML, Perotti G, Vecchio FM, Rapaccini G, Gasbarrini G, Day CP, Grieco A. Increased intestinal permeability and tight junction alterations in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2009; 49: 1877-1887 [PMID: 19291785 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22848]
- 49 Cani PD, Bibiloni R, Knauf C, Waget A, Neyrinck AM, Delzenne NM, Burcelin R. Changes in gut microbiota control metabolic endotoxemia-induced inflammation in high-fat diet-induced obesity and diabetes in mice. *Diabetes* 2008; 57: 1470-1481 [PMID: 18305141 DOI: 10.2337/db07-1403]
- 50 Alisi A, Carsetti R, Nobili V. Pathogen- or damage-associated molecular patterns during nonalcoholic fatty liver disease development. *Hepatology* 2011; 54: 1500-1502 [PMID: 22045668 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24611]
- 51 **Spruss A**, Kanuri G, Wagnerberger S, Haub S, Bischoff SC, Bergheim I. Toll-like receptor 4 is involved in the development of

fructose-induced hepatic steatosis in mice. *Hepatology* 2009; **50**: 1094-1104 [PMID: 19637282 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23122]

- 52 Li L, Chen L, Hu L, Liu Y, Sun HY, Tang J, Hou YJ, Chang YX, Tu QQ, Feng GS, Shen F, Wu MC, Wang HY. Nuclear factor highmobility group box1 mediating the activation of Toll-like receptor 4 signaling in hepatocytes in the early stage of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in mice. *Hepatology* 2011; **54**: 1620-1630 [PMID: 21809356 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24552]
- 53 Csak T, Ganz M, Pespisa J, Kodys K, Dolganiuc A, Szabo G. Fatty acid and endotoxin activate inflammasomes in mouse hepatocytes that release danger signals to stimulate immune cells. *Hepatology* 2011; 54: 133-144 [PMID: 21488066 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24341]
- 54 Kanuri G, Ladurner R, Skibovskaya J, Spruss A, Königsrainer A, Bischoff SC, Bergheim I. Expression of toll-like receptors 1-5 but not TLR 6-10 is elevated in livers of patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Liver Int* 2015; **35**: 562-568 [PMID: 24351080 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12442]
- 55 Vijay-Kumar M, Aitken JD, Carvalho FA, Cullender TC, Mwangi S, Srinivasan S, Sitaraman SV, Knight R, Ley RE, Gewirtz AT. Metabolic syndrome and altered gut microbiota in mice lacking Toll-like receptor 5. *Science* 2010; **328**: 228-231 [PMID: 20203013 DOI: 10.1126/science.1179721]
- 56 Miura K, Seki E, Ohnishi H, Brenner DA. Role of toll-like receptors and their downstream molecules in the development of nonalcoholic Fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterol Res Pract* 2010; 2010: 362847 [PMID: 21274430 DOI: 10.1155/2010/362847]
- 57 Miura K, Kodama Y, Inokuchi S, Schnabl B, Aoyama T, Ohnishi H, Olefsky JM, Brenner DA, Seki E. Toll-like receptor 9 promotes steatohepatitis by induction of interleukin-1beta in mice. *Gastroenterology* 2010; **139**: 323-34.e7 [PMID: 20347818 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.03.052]
- 58 Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. *J Clin Invest* 2007; **117**: 175-184 [PMID: 17200717 DOI: 10.1172/JCI29881]
- 59 Vats D, Mukundan L, Odegaard JI, Zhang L, Smith KL, Morel CR, Wagner RA, Greaves DR, Murray PJ, Chawla A. Oxidative metabolism and PGC-1beta attenuate macrophage-mediated inflammation. *Cell Metab* 2006; 4: 13-24 [PMID: 16814729 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2006.05.011]
- Fujisaka S, Usui I, Bukhari A, Ikutani M, Oya T, Kanatani Y, Tsuneyama K, Nagai Y, Takatsu K, Urakaze M, Kobayashi M, Tobe K. Regulatory mechanisms for adipose tissue M1 and M2 macrophages in diet-induced obese mice. *Diabetes* 2009; 58: 2574-2582 [PMID: 19690061 DOI: 10.2337/db08-1475]
- 61 Lumeng CN, DelProposto JB, Westcott DJ, Saltiel AR. Phenotypic switching of adipose tissue macrophages with obesity is generated by spatiotemporal differences in macrophage subtypes. *Diabetes* 2008; 57: 3239-3246 [PMID: 18829989 DOI: 10.2337/db08-0872]
- 62 Elgazar-Carmon V, Rudich A, Hadad N, Levy R. Neutrophils transiently infiltrate intra-abdominal fat early in the course of highfat feeding. *J Lipid Res* 2008; 49: 1894-1903 [PMID: 18503031 DOI: 10.1194/jlr.M800132-JLR200]
- 63 Talukdar S, Oh da Y, Bandyopadhyay G, Li D, Xu J, McNelis J, Lu M, Li P, Yan Q, Zhu Y, Ofrecio J, Lin M, Brenner MB, Olefsky JM. Neutrophils mediate insulin resistance in mice fed a highfat diet through secreted elastase. *Nat Med* 2012; 18: 1407-1412 [PMID: 22863787 DOI: 10.1038/nm.2885]
- 64 Rensen SS, Bieghs V, Xanthoulea S, Arfianti E, Bakker JA, Shiri-Sverdlov R, Hofker MH, Greve JW, Buurman WA. Neutrophilderived myeloperoxidase aggravates non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e52411 [PMID: 23285030 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0052411]
- 65 Wu D, Molofsky AB, Liang HE, Ricardo-Gonzalez RR, Jouihan HA, Bando JK, Chawla A, Locksley RM. Eosinophils sustain adipose alternatively activated macrophages associated with glucose homeostasis. *Science* 2011; 332: 243-247 [PMID: 21436399 DOI: 10.1126/science.1201475]
- 66 Henning JR, Graffeo CS, Rehman A, Fallon NC, Zambirinis CP, Ochi A, Barilla R, Jamal M, Deutsch M, Greco S, Ego-Osuala M, Bin-Saeed U, Rao RS, Badar S, Quesada JP, Acehan D, Miller

G. Dendritic cells limit fibroinflammatory injury in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in mice. *Hepatology* 2013; **58**: 589-602 [PMID: 23322710 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26267]

- 67 Bertola A, Ciucci T, Rousseau D, Bourlier V, Duffaut C, Bonnafous S, Blin-Wakkach C, Anty R, Iannelli A, Gugenheim J, Tran A, Bouloumié A, Gual P, Wakkach A. Identification of adipose tissue dendritic cells correlated with obesity-associated insulin-resistance and inducing Th17 responses in mice and patients. *Diabetes* 2012; 61: 2238-2247 [PMID: 22596049 DOI: 10.2337/db11-1274]
- 68 Brennan A, Katz DR, Nunn JD, Barker S, Hewison M, Fraher LJ, O'Riordan JL. Dendritic cells from human tissues express receptors for the immunoregulatory vitamin D3 metabolite, dihydroxycholecalciferol. *Immunology* 1987; **61**: 457-461 [PMID: 2832307]
- 69 Penna G, Adorini L. 1 Alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits differentiation, maturation, activation, and survival of dendritic cells leading to impaired alloreactive T cell activation. *J Immunol* 2000; 164: 2405-2411 [PMID: 10679076 DOI: 10.4049/ jimmunol.164.5.2405]
- 70 Adorini L, Penna G, Giarratana N, Uskokovic M. Tolerogenic dendritic cells induced by vitamin D receptor ligands enhance regulatory T cells inhibiting allograft rejection and autoimmune diseases. *J Cell Biochem* 2003; 88: 227-233 [PMID: 12520519 DOI: 10.1002/jcb.10340]
- 71 Ekstedt M, Hagström H, Nasr P, Fredrikson M, Stål P, Kechagias S, Hultcrantz R. Fibrosis stage is the strongest predictor for diseasespecific mortality in NAFLD after up to 33 years of follow-up. *Hepatology* 2014; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 25125077 DOI: 10.1002/hep.27368]
- 72 Inagaki Y, Okazaki I. Emerging insights into Transforming growth factor beta Smad signal in hepatic fibrogenesis. *Gut* 2007; 56: 284-292 [PMID: 17303605 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2005.088690]
- 73 Abramovitch S, Dahan-Bachar L, Sharvit E, Weisman Y, Ben Tov A, Brazowski E, Reif S. Vitamin D inhibits proliferation and profibrotic marker expression in hepatic stellate cells and decreases thioacetamide-induced liver fibrosis in rats. *Gut* 2011; 60: 1728-1737 [PMID: 21816960 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2010.234666]
- 74 Potter JJ, Liu X, Koteish A, Mezey E. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and its nuclear receptor repress human α1 (I) collagen expression and type I collagen formation. *Liver Int* 2013; **33**: 677-686 [PMID: 23413886 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12122]
- 75 Sharifi N, Amani R, Hajiani E, Cheraghian B. Does vitamin D improve liver enzymes, oxidative stress, and inflammatory biomarkers in adults with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease? A randomized clinical trial. *Endocrine* 2014; 47: 70-80 [PMID: 24968737 DOI: 10.1007/s12020-014-0336-5]
- Singh RJ. Quantitation of 25-OH-vitamin D (25OHD) using liquid tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS-MS). *Methods Mol Biol* 2010; 603: 509-517 [PMID: 20077103 DOI: 10.1007/978-1-60761-459-3 _50]
- 77 Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Gordon CM,

Hanley DA, Heaney RP, Murad MH, Weaver CM. Guidelines for preventing and treating vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency revisited. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2012; **97**: 1153-1158 [PMID: 22442274 DOI: 10.1210/jc.2011-2601]

- 78 Rosen CJ, Abrams SA, Aloia JF, Brannon PM, Clinton SK, Durazo-Arvizu RA, Gallagher JC, Gallo RL, Jones G, Kovacs CS, Manson JE, Mayne ST, Ross AC, Shapses SA, Taylor CL. IOM committee members respond to Endocrine Society vitamin D guideline. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2012; **97**: 1146-1152 [PMID: 22442278 DOI: 10.1210/jc.2011-2218]
- 79 Bland R, Markovic D, Hills CE, Hughes SV, Chan SL, Squires PE, Hewison M. Expression of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1alpha-hydroxylase in pancreatic islets. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* 2004; 89-90: 121-125 [PMID: 15225758 DOI: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2004.03.115]
- 80 Maestro B, Molero S, Bajo S, Dávila N, Calle C. Transcriptional activation of the human insulin receptor gene by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3). *Cell Biochem Funct* 2002; 20: 227-232 [PMID: 12125099 DOI: 10.1002/cbf.951]
- Norman AW, Frankel JB, Heldt AM, Grodsky GM. Vitamin D deficiency inhibits pancreatic secretion of insulin. *Science* 1980; 209: 823-825 [PMID: 6250216]
- 82 Cade C, Norman AW. Vitamin D3 improves impaired glucose tolerance and insulin secretion in the vitamin D-deficient rat in vivo. *Endocrinology* 1986; 119: 84-90 [PMID: 3013599 DOI: 10.1210/endo-119-1-84]
- 83 Alkharfy KM, Al-Daghri NM, Yakout SM, Hussain T, Mohammed AK, Krishnaswamy S. Influence of vitamin D treatment on transcriptional regulation of insulin-sensitive genes. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord* 2013; 11: 283-288 [PMID: 23621113 DOI: 10.1089/ met.2012.0068]
- 84 Lira FS, Rosa JC, Cunha CA, Ribeiro EB, do Nascimento CO, Oyama LM, Mota JF. Supplementing alpha-tocopherol (vitamin E) and vitamin D3 in high fat diet decrease IL-6 production in murine epididymal adipose tissue and 3T3-L1 adipocytes following LPS stimulation. *Lipids Health Dis* 2011; 10: 37 [PMID: 21352586 DOI: 10.1186/1476-511X-10-37]
- 85 Marcotorchino J, Gouranton E, Romier B, Tourniaire F, Astier J, Malezet C, Amiot MJ, Landrier JF. Vitamin D reduces the inflammatory response and restores glucose uptake in adipocytes. *Mol Nutr Food Res* 2012; 56: 1771-1782 [PMID: 23065818 DOI: 10.1002/mnfr.201200383]
- 86 Ding C, Wilding JP, Bing C. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 protects against macrophage-induced activation of NFκB and MAPK signalling and chemokine release in human adipocytes. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e61707 [PMID: 23637889 DOI: 10.1371/journal. pone.0061707]
- 87 Gao D, Trayhurn P, Bing C. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits the cytokine-induced secretion of MCP-1 and reduces monocyte recruitment by human preadipocytes. *Int J Obes* (Lond) 2013; 37: 357-365 [PMID: 22508334 DOI: 10.1038/ijo.2012.53]

P- Reviewer: Balaban YH, Calamita G, Chen LZ, Guo HH, Hyogo H, Mikolasevic I, Sertoglu E S, Editor: Ma XI, L, Editor: A, F, Editor: Ma S

S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: A E- Editor: Ma S





WJG www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1728 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1728-1737 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

REVIEW

Biological therapy in inflammatory bowel diseases: Access in Central and Eastern Europe

Fanni Rencz, Márta Péntek, Martin Bortlik, Edyta Zagorowicz, Tibor Hlavaty, Andrzej Śliwczyński, Mihai M Diculescu, Limas Kupcinskas, Krisztina B Gecse, László Gulácsi, Peter L Lakatos

Fanni Rencz, Márta Péntek, László Gulácsi, Department of Health Economics, Corvinus University of Budapest, H-1093 Budapest, Hungary

Fanni Rencz, Semmelweis University Doctoral School of Clinical Medicine, H-1085 Budapest, Hungary

Martin Bortlik, IBD Clinical and Research Centre, ISCARE a.s., 1st Faculty of Medicine, Charles University, 170004 Prague, Czech Republic

Edyta Zagorowicz, Department of Gastroenterology, The Maria Sklodowska-Curie Memorial Cancer Centre and Institute of Oncology and Medical Center for Postgraduate Education, 01-813 Warsaw, Poland

Tibor Hlavaty, Gastroenterology Unit, Department of Internal Medicine V, University Hospital Bratislava, SK-82606 Bratislava, Slovakia

Andrzej Śliwczyński, Public Health Department, Health Sciences Faculty, Medical University in Łódź and National Health Fund, 02-390 Warsaw, Poland

Mihai M Diculescu, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Carol Davila University, 020022 Bucharest, Romania

Limas Kupcinskas, Department of Gastroenterology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, 50009 Kaunas, Lithuania

Krisztina B Gecse, Péter L Lakatos, 1st Department of Medicine, Semmelweis University, H-1083 Budapest, Hungary

Author contributions: Gulácsi L and Lakatos PL equally contributed to the paper and were involved in all activities including the design, epidemilogy and antTNF acess data collection, data analysis and drafting and revising the manuscript; Renz F and Péntek M were involved in data analysis and drafting and revising the manuscript; all other authors were involved in drafting and revising the manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Péter L Lakatos, MD, DSc, PhD, 1st Department of Medicine, Semmelweis University, Korányi S. 2/A, H-1083 Budapest,

Hungary. lakatos.peter_laszlo@med.semmelweis-univ.hu Telephone: +36-1-2100278 Fax: +36-1-310250 Received: September 3, 2014 Peer-review started: September 4, 2014 First decision: October 14, 2014 Revised: October 24, 2014 Accepted: December 1, 2014 Article in press: December 1, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

Biological drugs opened up new horizons in the management of inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD). This study focuses on access to biological therapy in IBD patients across 9 selected Central and Eastern European (CEE) countries, namely Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania and Slovakia. Literature data on the epidemiology and disease burden of IBD in CEE countries was systematically reviewed. Moreover, we provide an estimation on prevalence of IBD as well as biological treatment rates. In all countries with the exception of Romania, lower biological treatment rates were observed in ulcerative colitis (UC) compared to Crohn's disease despite the higher prevalence of UC. Great heterogeneity (up to 96-fold) was found in access to biologicals across the CEE countries. Poland, Bulgaria, Romania and the Baltic States are lagging behind Hungary, Slovakia and the Czech Republic in their access to biologicals. Variations of reimbursement policy may be one of the factors explaining the differences to a certain extent in Bulgaria, Latvia, Lithuania, and Poland, but association with other possible determinants (differences in prevalence and incidence, price of biologicals, total expenditure on health, geographical access, and cost-effectiveness results) was not proven. We assume, nevertheless, that health



deterioration linked to IBD might be valued differently against other systemic inflammatory conditions in distinct countries and which may contribute to the immense diversity in the utilization of biological drugs for IBD. In conclusion, access to biologicals varies widely among CEE countries and this difference cannot be explained by epidemiological factors, drug prices or total health expenditure. Changes in reimbursement policy could contribute to better access to biologicals in some countries.

Key words: Inflammatory bowel diseases; Ulcerative colitis; Biological therapy; Access; Europe, Central and Eastern; Crohn's disease

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Great heterogeneity ranging up to 96-fold difference in access of inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) patients to biologicals can be found across Central and Eastern Europe (CEE): Poland, Bulgaria, Romania, and the Baltic States have, to date, fallen behind Hungary, Slovakia and the Czech Republic. The following factors did not explain the considerable variations among the CEE countries: differences in prevalence and incidence, price of biologicals, total expenditure on health, geographical access, clinical guidelines, and cost-effectiveness results. We assume that health deterioration linked to IBD might be valued differently against other systemic inflammatory conditions in distinct countries which contributes to the great heterogeneity.

Rencz F, Péntek M, Bortlik M, Zagorowicz E, Hlavaty T, Śliwczyński A, Diculescu MM, Kupcinskas L, Gecse KB, Gulácsi L, Lakatos PL. Biological therapy in inflammatory bowel diseases: access in Central and Eastern Europe. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1728-1737 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1728.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1728

INTRODUCTION

Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) are idiopathic, chronic inflammatory disorders of the gastrointestinal tract known as inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD). In general, IBD is characterised by flare-ups and remissions of varying duration and severity, and only a minority of patients experience a chronic, continuous disease course^[1]. CD may involve any part of the digestive tract, but mainly affects the distal ileum and the colon, whereas UC usually starts in the rectum and extends in a continuous retrograde manner through part of, or the entire colon^[1,2]. Approximately 80% of CD patients will require at least one intestinal surgery, while 10%-30% of UC patients will undergo colectomy during their lifetime^[1]. Due to

early onset, fluctuating disease course, unpredictable prognosis and lack of a cure, IBD poses a considerable burden on patients.

Introduction of biological drugs in the treatment of IBD has brought a paradigm shift in patient management and treatment goals that promoted corticosteroid-free clinical, endoscopic, and biomarker remission^[3,4]. Infliximab was the first biological approved by European Medicines Agency (EMA) for treatment of CD in 1999, then 7 years later in UC, adalimumab was registered in 2007 in CD and 5 years later in UC. Furthermore, golimumab received authorisation for the treatment of UC in 2013. Although biologicals have been marketed in Western Europe for over 15 years now, the access is fairly difficult in certain CEE countries. Of note, in 2013, biosimilar infliximab has been approved for the same indications as the original drug and has now been marketed first in the CEE region^[5], and may affect the access to biologicals worldwide as well as in the CEE countries.

This study aimed to explore access to biological therapy of IBD patients in nine Central and Eastern European (CEE) countries, namely Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania and Slovakia. Literature data was systematically reviewed on the epidemiology and disease burden of IBD in these CEE countries. We also aimed to explore whether the access to biologicals is different in these countries and furthermore, to identify possible factors that predispose to regional differences.

EPIDEMIOLOGY

Recent data indicate that the incidence and prevalence of IBD are increasing over time and in different geographical locations^[6]. In Europe, the annual incidence of CD and UC ranges between 0.3-12.7 and 0.6-24.3 per 100000 person-years, respectively^[6]. European prevalence rates vary between 4.9-505 per 100000 persons for UC and 0.6-322 per 100000 persons in CD^[6]. The peak ages for CD and UC occurrence are 20-30 years and 30-40 years, respectively; and paediatric IBD accounts for 7%-20% of all cases^[1].

To provide an insight into the epidemiology of IBD in the CEE countries, we relied on the summary introduced by Lakatos *et al*^[7] in 2006, and incorporated results of a complementary systematic literature search for the period between 2006 and June 30^{th} , 2014. We included publications that dealt with the 9 selected CEE countries, and excluded those that investigated only paediatric IBD (Table 1).

Overall 17 studies from 7 CEE countries were identified with observation periods varying from 1951 to 2013. No data was available on the epidemiology of IBD from Bulgaria or Latvia. To date, only one multi-country study has been carried out that involved 5 out of the 9 countries of interest^[8]. Among CEE countries, the highest incidence and prevalence rates were noted



Table 1 Incidence and prevalence of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis in the total population in 9 selected Central and Eastern European countries

Ref.	Country, region/city	Study period	Inciden	Incidence/10 ⁵		Prevalence/10 ⁵	
			CD	uc	CD	uc	
Burisch <i>et al</i> ^[8] , 2014 ¹	Czech Republic, Prague	2010	5.50	5.5	-	-	
	South Bohemia		3.80	3.8			
Bitter and Hulec ^[45] , 1980	Czech Republic, North Bohemia	1968-1978	-	1.3	-	17.6	
Nedbal <i>et al</i> ^[46] , 1967	Czech Republic	1960-1965	-	1.4	-	10.7	
Salupere ^[47] , 2001	Estonia, Tartu County	1993-1998	1.40	1.7	-	-	
Kull <i>et al</i> ^[48] , 1998	Estonia, Tartu County	1973-1992	0.27	1.5	-	-	
Burisch et al ^[8] , 2014 ¹	Estonia, Southern Estonia	2010	5.20	5.2	-	-	
Nagy <i>et al</i> ^[49] , 2004	Hungary, Borsod-Abaúj-Zemplén County	1962-1992	-	1.4	-	10.4	
Lakatos <i>et al</i> ^[10] , 2011	Hungary, Western Hungary	2002-2006	8.87	11.9	115.3	211.1	
Lakatos <i>et al</i> ^[9] , 2004	Hungary, Veszprém County	I: 1997-2001	2.23	5.89	52.9	142.6	
		P: 1991-2001					
Burisch <i>et al</i> ^[8] , 2014 ¹	Hungary, Veszprém County	2010	11.5	10.3	-	-	
Zvirbliene <i>et al</i> ^[50] , 2003 ²	Lithuania	1995-2001	-	-	10.0	30-40	
Kiudelis <i>et al</i> ^[51] , 2012	Lithuania, Kaunas	2007-2009	1.21	6.56	-	-	
Burisch <i>et al</i> ^[8] , 2014 ¹	Lithuania, Kaunas	2010	2.40	6.1	-	-	
Chojecki ^[52] , 1964	Poland, Warsaw	1951-1960	0.66	-	66.0	-	
Wiercinska-Drapalo et al ^[53] , 2005	Poland, Bialystok	1990-2003	0.10	1.8	-	-	
Gheorghe <i>et al</i> ^[54] , 1997	Romania, Bucharest	1990-1997	0.42	-	-	-	
Gheorghe <i>et al</i> ^[11] , 2004	Romania, nationwide	I: 2002-2003	0.50	0.97	1.51	2.42	
		P: 2004					
Toader ^[55] , 2008	Romania, North-East region	1988-2007	1.54	0.35	-	-	
Burisch <i>et al</i> ^[8] , 2014 ¹	Romania, Timis	2010	1.70	2.4	-	-	
Príkazská <i>et al</i> ^[56] , 1996	Slovakia, nationwide	1994	6.75	-	-	-	
Príkazka <i>et al</i> ^[57] , 1998	Slovakia, nationwide	1994	-	-	6.75	-	
Gregus <i>et al</i> ^[12] , 2014	Slovakia	2013	4.60	6.8	80.5	150.5	

¹Aged \geq 15 years; ²Extrapolation by Lakatos *et al*^[7], 2006. I: Incidence; P: Prevalence; CD: Crohn's disease; UC: Ulcerative colitis.

Table 2 Estimated number of newly diagnosed and prevalent Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis patients aged ≥ 15 years in 9 selected Central and Eastern European countries, 2013

	Numbe	r of new	patients	Total	Total patient number			
	CD	uc	Total	CD	uc	Total		
Bulgaria	208	290	497	6162	11381	17543		
Czech Republic	416	416	833	8768	16192	24960		
Estonia	58	58	116	1090	2013	3103		
Hungary	975	873	1848	9775	17897	27672		
Latvia	57	80	137	1695	3131	4826		
Lithuania	61	155	216	2482	4584	7066		
Poland	1080	1506	2586	32049	59188	91237		
Romania	287	405	692	16526	30520	47046		
Slovakia	211	311	522	3687	6893	10580		
Total	3353	4094	7447	82235	151798	234033		

Data sources: Numbers of new patients were estimated based on incidence data by Burisch *et al*^[8], 2014. In case of the Czech Republic mean of two available regional incidence data was calculated ($4.65/10^5$ both for CD and UC), and for Bulgaria and Lithuania mean incidence rate of 8 CEE countries (Croatia, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Lithuania, Moldova, Romania, and Russia) calculated by Burisch *et al*^[8] was applied (CD 3.3/10⁵, UC 4.6/10⁵). Total patient number was estimated using data from Gregus *et al*^[12], 2014 for Slovakia (CD 80.5/10⁵, UC 150.5/10⁵) and Lakatos *et al*^[10], 2011 for Hungary (CD 115.3/10⁵, UC 211.1/10⁵). For the other countries mean prevalence rates of Slovakia and Hungary were applied (CD 97.9/10⁵, UC 180.8/10⁵). Population data were obtained from Eurostat Statistics Database^[34]. CD: Crohn's disease; UC: Ulcerative colitis.

in Hungary (incidence CD $8.87/10^5$, UC $11.9/10^5$ and prevalence CD $115.3/10^5$, UC $211.1/10^5$), while the

lowest in Romania (incidence CD $0.5/10^5$, UC $0.97/10^5$ and prevalence CD $1.51/10^5$, UC $2.42/10^5$)^[9-11]. Nevertheless, comparison of these studies is hampered by the different study designs, investigation periods, length of follow-up, country regions, genetic and lifestyle characteristics, and age-groups included.

CEE was previously seen as a low incidence area. Nonetheless, more recent data has confirmed increasing incidence and prevalence trends. For instance, latest studies highlighted that incidence and prevalence in certain CEE countries, *e.g.*, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, and Slovakia emerging to that observed in Western and Northern European countries^[8,10,12].

The estimated number of patients annually diagnosed with IBD (aged \geq 15 years) approached 7500 (55% UC) within the region. Our findings suggest that in 2013, there were approximately 235000 IBD patients (aged \geq 15 years) between these countries and the proportion of patients with UC added up to 65% (Table 2). Of note, these patient numbers are extrapolations based on available epidemiology data.

DISEASE BURDEN

IBD is a disabling condition that considerably reduces patients' health-related quality of life and influences their professional, social and personal lifestyle^[13]. Due to the early onset and chronic character of the disease, patients have to deal with their disorder throughout their lifetime. The overall mortality of IBD patients is slightly, but significantly higher than in the general population with standardized mortality ratios of 1.39 for CD and 1.19 for UC, respectively^[14,15].

In Western countries, IBD is associated with an excessive economic burden. In 2006, the average direct medical costs of CD amounted to €2898-6960/ patient/year in Western Europe^[16]. Mean annual per patient direct medical costs of UC ranged from €8949 to €10395, and total economic burden of UC accounted for €12.5-29.1 billion annually in Europe (2008 prices)^[17]. Earlier studies from the past decade pointed out that primary cost drivers of IBD were surgical treatments and hospitalizations^[18,19]. Nevertheless, recent studies indicated that healthcare costs of IBD have shifted from hospitalization and surgery towards drug therapy, mainly due to the increasing use of biological drugs^[20,21]. Besides medical costs, a substantial proportion of patients are young adults and thus, indirect costs related to productivity loss at work account for about 16%-69% of the total burden^[17,19-21].

Limited data are available on the costs of IBD from the CEE countries^[22-25]. In a recently published paper within the framework of the Epidemiological Committee of European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation (ECCO-EpICom), costs for the first year of follow-up of newly diagnosed patients, including diagnostics and treatment, were estimated^[22]. In the CEE region (Croatia, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Lithuania, Moldova, Romania, and Russia) annual per patient costs of CD comprised of the following items: diagnostics €1264, surgery €19586, standard treatment €324, and biologicals €9607, respectively, whereas those for UC were: diagnostics €740, surgery €14014, standard treatment €513, and biologicals €1729, respectively. Cost calculation was based on the Danish diagnosis-related group (DRG) financing system and costs of medications were encountered in Danish prices for all countries; thus, results should be interpreted with caution in the CEE^[22].

Direct healthcare costs attributable to IBD were investigated in Poland by Meder *et al*^[23]. Between 2004 and 2007 medical costs of an acute exacerbation and a 12-mo follow-up period were calculated in 41 IBD patients, of whom 7 received surgical and 3 biological therapy. The average annual per patient costs of treatment amounted to €2968 in CD and €2540 in UC (EUR 1 = PLN 4.142). The bulk of direct costs were related to biological therapy and surgical treatment with mean annual per patient costs of €1565 and €692, respectively^[23].

In a multicentre study from Poland, indirect costs in 256 CD patients (aged 18-65 years, biological treatment rate not reported) were determined by a human capital approach (HCA)^[24]. Per patient mean annual costs attributable to absenteeism and presenteeism were \in 2348 and \in 3011, respectively $(EUR 1 = USD 1.344, year 2012)^{[24]}$.

Recently, Mandel *et al*^[25] conducted a research on the indirect costs of IBD among 443 patients in Hungary. Applying the HCA method, average total annual per patient productivity loss was €1880, of which €1450 and €430 incurred due to disability-related productivity loss and sick leaves from work, respectively (EUR 1 = HUF 300, year 2013). Annual per patient costs of presenteeism in CD and UC patients were reported €2605 and €2410, respectively^[25].

ACCESS TO BIOLOGICAL THERAPY

So far, the following three biologicals have been registered for the treatment of IBD by EMA: adalimumab and infliximab for the treatment of CD; adalimumab, infliximab, and golimumab for the treatment of UC.

Numbers of gastroenterology centres entitled to administer biological therapy in the CEE countries are presented in Table 3. In the 9 selected countries, on average 784000 inhabitants are covered by a centre; nevertheless, in Romania and Latvia this exceeds the 2 million inhabitants per centre threshold, whereas in Estonia, Slovakia and the Czech Republic fewer than 500000 inhabitants are referred to each centre on average (Figure 1). We found a strong inverse correlation between the number of inhabitants covered by a centre and countries' total expenditure on health (r = -0.83, P = 0.005).

Due to the lack of IBD registries covering the entire patient population in the CEE countries, partial data on biological exposure are available via multiple sources such as health insurance databases, IMS sales statistics, ministries of health, national gastroenterology societies, and personal communication (Table 3). We provide an approximate estimation on biological treatment rates estimated from prevalence data of Table 2 and number of patients with biological therapy in Table 3: Hungary 19.1%, Slovakia 18.7%, the Czech Republic 11.3%, Estonia 3.9%, Lithuania 2.9%, Poland 2.8%, Romania 1.5%, Bulgaria 0.7% and Latvia 0.2%, respectively. Rates of UC patients treated with biologicals are as follows: Slovakia 6.4%, Hungary 3.5%, Romania 2.1%, Estonia 1.3%, Lithuania 1%, Bulgaria and Latvia 0%-0%, respectively. Taking into consideration the uncertainty in prevalence data, we also calculated the biological treatment rates based on the number of inhabitants for each country. (This approach disregards the differences in prevalence across the 9 countries.) Biological exposure rates are confirmed by the average number of patients treated with biologicals per 10^5 inhabitants that shows similar distribution (Figure 2). However, these geographical access estimations need to be interpreted with caution since only patients aged \geq 15 years were taken into consideration, and number of patients on biologicals aged < 15 is unknown.

Baishideng®

WJG www.wjgnet.com

Table 3 Number of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis patients treated with biologicals and centres where biologicals are administered in 9 selected Central and Eastern European countries, 2014

Country	Number of patients					Centres			
				UC ¹				Total	
	Infliximab	Adalimumab	Total	Infliximab	Adalimumab	Golimumab	Total		
Bulgaria	NR	46	46	NR	0	NR	0	46	4
Czech Republic	750	240	990	412	NA	NA	412	1402	26
Estonia	29	13	42	21	5	1	27	69	4
Hungary	970	900	1870	460	170	0	630	2500	16
Latvia	1	2	3	0	0	0	0	3	1
Lithuania	30	43	73	15	31	0	46	119	4
Poland	506	382	888	NA	NA	NA	NA	888	50 ²
Romania	114	139	253	73	540	37	650	903	7
Slovakia	350	340	690	320	110	10	440	1130	13 ³
Total	2750	2105	4855	1301	856	48	2205	7060	125

¹Including paediatric and adult patients; ²Approximately; ³10 adult and 3 paediatric. National gastroenterology societies, ministries of health, IMS data, personal communication. NA: Not available; NR: Not reimbursed; CD: Crohn's disease; UC: Ulcerative colitis.



Figure 1 Number of inhabitants covered by one gastroenterology centre entitled to administer biological therapy in 9 selected Central and Eastern European countries, 2014. Population data: Eurostat Statistics Database (2013)^[34], total health expenditure per capita (2012): World Bank Databank^[26]. BGR: Bulgaria; CZE: Czech Republic; EST: Estonia; HUN: Hungary; LVA: Latvia; LTU: Lithuania; POL: Poland; ROM: Romania; SVK: Slovakia.

Price and reimbursement

To focus on prices of biologicals, some differences can be noted within the CEE region: adalimumab €957-€1262, infliximab €481-€617, and golimumab €1067-€1646 (per dose national list prices)^[5].

In most CEE countries, biologicals are covered at 100% by the health insurance system, although share of coverage between pharmaceutical companies and insurance funds occurs in certain countries. For instance, in Bulgaria 25% is paid by the pharmaceutical companies and 75% by the National Health Insurance Fund. Among the Baltic States, biological therapy is compensated by 100% in Lithuania and Estonia, but only 50% of medication cost is reimbursed in Latvia, where the other half is financed by patient co-payment. All three biologicals approved by EMA in IBD indication are reimbursed in CEE except for Bulgaria, where original infliximab and golimumab



Figure 2 Average number of Crohn's disease patients treated with biologicals per 10⁵ inhabitants compared to countries per capita total expenditure on health. Ulcerative colitis would display a similar figure. Sizes of bubbles refer to the absolute number of patients treated with biologicals in each country. Data sources: patient numbers: IMS data (2014 or latest available), population data: Eurostat Statistics Database (2013)^[34], total health expenditure per capita (2012): World Bank Databank^[26]. BGR: Bulgaria; CZE: Czech Republic; EST: Estonia; HUN: Hungary; LVA: Latvia; LTU: Lithuania; POL: Poland; ROM: Romania; SVK: Slovakia.

do not have reimbursement coverage.

From 2014, biosimilar infliximab began to be marketed in the CEE countries resulting in a price reduction of approximately 20%-25%. In Hungary, since May 15, newly initiated biological therapy with infliximab must be undertaken with a biosimilar antibody. A mandatory switch is not recommended; however, relapsers should only be treated with a biosimilar if more than a year has passed since the termination of the previous biological therapy. A somewhat different regulation is applied in Poland, where new patients have to be treated with a biosimilar, and even patients receiving the original drug are forced to switch to biosimilar infliximab as maintenance therapy. By contrast, in Romania, switch is not mandated, although in order to ensure a price level comparable to the biosimilars for patients, surplus costs generated by the prohibition of substitution are paid by pharmaceutical companies. In Lithuania, from August 1, biosimilar infliximab has to be the first-choice for all newly initiated biological therapies; however, the original antibodies are financed for patients on maintenance therapy with infliximab or adalimumab, and a switch is not allowed. The situation is unique in Bulgaria, where infliximab has not been reimbursed to date, and, hence, IBD patients skipping the original infliximab commence their first biological therapy with a biosimilar. On the other hand, in the Czech Republic either the originally released anti-TNF agents or the biosimilars can be used according to a physician's decision, and moreover, after the introduction of the biosimilars, prices of both the originally released and the biosimilar drug are required by law to be reduced by at least 15%.

Total per capita expenditure on health in the 9 CEE countries varied between \$420 (Romania) and \$1432 (Czech Republic) (year 2012)^[26]. We observed no significant correlation between the average number of patients treated with biologicals per 10^5 inhabitants and total health expenditure (Figure 2). Despite Hungary, Poland, Lithuania, and Latvia having similar total expenditure on health, a higher proportion of patients per 10^5 inhabitants was treated with biologicals in Hungary than in the other three countries. Furthermore, in Slovakia and the Czech Republic a lower proportion of patients per 10^5 inhabitants received biologicals compared to their relatively high total health expenditure.

Eligibility criteria

Based on the current diagnostic and treatment recommendations of ECCO^[27,28], national gastroenterology societies have established their own guidelines. Several variations can be found across the CEE countries regarding the clinical criteria defined for eligibility to be treated with biologicals and in financing restrictions; we try to point out some notable differences between those countries, where criteria are clearly stated.

In most countries, moderate to severe luminal CD (Crohn's Disease Activity Index - CDAI > 300 in adults), or perianal or fistulising CD, or moderate to severe UC patients with immunosuppressant or corticosteroid refractory disease, or those with intole-rance or contraindication to conventional therapies are eligible to be treated with biologicals. Efficacy of the induction therapy should be evaluated between weeks 12 and 16, and maintenance therapy is reimbursed for those who fulfil the response criteria (luminal CD: \geq 70 points decrease in CDAI; fistulising CD: \geq 50% reduction in the amount of drainage; UC: \geq 50% reduction in UCDAI; corticosteroid-resistant

UC: 3 points reduction in Mayo score; corticosteroiddependent UC: corticosteroid-free remission).

In Bulgaria and Poland, CD patients' maintenance therapy is reimbursed only up to 12 mo; however, in Poland re-treatment is covered after 16 wk after the termination of the previous treatment. Criteria are more strict for UC, mainly severe patients are eligible to receive biological therapy, and additionally, treatment duration is also limited, for example, in Poland only three doses of infliximab without any further continuing treatment can be offered; and in Hungary, where UC patients' maintenance therapy is limited to 12 mo; nevertheless, during later flare-ups, retreatment is allowed.

Besides, different authorisation processes function that can affect the access in CEE. In general, gastroenterologists have to request for the biological drug from the health insurance company at the initiation of the therapy, and additionally they are obliged to report on therapeutic outcomes. During maintenance treatment, prolongation has to be claimed every 6 mo.

DISCUSSION

The objective of this paper is to review the access to biological therapy in IBD across 9 selected CEE countries. The proportion of patients treated with biologicals and average number of patients treated per 10^5 inhabitants were estimated. Potential bias due to the unknown validity of country specific IBD epidemiology was filtered out using this populationbased calculation.

In CEE, the estimated proportion of patients treated with biologicals vary from 0.2%-19.1% for CD and from 0%-6.4% for UC. In the United States, a recently published, retrospective analysis of a large database containing pharmacy and medical claims data of almost 1 million IBD patients indicates that 16.8% of CD and 3.5% of UC patients were treated with biologicals (infliximab, adalimumab, certolizumab pegol, natalizumab) between 2010 and 2012^[29]. This is similar to the treatment patterns of the best-performing countries from the CEE region.

In England, it is estimated that in CD and UC, 13% and 15% of the clinically eligible patients received biologicals in $2012^{[30]}$. Thus, on average 26 CD patients were treated with biologicals (infliximab, adalimumab) per 10^5 adults aged ≥ 18 years which is higher than the rates observed in any of the CEE countries (Figure 2)^[30].

In all countries other than Romania, the lower biological treatment rates were observed in UC compared to CD despite the higher prevalence of UC. A possible explanation for the difference is that the first biological in UC indication was approved in 2007 (8 years after CD); therefore, due to the economic crisis and the subsequently implemented austerity



policies affecting health care spending as well, UC patients in these 9 CEE countries were disadvantaged compared to patients with either CD or with other systemic inflammatory conditions, where biological drugs had been used historically. Also, there are additional, non-economic determinants promoting treatment differences between CD and UC, *e.g.*, higher percentage of UC patients had their disease controlled with "conventional" therapies and the curative surgical option in medical failure^[31].

We tried to identify the most important factors that are underlying the differences in biological uptake among the CEE countries. Experts usually state that the following factors might influence the access to biologicals: differences in incidence and prevalence, price of biologicals, per capita total health expenditure, geographical access, clinical and financing guidelines, disease burden, cost-effectiveness results of biologicals, medical professionals' lobbying power, local reimbursement policy, and health care financing mechanisms.

In CEE, access to biologicals is highly diverse, in certain countries such as Hungary, Slovakia, and the Czech Republic, higher number of patients per 10⁵ inhabitants are treated with biologicals, whereas in the Baltic States, Poland, Romania, and Bulgaria access to biologicals is rather limited. In addition to IBD, heterogeneous access to biologicals was reported from 6 CEE countries (Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Romania, and Slovakia) in other inflammatory conditions such as rheumatic diseases^[32]. Nevertheless, access rates in IBD vary more extensively across these six CEE countries. Compared to approximately an 8-fold difference noted in rheumatoid arthritis (Poland: 1.3% and Slovakia: 10%)^[32], we found up to 27-fold difference in CD (Bulgaria: 0.7%, Hungary: 19.1%). In addition, when considering all the 9 countries, that difference was as high as 96-fold.

Unfortunately, there are a lack of registries on IBD patients on biologicals, and up-to-date epidemiology are missing from some countries (Table 1). We presume, however, that variance in the incidence and prevalence of IBD des not explain such great differences in the access to biological therapy among these 9 countries. It should be addressed that establishing registries would allow not only follow up of patients, and provide valid and reliable data about access rates, but also might favourably enhance financing and reimbursement decision making concerning biologicals and additionally biosimilars.

The difference in the prices of infliximab, adalimumab, and golimumab in CEE^[33] does not explain the extent of heterogeneity for their access. Regarding the economic performance, the per capita gross domestic product (GDP) as a percentage of EU-27 countries' ranges from 52.8% (Bulgaria) to 79.6% (the Czech Republic) resulting also a significant differences in total expenditure on health^[34]. As an example, the Czech Republic spends 70% more on health compared to Romania and this might contribute to its 8-fold higher access rate. However, comparison of Hungary and Poland which have very similar total health expenditure refutes this assumption since in Poland the exposure to biologicals is approximately 10-fold lower compared to Hungary (Figure 2).

The number and geographic distribution of gastroenterology centres offering biological therapy can also affect the access in some countries. Nevertheless, Figures 1 and 2 indicate, that contrary to a comparable number of patients covered by a gastroenterology centre, Poland and Lithuania lag behind Hungary in terms of biological treatment rates.

Various reimbursement coverage of biologicals is possibly responsible for the diverse access rates in CEE. In all countries but Latvia (50% co-payment), biologicals are fully covered and do not require a copayment. However, in Romania and Bulgaria, insurance funds and pharmaceuticals share the financing in a defined proportion. All countries apply eligibility criteria based on the ECCO guidelines as a standard for reimbursement, yet there can be marked variations among the countries in terms of severity of disease required and duration of reimbursed maintenance therapy. For example, in Bulgaria and Poland, the duration of maintenance treatment in CD and in Hungary for UC are limited to 12 mo. These obstacles likely contribute to the low access rates found in Poland and Bulgaria but not in Hungary, where despite the 12-mo stopping rule in UC, the highest number of UC patients per 10⁵ are treated with biologicals among the CEE countries.

Access to medications is largely determined by healthcare financing mechanisms. Most of the 9 countries share a similar policy and biologicals are covered under itemized financing; therefore, differences in biological uptake are not explainable by this factor. Additionally, in Hungary, a financing guideline on biological drugs draws up patient eligibility criteria. There is a unique situation in Lithuania, where a quota system was established based on the number of patients registered by treating centre, and only one in every four clinical centres could gain quotas to initiate new biological treatments. Thus, from August 1, 2014, a total of 23 new IBD patients will receive biological therapy within the next 12 mo in the whole country.

Most CEE countries have implemented a similar health technology assessment (HTA) based decisionmaking for reimbursement^[35]. It is unlikely that IBD is unfavourably distinguished in countries with established HTA, where reimbursement decisions require cost-effectiveness data^[35]. Neither variations of the estimated utility gain achievable until remission as a result of biological therapy (CD: 0.06-0.43, UC: 0.25-0.47) nor cost-effectiveness of biologicals can explain this access gap found between CD and UC in CEE^[36-39]. Utilities gained as a result of a therapy are used to generate quality-adjusted life years (QALYs).



QALY is a widely used outcome measure in costeffectiveness analysis that takes into account both the length and the quality of life spent in a health state^[40]. A single abstract can be found concerning costeffectiveness of biologicals from the CEE countries. In Poland, Goszczynska et al^[41] conducted a study on cost-effectiveness of infliximab as an induction therapy in severe active UC. In a 12-mo timeframe an incremental cost-utility ratio for infliximab was estimated at €16896/QALY compared to colectomy that is below the official financing threshold (€24326/ QALY) (EUR 1 = PLN 4.142)^[41]. Recently, Gulácsi et al[133] have estimated the cost-effectiveness of biologicals used in gastroenterology, rheumatology, and dermatology. According to the estimates, in the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, and Slovakia, costeffectiveness results are below the threshold of 3 times per capita GDP/QALY applied in reimbursement decision making in many CEE countries. However, in Bulgaria and Romania under certain conditions this ratio exceeds the threshold^[33]. Hence, variations of cost-effectiveness ratios in six out of the 9 CEE countries do not justify the heterogeneity; for example, despite the calculated cost-effectiveness data in Poland, exposure to these drugs is rather low.

Finally, in the field of rheumatology many more patients are treated with biologicals than in IBD across the CEE countries^[32]. However, the prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) remains higher than that of IBD with a prevalence of 610/10⁵ inhabitants reported in the Czech Republic and a 0.5% prevalence in Hungary^[42,43]. In addition, comparison of utility gain achievable until remission as a result of biological therapy is estimated to be similar to CD (0.06-0.43), UC (0.25-0.47), and RA (0.15-0.40)^[36-39,44]. Interpreting these health gain findings requires caution. Possible methodological differences must be considered such as applied outcome measures, patients' baseline quality of life, time frames, and study design. Therefore, health gain differences cannot explain inequalities in access rates between IBD and RA.

CONCLUSION

Access to biologicals varies greatly (up to 96-fold) in the selected CEE countries that raises inequity concerns regarding access to treatment. To date, biological use in IBD in Poland, Bulgaria, Romania, and the Baltic States is much lower compared to Hungary, Slovakia and Czech Republic. The reason for this heterogeneity in the access to biologicals among the CEE countries has not been clarified. Differences in prevalence and incidence of IBD, prices of biologicals, total expenditure on health, geographical access, and cost-effectiveness results does not explain the above variation. Variations of reimbursement policy might explain the differences to a certain extent in Bulgaria, Latvia, Lithuania, and Poland. It may be also hypothesized that health disability linked to IBD might be valued differently against other systemic inflammatory conditions in distinct countries. Further research, however, is needed to better understand the key factors contributing to the above differences and investigating future trends.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Authors are grateful to Dr. Maciej Niewada (Health-Quest Consulting Company, Warsaw, Poland), Prof. Ludmilla Tankova (Gastroenterology Clinic, Queen Ioanna University Hospital, Sofia, Bulgaria), Prof. Juris Pokrotnieks (Stradins University, Riga, Latvia), and Ms. Neringa Venyte, (National Health Insurance Fund, Vilnius, Lithuania).

REFERENCES

- Cosnes J, Gower-Rousseau C, Seksik P, Cortot A. Epidemiology and natural history of inflammatory bowel diseases. *Gastroenterology* 2011; 140: 1785-1794 [PMID: 21530745 DOI: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2011.01.055]
- 2 Ordás I, Eckmann L, Talamini M, Baumgart DC, Sandborn WJ. Ulcerative colitis. *Lancet* 2012; 380: 1606-1619 [PMID: 22914296 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60150-0]
- 3 Nielsen OH, Bjerrum JT, Seidelin JB, Nyberg C, Ainsworth M. Biological treatment of Crohn's disease. *Dig Dis* 2012; 30 Suppl 3: 121-133 [PMID: 23295703 DOI: 10.1159/000342738]
- 4 Danese S, Colombel JF, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Rutgeerts P, Reinisch W. Review article: the role of anti-TNF in the management of ulcerative colitis -- past, present and future. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2013; 37: 855-866 [PMID: 23489068 DOI: 10.1111/apt.12284]
- 5 Brodszky V, Baji P, Balogh O, Péntek M. Budget impact analysis of biosimilar infliximab (CT-P13) for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis in six Central and Eastern European countries. *Eur J Health Econ* 2014; 15 Suppl 1: S65-S71 [PMID: 24832837 DOI: 10.1007/s10198-014-0595-3]
- 6 Molodecky NA, Soon IS, Rabi DM, Ghali WA, Ferris M, Chernoff G, Benchimol EI, Panaccione R, Ghosh S, Barkema HW, Kaplan GG. Increasing incidence and prevalence of the inflammatory bowel diseases with time, based on systematic review. *Gastroenterology* 2012; 142: 46-54.e42; quiz e30 [PMID: 22001864 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.10.001]
- 7 Lakatos L, Lakatos PL. Is the incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel diseases increasing in Eastern Europe? *Postgrad Med J* 2006; 82: 332-337 [PMID: 16679472 DOI: 10.1136/pgmj.2005.042416]
- 8 Burisch J, Pedersen N, Čuković-Čavka S, Brinar M, Kaimakliotis I, Duricova D, Shonová O, Vind I, Avnstrøm S, Thorsgaard N, Andersen V, Krabbe S, Dahlerup JF, Salupere R, Nielsen KR, Olsen J, Manninen P, Collin P, Tsianos EV, Katsanos KH, Ladefoged K, Lakatos L, Björnsson E, Ragnarsson G, Bailey Y, Odes S, Schwartz D, Martinato M, Lupinacci G, Milla M, De Padova A, D'Incà R, Beltrami M, Kupcinskas L, Kiudelis G, Turcan S, Tighineanu O, Mihu I, Magro F, Barros LF, Goldis A, Lazar D, Belousova E, Nikulina I, Hernandez V, Martinez-Ares D, Almer S, Zhulina Y, Halfvarson J, Arebi N, Sebastian S, Lakatos PL, Langholz E, Munkholm P. East-West gradient in the incidence of inflammatory bowel disease in Europe: the ECCO-EpiCom inception cohort. *Gut* 2014; 63: 588-597 [PMID: 23604131 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2013-304636]
- 9 Lakatos L, Mester G, Erdelyi Z, Balogh M, Szipocs I, Kamaras G, Lakatos PL. Striking elevation in incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in a province of western Hungary between 1977-2001. World J Gastroenterol 2004; 10: 404-409 [PMID: 14760767]
- 10 **Lakatos L**, Kiss LS, David G, Pandur T, Erdelyi Z, Mester G, Balogh M, Szipocs I, Molnar C, Komaromi E, Lakatos PL.

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

1735

Incidence, disease phenotype at diagnosis, and early disease course in inflammatory bowel diseases in Western Hungary, 2002-2006. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2011; **17**: 2558-2565 [PMID: 22072315 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21607]

- 11 Gheorghe C, Pascu O, Gheorghe L, Iacob R, Dumitru E, Tantau M, Vadan R, Goldis A, Balan G, Iacob S, Dobru D, Saftoiu A. Epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in adults who refer to gastroenterology care in Romania: a multicentre study. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2004; 16: 1153-1159 [PMID: 15489575]
- 12 Gregus M. The incidence and prevelance of IBD in Slovakia. Oral presentation. Czech and Slovak IBD conference. *Prague* 2014
- 13 Hoivik ML, Bernklev T, Moum B. Need for standardization in population-based quality of life studies: a review of the current literature. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2010; 16: 525-536 [PMID: 19637337 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21032]
- 14 Duricova D, Pedersen N, Elkjaer M, Gamborg M, Munkholm P, Jess T. Overall and cause-specific mortality in Crohn's disease: a meta-analysis of population-based studies. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2010; 16: 347-353 [PMID: 19572377 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21007]
- 15 Bewtra M, Kaiser LM, TenHave T, Lewis JD. Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis are associated with elevated standardized mortality ratios: a meta-analysis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2013; 19: 599-613 [PMID: 23388544 DOI: 10.1097/MIB.0b013e31827f27ae]
- 16 Yu AP, Cabanilla LA, Wu EQ, Mulani PM, Chao J. The costs of Crohn's disease in the United States and other Western countries: a systematic review. *Curr Med Res Opin* 2008; 24: 319-328 [PMID: 18067689 DOI: 10.1185/030079908X260790]
- 17 Cohen RD, Yu AP, Wu EQ, Xie J, Mulani PM, Chao J. Systematic review: the costs of ulcerative colitis in Western countries. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2010; **31**: 693-707 [PMID: 20064142 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2010.04234.x]
- 18 Bassi A, Dodd S, Williamson P, Bodger K. Cost of illness of inflammatory bowel disease in the UK: a single centre retrospective study. *Gut* 2004; 53: 1471-1478 [PMID: 15361497 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2004.041616]
- 19 Odes S, Vardi H, Friger M, Wolters F, Russel MG, Riis L, Munkholm P, Politi P, Tsianos E, Clofent J, Vermeire S, Monteiro E, Mouzas I, Fornaciari G, Sijbrandij J, Limonard C, Van Zeijl G, O'morain C, Moum B, Vatn M, Stockbrugger R. Cost analysis and cost determinants in a European inflammatory bowel disease inception cohort with 10 years of follow-up evaluation. *Gastroenterology* 2006; **131**: 719-728 [PMID: 16952541 DOI: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2006.05.052]
- 20 Rocchi A, Benchimol EI, Bernstein CN, Bitton A, Feagan B, Panaccione R, Glasgow KW, Fernandes A, Ghosh S. Inflammatory bowel disease: a Canadian burden of illness review. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2012; 26: 811-817 [PMID: 23166905]
- 21 van der Valk ME, Mangen MJ, Leenders M, Dijkstra G, van Bodegraven AA, Fidder HH, de Jong DJ, Pierik M, van der Woude CJ, Romberg-Camps MJ, Clemens CH, Jansen JM, Mahmmod N, van de Meeberg PC, van der Meulen-de Jong AE, Ponsioen CY, Bolwerk CJ, Vermeijden JR, Siersema PD, van Oijen MG, Oldenburg B. Healthcare costs of inflammatory bowel disease have shifted from hospitalisation and surgery towards anti-TNFα therapy: results from the COIN study. *Gut* 2014; 63: 72-79 [PMID: 23135759 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303376]
- 22 Burisch J. Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Occurrence, course and prognosis during the first year of disease in a European population-based inception cohort. *Dan Med J* 2014; 61: B4778 [PMID: 24393595]
- 23 Meder A, Świątkowski M, Meder G, Koza J, Szamocka M. Treatment costs for the group of patients with non-specific inflammatory bowel disease during acute exacerbation and further annual observation. *Prz Gastroenterol* 2011; 6: 36-44 [DOI: 10.5114/pg.2011.20106]
- 24 Władysiuk M, Fedyna M, Bebrysz M, Mateusz H, Rutkowski J, Owczarek W, Jahnz-Rozyk K, Gad B, Szmurlo D. Indirect costs of rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn's disease and psoriasis in Poland. Health Technology Assessment International Conference. Washington DC, 2014: 60
- 25 **Mandel MD**, Bálint A, Lovász BD, Gulácsi L, Strbák B, Golovics PA, Farkas K, Kürti Z, Szilágyi BK, Mohás A, Molnár

T, Lakatos PL. Work disability and productivity loss in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases in Hungary in the era of biologics. *Eur J Health Econ* 2014; **15** Suppl 1: S121-S128 [PMID: 24832845 DOI: 10.1007/s10198-014-0603-7]

- 26 World Bank Databank. Available from: URL: http://databank. worldbank.org/data/home.aspx
- 27 Dignass A, Lindsay JO, Sturm A, Windsor A, Colombel JF, Allez M, D'Haens G, D'Hoore A, Mantzaris G, Novacek G, Oresland T, Reinisch W, Sans M, Stange E, Vermeire S, Travis S, Van Assche G. Second European evidence-based consensus on the diagnosis and management of ulcerative colitis part 2: current management. *J Crohns Colitis* 2012; 6: 991-1030 [PMID: 23040451 DOI: 10.1016/ j.crohns.2012.09.002]
- 28 Dignass A, Van Assche G, Lindsay JO, Lémann M, Söderholm J, Colombel JF, Danese S, D'Hoore A, Gassull M, Gomollón F, Hommes DW, Michetti P, O'Morain C, Oresland T, Windsor A, Stange EF, Travis SP. The second European evidence-based Consensus on the diagnosis and management of Crohn's disease: Current management. J Crohns Colitis 2010; 4: 28-62 [PMID: 21122489 DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns.2009.12.002]
- 29 van Deen WK, van Oijen MG, Myers KD, Centeno A, Howard W, Choi JM, Roth BE, McLaughlin EM, Hollander D, Wong-Swanson B, Sack J, Ong MK, Ha CY, Esrailian E, Hommes DW. A nationwide 2010-2012 analysis of U.S. health care utilization in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2014; 20: 1747-1753 [PMID: 25137415 DOI: 10.1097/mib.00000000000139]
- 30 National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Biologic drugs for the treatment of inflammatory disease in rheumatology, dermatology and gastroenterology. Commissioning guide. 2012. Available from: URL: http://www.nice.org.uk/media/F95/42/ UpdateTA247AndPsoriasisCG.pdf
- 31 Bernstein CN, Ng SC, Lakatos PL, Moum B, Loftus EV. A review of mortality and surgery in ulcerative colitis: milestones of the seriousness of the disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2013; 19: 2001-2010 [PMID: 23624887 DOI: 10.1097/MIB.0b013e318281f3bb]
- 32 Péntek M, Poór G, Wiland P, Olejárová M, Brzosko M, Codreanu C, Brodszky N, Gulácsi L. Biological therapy in inflammatory rheumatic diseases: issues in Central and Eastern European countries. *Eur J Health Econ* 2014; **15** Suppl 1: S35-S43 [PMID: 24832834 DOI: 10.1007/s10198-014-0592-6]
- 33 Gulácsi L, Rencz F, Péntek M, Brodszky V, Lopert R, Hevér NV, Baji P. Transferability of results of cost utility analyses for biologicals in inflammatory conditions for Central and Eastern European countries. *Eur J Health Econ* 2014; 15 Suppl 1: S27-S34 [PMID: 24832833 DOI: 10.1007/s10198-014-0591-7]
- 34 Eurostat Statistics Database. Available from: URL: http://epp. eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/statistics/search database
- 35 Gulácsi L, Rotar AM, Niewada M, Löblová O, Rencz F, Petrova G, Boncz I, Klazinga NS. Health technology assessment in Poland, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania and Bulgaria. *Eur J Health Econ* 2014; 15 Suppl 1: S13-S25 [PMID: 24832832 DOI: 10.1007/s10198-014-0590-8]
- Bodger K, Kikuchi T, Hughes D. Cost-effectiveness of biological therapy for Crohn's disease: Markov cohort analyses incorporating United Kingdom patient-level cost data. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2009; 30: 265-274 [PMID: 19438428 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2009.04033. x]
- 37 Chaudhary MA, Fan T. Cost-Effectiveness of Infliximab for the Treatment of Acute Exacerbations of Ulcerative Colitis in the Netherlands. *Biol Ther* 2013; 3: 45-60 [PMID: 24392304 DOI: 10.1007/s13554-012-0007-0]
- 38 Loftus EV, Johnson SJ, Yu AP, Wu EQ, Chao J, Mulani PM. Costeffectiveness of adalimumab for the maintenance of remission in patients with Crohn's disease. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2009; 21: 1302-1309 [PMID: 19465858 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.0b013e32832a8d 71]
- 39 Punekar YS, Hawkins N. Cost-effectiveness of infliximab for the treatment of acute exacerbations of ulcerative colitis. *Eur J Health Econ* 2010; 11: 67-76 [PMID: 19844750 DOI: 10.1007/ s10198-009-0199-5]

- 40 Weinstein MC, Torrance G, McGuire A. QALYs: the basics. *Value Health* 2009; 12 Suppl 1: S5-S9 [PMID: 19250132 DOI: 10.1111/j.1524-4733.2009.00515.x]
- 41 Goszczynska K, Wrona W, Niewada M, Black CM, Fan T, Lobodzinski P. Cost-effectiveness of infliximab versus colectomy for the treatment of severe active ulcerative colitis in Poland. *Value Health* 2013; 16: A213-214
- 42 Hanova P, Pavelka K, Dostal C, Holcatova I, Pikhart H. Epidemiology of rheumatoid arthritis, juvenile idiopathic arthritis and gout in two regions of the Czech Republic in a descriptive population-based survey in 2002-2003. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 2006; 24: 499-507 [PMID: 17181917]
- 43 Lepp-Gazdag A, Gulácsi L, Brandtmüller Á. A rheumatoid arthritis megbetegedés és ellátás jellemzői Magyarországon. Egészségügyi Gazdasági Szemle 2002; (6): 645-657
- 44 Kobelt G, Eberhardt K, Geborek P. TNF inhibitors in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis in clinical practice: costs and outcomes in a follow up study of patients with RA treated with etanercept or infliximab in southern Sweden. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2004; 63: 4-10 [PMID: 14672883]
- 45 **Bitter J**, Hulec J. [Ulcerative colitis in the North Bohemian Region]. *Cesk Gastroenterol Vyz* 1980; **34**: 137-144 [PMID: 7388984]
- 46 Nedbal J, Maratka Z. [Ulcerative colitis in Czechoslovakia]. Vnitr Lek 1967; 13: 1054-1063 [PMID: 6081667]
- 47 Salupere R. Inflammatory bowel disease in Estonia: a prospective epidemiologic study 1993-1998. World J Gastroenterol 2001; 7: 387-388 [PMID: 11819795]
- 48 **Kull K**, Salupere R, Uibo R, Ots M, Salupere V. Antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies in Estonian patients with inflammatory

bowel disease. Prevalence and diagnostic role. *Hepatogastro-enterology* 1998; **45**: 2132-2137 [PMID: 9951879]

- 49 Nagy G, Ujszaszy L, Juhasz L, Minik K. Epidemiology of inflammatory bowel diseases in Borsod-Abauj-Zemplen county 1963-1992. Lege artis Med 1994; 4: 424-430
- 50 Zvirbliene A, Kiudelis G, Kupcinskas L. [Retrospective analysis of case histories of patients with ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease]. *Medicina* (Kaunas) 2003; 39: 745-750 [PMID: 12960453]
- 51 Kiudelis G, Jonaitis L, Adamonis K, Žvirblienė A, Tamelis A, Kregždytė R, Kučinskienė R, Šventoraitytė J, Kupčinskas L. Incidence of inflammatory bowel disease in Kaunas region, Lithuania. *Medicina* (Kaunas) 2012; 48: 431-435 [PMID: 23128464]
- 52 Chojecki Z. Epidemiology of Ulcerative Colitis in Poland. *Pol Med Sci Hist Bull* 1964; 7: 53-56 [PMID: 14152252]
- 53 Wiercinska-Drapalo A, Jaroszewicz J, Flisiak R, Prokopowicz D. Epidemiological characteristics of inflammatory bowel disease in North-Eastern Poland. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005; 11: 2630-2633 [PMID: 15849823]
- 54 Gheorghe L, Gheorghe C, Aposteanu G. Clinical patterns and disease distribution in Crohn's disease in relationship to age at diagnosis. *Rom J Gastroenterol* 1997; (6): 147-152
- 55 **Toader EI**. Inflammatory bowel disease a public health problem. *J Prev Med* 2008; **16**: 33-45
- 56 Príkazská M, Letkovicová M. [Crohn's disease in the adult population in Slovakia]. *Bratisl Lek Listy* 1996; 97: 230-233 [PMID: 8689331]
- 57 Príkazka M, Letkovicová M, Matejíckova V. Crohns disease in Slovakia: prevalence, socioeconomic and psychological analysis. *Eur J Epidemiol* 1998; 14: 49-53 [PMID: 9517873]

P-Reviewer: Caviglia R, Kozarek R, Liu F S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: A E- Editor: Ma S







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1738 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1738-1748 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

REVIEW

Management of patients with hepatitis B in special populations

Evangelos Cholongitas, Konstantinos Tziomalos, Chrysoula Pipili

Evangelos Cholongitas, 4th Department of Internal Medicine, Medical School of Aristotle University, Hippokration General Hospital of Thessaloniki, 54642 Thessaloniki, Greece

Konstantinos Tziomalos, First Propedeutic Department of Internal Medicine, Medical School, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, AHEPA Hospital, 54642 Thessaloniki, Greece

Chrysoula Pipili, Department of Nephrology, Laiki Merimna, 14232 Athens, Greece

Author contributions: Cholongitas E and Pipili C contributed equally to this paper; all authors participated in writing the manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Evangelos Cholongitas, Assistant Professor, 4th Department of Internal Medicine, Medical School of Aristotle University, Hippokration General Hospital of Thessaloniki, 49 Konstantinopoleos Street, 54642 Thessaloniki,

Greece. cholongitas@yahoo.gr Telephone: +30-231-0892110 Fax: +30-231-0992940 Received: September 8, 2014 Peer-review started: September 9, 2014 First decision: October 14, 2014 Revised: October 27, 2014 Accepted: November 18, 2014 Article in press: November 19, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

The development of effective nucleos(t)ide analogs (NAs) against hepatitis B virus (HBV) has improved the outcome of patients with chronic hepatitis B (CHB). This review updates issues related to the management of CHB patients included in special populations.

Entecavir (ETV) and tenofovir (TDF) represent the currently recommended first-line NAs in patients with HBV decompensated cirrhosis. The combination of HBV immunoglobulin (usually for a finite duration) and NA is considered the standard of care for prophylaxis against HBV recurrence after liver transplantation. TDF is the best choice for hemodialysis patients and in patients with chronic kidney disease with nucleoside resistance. ETV and telbivudine are the preferred options in naïve renal transplant recipients and with low viremia levels, respectively. All hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg)positive candidates should be treated with NAs before renal transplantation to achieve undetectable HBV DNA at the time of transplantation. Conventional interferon or NAs can also be used in children, on the basis of well-established therapeutic indication. Pregnant women at high risk of perinatal transmission could be treated with lamivudine, telbivudine or TDF in the last trimester of pregnancy. HBsAg-positive patients under immunosuppression should receive NA preemptively (regardless of HBV DNA levels) up to 12 mo after its cessation. In HBsAg negative, anti-HBc positive patients under immunosuppression, further studies are needed to form a final conclusion; however, it seems that anti-HBV prophylaxis is justified in such patients with hematological diseases and/or for those receiving rituximab-containing regimens, regardless of their anti-HBs or serum HBV DNA status.

Key words: Hepatitis B; Antiviral therapy; Tenofovir; Entecavir; Telbivudine

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: The management of hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection in special populations is reviewed. HBV patients with decompensated cirrhosis should receive nucleos(t)ides analogs (NAs) before and after liver transplantation. The choice of NA for patients with chronic kidney disease, renal transplant candidates and



recipients depends on viremia levels, the severity of renal dysfunction and previous viral resistance. Children at the immune-active period may receive interferon or NAs. Pregnant women at risk of perinatal transmission should receive class B antiviral drugs or LAM. HBV patients receiving immunosuppressives should receive antiviral therapy based on HBV serological profile, HBV DNA detectability and intensity of immunosuppression.

Cholongitas E, Tziomalos K, Pipili C. Management of patients with hepatitis B in special populations. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1738-1748 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1738.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1738

INTRODUCTION

More than half a million people with hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection die annually from complications of chronic hepatitis B (CHB), mainly the development of liver decompensation and/or hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)^[1]. Untreated patients with HBV decompensated cirrhosis (HBV-DeCi) have a 5-year survival rate of only 14%-35%^[2]. The major breakthrough in the field of therapy of CHB patients is the implementation of oral nucleos(t)ide analogs (NAs). Should they be instituted according to the international guidelines, they will eliminate viral replication and I improve liver dysfunction and survival^[2,3]. In fact, the newer NAs [i.e., entecavir (ETV) and tenofovir (TDF)] are potent antiviral agents with a minimal or even nonexistent risk of resistance and, therefore, they represent the currently recommended first-line for the therapy of CHB^[3].

In all phase III pivotal trials, NA efficacy and safety was assessed in CHB patients recruited with strict inclusion criteria. However, in the "real world" daily clinical practice, there are remain many CHB patients, who, because of their particular characteristics, have been excluded from the registration trials. These CHB patients are generally referred to as special populations. Although, they may be in need of more urgent antiviral treatment, such as those with HBV-DeCi, their therapeutic manipulation is usually based on a relatively low degree of evidence (e.g., expert opinion or non-randomized trials). Consequently the decision as to whether special populations with CHB need treatment or not, which NA suits them best and the need for other specific management options, require careful consideration.

The specific populations with CHB can be divided in several groups and subgroups, determined on various characteristics, such as age, severity of liver disease and events/cormorbidities that may change the natural history of HBV infection. The present review focuses on the most frequently seen special populations with CHB. These are patients with decompensated cirrhosis, liver Cholongitas E et al. Hepatitis B and special populations

transplant (LT) recipients; patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) and renal transplant recipients; patients under immunosuppressive therapy or chemotherapy; and finally young patients and pregnant women.

CHB PATIENTS BEFORE AND AFTER LIVER TRANSPLANTATION

Before liver transplantation

CHB is a dynamic disease that can change over time, resulting in serious decompensation^[4]. All patients with HBV-DeCi should be commenced on NAs, regardless of viral load and ALT activity. Several lines of evidence demonstrated that these agents were generally well tolerated in the long-term and they suppressed viral replication, preventing possible flares in disease activity and the occurrence of HCC^[5,6]. Such patients could be selected for LT if they present hepatic dysfunction [Child-Pugh score (CTP) \geq 7 or model for end stage liver disease (MELD) \geq 10] and/or at least one major complication (ascites, variceal bleeding or hepatic encephalopathy)^[7,8]. The application of NAs prompted a new era in LT of HBV-DeCi patients, because they reduced the rates of recurrence remarkably and improved their prognosis dramatically (survival rates up to 90% over 5 years after LT)^[9]. While awaiting for LT, patients should be followed closely, at least every 3 mo, for virological response and potential virological breakthrough, by applying a sensitive polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assay^[3,10]. All data suggest that an effective pretransplant anti-HBV therapy prevents post-transplant HBV recurrence^[11]. hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg)-positive candidates treated with NAs could maintain undetectable HBV DNA, ameliorate liver function and present long term survival after LT^[12-16]. Interestingly, liver function may improve to such an extent that some patients might not need transplantation at the end^[17-23] (Table 1). The critical parameters affecting the outcome of patients with HBV-DeCi under antiviral agents have been controversial. The baseline severity of liver disease, expressed by the CTP score or the baseline bilirubin and creatinine levels^[24], and the levels of viral load in which antiviral treatment is started, may be potential influencing factors. Antiviral therapy initiation at earlier stages is associated with better liver function recovery (Table 1).

Pretransplant mainstay therapy should be potent, with high-genetic barrier agents (*i.e.*, ETV or TDF monotherapy), which present long-term efficacy, very good virological responses, low resistance rates and result in reduction of liver fibrosis^[10,25]. For example, a recent study showed that ETV administration in HBV-DeCi patients had a beneficial impact on mortality^[26]: those treated with ETV for 24 wk presented greater reduction in ALT levels and MELD score, compared with those commenced on lamivudine. The critical weak point of ETV and TDF is



1739

Cholongitas E et al. Hepatitis B and special populations

Table 1 Studies of nucleos/tide analogs in patients with hepatitis B related decompensated cirrhosis (adapted by Cholongitas *et al*⁽⁸⁸¹)

Ref.	Number of patients	NA(s) used	1-yr data		Prognostic factors for the outcome
			\downarrow CTP score \geq 2, (%)	MELD score \uparrow	
Fontana et al ^[17]	154	LAM	NR	NR	Serum bilirubin and creatinine levels at
					baseline
Schiff et al ^[18]	226	ADV	NR	-2	NR
Shim et al ^[19]	70	ETV	49	-2.2	NR
Liaw et al ^[20]	45/45/22	TDF/TDF + FTC/ETV	26/48/42	-2/-2/-2	NR
Chan et al ^[21]	114/114	LdT/LAM	32/39	-1.0/-2.0	NR
Hyun et al ^[22]	45/41	ETV/LAM	NR/NR	-4.9/-3.7	Baseline CTP and MELD at 3 mo
Cholongitas et al ^[23]	52	ETV/TDF	23.8/19.3	-0.4/-2.2	Changes in MELD score between baseline
					and 6 mo

NA: Nucleos/tide analogs; ADV: Adefovir; CTP: Child-Turcotte-Pugh; ETV: Entecavir; TDF: Tenofovir; FTC: Emtricitabine; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; LAM: Lamivudine; LdT: Telbivudine; MELD: Model for end stage liver disease; NR: Not reported.



Figure 1 Risk of recurrent hepatitis B virus infection after liver transplantation in relation to the type of post-transplant hepatitis B virus prophylaxis^[34,35]. HBIG: Hepatitis B immunoglobulin; LAM: Lamivudine; ETV: Entecavir; TDF: Tenofovir; ADV: Adefovir.

their higher cost compared with lamivudine and the potential TDF nephrotoxicity^[27], although the latter was not confirmed in a recent randomized trial^[20]. Similarly, lamivudine and telbivudine are limited by drug resistance, and adefovir is limited by its high cost, lower potency and slower onset of action^[28]. However, clinicians should be aware that telbivudine can ameliorate creatinine clearance in patients with CHB^[29,30] and could be effective in cases of moderate increase of viral load^[31,32]. Other therapeutic NA options are the combination of emtricitabine plus TDF; however, this presents a similar efficacy to TDF or ETV monotherapy^[20], but at a higher cost. Finally, pre-LT management should include surveillance of lifestyle factors, comorbid conditions and drug interactions^[33].

After liver transplantation

In general, management after LT includes prophylactic and therapeutic approaches. Again, lamivudine is not considered an optimal first-line choice because of the elevated rates of viral resistance. In our review^[34], the patients treated with HBV immunoglobulin (HBIG) and lamivudine had HBV recurrence more frequently compared with those commenced on HBIG and adefovir. More recently, we showed that the combination of HBIG and ETV or TDF is the best prophylaxis, almost eliminating post-transplant HBV recurrence (< 2%)^[35] (Figure 1). Nevertheless, the high cost of HBIG and the fact that more and more patients undergo LT with undetectable HBV-DNA, has encouraged physicians to test either a shorter course of HBIG (with continuation of NA)^[36,37], or HBIG-free prophylactic regimens with mono- or dual NA^[35,38]. To select the appropriate group of LT recipients in whom HBIG withdrawal, or even no use at all, might be applicable, physicians should be aware of the risk of post-transplant recurrence. HBV DNA \geq 20.000 IU/mL and HBeAg positivity at the time of LT are associated with high risk of HBV recurrence, whilst HBV DNA clearance, as well as fulminant HBV and hepatitis D virus coinfection, pose less risk of HBV recurrence^[39].

To date, the combination of an NA with a low dose of HBIG^[34] is the preferred therapeutic regimen. Another option has been the use of vaccination instead of HBIG^[40,41]. Active immunization with two courses of an accelerated schedule of double-dose recombinant HBV vaccine has been applied after LT. However, the results regarding patient response were conflicting, thus further studies are needed to confirm the application of this strategy in clinical practice.

Finally, regarding the use of liver grafts from anti-HBc positive donors, in our systematic review^[42], we showed that these grafts can be used safely in HBsAg negative LT recipients. In these cases, anti-HBc/anti-HBs positive recipients may need no prophylaxis at all, while anti-HBc and/or antiHBs negative recipients should receive long-term prophylaxis with lamivudine (Figure 2).

The recurrence of CHB after LT is determined by the redetection of serum HBsAg and/or serum HBV DNA, which is usually connected with biochemical or clinical evidence of active liver disease. The treatment



Figure 2 Proposed algorithm for allocation and management of anti-HBc positive liver grafts. Such grafts should be first offered to HBsAg positive, then to anti-HBc and/or anti-HBs positive, and ultimately to HBV naive (both anti-HBc and anti-HBs negative) recipients^[42]. LT: Liver transplantation; HBIG: Hepatitis B immunoglobulin; LAM: Lamivudine.

Table 2 Dosage adjustment of nucleos(t)ides analogs in patients with chronic hepatitis B according to the creatinine (CrCl) ^[44]						
CrCl (mL/min)	Lamivudine	Telbivudine	Adefovir	Entecavir ¹	Tenofovir	
≥ 50	100 mg/d	600 mg/d	10 mg/d	0.5 mg/d	245 mg/d	
30-49	50 mg/d	$600 \text{ mg}/2^{\text{nd}} \text{ day}$	10 mg/2 nd day	0.25 mg/d	245 mg/2 nd day	
10-29	25 mg/d	$600 \text{ mg}/3^{\text{rd}} \text{ day}$	10 mg/3 rd day	0.15 mg/d	245 mg/3 rd -4 th day	
< 5-10 or HD ²	10 mg/d	$600 \text{ mg}/3^{\text{rd}}-4^{\text{th}} \text{ day}$	10 mg/wk	0.5 mg/wk	245 mg/wk ³	

¹Recommendations only for nucleos(t)ide analog naïve patients (in lamivudine resistance the dosage is double); ²In patients undergoing HD, all agents should be given once weekly after an HD session; ³Only for patients on HD. HD: Hemodialysis.

of HBV recurrence depends on the NA that LT recipient was receiving before recurrence. TDF should be administered to patients with prior lamivudine resistance or to those receiving long term ETV^[3,43] and the most potent combination of TDF and ETV should be used in patients with multidrug resistant HBV strains.

CHB PATIENTS BEFORE AND AFTER KIDNEY TRANSPLANTATION

Patients with CKD represent a very special population because of impaired immunity of renal failure, the many co-morbidities and the use of multiple medications^[44]. They present a heterogeneous patient group, separated into three subgroups: patients with HBV-related nephropathies (membranous/membranoproliferative/IgA glomerulopathy/polyarteritis nodosa)^[45-47], patients receiving hemodialysis (HD) and the renal transplant recipients. The course of CHB has a significant impact on the management of all these patient categories and affects their morbidity and mortality^[48].

All HBsAg positive patients should undergo baseline renal evaluation, both before the start of antiviral treatment and during its administration. During longterm therapy, minimal rates of creatinine clearance decline have been reported with all NAs, except for telbivudine. Regular renal monitoring ensures prompt diagnosis and management of kidney disease, as well as adjustment of drug doses to renal function or if patients are on regular HD, after each session (Table 2)^[3,44,49].

Patients receiving HD are high-risk individuals for CHB, because they are very susceptible to nosocomial transmission and occult HBV infection^[50]. The latter might account for the potential risk of transmission during HD service and reactivation of HBV after renal transplantation (RT). Diabetes mellitus increased the possibility of occult HBV infection in patients on HD^[51]. Vaccination is an essential component of preventive healthcare measures in this high-risk population, and it should not be underutilized because of poor response^[52]. Special vaccination regimens are recommended, including double dose vaccination (40 mg each) in four doses, preferably applied before HD initiation. Serology should be performed every year, and a booster dose should be given if antibody titers are below 10 mIU/mL. Additional parameters complicating the diagnosis and the clinical course of CHB in patients on HD are the minimal or no increase in liver function tests^[53], the lower viral load levels, because of its clearance by HD^[54] and the high bleeding risk related to clotting disorders and intradialysis anticoagulant therapies. Thus, transjugular

Cholongitas E et al. Hepatitis B and special populations



Figure 3 Proposed algorithm for the management of patients with chronic hepatitis B infection and kidney diseases. ¹Low viremia is considered as HBV DNA levels < 10⁸ or < 10⁶ IU/mL for HBeAg-positive and HBeAg-negative patients, respectively; ²The choice based on similar criteria as before renal transplantation. NA: Nucleos(t)ide analogs; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; HBIG: Hepatitis B immunoglobulin^[59].

liver biopsy in specialized centers and other noninvasive procedures, such as transient elastography, are the preferable option for fibrosis staging^[55,56].

Antiviral therapy

With the advent of NAs, interferon (IFN) use has been limited to young patients with HBV-related glome-rulopathy without cirrhosis, psychosis or autoimmune disease^[57]. IFN has been poorly tolerated by patients with CKD, has shown relatively low efficacy and has set RT recipients under the risk of acute rejection^[3], and thus, it is contraindicated.

Patients with HBV-related nephropathies, in which kidney disease is induced *via* the immune-complex, may respond highly to antiviral therapy^[6], while those who need immunosuppressive therapy ideally should start antiviral treatment one month before treatment, continued for at least 12 mo after last dose of immunosuppressive drug^[6]: ETV regardless of viremia, or telbivudine for patients with low viremia (*i.e.*, HBV DNA levels < 10^8 or < 10^6 IU/mL for HBeAg-positive and HBeAg-negative patients, respectively. However, ETV has low efficacy when there is lamivudine resistance; therefore, TDF should be used in that setting (Figure 3)^[58].

Management of HBV patients with CKD requires special manipulation, a multidisciplinary approach and thorough renal monitoring. The administration of NAs has increased the prognosis of patients with CKD dramatically and has prevented the HBV recurrence after RT^[3,59]. In patients with CKD and treatment indications for HBV infection, ETV is considered the first choice, regardless of viremia. Telbivudine is the best option when patients present low creatinine clearance and low viremia levels. Telbivudine has been proved efficacious in causing eGFR elevation in CHB patients with high risk of renal impairment^[29,30]. TDF is the best choice during lamivudine resistance^[58], but concerns exist regarding TDF use, because few cases of ostemalacia and Fanconi syndrome have been documented^[60]. Physicians should be vigilant about these side effects and monitor patients closely who are under these medications, especially when creatinine clearance is below 50 mL/min.

Regarding patients on HD, antiviral treatment should be given to those with active or fibrotic liver disease and to renal transplant candidates. In general, RT offers higher survival and better guality of life in HBV positive patients on HD, with the condition that they would be under antiviral prophylaxis, since it is easier to prevent than treat CHB reactivation^[61]. If no antiviral prophylaxis is administered after RT, immunosuppressive therapy would predispose the patients to rapidly progressive fibrosing cholestatic hepatitis, even if the underline liver disease was mild before RT^[62]. Patients with HBV compensated cirrhosis are precluded from RT because they present high risk of hepatic decompensation after solitary RT, while patients with HBV-DeCi may only undergo combined liver and kidney transplantation^[63]. In HD patients, ETV or TDF are considered first line agents, because of their high potency and the high genetic barrier to resistance^[3]. Again, TDF is the first choice in lamivudine resistance[3,58] (Figure 3).

All HBsAg-positive RT candidates should be commenced on NAs before RT, regardless of the baseline liver histology and serum HBV DNA level^[64]. NAs should be continued after RT to retain viral load clearance and prevent liver decompensation and fibrosis^[3]. Oral antiviral treatment raised patient and

graft survival significantly; whereas a decade ago, HBsAg positivity was a significant predisposing factor for high mortality and graft loss^[65,66].

The choice of the NA for HBsAg-positive RT is decided on an individual basis, according to the patient' s HBV-DNA levels before transplantation and the previous exposure to NA(s). Lamivudine has been used extensively in this setting, but its results have been similar to those in other CHB populations. Thus, ETV, regardless of viremia and creatinine clearance, or telbivudine for patients with low viremia (i.e., HBV DNA levels $< 10^8$ or $< 10^6$ IU/mL for HBeAg-positive and HBeAg-negative patients respectively) or TDF for cases with creatinine clearance > 60 mL/min (or history of resistance to lamivudine) could be proposed as the best choices (Figure 3). Although NAs should be continued lifelong after RT, there is a recent study showing safe antiviral withdrawal in four HBV positive RT patients who presented complete suppression of HBV infection having received antivirals for 14.3 mo. They remained negative for HBV DNA for a median 60.5 mo^[67].

CHB IN CHILDREN

Most children remain at the immune-tolerant phase of CHB until late childhood or adolescence^[68]. This phase is characterized by very high viral load, normal transaminase levels and lack of active disease in liver biopsy^[68]. During the immune-tolerant phase, currently available treatments of CHB have no established benefit and should not be administered^[68]. However, transaminase levels should be monitored every 6-12 mo in children who are at the immunetolerant phase, because some will progress to the immune-active phase of CHB^[69]. During the immuneactive phase, viral load declines, transaminase levels increase and hepatic inflammation with potentially fibrosis develop^[69]. According to current guidelines, children presenting HBV DNA levels ≥ 2000 IU/mL at the immune-active period and persistently elevated alanine transaminase levels > 1.5 times the upper limit of normal [on at least two occasions over at least 6 mo in HBeAg(+) children or on at least three occasions over at least 12 mo in HBeAg(-) children] are potential candidates for treatment^[68]. Liver biopsy should be considered at this point as well. Treatment is indicated in case of moderate or severe inflammation or fibrosis^[68].

Regarding the choice of CHB treatment, small studies showed that treatment with conventional IFN α for 24 wk accelerates HBeAg clearance and antiHBe seroconversion^[70-72]. Improvements in liver histology and increased rates of HBsAg clearance were also reported in IFN α -treated children^[71,72]. High transaminase levels, low viral load and greater inflammatory activity in liver biopsy were associated with higher response rates to IFN α in a few studies^[70].

Concerning NA(s), a pivotal randomized trial

including 288 children with HBeAg(+) CHB, showed that treatment with lamivudine for 52 wk was well tolerated and induced a virological response (HBeAg clearance and undetectable HBV DNA) in 23% compared with 13% of children treated with placebo $(P = 0.04)^{[73]}$. However, genotypic resistance to lamivudine developed in 19% of children treated with lamivudine at week 52^[73]. In a more recent study including 106 adolescents (12-18 years-old) with CHB [91% HBeAg(+)], a 73-wk treatment with TDF resulted in a virological response in 89% of patients compared with 0% in patients treated with placebo $(P < 0.001)^{[74]}$. ALT normalization occurred in 74% and 31% of patients treated with TDF and placebo respectively $(P < 0.001)^{[74]}$. However, HBeAg clearance rates did not differ between the two groups^[74]. Higher ALT levels and low viral load were associated with higher response rates to TDF treatment. TDF was safe and no patients developed resistance^[74].

Current guidelines recommend a conservative management approach and careful treatment evaluation in children with CHB^[3]. IFN is the agent of choice, while NAs are a second-line treatment^[68]. IFN is approved for use in children ≥ 1 year-old and is given thrice weekly at a dose of 6 MU/m² (maximum of 10 MU) for 6 mo^[68]. In contrast, PEGylated IFN is not licensed for use in children with CHB^[68]. Lamivudine and ETV are approved for use in children \geq 2 years old, adefovir and TDF for adolescents \geq 12 years old, whereas telbivudine is approved for adolescents \geq 16 years old^[10,75]. Lamivudine is administered at a dose of 3mg/ kg per day (maximum of 100 mg) once daily and the other NAs at the usual adult doses^[10,75]. The optimal duration of treatment with these agents in children remains unknown^[68]. Under current circumstances, treatment should be given for at least 6-12 mo after HBeAg seroconversion^[75], and indefinitely in patients who do not achieve HBeAg seroconversion^[75].

CHB IN PREGNANCY

All pregnant women should be screened for the presence of CHB^[10]. CHB positivity does not affect the pregnancy outcome^[76] and vice versa: pregnancy does not have an impact on CHB course or activity^[77]. However, CHB flares occur in the post-partum period and might lead to HBeAg clearance^[77].

IFN, lamivudine, adefovir and ETV are listed by the FDA as pregnancy category C drugs (*i.e.*, animal reproduction studies have shown an adverse effect on the fetus and there are no adequate and wellcontrolled studies in humans), whereas telbivudine and TDF are pregnancy category B (*i.e.*, animal reproduction studies have failed to demonstrate a risk to the fetus and there are no adequate and well-controlled studies in humans)^[3]. Accordingly, the treatment of women of reproductive age contemplating pregnancy and not presenting advanced fibrosis has to be postponed until post delivery^[3]. In cases of advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis, treatment is urgent, with PEGylated IFN representing the first line option, because of its finite treatment duration^[3]. In women with no response to IFN or other contraindications, TDF is the treatment of choice, providing that it would be continued during pregnancy^[3]. When pregnancy is confirmed in women who are on IFN or NA treatment other than TDF, treatment is discontinued if there is not advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis; if there is, it is continued with the substitution of current medication with TDF^[3]. Where medications are withheld during pregnancy, close monitoring is needed because of hepatic flare risk^[3].

Whether the NAs use in pregnancy prevents perinatal HBV transmission is an area of uncertainty. In CHB endemic areas perinatal transmission occurs in 70%-90% of children born from HBeAg(+) mothers^[78]. It is well established that the risk of progression from HBV infection to CHB is highest (approximately 90%) in infants born from women with CHB compared with patients who are infected with HBV later in life^[79,80]. The risk of perinatal HBV transmission is substantially reduced by the combined prophylaxis of HBV immunoglobulin and HBV vaccination^[78]; however, it remains high in women with increased viral loads^[81,82]. Indeed, perinatal transmission of HBV is observed in approximately 8%-9% of women with high viral loads (> 10^7 - 10^8 copies/mL), despite infant immunoprophylaxis^[81,82]. In a metaanalysis^[83] incorporating 15 randomized controlled trials (n = 1693 pregnant women), treatment with lamivudine started at the 28th gestational week was safe and reduced the risk of HBV transmission. However, lamivudine did not show an effect on HBV transmission in women with HBV DNA levels $> 10^8$ copies/mL^[83]. In a more recent, open-label, uncontrolled study^[81], treatment with telbivudine started at the 20th to 32nd gestational weeks and was not only safe, but also prevented all cases of HBV transmission in women with HBV DNA levels > 10^7 copies/mL. Interestingly, perinatal HBV transmission occurred in 8% of women treated only with HBV immunoglobulin and HBV vaccination but not telbivudine^[81]. Observational studies^[84] suggest that treatment with lamivudine or TDF during pregnancy does not increase the risk of major birth defects. Therefore, women with high viral loads (> 10^6 IU/mL) should be treated with lamivudine, telbivudine or TDF in the last trimester of pregnancy to reduce the risk of HBV transmission^[3].

CHB PATIENTS UNDER CHEMOTHERAPY OR IMMUNOSUPPRESSION

After HBV exposure, the virus may persist in the liver and other extra-hepatic sites for long periods, posing a risk of reactivation in individuals who receive chemotherapy or immunosuppressive therapy^[85].

Although the precise factors associated with risk of reactivation are not well understood^[85,86], viral and host factors, as well as immunosuppressive therapy characteristics, are involved^[87]. For example, high risk of HBV reactivation is associated with the use of rituximab. The latter is a monoclonal antibody against the CD20 receptor of B lymphocytes^[86] and it is used alone or in combination with steroids or other regimens. Currently, rituximab is considered the optimal treatment for B cell lymphomas^[88], but its use has been extended in several other hematological and non-hematological diseases.

In clinical practice, any type of immunosuppressive therapy can lead to HBV reactivation, in both HBsAg positive and HBsAg negative/antiHBc positive patients^[85]. Thus, it is highly recommended that all candidates for chemotherapy and immunosuppressive therapy should be screened for the HBV (HBsAg and anti-HBc). In HBsAg-positive candidates, NA(s) should be received pre-emptively before immunosuppressive therapy, regardless of baseline HBV DNA levels and for 12 mo after its cessation^[85,86]. According to the current guidelines, lamivudine can be used only in HBsAg-positive candidates with low HBV DNA (< 2000 IU/mL) and when a finite and short duration of immunosuppression is scheduled, otherwise the candidates should be protected with a new NA (i.e., ETV or TDF)^[3].

Although HBsAg negative/anti-HBc positive patients have significantly lower risk of HBV reactivation compared with HBsAg positive patients, there are many reports of HBV reactivation in these patients, because the prevalence of anti-HBc is higher than that of HBsAg^[3]. However, no standard management to prevent HBV reactivation has been established in this setting. In our recent systematic review (unpublished data) including more than 3300 HBsAg negative/anti-HBc positive patients, the rates of HBV reactivation were significantly lower in patients with non-hematological than with hematological diseases (2.5% vs 7.8%, P < 0.001), as well as in those under rituximab free compared with rituximabcontaining regimens (3.5% vs 7.9%, P < 0.001). Based on these findings, we concluded that anti-viral prophylaxis should be given in HBsAg negative/anti-HBc positive patients with hematological diseases and/or those who are going to receive rituximabcontaining regimens, regardless of their anti-HBs and serum HBV DNA status. On the other hand, HBsAg negative/anti-HBc positive patients with nonhematological diseases and/or those who are going to receive rituximab free regimens seem to require anti-HBV prophylaxis only if they have detectable HBV DNA. Nevertheless, further studies are needed to form final conclusions, particularly in specific groups of patients, such as those with solid tumors under chemotherapy. Lamivudine seems to represent an effective option in these cases, and clinicians should



WJG www.wjgnet.com

Table 3 Management of chronic h	epatitis B in special populations
Special population	Management
Before and after liver transplantation	Before: entecavir or tenofovir (± telbivudine in the presence of renal dysfunction)
	After: HBIG plus entecavir or tenofovir (consider telbivudine in the presence of renal dysfunction)
Before and after kidney transplantation	Before: entecavir or telbivudine or tenofovir (Figure 3)
	After: entecavir or telbivudine or tenofovir in HBsAg(+) recipients [plus HBIG when HBsAg(-) recipients
	receive graft from HBsAg(+) donor with HBV viremia] (Figure 3)
Pregnancy	lamivudine, telbivudine or tenofovir in the last trimester of pregnancy when HBV DNA > 10^6 IU/mL
Children	Interferon or nucleos(t)ide analogue (check age of child)
Under immunosuppressive regimen	HBsAg-positive candidates: lamivudine when baseline HBVDNA < 2000 IU/mL and short period (< 12 mo) of immunosuppression; otherwise: ETV or TDF
	HBsAg-negative/anti-HBc positive candidates: (1) if baseline HBV-DNA detectable: as HBsAg-positive candidates; (2) otherwise: lamivudine only in hematological diseases or rituximab containing regimens

HBV: Hepatitis B virus; HBIG: Hepatitis B immunoglobulin; HBsAg: Hepatitis B surface antigen; ETV: Entecavir; TDF: Tenofovir.

continue anti-HBV prophylaxis and/or the follow-up of such patients for at least 12 mo after discontinuation of immunosuppression.

CONCLUSION

Significant progress in therapies for HBV infection has led to improvements in the management of CHB patients with decompensated cirrhosis and after LT. The former group should be treated with ETV or TDF, which may lead to stabilization or even improvement of liver disease and possible withdrawal from the waiting list for LT. After LT, the combination of HBIG (at least for a certain period) and ETV or TDF appears to be the most effective approach, while ETV and TDF seem to have no difference in their impact on renal function^[36]. HBIG-free prophylaxis with a new NA needs further evaluation, while telbivudine should be considered in cases of renal dysfunction^[89]. In HBV patients with CKD, new NAs are the best options to minimize the consequences of HBV infection, providing that their dosage is adjusted according to creatinine clearance and taking into account the potential nephrotoxicity and resistance profile. Thus, ETV and telbivudine, an agent with promising data showing improvement in creatinine clearance, seem to be the preferred choices in CHB patients with CKD, while TDF is considered the best option in patients with prior resistance to any nucleoside analog. Physicians should be aware that all HBsAg positive patients should be treated with NAs before RT to maintain undetectable HBV DNA and prevent hepatic decompensation after RT. In pregnant women with CHB, close monitoring is needed and in those with high HBV DNA (> 10^{6} IU/mL); treatment with lamivudine, telbivudine or TDF in the last trimester of pregnancy is the preferred option to reduce the risk of HBV transmission. If an infected child ultimately develops CHB, antiviral treatment should not be started urgently, since most of them are in the immune-tolerant phase of the disease. All HBsAgpositive candidates for immunosuppressive therapy should receive NA(s) pre-emptively, regardless of baseline HBV DNA, up to 12 mo after cessation of immunosuppression. Finally, HBsAg negative/anti-HBc positive patients with hematological diseases and/or those who are going to receive rituximab-containing regimens, regardless of their anti-HBs and serum HBV DNA status, should be on anti-viral prophylaxis (Table 3).

REFERENCES

- 1 **Maddrey WC**. Hepatitis B: an important public health issue. *J Med Virol* 2000; **61**: 362-366 [PMID: 10861647 DOI: 10.1002/109 6-9071(200007)61:3<362]
- 2 Peng CY, Chien RN, Liaw YF. Hepatitis B virus-related decompensated liver cirrhosis: benefits of antiviral therapy. J Hepatol 2012; 57: 442-450 [PMID: 22504333 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.02.033]
- 3 European Association For The Study Of The Liver. EASL clinical practice guidelines: Management of chronic hepatitis B virus infection. *J Hepatol* 2012; 57: 167-185 [PMID: 22436845]
- 4 Fattovich G, Pantalena M, Zagni I, Realdi G, Schalm SW, Christensen E. Effect of hepatitis B and C virus infections on the natural history of compensated cirrhosis: a cohort study of 297 patients. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2002; 97: 2886-2895 [PMID: 12425564 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2002.07057.x]
- 5 Calvaruso V, Craxì A. Regression of fibrosis after HBV antiviral therapy. Is cirrhosis reversible? *Liver Int* 2014; 34 Suppl 1: 85-90 [PMID: 24373083 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12395]
- 6 Coffin CS, Fung SK, Ma MM. Management of chronic hepatitis B: Canadian Association for the Study of the Liver consensus guidelines. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2012; 26: 917-938 [PMID: 23248795]
- Murray KF, Carithers RL. AASLD practice guidelines: Evaluation of the patient for liver transplantation. *Hepatology* 2005;
 41: 1407-1432 [PMID: 15880505 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20704]
- 8 Cholongitas E, Germani G, Burroughs AK. Prioritization for liver transplantation. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2010; 7: 659-668 [PMID: 21045793 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2010.169]
- 9 Degertekin B, Han SH, Keeffe EB, Schiff ER, Luketic VA, Brown RS, Emre S, Soldevila-Pico C, Reddy KR, Ishitani MB, Tran TT, Pruett TL, Lok AS. Impact of virologic breakthrough and HBIG regimen on hepatitis B recurrence after liver transplantation. *Am J Transplant* 2010; 10: 1823-1833 [PMID: 20346062 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1600-6143.2010.03046.x]
- 10 Lok AS, McMahon BJ. Chronic hepatitis B: update 2009. *Hepatology* 2009; 50: 661-662 [PMID: 19714720 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.23190]
- 11 Papatheodoridis GV, Cholongitas E, Archimandritis AJ, Burroughs AK. Current management of hepatitis B virus infection before and after liver transplantation. *Liver Int* 2009; 29: 1294-1305 [PMID: 19619264 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2009.02085.x]
- 12 Fabrizi F, Martin P, Dixit V, Kanwal F, Dulai G. HBsAg seropositive



status and survival after renal transplantation: meta-analysis of observational studies. *Am J Transplant* 2005; **5**: 2913-2921 [PMID: 16303005 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2005.01113.x]

- 13 Papatheodoridis GV, Sevastianos V, Burroughs AK. Prevention of and treatment for hepatitis B virus infection after liver transplantation in the nucleoside analogues era. *Am J Transplant* 2003; **3**: 250-258 [PMID: 12614278 DOI: 10.1034/j.1600-6143.2003.00063.x]
- 14 Picciotto FP, Tritto G, Lanza AG, Addario L, De Luca M, Di Costanzo GG, Lampasi F, Tartaglione MT, Marsilia GM, Calise F, Cuomo O, Ascione A. Sustained virological response to antiviral therapy reduces mortality in HCV reinfection after liver transplantation. *J Hepatol* 2007; 46: 459-465 [PMID: 17196700 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2006.10.017]
- 15 Roche B, Samuel D. Hepatitis C virus treatment pre- and postliver transplantation. *Liver Int* 2012; **32** Suppl 1: 120-128 [PMID: 22212582 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2011.02714.x]
- 16 Roche B, Sebagh M, Canfora ML, Antonini T, Roque-Afonso AM, Delvart V, Saliba F, Duclos-Vallee JC, Castaing D, Samuel D. Hepatitis C virus therapy in liver transplant recipients: response predictors, effect on fibrosis progression, and importance of the initial stage of fibrosis. *Liver Transpl* 2008; 14: 1766-1777 [PMID: 19025933 DOI: 10.1002/lt.21635]
- 17 Fontana RJ, Hann HW, Perrillo RP, Vierling JM, Wright T, Rakela J, Anschuetz G, Davis R, Gardner SD, Brown NA. Determinants of early mortality in patients with decompensated chronic hepatitis B treated with antiviral therapy. *Gastroenterology* 2002; 123: 719-727 [PMID: 12198698 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2002.35352]
- 18 Schiff E, Lai CL, Hadziyannis S, Neuhaus P, Terrault N, Colombo M, Tillmann H, Samuel D, Zeuzem S, Villeneuve JP, Arterburn S, Borroto-Esoda K, Brosgart C, Chuck S. Adefovir dipivoxil for wait-listed and post-liver transplantation patients with lamivudine-resistant hepatitis B: final long-term results. *Liver Transpl* 2007; 13: 349-360 [PMID: 17326221 DOI: 10.1002/lt.20981]
- 19 Shim JH, Lee HC, Kim KM, Lim YS, Chung YH, Lee YS, Suh DJ. Efficacy of entecavir in treatment-naïve patients with hepatitis B virus-related decompensated cirrhosis. *J Hepatol* 2010; 52: 176-182 [PMID: 20006394 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2009.11.007]
- 20 Liaw YF, Sheen IS, Lee CM, Akarca US, Papatheodoridis GV, Suet-Hing Wong F, Chang TT, Horban A, Wang C, Kwan P, Buti M, Prieto M, Berg T, Kitrinos K, Peschell K, Mondou E, Frederick D, Rousseau F, Schiff ER. Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF), emtricitabine/TDF, and entecavir in patients with decompensated chronic hepatitis B liver disease. *Hepatology* 2011; **53**: 62-72 [PMID: 21254162 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23952]
- 21 Chan HL, Chen YC, Gane EJ, Sarin SK, Suh DJ, Piratvisuth T, Prabhakar B, Hwang SG, Choudhuri G, Safadi R, Tanwandee T, Chutaputti A, Yurdaydin C, Bao W, Avila C, Trylesinski A. Randomized clinical trial: efficacy and safety of telbivudine and lamivudine in treatment-naïve patients with HBV-related decompensated cirrhosis. *J Viral Hepat* 2012; **19**: 732-743 [PMID: 22967105 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2893.2012.01600.x]
- Hyun JJ, Seo YS, Yoon E, Kim TH, Kim DJ, Kang HS, Jung ES, Kim JH, An H, Kim JH, Yim HJ, Yeon JE, Lee HS, Byun KS, Um SH, Kim CD, Ryu HS. Comparison of the efficacies of lamivudine versus entecavir in patients with hepatitis B virus-related decompensated cirrhosis. *Liver Int* 2012; **32**: 656-664 [PMID: 22099071 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2011.02676.x]
- 23 Cholongitas E, Papatheodoridis GV, Goulis I, Vlachogiannakos J. The impact of newer nucleos(t)ide analogues on patients with hepatitis B decompensated cirrhosis. *Annals of Gastroenterol* 2014; In press
- 24 **Wang JY**. Antiviral therapy for hepatitis B virus-related decompensated cirrhosis. *J Dig Dis* 2012; **13**: 555-557 [PMID: 23107441 DOI: 10.1111/j.1751-2980.2012.00630.x]
- 25 Ye XG, Su QM. Effects of entecavir and lamivudine for hepatitis B decompensated cirrhosis: meta-analysis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2013; 19: 6665-6678 [PMID: 24151397 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19. i39.6665]
- 26 Chen CH, Lin CL, Hu TH, Hung CH, Tseng PL, Wang JH, Chang JY, Lu SN, Chien RN, Lee CM. Entecavir vs. lamivudine

in chronic hepatitis B patients with severe acute exacerbation and hepatic decompensation. *J Hepatol* 2014; **60**: 1127-1134 [PMID: 24583247 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.02.013]

- 27 Wong VW, Chan FK. Regression of cirrhosis with long-term tenofovir treatment. *Gastroenterology* 2013; 145: 481-482 [PMID: 23791793 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.06.019]
- 28 Singal AK, Fontana RJ. Meta-analysis: oral anti-viral agents in adults with decompensated hepatitis B virus cirrhosis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2012; 35: 674-689 [PMID: 22257108 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2011.04990.x]
- 29 Gane EJ, Deray G, Liaw YF, Lim SG, Lai CL, Rasenack J, Wang Y, Papatheodoridis G, Di Bisceglie A, Buti M, Samuel D, Uddin A, Bosset S, Trylesinski A. Telbivudine improves renal function in patients with chronic hepatitis B. *Gastroenterology* 2014; 146: 138-146.e5 [PMID: 24067879 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.09.031]
- 30 Lee M, Oh S, Lee HJ, Yeum TS, Lee JH, Yu SJ, Kim HY, Yoon JH, Lee HS, Kim YJ. Telbivudine protects renal function in patients with chronic hepatitis B infection in conjunction with adefovirbased combination therapy. *J Viral Hepat* 2014; 21: 873-881 [PMID: 24351112 DOI: 10.1111/jvh.12217]
- 31 Han Z, Shi Y, Zhu J, Chen Y, Yin F, Xia L, Luo G, Gao Z, Liu J, Jia G, Li C, Zhou X, Han Y. Forty-eight-week retrospective study of telbivudine and lamivudine treatment in patients with hepatitis B-related cirrhosis. *J Viral Hepat* 2013; **20** Suppl 1: 58-64 [PMID: 23458526 DOI: 10.1111/jvh.12065]
- 32 Huang Y, Wu H, Wu S, Fu D, Ma Y, Shen X. A meta-analysis of nucleos(t)ide analogues in patients with decompensated cirrhosis due to hepatitis B. *Dig Dis Sci* 2013; 58: 815-823 [PMID: 23053891 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-012-2414-y]
- 33 Ramachandran P, Fraser A, Agarwal K, Austin A, Brown A, Foster GR, Fox R, Hayes PC, Leen C, Mills PR, Mutimer DJ, Ryder SD, Dillon JF. UK consensus guidelines for the use of the protease inhibitors boceprevir and telaprevir in genotype 1 chronic hepatitis C infected patients. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2012; 35: 647-662 [PMID: 22296568 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2012.04992. x]
- 34 Cholongitas E, Goulis J, Akriviadis E, Papatheodoridis GV. Hepatitis B immunoglobulin and/or nucleos(t)ide analogues for prophylaxis against hepatitis b virus recurrence after liver transplantation: a systematic review. *Liver Transpl* 2011; 17: 1176-1190 [PMID: 21656655 DOI: 10.1002/lt.22354]
- 35 Cholongitas E, Papatheodoridis GV. High genetic barrier nucleos(t)ide analogue(s) for prophylaxis from hepatitis B virus recurrence after liver transplantation: a systematic review. Am J Transplant 2013; 13: 353-362 [PMID: 23137006 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1600-6143.2012.04315.x]
- 36 Cholongitas E, Goulis I, Antoniadis N, Fouzas I, Imvrios G, Papanikolaou V, Akriviadis E. New nucleos(t)ide analogue monoprophylaxis after cessation of hepatitis B immunoglobulin is effective against hepatitis B recurrence. *Transpl Int* 2014; 27: 1022-1028 [PMID: 24909714 DOI: 10.1111/tri.12370]
- 37 Wesdorp DJ, Knoester M, Braat AE, Coenraad MJ, Vossen AC, Claas EC, van Hoek B. Nucleoside plus nucleotide analogs and cessation of hepatitis B immunoglobulin after liver transplantation in chronic hepatitis B is safe and effective. *J Clin Virol* 2013; 58: 67-73 [PMID: 23880162 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcv.2013.06.035]
- 38 Fung J, Chan SC, Cheung C, Yuen MF, Chok KS, Sharr W, Chan AC, Cheung TT, Seto WK, Fan ST, Lai CL, Lo CM. Oral nucleoside/nucleotide analogs without hepatitis B immune globulin after liver transplantation for hepatitis B. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2013; 108: 942-948 [PMID: 23629601 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2013.111]
- 39 Laryea MA, Watt KD. Immunoprophylaxis against and prevention of recurrent viral hepatitis after liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2012; 18: 514-523 [PMID: 22315212 DOI: 10.1002/lt.23408]
- 40 Tahara H, Tanaka Y, Ishiyama K, Ide K, Shishida M, Irei T, Ushitora Y, Ohira M, Banshodani M, Tashiro H, Itamoto T, Asahara T, Imamura M, Takahashi S, Chayama K, Ohdan H. Successful hepatitis B vaccination in liver transplant recipients with donorspecific hyporesponsiveness. *Transpl Int* 2009; 22: 805-813 [PMID: 19490542 DOI: 10.1111/j.1432-2277.2009.00864.x]

- 41 Chaib E, Coimbra BG, Galvão FH, Tatebe ER, Shinzato MS, D' Albuquerque LA, Massad E. Does anti-hepatitis B virus vaccine make any difference in long-term number of liver transplantation? *Clin Transplant* 2012; 26: E590-E595 [PMID: 23083337 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.12030]
- 42 Cholongitas E, Papatheodoridis GV, Burroughs AK. Liver grafts from anti-hepatitis B core positive donors: a systematic review. *J Hepatol* 2010; **52**: 272-279 [PMID: 20034693 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jhep.2009.11.009]
- 43 Cholongitas E, Vasiliadis T, Antoniadis N, Goulis I, Papanikolaou V, Akriviadis E. Hepatitis B prophylaxis post liver transplantation with newer nucleos(t)ide analogues after hepatitis B immunoglobulin discontinuation. *Transpl Infect Dis* 2012; 14: 479-487 [PMID: 22624695 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-3062.2012.00741.x]
- 44 Pipili CL, Papatheodoridis GV, Cholongitas EC. Treatment of hepatitis B in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* 2013; 84: 880-885 [PMID: 23783238 DOI: 10.1038/ki.2013.249]
- 45 Bhimma R, Coovadia HM. Hepatitis B virus-associated nephropathy. *Am J Nephrol* 2004; 24: 198-211 [PMID: 14988643 DOI: 10.1159/000077065]
- 46 Guillevin L, Mahr A, Callard P, Godmer P, Pagnoux C, Leray E, Cohen P; French Vasculitis Study Group. Hepatitis B virus-associated polyarteritis nodosa: clinical characteristics, outcome, and impact of treatment in 115 patients. *Medicine* (Baltimore) 2005; 84: 313-322 [PMID: 16148731 DOI: 10.1097/01. md.0000180792.80212.5e]
- 47 Wang NS, Wu ZL, Zhang YE, Guo MY, Liao LT. Role of hepatitis B virus infection in pathogenesis of IgA nephropathy. *World J Gastroenterol* 2003; 9: 2004-2008 [PMID: 12970894]
- 48 Yi Z, Jie YW, Nan Z. The efficacy of anti-viral therapy on hepatitis B virus-associated glomerulonephritis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Hepatol* 2011; 10: 165-173 [PMID: 21502678]
- 49 Xirouchakis E, Marelli L, Cholongitas E, Manousou P, Calvaruso V, Pleguezuelo M, Guerrini GP, Maimone S, Kerry A, Hajjawi M, Nair D, Thomas M, Patch D, Burroughs AK. Comparison of cystatin C and creatinine-based glomerular filtration rate formulas with 51Cr-EDTA clearance in patients with cirrhosis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* 2011; 6: 84-92 [PMID: 20829419 DOI: 10.2215/CJN.03400410]
- 50 Lledó JL, Fernández C, Gutiérrez ML, Ocaña S. Management of occult hepatitis B virus infection: an update for the clinician. *World J Gastroenterol* 2011; 17: 1563-1568 [PMID: 21472122 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v17.i12.1563]
- 51 Keyvani H, Agah S, Kabir A, Alavian SM. Prevalence and risk factors of isolated anti-HBc antibody and occult hepatitis B infection in hemodialysis patients: a nationwide study. *Ann Hepatol* 2013; 12: 213-219 [PMID: 23396732]
- 52 Soni R, Horowitz B, Unruh M. Immunization in end-stage renal disease: opportunity to improve outcomes. *Semin Dial* 2013; 26: 416-426 [PMID: 23751048 DOI: 10.1111/sdi.12101]
- 53 Fabrizi F, Messa P, Dixit V, Martin P. Therapy with nucleos(t)ide analogues: current role in dialysis patients. *Int J Artif Organs* 2010; 33: 329-338 [PMID: 20669138]
- 54 Tseng GY, Lin HJ, Fang CT, Cheng YT, Huang CH, Tseng GC, Wang PC, Hung TL, Deng YC, Tsai CC, Yang KY. Hemodialysis reduces the viral load in uremic patients with chronic hepatitis B infection. *Ren Fail* 2008; 30: 1000-1005 [PMID: 19016152 DOI: 10.1080/08860220802406377]
- 55 Burroughs AK, Cholongitas E. Non-invasive tests for liver fibrosis: encouraging or discouraging results? *J Hepatol* 2007; 46: 751-755 [PMID: 17383047 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2007.02.017]
- 56 Pipili C, Cholongitas E. Management of patients with hepatitis B and C before and after liver and kidney transplantation. *World J Hepatol* 2014; 6: 315-325 [PMID: 24868325 DOI: 10.4254/wjh. v6.i5.315]
- 57 Fabrizi F, Dixit V, Martin P. Meta-analysis: anti-viral therapy of hepatitis B virus-associated glomerulonephritis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2006; 24: 781-788 [PMID: 16918881 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1365-2036.2006.03041.x]
- 58 Pipili C, Cholongitas E, Papatheodoridis G. Review article:

nucleos(t)ide analogues in patients with chronic hepatitis B virus infection and chronic kidney disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2014; **39**: 35-46 [PMID: 24299322 DOI: 10.1111/apt.12538]

- 59 Papatheodoridis GV. Why do I treat HBeAg-negative chronic hepatitis B patients with nucleos(t)ide analogues? *Liver Int* 2013;
 33 Suppl 1: 151-156 [PMID: 23286859 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12054]
- 60 Hall AM, Hendry BM, Nitsch D, Connolly JO. Tenofovirassociated kidney toxicity in HIV-infected patients: a review of the evidence. *Am J Kidney Dis* 2011; 57: 773-780 [PMID: 21435764 DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2011.01.022]
- 61 Lu K, Wang HP, Chen YS. Outcomes of kidney transplantation recipients with hepatitis in the antiviral therapy era: a single-center experience. *Transplant Proc* 2014; 46: 460-463 [PMID: 24655988 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2013.11.041]
- 62 Pham PT, Pham PA, Pham PC, Parikh S, Danovitch G. Evaluation of adult kidney transplant candidates. *Semin Dial* 2010; 23: 595-605 [PMID: 21175834 DOI: 10.1111/j.1525-139X.2010.00809.x]
- 63 Chopra A, Cantarovich M, Bain VG. Simultaneous liver and kidney transplants: optimizing use of this double resource. *Transplantation* 2011; 91: 1305-1309 [PMID: 21512431 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e318 21bad1b]
- 64 Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Transplant Work Group. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the care of kidney transplant recipients. *Am J Transplant* 2009; 9 Suppl 3: S1-155 [PMID: 19845597]
- 65 Cosconea S, Fontaine H, Méritet JF, Corouge M, Sogni P, Vallet-Pichard A, Mallet V, Legendre C, Pol S. Benefits associated with antiviral treatment in kidney allograft recipients with chronic hepatitis B virus infection. *J Hepatol* 2012; **57**: 55-60 [PMID: 22414762 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.02.020]
- 66 Yap DY, Tang CS, Yung S, Choy BY, Yuen MF, Chan TM. Longterm outcome of renal transplant recipients with chronic hepatitis B infection-impact of antiviral treatments. *Transplantation* 2010; 90: 325-330 [PMID: 20562676 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181e5b811]
- 67 Cho JH, Lim JH, Park GY, Kim JS, Kang YJ, Kwon O, Choi JY, Park SH, Kim YL, Kim HK, Huh S, Kim CD. Successful withdrawal of antiviral treatment in kidney transplant recipients with chronic hepatitis B viral infection. *Transpl Infect Dis* 2014; 16: 295-303 [PMID: 24628837 DOI: 10.1111/tid.12202]
- 68 Jonas MM, Block JM, Haber BA, Karpen SJ, London WT, Murray KF, Narkewicz MR, Rosenthal P, Schwarz KB, McMahon BJ. Treatment of children with chronic hepatitis B virus infection in the United States: patient selection and therapeutic options. *Hepatology* 2010; 52: 2192-2205 [PMID: 20890947 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.23934]
- 69 Haber BA, Block JM, Jonas MM, Karpen SJ, London WT, McMahon BJ, Murray KF, Narkewicz MR, Rosenthal P, Schwarz KB. Recommendations for screening, monitoring, and referral of pediatric chronic hepatitis B. *Pediatrics* 2009; **124**: e1007-e1013 [PMID: 19805457 DOI: 10.1542/peds.2009-0567]
- 70 Barbera C, Bortolotti F, Crivellaro C, Coscia A, Zancan L, Cadrobbi P, Nebbia G, Pillan MN, Lepore L, Parrella T. Recombinant interferon-alpha 2a hastens the rate of HBeAg clearance in children with chronic hepatitis B. *Hepatology* 1994; 20: 287-290 [PMID: 8045488 DOI: 10.1002/hep.1840200203]
- 71 Sokal EM, Conjeevaram HS, Roberts EA, Alvarez F, Bern EM, Goyens P, Rosenthal P, Lachaux A, Shelton M, Sarles J, Hoofnagle J. Interferon alfa therapy for chronic hepatitis B in children: a multinational randomized controlled trial. *Gastroenterology* 1998; 114: 988-995 [PMID: 9558288 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5085(98)70318-X]
- 72 Bortolotti F, Jara P, Barbera C, Gregorio GV, Vegnente A, Zancan L, Hierro L, Crivellaro C, Vergani GM, Iorio R, Pace M, Con P, Gatta A. Long term effect of alpha interferon in children with chronic hepatitis B. *Gut* 2000; **46**: 715-718 [PMID: 10764718 DOI: 10.1136/gut.46.5.715]
- 73 Jonas MM, Mizerski J, Badia IB, Areias JA, Schwarz KB, Little NR, Greensmith MJ, Gardner SD, Bell MS, Sokal EM. Clinical trial of lamivudine in children with chronic hepatitis B. *N Engl J Med* 2002; 346: 1706-1713 [PMID: 12037150 DOI: 10.1056/ NEJMoa012452]
- 74 Murray KF, Szenborn L, Wysocki J, Rossi S, Corsa AC, Dinh P, McHutchison J, Pang PS, Luminos LM, Pawlowska M, Mizerski J. Randomized, placebo-controlled trial of tenofovir disoproxil fumarate in adolescents with chronic hepatitis B. *Hepatology* 2012; 56: 2018-2026 [PMID: 22544804 DOI: 10.1002/hep.25818]
- 75 Sokal EM, Paganelli M, Wirth S, Socha P, Vajro P, Lacaille F, Kelly D, Mieli-Vergani G. Management of chronic hepatitis B in childhood: ESPGHAN clinical practice guidelines: consensus of an expert panel on behalf of the European Society of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition. *J Hepatol* 2013; 59: 814-829 [PMID: 23707367 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.05.016]
- 76 Huang QT, Wei SS, Zhong M, Hang LL, Xu YY, Cai GX, Liu Q, Yu YH. Chronic hepatitis B infection and risk of preterm labor: a meta-analysis of observational studies. *J Clin Virol* 2014; 61: 3-8 [PMID: 24973811 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcv.2014.06.006]
- ter Borg MJ, Leemans WF, de Man RA, Janssen HL. Exacerbation of chronic hepatitis B infection after delivery. *J Viral Hepat* 2008; 15: 37-41 [PMID: 18088243]
- 78 Lee C, Gong Y, Brok J, Boxall EH, Gluud C. Effect of hepatitis B immunisation in newborn infants of mothers positive for hepatitis B surface antigen: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* 2006; **332**: 328-336 [PMID: 16443611 DOI: 10.1136/ bmj.38719.435833.7C]
- 79 McMahon BJ, Alward WL, Hall DB, Heyward WL, Bender TR, Francis DP, Maynard JE. Acute hepatitis B virus infection: relation of age to the clinical expression of disease and subsequent development of the carrier state. *J Infect Dis* 1985; **151**: 599-603 [PMID: 3973412 DOI: 10.1093/infdis/151.4.599]
- 80 Tassopoulos NC, Papaevangelou GJ, Sjogren MH, Roumeliotou-Karayannis A, Gerin JL, Purcell RH. Natural history of acute hepatitis B surface antigen-positive hepatitis in Greek adults. *Gastroenterology* 1987; 92: 1844-1850 [PMID: 3569758]
- 81 Han GR, Cao MK, Zhao W, Jiang HX, Wang CM, Bai SF, Yue X, Wang GJ, Tang X, Fang ZX. A prospective and open-label study for the efficacy and safety of telbivudine in pregnancy for the

prevention of perinatal transmission of hepatitis B virus infection. *J Hepatol* 2011; **55**: 1215-1221 [PMID: 21703206 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jhep.2011.02.032]

- 82 Wiseman E, Fraser MA, Holden S, Glass A, Kidson BL, Heron LG, Maley MW, Ayres A, Locarnini SA, Levy MT. Perinatal transmission of hepatitis B virus: an Australian experience. *Med J Aust* 2009; **190**: 489-492 [PMID: 19413519]
- 83 Han L, Zhang HW, Xie JX, Zhang Q, Wang HY, Cao GW. A meta-analysis of lamivudine for interruption of mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus. *World J Gastroenterol* 2011; 17: 4321-4333 [PMID: 22090789 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v17.i38.4321]
- 84 Brown RS, Verna EC, Pereira MR, Tilson HH, Aguilar C, Leu CS, Buti M, Fagan EA. Hepatitis B virus and human immunodeficiency virus drugs in pregnancy: findings from the Antiretroviral Pregnancy Registry. *J Hepatol* 2012; **57**: 953-959 [PMID: 22766470 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.06.031]
- 85 Roche B, Samuel D. The difficulties of managing severe hepatitis B virus reactivation. *Liver Int* 2011; **31** Suppl 1: 104-110 [PMID: 21205146 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2010.02396.x]
- 86 Shouval D, Shibolet O. Immunosuppression and HBV reactivation. Semin Liver Dis 2013; 33: 167-177 [PMID: 23749673 DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1345722]
- 87 Mindikoglu AL, Regev A, Schiff ER. Hepatitis B virus reactivation after cytotoxic chemotherapy: the disease and its prevention. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006; 4: 1076-1081 [PMID: 16861051 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2006.05.027]
- 88 Cholongitas E, Papatheodoridis GV. Review of the pharmacological management of hepatitis B viral infection before and after liver transplantation. *World J Gastroenterol* 2013; 19: 9189-9197 [PMID: 24409047 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i48.9189]
- 89 Cholongitas E, Vasiliadis T, Goulis I, Fouzas I, Antoniadis N, Papanikolaou V, Akriviadis E. Telbivudine is associated with improvement of renal function in patients transplanted for HBV liver disease. *J Viral Hepat* 2014; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 25385239 DOI: 10.1111/jvh.12362]

P- Reviewer: Jiang W, Tanoglu A, Yeung CY S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: Stewart GJ E- Editor: Ma S







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1749 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1749-1758 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

Immunohistochemical expression of SP-NK-1R-EGFR pathway and VDR in colonic inflammation and neoplasia

Raymond A Isidro, Myrella L Cruz, Angel A Isidro, Axel Baez, Axel Arroyo, William A González-Marqués, Carmen González-Keelan, Esther A Torres, Caroline B Appleyard

Raymond A Isidro, Myrella L Cruz, Angel A Isidro, Caroline B Appleyard, Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Ponce School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Ponce, PR 00732, United States

Angel A Isidro, Axel Baez, Department of Pathology, Ponce School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Ponce, PR 00732, United States

Axel Arroyo, Department of Anatomy, Ponce School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Ponce, PR 00732, United States

William A González-Marqués, Carmen González-Keelan, Departments of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of Puerto Rico School of Medicine, San Juan, PR 00936, United States

Esther A Torres, Department of Medicine, University of Puerto Rico School of Medicine, San Juan, PR 00936, United States

Author contributions: Isidro RA, Isidro AA, Arroyo A, Torres EA and Appleyard CB designed the research; Isidro RA, Cruz ML, Isidro AA and Appleyard CB performed the research; Baez A, Arroyo A, González-Marqués WA, González-Keelan C and Torres EA identified and provided tissue samples; Isidro RA, Cruz ML and Appleyard CB analyzed the data; Isidro RA drafted the manuscript; Cruz ML, Isidro AA, Baez A, Arroyo A, González-Marqués WA, González-Keelan C, Torres EA and Appleyard CB critically revised manuscript for important intellectual content.

Supported by National Institutes of Health Grants, No. U56 CA126379 (to Isidro AA and Appleyard CB) and No. R25-GM082406 (to Isidro RA); and National Science Foundation: Puerto Rico Louis Stokes Alliance for Minority Participation, NSF Project No. 0601843 (to Isidro RA); The PSMHS Molecular Biology Core Lab, RCMI Grant No. RR003050/MD007579.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Caroline B Appleyard, PhD, Professor, Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Ponce School of Medicine and Health Sciences, PO Box 7004, Ponce, PR 00732-7004, United States. cappleyard@psm.edu Telephone: +1-787-8402575 Fax: +1-787-8411040 Received: August 6, 2014 Peer-review started: August 8, 2014 First decision: September 15, 2014 Revised: September 27, 2014 Accepted: November 18, 2014 Article in press: November 19, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To determine the expression of neurokinin-1 receptor (NK-1R), phosphorylated epidermal growth factor receptor (pEGFR), cyclooxygenase-2 (Cox-2), and vitamin D receptor (VDR) in normal, inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), and colorectal neoplasia tissues from Puerto Ricans.

METHODS: Tissues from patients with IBD, colitisassociated colorectal cancer (CAC), sporadic dysplasia, and sporadic colorectal cancer (CRC), as well as normal controls, were identified at several centers in Puerto Rico. Archival formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissues were de-identified and processed by immunohistochemistry for NK-1R, pEGFR, Cox-2, and VDR. Pictures of representative areas of each tissues diagnosis were taken and scored by three observers using a 4-point scale that assessed intensity of staining. Tissues with CAC were further analyzed by photographing representative areas of IBD and the different grades of dysplasia, in addition to the areas of cancer, within each tissue. Differences in the average age between the five patient groups were assessed with one-way analysis of variance and Tukey-Kramer multiple comparisons test. The mean scores for normal tissues and tissues with IBD, dysplasia, CRC, and CAC were calculated and statistically compared using one-way analysis of variance and Dunnett's multiple comparisons test. Correlations between protein expression patterns were analyzed with the Pearson's product-moment correlation coefficient. Data are presented as mean \pm SE.

RESULTS: On average, patients with IBD were younger (34.60 ± 5.81) than normal $(63.20 \pm 6.13, P < 0.01)$, sporadic dysplasia (68.80 \pm 4.42, P < 0.01), sporadic cancer (74.80 ± 4.91, P < 0.001), and CAC (57.50 \pm 5.11, P < 0.05) patients. NK-1R in cancer tissue (sporadic CRC, 1.73 ± 0.34; CAC, 1.57 ± 0.53) and sporadic dysplasia (2.00 \pm 0.45) were higher than in normal tissues (0.73 \pm 0.19). pEGFR was significantly increased in sporadic CRC (1.53 \pm 0.43) and CAC (2.25 ± 0.47) when compared to normal tissue (0.07)± 0.25, P < 0.05, P < 0.001, respectively). Cox-2 was significantly increased in sporadic colorectal cancer $(2.20 \pm 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.37 \text{ for normal tissues, } P < 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.80 \pm 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.23 \pm 0.23 \pm 0.23 \text{ vs} 0.23$ 0.05). In comparison to normal (2.80 ± 0.13) and CAC (2.50 ± 0.33) tissues, VDR was significantly decreased in sporadic dysplasia (0.00 \pm 0.00, P < 0.001 vs normal, P < 0.001 vs CAC) and sporadic CRC (0.47 ± 0.23, P < 0.001 vs normal, P < 0.001 vs CAC). VDR levels negatively correlated with NK-1R (r = -0.48) and pEGFR (r = -0.56) in normal, IBD, sporadic dysplasia and sporadic CRC tissue, but not in CAC.

CONCLUSION: Immunohistochemical NK-1R and pEGFR positivity with VDR negativity can be used to identify areas of sporadic colorectal neoplasia. VDR immunoreactivity can distinguish CAC from sporadic cancer.

Key words: Colitis; Colon cancer; Dysplasia; Neurokinin; Vitamin D

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: This study compares for the first time the expression of neurokinin-1 receptor, phosphorylated epidermal growth factor receptor, cyclooxygenase-2, and vitamin D receptor in samples from patients with sporadic colorectal neoplasia, colitis, and colitis-associated colorectal neoplasia and obtained from a Puerto Rican population. We believe that this knowledge could be of great use for the further identification of reliable markers of cancer risk and of potential therapeutic targets in a population where colorectal cancer is the deadliest cancer, and that our findings could be used in the day-to-day examination of colonic biopsies for establishing a diagnosis and distinguishing dysplasia from reactive inflammatory changes.

Isidro RA, Cruz ML, Isidro AA, Baez A, Arroyo A, González-Marqués WA, González-Keelan C, Torres EA, Appleyard CB. Immunohistochemical expression of SP-NK-1R-EGFR pathway and VDR in colonic inflammation and neoplasia. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1749-1758 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1749.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1749

INTRODUCTION

Not only is colorectal cancer (CRC) the second most commonly occurring cancer among Puerto Rican men and women combined but it is also the deadliest cancer in the Puerto Rican population^[1]. This situation contrasts with that of both the general United States population - where CRC is less frequent than prostate, breast, and lung cancer and less deadly than lung cancer - and in United States Hispanics - where CRC incidence is surpassed by that of prostate and breast cancer and more people die from lung cancer than from CRC^[2,3]. Although the exact cause remains unknown, this disparity is likely due to a complex interplay between several factors, such as differences in genetic admixture and environment. Facilitating an accurate diagnosis of CRC and its precursor lesions in Puerto Ricans could help mitigate the disparate incidence and mortality of CRC.

CRC encompasses several different modalities of cancer, ranging from familial syndromes to colitisassociated malignancy to sporadic cancer. The latter two serve as an example of how the same pathology can arise through different pathways: sporadic CRC arises from adenomatous polyps that progress to carcinoma, also known as the adenoma-carcinoma sequence. In contrast, colitis-associated colorectal cancer (CAC) begins with the chronic inflammation characteristic of inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD), such as ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease, and progresses to dysplasia and subsequently carcinoma, also known as the colitis-dysplasia-carcinoma sequence (Figure 1A)^[4]. Dysplasia is a definite neoplastic change of the intestinal epithelium that does not penetrate the basement membrane^[5-7]. The architectural changes that define colitis-associated dysplasia are analogous to those seen in adenomatous polyps^[5]. Although dysplasia is currently the best marker of CRC risk in IBD, the wide range of variability between observers has led to a rising need for more reliable criteria and markers of cancer risk^[8]. Interestingly, the prevalence of IBD in Puerto Rico has recently been estimated to be one of the highest among Hispanic groups^[9], and Hispanics display phenotypic differences in the manifestations of IBD when compared to nonhispanic whites^[10]. These two points emphasize the existence of differences not only between Hispanics and non-Hispanics but also between different Hispanic populations, thus indicating a need for studies that investigate disease processes in specific populations.

Much attention has been paid to signaling pathways and their components because of their involvement in carcinogenesis and their potential as therapeutic targets^[11]. The substance P-neurokinin-1





Figure 1 Histologic images depicting stages in the colitis-dysplasia-cancer progression of colitis-associated cancer. A: Colitis-associated colorectal cancer (CAC) is thought to arise through the chronic colitis-dysplasia-carcinoma sequence; B: Examples of immunohistochemistry scoring for phosphorylated epidermal growth factor receptor (pEGFR; top row) and vitamin D receptor (VDR; bottom row). A score of 0 indicates minimal or absent staining, whereas a score of 3 indicates strongest staining for a particular antibody. For pEGFR, the pictures scored as 0, 1, 2, and 3 correspond to tissues with a diagnosis of normal, inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), sporadic dysplasia, and sporadic colorectal cancer (CRC), respectively. For VDR, the pictures scored as 0, 1, 2, and 3 correspond to tissues with a diagnosis of sporadic dysplasia, sporadic colorectal cancer, IBD, and normal, respectively. Scale bars = 100 µm.

receptor-epidermal growth factor receptor (SP-NK-1R-EGFR) pathway is of particular interest, since previous studies from our laboratory have shown that signaling components involved in these pathways are up-regulated in rat models of chronic inflammation and colitis-associated neoplasia^[12-15]. SP and its endogenous receptor, NK-1R, are known to play a pivotal role in the pathophysiology of intestinal inflammation and are also involved in many processes related to oncogenesis^[16,17]. Binding of SP and NK-1R causes transactivation of the EGFR, with subsequent activation of other pathways, such as Raf/MEK/ERK and PI3K/ PDK/Akt, which can lead to increased inflammation and proliferation, along with decreased apoptosis and differentiation^[18,19]. A downstream product of several of these pathways is cyclooxygenase-2 (Cox-2), an isozyme involved in the synthesis of prostaglandins. The expression of Cox-2 is normally minimal under basal conditions but is increased when it is stimulated by inflammatory cytokines, growth factors, and endotoxins^[20].

There has been increasing awareness regarding the possible importance of vitamin D levels in various cancers, including CRC^[21]. Interestingly, binding of calcitriol (1,2-dihydroxycholecalciferol, the active form of vitamin D) to the vitamin D receptor (VDR) has been shown to block the EGFR and to inhibit several of its pathways (particularly, Raf/MEK/ERK), resulting in an increase in apoptosis and a decrease in proliferation and angiogenesis^[22].

Previous studies have assessed the expression of several of the aforementioned signaling components in chronic colitis and in CRC. Levels of NK-1R, EGFR, and Cox-2 have been shown to be elevated both in patients with colitis and in patients with CRC^[17,23-27]. VDR levels have been shown to be decreased in patients with colitis but either minimally expressed or over-expressed in CRC^[21,28]. Importantly, little is known regarding the expression of these proteins during dysplasia. Furthermore, no study to date has investigated the expression pattern of these proteins in either Puerto Ricans or United States Hispanics. A unique expression pattern for these proteins in dysplasia could further elucidate their potentially critical roles in the development of cancer. Therefore, the aim of this study was to determine and compare the expression of NK-1R, pEGFR, Cox-2, and VDR in patients with sporadic and colitis-associated colorectal neoplasia and how it compares to that found in normal tissues and in patients with IBD, in samples obtained from a Puerto Rican population. This knowledge could be of great use for the further identification of reliable

Table 1 Patient sex and age distribution						
Diagnosis	Sex	Mean age (range, yr)				
Normal	3 M + 2 F	63.2 (42-75) ^b				
IBD	4 M + 1 F	34.6 (23-56)				
Dysplasia	3 M + 2 F	68.8 (52-76) ^b				
Cancer	3 M + 2 F	73.6 (60-83) ^b				
CAC	3 M + 3 F	57.5 (40-77) ^a				

 ${}^{a}P < 0.05$, ${}^{b}P < 0.01$, IBD patients *vs* normal, sporadic dysplasia, sporadic cancer, and CAC patients. CAC: Colitis-associated colorectal cancer; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease; M: Male; F: Female (*n* = 5-6 patients per group).

Table 2 Colitis-associated colorectal cancer patient information							
Sample ID	IBD diagnosis	Duration of disease (yr)	Sex	Age (yr)	Graph symbol		
1	UC	9	Μ	61	•		
2	UC	7	Μ	61	•		
3	CD	20	F	49	A		
4	UC	27	F	40	▼		
5	UC	35	Μ	57	•		
6	UC	57	F	77	*		

Graph symbol indicates the unique symbol used to identify each patient in Figures 2B-5B. Duration of disease indicates duration at the time of biopsy. IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease; UC: Ulcerative colitis; CD: Crohn's disease.

markers of cancer risk and of potential therapeutic targets in a population where CRC is the deadliest cancer.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Use of human subjects and Institutional Review Boards approval

This study was carried out in compliance with all NIH regulations concerning the Protection of Human Subjects and human tissue specimens were approved for use by Institutional Review Boards (IRB) as follows. The Ponce School of Medicine and Health Sciences Institutional Review Board approved this study under IRB protocol 080506-CA and the University of Puerto Rico Medical Sciences Campus Institutional Review Board approved this study under IRB 1250112. Both institutional review boards waived the need for informed consent given that the samples were existing archived pathological specimens which were de-identified, and thus did not contain any identifiable information that could be linked to the subjects.

Patients and tissue samples

Archived pathology laboratory samples, embedded in paraffin and devoid of personal information, were obtained from pathology laboratories of local hospitals. Samples (paraffin blocks) of colonic tissue from 26 different patients were randomly selected by laboratory staff for each of the following diagnoses: normal (n = 5), IBD (n = 5), dysplasia (n = 5), cancer (n = 5) and CAC (n = 6; Table 1). Patients with a histopathologic diagnosis of CAC in biopsy or surgical specimens were identified in the UPR Center for Inflammatory Bowel Diseases database (Table 2). Corresponding archived paraffin-embedded tissue blocks were retrieved from UPR School of Medicine Pathology Laboratory and de-identified by two pathologists (WGM and CGK), with the identification list saved for re-identification. All blocks were transferred to the Gastrointestinal Research Laboratory at Ponce School of Medicine and Health Sciences. Tissue sections from each of the selected samples were stained with hematoxylin and eosin in order for an independent pathologist (AAI) to confirm the diagnosis.

Immunohistochemistry

Tissue sections were deparaffinized in two 15-min Hemo-De xylene-substitute baths. Graded ethanol dilutions and distilled water were used for tissue rehydration. Hydrogen peroxide (3%, aqueous) was used to block endogenous peroxidase activity. After washing with phosphate-buffered saline, antigen retrieval was achieved by placing sections in citrate-EDTA buffer (10 mmol/L; 2 mmol/L EDTA, 0.05% Tween 20, pH 6.2) at 95 ℃-99 ℃ for 40 min and at room temperature for 20 min. Sections were then washed with distilled water for 2 min (twice), phosphate-buffered saline for 5 min, and normal serum (Biogenex, San Ramon, CA) for 15 min before overnight incubation with the primary antibody. Antibodies used included NK-1R (sc-15323; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, dilution 1:100), pEGFR (#2236; Cell Signaling Technology, dilution 1:400), Cox-2 (#160106; Cayman Chemical Co., dilution 1:200), and VDR (Ab3508; Abcam Inc, dilution 1:2000). Secondary antibody was added to the sections for 20 min using the Super Sensitive Link-Label IHC Detection System (Biogenex, San Ramon, CA); sections were incubated with the biotinylated secondary antibody for 20 min and then with a streptavidin-peroxidase conjugate for 20 min. 3,3-Diaminobenzidine chromogen solution (Biogenex, San Ramon, CA) was used to achieve color development. Tissue sections were counterstained with hematoxylin for 20 s, dehydrated with graded ethanol dilutions, cleared with xylene, and mounted with a xylene-based mounting medium. Pictures were taken of representative areas containing the diagnosis of interest for each sample and blindly scored by three observers. A four-point scale ranging from 0 to 3 was used to assign scores according to staining intensity. In this scale, a score of 0 corresponds to the lightest, or absence of, staining, whereas 3 corresponds to the strongest staining for a particular antibody (Figure 1B). Additionally, areas diagnostic of IBD, dysplasia (mild, moderate, and severe), and cancer in tissue from CAC patients were photographed and scored.



WJG www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Expression of neurokinin-1 receptor in colonic tissue. A: Neurokinin-1 receptor (NK-1R) expression in tissue from normal, inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), sporadic dysplasia, sporadic colorectal cancer, and colitis-associated colorectal cancer (CAC) patients (n = 5 patients per group); B: Expression of NK-1R in different diagnostic areas found within tissue from CAC patients. Each patient is identified by a unique symbol (Table 2). IHC: Immunohistochemistry.

Statistical analysis

Graphpad Prism V6.0a (Graphpad Software, San Diego, CA) was used to perform all statistical analyses. One-way analysis of variance and post hoc multiple comparisons tests were used to determine the statistical significance of the measured variables. A Tukey-Kramer multiple comparisons test was used to analyze differences between age distributions in the five patient groups. Dunnett's multiple comparisons tests were used to analyze differences in protein expression. Pearson's product-moment correlation coefficient was used to analyze the associations between expression of the four proteins measured. A difference was considered significant if P < 0.05. Data presented as mean \pm SE.

RESULTS

There were no significant differences in gender between groups. As might be expected, IBD patients were significantly younger than normal, sporadic dysplasia, sporadic cancer, and CAC patients (P < 0.01, P < 0.01, P < 0.01, and P < 0.05 respectively; Table 1). There were no significant differences in age between any of the other groups.

NK-1R levels are increased in colonic neoplasia

All diagnoses showed higher NK-1R expression when compared to normal tissues, although this failed to reach statistical significance (Figure 2A). NK-1R levels doubled in sporadic cancer and CAC when compared to normal. In normal tissues, staining was found in the glands and surface epithelium. In IBD, staining was found predominantly in the columnar cells of the glands, with some additional staining in the surface epithelium (in 40% of the samples). Sporadic dysplasia stained predominantly in the cytoplasm of columnar cells of the glands, whereas in sporadic cancer the staining was mostly found in the cytoplasm of poorly differentiated cancer cells. In CAC, staining was mainly observed in the cytoplasm of transformed glandular epithelial cells, and did not vary significantly between different diagnostic areas (Figure 2B).

pEGFR levels are significantly increased in sporadic and colitis-associated colorectal cancer

For pEGFR, a 15-fold increase and a 19-fold increase in expression were observed in IBD (1.00 ± 0.10) and sporadic dysplasia (1.27 ± 0.34) , respectively, when compared to normal patients (0.07 ± 0.07 ; Figure 3A). Patients with sporadic cancer or CAC had significantly higher expression levels than those found in normal tissues (P < 0.05 and P < 0.001, respectively). In normal tissues, minimal to no staining was found, with only one sample showing nonspecific staining in the surface epithelium. Staining in IBD, sporadic dysplasia, sporadic cancer, and CAC tissues was observed in the columnar cells of the glands, mainly in the cytoplasm. Areas of cancer within CAC tissue had higher levels of pEGFR than other diagnostic areas present, but these differences were not statistically significant (Figure 3B). Figure 1B (top row) shows an example of pEGFR staining.

Cox-2 levels are significantly increased in sporadic colorectal cancer

Cox-2 expression had an increasing trend similar to that of pEGFR, with higher expression occurring with worsening diagnosis. In patients with sporadic cancer, levels more than doubled (2.20 ± 0.23) and were significant when compared with normal tissues (P < 0.05; Figure 4A). Cox-2 levels in CAC tissue were

Isidro RA et al. NK-1R, pEGFR, Cox-2, and VDR in neoplasia



Diagnostic area

Figure 3 Expression of phosphorylated epidermal growth factor receptor in colonic tissue. A: Phosphorylated epidermal growth factor receptor (pEGFR) expression in tissue from normal, inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), sporadic dysplasia, sporadic colorectal cancer, and colitis-associated colorectal cancer (CAC) patients (n = 5 patients per group except CAC, where n = 6). ^aP < 0.05and ^bP < 0.01 vs normal; B: Expression of pEGFR in different diagnostic areas found within tissue from CAC patients. Each patient is identified by a unique symbol (see Table 2). IHC: Immunohistochemistry.

not as elevated as in tissues with sporadic cancer. No significant differences were found between the other groups. In normal tissues, staining was observed in the glands and surface epithelium, when present. Tissues from patients with IBD, sporadic dysplasia, sporadic cancer, and CAC showed staining in the columnar cells of the glands, mainly in the cytoplasm. In CAC tissues, Cox-2 expression did not vary significantly between different diagnostic areas (Figure 4B) and negatively correlated with increased disease duration (r = -0.87, P < 0.05).

VDR levels are significantly decreased in sporadic neoplasia of colonic epithelium

The highest levels of VDR expression were found in normal tissues. In patients who had been diagnosed



Figure 4 Expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in colonic tissue. A: Cyclooxygenase-2 (Cox-2) expression in tissue from normal, inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), sporadic dysplasia, sporadic colorectal cancer, and colitis-associated colorectal cancer (CAC) patients (n = 5 patients per group except CAC, where n = 6). ^aP < 0.05 vs normal; B: Expression of Cox-2 in different diagnostic areas found within tissue from CAC patients. Each patient is identified by a unique symbol (Table 2). IHC: Immunohistochemistry.

with sporadic dysplasia, no expression was found (P < 0.001 vs normal), with minimal VDR expression occurring in sporadic CRC (P < 0.001 vs normal; Figure 5A). VDR levels in CAC tissue were significantly higher than those of sporadic dysplasia and cancer (P < 0.001) and more similar to those found in IBD and normal tissue. Normal tissues stained in the cytoplasm of the columnar cells of the glands. In IBD tissues, staining was found in the cytoplasm of the columnar cells of the glands and the acute inflammatory cell infiltrate. In sporadic cancer, 4 out of 5 tissues had no staining in the glands; 3 of these had light staining limited to inflammatory infiltrate within the areas of necrosis. Only 1 of the samples had slight staining in the columnar cells of the glands. In CAC, staining was mostly in the cytoplasm of glandular epithelial cells and inflammatory lamina



Figure 5 Expression of vitamin D receptor in colonic tissue. A: Vitamin D receptor (VDR) expression in tissue from normal, inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), sporadic dysplasia, sporadic colorectal cancer, and colitis-associated colorectal cancer (CAC) patients (n = 5 patients per group except CAC, where n = 6). ^aP < 0.001 vs normal and ^bP < 0.001 vs CAC; B: Expression of VDR in different diagnostic areas found within tissue from CAC patients. Each patient is identified by a unique symbol (see Table 2). IHC: Immunohistochemistry.

propria cells and was consistent across the different diagnostic areas (Figure 5B). Figure 1B (bottom row) shows an example of VDR staining.

VDR levels negatively correlate with NK-1R and pEGFR levels in colonic epithelium

Statistical tests showed that VDR expression had a significant negative correlation with NK-1R (r = -0.48) and pEGFR (r = -0.56) expression (P < 0.05) when CAC tissue was excluded. These associations were lost when analysis included results from CAC tissue.

DISCUSSION

Our laboratory has previously studied the role of NK-1R, EGFR, Cox-2, and VDR in a rat model of colitisassociated dysplasia and cancer^[12]. We demonstrated that antagonizing either the NK-1R or the EGFR delayed progression to dysplasia, decreased Cox-2 levels, and reduced inflammation^[13,14]. Also, we demonstrated that delaying the transition to dysplasia by administering probiotics was associated with an increase in VDR expression^[29]. In the present study, we report the comparative expression patterns of NK-1R, EGFR, Cox-2, and VDR in colonic tissue from Puerto Rican patients with IBD, sporadic colorectal neoplasia, and colitis-associated colorectal neoplasia.

Prior reports have demonstrated that there is an alteration in the expression of NK-1R, pEGFR, Cox-2, and VDR both in chronic colitis and in neoplasm of the colon. However, the expression of these proteins in Hispanic patients has never been studied. Furthermore, NK-1R has been found to be increased in tissue from patients with IBD and colon cancer^[30,31]. Here, we showed that NK-1R levels were increased in colonic inflammation and neoplasia samples from Puerto Rican patients, although these results were not significantly different, most likely due to the small sample size. Finding tissue from Puerto Rican patients with colitis-associated dysplasia or cancer was extremely difficult. After 2 years of actively seeking said tissue, we were able to find only those tissues that were used in this study. Curiously, NK-1R levels in sporadic dysplasia did reach statistical significance, but only if the CAC group was excluded. Nevertheless, our results suggest that NK-1R is a relevant player in colonic inflammation and neoplasia in Puerto Rican patients. Gillespie et al^[32] demonstrated that a truncated form of NK-1R, rather than its fulllength counterpart, is increased in colectomy tissue from patients with CAC who were treated at the Boston University Medical Center. Our present study, however, seems to indicate that levels of the fulllength NK-1R were increased in both sporadic and colitis-associated colorectal neoplasia tissue samples from Puerto Rican patients.

The role of EGFR in inflammatory and malignant pathologies of the colon has long been known: Sottili et al^[24] demonstrated that EGFR is upregulated in experimental colitis, and Malecka-Panas et al^[25] demonstrated that EGFR is increased in the colonic mucosa of patients with ulcerative colitis, adenomatous polyps, and CRC, The relevance of EGFR in CRC is such that anti-EGFR antibodies are currently being used as adjuvant therapy in metastatic CRC. Our current findings in samples from Puerto Rican patients are consistent with the aforementioned studies: pEGFR is increased in colonic inflammation and neoplasia, with significantly elevated levels found in tissue from both sporadic CRC and CAC. It is interesting to note that the increased pEGFR expression does not exactly match the increase in NK-1R levels. This suggests that a factor other than NK-1R may account for the marked increase seen in CAC. One possibility is that, in Puerto Rican patients, EGFR might become an oncogene in the colitis-dysplasia-carcinoma sequence

of CAC through a mechanism different from that which takes place in the adenoma-carcinoma sequence of sporadic CRC. Our present findings also suggest that therapies directed against EGFR might be of benefit to Puerto Rican CAC patients, thus warranting further investigation. Our findings also underscore the necessity to include different ethnic groups in clinical trials, since these may respond differently to the same treatment.

In ulcerative colitis, Cox-2 expression is up-regulated in the inflamed mucosa, and there is evidence showing an overexpression of Cox-2 in cancer tissues, suggesting an important role in tumorigenesis^[26,27,33,34]. Several epidemiological studies have found that these levels are reduced in individuals with CRC who are taking non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs^[35]. Our findings show that, although expression is increased in tissue from IBD and CAC patients, Cox-2 levels are highest in sporadic CRC. Intriguingly, Cox-2 levels in CAC patients negatively correlated with disease duration, leading us to speculate that medications used to ameliorate the inflammation of IBD could alter the expression of Cox-2. Unfortunately, we were unable to confirm this suspicion due to the limited patient information available to us.

VDR is expressed in early-stage neoplasias but is repressed in high-grade and metastatic cancers^[28,36]. Wada et al^[21] (2009) demonstrated that VDR expression decreases in ulcerative colitis, dysplasia, and cancer. We have also shown that, in Puerto Rican patients, there is a significant decrease in VDR expression in sporadic dysplasia and in CRC, but not in CAC, when compared to normal tissue. In sporadic CRC, it is highly likely that without VDR, calcitriol cannot regulate the EGFR-related pathways, resulting in uncontrolled proliferation in the absence of differentiation and apoptosis^[22]. Although the exact cause of the reduced VDR expression is yet to be elucidated, one possibility is that cellular signaling events may culminate in the nuclear translocation of certain factors that inhibit the transcription of the VDR gene. A possible candidate is SNAIL, a transcription factor that represses VDR expression and whose upregulation in colonic tumors has been associated with VDR downregulation^[37]. Intriguingly VDR levels in CAC were not significantly lower than those seen in normal or IBD tissues. Although it has been reported that VDR can negatively regulate EGFR-related pathways^[22], this does not seem to be the case in CAC, since both VDR and pEGFR are overexpressed. Perhaps another factor is affecting VDR expression in CAC. Although vitamin D deficiency is common among patients with IBD^[38], the effect of this deficiency on colonic VDR expression is not clear. A possible explanation may lie in the different molecular mechanisms responsible for the development of CAC and sporadic CRC. Cancerassociated mutant p53 can affect VDR-mediated transcriptional activation and repression^[39]. Both CAC and sporadic CRC tend to have p53 mutations; however, these mutations tend to occur at later stages in sporadic CRC and at very early stages in CAC^[4]. Therefore, the long-term effects of mutant p53 could be responsible for the increased VDR levels seen in Puerto Rican patients with CAC.

To our knowledge, this study is the first to address NK-1R, pEGFR, Cox-2, and VDR expression in Puerto Ricans or any other Hispanic group. It is also one of the few studies to examine and compare changes in expression for these proteins in sporadic and colitis-associated neoplasia. Doing so allowed us to determine the expression pattern for these proteins in IBD, sporadic dysplasia, sporadic CRC, and CAC. Of particular interest is the differential expression of pEGFR and VDR in sporadic CRC. Negative or weak immunohistochemical staining for VDR and strong immunohistochemical staining for pEGFR in colonic gland cytoplasm in conjunction with architectural changes can be very useful in distinguishing areas of sporadic colonic dysplasia from cancer and from non-neoplastic changes. These stains can further help the pathologist pinpoint the regions in which the presence of atypical mitosis and/or invasion will render a diagnosis of malignancy, and absence of these findings will establish the diagnosis of dysplasia. This should greatly aid in reducing inter-observer variability in establishing these crucial diagnoses, and, by doing so, may help mitigate the current disparity in CRC incidence and mortality between Puerto Ricans and the general United States population. Unfortunately, these changes are not as useful in colitis-associated neoplasia. Whether these findings are limited to Puerto Rican patients or generalizable to other Hispanic groups or the general population remains to be determined. Finally, although inflammation is involved in sporadic neoplasia^[40] as well as in colitis-associated colorectal neoplasia, our findings further emphasize the different molecular events underlying the pathogenesis of sporadic CRC and CAC.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Preliminary data from this study were previously communicated at the Annual Meeting of the American Gastroenterological Association (New Orleans, 2010), Experimental Biology 2011 (Washington DC, 2011) and Experimental Biology 2013 (Boston, 2013). The authors would like to thank Alcira Benitez Barros, Victor Rodríguez Rapale, and Antonio Ramírez for their technical assistance and Rasa G. Hamilton (Moffitt Cancer Center) for her editorial assistance.

COMMENTS

Background

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the deadliest cancer in the Puerto Rican population and the second deadliest cancer in both the general United States population and in United States Hispanics. Signaling components of the substance



P (SP)-neurokinin-1 receptor (NK-1R)-epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) pathway are involved in development of intestinal inflammation and in processes related to oncogenesis. Calcitriol and the vitamin D receptor (VDR) can regulate EGFR and its pathways and may antagonize the neoplastic process.

Research frontiers

Expression of these signaling components has not been examined in Puerto Ricans or United States Hispanics, populations where colorectal cancer is one of the deadliest cancers, in colon tissues with cancer and/or with the different histopathological changes that lead up to cancer. This knowledge might be important for CRC prevention and treatment.

Innovations and breakthroughs

This is the first study to address the expression of NK-1R, pEGFR, Cox-2, and VDR in colonic tissue from Puerto Rican patients. In these patients, pEGFR was significantly increased in sporadic and colitis-associated colorectal cancer (CAC), Cox-2 was significantly increased in sporadic CRC, and VDR was significantly decreased in sporadic dysplasia and sporadic CRC. Overall, VDR levels negatively correlated with NK-1R and pEGFR in tissues without CAC.

Applications

These findings suggest that, in these patients, NK-1R and pEGFR immunohistochemical positivity together with VDR immunohistochemical negativity could be used to identify areas of neoplastic change in sporadic colorectal neoplasia, with changes in VDR immunoreactivity distinguishing CAC from sporadic cancer.

Terminology

Sporadic CRC is the type of cancer of the colon and rectum that tends to develop in the general population after the age of 50. In contrast, CAC is a type of colorectal cancer that arises in patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). The risk of developing CAC increases with the duration, extent, and severity of colonic inflammation. Dysplasia of the colon and rectum is defined as a neoplastic change of the epithelium that is not invasive, and therefore non-cancerous or benign. Nonetheless, dysplastic epithelium may eventually become cancerous, and therefore malignant and invasive. Neoplasia includes both benign changes, such as dysplasia, and malignant changes, such as CRC.

Peer-review

In this article, the authors compared for the expression of NK-1R, pEGFR, Cox-2, and VDR with sporadic colorectal neoplasia, colitis, and colitisassociated colorectal neoplasia from a Puerto Rican population. The findings suggest that NK-1R and pEGFR immunohistochemical positivity together with VDR immunohistochemical negativity could be used to identify areas of neoplastic change in sporadic colorectal neoplasia, with changes in VDR immunoreactivity distinguishing CAC from sporadic cancer. This is a well-written paper containing interesting results which merit publication.

REFERENCES

- Figueroa-Vallés NR, Ortiz-Ortiz KJ, Villanueva-Rosa E, Traverso-Ortiz M, Torres-Cintrón CR, Suárez-Ramos T. Cancer in Puerto Rico, 2004-2009. San Juan, PR, 2012
- 2 American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures 2013. Atlanta, 2013: 10-13
- 3 American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures for Hispanics/ Latinos 2012-2014. Atlanta, 2012: 3-8
- 4 Ullman TA, Itzkowitz SH. Intestinal inflammation and cancer. Gastroenterology 2011; 140: 1807-1816 [PMID: 21530747 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.01.057]
- 5 Harpaz N, Polydorides AD. Colorectal dysplasia in chronic inflammatory bowel disease: pathology, clinical implications, and pathogenesis. *Arch Pathol Lab Med* 2010; **134**: 876-895 [PMID: 20524866 DOI: 10.1043/1543-2165-134.6.876]
- 6 Harpaz N, Ward SC, Mescoli C, Itzkowitz SH, Polydorides AD. Precancerous lesions in inflammatory bowel disease. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol* 2013; 27: 257-267 [PMID: 23809244 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpg.2013.03.014]
- 7 Riddell RH, Goldman H, Ransohoff DF, Appelman HD, Fenoglio CM, Haggitt RC, Ahren C, Correa P, Hamilton SR, Morson BC. Dysplasia in inflammatory bowel disease: standardized classification

with provisional clinical applications. *Hum Pathol* 1983; **14**: 931-968 [PMID: 6629368 DOI: 10.1016/S0046-8177(83)80175-0]

- 8 Farraye FA, Odze RD, Eaden J, Itzkowitz SH. AGA technical review on the diagnosis and management of colorectal neoplasia in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 2010; 138: 746-774, 774.e1-e4; quiz e12-e13 [PMID: 20141809 DOI: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2009.12.035]
- 9 Vendrell R, Venegas HL, Pérez CM, Morell C, Roman RV, Torres EA. Differences in prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in Puerto Rico between commercial and government-sponsored managed health care insured individuals. *Bol Asoc Med P R* 2013; 105: 15-19 [PMID: 23882984]
- 10 Damas OM, Jahann DA, Reznik R, McCauley JL, Tamariz L, Deshpande AR, Abreu MT, Sussman DA. Phenotypic manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease differ between Hispanics and non-Hispanic whites: results of a large cohort study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2013; 108: 231-239 [PMID: 23247580 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2012.393]
- Itzkowitz SH. Molecular biology of dysplasia and cancer in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterol Clin North Am* 2006; 35: 553-571 [PMID: 16952740 DOI: 10.1016/j.gtc.2006.07.002]
- 12 Santiago C, Pagán B, Isidro AA, Appleyard CB. Prolonged chronic inflammation progresses to dysplasia in a novel rat model of colitis-associated colon cancer. *Cancer Res* 2007; 67: 10766-10773 [PMID: 18006820 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1418]
- 13 Pagán B, Isidro AA, Coppola D, Chen Z, Ren Y, Wu J, Appleyard CB. Effect of a neurokinin-1 receptor antagonist in a rat model of colitis-associated colon cancer. *Anticancer Res* 2010; 30: 3345-3353 [PMID: 20944107]
- 14 Pagán B, Isidro AA, Cruz ML, Ren Y, Coppola D, Wu J, Appleyard CB. Erlotinib inhibits progression to dysplasia in a colitis-associated colon cancer model. *World J Gastroenterol* 2011; 17: 4858-4866 [PMID: 22171126 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v17.i44.4858]
- 15 Appleyard CB, Morales M, Percy WH. Regional variations in neurokinin receptor subtype contributions to muscularis mucosae and epithelial function in rat colon. *Dig Dis Sci* 2006; **51**: 506-516 [PMID: 16614960 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-006-3163-6]
- 16 Koon HW, Zhao D, Na X, Moyer MP, Pothoulakis C. Metalloproteinases and transforming growth factor-alpha mediate substance P-induced mitogen-activated protein kinase activation and proliferation in human colonocytes. *J Biol Chem* 2004; **279**: 45519-45527 [PMID: 15319441 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M408523200]
- 17 Esteban F, Muñoz M, González-Moles MA, Rosso M. A role for substance P in cancer promotion and progression: a mechanism to counteract intracellular death signals following oncogene activation or DNA damage. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* 2006; 25: 137-145 [PMID: 16680578 DOI: 10.1007/s10555-006-8161-9]
- 18 Castagliuolo I, Valenick L, Liu J, Pothoulakis C. Epidermal growth factor receptor transactivation mediates substance P-induced mitogenic responses in U-373 MG cells. *J Biol Chem* 2000; 275: 26545-26550 [PMID: 10846186 DOI: 10.1074/jbc. M003990200]
- 19 Witsch E, Sela M, Yarden Y. Roles for growth factors in cancer progression. *Physiology* (Bethesda) 2010; 25: 85-101 [PMID: 20430953 DOI: 10.1152/physiol.00045.2009]
- 20 Habib A, Créminon C, Frobert Y, Grassi J, Pradelles P, Maclouf J. Demonstration of an inducible cyclooxygenase in human endothelial cells using antibodies raised against the carboxyl-terminal region of the cyclooxygenase-2. *J Biol Chem* 1993; 268: 23448-23454 [PMID: 8226870]
- 21 Wada K, Tanaka H, Maeda K, Inoue T, Noda E, Amano R, Kubo N, Muguruma K, Yamada N, Yashiro M, Sawada T, Nakata B, Ohira M, Hirakawa K. Vitamin D receptor expression is associated with colon cancer in ulcerative colitis. *Oncol Rep* 2009; 22: 1021-1025 [PMID: 19787215 DOI: 10.3892/or_00000530]
- 22 **Deeb KK**, Trump DL, Johnson CS. Vitamin D signalling pathways in cancer: potential for anticancer therapeutics. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2007; 7: 684-700 [PMID: 17721433 DOI: 10.1038/nrc2196]
- 23 Goode T, O'Connell J, Anton P, Wong H, Reeve J, O'Sullivan GC, Collins JK, Shanahan F. Neurokinin-1 receptor expression

in inflammatory bowel disease: molecular quantitation and localisation. *Gut* 2000; **47**: 387-396 [PMID: 10940277 DOI: 10.1136/gut.47.3.387]

- 24 Sottili M, Sternini C, Reinshagen M, Brecha NC, Nast CC, Walsh JH, Eysselein VE. Up-regulation of transforming growth factor alpha binding sites in experimental rabbit colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1995; 109: 24-31 [PMID: 7797021 DOI: 10.1016/0016-5085(95)9 0265-1]
- 25 Malecka-Panas E, Kordek R, Biernat W, Tureaud J, Liberski PP, Majumdar AP. Differential activation of total and EGF receptor (EGF-R) tyrosine kinase (tyr-k) in the rectal mucosa in patients with adenomatous polyps, ulcerative colitis and colon cancer. *Hepatogastroenterology* 1997; 44: 435-440 [PMID: 9164515]
- 26 O'Sullivan MG, Chilton FH, Huggins EM, McCall CE. Lipopolysaccharide priming of alveolar macrophages for enhanced synthesis of prostanoids involves induction of a novel prostaglandin H synthase. *J Biol Chem* 1992; 267: 14547-14550 [PMID: 1634505]
- 27 Eberhart CE, Coffey RJ, Radhika A, Giardiello FM, Ferrenbach S, DuBois RN. Up-regulation of cyclooxygenase 2 gene expression in human colorectal adenomas and adenocarcinomas. *Gastroenterology* 1994; 107: 1183-1188 [PMID: 7926468]
- 28 Kure S, Nosho K, Baba Y, Irahara N, Shima K, Ng K, Meyerhardt JA, Giovannucci EL, Fuchs CS, Ogino S. Vitamin D receptor expression is associated with PIK3CA and KRAS mutations in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2009; 18: 2765-2772 [PMID: 19789368 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-09-0490]
- 29 Appleyard CB, Cruz ML, Isidro AA, Arthur JC, Jobin C, De Simone C. Pretreatment with the probiotic VSL#3 delays transition from inflammation to dysplasia in a rat model of colitis-associated cancer. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2011; **301**: G1004-G1013 [PMID: 21903764 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00167.2011]
- 30 ter Beek WP, Biemond I, Muller ES, van den Berg M, Lamers CB. Substance P receptor expression in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Determination by three different techniques, i.e., storage phosphor autoradiography, RT-PCR and immunohistochemistry. *Neuropeptides* 2007; **41**: 301-306 [PMID: 17602742 DOI: 10.1016/ j.npep.2007.05.002]
- 31 Rosso M, Robles-Frías MJ, Coveñas R, Salinas-Martín MV, Muñoz M. The NK-1 receptor is expressed in human primary gastric and colon adenocarcinomas and is involved in the antitumor action of L-733,060 and the mitogenic action of substance P on human gastrointestinal cancer cell lines. *Tumour Biol* 2008; 29:

245-254 [PMID: 18781096 DOI: 10.1159/000152942]

- 32 Gillespie E, Leeman SE, Watts LA, Coukos JA, O'Brien MJ, Cerda SR, Farraye FA, Stucchi AF, Becker JM. Truncated neurokinin-1 receptor is increased in colonic epithelial cells from patients with colitis-associated cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2011; 108: 17420-17425 [PMID: 21969570 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1114275108]
- 33 Wu WK, Sung JJ, Lee CW, Yu J, Cho CH. Cyclooxygenase-2 in tumorigenesis of gastrointestinal cancers: an update on the molecular mechanisms. *Cancer Lett* 2010; 295: 7-16 [PMID: 20381235 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2010.03.015]
- 34 Wang D, Dubois RN. The role of COX-2 in intestinal inflammation and colorectal cancer. *Oncogene* 2010; 29: 781-788 [PMID: 19946329 DOI: 10.1038/onc.2009.421]
- 35 Harris RE. Cyclooxygenase-2 (cox-2) blockade in the chemoprevention of cancers of the colon, breast, prostate, and lung. *Inflammopharmacology* 2009; 17: 55-67 [PMID: 19340409 DOI: 10.1007/s10787-009-8049-8]
- 36 Matusiak D, Murillo G, Carroll RE, Mehta RG, Benya RV. Expression of vitamin D receptor and 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1{alpha}-hydroxylase in normal and malignant human colon. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2005; 14: 2370-2376 [PMID: 16214919 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-05-0257]
- 37 Larriba MJ, Muñoz A. SNAIL vs vitamin D receptor expression in colon cancer: therapeutics implications. *Br J Cancer* 2005; 92: 985-989 [PMID: 15770204 DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6602484]
- 38 Pappa HM, Grand RJ, Gordon CM. Report on the vitamin D status of adult and pediatric patients with inflammatory bowel disease and its significance for bone health and disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2006; 12: 1162-1174 [PMID: 17119391 DOI: 10.1097/01. mib.0000236929.74040.b0]
- 39 Stambolsky P, Tabach Y, Fontemaggi G, Weisz L, Maor-Aloni R, Siegfried Z, Shiff I, Kogan I, Shay M, Kalo E, Blandino G, Simon I, Oren M, Rotter V. Modulation of the vitamin D3 response by cancer-associated mutant p53. *Cancer Cell* 2010; **17**: 273-285 [PMID: 20227041 DOI: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.11.025]
- 40 Grivennikov SI, Wang K, Mucida D, Stewart CA, Schnabl B, Jauch D, Taniguchi K, Yu GY, Osterreicher CH, Hung KE, Datz C, Feng Y, Fearon ER, Oukka M, Tessarollo L, Coppola V, Yarovinsky F, Cheroutre H, Eckmann L, Trinchieri G, Karin M. Adenoma-linked barrier defects and microbial products drive IL-23/IL-17-mediated tumour growth. *Nature* 2012; **491**: 254-258 [PMID: 23034650 DOI: 10.1038/nature11465]

P- Reviewer: Esmat S, Fei BY, Luo HS, Ozen H S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu XM







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1759 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1759-1764 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

Beta-7 integrin controls enterocyte migration in the small intestine

Elke Kaemmerer, Paula Kuhn, Ursula Schneider, Thomas Clahsen, Min Kyung Jeon, Christina Klaus, Julia Andruszkow, Michael Härer, Sabine Ernst, Angela Schippers, Norbert Wagner, Nikolaus Gassler

Elke Kaemmerer, Paula Kuhn, Ursula Schneider, Min Kyung Jeon, Christina Klaus, Julia Andruszkow, Michael Härer, Nikolaus Gassler, Institute of Pathology, RWTH Aachen University, 52074 Aachen, Germany

Elke Kaemmerer, Thomas Clahsen, Angela Schippers, Norbert Wagner, Department of Pediatrics, RWTH Aachen University, 52074 Aachen, Germany

Sabine Ernst, Department of Medical Statistics, RWTH Aachen University, 52074 Aachen, Germany

Author contributions: Kaemmerer E, Klaus C and Gassler N designed the research; Kaemmerer E, Kuhn P, Schneider U, Clahsen T and Jeon M performed the research; Andruszkow J, Härer M and Ernst S contributed analytic tools; Kaemmerer E, Clahsen T, Klaus C, Schippers A, Wagner N and Gassler N wrote the paper; Kaemmerer E and Kuhn P contributed equally.

Supported by Partially by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, DFG GA 785/5-1 and Deutsche Krebshilfe, GA 109313.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Nikolaus Gassler, Professor, Institute of Pathology, RWTH Aachen University, Pauwelsstraße 30, 52074 Aachen, Germany. ngassler@ukaachen.de

Telephone: +49-241-8088897 Fax: +49-241-8082439 Received: May 22, 2014 Peer-review started: May 22, 2014 First decision: June 10, 2014 Revised: July 8, 2014 Accepted: July 24, 2014 Article in press: July 25, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To hypothesize that beta-7 integrin affects cellular

migration of both, lymphocytes and enterocytes.

METHODS: The nucleoside analog BrdU was *ip* injected in beta-7-deficient mice (C57BL/6-Itgb^{tmlcgn}/J) of male gender and age-matched male C57BL/J J mice (wild type) 4, 20, or 40 h before analysis. The total small intestine was isolated, dissected, and used for morphometrical studies. BrdU-positive epithelial cells were numbered in at least 15 hemi-crypts per duodenum, jejunum, and ileum of each animal. The outer most BrdU-positive cell (cell^{max}) was determined per hemi-crypt, numerically documented, and statistically analysed.

RESULTS: Integrins containing the beta-7-chain were exclusively expressed on leukocytes. In the small intestinal mucosa of beta-7 integrin-deficient mice the number of intraepithelial lymphocytes was drastically decreased. Moreover, the Peyer's patches of beta-7 integrin-deficient mice appeared hypoplastic. In beta-7 integrin-deficient mice the location of cell^{max} was found in a higher position than it was the case for the controls. The difference was already detected at 4 h after BrdU application, but significantly increased with time (40 h after BrdU injection) in all small intestinal segments investigated, *i.e.*, duodenum, jejunum, and ileum. Migration of small intestinal enterocytes was different between the experimental groups measured by cell^{max} locations.

CONCLUSION: The E-cadherin beta-7 integrin pathway probably controls migration of enterocytes within the small intestinal surface lining epithelial layer.

Key words: Barrier function; Cell migration; Inflammatory bowel disease; Integrin; Intercellular junctions

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Integrins are involved in migration of epithelial



and non-epithelial cells. beta-7-chain integrins are exclusively expressed on leukocytes and important for homing of lymphocytes into the intestinal mucosa. In beta-7 integrin-deficient mice, the number of intraepithelial lymphocytes is drastically decreased and accompanied by a significant increase in enterocyte migration along the crypt-villus axis. This phenomenon is probably mediated by the E-cadherin beta-7 integrin pathway.

Kaemmerer E, Kuhn P, Schneider U, Clahsen T, Jeon MK, Klaus C, Andruszkow J, Härer M, Ernst S, Schippers A, Wagner N, Gassler N. Beta-7 integrin controls enterocyte migration in the small intestine. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1759-1764 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1759.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1759

INTRODUCTION

Intestinal surface lining epithelial cells include enterocytes, goblet cells, enterochromaffine cells, M-cells, and Paneth cells. All of these cell types are continuously replaced within a couple of days. This process is supported by cellular migration along the cryptvillus axis (CVA) or crypt-plateau axis^[1-3]. Enterocyte migration essentially contributes to configuration and homeostasis of the intestinal mucosal barrier and plays a pivotal role in mucosal healing after inflammatory or non-inflammatory injuries^[4]. It is suggested that in the intestine differentiation and behaviour of epithelial cells are modified by lymphoid cells^[5,6].

A plethora of molecular mechanisms and pathways is involved in coordination of epithelial and non-epithelial cell movement^[7,8]. Important steps in cellular migration are G-protein-mediated cellular polarisation with local increase in phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate, activation of Rho GTPases, and a synergism of actin polymerisation with the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein/WASP-family verprolinhomologous protein and Arp2/3-complex forming lamellipodia, filopodia, podosomes or invadopodia^[9-12].

Integrins are trans-membrane cell adhesion receptors connecting the extra- and intracellular environments by binding to ligands or structures outside the cell and cytoskeletal components or signalling molecules inside the cell^[13]. They are heterodimers, consisting of non-covalently associated alpha and beta chains. The composition of diverse alpha and beta subunits determines the plasticity and diversity in ligand recognition and signalling of integrins^[14]. The integrin binding specificity is determined by the extracellular domain recognizing diverse matrix ligands including fibronectin, collagen, and laminin. Modification of the integrin heterodimer repertoire can cause altered cellular migration, including more invasive phenotypes^[8]. Size, morphology, and location of integrin-based adhesions strongly depend on the

cell type and its environment. Several beta subunits are preferentially expressed by immune cells. Especially, beta-2 and beta-7 integrins are exclusively found on leukocytes^[13].

Beta-7 integrin can form heterodimers with either the alpha4 or the alphaE subunit. Beta-7 integrins were characterized as important molecular structures in formation of the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT)^[15]. Alpha-4 beta-7 integrin binds to mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1 (MAdCAM-1), which is constitutively expressed on intestinal endothelial cells and facilitates the retention of lymphocytes in the gut epithelium *via* E-cadherin^[16]. Whereas beta-7 integrin-deficient mice display a significant reduction of intra-epithelial lymphocytes (IELs), lamina propria lymphocytes, hypoplasia of Peyer' s patches, and a reduced number of IgA- and IgMproducing cells in the small intestine, alphaE integrindeficient mice exhibit reduced numbers of IELs^[17].

Here we concentrate on a detailed evaluation of the impact of beta-7 integrin on enterocyte migration in the small intestinal mucosa of mice.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Beta-7 integrin-deficient mice

For the present study beta-7-deficient mice (C57BL/6-Itgb^{tmlcgn}/J^[15]) of male gender and age-matched male C57BL/J J mice (wild type) were used. All animals were bred at the core facility of the University Hospital Aachen under specific pathogen-free conditions. In order to analyse intestinal epithelial cellular migration, all mice received a single ip injection of the nucleoside analog BrdU (30 μ g/g mouse; Applichem, Cheshire, CT) 4, 20, or 40 h before sacrificing. All procedures were approved by the authority for environment conservation and consumer protection of the state North Rhine-Westfalia (LANUV, Germany).

Tissue preparation

After sacrificing, the total small intestine was isolated and dissected. Afterwards, the intestinal tissues (duodenum, jejunum, and ileum) were fixed for 24 h in neutral buffered formalin and automatically processed to paraffin. A binocular loupe was used for orthogonal orientation of tissues in paraffin. From each paraffin-embedded tissue block, sections of 3-5 μ m were performed and stained with hematoxylineosin (HE).

Tissue morphometry

For morphometric procedures, tissue sections were inspected with a Nikon Eclipse 80i microscope (Nikon, Düsseldorf, Germany). Up to 50 hemi-crypts per animal were evaluated (about 15 hemi-crypts per duodenum, jejunum, and ileum). Criteria for small intestinal hemi-crypts were adapted from a previously published study^[18]: (1) a single epithelial layer is visible from crypt basis to villus tip; (2) crypt basis



without any distension; (3) open crypt lumen; (4) between crypt and villus a small plateau is visible; (5) crypt height 1/4 to 1/3 of the total CVA; and (6) in each villus, the lamina propria mucosae is visible.

Immunohistochemistry

Serial sections of morphologically proved intestinal tissues were prepared and immunostained against BrdU^[2]. After blocking, DNA-incorporated BrdU was detected with anti-BrdU antibodies (GE Healthcare, Freiburg, Germany). Antibody-binding was visualized with the MOM Kit and DAB as a chromogen (both from Vector, Burlingame, United States). Anti-CD3 immunostainings were performed using a rabbit polyclonal anti-CD3 antibody (Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom) in a dilution 1:100. For antibody detection the ImmPRESS system (Vector, Burlingame, CA) and DAB as chromogen were applied.

Measurement of epithelial cell migration

For each animal BrdU-positive, epithelial cells were numbered in 50 hemi-crypts per animal along the small intestine (about 15 hemi-crypts per duodenum, jejunum, and ileum) following previously published procedures^[1,2]. BrdU-positive epithelial cells were characterized with "1", BrdU-negative epithelial cells with "0". In each hemi-crypt, the outer most BrdUpositive cell (cell^{max}) was determined and numerically documented. Histomorphological evaluations were performed by two morphologically experienced investigators (Kuhn P and Gassler N) using a Nikon Eclipse 80i microscope (Nikon).

Statistical analysis

For each time point of the study three animals per group ($n_{ij} = 3$) were used. Data of 50 hemi-crypts per small intestine (about 15 hemi-crypts per duodenum, jejunum, and ileum) and animal were summarized and the median was calculated. The same data were used for the analysis of variance reflecting mouse type and time course (4, 20 or 40 h). Data were processed using Excel-based algorithms and SAS-based procedures. Standard deviations of the means were indicated by error bars. *P*-values of less than 0.05 were considered significant.

RESULTS

Diminished intra-epithelial lymphocytes in beta-7 integrin-deficient mice

Using HE-stained tissue sections, small intestinal histomorphology of beta-7 integrin-deficient mice and wild types littermates was compared. In both groups, the basal tissue architecture was preserved throughout the small intestine (duodenum, jejunum, and ileum) including mucosa, submucosa, muscularis propria, and serosa. However, the number of IELs was significantly reduced in all small intestinal segments



Figure 1 Number of intra-epithelial lymphocytes is diminished in beta-7 integrin-deficient mice. Histological sections of the jejunum from beta-7 integrin-deficient mice (A and B) as well as age-matched male C57BL/J J mice (C and D) are shown. In the HE stainings (A and C) characteristic intra-epithelial lymphocytes are highlighted by arrows. Anti-CD3 immunostainings are shown (B and D). Original magnification, × 400. 1: Tunica mucosa; 2: Tela submucosa; 3: Muscularis propria.

of beta-7 integrin-deficient mice when compared to controls (Figure 1). In addition, the Peyer's patches of beta-7 integrin-deficient mice appeared hypoplastic. These findings were in high accordance with the original description of an injured GALT in beta-7 integrin-deficient mice^[15].

Increased enterocyte migration in beta-7 integrindeficient mice

To evaluate migration of small intestinal enterocytes *in vivo* we used the BrdU-assay established by Potten *et al*^[1,2]. Beta-7 integrin-deficient mice and controls were sacrificed 4, 20 or 40 h after BrdU application. Location of cell^{max} along the CVA was morphometrically evaluated in 50 hemi-crypts throughout the small intestine of each animal (about 15 hemi-crypts per duodenum, jejunum, and ileum) (Figure 2).

In the small intestinal mucosa of beta-7 integrindeficient mice, the location of cell^{max} was found in a significantly higher position than it was the case for the controls (Figure 3). The difference was already detected at 4 h after BrdU application, but significantly increased with time (40 h after BrdU injection; *P*-value < 0.05). The differences observed were





Figure 2 Morphometrical approach for evaluation of enterocyte migration. Formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded small intestinal tissues of beta-7 integrindeficient mice or wild type mice were anti-BrdU immunostained. BrdU was injected 4, 20, or 40 h before sacrificing mice. Red dots illustrate examples of cell^{max} location. The insets at 4 h illustrate staining results. Original magnification, × 200.



Figure 3 Enterocyte migration is accelerated in beta-7 integrin-deficient mice. Cell^{max} locations summarized from duodenum, jejunum, and ileum of beta-7 integrin-deficient mice (white) and wild type littermates (black) 4, 20, 40 h after BrdU application (three animals per group). ^a*P* < 0.05 between group.

identical in all small intestinal segments investigated, *i.e.*, duodenum, jejunum, and ileum.

DISCUSSION

Cellular migration is a fundamental phenomenon which is determined by a plethora of molecules and regulated by diverse molecular pathways^[10]. In the intestine, migration of epithelial and non-epithelial cells is essential for integrity as well as maintenance of the intestinal mucosal barrier and important to establish intestinal immunity^[19-21].

Integrins are important players in establishment

of cellular migration^[8,13]. Integrins containing the beta-7 subunit are exclusively expressed on leukocytes and important for cell trafficking as well as homing and retention of lymphocytes into the intestinal mucosa^[13,15,22]. It has been shown that beta-7 integrins bind MAdCAM-1, which is found on endothelial cells in small venules, and E-cadherin, which is strongly expressed by enterocytes^[23].

In the present study we evaluated the influence of a loss of beta-7 integrin, which is essential for homing and retention of lymphocytes within the mucosal epithelial layer, on the continuous migration of enterocytes. The study was focussed on the small intestine where configuration of the GALT is more essential than in the colorectum.

Our study gives evidence that both establishment of the GALT and enterocyte migration are affected in the small intestinal mucosa of beta-7 integrindeficient mice. The finding that these animals display diminished numbers of IELs is in line with several previous studies^[13,15,23]. The finding that the injured configuration of IELs in the mucosa of beta-7 integrin knockout mice is additionally associated with a significant increase in enterocyte migration, which is likely secondary to the lymphocyte homing defect, is new.

In view with the literature, the E-cadherin beta-7 integrin pathway could be a molecular basis for an increased enterocyte migration in beta-7 integrin knockout mice^[23]. Binding of lymphocytes to epithelial cells is strongly mediated by a molecular link between alphaE beta-7 integrin and E-cadherin^[16]. In addition, E-cadherin - the major constituent of adherens

junctions - is preferentially involved in the configuration of apical junctional complexes and a major prerequisite for cell as well as tissue polarization. Ultra-structurally, E-cadherin binds intracellular to catenins (*e.g.*, betacatenin, p120, and plakoglobin) which link E-cadherin activities to the actin cytoskeleton^[24]. Disturbed E-cadherin function has been linked to diverse pathological processes and diseases involving an injured intestinal homeostasis and barrier function^[25,26].

A crucial role of E-cadherin in migration of enterocytes was recently shown^[27]. Using the BrdU technique they demonstrated that loss of E-cadherin was associated with a significant increase in cell migration and development of cell death. In view with these data, epithelial cell migration within the intestinal mucosa is probably modified by several mechanisms including the composition of epithelial and non-epithelial cell types and the integrity of E-cadherin/adherens junctions. In a putative dynamic model, epithelial migration at the intestinal surface is probably lower in heterologue systems (epithelium with normal or increased IELs; e.g., wild type mice) than in homologue systems (epithelium without or low IELs; e.g., beta-7 integrin knockout mice) or adherens junction-defect systems (loss of E-cadherin/catenins; e.q., conditionally inactivated Cdh1 gene in intestinal epithelia). This point of view is further substantiated by the observation that with an increasing content of goblet cells within the surface epithelial layer (heterologue system) enterocyte migration diminishes from the small intestine (turnover time 48.3 h) to colon (83.5 h) and rectum (101.2 h)^[2]. The present study does not rule out the possibility that other molecular mechanisms than a disturbed beta-7 integrinmediated enterocyte - lymphocyte communication exists determining the migration defects. However, further studies are necessary to investigate the impact of cellular composition within the intestinal epithelial layer to enterocyte migration and its putative role in pathophysiological circumstances including inflammatory and non-inflammatory intestinal disorders.

In conclusion, our study demonstrates that beta-7 integrin is not only involved in regulating homing and retention of lymphocytes but also in regulating migration of enterocytes within the small intestine surface lining epithelium.

COMMENTS

Background

Beta-7 integrins determine the migration of lymphocytes into the lamina propria and facilitate formation of the gut-associated lymphoid tissue. AlphaE beta-7 integrin mediates the retention of lymphocytes in the gut epithelium *via* E-cadherin. The intercellular protein is strongly synthesized by enterocytes.

Research frontiers

A significant reduction of intra-epithelial lymphocytes, lamina propria lymphocytes, hypoplasia of Peyer's patches, and a reduced number of IgA- and IgM-producing cells are found in the small intestine of beta-7 integrin-deficient mice. In this study, the authors demonstrate that beta-7 integrin deficiency

probably affects enterocyte migration.

Innovations and breakthroughs

Recent reports have highlighted the importance of beta-7 integrins in configuration the gut-associated lymphoid tissue and lymphocyte migration. This is the first study demonstrating that beta-7 integrin deficiency is associated with a disturbed enterocyte migration. Loss of beta-7 integrin accelerates enterocyte migration along the crypt-villus axis probably mediated *via* the E-cadherin beta-7 integrin pathway.

Applications

The observation that beta-7 integrin affects enterocyte migration could be crucial for the better understanding how immunological mechanisms modulate intestinal barrier configuration.

Terminology

Integrins are proteins involved in cell-cell as well as cell-matrix cross talks. They are found in several classes and isoforms. Beta-7 integrins are exclusively expressed on leukocytes and important for cell trafficking as well as homing and retention of lymphocytes.

Peer-review

In this study, the authors attempt to demonstrate that beta-7 integrin controls enterocyte migration within the small intestinal surface lining epithelial layer. They have used beta-7 integrin deficient mice for this study.

REFERENCES

- Potten CS, Loeffler M. Stem cells: attributes, cycles, spirals, pitfalls and uncertainties. Lessons for and from the crypt. *Development* 1990; 110: 1001-1020 [PMID: 2100251]
- 2 Potten CS, Kellett M, Roberts SA, Rew DA, Wilson GD. Measurement of in vivo proliferation in human colorectal mucosa using bromodeoxyuridine. *Gut* 1992; 33: 71-78 [PMID: 1740282 DOI: 10.1136/gut.33.1.71]
- 3 Stange DE, Clevers H. Concise review: the yin and yang of intestinal (cancer) stem cells and their progenitors. *Stem Cells* 2013; 31: 2287-2295 [PMID: 23836510 DOI: 10.1002/stem.1475]
- 4 Becker C, Watson AJ, Neurath MF. Complex roles of caspases in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 2013; 144: 283-293 [PMID: 23219999]
- 5 Kernéis S, Bogdanova A, Kraehenbuhl JP, Pringault E. Conversion by Peyer's patch lymphocytes of human enterocytes into M cells that transport bacteria. *Science* 1997; 277: 949-952 [PMID: 9252325]
- 6 Corr SC, Gahan CC, Hill C. M-cells: origin, morphology and role in mucosal immunity and microbial pathogenesis. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 2008; 52: 2-12 [PMID: 18081850]
- 7 Friedl P, Wolf K. Plasticity of cell migration: a multiscale tuning model. *J Cell Biol* 2010; 188: 11-19 [PMID: 19951899]
- 8 Huttenlocher A, Horwitz AR. Integrins in cell migration. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2011; 3: a005074 [PMID: 21885598]
- 9 Cory GO, Ridley AJ. Cell motility: braking WAVEs. *Nature* 2002; 418: 732-733 [PMID: 12181548]
- 10 Vicente-Manzanares M, Webb DJ, Horwitz AR. Cell migration at a glance. J Cell Sci 2005; 118: 4917-4919 [PMID: 16254237 DOI: 10.1242/jcs.02662]
- 11 Kölsch V, Charest PG, Firtel RA. The regulation of cell motility and chemotaxis by phospholipid signaling. *J Cell Sci* 2008; 121: 551-559 [PMID: 18287584 DOI: 10.1242/jcs.023333]
- 12 Cain RJ, Ridley AJ. Phosphoinositide 3-kinases in cell migration. *Biol Cell* 2009; 101: 13-29 [PMID: 19055486 DOI: 10.1042/ BC20080079]
- 13 Luo BH, Carman CV, Springer TA. Structural basis of integrin regulation and signaling. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2007; 25: 619-647 [PMID: 17201681 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.1416 18]
- 14 Bouchard V, Harnois C, Demers MJ, Thibodeau S, Laquerre V, Gauthier R, Vézina A, Noël D, Fujita N, Tsuruo T, Arguin M, Vachon PH. B1 integrin/Fak/Src signaling in intestinal epithelial crypt cell survival: integration of complex regulatory mechanisms. *Apoptosis* 2008; 13: 531-542 [PMID: 18322799 DOI: 10.1007/s10495-008-0192-y]

- 15 Wagner N, Löhler J, Kunkel EJ, Ley K, Leung E, Krissansen G, Rajewsky K, Müller W. Critical role for beta7 integrins in formation of the gut-associated lymphoid tissue. *Nature* 1996; 382: 366-370 [PMID: 8684468 DOI: 10.1038/382366a0]
- 16 Cepek KL, Shaw SK, Parker CM, Russell GJ, Morrow JS, Rimm DL, Brenner MB. Adhesion between epithelial cells and T lymphocytes mediated by E-cadherin and the alpha E beta 7 integrin. *Nature* 1994; **372**: 190-193 [PMID: 7969453 DOI: 10.1038/372190a0]
- 17 Schön MP, Schön M, Warren HB, Donohue JP, Parker CM. Cutaneous inflammatory disorder in integrin alphaE (CD103)deficient mice. *J Immunol* 2000; 165: 6583-6589 [PMID: 11086102 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.11.6583]
- 18 Trbojević-Stanković JB, Milićević NM, Milosević DP, Despotović N, Davidović M, Erceg P, Bojić B, Bojić D, Svorcan P, Protić M, Dapcević B, Miljković MD, Milićević Z. Morphometric study of healthy jejunal and ileal mucosa in adult and aged subjects. *Histol Histopathol* 2010; 25: 153-158 [PMID: 20017102]
- 19 Bibiloni R, Schiffrin EJ. Intestinal Host-Microbe Interactions under Physiological and Pathological Conditions. Int J Inflam 2010; 2010: 386956 [PMID: 21152123]
- 20 Ivanov AI, Parkos CA, Nusrat A. Cytoskeletal regulation of epithelial barrier function during inflammation. *Am J Pathol* 2010; 177: 512-524 [PMID: 20581053]
- 21 Arciero JC, Mi Q, Branca MF, Hackam DJ, Swigon D. Continuum model of collective cell migration in wound healing and colony

expansion. *Biophys J* 2011; **100**: 535-543 [PMID: 21281567 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpj.2010.11.083]

- 22 Agace WW, Higgins JM, Sadasivan B, Brenner MB, Parker CM. T-lymphocyte-epithelial-cell interactions: integrin alpha(E) CD103)beta(7), LEEP-CAM and chemokines. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 2000; 12: 563-568 [PMID: 10978890]
- 23 Gorfu G, Rivera-Nieves J, Ley K. Role of beta7 integrins in intestinal lymphocyte homing and retention. *Curr Mol Med* 2009; 9: 836-850 [PMID: 19860663 DOI: 10.2174/156652409789105525]
- 24 Halbleib JM, Nelson WJ. Cadherins in development: cell adhesion, sorting, and tissue morphogenesis. *Genes Dev* 2006; 20: 3199-3214 [PMID: 17158740 DOI: 10.1101/gad.1486806]
- 25 Gassler N, Rohr C, Schneider A, Kartenbeck J, Bach A, Obermüller N, Otto HF, Autschbach F. Inflammatory bowel disease is associated with changes of enterocytic junctions. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2001; 281: G216-G228 [PMID: 11408275]
- Schulzke JD, Ploeger S, Amasheh M, Fromm A, Zeissig S, Troeger H, Richter J, Bojarski C, Schumann M, Fromm M. Epithelial tight junctions in intestinal inflammation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2009; 1165: 294-300 [PMID: 19538319 DOI: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04062. x]
- 27 Schneider MR, Dahlhoff M, Horst D, Hirschi B, Trülzsch K, Müller-Höcker J, Vogelmann R, Allgäuer M, Gerhard M, Steininger S, Wolf E, Kolligs FT. A key role for E-cadherin in intestinal homeostasis and Paneth cell maturation. *PLoS One* 2010; 5: e14325 [PMID: 21179475 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0014325]

P- Reviewer: Nihalani D, Yang PC S- Editor: Gou SX L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1765 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1765-1774 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

Sirtuin 1 in rat orthotopic liver transplantation: An IGL-1 preservation solution approach

Eirini Pantazi, Mohamed Amine Zaouali, Mohamed Bejaoui, Emma Folch-Puy, Hassen Ben Abdennebi, Ana Teresa Varela, Anabela Pinto Rolo, Carlos Marques Palmeira, Joan Roselló-Catafau

Eirini Pantazi, Mohamed Amine Zaouali, Mohamed Bejaoui, Emma Folch-Puy, Joan Roselló-Catafau, Experimental Hepatic Ischemia, Reperfusion Unit, Institute of Biomedical Research of Barcelona, Barcelona, 08036 Catalonia, Spain

Mohamed Amine Zaouali, Hassen Ben Abdennebi, Faculty of Pharmacy, Molecular Biology and Anthropology Applied to Development and Health, 5000 Monastir, Tunisia

Ana Teresa Varela, Carlos Marques Palmeira, Department of Life Sciences and Center for Neuroscience and Cell Biology, University of Coimbra, 3004-517 Coimbra, Portugal

Anabela Pinto Rolo, Department of Biology, University of Aveiro, 3810-193 Aveiro, Portugal

Author contributions: Pantazi E and Zaouali MA designed and performed the experimental work; Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Bejaoui M and Folch-Puy E provided protocols and analysed data; Zaouali MA and Bejaoui M established the animal experimental model; Varela AT, Rolo AP and Palmeira CM determined NAD+, NAMPT levels; Ben Abdennebi H, Palmeira CM and Roselló-Catafau J contributed to the critical analyses of the data; Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Folch-Puy E and Roselló-Catafau J coordinated the experiments and wrote the paper; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Supported by Fondo de Investigaciones Sanitarias, No. FIS PI12/00519; and Eirini Pantazi is the recipient of a fellowship from AGAUR, No. 2012FI_B00382, Generalitat de Catalunya, Barcelona, Catalonia, Spain.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Joan Roselló-Catafau, Professor, Experimental Hepatic Ischemia, Reperfusion Unit, Institute of Biomedical Research of Barcelona, IIBB-CSIC, C/ Rosselló 161, 7th floor, 08036 Barcelona, Spain. jrcbam@iibb.csic.es

Telephone: +34-93-3638300 Fax: +34-93-3638301 Received: August 5, 2014 Peer-review started: August 6, 2014 First decision: October 14, 2014 Revised: October 25, 2014 Accepted: November 7, 2014 Article in press: November 11, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To investigate the possible involvement of Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) in rat orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT), when Institute Georges Lopez 1 (IGL-1) preservation solution is enriched with trimetazidine (TMZ).

METHODS: Male Sprague-Dawley rats were used as donors and recipients. Livers were stored in IGL-1 preservation solution for 8h at 4 °C, and then underwent OLT according to Kamada's cuff technique without arterialization. In another group, livers were stored in IGL-1 preservation solution supplemented with TMZ, at 10^{-6} mol/L, for 8 h at 4 °C and then underwent OLT. Rats were sacrificed 24 h after reperfusion, and liver and plasma samples were collected. Liver injury (transaminase levels), mitochondrial damage (glutamate dehydrogenase activity) oxidative stress (malondialdehyde levels), and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺), the cofactor necessary for SIRT1 activity, were determined by biochemical methods. SIRT1 and its substrates (ac-FoxO1, ac-p53), the precursor of NAD⁺, nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT), as well as the phosphorylation of adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase (AMPK), p-mTOR, p-p70S6K (direct substrate of mTOR), autophagy parameters (beclin-1, LC3B) and MAP kinases (p-p38 and p-ERK) were determined by Western blot.

RESULTS: Liver grafts preserved in IGL-1 solution enriched with TMZ presented reduced liver injury and mitochondrial damage compared with those preserved in IGL-1 solution alone. In addition, livers preserved in IGL-1 + TMZ presented reduced levels of oxidative stress. This was consistent with enhanced SIRT1 protein expression and elevated SIRT1 activity, as indicated by decreased acetylation of p53 and FoxO1. The elevated SIRT1 activity in presence of TMZ can be attributed to the enhanced NAMPT protein and NAD⁺/NADH levels. Up-regulation of SIRT1 was consistent with activation of AMPK and inhibition of phosphorylation of mTOR and its direct substrate (p-p70S6K). As a consequence, autophagy mediators (beclin-1 and LC3B) were overexpressed. Furthermore, MAP kinases were regulated in livers preserved with IGL-1 + TMZ, as they were characterized by enhanced p-ERK and decreased p-p38 protein expression.

CONCLUSION: Our study shows that IGL-1 preservation solution enriched with TMZ protects liver grafts from the IRI associated with OLT, through SIRT1 up-regulation.

Key words: Sirtuin 1; Ischemia-reperfusion injury; Liver transplantation; IGL-1 preservation solution; Trimetazidine

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) has been implicated in pathways associated with ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI), but its role in rat orthotopic liver transplantation has not yet been established. In our study, SIRT1 protein expression levels and activity increased when Institut Georges Lopez 1 (IGL-1) preservation solution was supplemented with trimetazidine, which was associated with less hepatic injury and mitochondrial damage. The increased deacetylation of FoxO1 by SIRT1 agreed with less oxidative stress and the activation of the autophagy pathway. These findings support the notion that SIRT1 up-regulation may be an effective strategy for reducing IRI and improving liver transplantation outcome.

Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Bejaoui M, Folch-Puy E, Ben Abdennebi H, Varela AT, Rolo AP, Palmeira CM, Roselló-Catafau J. Sirtuin 1 in rat orthotopic liver transplantation: An IGL-1 preservation solution approach. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1765-1774 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1765.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1765

INTRODUCTION

Liver ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) can cause primary graft non-function and may lead to organ failure^[1,2]. The oxygen deprivation during ischemia provokes depletion of cellular energy, whereas the subsequent re-oxygenation during reperfusion initiates a cascade of complex pathways, including the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which in part are responsible for the subsequent induction of hepatocellular injury. Given the complexity of IRI pathophysiology, a more profound knowledge of the underlying mechanisms is needed in order to design new therapeutic strategies able to minimize its adverse effects.

SIRT1 is a histone deacetylase that either activates or suppresses the transcription activities of various non-histone proteins through its nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺)-dependent activity. SIRT1 has been associated with the pathophysiology of IRI in several organs^[3]. In fact, SIRT1 is involved in a wide variety of cellular processes, including apoptosis, cellular stress and autophagy^[4-7]. It has been reported that SIRT1 deacetylates p53, thus reducing its transcriptional activity and its ability to induce apoptosis^[8]. Forkhead box-containing protein O 1 (FoxO1) is also a target for SIRT1, and its deacetylation has been implicated in the detoxification of ROS and the promotion of autophagy^[9]. Furthermore, we have recently shown that SIRT1 activation contributes, in part, to the protective effects of liver ischemic preconditioning against IRI^[10].

Adequate liver preservation is vital for the success of transplantation, in order to maintain graft quality after cold storage. At present, University of Wisconsin (UW) solution is the most widely used preservation solution. Recent studies have demonstrated that Institute Georges Lopez 1 (IGL-1) preservation solution is a valuable alternative for liver grafts in orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT)^[11,12]. Moreover, supplementation of IGL-1 with trimetazidine (TMZ) has been shown to increase the preservation of both steatotic and non-steatotic liver grafts in an isolated and perfused "*ex vivo*" model^[13]. However, the role of SIRT1 in rat OLT when IGL-1 solutions are used has not been assessed to date.

Given that TMZ is a promising additive for increasing liver graft preservation and since SIRT1 exerts a protective role against warm IRI in the liver, the aim of this study is to investigate the potential role of SIRT1 in rat OLT when TMZ-enriched IGL-1 preservation solution is used.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Male Sprague-Dawley rats (200-250 g) were used as donors and recipients. Throughout the study, animals were housed in conventional animal facilities where temperature and humidity were controlled with a 12 h light/dark cycle. All animals had free access to water and a standard laboratory diet. All procedures were performed under isofluorane inhalation anesthesia. The experiments were approved by the Ethics Committees for Animal Experimentation (CEEA, Directive 400/12), University of Barcelona and all procedures complied with European Union regulations for animal experiments (EU guideline 86/609/EEC). Rats were randomly distributed into groups as de-



scribed below.

Experimental design

The following experimental groups were created: (1) Sham (n = 6): Animals underwent transverse laparotomy and received silk ligatures in the right suprarenal vein, diaphragmatic vein, and hepatic artery; (2) IGL-1 (n = 6): Livers were flushed and stored in IGL-1 preservation solution for 8h at 4 °C, and then underwent OLT according to Kamada's cuff technique without arterialization. Rats were sacrificed 24 h after reperfusion for liver and plasma sample collection; and (3) IGL-1 + TMZ (n = 6): Same as group 2, but livers were preserved in IGL-1 solution supplemented with trimetazidine (TMZ) at 10⁻⁶ mol/L.

Transaminase assay

Hepatic injury was assessed in terms of alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels with commercial kits from RAL (Barcelona, Spain). Briefly, plasma extracts were collected before liver extraction and centrifuged at 4 $^\circ$ for 10 min at 0.8 g. Then, 200 μ L of the supernatant was added to the substrate provided by the commercial kit. ALT levels were determined at 365 nm with a UV spectrometer (DU 800, Beckman Coulter) and calculated following the supplier's instructions^{[14]}.

Glutamate dehydrogenase activity

Glutamate dehydrogenase (GLDH) is a mitochondrial enzyme that catalyses the conversion of glutamate to 2-oxoglutarate. It was used as an indirect marker of mitochondrial damage; it was measured in plasma, as described previously^[15].

Lipid peroxidation assay

Lipid peroxidation in the liver was used as an indirect measure of the oxidative injury induced by ROS. Lipid peroxidation was determined by measuring the formation of malondialdehyde (MDA) with the thiobarbiturate reaction^[16]. Liver samples were homogenized in Tris-HCL pH = 7 and 250 μ L of trichloroacetic acid (TCA) were added to 250 μ L of liver homogenates. Then, the samples were centrifugated in 3000 rpm at 4 °C for 15 min. Then, 250 μ L of thiobarbituric acid (TBA) were added to the supernatant and were heated at 100 °C for 30 min. MDA reacted with TBA to form a pink chromogenic compound whose absorbance at 540 nm was measured. The result was expressed as nmols/mg protein.

NAD^{*}/NADH determination

NAD⁺/NADH from liver were quantified with a commercially available kit (MAK037, Sigma Chemical, St. Louis, MO, United States) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Western blot analysis

Liver tissue was homogenized in HEPES buffer as

previously described^[10]. Fifty μ g of proteins was separated on 8%-15% SDS-PAGE gels and transblotted on PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad). Membranes were then blocked for one hour with 5% (w/v) nonfat milk in T-TBS and incubated overnight at 4 °C with antibody against SIRT1 (#07-131), p-mTOR (Ser2481, #09-343), mTOR (#04-385), all purchased from Merck Millipore, Billerica, MA; ac-p53 (ab37318, abcam, United kingdom); ac-FoxO1 (D-19, sc-49437), BECN1 (H-300, sc-11427), both purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, CA, United States; p-AMPK (Thr172, #2535), p-p38 mitogen activated protein (MAP) kinase (Thr180/Tyr182, #9211), p-70S6K (Thr389, #9205), LC3B (#2775), p-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2, Thr202/Tyr204), #9101, all from Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA, NAMPT (AP22021SU, Acris Antibodies GmbH, Germany), HSP70 (610607, Transduction Laboratories, Lexington, KY) and b-actin (A5316, Sigma Chemical, St. Louis, MO, United States). Membranes were then incubated for 1 h at room temperature with the corresponding secondary antibody linked to horseradish peroxidase. Bound complexes were detected using WesternBright ECL-HRP substrate (Advansta, Barcelona, Spain) and were quantified using the Quantity One software for image analysis. Results were expressed as the densitometric ratio between the protein of interest and the loading control (b-actin).

Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as mean \pm SE. Statistical comparison was performed by variance analysis, followed by the Student-Newman-Keuls test (Graft Pad prism software). *P* < 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Liver injury and mitochondrial damage

We first determined liver and mitochondrial injury through transaminase and GLDH levels respectively in the different experimental groups. Livers preserved in IGL-1 and subjected to OLT showed the highest ALT and GLDH levels, whereas addition of TMZ to the IGL-1 solution resulted in a significant decrease in liver and mitochondrial injury in comparison with IGL-1 solution alone (Figure 1).

SIRT1, NAMPT, ac-p53 ac-FoxO1 proteins expression and NAD * levels

In order to explore the potential involvement of SIRT1 in the protective effects of TMZ on rat OLT, we first determined its protein expression pattern. SIRT1 protein expression was significantly increased when livers were preserved in IGL-1 solution compared with the Sham group (Figure 2C). Interestingly, the addition of TMZ to IGL-1 solution clearly enhanced SIRT1 expression compared with IGL-1 solution alone (Figure 2C). In view of the altered SIRT1 protein levels, we then investigated parameters associated with SIRT1 activity, such as the protein expression of





Figure 1 Alanine aminotransferase levels (A) and hepatic glutamate dehydrogenase (B) in plasma after 24 h of reperfusion. Sham: Liver harvested without transplantation; IGL-1: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution with 10-6 M Trimetazidine (TMZ). $^{\circ}P < 0.05$ vs Sham; $^{\circ}P < 0.05$ vs IGL-1. ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; GLDH: Glutamate dehydrogenase.

nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT), the NAD⁺/NADH levels, as well as the acetylation state of two direct substrates, p53 and FoxO1. As shown in Figure 2A, liver graft preservation in IGL-1 solution led to high NAMPT protein expression, which was further enhanced in case of IGL-1 supplemented with TMZ. Furthermore, NAD⁺/NADH levels were significantly reduced in both IGL-1 groups in comparison to nontreated animals (Figure 2B). However, the presence of TMZ in IGL-1 resulted in a better preservation of NAD⁺/NADH levels than the IGL-1 alone (Figure 2B). This was consistent with decreased acetylated FoxO1 and p53 protein levels in IGL-1 + TMZ group compared with IGL-1 (Figure 2D and Figure 2E respectively). These results suggest an increase in SIRT1 activity in the IGL-1 + TMZ group; therefore, the protective effect of TMZ is exerted, at least in part, through the induction of both SIRT1 expression and activation.

Oxidative stress and HSP70 protein expression

Next, we evaluated lipid peroxidation as an indicator of oxidative stress in OLT. Livers preserved in IGL-1 solution showed significantly increased MDA compared with Sham (Figure 3A). This increase was prevented by the addition of TMZ in IGL-1 solution. Moreover, livers preserved in IGL-1 solution up-regulated the levels of the cytoprotective heat shock protein 70 (HSP70), which was further enhanced in the presence of TMZ (Figure 3B).

p-AMPK and p-mTOR activation

It is known that both AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and SIRT1 regulate each other and share many common target molecules^[17]. We therefore assessed the possible involvement of AMPK activation in the protective effects of TMZ. As shown in Figure 4A, livers preserved with IGL-1 solution showed increased phosphorylated AMPK (p-AMPK). However, this AMPK activation was further enhanced in the presence of TMZ. Given that the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) activity is regulated by AMPK,

we next evaluated both phosphorylated mTOR (pmTOR) and mTOR protein levels as well as the phosphorylation levels of its direct substrate, p-p70S6K. As shown in Figure 4B and C, the addition of TMZ to IGL-1 solution significantly reduced p-mTOR/mTOR and p-p70S6k protein levels compared with IGL-1 preservation solution alone.

Autophagy: Beclin-1 and LC3B protein levels

Autophagy is a conserved cellular process that is activated under conditions of nutrient stress to promote cell survival. Given the importance of the mTOR signaling pathway in the suppression of autophagy^[18] and the fact that IGL-1 preservation solution enriched with TMZ was characterized by inactivation of both mTOR and p70S6k protein, we sought to test whether TMZ-induced SIRT1 protective effects might be mediated through the activation of autophagy. To do so, we explored the expression of beclin-1 and LC3B, two well-known proteins involved in the autophagic pathway. Both proteins presented significant upregulation in the IGL-1 + TMZ group compared with both Sham and IGL-1 group (Figure 5A, B).

MAP kinases

Finally, we explored the modulation of MAP kinases by TMZ. Here we observed increased phosphorylation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) in IGL-1 preserved livers, which was further enhanced when TMZ was added to the preservation solution (Figure 6A). Moreover, the presence of TMZ in IGL-1 solution reversed the increased phosphorylation of p38 protein levels detected in the livers preserved in IGL-1 solution (Figures 6B and 7).

DISCUSSION

The present study provides the first evidence that SIRT1 up-regulation in a rat model of OLT contributes to a better preservation of liver grafts against IRI. SIRT1 over-expression is attributed to the use of a modified IGL-1 preservation solution enriched with





Figure 2 NAMPT protein expression (A), NAD⁺/NADH levels (B), SIRT1 (C), ac-FoxO1 (D) and ac-p53 (E) protein expression in livers after 24 h of reperfusion. Sham: Liver harvested without transplantation, IGL-1: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution with 10^6 mol/L trimetazidine (TMZ). ^aP < 0.05 vs Sham; ^cP < 0.05 vs IGL-1. NAMPT: Nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase; NAD⁺: Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide; SIRT1: Sirtuin 1; FoxO1: Forkhead box-containing protein O 1; NADH: Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide.

TMZ, an anti-ischemic drug administered for the treatment of angina pectoris^[19]. In earlier work with an isolated perfused rat liver model, we already showed that TMZ addition to IGL-1 solution promotes cytoprotective markers that are induced during ischemia, such as hypoxia inducible factor- 1α through

nitric oxide generation, as well as those promoted during reperfusion, such as heme oxygenase- $1^{[13]}$. Here, we report that the addition of TMZ in IGL-1 preservation solution favors the activation of SIRT1 in rat OLT.

The increases observed in SIRT1 protein levels

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

Pantazi E et al. Involvement of Sirtuin 1 in liver transplantation



Figure 3 Malondialdehyde (A) and HSP70 protein levels (B) in livers after 24 h of reperfusion. Sham: Liver harvested without transplantation; IGL-1: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution with 10^{-6} mol/L trimetazidine (TMZ). ^aP < 0.05 vs Sham; ^cP < 0.05 vs IGL-1. MDA: Malondialdehyde.



Figure 4 Protein levels of p-AMPK (A), p-mTOR/mTOR (B) and p-p70S6k (C) in livers after 24 h of reperfusion. Sham: Liver harvested without transplantation; IGL-1: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution with 10^6 mol/L trimetazidine (TMZ). ^aP < 0.05 vs Sham; ^cP < 0.05 vs IGL-1.

WJG www.wjgnet.com



Figure 5 Protein expression of beclin-1 (A) and LC3B (II)/(I) (B) in livers after 24 h of reperfusion. Sham: Liver harvested without transplantation; IGL-1: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution with 10⁻⁶ mol/L trimetazidine (TMZ). ^aP < 0.05 vs Sham; ^cP < 0.05 vs IGL-1.



Figure 6 Protein levels of pERK (A) and p-p38 (B) in livers after 24 h of reperfusion. Sham: Liver harvested without transplantation; IGL-1: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution with 10^6 mol/L trimetazidine (TMZ). *P < 0.05 vs Sham; °P < 0.05 vs IGL-1.

were consistent with an effective prevention of liver injury and mitochondrial damage. We previously reported the protective effect of TMZ on liver damage after graft preservation, and showed that its addition to UW solution reduces liver injury and improves liver function^[20]. Our current data confirm that SIRT1 upregulation in OLT due to TMZ can be considered as a protective cellular signaling response against IRI. This finding corroborates previous reports of a protective effect for SIRT1 against IRI in different organs such as heart, kidney and brain^[21-23].

SIRT1 over-expression in liver grafts preserved in IGL-1 + TMZ was concomitant with increased levels of both NAMPT and NAD⁺. NAD⁺ is a cofactor required for SIRT1 enzymatic activity. Furthermore, it has been shown that NAMPT is the rate-limiting enzyme in the NAD⁺ biosynthetic pathway and directly regulates

SIRT1 activity in mammalian cells^[24]. NAMPT upregulation has been shown to be beneficial against cardiac IRI through preservation of NAD⁺ levels and SIRT1 regulation^[25]. Taking this into account, we suggest that in the IGL-1 + TMZ group the increased NAMPT protein levels promote NAD⁺ production, which in turn contributes to the high SIRT1 deacetylase activity. Indeed, in the same group we observed decreased levels of acetylated p53 and FoxO1, two direct substrates of SIRT1, which have been reported to be SIRT1 activity markers^[26,27]. Therefore, the TMZ protective effects observed are mediated, at least in part, by enhanced SIRT1 activity.

SIRT1 plays an important role in cellular stress, including the oxidative stress associated with IRI. FoxO1 deacetylation by SIRT1 has been linked with the capacity of FoxO1 to enhance the transcription Pantazi E et al. Involvement of Sirtuin 1 in liver transplantation



Figure 7 Schematic model of the protective effect of sirtuin 1 against ischemia-reperfusion injury associated to rat orthotopic liver transplantation. Trimetazidine (TMZ) addition to IGL-1 promotes NAMPT expression and enhances NAD+ levels, which in turn provokes SIRT1 up-regulation. SIRT1 contributes to decreased hepatic injury by inhibiting mitochondrial damage and oxidative stress, activating autophagic pathway and by enhancing p-ERK and decreasing p-p38 protein expression. SIRT1: Sirtuin 1; IRI: Ischemia-reperfusion injury; OLT: Orthotopic liver transplantation.

of anti-oxidant enzymes, thus contributing to the resistance against oxidative stress^[4,5,21]. For these reasons, we decided to explore the potential relationship between SIRT1, ac-FoxO1 and the lipid peroxidation that occurs in OLT. In the present study, we found that the significant SIRT1 induction and FoxO1 deacetylation were accompanied by marked decreases in lipid peroxidation when TMZ was added to IGL-1. Moreover, SIRT1 up-regulation in OLT may contribute to reducing hepatic vulnerability against oxidative stress and to improving the mitochondrial status during oxidative stress conditions. Our results corroborate those of Ou et al^[28] who demonstrated that over-expression of SIRT1 under oxidative stress conditions enhanced mitochondrial function in embryonic stem cells. In addition, Hsu et al^[21] demonstrated that hearts over-expressing SIRT1 were more resistant to oxidative stress in response to IRI, due, in part, to the effective FoxO1 deacetylation by SIRT1.

It is well known that increases in heat shock protein expression are involved in the protection against oxidative stress^[29]. Our results also demonstrate strong HSP70 protein expression in the IGL-1 + TMZ group. This direct connection between SIRT1 and HSP70 during liver IRI was recently reported by our group in liver ischemic preconditioning^[10].

Autophagy plays an important role in both sensing oxidative stress and removing oxidative damaged proteins and organelles^[30]. This process involves the inhibition of p-mTOR (mammalian TOR) and the subsequent inactivation of its direct substrate, p70S6k^[31]. During autophagy, specific proteins such as beclin-1 (in the initial stages of autophagosome formation) and LC3B (during autophagosome expansion) are activated^[32,33]. AMPK activation results in mTOR inhibition and subsequent autophagy activation^[31]. In addition, SIRT1 deacetylase activity has been associated with activation of AMPK, and SIRT1- mediated deacetylation of FoxO1 has also been implicated in increased autophagy^[34-36]. In our study, SIRT1 overexpression and the enhanced activity in the IGL-1 + TMZ group was concomitant with AMPK activation, reduced levels of p-mTOR/p-p70S6k, and increased autophagy (beclin-1 and LC3B). Our findings are in agreement with other investigations carried out in liver^[37-39] and kidney^[40] which have shown the protective effect of autophagy against IRI. Autophagy activation through a NAMPT/SIRT1-dependent mechanism has also been shown to be protective against cerebral ischemia^[41].

However, the role of autophagy in IRI has been controversial, as various studies have evidenced either a beneficial or detrimental role. For example Jiang et al^[40] have reported a renoprotective role of autophagy against IRI; during ischemia, autophagy can contribute to the provision of nutrients, whereas during reperfusion can eliminate damaged proteins and organelles. Similarly, Matsui et al^[42] in cardiac IRI showed that autophagy was protective during ischemia, but beclin-1 dependent autophagy activation during reperfusion was associated with cell death. Autophagy is stimulated by various factors and it still remains unknown which steps determine the decision for the survival or death. Between them, the time of ischemia seems to influence the autophagy outcome, as a prolonged ischemia time can result in excessive activation of autophagy and subsequently to cell death^[43]. In our case, autophagy is associated with decreased graft injury and thus we may suppose that eight hours of cold preservation is not sufficient

time for an excessive and detrimental activation of autophagy. More profound investigations are required in order to define the regulatory mechanisms of autophagy.

In a recent publication, we reported that SIRT1 modulates (MAP) kinases, whose activation is a consequence of oxidative stress generation associated to IRI^[16]. Here, we show that TMZ addition to IGL-1 enhances p-ERK protein levels and reduces p-p38 protein levels in comparison to IGL-1 alone. As a result, the increased SIRT1 over-expression in OLT coincided with the modulation of the MAP kinases, as reported in other studies^[44].

Taken together, our results show that TMZ exerts its protective role against IRI associated with OLT, in part, through the induction of SIRT1 protein expression and activity. We found that SIRT1 up-regulation prevented liver injury and oxidative stress and promoted liver autophagy (see Figure 7). Our findings support the benefits of pharmacological activation of SIRT1, a new therapeutic strategy for improving liver graft preservation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Michael Maudsley at the Language Advisory Service of the University of Barcelona for revising the English text.

COMMENTS

Background

Ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) is a complex but unavoidable situation during liver transplantation, which contributes to organ failure. Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) is a NAD^{*}-dependent deacetylase that regulates several cellular pathways associated with IRI, including oxidative stress and autophagy. Institut Georges Lopez 1 (IGL-1) preservation solution has been proposed as a good alternative to UW solution for the preservation of liver grafts. Moreover, the addition of trimetazidine (TMZ), an anti-ischemic drug, to both preservation solutions has been shown to improve liver graft preservation. In this study, the authors demonstrate that TMZ addition in IGL-1 solution reduces IRI associated with rat orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT) through increases in both SIRT1 protein expression and activity.

Research frontiers

SIRT1 plays an important role in several processes, including IRI. Here we report for the first time that the presence of TMZ in IGL-1 provoked elevated FoxO1 deacetylation, oxidative stress diminution and augmented autophagy and was associated with SIRT1 activation.

Innovations and breakthroughs

SIRT1 exerts a protective effect against IRI in several organs through a variety of mechanisms. However, SIRT1 involvement in models of transplantation has not been determined to date. The present study evaluated the potential role of SIRT1 in a rat OLT model. SIRT1 was up-regulated when livers were stored in IGL + TMZ preservation solution and helped to improve the protection of liver grafts against IRI, as reflected by decreases in hepatic injury, mitochondrial damage, and oxidative stress.

Applications

Pharmacological treatment in order to enhance SIRT1 activity is a promising tool for reducing the detrimental effects of IRI associated with liver transplantation.

Peer-review

This is a relevant manuscript on to date important issue as IRI in organ transplantation as well as in other clinical condition. The manuscript is well

written and the study is well conducted. The beneficial effect of adding trimetazidine on preservation solution is documented in several ways ranging from hepatic enzyme dosage to all the biological cellular expression of damage (SIRT1, ac-p53 ac-Fox O1 protein expression, to oxidative stress and HSP70 protein expression.

REFERENCES

- Casillas-Ramírez A, Mosbah IB, Ramalho F, Roselló-Catafau J, Peralta C. Past and future approaches to ischemia-reperfusion lesion associated with liver transplantation. *Life Sci* 2006; **79**: 1881-1894 [PMID: 16828807 DOI: 10.1016/j.lfs.2006.06.024]
- 2 Schemmer P, Lemasters JJ, Clavien PA. Ischemia/Reperfusion injury in liver surgery and transplantation. *HPB Surg* 2012; 2012: 453295 [PMID: 23345924 DOI: 10.1155/2012/453295]
- 3 Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Bejaoui M, Folch-Puy E, Ben Abdennebi H, Roselló-Catafau J. Role of sirtuins in ischemia-reperfusion injury. *World J Gastroenterol* 2013; 19: 7594-7602 [PMID: 24616566 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i43.7594]
- 4 Nogueiras R, Habegger KM, Chaudhary N, Finan B, Banks AS, Dietrich MO, Horvath TL, Sinclair DA, Pfluger PT, Tschöp MH. Sirtuin 1 and sirtuin 3: physiological modulators of metabolism. *Physiol Rev* 2012; 92: 1479-1514 [PMID: 22811431 DOI: 10.1152/ physrev.00022.2011]
- 5 Hori YS, Kuno A, Hosoda R, Horio Y. Regulation of FOXOs and p53 by SIRT1 modulators under oxidative stress. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e73875 [PMID: 24040102 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0073875]
- 6 Anekonda TS, Adamus G. Resveratrol prevents antibody-induced apoptotic death of retinal cells through upregulation of Sirt1 and Ku70. *BMC Res Notes* 2008; 1: 122 [PMID: 19046449 DOI: 10.1186/1756-0500-1-122]
- 7 Stein S, Schäfer N, Breitenstein A, Besler C, Winnik S, Lohmann C, Heinrich K, Brokopp CE, Handschin C, Landmesser U, Tanner FC, Lüscher TF, Matter CM. SIRT1 reduces endothelial activation without affecting vascular function in ApoE-/- mice. *Aging* (Albany NY) 2010; 2: 353-360 [PMID: 20606253]
- 8 Kim DH, Jung YJ, Lee JE, Lee AS, Kang KP, Lee S, Park SK, Han MK, Lee SY, Ramkumar KM, Sung MJ, Kim W. SIRT1 activation by resveratrol ameliorates cisplatin-induced renal injury through deacetylation of p53. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 2011; 301: F427-F435 [PMID: 21593185 DOI: 10.1152/ajprenal.00258.2010]
- 9 Calnan DR, Brunet A. The FoxO code. Oncogene 2008; 27: 2276-2288 [PMID: 18391970 DOI: 10.1038/onc.2008.21]
- 10 Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Bejaoui M, Serafin A, Folch-Puy E, Petegnief V, De Vera N, Ben Abdennebi H, Rimola A, Roselló-Catafau J. Silent information regulator 1 protects the liver against ischemia-reperfusion injury: implications in steatotic liver ischemic preconditioning. *Transpl Int* 2014; 27: 493-503 [PMID: 24472096 DOI: 10.1111/tri.12276]
- 11 Mosbah IB, Zaouali MA, Martel C, Bjaoui M, Abdennebi HB, Hotter G, Brenner C, Roselló-Catafau J. IGL-1 solution reduces endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis in rat liver transplantation. *Cell Death Dis* 2012; 3: e279 [PMID: 22402603 DOI: 10.1038/cddis.2012.12]
- 12 Ben Abdennebi H, Elrassi Z, Scoazec JY, Steghens JP, Ramella-Virieux S, Boillot O. Evaluation of IGL-1 preservation solution using an orthotopic liver transplantation model. *World J Gastroenterol* 2006; 12: 5326-5330 [PMID: 16981262 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v12. i33.5326]
- 13 Zaouali MA, Ben Mosbah I, Boncompagni E, Ben Abdennebi H, Mitjavila MT, Bartrons R, Freitas I, Rimola A, Roselló-Catafau J. Hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha accumulation in steatotic liver preservation: role of nitric oxide. *World J Gastroenterol* 2010; 16: 3499-3509 [PMID: 20653058 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v16.i28.3499]
- 14 Zaouali MA, Padrissa-Altés S, Ben Mosbah I, Ben Abdennebi H, Boillot O, Rimola A, Saidane-Mosbahi D, Roselló-Catafau J. Insulin like growth factor-1 increases fatty liver preservation in IGL-1 solution. *World J Gastroenterol* 2010; 16: 5693-5700 [PMID: 21128318 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v16.i45.5693]
- 15 **Bejaoui M**, Zaouali MA, Folch-Puy E, Pantazi E, Bardag-Gorce F, Carbonell T, Oliva J, Rimola A, Abdennebi HB, Roselló-Catafau



Pantazi E et al. Involvement of Sirtuin 1 in liver transplantation

J. Bortezomib enhances fatty liver preservation in Institut George Lopez-1 solution through adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase and Akt/mTOR pathways. *J Pharm Pharmacol* 2014; **66**: 62-72 [PMID: 24127984 DOI: 10.1111/jphp.12154]

- 16 Zaoualí MA, Reiter RJ, Padrissa-Altés S, Boncompagni E, García JJ, Ben Abnennebi H, Freitas I, García-Gil FA, Rosello-Catafau J. Melatonin protects steatotic and nonsteatotic liver grafts against cold ischemia and reperfusion injury. *J Pineal Res* 2011; 50: 213-221 [PMID: 21108657 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-079X.2010.00831.x]
- 17 Ruderman NB, Xu XJ, Nelson L, Cacicedo JM, Saha AK, Lan F, Ido Y. AMPK and SIRT1: a long-standing partnership? *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 2010; **298**: E751-E760 [PMID: 20103737 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.00745.2009]
- 18 Levine B, Kroemer G. Autophagy in the pathogenesis of disease. *Cell* 2008; **132**: 27-42 [PMID: 18191218 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.12.018]
- 19 Gupta R, Sawhney JP, Narain VS. Treatment of stable angina pectoris with trimetazidine modified release in Indian primarycare practice. *Am J Cardiovasc Drugs* 2005; 5: 325-329 [PMID: 16156688]
- 20 Ben Mosbah I, Casillas-Ramírez A, Xaus C, Serafín A, Roselló-Catafau J, Peralta C. Trimetazidine: is it a promising drug for use in steatotic grafts? *World J Gastroenterol* 2006; 12: 908-914 [PMID: 16521219 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v12.i6.908]
- 21 Hsu CP, Zhai P, Yamamoto T, Maejima Y, Matsushima S, Hariharan N, Shao D, Takagi H, Oka S, Sadoshima J. Silent information regulator 1 protects the heart from ischemia/reperfusion. *Circulation* 2010; 122: 2170-2182 [PMID: 21060073 DOI: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.110.958033]
- 22 Fan H, Yang HC, You L, Wang YY, He WJ, Hao CM. The histone deacetylase, SIRT1, contributes to the resistance of young mice to ischemia/reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury. *Kidney Int* 2013; 83: 404-413 [PMID: 23302720 DOI: 10.1038/ki.2012.394]
- 23 Hernández-Jiménez M, Hurtado O, Cuartero MI, Ballesteros I, Moraga A, Pradillo JM, McBurney MW, Lizasoain I, Moro MA. Silent information regulator 1 protects the brain against cerebral ischemic damage. *Stroke* 2013; 44: 2333-2337 [PMID: 23723308 DOI: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.001715]
- 24 Revollo JR, Grimm AA, Imai S. The NAD biosynthesis pathway mediated by nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase regulates Sir2 activity in mammalian cells. *J Biol Chem* 2004; 279: 50754-50763 [PMID: 15381699 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M408388200]
- 25 Yamamoto T, Byun J, Zhai P, Ikeda Y, Oka S, Sadoshima J. Nicotinamide mononucleotide, an intermediate of NAD+ synthesis, protects the heart from ischemia and reperfusion. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: e98972 [PMID: 24905194 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0098972]
- 26 Rebollo A, Roglans N, Baena M, Padrosa A, Sánchez RM, Merlos M, Alegret M, Laguna JC. Liquid fructose down-regulates liver insulin receptor substrate 2 and gluconeogenic enzymes by modifying nutrient sensing factors in rats. *J Nutr Biochem* 2014; 25: 250-258 [PMID: 24445051 DOI: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2013.10.014]
- 27 Tajbakhsh N, Sokoya EM. Sirtuin 1 is upregulated in young obese Zucker rat cerebral arteries. *Eur J Pharmacol* 2013; 721: 43-48 [PMID: 24113524 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2013.09.057]
- 28 Ou X, Lee MR, Huang X, Messina-Graham S, Broxmeyer HE. SIRT1 positively regulates autophagy and mitochondria function in embryonic stem cells under oxidative stress. *Stem Cells* 2014; 32: 1183-1194 [PMID: 24449278 DOI: 10.1002/stem.1641]
- 29 Chien CY, Chien CT, Wang SS. Progressive thermopreconditioning attenuates rat cardiac ischemia/reperfusion injury by mitochondriamediated antioxidant and antiapoptotic mechanisms. J Thorac

Cardiovasc Surg 2014; **148**: 705-713 [PMID: 24507988 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2013.12.065]

- Lee J, Giordano S, Zhang J. Autophagy, mitochondria and oxidative stress: cross-talk and redox signalling. *Biochem J* 2012; 441: 523-540 [PMID: 22187934 DOI: 10.1042/BJ20111451]
- 31 Inoki K, Kim J, Guan KL. AMPK and mTOR in cellular energy homeostasis and drug targets. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* 2012; 52: 381-400 [PMID: 22017684 DOI: 10.1146/annurevpharmtox-010611-134537]
- 32 **Kroemer G**, Mariño G, Levine B. Autophagy and the integrated stress response. *Mol Cell* 2010; **40**: 280-293 [PMID: 20965422 DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.09.023]
- Codogno P, Meijer AJ. Autophagy in the liver. *J Hepatol* 2013;
 59: 389-391 [PMID: 23669287 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.02.031]
- 34 Hou X, Xu S, Maitland-Toolan KA, Sato K, Jiang B, Ido Y, Lan F, Walsh K, Wierzbicki M, Verbeuren TJ, Cohen RA, Zang M. SIRT1 regulates hepatocyte lipid metabolism through activating AMPactivated protein kinase. *J Biol Chem* 2008; 283: 20015-20026 [PMID: 18482975 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M802187200]
- 35 Ng F, Tang BL. Sirtuins' modulation of autophagy. J Cell Physiol 2013; 228: 2262-2270 [PMID: 23696314 DOI: 10.1002/jcp.24399]
- 36 Hariharan N, Maejima Y, Nakae J, Paik J, Depinho RA, Sadoshima J. Deacetylation of FoxO by Sirt1 Plays an Essential Role in Mediating Starvation-Induced Autophagy in Cardiac Myocytes. *Circ Res* 2010; **107**: 1470-1482 [PMID: 20947830 DOI: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.110.227371]
- 37 Cardinal J, Pan P, Dhupar R, Ross M, Nakao A, Lotze M, Billiar T, Geller D, Tsung A. Cisplatin prevents high mobility group box 1 release and is protective in a murine model of hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Hepatology* 2009; **50**: 565-574 [PMID: 19492424 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23021]
- 38 Kim JS, Nitta T, Mohuczy D, O'Malley KA, Moldawer LL, Dunn WA, Behrns KE. Impaired autophagy: A mechanism of mitochondrial dysfunction in anoxic rat hepatocytes. *Hepatology* 2008; 47: 1725-1736 [PMID: 18311843 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22187]
- 39 Lu Z, Dono K, Gotoh K, Shibata M, Koike M, Marubashi S, Miyamoto A, Takeda Y, Nagano H, Umeshita K, Uchiyama Y, Monden M. Participation of autophagy in the degeneration process of rat hepatocytes after transplantation following prolonged cold preservation. *Arch Histol Cytol* 2005; 68: 71-80 [PMID: 15827380]
- 40 Jiang M, Liu K, Luo J, Dong Z. Autophagy is a renoprotective mechanism during in vitro hypoxia and in vivo ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Am J Pathol* 2010; **176**: 1181-1192 [PMID: 20075199 DOI: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.090594]
- 41 Wang P, Guan YF, Du H, Zhai QW, Su DF, Miao CY. Induction of autophagy contributes to the neuroprotection of nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase in cerebral ischemia. *Autophagy* 2012; 8: 77-87 [PMID: 22113203 DOI: 10.4161/auto.8.1.18274]
- 42 Matsui Y, Takagi H, Qu X, Abdellatif M, Sakoda H, Asano T, Levine B, Sadoshima J. Distinct roles of autophagy in the heart during ischemia and reperfusion: roles of AMP-activated protein kinase and Beclin 1 in mediating autophagy. *Circ Res* 2007; 100: 914-922 [PMID: 17332429 DOI: 10.1161/01.RES.0000261924.76669.36]
- 43 **Decuypere JP**, Pirenne J, Jochmans I. Autophagy in renal ischemiareperfusion injury: friend or foe? *Am J Transplant* 2014; **14**: 1464-1465 [PMID: 24730471 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12717]
- 44 Becatti M, Taddei N, Cecchi C, Nassi N, Nassi PA, Fiorillo C. SIRT1 modulates MAPK pathways in ischemic-reperfused cardiomyocytes. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2012; 69: 2245-2260 [PMID: 22311064 DOI: 10.1007/s00018-012-0925-5]

P- Reviewer: Fourtounas C, Fulop T, Salvadori M S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu XM







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1775 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1775-1783 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

Nitrite, a novel method to decrease ischemia/reperfusion injury in the rat liver

Bergthor Björnsson, Linda Bojmar, Hans Olsson, Tommy Sundqvist, Per Sandström

Bergthor Björnsson, Per Sandström, Department of Surgery, County Council of Östergötland, 581 85 Linköping, Sweden Bergthor Björnsson, Linda Bojmar, Tommy Sundqvist, Per

Sandström, Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, Linköping University, 581 85 Linköping, Sweden

Hans Olsson, Department of Pathology, County Council of Östergötland, 581 85 Linköping, Sweden

Author contributions: Björnsson B, Sundqvist T and Sandström P designed the research; Björnsson B and Bojmar L performed the research; Björnsson B, Bojmar L, Olsson H, Sundqvist T and Sandström P analyzed the data; and Björnsson B, Bojmar L, Olsson H, Sundqvist T and Sandström P wrote the paper.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Bergthor Björnsson, MD, Department of Surgery, County Council of Östergötland, Garnisonsvägen, 581 85 Linköping, Sweden. bergthor.bjornsson@lio.se

Telephone: +46-10-1030000 Fax: +46-10-1033570 Received: June 9, 2014 Peer-review started: June 10, 2014 First decision: August 6, 2014 Revised: August 24, 2014 Accepted: October 15, 2014 Article in press: October 15, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To investigate whether nitrite administered prior to ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) reduces liver injury.

METHODS: Thirty-six male Sprague-Dawley rats were randomized to 3 groups, including sham operated (n =

8), 45-min segmental ischemia of the left liver lobe (IR, n = 14) and ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) preceded by the administration of 480 nmol of nitrite (n = 14). Serum transaminases were measured after 4 h of reperfusion. Liver microdialysate (MD) was sampled in 30-min intervals and analyzed for glucose, lactate, pyruvate and glycerol as well as the total nitrite and nitrate (NOx). The NOx was measured in serum.

RESULTS: Aspartate aminotransferase (AST) at the end of reperfusion was higher in the IR group than in the nitrite group (40 ± 6.8 μ kat/L vs 22 ± 2.6 μ kat/L, P = 0.022). Similarly, alanine aminotransferase (ALT) was also higher in the I/R group than in the nitrite group (34 \pm 6 µkat vs 14 \pm 1.5 µkat, P = 0.0045). The NOx in MD was significantly higher in the nitrite group than in the I/R group (10.1 \pm 2.9 μ mol/L vs 3.2 \pm 0.9 μ mol/L, P = 0.031) after the administration of nitrite. During ischemia, the levels decreased in both groups and then increased again during reperfusion. At the end of reperfusion, there was a tendency towards a higher NOx in the I/R group than in the nitrite group (11.6 \pm 0.7 μ mol/L vs 9.2 ± 1.1 μ mol/L, P = 0.067). Lactate in MD was significantly higher in the IR group than in the nitrite group (3.37 ± 0.18 mmol/L vs 2.8 ± 0.12 mmol/ L, P = 0.01) during ischemia and the first 30 min of reperfusion. During the same period, glycerol was also higher in the IRI group than in the nitrite group (464 \pm 38 µmol/L vs 367 \pm 31 µmol/L, P = 0.049). With respect to histology, there were more signs of tissue damage in the I/R group than in the nitrite group, and 29% of the animals in the I/R group exhibited necrosis compared with none in the nitrite group. Inducible nitric oxide synthase transcription increased between early ischemia (t = 15) and the end of reperfusion in both groups.

CONCLUSION: Nitrite administered before liver ischemia in the rat liver reduces anaerobic metabolism and cell necrosis, which could be important in the clinical setting. **Key words:** Ischemia-reperfusion injury; Nitrite; Liver ischemia; Liver surgery; Microdialysis; Nitric oxide; Inducible nitric oxide synthase

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Nitric oxide has an important protective effect against liver ischemia/reperfusion injury (IRI), although large levels of the substance may increase IRI. The total levels of nitrite and nitrate decrease in the liver tissue during ischemia. Because nitrite can be reduced to nitric oxide (NO) in an acidic environment, this decrease may be due to NO formation. In this study, the administration of nitrite before liver ischemia/reperfusion reduced the IRI per evaluation with transaminases, liver microdialysis and histology.

Björnsson B, Bojmar L, Olsson H, Sundqvist T, Sandström P. Nitrite, a novel method to decrease ischemia/reperfusion injury in the rat liver. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1775-1783 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/ v21/i6/1775.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1775

INTRODUCTION

As liver surgery continues to evolve and expand with increasingly complicated resections being performed, vascular inflow control (Pringle's maneuver) is occasionally used to reduce bleeding associated with liver transection. Obstructing the vascular inflow to the liver inevitably leads to some degree of ischemia/ reperfusion injury (IRI)^[1].

It has been shown that when the availability of nitric oxide (NO) is decreased during IRI in the rat liver, there is more severe injury^[2]. On the other hand, excessive NO levels, such as those found after activation of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), seem to be detrimental to the liver during $IRI^{[3]}$. Although nitrite has mainly been considered an inert product of NO oxidation, nitrite can be reduced to NO in an acidic environment^[4]. More recently, this process has been shown to occur, which is catalyzed by deoxyhemoglobin, at physiological oxygen levels^[5]. The reduction of nitrite to NO may increase the bioavailability of NO in settings where nitric oxide synthase (NOS) does not provide NO, such as when oxygen is lacking. The administration of 48 nmol of nitrite (via intraperitoneal injection) before reperfusion decreases liver IRI (measured as the transaminase level at 24 h of reperfusion) in a mouse model^[6]. Further studies in isolated rat mitochondria have shown that the administration of nitrite may modulate mitochondrial electron transfer in a way that slows electron transport and reduces the formation of reactive oxygen species during reperfusion^[7]. This finding is consistent with the known inhibitory effects

of NO on the respiratory chain^[8-11]. The protective effect of nitrite on the mouse liver has further been supported by a study on the preservation of the mouse liver in University of Wisconsin solution or Lactated Ringer's solution with or without the addition of nitrite^[12]. In cardiac ischemia, nitrite has been shown to decrease the infarct size, reduce apoptosis and improve contractility^[13]. Inhaled NO has been investigated in human liver transplantation and shown to have some protective effect^[14,15]. In a previous study, our group showed that during liver ischemia, the total level of nitrite and nitrate (NOx) is reduced in the ischemic liver tissue and that iNOS transcription is less activated during early reperfusion in rats subjected to ischemic preconditioning (IPC) than those subjected to ischemia and reperfusion alone^[16].

The main hypothesis of this study was that intravenously administered nitrite before ischemia reduces IRI as measured by transaminase levels, microdialysis and histology during early (4 h) reperfusion. Additional hypotheses were that this reduction could be related to the reduced anaerobic metabolism that was detectable using microdialysis and that the treatment reduces iNOS transcription during the early phase of reperfusion.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study protocol and animals

The study protocol was approved by the local ethics committee for animal experiments at Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden. Thirty-six male Sprague-Dawley rats (313-444 g, Scandjur, Sollentuna, Sweden) were randomized into the following 3 groups: (1) ischemia (n = 14); (2) nitrite administered before ischemia (n = 14); and (3) sham operated (n = 8). Two minutes before a 45-min period of segmental ischemia, 480 nmol of sodium nitrite (Cayman Chemical Company; Ann Arbor, MI, United States) dissolved in saline was administered to the animals in the nitrite group by injection into the caval vein. The animals in the sham group were not subjected to ischemia, but their livers were mobilized as in the other groups. The animals were acclimatized for 1 wk at 21 °C on a 12-h light/dark cycle with free access to standard rat food pellets and tap water before the experiment.

Anesthesia, surgery, blood sampling and tissue sampling

The animals were anesthetized with isoflurane (Baxter Medical AB, Kista, Sweden), and 0.05 mg/kg of buprenorphine (Temgesic[®], Schering-Plough, Stockholm, Sweden) was administered *sc* for pain relief. The animals were intubated with a 16 G intravenous catheter (BD Venflon, Becton, Dickinson and Company, Franklin Lakes, NJ, United States) and ventilated with a Hallowell EMC Microvent 1 respirator

WJG www.wjgnet.com

(Hallowell EMC Pittsfield, MA, United States) during the experiment. The rats were monitored using a SurgiVet V3304 (Smiths Medical PM, Inc., Norwell, MA, United States), and their body temperatures were maintained within 38 °C-39 °C through the use of Animaltemp 1070 heating pads (Elmedex Elektronik HB, Uppsala, Sweden). Laparotomy was performed *via* a midline incision, and the ligament attachments of the liver were divided. Immediately after intubation and at every hour throughout the experiment, the animals received 5 mL of warm (38 °C) Ringer's acetate (Baxter Medical AB, Kista, Sweden) *sc.*

Microdialysis was carried out during the entire experiment from two separate lobes (ischemia and control) of the liver. After 15 and 40 min of ischemia and at the end of reperfusion, biopsies were taken from the ischemic lobe and stored in liquid nitrogen for later analysis. A sample of the tissue collected at the end of reperfusion was stored in formalin.

Microdialysis

CMA 20 Elite Microdialysis Probes (CMA/Microdialysis AB, Stockholm, Sweden) were inserted in both the left lateral and right lateral (control) liver lobes and perfused at a rate of 1.0 μ L/min with Perfusion fluid T1 (147 mmol/L of Na, 4 mmol/L of K, 2.3 mmol/L of Ca, and 156 mmol/L of Cl at a pH of 6 and an osmolality of 290 mosm/kg) (CMA/Microdialysis AB) from a CMA 400 Syringe Pump (CMA/Microdialysis AB). Before insertion, the probes were preperfused. After inserting the probe, 35 min were allowed for the steady state to be reached, and 20 min of baseline sampling of microdialysate was performed before ischemia was induced. During ischemia, the microdialysate was sampled in 22.5-min intervals; thereafter, the intervals were 30 min. Analyses of glucose, glycerol, lactate and pyruvate were performed instantly using the clinical bedside analyzer ISCUS (CMA/Microdialysis AB).

NOx

The sum of NO₂ and NO₃ (NOx) was analyzed in the serum and microdialysate following the instructions provided in the commercial "Nitrite/Nitrate Fluorometric Assay Kit" (Cayman Chemical Company, Ann Arbor, MI, United States). Before analysis, the serum was ultrafiltrated through a 10-kD cut-off filter (Millipore, Solna, Sweden). The microdialysate, conversely, was directly analyzed. Standard curves were plotted. For nitrate, 10 μ L of each sample was diluted in 70 μ L of assay buffer. Aliquots of 10 μ L of enzyme cofactor and 10 μ L of nitrate reductase mixture were added to the buffered sample. After 30 min of incubation at room temperature, 10 μ L of DAN (2,3-diaminonaphtalene) was added and incubated for another 10 min. For nitrite, 10 μL of each sample was diluted with 90 μL of assay buffer, and 10 μL of DAN was added. Both the nitrate and nitrite samples

were then incubated for 10 min, and 20 μ L of NaOH was added. All samples were read in threes with fluorometry using an excitation wavelength of 355 nm and an emission wavelength of 430 nm.

iNOS in the liver tissue

Ten milligrams of liver tissue (dry weight) was disrupted and homogenized in a Micro-Dismembranator (Braun Biotech, Allentown, PA, United States) at 2900 rpm for 30 s. RNA extraction was performed according to the manufacturer's protocol (Qiagene, Valencia, CA, United States); however, β -mercaptoethanol was not used. The RNA was eluted in 300 μ L of RNAsefree water; the RNA concentration was measured at 260 nm, and its purity (approximately 2.0) was read at 260/280 nm (NanoDrop, Thermo Scientific, Erembodegem, Belgium). The RNA was further stored at -70 °C until assayed. Reverse transcriptase cDNA conversion with a High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit was used on 0.5 µg RNA in a total volume of 20 μ L according to the manufacturer's protocol (Applied Biosystems, Foster City CA, United States). cDNA samples were stored at -20 °C until assayed. Samples of 2 μ L containing 50 ng cDNA $(0.025 \ \mu g/\mu L)$ were used in a total reaction volume of 20 μ L for the real-time PCR reaction. Samples were analyzed in triplicate with a Fast Master Mix and TaqMan Gene Expression Assay (Applied Biosystems) in a 7500 Fast Instrument (Applied Biosystems). The mean of the samples' Ct is normalized in the results against the mean Ct for glyceraldehyde-3-phosphatedehydrogenase, which is presented as ΔCt .

Histology

Liver sections (2 μ m) were hematoxylin-eosin stained and coded before examination by a pathologist who was blind to the experimental design. The degree of liver injury was estimated using a scoring system that evaluated the sinusoidal congestion (0-4), cytoplasmic vacuolation (0-4) and necrosis (0-2)^[17].

Statistical analysis

The data are presented as the mean \pm SE unless otherwise stated. A *P* value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. *t*-tests were used to compare the treatment groups. No statistical comparisons were made between the study groups and sham group. Statistica 8.0 software (StatSoft Inc., Tulsa, OK, United States) was used for all statistical calculations.

RESULTS

Blood analyses

Liver transaminases: After 4 h of reperfusion, higher serum AST levels (Figure 1A) were found in the I/R group, $40 \pm 6.8 \mu \text{kat/L}$, compared with the nitrite group, $22 \pm 2.6 \mu \text{kat/L}$ (P = 0.022). Similarly, the ALT levels (Figure 1B) at 4 h of reperfusion were



Björnsson B et al. Nitrite decreases rat liver IRI



Figure 1 Serum aspartate aminotransferase and alanine aminotransferase in rats. A: The serum aspartate aminotransferase (mean \pm SE) in rats subjected to 45 min of segmental (left lateral lobe) liver ischemia and 4 h of reperfusion with (nitrite, n = 14) or without (ischemia reperfusion injury, n = 14) intravenous pre-treatment with 480 nmol of nitrite and sham operated animals (n = 8). The animals treated with nitrite prior to ischemia and reperfusion had significantly lower aspartate aminotransferase (AST) levels (P = 0.022); B: The serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) (mean \pm SE) in rats subjected to 45 min of segmental (left lateral lobe) liver ischemia and 4 h of reperfusion with (nitrite, n = 14) or without (ischemia reperfusion injury, n = 14) intravenous pre-treatment with 480 nmol of nitrite and sham operated animals (n = 8). The animals treated with nitrite prior to ischemia reperfusion injury, n = 14) intravenous pre-treatment with 480 nmol of nitrite and sham operated animals (n = 8). The animals treated with nitrite prior to ischemia reperfusion injury, n = 14) intravenous pre-treatment with 480 nmol of nitrite and sham operated animals (n = 8). The animals treated with nitrite prior to ischemia and reperfusion had significantly lower AST levels (P = 0.0045). IRI: Ischemia reperfusion injury.



Figure 2 Parenchymal (microdialytic), nitrite and nitrate (mean \pm SE) in the ischemic liver lobes in rats subjected to 45 min of segmental (left lateral lobe) liver ischemia and 4 h of reperfusion with (nitrite, n = 14) or without (ischemia reperfusion injury, n = 14) intravenous pre-treatment with 480 nmol of nitrite and sham operated animals (n = 8). After the administration of nitrite, the parenchymal nitrite and nitrate (NOx) was higher than for animals that did not receive nitrite (P = 0.031). During ischemia, the levels decreased in both groups and then increased again during reperfusion. After 4 h of reperfusion, there was a trend towards higher levels in animals that were not treated with nitrite (P = 0.067). The shaded area represents the ischemic phase. IRI: Ischemia reperfusion injury.

significantly higher in the IRI group, $34 \pm 6 \mu$ kat/ L, than in the nitrite group, $14 \pm 1.5 \mu$ kat/L, (*P* = 0.0045). In the sham group, the AST and ALT levels were near normal when measured at the end of the experiment (4.4 and 3.5, respectively).

NOx: The sum of nitrite and nitrate (NOx) was measured in the serum at the end of reperfusion and was not significantly different between the groups (data not shown).

Parenchymal metabolism measured by microdialysis NOx: After the administration of nitrite, NOx in the liver tissue was higher in the nitrite group, $10.1 \pm 2.9 \mu$ mol/L, than in the I/R group, $3.2 \pm 0.9 \mu$ mol/L (P = 0.031) (Figure 2). During ischemia, the levels of NOx decreased in both groups and thereafter increased during reperfusion. At the end of 4 h of reperfusion, there was a trend towards higher levels of NOx in the I/R group, 11.6 ± 0.7 , than in the nitrite group, 9.2 ± 1.1 (P = 0.067).

Glucose: In both the I/R and nitrite groups, glucose increased approximately 2-fold (range: 6-12 mmol/L) in the ischemic lobe compared with either the control lobe or the pre-ischemic value in the ischemic lobe. No significant difference was found between the two ischemic lobes (Figure 3A). In the control lobes of the nitrite group, a significant (P < 0.001) increase (range: 6.1-7.7 mmol/L) in glucose was observed after nitrite administration. At t = 00:43 and during the first 95 min of the experiment, the glucose level was higher in the control lobes of the nitrite group (P = 0.049 and P = 0.02, respectively). Otherwise, there was a constant decrease in glucose during the experiment (Figure 3B).

Pyruvate: In the I/R group, pyruvate in the ischemic segments fell to approximately 40% of the level in the control segments at the end of ischemia. In the nitrite group, the corresponding value was 15%. In the early phase of reperfusion, there was a transient increase in the parenchymal pyruvate in both groups. There were, however, large interindividual variations in the pyruvate levels, and no significant differences were noted.

In the sham group, there were no significant differences between the two lobes in the microdialysate (data not shown).

Lactate: The lactate levels increased more than



Figure 3 Parenchymal (microdialytic) glucose. A: Parenchymal (microdialytic) glucose (mean \pm SE) in the ischemic liver lobes in rats subjected to 45 min of segmental (left lateral lobe) liver ischemia and 4 h of reperfusion with (nitrite, n = 14) or without (ischemia reperfusion injury, IRI, n = 14) intravenous pre-treatment with 480 nmol of nitrite and sham operated animals (n = 8). During ischemia, parenchymal glucose increased in both groups without any difference noted between the groups. In the reperfusion phase, there was a steady decline in the glucose levels. The shaded area represents the ischemic phase; B: Parenchymal (microdialytic) glucose (mean \pm SE) in the control (non-ischemic, right) liver lobes in rats subjected to 45 min of segmental (left lateral lobe) liver ischemia and 4 h of reperfusion with (nitrite, n = 14) or without (IRI, n = 14) intravenous pre-treatment with 480 nmol of nitrite and sham operated animals (n = 8). After the administration of nitrite, parenchymal glucose increased significantly (P < 0.001) and reached levels higher than those in the untreated group (P = 0.02).

four-fold in the ischemic lobes (4 mmol/L) compared with the control lobes (0.7 mmol/L) in the I/R group during the ischemic phase; the same pattern was observed in the nitrite group (3.3 and 1 mmol/L, respectively), although the increase had a smaller in magnitude. During ischemia and the first 30 min of reperfusion, the lactate levels were significantly higher in the IRI group than in the nitrite group (P = 0.01). At the end of ischemia (t = 01:05) and after 30 min of reperfusion (t = 01:35), there was a trend towards less lactate in the nitrite group compared with the I/R group (P = 0.053 and 0.08, respectively) (Figure 4A).

Lactate increased from 0.9 to 1.2 mmol/L (P = 0.012) in the control lobes in the nitrite group after



Figure 4 Parenchymal (microdialytic) lactate. A: Parenchymal (microdialytic) lactate (mean \pm SE) in the ischemic liver lobes in rats subjected to 45 min of segmental (left lateral lobe) liver ischemia and 4 h of reperfusion with (nitrite, n = 14) or without (ischemia reperfusion injury, IRI, n = 14) intravenous pretreatment with 480 nmol of nitrite and sham operated animals (n = 8). During ischemia, parenchymal lactate increased in both groups; during the ischemic phase and first 30 min of the reperfusion phase, the levels were higher in the untreated group (P = 0.01). The shaded area represents the ischemic phase; B: Parenchymal (microdialytic) lactate (mean \pm SE) in the control (non-ischemic, right) liver lobes in rats subjected to 45 min of segmental (left lateral lobe) liver ischemia and 4 h of reperfusion with (nitrite, n = 14) or without (IRI, n = 14) intravenous pre-treatment with 480 nmol of nitrite and sham operated animals (n = 8). After the administration of nitrite, the parenchymal lactate increased significantly (P = 0.012) and reached levels higher than those in the untreated group (P = 0.01).

the administration of nitrite, which was not observed in the I/R group. Furthermore, the lactate levels were significantly (P = 0.01) higher during the first 95 min of the experiment in the control lobes in the animals treated with nitrite than in those subjected to I/R alone (Figure 4B).

In the sham group, the lactate levels remained low and stable throughout the experiment.

Glycerol: The increase in glycerol in the ischemic lobes (range: 18-686 μ mol/L) compared with the control lobes was approximately 38-fold in the I/R

Björnsson B et al. Nitrite decreases rat liver IRI



Figure 5 Parenchymal (microdialytic) glycerol (mean \pm SE) in the ischemic liver lobes in rats subjected to 45 min of segmental (left lateral lobe) liver ischemia and 4 h of reperfusion with (nitrite, n = 14) or without (ischemia reperfusion injury, n = 14) intravenous pre-treatment with 480 nmol of nitrite and sham operated animals (n = 8). During ischemia, the parenchymal glycerol increased in both groups; during the ischemic phase and the first 30 min of the reperfusion phase, the levels were higher in the untreated group (P = 0.049). The shaded area represents the ischemic phase. IRI: Ischemia reperfusion injury.

group during the ischemic phase. The nitrite group followed a similar pattern, but the increase (range: 25-602 μ mol/L) was less pronounced than in the I/R group (24-fold). During ischemia and the first 30 min of reperfusion, the glycerol levels were significantly higher in the IRI group than in the nitrite group (P = 0.049). At the end of ischemia (t = 01:05), there was a trend towards higher glycerol in the ischemic lobes in the I/R group compared with the nitrite group (P = 0.079); a similar trend was noticed after 30 min of reperfusion (t = 01:35, P = 0.069). In the ischemic lobes, the glycerol levels returned to the levels observed in the control lobes after approximately 60 min of reperfusion. No significant changes were observed in the sham group or in the control lobes (Figure 5).

Tissue analysis

iNOS mRNA: There was no difference in the iNOS mRNA between the groups 15 min into ischemia (IRI Δ Ct = 9.3 ± 0.72, Δ Ct nitrite = 8.6 ± 0.24). In both groups, transcription was increased at the end of the experiment to Δ Ct = 3.8 ± 0.52 in the I/R group and 3.4 ± 0.26 in the nitrite group (*P* < 0.01 in both groups). There was, however, no significant difference between the groups.

Histology: The degree of liver injury was evaluated in terms of sinusoidal congestion (0-4), cytoplasmic vacuolation (0-4) and necrosis $(0-2)^{[17]}$.

For the sham animals, all scores were zero, except for 1 animal that scored 1 (10%-40% of hepatic tissue was affected) for sinusoidal congestion. In the



Figure 6 Distribution of total histological injury score. The distribution of total histological injury score in the ischemic liver lobes in rats subjected to 45 min of segmental (left lateral lobe) liver ischemia and 4 h of reperfusion with (nitrite, n = 14) or without (ischemia reperfusion injury, IRI, n = 14) intravenous pre-treatment with 480 nmol of nitrite.

I/R group (n = 14), the mean score for sinusoidal congestion was 1.29 compared with 0.86 in the nitrite group (n = 14). Five animals (36%) scored 2 or higher in the I/R group compared with 1 (7%) in the nitrite group. Similarly, the mean score for cytoplasmic vacuolization was 0.71 in the I/R group and 0.43 in the nitrite group, and 5 (36%) of the animals in the IRI group did not show signs of vacuolation compared with 8 (57%) in the nitrite group. Of the 14 animals in the I/R group, 4 (29%) had signs of necrosis by histology, whereas none were found in the nitrite group. Together, the median total score for the I/R group was 2 (0-6), and this value for the nitrite group was 1 (0-3); Figure 6 shows the distribution of the scores and Figure 7 shows the representative histologic slides for each group.

DISCUSSION

This is the first experimental study to investigate the effect of nitrite administered intravenously before a period of segmental liver I/R in rats. This study shows that nitrite reduces the systemic levels of AST and ALT after 4 h of reperfusion, improves anaerobic metabolism in the ischemic lobe (measured *via* microdialysis) and reduces the histological signs of IRI.

The administration of nitrite resulted in significantly higher NOx in the microdialysate before ischemia, indicating that the administered nitrite reached the liver parenchyma. The total NOx was markedly reduced in the liver parenchyma during ischemia in both groups. This reduction had previously been shown in animals that were not treated with nitrite in this model^[16]. The tendency towards higher NOx in the IRI group at the end of the experiment, although not statistically significant, may reflect more endogenous NO production in the



Figure 7 HE-stained liver tissue from the ischemic liver lobes in rats subjected to 45 min of segmental (left lateral lobe) ischemia and 4 h of reperfusion without pre-treatment (A), with 480 nmol of nitrite administered intravenously before ischemia (B) and sham operated (20 x magnification) (C); In 40 × magnificataion, without pre-treatment (D) and with 480 nmol of nitrite administered intravenously before ischemia (E).

I/R group during reperfusion. In the sham group, an increase in the MD NOx was noted during the experiment, which is most likely consistent with the inflammatory response to laparotomy. In the serum analysis, no differences could be found between the groups, which is consistent with our previous results and with published data from others^[6,16,18]. These findings may be explained by data indicating that nitrite is converted to NO and is bound to thiols and metals^[5,19]. Therefore, the administration of nitrite may increase the bioavailability of NO and, in that way, may reduce IRI.

Reduced iNOS transcription has been found to accompany reduced IRI when IPC and R-IPC are compared^[20]. In the present study, no significant difference was noted, although there was a tendency towards a larger increase of transcription in the I/R group. Keeping in mind that almost 30% of the liver cells showed signs of necrosis in the I/R group and, therefore, may not have been capable of inducing transcription, this could be a false-negative finding. Another possible explanation is that the protective effects of nitrite found in this study are not related to a reduction in iNOS transcription.

In previous studies, lower glucose levels in microdialysate from the ischemic liver were associated with diminished signs of IRI^[21,22]. In this study, this phenomenon was not confirmed, although the glucose levels tended to return to normal earlier in the nitrite group than they did in the I/R group (Figure

3A). Lactate was significantly higher in the ischemic lobes in the I/R group than in the nitrite group, indicating that there is reduced anaerobe metabolism when nitrite is administered. The opposite was observed in the control lobes, a finding that has not been reported in earlier IRI studies, including those using microdialysis. The increase in lactate observed in the control lobes after nitrite administration may be related to a dampening of the electron transport chain, which is in agreement with previous studies^[7,8]. Dampening of the electron transport chain will decrease the oxidative stress and may therefore be important in reducing IRI. This potential explanation is further supported by the increase in hepatic glucose found in the same control lobes, which may indicate reduced metabolism. This subtle difference was not observed in the ischemic lobe, which is perhaps due to the increased anaerobic metabolism.

Glycerol was found to be significantly higher in the I/R group than in the nitrite group during ischemia and the first 30 min of reperfusion. Although the degrees of correlation with the AST (r = 0.3) and ALT (r = 0.27) levels were low and non-significant, they are consistent with studies on IRI that have included microdialysis and indicate damage to the cellular membranes^[21,23]. Furthermore, the histological findings also indicate that the IRI is reduced with nitrite treatment administered before ischemia, and there is no necrosis in the treated animals, compared with almost one-third of the untreated animals.

Björnsson B et al. Nitrite decreases rat liver IRI

Together, these results indicate that nitrite administered before I/R reduces the IRI, and they further corroborate an earlier study on mice that showed that nitrite administered before reperfusion reduces the IRI in a dose-dependent manner^[6]. When interpreting these findings, one has to consider that the results are obtained after a short period of reperfusion; therefore, it is unclear whether the damage continues during the later phase.

Because the administration of nitrite during ischemia in the setting of liver resection would be impractical, it is important to also evaluate the effects when nitrite is administered prior to an ischemic insult, as was performed in this study. The protective effect of oral nitrite 24 h before hepatic ischemia in mice has already been established; until now, however, intravenous administration immediately prior to ischemia has not been investigated^[7]. The results presented herein support that nitrite may have a protective role against IRI when administered before an ischemic period. This could have clinical implications insofar as one of the methods used to lower the central venous pressure during liver resections in humans involves the intravenous administration of nitroglycerine^[24]. Nitroglycerine has a short half-life, and it is metabolized in the liver to nitrite, which may constitute a pool of substrate for NO production without NOS involvement^[25]. In a small, randomized study on the effect of low central venous pressure (CVP) on bleeding during hepatectomy, nitroglycerin was among the methods used to lower the CVP. The low CVP group was had lower (although nonsignificant) ALT levels postoperatively than controls, which may be attributed to the aforementioned effects of nitrite^[26].

In conclusion, the administration of nitrite before I/R reduces the biochemical and pathological signs of the IRI. This effect may have clinical implications and should be further investigated in the clinical setting.

COMMENTS

Background

When the circulation to the liver is temporarily closed (ischemia/reperfusion), as is occasionally necessary during liver surgery, there is inevitably damage to the liver. It has been shown that nitric oxide plays an important role in this process although the exact mechanisms are unknown. Furthermore, the methods to prevent this damage seem to influence the nitric oxide system.

Research frontiers

Nitrite administered into the abdomen during ischemia/reperfusion has been shown to reduce the liver damage in the mice. Furthermore, nitrite administered by the oral route in mice 24 h prior to ischemia/reperfusion has a similar effect. This novel treatment could later prove to be of value in humans, but further studies in animals are needed.

Innovations and breakthroughs

Earlier research has shown that nitrite can be reduced to nitric oxide, particularly in the acidic environment. Furthermore, nitrite and nitrate are reduced in the liver parenchyma during ischemia. This, along with findings indicating that nitrite may reduce liver damage when administered during liver ischemia/reperfusion, may indicate that pre-treatment with nitrite can prevent the damage. Until now, this has only been shown for mice. The current study

supports earlier findings as the route of administration, and the animal strain differs from the previous reports.

Applications

The findings of this basic research article add to the authors' understanding of the value of nitrite as a protective treatment against damage to the liver that is related to ischemia/reperfusion. Showing that this effect occurs in rats as well as in mice (previously shown) may serve as the foundation for further research in the area. It should be noted, however, that such treatment would not immediately be adaptable to the clinical setting.

Terminology

Ischemia/reperfusion injury (IRI) is an ill-defined term that refers to the damage in the liver when the circulation is closed and then reopened. The extent of the damage is typically measured by the levels of liver transaminases in the serum.

Peer-review

In this paper, authors aim to investigate whether nitrite administration prevents liver IRI. To reach their scope, the Authors used a rat model of liver IRI. In the animal group treated with nitrates before IRI transaminases were significantly lower, as well as anaerobic metabolism markers, than in the control or the sham-operated group. Accordingly, histopathological liver tissue sections demonstrated less injury in the treated group compared to controls.

REFERENCES

- Belghiti J, Noun R, Zante E, Ballet T, Sauvanet A. Portal triad clamping or hepatic vascular exclusion for major liver resection. A controlled study. *Ann Surg* 1996; 224: 155-161 [PMID: 8757378 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-199608000-00007]
- Köken T, Inal M. The effect of nitric oxide on ischemiareperfusion injury in rat liver. *Clin Chim Acta* 1999; 288: 55-62 [PMID: 10529458 DOI: 10.1016/S0009-8981(99)00138-2]
- 3 Tsuchihashi S, Kaldas F, Chida N, Sudo Y, Tamura K, Zhai Y, Qiao B, Busuttil RW, Kupiec-Weglinski JW. FK330, a novel inducible nitric oxide synthase inhibitor, prevents ischemia and reperfusion injury in rat liver transplantation. *Am J Transplant* 2006; 6: 2013-2022 [PMID: 16796718 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2 006.01435.x]
- 4 Zhang Z, Naughton DP, Blake DR, Benjamin N, Stevens CR, Winyard PG, Symons MC, Harrison R. Human xanthine oxidase converts nitrite ions into nitric oxide (NO). *Biochem Soc Trans* 1997; 25: 524S [PMID: 9388740]
- 5 Cosby K, Partovi KS, Crawford JH, Patel RP, Reiter CD, Martyr S, Yang BK, Waclawiw MA, Zalos G, Xu X, Huang KT, Shields H, Kim-Shapiro DB, Schechter AN, Cannon RO, Gladwin MT. Nitrite reduction to nitric oxide by deoxyhemoglobin vasodilates the human circulation. *Nat Med* 2003; **9**: 1498-1505 [PMID: 14595407 DOI: 10.1038/nm954]
- 6 Duranski MR, Greer JJ, Dejam A, Jaganmohan S, Hogg N, Langston W, Patel RP, Yet SF, Wang X, Kevil CG, Gladwin MT, Lefer DJ. Cytoprotective effects of nitrite during in vivo ischemia-reperfusion of the heart and liver. J Clin Invest 2005; 115: 1232-1240 [PMID: 15841216 DOI: 10.1172/JCI22493]
- 7 Shiva S, Sack MN, Greer JJ, Duranski M, Ringwood LA, Burwell L, Wang X, MacArthur PH, Shoja A, Raghavachari N, Calvert JW, Brookes PS, Lefer DJ, Gladwin MT. Nitrite augments tolerance to ischemia/reperfusion injury via the modulation of mitochondrial electron transfer. *J Exp Med* 2007; 204: 2089-2102 [PMID: 17682069 DOI: 10.1084/jem.20070198]
- 8 Shiva S, Gladwin MT. Nitrite mediates cytoprotection after ischemia/reperfusion by modulating mitochondrial function. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2009; 104: 113-119 [PMID: 19242636 DOI: 10.1007/ s00395-009-0009-3]
- 9 Cleeter MW, Cooper JM, Darley-Usmar VM, Moncada S, Schapira AH. Reversible inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase, the terminal enzyme of the mitochondrial respiratory chain, by nitric oxide. Implications for neurodegenerative diseases. *FEBS Lett* 1994; **345**: 50-54 [PMID: 8194600 DOI: 10.1016/0014-5793(94)0 0424-2]
- 10 Schweizer M, Richter C. Nitric oxide potently and reversibly deenergizes mitochondria at low oxygen tension. *Biochem Biophys*



Res Commun 1994; **204**: 169-175 [PMID: 7945356 DOI: 10.1006/ bbrc.1994.2441]

- 11 Brown GC, Cooper CE. Nanomolar concentrations of nitric oxide reversibly inhibit synaptosomal respiration by competing with oxygen at cytochrome oxidase. *FEBS Lett* 1994; **356**: 295-298 [PMID: 7805858 DOI: 10.1016/0014-5793(94)01290-3]
- 12 Li W, Meng Z, Liu Y, Patel RP, Lang JD. The hepatoprotective effect of sodium nitrite on cold ischemia-reperfusion injury. J Transplant 2012; 2012: 635179 [PMID: 22530108 DOI: 10.1155/20 12/635179]
- 13 Gonzalez FM, Shiva S, Vincent PS, Ringwood LA, Hsu LY, Hon YY, Aletras AH, Cannon RO, Gladwin MT, Arai AE. Nitrite anion provides potent cytoprotective and antiapoptotic effects as adjunctive therapy to reperfusion for acute myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 2008; **117**: 2986-2994 [PMID: 18519850 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.748814]
- 14 Lang JD, Teng X, Chumley P, Crawford JH, Isbell TS, Chacko BK, Liu Y, Jhala N, Crowe DR, Smith AB, Cross RC, Frenette L, Kelley EE, Wilhite DW, Hall CR, Page GP, Fallon MB, Bynon JS, Eckhoff DE, Patel RP. Inhaled NO accelerates restoration of liver function in adults following orthotopic liver transplantation. *J Clin Invest* 2007; **117**: 2583-2591 [PMID: 17717604 DOI: 10.1172/ JCI31892]
- 15 Lang JD, Smith AB, Brandon A, Bradley KM, Liu Y, Li W, Crowe DR, Jhala NC, Cross RC, Frenette L, Martay K, Vater YL, Vitin AA, Dembo GA, Dubay DA, Bynon JS, Szychowski JM, Reyes JD, Halldorson JB, Rayhill SC, Dick AA, Bakthavatsalam R, Brandenberger J, Broeckel-Elrod JA, Sissons-Ross L, Jordan T, Chen LY, Siriussawakul A, Eckhoff DE, Patel RP. A randomized clinical trial testing the anti-inflammatory effects of preemptive inhaled nitric oxide in human liver transplantation. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: e86053 [PMID: 24533048 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0086053]
- 16 Björnsson B, Winbladh A, Bojmar L, Sundqvist T, Gullstrand P, Sandström P. Conventional, but not remote ischemic preconditioning, reduces iNOS transcription in liver ischemia/reperfusion. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 9506-9512 [PMID: 25071345 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i28.9506]
- 17 Calabrese F, Valente M, Pettenazzo E, Ferraresso M, Burra P, Cadrobbi R, Cardin R, Bacelle L, Parnigotto A, Rigotti P. The protective effects of L-arginine after liver ischaemia/reperfusion injury in a pig model. J Pathol 1997; 183: 477-485 [PMID:

9496266]

- 18 Kanoria S, Jalan R, Davies NA, Seifalian AM, Williams R, Davidson BR. Remote ischaemic preconditioning of the hind limb reduces experimental liver warm ischaemia-reperfusion injury. *Br J Surg* 2006; 93: 762-768 [PMID: 16609953 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.5331]
- 19 Bryan NS, Rassaf T, Maloney RE, Rodriguez CM, Saijo F, Rodriguez JR, Feelisch M. Cellular targets and mechanisms of nitros(yl)ation: an insight into their nature and kinetics in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2004; 101: 4308-4313 [PMID: 15014175 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0306706101]
- 20 Engerson TD, McKelvey TG, Rhyne DB, Boggio EB, Snyder SJ, Jones HP. Conversion of xanthine dehydrogenase to oxidase in ischemic rat tissues. *J Clin Invest* 1987; 79: 1564-1570 [PMID: 3294898 DOI: 10.1172/JCI112990]
- 21 Björnsson B, Winbladh A, Bojmar L, Trulsson LM, Olsson H, Sundqvist T, Gullstrand P, Sandström P. Remote or conventional ischemic preconditioning--local liver metabolism in rats studied with microdialysis. *J Surg Res* 2012; **176**: 55-62 [PMID: 21962739 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2011.07.038]
- 22 Winbladh A, Björnsson B, Trulsson L, Bojmar L, Sundqvist T, Gullstrand P, Sandström P. N-acetyl cysteine improves glycogenesis after segmental liver ischemia and reperfusion injury in pigs. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2012; 47: 225-236 [PMID: 22242616 DOI: 10.310 9/00365521.2011.643480]
- Nowak G, Ungerstedt J, Wernerson A, Ungerstedt U, Ericzon BG. Hepatic cell membrane damage during cold preservation sensitizes liver grafts to rewarming injury. *J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg* 2003; 10: 200-205 [PMID: 14605976 DOI: 10.1007/s00534-002-0760-4]
- 24 Melendez JA, Arslan V, Fischer ME, Wuest D, Jarnagin WR, Fong Y, Blumgart LH. Perioperative outcomes of major hepatic resections under low central venous pressure anesthesia: blood loss, blood transfusion, and the risk of postoperative renal dysfunction. J Am Coll Surg 1998; 187: 620-625 [PMID: 9849736 DOI: 10.1016/ S1072-7515(98)00240-3]
- 25 Govoni M, Tocchetti P, Lundberg JO. Metabolism and pathways for denitration of organic nitrates in the human liver. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 2013; 346: 96-104 [PMID: 23596058 DOI: 10.1124/ jpet.113.203356]
- 26 Wang WD, Liang LJ, Huang XQ, Yin XY. Low central venous pressure reduces blood loss in hepatectomy. *World J Gastroenterol* 2006; 12: 935-939 [PMID: 16521223]

P- Reviewer: Esposito C, Touil-Boukoffa C S- Editor: Gou SX L- Editor: A E- Editor: Ma S






Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1784 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1784-1793 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

In vitro identification of nonalcoholic fatty liver diseaserelated protein hnRNPM

Jun-ichi Takino, Kentaro Nagamine, Masayoshi Takeuchi, Takamitsu Hori

Jun-ichi Takino, Kentaro Nagamine, Takamitsu Hori, Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Hiroshima International University, Hiroshima 737-0112, Japan Masayoshi Takeuchi, Department of Advanced Medicine, Medical Research Institute, Kanazawa Medical University, Ishikawa 920-0293, Japan

Author contributions: Takeuchi M designed the study and contributed experimental reagents; Takino J and Nagamine K performed the study; Nagamine K analyzed data; Takino J wrote the paper; and Hori T reviewed the paper.

Supported by Grants from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science, No. 22300264 and No. 25282029.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Masayoshi Takeuchi, PhD, Department of Advanced Medicine, Medical Research Institute, Kanazawa Medical University, 1-1 Daigaku, Uchinada-machi, Kahoku, Ishikawa 920-0293, Japan. takeuchi@kanazawa-med.ac.jp

Telephone: +81-76-2862211 Fax: +81-76-2863652 Received: July 18, 2014 Peer-review started: July 20, 2014 First decision: August 15, 2014 Revised: August 29, 2014 Accepted: October 14, 2014 Article in press: October 15, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To study the formation of intracellular glyceraldehyde-derived advanced glycation end products (Glycer-AGEs) in the presence of high concentrations of fructose. **METHODS:** Cells of the human hepatocyte cell line Hep3B were incubated with or without fructose for five days, and the corresponding cell lysates were separated by two-dimensional gradient sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Glycer-AGEs were detected with the anti-Glycer-AGEs antibody. Furthermore, the identification of the proteins that are modified by glyceraldehyde in the presence of high concentrations of fructose was conducted using matrixassisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF-MS). The protein and mRNA levels were determined by Western blotting and realtime reverse transcription PCR, respectively.

RESULTS: The results of the two-dimensional gradient sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis indicated a greater amount of Glycer-AGEs in the sample exposed to high concentrations of fructose than in the control. The detected Glycer-AGEs showed isoelectric points in the range of 8.0-9.0 and molecular weights in the range of 60-80 kDa. The heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein M (hnRNPM), which plays an important role in regulating gene expression by processing heterogeneous nuclear RNAs to form mature mRNAs, was identified as a modified protein using MALDI-TOF-MS. Increasing the concentration of fructose in the medium induced a concentration-dependent increase in the generated Glycer-AGEs. Furthermore, in an experiment using glyceraldehyde, which is a precursor of Glycer-AGEs, hnRNPM was found to be more easily glycated than the other proteins.

CONCLUSION: The results suggest that glyceraldehyde-modified hnRNPM alters gene expression. This change may cause adverse effects in hepatocytes and may serve as a target for therapeutic intervention.

Key words: Advanced glycation end-products; Fructose; Glycation; Glyceraldehyde; Heterogeneous nuclear



ribonucleoprotein M; Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Excessive intake of fructose contributes to the development of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and to the progression of the disease to nonal-coholic steatohepatitis. Fructose is metabolized to glyceraldehyde, which is a precursor of glyceraldehyde-derived advanced glycation end-products (Glycer-AGEs). We showed that intracellular Glycer-AGEs were formed in the presence of high concentrations of fructose. Additionally, heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein M (hnRNPM) was identified as one of the target proteins for glycation. These results suggest that the glyceraldehyde-modified hnRNPM resulting from the exposure of the cells to high concentrations of fructose, alters gene expression and causes adverse effects in hepatocytes.

Takino J, Nagamine K, Takeuchi M, Hori T. *In vitro* identification of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease-related protein hnRNPM. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1784-1793 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1784.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1784

INTRODUCTION

Fructose is a major component in high fructose corn syrup (HFCS) and sucrose, which are commonly used as sweeteners in beverages and processed foods. The consumption of fructose has increased over the past 40 years, and HFCS consumption has increased rapidly to replace 50% of the sucrose consumption. HFCS is cheaper than sucrose and can be transported easily; moreover, it is more effective in stabilizing the texture of some processed foods than sucrose^[1,2]. Increased fructose intake causes many adverse effects such as obesity, dyslipidemia, and insulin resistance, and contributes to the development and progression of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). NAFLDs ranging from simple steatosis to steatohepatitis include the most common liver diseases worldwide^[1-5].

Advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) are formed by the Maillard reaction, a nonenzymatic reaction between the ketones or aldehydes of sugars and the amino groups of proteins. AGEs are associated with aging and diabetes-related pathologic complications^[6,7]. This reaction begins with the conversion of reversible Schiff base adducts to more stable covalently bound Amadori rearrangement products. Over the course of days to weeks, these Amadori products undergo further rearrangement reactions to form irreversibly bound moieties known as AGEs^[8].

Recent studies have suggested that AGEs can be formed not only from sugars, but also from carbonyl compounds produced as a result of the autoxidation of sugars and from other metabolic pathways^[9,10]. Evidence suggests that the glyceraldehyde-derived AGEs (Glycer-AGEs) are associated with diabetesrelated pathologic complications^[11-13]. Absorbed fructose is selectively metabolized in the liver and later metabolized into glyceraldehyde by aldolase^[1,2]. The immunohistochemical analysis of Glycer-AGEs show intense staining in the livers of patients with nona-Icoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), which is a form of NAFLD^[14]. It is well known that AGE modification adversely alters protein function^[15,16]. However, the effects of fructose on the formation of intracellular Glycer-AGEs remain poorly understood.

In this study, we have examined the formation of intracellular Glycer-AGEs in the human hepatocyte cell line Hep3B when exposed to high concentrations of fructose.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Chemicals

All chemicals were commercial samples of high purity and used as supplied. Glyceraldehyde was purchased from Nakalai Tesque (Kyoto, Japan).

Cell cultures

Hep3B cells were grown in Dulbecco's modified Eagle' s medium (DMEM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Equitech-Bio, Kerrville, TX, United States) under standard cell culture conditions (humidified atmosphere, 5% CO₂, 37 °C). Cells (2×10^5 cells/mL) were seeded in various plates or culture dishes (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, United States) and incubated for 24 h before the start of all experiments. To form intracellular Glycer-AGEs, cells were incubated with or without 0.5-10.0 mmol/L fructose for 120 h.

Preparation of cell lysate

In the sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) sample, cells were washed with ice-cold Ca²⁺- and Mg²⁺-free PBS [PBS(-)] and subjected to lysis buffer [25 mmol/L Tris-HCl (pH 7.6), 150 mmol/L sodium chloride, 1% Nonidet P-40, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, and 1× protease inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, United States)]. Subsequently, cell lysates were passed through a syringe several times for further homogenization, and they were centrifuged at 12000× *g* for 10 min at 4 °C. After the protein concentrations were measured, cell lysates were dissolved in LDS sample buffer (Invitrogen of Thermo Fisher Scientific) containing 10% sample reducing agent (Invitrogen) and boiled for 10 min at

WJG www.wjgnet.com

70 ℃.

In the two-dimensional gradient SDS-PAGE sample, cells were washed with ice-cold PBS(-) and subjected to 10% trichloroacetic acid for 30 min at 4 °C. Subsequently, collected cells were washed with PBS(-) and dissolved in urea buffer (2 mol/L thiourea, 7 mol/L urea, 3% CHAPS, 1% Triton X-100, 10% sample reducing agent) for 30 min at 4 °C. The resulting suspension was centrifuged at 20000× *g* for 30 min at 4 °C.

Protein concentrations were measured using the Bradford assay (Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc., Hercules, CA, United States).

Two-dimensional gradient SDS-PAGE and mass spectrometry protein identification

After measuring the protein concentrations, cell lysates that modified acrylamide (100 μ g) were separated in agar gel (pH range: 3-10 or 5-10) (ATTO, Tokyo, Japan) and 5-20% SDS-polyacrylamide gradient gel (ATTO). All processes were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions.

After two-dimensional gradient SDS-PAGE, the gel was stained with EzStain Aqua (ATTO) for 3 h and washed with distilled water. The selected spots were identified by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF-MS) analysis. We consigned MALDI-TOF-MS analysis to Genomine, Inc (Kyungbuk, Korea).

Western blot analysis

Cell lysates were separated by electrophoresis and then electro-transferred onto polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes (Millipore Corporation, Billerica, MA, United States). Membranes were blocked for 60 min by using the PVDF blocking reagent for Can Get Signal (Toyobo, Osaka, Japan). After washing with PBS containing 0.05% Tween 20 (PBS-T), the membranes were incubated with rabbit anti-Glycer-AGEs antibody, mouse anti-heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein M (hnRNPM) antibody (Millipore), mouse anti- β -actin antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, United States), or rabbit anti-GAPDH antibody (GeneTex, Irvine, CA, United States) in Can Get Signal Solution 1 (Toyobo) for 1 h. Subsequently, the membranes were washed three times with PBS-T and incubated with antirabbit IgG antibody (GeneTex) or anti-mouse IgG antibody (Dako of Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, United States) in Can Get Signal Solution 2 (Toyobo) for 1 h. After five additional washes with PBS-T, immunoreactive proteins were detected using ECL Prime Western Blotting Detection Reagents and Amersham hyperfilm ECL (GE Healthcare Ltd., Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, United Kingdom).

Neutralization of rabbit anti-Glycer-AGEs antibody Glycer-AGEs were prepared as described previously^[17].

Briefly, 25 mg/mL of bovine serum albumin (BSA; A0281, Sigma-Aldrich) was incubated at 37 °C for 7 d under sterile conditions with 0.1 mol/L glyceraldehyde and 5 mmol/L diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid (Dojindo Laboratories, Kumamoto, Japan) in 0.2 mol/L phosphate buffer (pH 7.4). As a control, unglycated BSA was incubated under the same conditions, but without glyceraldehyde. The unglycated and glycated albumin were purified using a PD-10 column (GE Healthcare Ltd.) and dialysis against PBS. All preparations were tested for endotoxin using the Endospecy ES-20S system (Seikagaku Co., Tokyo, Japan). Protein concentrations were determined using the Dc protein assay reagent (Bio-Rad Laboratories) using BSA as a standard.

The amount of Glycer-AGEs-BSA required to neutralize rabbit anti-Glycer-AGE antibody was calculated based on a standard curve of Glycer-AGEs-BSA in a competitive ELISA. The antibody was incubated with 50 μ g/mL of Glycer-AGEs-BSA for 1 h at room temperature and it was used for the subsequent experiments.

Real-time reverse transcription-PCR

Total RNA was isolated from Hep3B cells using ISOGEN II (Nippon Gene, Tokyo, Japan), and cDNA was synthesized using random primers and reverse transcriptase. Real-time reverse transcription-PCR was performed using a Smart Cycler II System (Takara, Shiga, Japan), as previously described^[18]. The primers used were as follows: hnRNPM, 5'-GAG GCC ATG CTC CTG GG-3' and 5'-TTT AGC ATC TTC CAT GTG AAA TCG-3'; and β -actin, 5'-TCC ACC TCC AGC AGA TGT GG-3' and 5'-GCA TTT GCG GTG GAC GAT-3'.

Statistical analysis

All experiments were performed in duplicate and repeated at least two or three times. Each experiment yielded essentially identical results. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SD. The significance of differences between group means was determined using a *t*-test. *P* < 0.05 was defined as significant.

RESULTS

Exposure to high fructose concentrations enhanced the formation of intracellular Glycer-AGEs in Hep3B cells

We examined whether intracellular Glycer-AGEs were formed by exposure to high fructose concentrations. In a Western blot analysis using the anti-Glycer-AGEs antibody after two-dimensional gel electrophoresis, various spots were detected in the control and fructose samples (Figure 1A and B). Western blot analysis using neutralized anti-Glycer-AGEs antibody was used to clarify the nonspecific spots, which showed no difference in their expression levels or expression pattern between the two samples (Figure





Figure 1 Western blot analysis of intracellular glyceraldehyde-derived advanced glycation end-products. Cells were incubated with or without 2 mmol/L fructose for 5 d. Cell lysates (100 μ g of protein/gel) were separated on two-dimensional gradient sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide electrophoresis and probed with Anti-glyceraldehyde-derived advanced glycation end-products (Glycer-AGEs) antibody (A, B), or anti-Glycer-AGEs antibody neutralized by an excess of Glycer-AGEs-bovine serum albumin (C, D); A,C: control samples; B,D: Fructose samples. The arrow shows spots where a difference was seen.

1C and D). In the sample that was exposed to high fructose concentrations, the Glycer-AGE spots were observed to have isoelectric points in the range of 8.0-9.0 and molecular weights in the range of 60-80 kDa (Figure 1B arrow).

Identification of the proteins modified by glyceraldehyde upon exposure to high fructose concentrations

After two-dimensional gel electrophoresis, for the sample exposed to high concentrations of fructose, the gel was stained with Coomassie blue (Figure 2). The gel spots that matched those detected with anti-Glycer-AGEs antibody were identified by mass spectrometry analysis. We identified four spots of Glycer-AGEs (Figure 2 circle), and interestingly, all four proteins were hnRNPM (Table 1). The spots detected with anti-Glycer-AGEs antibody were in accordance with the spots detected with anti-hnRNPM antibody (Figure 3).

hnRNPM is the target protein of glycation

We examined the effects of exposure to high fructose concentrations on the modification of hnRNPM by glyceraldehyde. Fructose exposure induced a concentration-dependent increase in glyceraldehyde modification of hnRNPM, but it did not increase the protein or mRNA levels of hnRNPM (Figure 4).

Next, we examined the effects of the modification of hnRNPM by glyceraldehyde, which is a precursor of Glycer-AGEs. After 5 d in culture, the cells were incubated with or without 4 mmol/L glyceraldehyde for 6 h. Western blot analysis using anti-Glycer-AGEs antibody after two-dimensional gel electrophoresis showed that the various spots of the glyceraldehyde sample were detected more strongly than the control sample (Figure 5A and B). The spot of hnRNPM was also included (Figure 5B arrow). Furthermore, Western blot analysis using anti-hnRNPM antibody showed the bands that shifted to the top, whereas the hnRNPM protein of 68 kDa was decreased by the addition of glyceraldehyde. On the other hand, such a change was not seen in β -actin or GAPDH (Figure 5C).

DISCUSSION

Glycer-AGEs cause various intracellular and extracellular adverse effects. Extracellular Glycer-AGEs interact with receptors for AGEs and increase oxidative stress by the production of reactive oxygen species in the cell^[19]. On the other hand, intraceTakino J et al. hnRNPM is the target of glycation



Figure 2 Coomassie blue staining of the two-dimensional gradient gel. A: High fructose exposure samples were separated on two-dimensional gradient sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide electrophoresis and then stained with EzStain Aqua; B: Higher magnification of the square region of the left panel. The number and the position of the four selected spots are indicated by circles.



Figure 3 Detection of glyceraldehyde modification of heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein M by high fructose exposure. A: Samples exposed to high fructose concentrations were separated on two-dimensional gradient sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide electrophoresis and probed with anti-glyceraldehydederived advanced glycation end-products (Glycer-AGEs) antibody. The arrow shows spots where a difference was seen; B: They were reprobed with heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein M (hnRNPM) antibody.

Tuble I	racitation of intraccitation Stylectureens	ac ach	ived advanced grycati		ducts formed by mgn fru	ctose exposure
Spot No.	Protein name	Score	Mass values matched	Coverage	Calculated isoelectric point	Nominal mass (kDa)
1	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein M	90	13	20%	8.8	78
2	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein M	99	18	27%	8.8	78
3	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein M	84	16	28%	8.8	78
4	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein M	76	14	22%	8.8	78

Selected spots were identified by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry analysis. The number and the position of the four selected spots refer to the numbered spots in Figure 2B.

Ilular Glycer-AGEs cause a functional change in the protein itself^[11,12]. We previously observed that gly-ceraldehyde, which is a precursor of Glycer-AGEs, increases the intracellular Glycer-AGEs in Hep3B cells. Among the intracellular Glycer-AGEs that were formed, heat shock cognate 70 was identified as a glyceraldehyde-modified protein, and the modification by glyceraldehyde reduced the activity of the protein^[18].

In the liver, glyceraldehyde is believed to be produced by two pathways: the glycolytic pathway and the fructose metabolic pathway. Fructose metabolism involves fructokinase and is especially important in the liver after food intake. Fructose is phosphorylated to fructose-1-phosphate (F-1-P) by a specific kinase, and the liver aldolase B can cleave F-1-P to produce dihydroxyacetone phosphate and glyceraldehyde^[20]. Therefore, the liver more readily accumulates glyceraldehyde than other organs. In this study, we have described the formation of intracellular Glycer-AGEs induced by high fructose exposure in Hep3B



Figure 4 Effects of glyceraldehyde modification of heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein M by high fructose exposure. Cells were incubated with 0.5-10.0 mmol/L fructose for 5 d. A: Cell lysates were separated on two-dimensional gradient sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and the glyceraldehyde modification of heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein M (hnRNPM) was determined by probing with anti-Glycer-AGEs antibody. The arrow shows spots identified with hnRNPM; B: Cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and probed with anti-hnRNPM antibody. Equal protein loading was determined using anti- β -actin antibody; C: The levels of mRNA expression were analyzed by real-time RT-PCR, and the result was normalized to β -actin. Data are shown as mean \pm SD (n = 6); ^aP < 0.05 vs control. Left panel: With 2 mmol/L fructose, right panel: With 10 mmol/L fructose.

cells.

Whether the *in vitro* addition of fructose to hepatocytes is physiologically relevant is an important issue for further research. Le *et a*^[21] demonstrated that the baseline fructose level in the human peripheral vein was about 5 μ mol/L, and after ingestion of 24 oz of HFCS-sweetened beverages, this level increased to 0.3 mmol/L. Fructose absorbed in the small intestine is carried to the portal vein. Therefore, it is expected that the peripheral vein. Furthermore, Sugimoto *et a*^[22] demonstrated that the peak concentration of portal fructose was approximately ten times that of peripheral fructose after sucrose ingestion in rats. This is consistent with our findings,

which show that Glycer-AGEs were detected even when the concentration of fructose was less than 3 mmol/L.

Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins, which directly bind to nascent RNA polymerase II transcripts, play an important role in processing heterogeneous nuclear RNAs to form mature mRNAs and in regulating gene expression. It is known that hnRNPM appears as a cluster of four proteins, M1-4, of 64-68 kDa in two-dimensional gel electrophoresis^[23]. We showed that a Glycer-AGE, which we identified to be hnRNPM, is a modified protein that was detected in cells exposed to high fructose concentrations, and this exposure induced a concentration-dependent increase in Glycer-AGEs (glyceraldehyde-modified

Takino J et al. hnRNPM is the target of glycation





Figure 5 Effects of glyceraldehyde modification of heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein M. Hep3B cells were incubated for 5 d and incubated with or without 4 mmol/L glyceraldehyde for 6 h. Cell lysates were separated on two-dimensional gradient sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) (A, B); or SDS-PAGE and probed with anti-Glycer-AGEs antibody (C). A: Control sample; B: Glyceraldehyde sample. The arrow shows spot identified with heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein M (hnRNPM).

hnRNPM). It is known that the ketones or aldehydes of sugars can modify the side chains of lysine and arginine residues in proteins^[24,25]; Cotham et al^[26] demonstrated that dicarbonyl compounds react primarily with arginine residues. Lysine and arginine, amino acids that have a basic side chain, are important in RNA-protein interactions^[27-31]. In particular, the function of hnRNPM may be to influence lysine sumoylation and arginine methylation, which are post-translational modifications^[32,33]. Furthermore, hnRNPM possesses an unusual hexapeptide-repeat region rich in methionine and arginine residues (MR repeat motif)^[23], and this motif may participate in the formation of Glycer-AGEs. In experiments where glyceraldehyde is externally added, the bands that shifted to the top appeared, while the level of 68-kDa hnRNPM protein was decreased. It is well known that the glycation of proteins forms intermolecular crosslinking^[34-36]. Therefore, it is thought that this phenomenon of crosslinking characterizes glycation. However, no crosslinking was observed in β -actin or GAPDH. This suggests that the hnRNPM protein was more easily glycated than the other proteins.

Finally, in order to understand hnRNPM function, we used RIP-Chip analysis in Hep3B cells to identify

the genes that are controlled by hnRNPM. The results showed that apolipoprotein E (APOE) and fibrinogenlike 1 (FGL1) were included in the top 50 such genes (Table 2). It is known that APOE is a ligand for lowdensity lipoprotein receptors and participates in the transport of cholesterol and other lipids^[37]. It was reported that the APOE polymorphism is significantly associated with NASH^[38]. Furthermore, APOE-deficient, APOE*3-Leiden (variant form of APOE), and APOE2 knock-in (APOE2ki) mice are widely used as models of liver steatosis^[39-43]. These mice were maintained on a high-fat diet to allow the development of NASH^[40-43]. It is also known that FGL1 expression is induced after liver injury; FGL1 stimulates hepatocyte proliferation and protects hepatocytes from injury^[44-46].

In conclusion, among the intracellular Glycer-AGEs that were formed, hnRNPM was identified as a glyceraldehyde-modified protein, and it was more easily glycated than the other proteins. Therefore, we believe that the gene responsible for NAFLD and NASH is among those whose expression is regulated by hnRNPM. These results suggest that intracellular Glycer-AGEs may play a critical role in the pathogenesis of NAFLD and NASH and may serve as potential targets for therapeutic intervention. A

Table 2	Top 50 RNA targets of heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein M in Hep3B cells	
Rank	Gene title	Gene symbol
1	Apolipoprotein E	APOE
2	Albumin	ALB
3	RNA, 28S ribosomal 1	RN28S1
4	PQ loop repeat containing 2	PQLC2
5	Zinc finger protein 865	ZNF865
6	Unknown	A_33_P3396434
7	lincRNA	XLOC_12_004940
8	CD63 molecule	CD63
9	Eukaryotic translation elongation factor 1 alpha 1	EEF1A1
10	G protein-coupled receptor 155	GPR155
11	Family with sequence similarity 74, member A4	FAM74A4
12	LOC284600	ENST00000448179
13	LOC100506453	ENST00000381105
14	ATP synthase, H+ transporting, mitochondrial Fo complex, subunit G	ATP5L
15	Unknown	A_33_P3370515
16	Proteasome (prosome, macropain) 26S subunit, non-ATPase, 2	PSMD2
17	Ribosomal protein L23	RPL23
18	Proteasome (prosome, macropain) subunit, beta type, 1	PSMB1
19	Arsenic (+3 oxidation state) methyltransferase	AS3MT
20	Heat shock 60 kDa protein 1 (chaperonin)	HSPD1
21	H2A histone family, member V	H2AFV
22	lincRNA	XLOC_12_015885
23	Fucosyltransferase 6 (alpha (1,3) fucosyltransferase)	FUT6
24	Cytochrome P450, family 2, subfamily W, polypeptide 1	CYP2W1
25	Unknown	A_33_P3275826
26	Microtubule-associated protein 4	MAP4
27	lincRNA	XLOC_12_002910
28	X-ray repair complementing defective repair in Chinese hamster cells 6	XRCC6
29	Solute carrier family 16, member 12 (monocarboxylic acid transporter 12)	SLC16A12
30	Actin, beta	ACTB
31	Unknown	A_33_P3315763
32	Mitochondrial carrier 1	MTCH1
33	Stromal cell-derived factor 2-like 1	SDF2L1
34	Chromosome 19 open reading frame 10	C19orf10
35	Kinesin family member 1C	KIF1C
36	Fibrinogen-like 1	FGL1
37	RAN, member RAS oncogene family	RAN
38	Unknown	ENST00000400768
39	Homer homolog 3 (Drosophila)	HOMER3
40	HscB iron-sulfur cluster co-chaperone homolog (E. coli)	HSCB
41	Canopy 2 homolog (zebrafish)	CNPY2
42	Thymidine phosphorylase	ТҮМР
43	F11 receptor	F11R
44	Mastermind-like 1 (Drosophila)	MAML1
45	Electron-transfer-flavoprotein, beta polypeptide	ETFB
46	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein A1	HNRNPA1
47	Alpha-1-microglobulin/bikunin precursor	AMBP
48	Calreticulin	CALR
49	Solute carrier family 25 (mitochondrial carrier; phosphate carrier), member 3	SLC25A3
50	Alpha-2-HS-glycoprotein	AHSG

RNA-hnRNPM complexes were co-immunoprecipitated with anti-heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein M antibody bound to protein G-magnetic beads, and RNAs were isolated and identified by microarray analysis.

further analysis of the target genes of hnRNPM will be necessary in the future.

COMMENTS

Background

Excessive intake of fructose contributes to the development of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and to the progression of the disease to nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH). Fructose is metabolized to glyceraldehyde, which is a precursor of glyceraldehyde-derived (Glycer)-advanced glycation end-products (AGEs). AGEs are formed by the Maillard reaction, a nonenzymatic

reaction that occurs between the ketones or aldehydes of sugars and the amino groups of proteins. AGEs are associated with aging and diabetes-related pathologic complications. The immunohistochemical analysis of Glycer-AGEs shows an intense staining in the livers of patients with NASH. However, the effects of fructose on the formation of intracellular Glycer-AGEs remain poorly understood.

Research frontiers

Evidence suggests that among the various AGEs, Glycer-AGEs are associated with diabetes-related pathologic complications, NASH, and cancer. The extracellular Glycer-AGEs-receptor for AGE signaling pathway is well understood, and it has been previously shown that AGE modifications adversely alter protein functions. In this study, the authors examined the formation of



intracellular Glycer-AGEs in the presence of high concentrations of fructose.

Innovations and breakthroughs

This study reported the formation of intracellular Glycer-AGEs and identified the glyceraldehyde-modified proteins by exposing the cells to high fructose concentrations.

Applications

The experimental data can be used in further studies for therapeutic intervention using these Glycer-AGEs as potential targets.

Peer-review

The study by Takino and coworkers focuses on the molecular mechanism with which excessive intake of fructose contributes to the development of an emerging and worrisome pathology such as nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and its inflammatory progression, NASH.

REFERENCES

- Tappy L, Lê KA. Metabolic effects of fructose and the worldwide increase in obesity. *Physiol Rev* 2010; 90: 23-46 [PMID: 20086073 DOI: 10.1152/physrev.00019.2009]
- 2 Vos MB, Lavine JE. Dietary fructose in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2013; 57: 2525-2531 [PMID: 23390127 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26299]
- 3 Dekker MJ, Su Q, Baker C, Rutledge AC, Adeli K. Fructose: a highly lipogenic nutrient implicated in insulin resistance, hepatic steatosis, and the metabolic syndrome. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 2010; 299: E685-E694 [PMID: 20823452 DOI: 10.1152/ ajpendo.00283.2010]
- 4 Attar BM, Van Thiel DH. Current concepts and management approaches in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Scientific World Journal* 2013; 2013: 481893 [PMID: 23576902 DOI: 10.1155/2013/481893]
- 5 Conlon BA, Beasley JM, Aebersold K, Jhangiani SS, Wylie-Rosett J. Nutritional management of insulin resistance in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). *Nutrients* 2013; 5: 4093-4114 [PMID: 24152749 DOI: 10.3390/nu5104093]
- 6 al-Abed Y, Kapurniotu A, Bucala R. Advanced glycation end products: detection and reversal. *Methods Enzymol* 1999; 309: 152-172 [PMID: 10507023 DOI: 10.1016/S0076-6879(99)09013-8]
- 7 Vlassara H, Palace MR. Diabetes and advanced glycation endproducts. *J Intern Med* 2002; 251: 87-101 [PMID: 11905595 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2796.2002.00932.x]
- 8 Takeuchi M, Makita Z. Alternative routes for the formation of immunochemically distinct advanced glycation end-products in vivo. *Curr Mol Med* 2001; 1: 305-315 [PMID: 11899079 DOI: 10.2174/1566524013363735]
- 9 Glomb MA, Monnier VM. Mechanism of protein modification by glyoxal and glycolaldehyde, reactive intermediates of the Maillard reaction. *J Biol Chem* 1995; 270: 10017-10026 [PMID: 7730303 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.270.17.10017]
- 10 Thornalley PJ, Langborg A, Minhas HS. Formation of glyoxal, methylglyoxal and 3-deoxyglucosone in the glycation of proteins by glucose. *Biochem J* 1999; 344 Pt 1: 109-116 [PMID: 10548540 DOI: 10.1042/0264-6021:3440109]
- 11 Takeuchi M, Bucala R, Suzuki T, Ohkubo T, Yamazaki M, Koike T, Kameda Y, Makita Z. Neurotoxicity of advanced glycation endproducts for cultured cortical neurons. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 2000; **59**: 1094-1105 [PMID: 11138929]
- 12 Yamagishi S, Amano S, Inagaki Y, Okamoto T, Koga K, Sasaki N, Yamamoto H, Takeuchi M, Makita Z. Advanced glycation end products-induced apoptosis and overexpression of vascular endothelial growth factor in bovine retinal pericytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2002; 290: 973-978 [PMID: 11798169 DOI: 10.1006/bbrc.2001.6312]
- 13 Yamagishi S, Inagaki Y, Okamoto T, Amano S, Koga K, Takeuchi M, Makita Z. Advanced glycation end product-induced apoptosis and overexpression of vascular endothelial growth factor and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in human-cultured mesangial cells. *J Biol Chem* 2002; 277: 20309-20315 [PMID: 11912219 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M202634200]
- 14 Hyogo H, Yamagishi S, Iwamoto K, Arihiro K, Takeuchi M, Sato T,

Ochi H, Nonaka M, Nabeshima Y, Inoue M, Ishitobi T, Chayama K, Tazuma S. Elevated levels of serum advanced glycation end products in patients with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2007; **22**: 1112-1119 [PMID: 17559366 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2007.04943.x]

- 15 Hamelin M, Mary J, Vostry M, Friguet B, Bakala H. Glycation damage targets glutamate dehydrogenase in the rat liver mitochondrial matrix during aging. *FEBS J* 2007; 274: 5949-5961 [PMID: 17949437 DOI: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2007.06118.x]
- Kumar PA, Kumar MS, Reddy GB. Effect of glycation on alphacrystallin structure and chaperone-like function. *Biochem J* 2007; 408: 251-258 [PMID: 17696877 DOI: 10.1042/BJ20070989]
- 17 Takeuchi M, Makita Z, Bucala R, Suzuki T, Koike T, Kameda Y. Immunological evidence that non-carboxymethyllysine advanced glycation end-products are produced from short chain sugars and dicarbonyl compounds in vivo. *Mol Med* 2000; 6: 114-125 [PMID: 10859028]
- 18 Takino J, Kobayashi Y, Takeuchi M. The formation of intracellular glyceraldehyde-derived advanced glycation end-products and cytotoxicity. *J Gastroenterol* 2010; 45: 646-655 [PMID: 20084527 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-009-0193-9]
- 19 Sato T, Iwaki M, Shimogaito N, Wu X, Yamagishi S, Takeuchi M. TAGE (toxic AGEs) theory in diabetic complications. *Curr Mol Med* 2006; 6: 351-358 [PMID: 16712480 DOI: 10.2174/15665240 6776894536]
- 20 Takeuchi M, Yamagishi S. Alternative routes for the formation of glyceraldehyde-derived AGEs (TAGE) in vivo. *Med Hypotheses* 2004; 63: 453-455 [PMID: 15288367 DOI: 10.1016/j.mehy.2004.03.0 05]
- 21 Le MT, Frye RF, Rivard CJ, Cheng J, McFann KK, Segal MS, Johnson RJ, Johnson JA. Effects of high-fructose corn syrup and sucrose on the pharmacokinetics of fructose and acute metabolic and hemodynamic responses in healthy subjects. *Metabolism* 2012; 61: 641-651 [PMID: 22152650 DOI: 10.1016/j.metabol.2011.09.013]
- 22 Sugimoto K, Hosotani T, Kawasaki T, Nakagawa K, Hayashi S, Nakano Y, Inui H, Yamanouchi T. Eucalyptus leaf extract suppresses the postprandial elevation of portal, cardiac and peripheral fructose concentrations after sucrose ingestion in rats. *J Clin Biochem Nutr* 2010; 46: 205-211 [PMID: 20490315 DOI: 10.3164/jcbn.09-93]
- 23 Datar KV, Dreyfuss G, Swanson MS. The human hnRNP M proteins: identification of a methionine/arginine-rich repeat motif in ribonucleoproteins. *Nucleic Acids Res* 1993; 21: 439-446 [PMID: 8441656 DOI: 10.1093/nar/21.3.439]
- 24 Ahmed MU, Dunn JA, Walla MD, Thorpe SR, Baynes JW. Oxidative degradation of glucose adducts to protein. Formation of 3-(N epsilon-lysino)-lactic acid from model compounds and glycated proteins. *J Biol Chem* 1988; 263: 8816-8821 [PMID: 3132453]
- 25 Iijima K, Murata M, Takahara H, Irie S, Fujimoto D. Identification of N(omega)-carboxymethylarginine as a novel acidlabileadvanced glycation end product in collagen. *Biochem J* 2000; 347 Pt 1: 23-27 [PMID: 10727397]
- 26 Cotham WE, Metz TO, Ferguson PL, Brock JW, Hinton DJ, Thorpe SR, Baynes JW, Ames JM. Proteomic analysis of arginine adducts on glyoxal-modified ribonuclease. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 2004; 3: 1145-1153 [PMID: 15377717 DOI: 10.1074/mcp. M400002-MCP200]
- 27 Jones S, Daley DT, Luscombe NM, Berman HM, Thornton JM. Protein-RNA interactions: a structural analysis. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2001; 29: 943-954 [PMID: 11160927 DOI: 10.1093/nar/29.4.943]
- 28 Kim H, Jeong E, Lee SW, Han K. Computational analysis of hydrogen bonds in protein-RNA complexes for interaction patterns. *FEBS Lett* 2003; 552: 231-239 [PMID: 14527692 DOI: 10.1016/ S0014-5793(03)00930-X]
- 29 Lejeune D, Delsaux N, Charloteaux B, Thomas A, Brasseur R. Protein-nucleic acid recognition: statistical analysis of atomic interactions and influence of DNA structure. *Proteins* 2005; 61: 258-271 [PMID: 16121397 DOI: 10.1002/prot.20607]
- 30 Ellis JJ, Broom M, Jones S. Protein-RNA interactions: structural analysis and functional classes. *Proteins* 2007; 66: 903-911 [PMID:



Takino J et al. hnRNPM is the target of glycation

17186525 DOI: 10.1002/prot.21211]

- 31 Ciriello G, Gallina C, Guerra C. Analysis of interactions between ribosomal proteins and RNA structural motifs. *BMC Bioinformatics* 2010; 11 Suppl 1: S41 [PMID: 20122215 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2105 -11-S1-S41]
- 32 Vertegaal AC, Ogg SC, Jaffray E, Rodriguez MS, Hay RT, Andersen JS, Mann M, Lamond AI. A proteomic study of SUMO-2 target proteins. *J Biol Chem* 2004; 279: 33791-33798 [PMID: 15175327 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M404201200]
- 33 Blackwell E, Ceman S. Arginine methylation of RNA-binding proteins regulates cell function and differentiation. *Mol Reprod Dev* 2012; **79**: 163-175 [PMID: 22345066 DOI: 10.1002/mrd.22024]
- 34 Acharya AS, Cho YJ, Manjula BN. Cross-linking of proteins by aldotriose: reaction of the carbonyl function of the keto amines generated in situ with amino groups. *Biochemistry* 1988; 27: 4522-4529 [PMID: 3166996]
- 35 Raabe HM, Höpner JH, Notbohm H, Sinnecker GH, Kruse K, Müller PK. Biochemical and biophysical alterations of the 7S and NC1 domain of collagen IV from human diabetic kidneys. *Diabetologia* 1998; **41**: 1073-1079 [PMID: 9754826 DOI: 10.1007/s001250051032]
- 36 Yan H, Harding JJ. Carnosine inhibits modifications and decreased molecular chaperone activity of lens alpha-crystallin induced by ribose and fructose 6-phosphate. *Mol Vis* 2006; 12: 205-214 [PMID: 16604053]
- 37 Mahley RW. Apolipoprotein E: cholesterol transport protein with expanding role in cell biology. *Science* 1988; 240: 622-630 [PMID: 3283935 DOI: 10.1126/science.3283935]
- 38 Sazci A, Akpinar G, Aygun C, Ergul E, Senturk O, Hulagu S. Association of apolipoprotein E polymorphisms in patients with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Dig Dis Sci* 2008; 53: 3218-3224 [PMID: 18465245 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-008-0271-5]
- 39 Yoshimatsu M, Terasaki Y, Sakashita N, Kiyota E, Sato H, van der Laan LJ, Takeya M. Induction of macrophage scavenger receptor MARCO in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis indicates possible involvement of endotoxin in its pathogenic process. *Int J Exp Pathol* 2004; 85: 335-343 [PMID: 15566430 DOI: 10.1111/j.0959-9673.2004.00401.x]

- 40 Shiri-Sverdlov R, Wouters K, van Gorp PJ, Gijbels MJ, Noel B, Buffat L, Staels B, Maeda N, van Bilsen M, Hofker MH. Early diet-induced non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in APOE2 knock-in mice and its prevention by fibrates. *J Hepatol* 2006; 44: 732-741 [PMID: 16466828 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2005.10.033]
- 41 Lalloyer F, Wouters K, Baron M, Caron S, Vallez E, Vanhoutte J, Baugé E, Shiri-Sverdlov R, Hofker M, Staels B, Tailleux A. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha gene level differently affects lipid metabolism and inflammation in apolipoprotein E2 knock-in mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2011; **31**: 1573-1579 [PMID: 21474829 DOI: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.220525]
- 42 Bieghs V, Van Gorp PJ, Wouters K, Hendrikx T, Gijbels MJ, van Bilsen M, Bakker J, Binder CJ, Lütjohann D, Staels B, Hofker MH, Shiri-Sverdlov R. LDL receptor knock-out mice are a physiological model particularly vulnerable to study the onset of inflammation in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e30668 [PMID: 22295101 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0030668]
- 43 Lombardo E, van Roomen CP, van Puijvelde GH, Ottenhoff R, van Eijk M, Aten J, Kuiper J, Overkleeft HS, Groen AK, Verhoeven AJ, Aerts JM, Bietrix F. Correction of liver steatosis by a hydrophobic iminosugar modulating glycosphingolipids metabolism. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e38520 [PMID: 23056165 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0038520]
- Hara H, Uchida S, Yoshimura H, Aoki M, Toyoda Y, Sakai Y, Morimoto S, Fukamachi H, Shiokawa K, Hanada K. Isolation and characterization of a novel liver-specific gene, hepassocin, upregulated during liver regeneration. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2000; 1492: 31-44 [PMID: 11004478 DOI: 10.1016/S0167-4781(00)0005 6-7]
- 45 Yan J, Ying H, Gu F, He J, Li YL, Liu HM, Xu YH. Cloning and characterization of a mouse liver-specific gene mfrep-1, upregulated in liver regeneration. *Cell Res* 2002; **12**: 353-361 [PMID: 12528893 DOI: 10.1038/sj.cr.7290137]
- 46 Demchev V, Malana G, Vangala D, Stoll J, Desai A, Kang HW, Li Y, Nayeb-Hashemi H, Niepel M, Cohen DE, Ukomadu C. Targeted deletion of fibrinogen like protein 1 reveals a novel role in energy substrate utilization. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e58084 [PMID: 23483972 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058084]

P- Reviewer: Calamita G S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: AmEditor E- Editor: Ma S







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1794 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1794-1803 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

Occult infection related hepatitis B surface antigen variants showing lowered secretion capacity

Hong Kim, Seoung-Ae Lee, You-Sub Won, HyunJoo Lee, Bum-Joon Kim

Hong Kim, Seoung-Ae Lee, You-Sub Won, HyunJoo Lee, Bum-Joon Kim, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Microbiology and Immunology, and Liver Research Institute, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul 110-799, South Korea

Author contributions: Kim H and Kim BJ conceived this research and participated in its design and coordination; Kim H and Lee SA performed the experiments; Kim H, Lee SA, Won YS, and Lee HJ analyzed and interpreted the data; Lee SA, Won YS, and Lee HJ contributed the reagents, materials, and analysis tools; Kim H and Kim BJ wrote and reviewed the manuscript; all authors approved the final manuscript.

Supported by National Research Foundation of Korea grant funded by the Korean Government (Ministry of Education, Science, and Technology), Grant No. 2013-005810.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Bum-Joon Kim, Professor, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Microbiology and Immunology, and Liver Research Institute, Seoul National University College of Medicine, 103, Daehak-ro, Jongno-gu, Seoul 110-799,

South Korea. kbumjoon@snu.ac.kr Telephone: +82-2-7408316 Fax: +82-2-7430881 Received: June 10, 2014 Peer-review started: June 12, 2014 First decision: July 21, 2014 Revised: July 31, 2014 Accepted: November 7, 2014 Article in press: November 11, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To elucidate the molecular mechanisms underlying hepatitis B virus (HBV) occult infection of genotype C.

METHODS: A total of 10 types of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) variants from a Korean occult cohort were used. After a complete HBV genome plasmid mutated such that it does not express HBsAg and plasmid encoding, each HBsAg variant was transiently co-transfected into HuH-7 cells. The secretion capacity and intracellular expression of the HBV virions and HBsAgs in their respective variants were analyzed using real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction assays and commercial HBsAg enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays, respectively.

RESULTS: All variants exhibited lower levels of HBsAg secretion into the medium compared with the wild type. In particular, in eight of the ten variants, very low levels of HBsAg secretion that were similar to the negative control were detected. In contrast, most variants (9/10) exhibited normal virion secretion capacities comparable with, or even higher than, the wild type. This provided new insight into the intrinsic nature of occult HBV infection, which leads to HBsAg sero-negativeness but has horizontal infectivity. Furthermore, most variants generated higher reactive oxidative species production than the wild type. This finding provides potential links between occult HBV infection and liver disease progression.

CONCLUSION: The presently obtained data indicate that deficiency in the secretion capacity of HBsAg variants may have a pivotal function in the occult infections of HBV genotype C.

Key words: Occult infection; Hepatitis B virus; Hepatitis B surface antigen; Variants; Genotype C; Reactive oxidative species

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: The presently obtained data indicate that deficiency in the secretion capacity of hepatitis B surface



antigen (HBsAg), but not virion, may have a pivotal function in occult infections of hepatitis B virus (HBV) genotype C, at least in occult infections in South Korea. This provided new insight into the intrinsic nature of HBV occult infections, which lead to HBsAg sero-negativeness but horizontal infectivity. In addition, reactive oxidative species production *via* possible induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress in hepatocytes provide a probable explanation for the links between occult infection and liver disease progression.

Kim H, Lee SA, Won YS, Lee HJ, Kim BJ. Occult infection related hepatitis B surface antigen variants showing lowered secretion capacity. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1794-1803 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/ v21/i6/1794.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1794

INTRODUCTION

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection is a global health problem, and more than 350 million people are chronic carriers of the virus^[1]. The infection is associated with a large spectrum of clinical manifestations ranging from acute or fulminant hepatitis to various forms of chronic infection, including asymptomatic carriers, chronic hepatitis, cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)^[2,3]. South Korea is recognized as an endemic area of HBV infection^[4]. Furthermore, extraordinary prevalence of genotype C2 has been reported in this area^[5]; this genotype is known to be more virulent and more prone to mutation than genotype B^[6], and it might contribute to the distribution of characteristic HBV mutation patterns related to the progression of liver diseases^[7-16].

Occult HBV infection is defined as the infection state negative for hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) serology, but it has shown viral genome persistence in infected individuals^[17-19]. In general, HBV infection is diagnosed when the circulating HBsAg is serologically detected. However, recent progress in molecularbased technology, such as polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based methods, has enabled HBV infection to be proven from HBsAg negative individuals with or without circulating antibodies to HBsAg and/or hepatitis B core antigen^[20-22]. A large body of evidence has demonstrated that HBV occult infection is highly prevalent, particularly in HBV endemic areas, and it has distinct clinical entities. In particular, it is significantly related to severe forms of liver disease, such as cirrhosis and HCC^[23,24]. Furthermore, in hepatitis C virus (HCV) infected patients, liver disease could worsen HCV infection^[25-27].

Recently, there has been significant progress in obtaining an understanding of the molecular mechanisms that underlie occult HBV infection, together with increased clinical concerns throughout the world^[26]. Among earlier findings, mutation in the HBsAg region, particularly in the "a" determinant, is regarded as a significant mechanism in relation to occult HBV infection. Structural alterations in HBsAg induced through mutations in or even outside the "a" determinant led to reduced affinity against the antibody in HBV diagnostic assays^[26]. Furthermore, HBsAg mutations are known to contribute to HBV occult infections *via* reduction of virion secretion^[27]. Because HBsAg variants are a serious health concern not only because they are not detectable by some commercial HBsAg assays, but also because they can infect vaccinated individuals, the emergence of HBsAg variants with novel mutations must be monitored among populations within HBV endemic areas, such as South Korea.

Recently, we reported various types of novel HBsAg variants of genotype C2 from South Korean occult subjects^[14]. The present study elucidates the mechanisms related to the occult infection of ten types of genotype C2 HBsAg variants that were discovered in our previous study, primarily focusing on the extracellular secretion capacity of HBV virion and HBsAg.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

HBV DNA extraction and PCR amplification

For purification of the HBV DNA from serum, a QI-Aamp DNA Blood Mini Kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) was used according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, a 200 µL aliquot of obtained serum was incubated with QIAGEN protease and buffer AL at 65 °C for 10 min. The lysate was applied to a QIAamp spin column, spun, and washed three times with buffer AW, and finally eluted with 50 μ L of BQW. In order to investigate the mutation patterns of the occult HBV infection, we conducted a nested PCR targeting the small surface open reading frame in Korean HBsAg-negative subjects. The first round of PCR was performed using the sense primer PreS2-Del-F2 (positions 2814-2832, 5' - GGG TCA CCA TAT TCT TGG G - 3') and the antisense primer HB2R (positions 970-989, 5' - CAT ACT TTC CAA TCA ATA GG - 3'), which target a large surface region, while the second round of amplification was performed using the sense primer Cystein-S-F1 (positions 155-179, 5' - ATG GAG AGC ACA ACA TCA GGA TTC C - 3') and the antisense primer Cystein-S-R1 (positions 811-835, 5' - TCA AAT GTA TAC CCA AAG ACA AAA G - 3'). The PCR was initiated using the hot-start technique in a 50 μ L PCR mixture containing 2.5 mmol/L MgCl₂, 400 mmol/L dNTP, and 2.5 U of LA Tag polymerase (Takara Bio Inc., Shiga, Japan). The reaction mixture was subjected to 30 cycles of amplification (60 s at 95 $^{\circ}$, 45 s at 52 $^{\circ}$, and 90 s at 72 °C) followed by a 5 min extension at 72 °C. A 96-well thermocycler (Model 9600, Perkin-Elmer Cetus, Norwalk, United States) was also used. The obtained PCR products were analyzed via electrophoresis on 1% agarose gels, stained with



Kim H et al. HBsAgs of lowered secretion capacity

ethidium bromide, and visualized on a ultraviolet transilluminator.

Cloning and sequencing analysis of small surface ORFs In order to analyze the mutation patterns of the small surface regions of 41 occult subjects, the 681-bp of the PCR products was cloned using a TOPO TA cloning kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, United States). The sequencing was performed using an Applied Biosystems model 377 DNA automatic sequencer (Perkin-Elmer Applied Biosystems, Warrington, United Kingdom). The mutations were classified through comparisons with seven reference strains obtained from GenBank [accession numbers (Genotypes) M57663 (A), AB100695 (B), AB074755 (C1), AY641558 (C2), X02496 (D), AB106564 (E), and X75663 (F)]. The nucleotides were aligned and their similarities were calculated using the multiple-alignment algorithm in Megalign (DNASTAR, Windows Version 3.12e).

Cloning of HBV small surface for expression

The small surface regions of ten subjects with novel mutation patterns related to the occult infection including the wild type (Nor) and pIRES2-EGFP only (mock) were cloned for the expression of HBsAg in the HuH-7 cell line. The TOPO TA cloned small surface region was re-cloned into the pIRES2-EGFP expression vector (Clontech, Mountain View, United States) including the cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter as per the manufacturer's recommendation.

Cell culture and transient co-transfection

Human hepatoma cells (HuH-7) were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (HyClone, Thermo Scientific, United States) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (GibcoBRL, Grand Island, United States) and 100 µg/mL of penicillin-streptomycin (GibcoBRL, Grand Island, United States). The cells were seeded on cell culture dishes (Falcon, San Jose, United States) and sub-cultured using a trypsin-EDTA (GibcoBRL, Grand Island, United States) treatment. All cells were maintained at 37 $^\circ\!\!\mathbb{C}$ in a humidified 5% CO₂ atmosphere. In order to detect the HBsAg, viral DNA, and ROS level in the transient co-transfected HuH-7 using the novel mutants in this study, the cells (2 \times 10⁵) were seeded in 6-well plates. After incubation for 24 h, the cells were transiently cotransfected with pHY92-1.1x-HBV-deleted small surface plasmids (pHY92-delS) and pIRES2-EGFP-HBV small surface plasmids presenting occult HBV variants using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, United States) and incubated at 37 °C with 5% CO2 for 48 h. After 48 h, the cell supernatant was collected and the pellets were washed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (GibcoBRL, Grand Island, United States). The washed pellets were lysed using mild Reporter Lysis Buffer (RLB) (Promega, WI, United States); these pellets were then used in the

subsequent experiments.

Construction of HBV full genomic DNA with deleted HBsAg via site-directed mutagenesis

In order to verify the effects of the mutations related to the occult infections in HBV full genomic constructs, we created HBV full genome constructs that do not express HBsAg through site-directed mutagenesis of start codon of HBsAg (ATG to ATC). For this purpose, we used a plasmid and pHY92 vector containing a copy of the 1.1x-unit length HBV genome under the control of a CMV promoter (genotype A, serotype adw, HBV strain identical to GenBank AF305422), which was provided by Yang et al^[28]. For each reaction, 5 ng of plasmid was incubated with 125 ng of mutagenic primer [the sense primer MUTA-Small-SF (position 134-175, 5' -ACT GGG GAC CCT GCA CCG AAC ATC GAG AGC ACA ACA TCA GGA - 3') and the anti-sense primer MUTA-Small-SR (same position, 5' - TCC TGA TGT TGT GCT CTC GAT GTT CGG TGC AGG GTC CCC AGT - 3')], 2.5 mmol/L of dNTP, and 2.5 U of Pyrococcus furiosus DNA polymerase (Takara Bio Inc., Shiga, Japan) with a final volume of 50 µL containing 10 mmol/L KCl, 6 mmol/L (NH4)2SO4, 20 mmol/L Tris-HCl, 2 mmol/L MgCl₂, 1% Triton X-100, and 10 μ g/mL bovine serum albumin. A cycling reaction was performed in a PCR machine (BIO-RAD, CA, United States). The reaction was initiated via heating for 5 min at 94 °C. The reaction conditions for the denaturation, annealing, and elongation were 45 s at 94 $^{\circ}$, 45 s at 52 $^{\circ}$, and 10 min at 72 °C, respectively, for a total of 15 cycles. The mixture was then subjected to digestion using 10 U of DpnI restriction enzyme for 20 min at 37 °C and transformation into TOP10 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, United States). Each bacterial colony was confirmed via DNA sequencing.

HBsAg ELISA

In order to compare the secretion capacity between the occult infection-related HBsAg variants, an ELISA was conducted for HBsAg, according to the given experiment method, using a commercial Bioelisa HBsAg color ELISA Kit (BIOKIT, Barcelona, Spain), MONOLISA HBs Ag ULTRA (BIO-RAD, CA, United States), and an ETI-MAK-4 HBsAg Enzyme Immunoassay Kit (DiaSorin, Saluggia, Italy) from the supernatant and lysed pellet. Furthermore, for normalization of the HBsAg ELISA in the cloned pIRES2-EGFP of the target HBsAg, we also measured the β -galactosidase expression level of the respective pIRES2-EGFP plasmid using a β -galactosidase enzyme assay system kit (Promega, WI, United States). β -galactosidase is a commonly used reporter molecule. The β -galactosidase enzyme assay system with RLB is a convenient method for assaying β -galactosidase activity in lysates prepared from cells transfected with β -galactosidase reporter vectors, such as the pSV- β -galactosidase control vector. For



normalization of pHY92-based full genomic constructs without the *EGFP* gene, the pSV- β -gal vector containing β -galactosidase was co-transfected; the β -galactosidase activities were analyzed according to the manufacturer's recommendation.

HBV viral DNA purification and Q-PCR analyses

The HBV DNA replication from the full genome HBV construct with pIRES2-EGFP clones was evaluated via quantitative real-time PCR targeting the secreted HBV viral DNA in the supernatant or intracellular viral DNA in a pellet of the cell culture. PCR amplification was performed with a set of real-time PCR primers targeting the small S gene designed to amplify a 101 base pair product and primer sequences as follows: the sense primer Real-SF (position 218-240, 5' -TTG ACA AGA ATC CTC ACA ATA CC - 3') and the antisense primer Real-SR (position 309-328, 5' -GGA GGT TGG GGA CTG CGA AT - 3'). The culture medium was centrifuged in order to remove the cellular debris. Afterwards, the supernatant underwent ultracentrifugation at 20000 rpm in a SW28 rotor (Beckman Coulter, United States) for 2 h at 4 °C. The collected pellet was re-suspended using PBS. The cell pellet was harvested using a trypsin-EDTA treatment and rinsed twice with PBS. The viral DNA was extracted using a Viral Gene-Spin DNA extraction Kit (iNtRON, Daejeon, South Korea) according to the manufacturer's instructions from the rinsed cell pellet and the collected viral particle of the supernatant. The quantitative PCR assay was conducted using commercial iQ SYBR Green supermix (Bio-Rad, CA, United States) and primers specific to the S gene. The HBV DNA levels were analyzed with an Exicycler[™] 96 Real Time Quantitative Thermal Block system (Bioneer, Daejeon, South Korea). Each PCR was conducted in duplicate in a 25 μ L volume using the iQ SYBR Green supermix for 5 min at 95 $^{\circ}$ for the initial denaturing, followed by 40 cycles of 95 $^\circ\!\!\mathbb{C}$ for 15 s and 56 $^\circ\!\!\mathbb{C}$ for 15 s. Detection of the fluorescence was set at the last step of each cycle. In order to determine the specificity of the amplification, a melting curve analysis was applied to all final PCR products after the cycling protocol. The results are representative of three independent experiments.

ROS measurement

Dihydrorhodamine123 (DHR123; Calbiochem, San Diego, United States) is a cell-permeable fluorogenic probe that is useful for detecting ROS such as peroxide and peroxynitrite. It is not fluorescent until oxidized by ROS to the highly fluorescent product Rhodamine123. The formation of Rhodamine123 can be monitored using a fluorescence spectroscopy with excitation and emission wavelengths of 500 and 536 nm, respectively. For the ROS level detection in the transient transfected HuH-7 using the novel mutants from this study, the cells (2×10^5) were seeded in 6-well plates. The day

after the transfection, the cells were treated with DHR123 at a final concentration of 10 $_{\mu}$ mol/L for 30 min and lysed with a ROS lysis buffer (5 mmol/L KH2PO4, 0.1 mmol/L EDTA, 0.1% Triton-X-100). Then, 100 $_{\mu}$ L of the cell lysate was transferred to Nunc immuno-microwell 96-well polystyrene plates (Nunclon, Carlsbad, United States) and analyzed using TECAN Infinite m200 pro (TECAN, Seestrasse, Switzerland) at an excitation of 500 nm and emission of 536 nm.

Ethics statement

This retrospective study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of Seoul National University Hospital (IRB Grant No. C-0803-013-237), and the patients' medical records were anonymized and de-identified prior to the analyses.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using GraphPad Prism v5.01 (GraphPad software, SD, United States) and figures were generated using the same program. Tables were prepared using Excel 2010 (Microsoft, United States). For continuous variables, a one-way ANOVA was used when the data exhibited a normal distribution. The results are expressed as a comparative ratio, the mean \pm SD, or as medians (range). A *P* value of < 0.05 (two-tailed) was considered to be statistically significant.

RESULTS

Mutation patterns of 10 HBsAg variants from Korean occult subjects

Previously, from 41 of 624 occult subjects (6.6%), we obtained the PCR amplicons using a nested PCR strategy targeting the large surface proteins (LHBs)^[14]. Finally, we selected ten unique types of HBsAg variant of genotype C via sequence analysis of amplified LHBs, which have not been reported in other studies, and these were used to elucidate the occult HBV infection mechanism. The respective variants were denoted by abbreviations derived from the distinct mutations in this study. The mutation patterns of the ten HBsAg variants and patient information were determined through comparisons with the amino acids of a reference strain from genotypes A to F in the same region. Briefly, in five (KD, LL, 172R, 182L, and STOP) of the ten HBsAg variants, the mutations were only located outside the "a" determinant (aa 124 to 147). It is noteworthy that two variants (PAHS and STOP) had a premature mutation of the 182th codon (sW182*), which has been reported to be related to the clinical severity of genotype C infected chronic patients^[12]. The PAHS and STOP variants had a total of eight and two mutations including sW182* in the HBsAg, respectively. In addition, 182L had a substitution in the 182th codon (W \rightarrow L), which has only been reported to exist in occult cases in South



able 1 M	utatio	n pat	terns	of te	n vari	ants f	rom	Korea	an oc	cult s	ubject	s four	ni br	the h	epatit	is B s	urface	e antig	gen re	gion														
lumber	17	32	33	36	44	47	52	56	61	66	73	85	101	107	111	11	7 126	127	129	130	134	140	145	146	158	170	172	177	182	195	204	206	220	227
Aminoacid	Α	Г	Ω	Μ	U	Г	Z	Ч	S	Ъ	R	ц	Ø	U	Ъ	S	Ι	Ъ	0	U	ц	Г	U	z	щ	ц	Μ	Λ	Μ	-	s	Y	ц	*
Genotype A				•		>	•	•	•	·	·	•	·	•	·	·	Γ		•			•												*
Genotype B					Щ	>	•	Ø	·	·	·	U	·	•	·	·	Г		•			•												*
Genotype C1		•		·		•	•	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·		•	•		•												*
Genotype C2		•		•			·	•	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·					•												*
Genotype D		•		•		>	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	Г	·	·	·	Х	•			·									*
Genotype E			•	•		>	·	•	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	Η	Ц		·	·	•							•					*
Genotype F						Ч	·		·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	A	Ц		·	·	•			·						Z			*
Vor (WT)		•		•			·	•	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	•					•												*
Z		•		•			·	•	·	·	·	·	·	•	·	·	Г		Z			•												*
FALR	H	•					·		·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·			·		A			Ц				•			Ч		*
ALK		•	U	•		V	·	•	Ц	·	·	·	Ч	·	·	·	•					•		Ω						Σ				*
Ð			•	Ц	•	Ч	Ω	•	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·		•	•		•							•					*
ONR				•			•	•	·	·	U	•	·	•	·	Z	•		•	ы		•												*
T				•			•	•	·	·	·	•	·	•	Ц	·	•		•			•											Г	*
SHR		С,		•		A	•	•	·	Η	·	S	·	A	·	·	•		•			•	ы			С.			*					
172R			•	•	•	•	·	•	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·		•	•		•					Ч		•					*
182L				•			·	•	·	·	·	•	·	·	·	·	·		•			•							Г					*
Stop	·	·	·	·	·	•	·	·	·	·	•	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	•	·	·	·	·					A	*					

Black asterisk (★): Stop codon; Nor (WT): Normal (wild-type); TN: 1126T, Q129N; TALR: A17T, T140A, F158L, Y206R; ALK: D33G, T47A, S61L, Q101K, N146D, 1195M; KD: W36L, T47K, N52D; CNR: R73C, S117N, G130R; LL: P111L F220L; PAHS: L32P, T47A, P66H, F85S, C107W, G145R, F170P; 172R: W172R; 182L: W182L; Stop: V177A, W182Stop.

Korea, but not in chronic patients (Tables 1 and $2)^{[14]}$.

Comparison of HBsAg and virion secretion capacity according to occult infection-related HBsAg variants

In order to address the issue of whether the occult HBV infection may be attributed to a reduced secretion capacity of the occult infection-related HBsAg variants, we analyzed the HBsAg secretion capacity of ten different types of HBsAg variants using a commercial HBsAg ELISA kit in a transient co-transfection system with both the oHY92-1.1x-full HBV genome construct (Genotype A, GeneBank No.AF305422), which is not capable of HBsAg expression via abrogation of the start codon (pHY92-delS), and the pIRES2-EGFP-HBV small surface plasmid vector into the HuH-7 cell (Figure 1)

antigenicity through the mutations. Meanwhile, in order to investigate the effect of the occult-related variants on virion formation, we verified the amounts of viral DNAs excluding the two variants TN and TALR, could not be secreted into the media, which is similar to the secretion level seen in the negative control (MOCK). This ndicates that the HBV occult infections from these subjects may result from the lack of HBsAg secretion capacity. The eight variants exhibiting an HBsAg secretion HBsAg, similar to the negative control (MOCK), and this indicated that their reduced secretion level might result from a problem of HBsAg protein stability or changed rom the medium and cell lysates of co-transfected HuH-7 cells using a real-time quantitative-DNA PCR. The results revealed that the level of extracellular viral DNA All ten HBsAg variants exhibited a significantly reduced secretion capacity of HBsAg into the media compared with the wild type. In particular, eight variants, capacity similar to the negative level were divided into two groups according to the detected intracellular HBsAg level. One group included two variants (ALK and KD) hat exhibited higher levels of intracellular HBsAg than the wild type, which indicated that their reduced HBsAg secretion might result from increased intracellular accumulation of the HBsAg variants. The second group included six variants (CNR, LL, PAHS, 172R, 182L, and STOP) that exhibited very low levels of intracellular rom nine occult-related variants (except "STOP") was almost equal to (ALK, KD, 172R, and 182L) or higher (TN, TALR, CNR, LL, and PAHS) than that of the wild type.



Table 2 Clinical, genotype, hepatitis B virus bDNA, and serologic data of the ten subjects with hepatitis B surface antigen variants used in the present study

Samples	Age	Sex	Genotype	HBV bDNA (copies/mL)	HBsAg	Anti-HBs	Mutations	Abbreviation
1	60	F	C2	< 2000	Negative	Negative	I126T, Q129N	TN
2	53	М	C2	< 2000	Negative	Negative	A17T, T140A, F158L, Y206R	TALR
3	60	F	C2	< 2000	Negative	Positive	D33G, T47A, S61L, Q101K, N146D, I195M	ALK
4	54	Μ	C2	< 2000	Negative	Negative	W36L, T47K, N52D	KD
5	44	Μ	C2	< 2000	Negative	Positive	R73C, S117N, G130R	CNR
6	41	F	C2	< 2000	Negative	Negative	P111L, F220L	LL
7	42	М	C2	< 2000	Negative	Negative	L32P, T47A, P66H, F85S, C107W, G145R, F170P,	PAHS
							W182Stop	
8	73	М	C2	< 2000	Negative	Negative	W172R	172R
9	30	М	C2	< 2000	Negative	Positive	W182L	182L
10	3	F	C2	< 2000	Negative	Negative	V177A, W182Stop	Stop

HBsAg: Hepatitis B surface antigen; Anti-HBs: Anti-hepatitis B surface; F: Female; M: Male; HBV: Hepatitis B virus.

Table 3 Classification of the ten novel mutants according to the secretion level of hepatitis B surface antigen and viral DNA formation capacity

Grouping	Mutants	sAg	level	Viral Di	IA level
		Extracellular	Intracellular	Extracellular	Intracellular
Ι	TN	Positive	Positive	Higher than WT	Similar to WT
	TALR	Positive	Positive	Higher than WT	Similar to WT
П	ALK	Negative	Highly positive	Similar to WT	Similar to WT
	KD	Negative	Highly positive	Similar to WT	Similar to WT
Ш	CNR	Negative	Weakly positive	Higher than WT	Similar to WT
	LL	Weakly Positive	Weakly positive	Higher than WT	Higher than WT
	PAHS	Negative	Negative	Higher than WT	Similar to WT
IV	172R	Negative	Weakly positive	Lower than WT	Lower than WT
	182L	Negative	Weakly positive	Lower than WT	Lower than WT
V	Stop	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative

sAg: Surface antigen; WT: Wild type.

This indicates that most occult-related HBsAg variants do not affect the HBV virion formation. The levels of intracellular viral DNA of seven variants (TN, TALR, ALK, KD, CCNR, LL, and PAHS) were equal to or higher than that of the wild type. However, the remaining three variants (172R, 182L, and STOP) exhibited very low levels of intracellular and extracellular HBsAg, and they also exhibited significantly lower intracellular viral DNA levels than that of the wild type (Figure 2).

Collectively considering the effects of the occult infection-related HBsAg variants on HBsAg and HBV virion formation, the ten different types of HBV variants analyzed in this study were categorized into five groups. Group I included two variants (TN and TALR) and they displayed intracellular and extracellular HBsAg secretion and viral DNA levels similar to that of the wild type. Group II also included two variants (ALK and KD) that exhibited very low levels of HBsAg secretion, but a higher level of accumulated intracellular HBsAg compared with the wild type. Group Ⅲ included three variants (CNR, LL, and PAHS) that exhibited very low levels of both secreted and intracellular HBsAg secretion, but similar levels of viral DNA compared with the wild type. Group $\ensuremath{\mathbb{N}}$ included two variants (172R and 182L) that exhibited very low levels of both secreted and intracellular HBsAg secretion, and also

lower levels of viral DNA compared with the wild type. Group V included only the STOP variant, and it cannot produce HBsAg or virions in intracellular or secreted forms (Table 3).

Comparison with ROS production between the ten variants and the wild type

Alteration of the secretion capacity of the HBsAgs and HBV virions could lead to ROS production via the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress pathway^[29,30]. In order to address the issue of whether the ten HBsAg variants used in this study could lead to ROS production compared with the wild type, we compared the ROS production of the 11 types of HBsAg (the ten variants and the wild type) using a DHR123 system, 24 h after co-transfection of both plasmids of pHY92delS and pIRES2-EGFP-HBV small surface plasmid presenting occult HBV variants, respectively. Although generally all variants produced higher levels of ROS compared with the wild type, the ROS production differed substantially among the variants. While seven variants (TN, TALR, ALK, KD, CCNR, LL, and PAHS) belonging to Groups I, II, and III produced relatively high levels of ROS production, the remaining three variants (172R, 182L, and STOP) belonging to Groups ${\rm IV}$ and ${\rm V}$ produced ROS levels similar to that of the



Kim H et al. HBsAgs of lowered secretion capacity



HBsAg ELISA/ β -galactosidase/Q-PCR/ROS effect Assay

Figure 1 Schematic experimental strategy used in this study. Briefly, one microgram of pHY92-1.1x-HBV-small S (-) having a full-genome of hepatitis B virus (HBV) with a knock-out small surface open reading frame (ORF) was co-transfected with three micrograms of pIRES2-EGFP-HBV-small S expressing the sub-genome of small surface region, which has ten variants including mock and wild-type into HuH-7 cell line transiently. After co-transfection, HuH-7 cells were incubated for 2 d. Supernatant and lysed pellet were collected and used for various assays. The tests were performed in triplicate. HBsAg: Hepatitis B surface antigen; ELISA: Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay; Q-PCR: Quantitative polymerase chain reaction; ROS: Reactive oxygen species; Neo/Kan R: Neomycin and Kanamycin resistance.

wild type. In particular, the ROS production of two variants (KD and PAHS) was statistically significantly higher than that of the wild type (Figure 3).

DISCUSSION

To date, studies of occult infection related HBsAg mutations have primarily focused on mutations in the "a" determinant to produce the occult infection or generation of vaccine escape variants through reduction of the binding affinity between the HBsAg and antibody to HBsAg^[31-34]. Among these, the mutation from glycine to arginine in the 145th codon of HBsAg (*i.e.*, G145R) has been most frequently encountered^[33,34]. However, this is not the case in South Korea where the genotype C infection is prevalent. It has been reported that the mutation of G145R is not

responsible (but if so, rarely) for the occult infection in Korean subjects. Our previous report demonstrated that, in South Korea, the HBsAg variants of genotype C related to the occult infection harbored multiple mutations within HBsAg, primarily located outside the "a" determinant^[14]. In this study, we attempted to uncover the molecular mechanism underlying the occult infection of HBV endemic areas such as South Korea using ten novel types of HBsAg variants from Korean subjects.

The transient transfection study using a total of ten novel HBsAg variants offers several noteworthy findings. First, defects in the HBsAg secretions may be a significant mechanism underlying occult infections. Although all variants exhibited lower levels of HBsAg secretion capacity, substantial differences between types of HBsAg variants were found. The





Figure 2 Secretion capacity and viral DNA formation of occult hepatitis B surface antigen variants. Extracellular secreted hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) and intracellular expressed HBsAg from cell lysate were measured using a commercial HBsAg enzyme linked immunosorbent assay kit normalized via a β-galactosidase assay. After purification of the viral DNA from the supernatant and cell lysate using a total viral DNA preparation kit, detection of the viral DNA from both intracellular and extracellular was performed using real-time quantitative DNA-polymerase chain reaction assays. The hepatitis B virus DNA was normalized via a β-galactosidase assay. The tests were performed in triplicate (mean ± SD). sAg: Surface antigen. ^aP < 0.05, ^bP < 0.01 vs wild type (Nor) group.



40

Figure 3 Effect of occult hepatitis B surface antigen variants on the reactive oxygen species system. The reactive oxygen species level according to the occult hepatitis B virus variants in transient transfected HuH-7 was measured using 20 $\mu \text{mol/L}$ of DHR123 reagent, which can detect reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as peroxide and peroxynitrite. The tests were performed in triplicate (mean \pm SD). ^aP < 0.05, ^bP < 0.01 vs wild type (Nor) group.

two variants of Group II (KD and ALK) exhibited high levels of intracellular accumulation, but not secretion, which could lead to ER accumulation of the mutated HBsAg without protein degradation via an impaired ER-associated degradation process^[29].

The six variants of Groups III, IV, and V exhibited low levels of HBsAg in both intracellular and secretory forms. For this, mechanisms such as antigenicity modification or protein stability defects could be proposed. Considering most variants (four of the six) did not have "a" determinant mutations, defects in protein stability of the variants rather than antigenicity modification is more probable. Furthermore, despite the defects of the HBsAg secretion capacity, most variants had potential for virion secretion comparable with or even higher than that of the wild type. This indicates higher normal infectivity, but was not detectable using the commercial HBsAg ELISA Kit. However, it could provide a probable explanation regarding the relatively high levels of occult infection prevalence in South Korea, as reported previously^[14].

Second, our previous report demonstrated that, including the W182L and sW182* mutations, the 182nd codon was the most frequently affected among the mutations of HBsAg in the occult subjects (15/41 subjects). sW182* was also reported to be related to liver disease progression in Korean chronic patients^[12]. However, W182L was distinct in the occult infection, because it was not found in chronic Korean patients^[14]. Three types of variants with mutations

in the 182^{nd} codon (PAHS and 182L of Group IV, and STOP of Group V) were included in this study. There were substantial differences in the virion formation between PAHS with eight mutations and STOP with two mutations, although both had sW182*. In STOP, HBsAg production and virion were not found, as demonstrated in the previous report using the full HBV pHY92 construct with sW182* generated using site-directed mutagenesis^[12], which indicates abortive production of mutated HBsAq. However, PAHS exhibited recovered HBV virion formation despite having sW182* even with a higher secretory virion level than the wild type, which indicates a role of additional mutations for virion formation. Despite the single mutation, 182L also exhibited a secretion profile similar to that of PAHS, with secretory HBV virion, but without HBsAg secretion. Therefore, collectively, our data proved that the 182nd codon has a pivotal function in HBsAg secretion. Furthermore, our data also provided a probable explanation regarding why mutation in the 182th codon is so prevalent in the occult subjects.

Third, considering previous reports that implicated reduced HBsAg in the induction of the ER stress pathway^[29], HBsAg secretion deficiency via accumulation of occult-related HBsAg mutations may also provide links between the occult infection and progression of liver disease. In order to address this issue, we compared the ROS production that was expected to be induced by the ER stress pathway between the ten HBsAg variants and the wild type. Our data strongly supported the hypothesis that occult-related HBsAg variants could induce ROS induction in hepatocytes via the ER stress pathway, which increases the potential of liver disease progression; however, our data also demonstrated disparities in potentials to elicit ROS production in the hepatocytes among the HBV variants. This indicates differences in the ER stress inducing potentials and kinetics according to the mutation patterns of the HBsAg variants. The exact role of the respective mutation in inducing the ER stress-ROS axis remains to be elucidated in a future study.

In conclusion, our data indicate that deficiency in the secretion capacity of HBsAg, but not virion, that is induced by HBsAg mutations (particularly outside the "a" determinant) may have a pivotal function in occult infections of HBV genotype C, at least in occult infections in South Korea. Furthermore, it also provided new insight into the intrinsic nature of HBV occult infections, which leads to HBsAg seronegativeness but horizontal infectivity. In addition, proving ROS production *via* possible induction of ER stress by HBsAg variants in hepatocytes would provide a probable explanation for the links between occult infection and liver disease progression.

COMMENTS

Background

A large body of evidence has demonstrated that occult hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection is highly prevalent, particularly in HBV endemic areas. Recently, various types of novel hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) variants of genotype C2 from Korean occult subjects have been introduced. This study elucidates the mechanisms related to occult infection of genotype C2 HBsAg variants introduced in a previous study, primarily focusing on the extracellular secretion capacity of HBV virion and HBsAg.

Research frontiers

These data indicate that deficiency in the secretion capacity of HBsAg, but not virion, that is induced by the HBsAg mutations (particularly outside the "a" determinant) may have a pivotal function in occult infections of HBV genotype C, at least in occult infections in South Korea.

Innovations and breakthroughs

Recent reports have highlighted the importance of "a" determinant mutations such as G145R as a major mechanism underlying occult infection. However, it is not the case in Korean occult subjects. This is the first study to report that deficiency in the secretion capacity of HBsAg variants (particularly outside the "a" determinant) may have a pivotal function in occult infections of HBV genotype C. Furthermore, this study proved reactive oxygen species production *via* possible induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress by HBsAg variants in hepatocytes, providing a probable explanation for the links between occult infection and liver disease progression.

Applications

The co-transient transfection system of both HBV full genomic DNA and occult infection related HBsAg variants introduced in this study could be effectively used for the development of a novel HBsAg detection method or for the screening of new vaccine escape or occult infection related mutants.

Terminology

Occult HBV infection is defined as the infection state negative for HBsAg serology, but it has shown viral genome persistence in infected individuals. In general, HBV infection is diagnosed when the circulating HBsAg is serologically detected. However, recent progress in molecular-based technology has enabled HBV infection to be proven from HBsAg negative individuals with or without circulating antibodies to HBsAg and/or hepatitis B core antigen.

Peer-review

The authors examined the underlying mechanism of HBV occult infection focusing on ten HBsAg variants from Korean occult subjects, recently introduced by the authors. It was revealed that all variants exhibited lower levels of HBsAg secretion into the medium, but similar level of virions, compared with the wild type. Furthermore, most variants generated higher reactive oxidative species production than the wild type. The results are interesting and may represent a molecular mechanism of HBV genotype C occult infection.

REFERENCES

- Kao JH, Chen PJ, Lai MY, Chen DS. Genotypes and clinical phenotypes of hepatitis B virus in patients with chronic hepatitis B virus infection. *J Clin Microbiol* 2002; 40: 1207-1209 [PMID: 11923332]
- 2 Lavanchy D. Worldwide epidemiology of HBV infection, disease burden, and vaccine prevention. *J Clin Virol* 2005; 34 Suppl 1: S1-S3 [PMID: 16461208]
- 3 Chen DS. From hepatitis to hepatoma: lessons from type B viral hepatitis. *Science* 1993; **262**: 369-370 [PMID: 8211155]
- 4 **Korea Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.** National Health and Nutrition Survey. Korea Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2007
- 5 Kim HJ, Park JH, Jee Y, Lee SA, Kim H, Song BC, Yang S, Lee M, Yoon JH, Kim YJ, Lee HS, Hwang ES, Kook YH, Kim BJ. Hepatitis B virus X mutations occurring naturally associated with clinical severity of liver disease among Korean patients with chronic genotype C infection. J Med Virol 2008; 80: 1337-1343 [PMID: 18551606 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.21219]

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

- 6 Orito E, Mizokami M, Sakugawa H, Michitaka K, Ishikawa K, Ichida T, Okanoue T, Yotsuyanagi H, Iino S. A case-control study for clinical and molecular biological differences between hepatitis B viruses of genotypes B and C. Japan HBV Genotype Research Group. *Hepatology* 2001; 33: 218-223 [PMID: 11124839 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2001.20532]
- 7 Song BC, Kim SH, Kim H, Ying YH, Kim HJ, Kim YJ, Yoon JH, Lee HS, Cha CY, Kook YH, Kim BJ. Prevalence of naturally occurring surface antigen variants of hepatitis B virus in Korean patients infected chronically. *J Med Virol* 2005; **76**: 194-202 [PMID: 15834881 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.20354]
- 8 Kim BJ. Hepatitis B virus mutations related to liver disease progression of Korean patients. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 460-467 [PMID: 24574714 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i2.460]
- 9 Mun HS, Lee SA, Jee Y, Kim H, Park JH, Song BC, Yoon JH, Kim YJ, Lee HS, Hyun JW, Hwang ES, Kook YH, Kim BJ. The prevalence of hepatitis B virus preS deletions occurring naturally in Korean patients infected chronically with genotype C. *J Med Virol* 2008; 80: 1189-1194 [PMID: 18461612 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.21208]
- 10 Lee SA, Mun HS, Kim H, Lee HK, Kim BJ, Hwang ES, Kook YH, Kim BJ. Naturally occurring hepatitis B virus X deletions and insertions among Korean chronic patients. *J Med Virol* 2011; 83: 65-70 [PMID: 21108340 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.21938]
- 11 Mun HS, Lee SA, Kim H, Hwang ES, Kook YH, Kim BJ. Novel F141L pre-S2 mutation in hepatitis B virus increases the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with chronic genotype C infections. *J Virol* 2011; 85: 123-132 [PMID: 20962085]
- 12 Lee SA, Kim K, Kim H, Kim BJ. Nucleotide change of codon 182 in the surface gene of hepatitis B virus genotype C leading to truncated surface protein is associated with progression of liver diseases. *J Hepatol* 2012; 56: 63-69 [PMID: 21827734 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.06.028]
- 13 Kim DW, Lee SA, Hwang ES, Kook YH, Kim BJ. Naturally occurring precore/core region mutations of hepatitis B virus genotype C related to hepatocellular carcinoma. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e47372 [PMID: 23071796 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047372]
- 14 Kim H, Lee SA, Kim DW, Lee SH, Kim BJ. Naturally occurring mutations in large surface genes related to occult infection of hepatitis B virus genotype C. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e54486 [PMID: 23349904 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054486]
- 15 Kim DW, Lee SA, Kim H, Won YS, Kim BJ. Naturally occurring mutations in the nonstructural region 5B of hepatitis C virus (HCV) from treatment-naïve Korean patients chronically infected with HCV genotype 1b. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: e87773 [PMID: 24489961 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0087773]
- 16 Lee SA, Kim KJ, Kim DW, Kim BJ. Male-specific W4P/R mutation in the pre-S1 region of hepatitis B virus, increasing the risk of progression of liver diseases in chronic patients. *J Clin Microbiol* 2013; 51: 3928-3936 [PMID: 24025913 DOI: 10.1128/jcm.01505-13]
- 17 Bowden S, Bartholomeusz A, Locarnini S. Lamivudine resistant occult HBV: implications for public health? *J Hepatol* 2003; 38: 526-528 [PMID: 12663248 DOI: 10.1016/S0168-8278(03)00079-5]
- 18 Raimondo G, Pollicino T, Cacciola I, Squadrito G. Occult hepatitis B virus infection. *J Hepatol* 2007; 46: 160-170 [PMID: 17112622 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2006.10.007]
- 19 **Torbenson M**, Thomas DL. Occult hepatitis B. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2002; **2**: 479-486 [PMID: 12150847]
- 20 Yu ML, Dai CY, Huang CF, Lee JJ, Yeh ML, Yeh SM, Kuo HT, Huang JF, Chang JM, Chen HC, Juo SH, Hwang SJ, Chuang WL. High hepatitis B virus surface antigen levels and favorable interleukin 28B genotype predict spontaneous hepatitis C virus

clearance in uremic patients. *J Hepatol* 2014; **60**: 253-259 [PMID: 24096049 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-014-9527-7]

- 21 Morris CJ, Hill M, de Medina M, Herman C, Cloherty GA, Martin P. Comparison of detection and quantification of HBV DNA in chronic HBeAg negative and positive patients by Abbott RealTime HBV and Roche Cobas TaqMan HBV assays. *J Virol Methods* 2013; **193**: 391-393 [PMID: 23835030 DOI: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2013.06.036]
- 22 Chen CF, Lee WC, Yang HI, Chang HC, Jen CL, Iloeje UH, Su J, Hsiao CK, Wang LY, You SL, Lu SN, Chen CJ. Changes in serum levels of HBV DNA and alanine aminotransferase determine risk for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gastroenterology* 2011; **141**: 1240-1248, 1248.e1-e2 [PMID: 21703214 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.06.036]
- 23 Squadrito G, Cacciola I, Alibrandi A, Pollicino T, Raimondo G. Impact of occult hepatitis B virus infection on the outcome of chronic hepatitis C. *J Hepatol* 2013; 59: 696-700 [PMID: 23751755 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.07.008]
- Huang X, Hollinger FB. Occult hepatitis B virus infection and hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review. *J Viral Hepat* 2014;
 21: 153-162 [PMID: 24438677 DOI: 10.1111/jvh.12222]
- 25 Sagnelli E, Coppola N, Scolastico C, Mogavero AR, Filippini P, Piccinino F. HCV genotype and "silent" HBV coinfection: two main risk factors for a more severe liver disease. *J Med Virol* 2001; 64: 350-355 [PMID: 11424125]
- 26 Samal J, Kandpal M, Vivekanandan P. Molecular mechanisms underlying occult hepatitis B virus infection. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2012; 25: 142-163 [PMID: 22232374 DOI: 10.1128/cmr.00018-11]
- 27 Kwei K, Tang X, Lok AS, Sureau C, Garcia T, Li J, Wands J, Tong S. Impaired virion secretion by hepatitis B virus immune escape mutants and its rescue by wild-type envelope proteins or a second-site mutation. *J Virol* 2013; 87: 2352-2357 [PMID: 23221548 DOI: 10.1128/jvi.02701-12]
- 28 Yang H, Westland C, Xiong S, Delaney WE. In vitro antiviral susceptibility of full-length clinical hepatitis B virus isolates cloned with a novel expression vector. *Antiviral Res* 2004; 61: 27-36 [PMID: 14670591]
- 29 Chua PK, Wang RY, Lin MH, Masuda T, Suk FM, Shih C. Reduced secretion of virions and hepatitis B virus (HBV) surface antigen of a naturally occurring HBV variant correlates with the accumulation of the small S envelope protein in the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus. *J Virol* 2005; **79**: 13483-13496 [PMID: 16227269 DOI: 10.1128/jvi.79.21.13483-13496.2005]
- Ji C, Kaplowitz N. ER stress: can the liver cope? J Hepatol 2006;
 45: 321-333 [PMID: 16797772 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2006.06.004]
- 31 Lada O, Benhamou Y, Poynard T, Thibault V. Coexistence of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBs Ag) and anti-HBs antibodies in chronic hepatitis B virus carriers: influence of "a" determinant variants. J Virol 2006; 80: 2968-2975 [PMID: 16501106 DOI: 10.1128/jvi.80.6.2968-2975.2006]
- 32 Banerjee A, Chandra PK, Datta S, Biswas A, Bhattacharya P, Chakraborty S, Chakrabarti S, Bhattacharya SK, Chakravarty R. Frequency and significance of hepatitis B virus surface gene variant circulating among 'antiHBc only' individuals in Eastern India. *J Clin Virol* 2007; 40: 312-317 [PMID: 17997353 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcv.2007.08.009]
- Mu SC, Lin YM, Jow GM, Chen BF. Occult hepatitis B virus infection in hepatitis B vaccinated children in Taiwan. *J Hepatol* 2009; 50: 264-272 [PMID: 19070923 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2008.09.017]
- 34 Amini-Bavil-Olyace S, Vucur M, Luedde T, Trautwein C, Tacke F. Differential impact of immune escape mutations G145R and P120T on the replication of lamivudine-resistant hepatitis B virus e antigen-positive and -negative strains. *J Virol* 2010; 84: 1026-1033 [PMID: 19889778 DOI: 10.1128/jvi.01796-09]

P- Reviewer: Kuhns MC, Peng CY S- Editor: Gou SX L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu XM



WJG | www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1804 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1804-1813 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

Overexpression of B7-H3 augments anti-apoptosis of colorectal cancer cells by Jak2-STAT3

Ting Zhang, Bo Jiang, Shi-Tao Zou, Fen Liu, Dong Hua

Ting Zhang, Shi-Tao Zou, Fen Liu, Institute of Cancer, Affiliated hospital of Jiangnan University, Wuxi 214062, Jiangsu Province, China

Bo Jiang, Dong Hua, Department of Oncology, Affiliated hospital of Jiangnan University, Wuxi 214062, Jiangsu Province, China

Author contributions: Zhang T and Jiang B contributed equally to this work and should be considered as co-first authors; Jiang B and Hua D designed the research; Zhang T, Zou ST and Liu F performed the research; Zhang T analyzed the data and wrote the paper; Jiang B and Hua D revised the paper.

Supported by Project of Natural Science Foundation of Jiangsu Province, No. BK2012542; and the Project of Hospital Management Center of Wuxi City, No. YGZ1108.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Dong Hua, MD, PhD, Department of Oncology, Affiliated hospital of Jiangnan University, No. 200 Huihe Road, Binhu District, Wuxi 214062, Jiangsu Province,

China. wx89211@163.com Telephone: +86-510-88682109 Fax: +86-510-85808820 Received: July 25, 2014 Peer-review started: July 26, 2014 First decision: August 27, 2014 Revised: September 19, 2014 Accepted: October 21, 2014 Article in press: October 21, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To investigate the role of the overexpression of *B7-H3* in apoptosis in colorectal cancer cell lines and the underlying molecular mechanisms.

METHODS: SW620 cells that highly overexpressed B7-H3 (SW620-B7-H3-EGFP) and HCT8 cells stably transfected with B7-H3 shRNA (HCT8-shB7-H3) were previously constructed in our laboratory. Cells transfected with pIRES2-EGFP were used as negative controls (SW620-NC and HCT8-NC). Real-time PCR and western blotting analysis were used to detect the mRNA and protein expressions of the apoptosis regulator proteins Bcl-2, Bcl-xl and Bax. A cell proliferation assay was used to evaluate the survival rate and drug sensitivity of the cells. The effect of drug resistance was detected by a cell cycle assay. Active caspase-3 western blotting was used to reflect the anti-apoptotic ability of cells. Western blotting was also performed to determine the expression of proteins associated with the Jak2-STAT3 signaling pathway and the apoptosis regulator proteins after the treatment with AG490, a Jak2 specific inhibitor, in B7-H3 overexpressing cells. The data were analyzed by GraphPad Prism 6 using a non-paired *t*-test.

RESULTS: Whether by overexpression in SW620 cells or downregulation in HCT8, B7-H3 significantly affected the expression of anti- and pro-apoptotic proteins, at both the transcriptional and translational levels, compared with the negative control (P <0.05). A cell proliferation assay revealed that B7-H3 overexpression increased the drug resistance of cells and resulted in a higher survival rate (P < 0.05). In addition, the results of cell cycle and active caspase-3 western blotting proved that B7-H3 overexpression inhibited apoptosis in colorectal cancer cell lines (P <0.05). B7-H3 overexpression improved Jak2 and STAT3 phosphorylation and, in turn, increased the expression of the downstream anti-apoptotic proteins B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) and Bcl-xl, based on western blotting (P < 0.05). After treating B7-H3 overexpressing cells with the Jak2-specific inhibitor AG490, the phosphorylation of Jak2 and STAT3, and the expression of Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl, decreased accordingly (P < 0.05).



This finding suggested that the Jak2-STAT3 pathway is involved in the mechanism mediating the anti-apoptotic ability of B7-H3.

CONCLUSION: The overexpression of B7-H3 induces resistance to apoptosis in colorectal cancer cell lines by upregulating the Jak2-STAT3 signaling pathway, potentially providing new approaches to the treatment of colorectal cancer.

Key words: B7-H3; Overexpression; Colorectal cancer; B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2; Apoptosis; Signaling pathway; Jak2-STAT3

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: The expression of B7-H3 has been positively correlated with poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. Previous studies revealed the relationship between B7-H3 and tumor invasion and metastasis. In the present study, the role of B7-H3 in apoptosis in colorectal cancer was investigated. Our results showed that overexpression of B7-H3 induced resistance to apoptosis in colorectal cancer cell lines by upregulating the Jak2-STAT3 signaling pathway. These results provide a new vision for designing therapeutics targeting B7-H3 and its associated signaling pathways in the treatment of colorectal cancer.

Zhang T, Jiang B, Zou ST, Liu F, Hua D. Overexpression of B7-H3 augments anti-apoptosis of colorectal cancer cells by Jak2-STAT3. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1804-1813 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/ v21/i6/1804.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1804

INTRODUCTION

B7-H3, first identified in 2001, is a member of the human B7 family of proteins, sharing 20%-27% amino acid identity with other B7 family members. As an important co-stimulatory molecule, B7-H3 promotes the proliferation of T cells and induces interferon (IFN)- γ production in the presence of T cell receptor signaling^[1]. However, B7-H3 also acts as a T cell co-inhibitor. Most of the published data support the notion that B7-H3 inhibits T cell activation. Both mouse and human B7-H3 inhibit CD4 T cell activation and the production of effector cytokines such as IFN- γ and interleukin (IL)-4^[2]. However, the function of B7-H3 in natural immunity and cancer immunity remains unclear.

The expression of B7-H3 in human tumor cells is positively correlated with the degree of disease malignancy, and B7-H3 participates in the process of tumor cell immune escape^[3]. B7-H3 is highly ex-

pressed in many types of solid tumors, such as prostate cancer^[4], pancreatic cancer^[5], breast cancer^[6], and gastric cancer^[7]. Previous studies demonstrated a relationship between the expression of B7-H3 and poor prognosis in cancer patients^[5,8,9]. The expression of B7-H3 is also closely related to colorectal cancer (CRC)^[10]. Expression of B7-H3 not only has a negative relationship with prognosis in CRC^[11] and the number of T cells in the tumor microenvironment^[12] but also is positively correlated with invasion^[13] and metastasis^[14] in CRC.

The relationship between B7-H3 and the outcome of CRC cannot simply be explained by the regulation of B7-H3 in the immune system. The mechanism of abnormal B7-H3 expression in CRC and its role in the changes of tumor biological behavior need to be determined. Apoptosis, the process of programmed cell death, is an important field in tumor study^[15]. However, few published papers have studied the relationship between B7-H3 and apoptosis, particularly in CRC. Therefore, we focused on the function of B7-H3 in apoptosis in CRC cells to discover the signal transduction pathway involved.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Antibodies and reagents

Anti-human B7-H3, Bcl-2, Bcl-xl, Jak2, pJak2^{Tyr1007/1008}, STAT3, pSTAT3^{Tyr705}, and active caspase-3 antibodies were purchased from Abcam (Cambridge, MA, United States). An antibody against Bcl-2-associated X protein (Bax) was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. (Dallas, TX, United States). The horse-radish peroxidase conjugated secondary anti-mouse and anti-rabbit antibodies and the GAPDH antibody were from Beyotime (Nantong, China). Tryphostins AG490 was from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, United States). The Cell Counting Kit-8 (CCK-8) was purchased from Dojindo Laboratory (Kumamoto, Japan).

Cells and cell culture

Two human CRC cell lines, SW620 and HCT8, exhibited different expression levels of B7-H3. We constructed SW620 cells that expressed high level of B7-H3 (SW620-B7-H3-EGFP), and HCT8 cells stably transfected with B7-H3 shRNA (HCT8-shB7-H3). Cells transfected with pIRES2-EGFP were used as negative controls (SW620-NC and HCT8-NC). All cells were cultured in Dulbecco's high glucose modified eagles medium (DMEM) (HyClone GE Healthcare Life Sciences, South Logan, UT, United States) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO₂. AG490, a Jak2 protein tyrosine kinase inhibitor, was dissolved in DMSO at a final concentration of 100 µmol/L. Clinical chemotherapeutics Oxaliplatin (L-OHP) and 5-fluorouracil (5-Fu) were used to detect the anti-apoptotic ability

Baishideng®

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

of cancer cells.

RNA isolation, purification and first strand cDNA synthesis

Total RNA was isolated from 1.5×10^6 cells using TRIzol, following the manufacturer's instructions and quantified by a NanoDrop 2000 (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States). Total RNA was treated with RNase-free DNase to remove residual genomic DNA. The first strand cDNA was synthesized from 1 μ g RNA using an oligo-dT primer and AMV reverse transcriptase.

Relative real-time polymerase chain reaction

The expression levels of B7-H3, Bcl-2, Bcl-xl and Bax were analyzed relative to the level of the β -actin gene transcript using a Prism 7300 real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) instrument (Applied Biosystems Inc., Foster City, CA, United States). First-strand cDNA was amplified in a 20 μ L PCR reaction mixture: 10 μ L 2 × SYBR green PCR master mix, 0.4 μL 50 × ROX, 0.4 μ L of each specific primer sets, and ddH₂O added to 20 μ L. The sequences of primers were as follows: β-actin 5'- AGCGAGCATCCCCCAAAGTT-3' (sense), 5'-GGGCACGAAGGCTCATCATT-3' (antisense); B7-H3 5'-AGCACTGTGGTTCTGCCTCACA-3' (sense), 5'-CAC-CAGCTGTTTGGTATCTGTCAG-3' (antisense); Bcl-2 5'-CTGCACCTGACGCCCTTCACC-3' (sense), 5'-CA-CATGACCCCACCGAACTCAAAGA-3' (antisense); Bclxl 5'-GATCCCCATGGCAGCAGTAAAGCAAG-3' (sense), 5'-CCCCATCCCGGAAGAGTTCATTCACT-3' (antisense); Bax 5'-TCAACTGGGGCCGGGTTGTC-3' (sense), 5'-CCTGGTCTTGGATCCAGCC-3' (antisense). The PCR cycling consisted of 40 cycles of amplification of the cDNA with annealing at 60 ℃.

Western blotting

Western blotting was performed on whole-cell extracts prepared by lysing 1×10^6 cells in RIPA lysis buffer containing phosphatase inhibitor, protease inhibitor and 100 mmol/L PMSF (KeyGEN BioTECH, China) for 20 min on ice. The proteins were separated by 10% SDS-PAGE, except for active caspase-3 (15%), and then transferred onto a PVDF membrane (Merck Millipore, Germany). The membranes were blocked with 5% nonfat dry milk for 1 h at room temperature, and then incubated with the indicated antibodies at a concentration of 1:1000, except for Bax (1:100), at 4 °C overnight, followed by incubation with secondary antibody for 1 h at room temperature. The immunoreactive bands were visualized using Beyo ECL Plus (Beyotime, China).

Cell proliferation assay

Cells were seeded in 96-well plates at 5×10^3 - 8×10^3 cells/well and cultured overnight in DMEM. The next day, the medium was replaced with DMEM containing the different drugs with a two-fold concentration

gradient. After 48 h, cell proliferation was quantified by a CCK-8 assay to calculate the inhibition rate. The assays were repeated at least three times.

Cell cycle and apoptosis assays

To analyze the effect of drugs on the different phases of the cell cycle, cells were incubated with different drug concentrations for 48 h. Cells harvested from each sample were then fixed with cold 70% ethanol at 4 $^{\circ}$ C overnight. The cells then were incubated with RNase A at 37 $^{\circ}$ C for 30 min and stained for 30 min in propidium iodide staining solution in the dark. Cell cycle analyses were performed with a FACScantoII flow cytometer and ModFit LT software (Verity Software House, ME, United States). For apoptosis analyses, we referred to the data of the sub-G1 peak.

Statistical analyses

Differences in mean values between groups were analyzed by a non-paired *t*-test. At least three independent experiments were performed for all the studies. Differences were considered to be statistically significant when *P* values were < 0.05. All of the data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism 6 (GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA, United States).

RESULTS

Overexpression of B7-H3 inhibited apoptosis

To investigate the relationship between B7-H3 and apoptosis in CRC cell lines, we performed western blotting with cell extracts from SW620-NC, SW620-B7-H3-EGFP, HCT8-NC and HCT8-shB7-H3 to demonstrate the expression of the apoptosis regulator proteins of the Bcl-2 family, including the anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl and the pro-apoptotic protein Bax (Figure 1). Both B7-H3 overexpression in SW620 cells and downregulation in HCT8 cells affected the expression of anti- and pro-apoptotic proteins, at both the transcriptional and translational levels. In SW620-B7-H3-EGFP, the anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl showed increased expression compared with SW620-NC (P < 0.05), while expression of the pro-apoptotic protein Bax decreased (P < 0.05). We observed a similar phenomenon in HCT8 cells (P < 0.05). The expressions of B7-H3 and the antiapoptotic proteins were positively correlated in CRC cell lines. This suggested that the overexpression of B7-H3 might increase the resistance to apoptosis in tumor cells.

Overexpression of B7-H3 increased cell survival

To investigate whether B7-H3 altered the survival of CRC cells after chemotherapeutic treatment, we used a cell proliferation assay to detect the inhibition rate of SW620-NC, SW620-B7-H3-EGFP, HCT8-NC and HCT8-shB7-H3 treated with different concentrations of L-OHP and 5-Fu for 48 h (Figure 2). After treat-





Zhang T et al. B7-H3 augments anti-apoptosis by Jak2-STAT3

Figure 1 Overexpression of B7-H3 inhibits apoptosis. A: Real-time PCR for RNA levels of B7-H3, Bcl-2, Bcl-xl and Bax relative to β -actin in stably transfected SW620 cells, control cells (SW620-NC) and B7-H3 overexpressing cells (SW620-B7-H3-EGFP); B: Western blot analysis for B7-H3, Bcl-2, Bcl-xl, Bax and GAPDH protein levels in whole-cell lysates from the SW620 cells; C: Comparison of relative protein levels between the SW620 cells from (B); D: Real-time PCR for RNA levels of B7-H3, Bcl-2, Bcl-xl and Bax relative to β -actin in stably transfected HCT8 cell lines, the control cells (HCT8-NC) and the B7-H3 knockdown cells (HCT8-shB7-H3); E: Western blot analysis for B7-H3, Bcl-2, Bcl-xl, Bax and GAPDH protein levels in whole-cell lysates from the HCT8 cells; F: Comparison of relative protein levels in whole-cell lysates from the B7-H3, Bcl-2, Bcl-xl, Bax and GAPDH protein levels in whole-cell lysates from the HCT8 cells; F: Comparison of relative protein levels in whole-cell lysates from the HCT8 cells; F: Comparison of relative protein levels in whole-cell lysates from the HCT8 cells; F: Comparison of relative protein levels between the HCT8 cells; F: Comparison of relative protein levels between the HCT8 cells; F: Comparison of relative protein levels between the HCT8 cells from (E). *P < 0.05, *P < 0.01 vs control. Bax: Bcl-2-associated X protein; Bcl-2: B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2; Bcl-xl: B-cell lymphoma-extra large; NC: Negative control.

155



Zhang T et al. B7-H3 augments anti-apoptosis by Jak2-STAT3

Figure 2 Overexpression of B7-H3 increases cell survival. Stably transfected SW620 and HCT8 cell lines were incubated with 5-Fu or L-OHP for 48 h. A CCK-8 assay was used to detect the inhibition rate of cells treated with different concentration of different drugs. A: The control cells (SW620-NC) and the B7-H3 overexpressing cells (SW620-B7-H3-EGFP) were incubated with 5-Fu; B: The control cells (HCT8-NC) and the B7-H3 knockdown cells (HCT8-shB7-H3) were incubated with 5-Fu; C: SW620-NC and SW620-B7-H3-EGFP were incubated with L-OHP; D: HCT8-NC and HCT8-shB7-H3 were incubated with L-OHP. ^a*P* < 0.05 *vs* control. 5-Fu: 5-Fluorouracil; L-OHP: Oxaliplatin; NC: Negative control.

ment with L-OHP or 5-Fu at any concentration, the inhibition rate of SW620-B7-H3-EGFP was less than that of SW620-NC (P < 0.05). The HCT8 cells showed similar results (P < 0.05). Therefore, we hypothesized that overexpression of B7-H3 increased the cells' resistance to drugs, resulting in a higher survival rate in the cells that overexpressed B7-H3.

Overexpression of B7-H3 suppressed the apoptotic ability of CRC cells by weakening their sensitivity to drugs

We described the increased anti-apoptotic effect in the B7-H3 overexpressing cells above. To investigate the exact response to apoptosis resulting from chemotherapeutic treatment, we treated SW620-NC, SW620-B7-H3-EGFP, HCT8-NC and HCT8-shB7-H3 cells with a high concentration ($50 \mu g/mL$) of 5-Fu or L-OHP for 48 h. A cell cycle assay was used to detect the rate of apoptosis in each cell line, according to the sub-G1 peak (Figure 3A and B). We found that SW620-B7-H3-EGFP had stronger resistance to 5-Fu or L-OHP and less apoptosis compared with SW620-NC (P < 0.05). Similar results were found in the HCT8 cells (P < 0.01). We used western blotting to detect active caspase-3 and compare apoptosis rates

pairwise (Figure 3C). Similarly, the expression of active caspase-3 in B7-H3 overexpressing cells was less than that seen in cells with downregulated B7-H3. We concluded that overexpression of B7-H3 could inhibit apoptosis in CRC cell lines.

Overexpression of B7-H3 enhanced the anti-apoptotic

effect in CRC cells via activation of Jak2-STAT3 pathway We observed chemoresistance accompanied by decreased apoptosis in 5-Fu or L-OHP treated B7-H3 overexpressing cells; therefore, we investigated which signaling pathway was involved in the apoptotic response. The Jak2-STAT3 pathway was reported to regulate anti-apoptotic molecules downstream of B7-H3 in breast cancer cells^[16]. As can be seen in Figure 1A, the overexpression of B7-H3 indeed upregulated the expression of anti-apoptotic proteins. We therefore asked whether the Jak2-STAT3 pathway played the same role in CRC cells. We treated SW620-B7-H3-EGFP cells with the Jak2specific inhibitor AG490 for 24 h at final concentration of 1 µmol/L. We performed western blotting with whole-cell lysates from SW620 cells to detect the expression of Jak2, STAT3 and their phosphorylated forms. To investigate the involvement of the Jak2-



WJG | www.wjgnet.com





Figure 3 Overexpression of B7-H3 suppresses apoptosis in colorectal cancer cells by weakening the sensitivity to drugs. Stably transfected SW620 and HCT8 cell lines were incubated with a high concentration of 5-Fu or L-OHP (50 μ g/mL) for 48 h. A: The ratio of apoptosis was detected by cell cycle assay according to sub-G1 peak; B: Statistical results were used to analyze the rate of apoptosis from (A); C: Western blot analysis for active Caspase-3 and GAPDH protein levels in whole-cell lysates from stably transfected SW620 and HCT8 cell lines. ^aP < 0.05, ^bP < 0.01 vs control. 5-Fu: 5-Fluorouracil; L-OHP: Oxaliplatin.

STAT3 pathway in the anti-apoptotic effect of B7-H3, we also assayed the expression of downstream apoptotic regulator proteins by western blotting (Figure 4). We observed that the phosphorylation levels of Jak2 and STAT3 increased following B7-H3 overexpression (P < 0.05). After AG490 treatment, the phosphorylation level of STAT3 was almost abolished because of the inhibition of Jak2 tyrosine phosphorylation (P < 0.05). This result indicated that the effect of B7-H3 on STAT3 occurred through Jak2. The expression of the anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl decreased with reduced expression of phosphorylation level of Jak2 and STAT3 (P < 0.05), and the expression of the pro-apoptotic protein Bax increased correspondingly (P < 0.05). In summary, these results suggested that B7-H3 overexpression increased Jak2 phosphorylation, leading to higher STAT3 phosphorylation, which, in turn, led to the increased expression of the anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl. Thus, we confirmed that the Jak2-STAT3 signaling pathway played an important role in regulating the anti-apoptotic ability of B7-H3.

DISCUSSION

In this study, the role of B7-H3 in apoptosis in colorectal cancer cell lines was investigated. Overexpression of B7-H3 increased the anti-apoptotic ability and resistance to chemotherapeutics, whereas knockdown of B7-H3 led to increased sensitivity to drug-induced apoptosis. Furthermore, we proved that B7-H3 regulated the expression of Bcl-2, Bcl-xl and Bax *via* the Jak2-STAT3 signaling pathway to affect the anti-apoptotic ability of cancer cells.

First, we examined the B7-H3 expression level in CRC cell lines. B7-H3 was expressed at different levels in all cell lines. SW620 had lower B7-H3 expression, while HCT8 had higher expression. SW620 was therefore chosen to generate a B7-H3 upregulated stably transfected derivative cell line, and HCT8 was chosen to construct a B7-H3 downregulated stably transfected derivative cell line. Four stably transfected CRC cell lines were generated: the B7-H3 overe-xpressing cell line SW620-B7-H3-EGFP, the B7-H3 knockdown cell line HCT8-shB7-H3, and the control cell lines SW620-NC and HCT8-NC.

The apoptosis regulator Bcl-2 is a member of a family of evolutionarily related proteins. These proteins can be either pro-apoptotic (including Bax, Bad, Bak and Bok) or anti-apoptotic (including Bcl-2 proper, Bcl-xl, and Bcl-w). Bcl-2 is one of the most important oncogenes in apoptosis research^[17,18]. In our study, overexpression of B7-H3 caused the CRC cells to be more resistant to apoptosis because of the upregulation of Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl and the downregulation of Bax, thus reducing the sensitivity of cells to chemotherapeutics. In contrast, knockdown of B7-H3 increased drug-induced apoptosis. This is consistent with Zhao's investigation, in which silencing of B7-H3 increased the sensitivity of the human pancreatic carcinoma cell line Patu8988 to gemcitabine as a result of enhanced drug-induced apoptosis^[19]. This sug-



Figure 4 Overexpression of B7-H3 enhances the anti-apoptotic effect in colorectal cancer cells *via* the activation of the Jak2-STAT3 pathway. A: Western blot analysis with the control cells (SW620-NC), the B7-H3 overexpressing cells (SW620-B7-H3-EGFP) and the AG490 treated B7-H3 overexpressing cells (SW620-B7-H3-EGFP) and tr

gested that overexpression of B7-H3 in CRC patients made them inappropriate candidates for treatment with chemotherapeutics. This may also explain why the expression of B7-H3 is associated with poor prognosis in CRC^[11]. It may be important to downregulate the expression of B7-H3 in patients for them to benefit from drug-induced apoptosis.

STAT3 is a transcription factor that mediates the expression of a variety of genes in response to cell stimuli^[20,21], and thus plays a key role in many cellular processes, such as cell growth^[22] and apoptosis^[23]. It is activated through phosphorylation by the non-receptor tyrosine kinase Jak2, and high activity has been shown to predict resistance to chemotherapeutics resulting from the upregulation of anti-apoptotic proteins^[24]. Jak2-STAT3 signaling, while regulating many aspects of cancer development and progression, promotes invasion and metastasis^[25]. Interestingly, we found that upregulation of B7-H3 activated the phosphorylation of both Jak2 and STAT3, which led to the increased expression of Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl. This may explain why B7-H3 overexpressing cells were more resistant to drug-induced apoptosis. In a previous study, Liu et $al^{[16]}$ reported a similar finding in breast cancer. In that study, they only generated a B7-H3 knockdown model, and lacked a functional recruitment experiment. Our results confirmed the relationship between B7-H3 and the Jak2-STAT3 signal transduction pathway by both

B7-H3 downregulation and overexpression models. Furthermore, the blockage of Jak2 phosphorylation by its specific inhibitor AG490 resulted in a reduction in STAT3 phosphorylation and expression of antiapoptotic proteins in B7-H3 overexpressing cells. AG490, a specific Jak2 inhibitor, could block B7-H3 regulation of apoptosis related proteins, providing more insight into Jak2-STAT3 signal transduction and B7-H3.

A great deal of evidence exists that reinforces the link between inflammation and colorectal cancer^[26-28]. The molecular pathobiology of CRC implicates proinflammatory conditions in promoting the progression of tumor malignancy, invasion and metastasis^[29]. Patients with inflammatory bowel disease are at higher risk of CRC^[30]. Furthermore, the Jak2-STAT3 signaling pathway mediates the progression of inflammation^[31,32]. Activators of the Jak2-STAT3 signaling pathway are important factors released during inflammation^[33]. In particular, anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 activate STAT3 phosphorylation via Jak2^[34]. Oxidative stress and cytokines such as IL-6 also activate STAT3 by a Jak2-dependent mechanism^[35]. The primary consequence of the activation of this pathway is to promote inflammation-associated gene expression; however, pathway activation also regulates survivalassociated gene expression^[36]. The role of B7-H3 overexpression in tumor cells in activating the Jak2-



STAT3 signaling pathway augmented the activation of inflammation by Jak2-STAT3. This partially explained the reports of the negative relationship between B7-H3 and prognosis of CRC.

In summary, our study investigated the impact of the overexpression of B7-H3 in resistance to apoptosis mediated by the Jak2-STAT3 signaling pathway. We focused on the non-immunological function of B7-H3 in CRC. These results suggest that new CRC treatments could target B7-H3 overexpression or associated signaling pathways in tumors as a novel approach to weaken drug resistance.

COMMENTS

Background

Expression of B7-H3 has been positively correlated with poor prognosis in colorectal cancer (CRC). Previous studies have revealed the relationship between B7-H3 and tumor invasion and metastasis. However, the function of B7-H3 in apoptosis and the molecular mechanism involved in remains obscure.

Research frontiers

This study was performed to explore the role of B7-H3 in apoptosis in CRC cell lines through cellular and molecular biological methods. CRC cell lines that either up- or downregulated B7-H3 expression were constructed to detect the related indicators of apoptosis, such as the expression of apoptosis regulator proteins, the cell cycle and the expression of active Caspase-3 with drug treatment. Furthermore, the molecular mechanism of B7-H3 in regulating apoptosis was also discussed in detail.

Innovations and breakthroughs

This study showed that overexpression of B7-H3 induces resistance to apoptosis in issue 7 cell lines by upregulating the Jak2-STAT3 signaling pathway.

Applications

These results provide a new paradigm for designing treatment strategies targeting B7-H3 and signaling pathways in CRC treatment.

Peer-review

This study provides novel and interesting insights into the function of B7-H3 on tumor cells in addition to its co-inhibitory role in T cell activation.

REFERENCES

- Chapoval AI, Ni J, Lau JS, Wilcox RA, Flies DB, Liu D, Dong H, Sica GL, Zhu G, Tamada K, Chen L. B7-H3: a costimulatory molecule for T cell activation and IFN-gamma production. *Nat Immunol* 2001; 2: 269-274 [PMID: 11224528 DOI: 10.1038/85339]
- 2 Hofmeyer KA, Ray A, Zang X. The contrasting role of B7-H3. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008; 105: 10277-10278 [PMID: 18650376 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0805458105]
- 3 **Zang X**, Allison JP. The B7 family and cancer therapy: costimulation and coinhibition. *Clin Cancer Res* 2007; **13**: 5271-5279 [PMID: 17875755 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1030]
- 4 Yuan H, Wei X, Zhang G, Li C, Zhang X, Hou J. B7-H3 over expression in prostate cancer promotes tumor cell progression. *J Urol* 2011; 186: 1093-1099 [PMID: 21784485 DOI: 10.1016/ j.juro.2011.04.103]
- 5 Zhao X, Li DC, Zhu XG, Gan WJ, Li Z, Xiong F, Zhang ZX, Zhang GB, Zhang XG, Zhao H. B7-H3 overexpression in pancreatic cancer promotes tumor progression. *Int J Mol Med* 2013; 31: 283-291 [PMID: 23242015 DOI: 10.3892/ijmm.2012.1212]
- 6 Liu C, Liu J, Wang J, Liu Y, Zhang F, Lin W, Gao A, Sun M, Wang Y, Sun Y. B7-H3 expression in ductal and lobular breast cancer and its association with IL-10. *Mol Med Rep* 2013; 7: 134-138 [PMID: 23128494 DOI: 10.3892/mmr.2012.1158]
- 7 Arigami T, Uenosono Y, Hirata M, Yanagita S, Ishigami S, Natsugoe S. B7-H3 expression in gastric cancer: a novel molecular blood

marker for detecting circulating tumor cells. *Cancer Sci* 2011; **102**: 1019-1024 [PMID: 21251161 DOI: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2011.01877. x]

- 8 Brunner A, Hinterholzer S, Riss P, Heinze G, Brustmann H. Immunoexpression of B7-H3 in endometrial cancer: relation to tumor T-cell infiltration and prognosis. *Gynecol Oncol* 2012; 124: 105-111 [PMID: 21982044 DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2011.09.012]
- 9 Katayama A, Takahara M, Kishibe K, Nagato T, Kunibe I, Katada A, Hayashi T, Harabuchi Y. Expression of B7-H3 in hypopharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma as a predictive indicator for tumor metastasis and prognosis. *Int J Oncol* 2011; **38**: 1219-1226 [PMID: 21344157 DOI: 10.3892/ijo.2011.949]
- 10 Ingebrigtsen VA, Boye K, Nesland JM, Nesbakken A, Flatmark K, Fodstad Ø. B7-H3 expression in colorectal cancer: associations with clinicopathological parameters and patient outcome. *BMC Cancer* 2014; 14: 602 [PMID: 25139714 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2407 -14-602]
- 11 Ingebrigtsen VA, Boye K, Tekle C, Nesland JM, Flatmark K, Fodstad O. B7-H3 expression in colorectal cancer: nuclear localization strongly predicts poor outcome in colon cancer. *Int J Cancer* 2012; 131: 2528-2536 [PMID: 22473715 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.27566]
- 12 Sun J, Chen LJ, Zhang GB, Jiang JT, Zhu M, Tan Y, Wang HT, Lu BF, Zhang XG. Clinical significance and regulation of the costimulatory molecule B7-H3 in human colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 2010; **59**: 1163-1171 [PMID: 20333377 DOI: 10.1007/s00262-010-0841-1]
- 13 Lee H, Kim JH, Yang SY, Kong J, Oh M, Jeong DH, Chung JI, Bae KB, Shin JY, Hong KH, Choi I. Peripheral blood gene expression of B7 and CD28 family members associated with tumor progression and microscopic lymphovascular invasion in colon cancer patients. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* 2010; **136**: 1445-1452 [PMID: 20140740 DOI: 10.1007/s00432-010-0800-4]
- 14 Lupu CM, Eisenbach C, Lupu AD, Kuefner MA, Hoyler B, Stremmel W, Encke J. Adenoviral B7-H3 therapy induces tumor specific immune responses and reduces secondary metastasis in a murine model of colon cancer. *Oncol Rep* 2007; 18: 745-748 [PMID: 17671729]
- 15 Hassan M, Watari H, AbuAlmaaty A, Ohba Y, Sakuragi N. Apoptosis and molecular targeting therapy in cancer. *Biomed Res Int* 2014; 2014: 150845 [PMID: 25013758 DOI: 10.1155/2014/150845]
- 16 Liu H, Tekle C, Chen YW, Kristian A, Zhao Y, Zhou M, Liu Z, Ding Y, Wang B, Mælandsmo GM, Nesland JM, Fodstad O, Tan M. B7-H3 silencing increases paclitaxel sensitivity by abrogating Jak2/Stat3 phosphorylation. *Mol Cancer Ther* 2011; **10**: 960-971 [PMID: 21518725 DOI: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-11-0072]
- 17 Gómez-Fernández JC. Functions of the C-terminal domains of apoptosis-related proteins of the Bcl-2 family. *Chem Phys Lipids* 2014; 183: 77-90 [PMID: 24892727 DOI: 10.1016/j.chemphyslip. 2014.05.003]
- 18 Czabotar PE, Lessene G, Strasser A, Adams JM. Control of apoptosis by the BCL-2 protein family: implications for physiology and therapy. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2014; 15: 49-63 [PMID: 24355989 DOI: 10.1038/nrm3722]
- 19 Zhao X, Zhang GB, Gan WJ, Xiong F, Li Z, Zhao H, Zhu DM, Zhang B, Zhang XG, Li DC. Silencing of B7-H3 increases gemcitabine sensitivity by promoting apoptosis in pancreatic carcinoma. *Oncol Lett* 2013; 5: 805-812 [PMID: 23426281 DOI: 10.3892/ ol.2013.1118]
- 20 Nguyen AV, Wu YY, Lin EY. STAT3 and sphingosine-1-phosphate in inflammation-associated colorectal cancer. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 10279-10287 [PMID: 25132744 DOI: 10.3748/ wjg.v20.i30.10279]
- 21 **Qi QR**, Yang ZM. Regulation and function of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3. *World J Biol Chem* 2014; **5**: 231-239 [PMID: 24921012 DOI: 10.4331/wjbc.v5.i2.231]
- 22 **De Simone V**, Franzè E, Ronchetti G, Colantoni A, Fantini MC, Di Fusco D, Sica GS, Sileri P, MacDonald TT, Pallone F, Monteleone G, Stolfi C. Th17-type cytokines, IL-6 and TNF- α synergistically activate STAT3 and NF-kB to promote colorectal cancer cell growth. *Oncogene* 2014; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 25174402

DOI: 10.1038/onc.2014.286]

- 23 Kim SM, Lee JH, Sethi G, Kim C, Baek SH, Nam D, Chung WS, Kim SH, Shim BS, Ahn KS. Bergamottin, a natural furanocoumarin obtained from grapefruit juice induces chemosensitization and apoptosis through the inhibition of STAT3 signaling pathway in tumor cells. *Cancer Lett* 2014; **354**: 153-163 [PMID: 25130169 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2014.08.002]
- 24 Gritsko T, Williams A, Turkson J, Kaneko S, Bowman T, Huang M, Nam S, Eweis I, Diaz N, Sullivan D, Yoder S, Enkemann S, Eschrich S, Lee JH, Beam CA, Cheng J, Minton S, Muro-Cacho CA, Jove R. Persistent activation of stat3 signaling induces survivin gene expression and confers resistance to apoptosis in human breast cancer cells. *Clin Cancer Res* 2006; 12: 11-19 [PMID: 16397018 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-1752]
- 25 Teng Y, Ross JL, Cowell JK. The involvement of JAK-STAT3 in cell motility, invasion, and metastasis. *JAKSTAT* 2014; 3: e28086 [PMID: 24778926 DOI: 10.4161/jkst.28086]
- 26 Kim ER, Chang DK. Colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: the risk, pathogenesis, prevention and diagnosis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 9872-9881 [PMID: 25110418 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i29.9872]
- 27 Arthur JC, Gharaibeh RZ, Mühlbauer M, Perez-Chanona E, Uronis JM, McCafferty J, Fodor AA, Jobin C. Microbial genomic analysis reveals the essential role of inflammation in bacteriainduced colorectal cancer. *Nat Commun* 2014; 5: 4724 [PMID: 25182170 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms5724]
- 28 Wimberly AL, Forsyth CB, Khan MW, Pemberton A, Khazaie K, Keshavarzian A. Ethanol-induced mast cell-mediated inflammation leads to increased susceptibility of intestinal tumorigenesis in the APC Δ468 min mouse model of colon cancer. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2013; **37** Suppl 1: E199-E208 [PMID: 23320800 DOI: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2012.01894.x]
- 29 Cario E. The human TLR4 variant D299G mediates inflammation-

associated cancer progression in the intestinal epithelium. *Onco-immunology* 2013; **2**: e24890 [PMID: 24073372 DOI: 10.4161/ onci.24890]

- 30 Janakiram NB, Rao CV. The role of inflammation in colon cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol 2014; 816: 25-52 [PMID: 24818718 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-0348-0837-8_2]
- 31 Saravanan S, Islam VI, Babu NP, Pandikumar P, Thirugnanasambantham K, Chellappandian M, Raj CS, Paulraj MG, Ignacimuthu S. Swertiamarin attenuates inflammation mediators via modulating NF-κB/I κB and JAK2/STAT3 transcription factors in adjuvant induced arthritis. *Eur J Pharm Sci* 2014; **56**: 70-86 [PMID: 24582615 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejps.2014.02.005]
- 32 Zhang ZH, Yu LJ, Hui XC, Wu ZZ, Yin KL, Yang H, Xu Y. Hydroxy-safflor yellow A attenuates Aβ-42-induced inflammation by modulating the JAK2/STAT3/NF-κB pathway. *Brain Res* 2014; 1563: 72-80 [PMID: 24690200 DOI: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.03.03 6]
- 33 Gyurkovska V, Stefanova T, Dimitrova P, Danova S, Tropcheva R, Ivanovska N. Tyrosine kinase inhibitor tyrphostin AG490 retards chronic joint inflammation in mice. *Inflammation* 2014; 37: 995-1005 [PMID: 24473905 DOI: 10.1007/s10753-014-9820-6]
- 34 Regis G, Pensa S, Boselli D, Novelli F, Poli V. Ups and downs: the STAT1: STAT3 seesaw of Interferon and gp130 receptor signalling. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* 2008; 19: 351-359 [PMID: 18620071 DOI: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2008.06.004]
- 35 Planas AM, Gorina R, Chamorro A. Signalling pathways mediating inflammatory responses in brain ischaemia. *Biochem Soc Trans* 2006; 34: 1267-1270 [PMID: 17073799 DOI: 10.1042/ BST0341267]
- 36 Nicolas CS, Amici M, Bortolotto ZA, Doherty A, Csaba Z, Fafouri A, Dournaud P, Gressens P, Collingridge GL, Peineau S. The role of JAK-STAT signaling within the CNS. *JAKSTAT* 2013; 2: e22925 [PMID: 24058789 DOI: 10.4161/jkst.22925]

P- Reviewer: Pfistershammer K S- Editor: Yu J L- Editor: Stewart GJ E- Editor: Ma S







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1814 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1814-1820 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

Overexpression of Csk-binding protein decreases growth, invasion, and migration of esophageal carcinoma cells by controlling Src activation

Dong Zhou, Peng Dong, Yu-Min Li, Fa-Cai Guo, An-Ping Zhang, Run-Ze Song, Ya-Min Zhang, Zhi-Yong Li, Dong Yuan, Chuan Yang

Dong Zhou, Yu-Min Li, Gansu Provincial Key Laboratory of Digestive System Tumors, Lanzhou University Second Hospital, Lanzhou 730030, Gansu Province, China

Peng Dong, Department of Cardiology, Aviation General Hospital, Beijing 100012, China

Fa-Cai Guo, An-Ping Zhang, Run-Ze Song, Ya-Min Zhang, Zhi-Yong Li, Dong Yuan, Chuan Yang, Department of Vascular Surgery, Lanzhou University Second Hospital, Lanzhou 730030, Gansu Province, China

Author contributions: Zhou D and Dong P contributed to the work equally and should be regarded as co-first authors; Zhou D and Li YM designed the research; Zhou D, Dong P, Guo FC and Zhang AP performed the research; Zhang YM, Li ZY, Yuan D and Yang C analyzed data; Zhou D and Dong P wrote the paper.

Supported by Gansu Provincial Natural Science Foundation, No. 1308RJZA188; and the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities, No. lzujbky-2011-T03-16.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Yu-Min Li, PhD, Professor, Gansu Provincial Key Laboratory of Digestive System Tumors, Lanzhou University Second Hospital, 82 Cuiyingmen, Lanzhou 730030, Gansu Province, China. 13919951166@139.com

Telephone: +86-931-8942935

Received: May 24, 2014 Peer-review started: May 24, 2014 First decision: July 15, 2014 Revised: October 20, 2014 Accepted: December 19, 2014 Article in press: December 22, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To investigate the mechanisms by which Cskbinding protein (CBP) inhibits tumor progression in esophageal carcinoma.

METHODS: A CBP overexpressing esophageal carcinoma cell line (TE-1) was established. The growth, invasion, and migration of CBP-TE-1 cells, as well as the expression of Src were then determined and compared with those in normal TE-1 cells.

RESULTS: The expression of Src was decreased by the overexpression of CBP in TE-1 cells. The growth, invasion, and migration of TE-1 cells were decreased by the overexpression of CBP.

CONCLUSION: This study indicates that CBP may decrease the metastasis of esophageal carcinoma by inhibiting the activation of Src. CBP may be a potential tumor suppressor and targeting the *CBP* gene may be an alternative strategy for the development of therapies for esophageal carcinoma.

Key words: Csk-binding protein; Esophageal carcinoma; Cell growth; Invasion; Migration

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Csk-binding protein (CBP) is a ubiquitously expressed transmembrane protein and functions as a suppressor of Src-mediated tumor progression by promoting the inactivation of Src. Here, we established a CBP overexpressing esophageal carcinoma cell line



WJG www.wjgnet.com

(TE-1) and found that the overexpression of CBP significantly decreased the proliferation, invasion, and migration of TE-1 cells, accompanied by decreased activation of Src. These results indicate that CBP may decrease the metastasis of esophageal carcinoma by inhibiting the activation of Src. Targeting the *CBP* gene may be an alternative strategy for the development of therapies for esophageal carcinoma.

Zhou D, Dong P, Li YM, Guo FC, Zhang AP, Song RZ, Zhang YM, Li ZY, Yuan D, Yang C. Overexpression of Csk-binding protein decreases growth, invasion, and migration of esophageal carcinoma cells by controlling Src activation. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1814-1820 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1814.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1814

INTRODUCTION

Csk-binding protein (CBP), a ubiquitously expressed transmembrane protein, functions as a suppressor of Src-mediated tumor progression by promoting the inactivation of Src^[1,2]. CBP is widely reported to act as a scaffold in the Csk-mediated negative requlation of Src family kinases (SFKs)^[3,4]. First, CBP is phosphorylated by SFKs, then it associates with C-terminal Src kinase (Csk) through a specific site (Tyr-317 in humans) and brings it into proximity with membrane-associated SFKs. After that, Csk phosphorylates the C-terminal negative regulatory tyrosine residue of SFKs, which suppresses their activation^[1]. SFKs are membrane-associated non-receptor protein tyrosine kinases that play pivotal roles in regulating various cellular processes including proliferation, differentiation, adhesion, migration, and survival^[5]. Thus, CBP plays the opposite role in various Csk-mediated cellular processes and might be a significant target for Csk-mediated tumors.

Recent studies have shown that CBP is expressed at low levels in various human cancer cells^[6-8], suggesting that CBP may be an important suppressor in the progression of various human cancers. We have previously reported that the expression of CBP is markedly down-regulated in esophageal carcinoma^[9]; however, the mechanisms by which the down-regulation of CBP affects the progression of esophageal carcinoma remain unknown. Therefore, we established an esophageal carcinoma cell line stably overexpressing CBP (TE-1). We found that overexpression of CBP decreased the growth, invasion, and migration of esophageal carcinoma cells.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell culture

The human esophageal carcinoma cell line TE-1 was provided by the Cell Bank of the Chinese Academy

of Sciences, Shanghai, China. Cells were cultured in RPM1640 medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum.

Lentiviral vector constructs and preparation

A lentiviral-delivered CBP vector was constructed and prepared by Shanghai qcbio Science & Technologies Co., Ltd. (Shanghai, China), as described by Lois et al^[10]. Briefly, primers were designed according to the CBP sequence (Genbank Accession Number NC_000008.10). The primer sequences were: CBP-F, 5'-GGAATTCCCTGCCATGGGGGCCCGCG-3'; CBP-R, 5'-GGAATTCGAGCCTGGT AATATCTCTGCCT-3'. The target gene was obtained by polymerase chain reaction and was inserted into the pUC57 vector. Subsequently, both pLenO-DCE and pUC57-CBP were digested by EcoRI and NotI. After ligation, the pLenO-DCE-CBP vector was constructed. After sequencing, the pLenO-DCE-CBP vector was transfected into 293T cells and the lentiviral-delivered CBP vector was prepared.

Cell transfection

Briefly, 1×10^{6} TE-1 cells were seeded in each well of a 6-well plate in 500 µL of complete medium at 37 °C in a 5% CO₂ incubator for 24 h, and then transduced by lentiviral vectors at a multiplicity of infection of $10:1^{[11]}$. Transduction was carried out in the presence of polybrene (8 µg/mL). After washing three times with PBS, 1 mL of RPMI1640 was added in each well. Cells were seeded at 37 °C in a 5% CO₂ incubator for 48 h. Fluorescence microscopy was used to observe the transduction. G418 (400 µg/ mL) was used for screening. Transduced cells were passaged and seeded for further experiments. Also, the pLenO-DCE-(-) vector was transduced into TE-1 cell as a blank transfection control.

MTT assay

Cells (5 × 10³) were seeded in a 96-well plate (BD Biosciences, United States) and harvested for the MTT assay at different time points from days 1-6. Cell samples were incubated with 20 μ L of MTT (5 mg/mL; Sigma, United States) for 6 h. Following the removal of the MTT solution, formazan crystals were dissolved in 150 μ L of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma, United States). The absorption of the solution was measured at 570 nm^[12].

Transwell invasion assay

Invasion chambers coated with Matrigel were purchased from BD Biosciences. Assays were conducted as described by Seton-Rogers *et al*^[13]. Briefly, cells (1 × 10⁵) were added to the top chambers (in 300 μ L of RPMI1640) of 24-well Transwell plates (BD Biosciences; 8 μ m pore size). After 24 h, the top (non-migrated) cells were removed, and the bottom (migrated) cells were fixed with 70% methanol and stained with trypan



Figure 1 Overexpression of Csk-binding protein decreases the expression of Src in TE-1 cells. Western blot analysis of the expression of Csk-binding protein (CBP) and Src in TE-1 cells before and after transduction with CBP lentiviral vectors. GAPDH was used as a protein loading control. The expression of CBP was much higher in transduced TE-1 cells than in normal TE-1 and TE-1/pLenO-DCE cells (P < 0.05), and expression of Src was much lower in transduced TE-1 cells than in normal TE-1 cells; 2 = TE-1 cells after transfection with pLenO-DCE-(-); 3 = TE-1 cells after overexpression CBP.



Figure 2 Cell growth of TE-1, TE-1/pLenO-DCE-(-) and TE-1/Csk-binding protein cells. The growth of TE-1/CBP cells was slower than that of TE-1 and TE-1/pLenO-DCE-(-) cells (P < 0.05).

blue to visualize nuclei. The number of migrating cells in five fields was counted at 100× magnification, and the mean for each chamber was determined with ImageJ (version 1.38, National Institutes of Health). Experiments were repeated a minimum of three times.

Scratch assay

Scratch assay was used for the detection of cell migration as described by Gough *et al*^[14]. Briefly, cells (1 \times 10⁶) were seeded in a 6-well plate (BD Biosciences, United States) until cells reached 100% confluence. A p200 pipette tip was then used to create a scratch of the cell monolayer. After washing the plate once with PBS and replacing with the new medium, the cells were incubated at 37 °C in a 5% CO₂ incubator. After 24 h, the number of cells that had migrated into the scratch was calculated at 100× magnification.

Western blot analysis

Cells were lysed on ice in RIPA buffer (50 mmol/L

Tris-HCl, 150 mmol/L NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 2 mmol/L sodium fluoride, 2 mmol/L Na₃VO4₂, 1 mmol/L EDTA, and 1 mmol/L EGTA). Total protein extracts were analyzed by Western blot, as described previously^[15]. Proteins (20 μ g) were separated by SDS-PAGE (Invitrogen) and transferred to PVDF membranes. The membranes were blotted for 1 h with 5% milk. Membranes were incubated with a primary antibody (1:500 dilution) against CBP or Src (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., United States) at 4 °C overnight. After incubation with a horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (1:1000 dilution) for 3 h at 37 °C, signals were detected by ECL chemiluminescence for 5 min. The films were analyzed by densitometry with image software.

Statistics analysis

Data are expressed as mean \pm SE and were statistically evaluated by one-way ANOVA followed by a Newman-Keuls test. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

CBP overexpression decreases the expression of Src in TE-1 esophageal carcinoma cells

To check the overexpression of CBP in our stably transfected cells and to determine if overexpression of CBP leads to decreased expression of Src, we assessed the expression of Src in our TE-1 esophageal carcinoma cells that had been transduced with lentiviral constructs to overexpress CBP. As illustrated in Figure 1, our stably transduced cells overexpressed CBP, and CBP overexpression significantly decreased the protein levels of Src (P < 0.05) (Figure 1), supporting the previous finding that CBP down-regulates the activity





Figure 3 Invasion of TE-1, TE-1/pLenO-DCE-(-) and TE-1/CSk-binding protein cells. Trypan blue staining showed that TE-1, TE-1/pLenO-DCE-(-) and TE-1/CBP cells passed through the Matrigel (200×). ^aP < 0.05 vs TE-1/CBP cells, no significant difference compared with TE-1/pLenO-DCE-(-) cells.

of Src^[1,2].

Overexpression of CBP inhibits the growth of TE-1 esophageal carcinoma cells

We assessed the cell growth of TE-1, pLenO-DCE-(-) vector transfected TE-1 (TE-1/pLenO-DCE) and CBP overexpressing TE-1 (TE-1/CBP) cells. As illustrated in Figure 2, compared with TE-1 and TE-1/pLenO-DCE cells, the cell growth of TE-1/CBP cells decreased significantly (P < 0.05) (Figure 2).

Overexpression of CBP decreases the invasion of TE-1 esophageal carcinoma cells

As illustrated in Figure 3, Transwell analysis showed that the numbers of TE-1 cells (62.2 ± 3.6) and TE-1/pLenO-DCE cells (65.4 ± 4.8) passing through the Matrigel were markedly higher than that of TE-1/CBP cells (27.6 ± 2.2) (P < 0.05) (Figure 3).

Overexpression of CBP decreases the migration of TE-1 esophageal carcinoma cells

As illustrated in Figure 4, scratch analysis showed that the distance of TE-1 cells (116.2 ± 6.4 μ m) and TE-1/pLenO-DCE cells (122.4 ± 8.8 μ m) migrating into the scratch was markedly greater than that of TE-1/CBP cells (66.6 ± 6.2 μ m) (*P* < 0.05) (Figure 3).

DISCUSSION

CBP is weakly expressed in many types of human cancers, including non-small cell lung cancer^[7], eso-phageal cancer^[9], and head and neck squamous cell cancer^[16], suggesting that CBP may play an important suppressive role in the progression, development, and invasion of cancers. Recently, we reported that the expression of CBP is down-regulated in esophageal carcinoma^[9], but the functions of CBP in esophageal carcinoma remain undetermined. To investigate the role of CBP in esophageal carcinoma, we examined the alteration of cell growth, invasion and migration of esophageal carcinoma cells after overexpressing CBP.

We up-regulated the expression of CBP by transfection of TE-1 esophageal carcinoma cells with CBP constructs. Our data demonstrate that CBP overexpression resulted in a decrease in the growth, invasion, and migration of TE-1 cells. These findings indicate that CBP plays an important role in the suppression of tumor progression. Since tumor progression inhibition is a prerequisite for efficient tumor therapy^[17,18], CBP might be a promising target for tumor therapy. Our data also indicate that controlling the activation of the Src pathway may be one of the underlying mechanisms by which CBP up-regulates

WJG | www.wjgnet.com





Figure 4 Migration of TE-1, TE-1/pLenO-DCE-(-) and TE-1/ Csk-binding protein cells. The scratch assay showed that TE-1, TE-1/pLenO-DCE-(-) and TE-1/CBP cells moved into the scratch ($200\times$). The distance of cell migration was assessed. ^aP < 0.05 vs TE-1/CBP cells, no significant difference compared with TE-1/pLenO-DCE-(-) cells.

the growth, invasion and migration of esophageal carcinoma cells.

Src signaling, a prominent cancer cell growth-promoting and invasion-promoting pathway^[19,20], can be activated by receptor tyrosine kinases and integrins to promote the growth, migration, and invasion of tumor cells. Although many studies have demonstrated the role of CBP in promoting the inactivation of Src signaling^[1,2], we sought to investigate whether the up-regulation of CBP is able to decrease the growth, invasion, and migration of esophageal carcinoma cells through the inactivation of Src signaling. We found that CBP overexpression decreased the activity of Src in TE-1 esophageal carcinoma cells, and reduced esophageal carcinoma cell growth, invasion, and migration. Thus, we propose that CBP up-regulation decreases esophageal carcinoma progression, at least partially, through the inactivation of Src signaling. Further studies are needed to determine the molecular mechanism(s) by which CBP regulates Src signaling.

In summary, we demonstrated that CBP inhibits the growth, invasion, and migration of esophageal carcinoma cells by inactivating Src signaling, suggesting that CBP plays an important role in the inhibition of tumor progression and development of esophageal carcinoma. CBP as an effective target aiming to modulate Src signaling may be a reasonable approach to treating esophageal carcinoma.

COMMENTS

Background

Csk-binding protein (CBP) is a ubiquitously expressed transmembrane protein and functions as a suppressor of Src-mediated tumor progression by promoting the inactivation of Src. The authors previously reported that expression of CBP is markedly down-regulated in esophageal carcinoma; however, the mechanisms by which the down-regulation of CBP affects the progression of esophageal carcinoma remain unknown.

Research frontiers

Previous studies have suggested that CBP has an opposing role in various Csk-mediated cellular processes and might be a significant target in Cskmediated tumors. CBP is weakly expressed in many types of human cancers, including non-small cell lung cancer, esophageal cancer, and head and neck squamous cell cancer, suggesting that CBP may play an important suppressive role in the progression, development, and invasion of cancers.

Innovations and breakthroughs

The authors have reported that the expression of CBP is down-regulated in esophageal carcinoma, but the functions of CBP in esophageal carcinoma remain to be determined. To investigate the role of CBP in esophageal carcinoma, the authors examined the alterations in the growth, invasion, and migration of esophageal carcinoma cells overexpressing CBP. The data demonstrate that CBP overexpression resulted in a decrease in the growth, invasion, and migration of TE-1 cells. These findings indicate that CBP plays an important role in suppressing tumor progression.

Applications

This study indicates that CBP plays an important role in the inhibition of tumor progression and the development of esophageal carcinoma. CBP as an effective target aiming to modulate Src signaling may be a reasonable approach to treating esophageal carcinoma.

Peer-review

This study indicates that CBP overexpression resulted in decreased growth, invasion, and migration of TE-1 cells. These findings indicate that CBP plays an important role in suppressing tumor progression. These findings are interesting, and overall the writing is good.

REFERENCES

- Kawabuchi M, Satomi Y, Takao T, Shimonishi Y, Nada S, Nagai K, Tarakhovsky A, Okada M. Transmembrane phosphoprotein Cbp regulates the activities of Src-family tyrosine kinases. *Nature* 2000; 404: 999-1003 [PMID: 10801129 DOI: 10.1038/35010121]
- 2 Jiang LQ, Feng X, Zhou W, Knyazev PG, Ullrich A, Chen Z.

Csk-binding protein (Cbp) negatively regulates epidermal growth factor-induced cell transformation by controlling Src activation. *Oncogene* 2006; **25**: 5495-5506 [PMID: 16636672 DOI: 10.1038/ sj.onc.1209554]

- 3 Matsuoka H, Nada S, Okada M. Mechanism of Csk-mediated down-regulation of Src family tyrosine kinases in epidermal growth factor signaling. *J Biol Chem* 2004; 279: 5975-5983 [PMID: 14613929 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M311278200]
- 4 Place AT, Chen Z, Bakhshi FR, Liu G, O'Bryan JP, Minshall RD. Cooperative role of caveolin-1 and C-terminal Src kinase binding protein in C-terminal Src kinase-mediated negative regulation of c-Src. *Mol Pharmacol* 2011; 80: 665-672 [PMID: 21778303 DOI: 10.1124/mol.111.073957]
- 5 Parsons SJ, Parsons JT. Src family kinases, key regulators of signal transduction. Oncogene 2004; 23: 7906-7909 [PMID: 15489908 DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1208160]
- 6 Oneyama C, Hikita T, Enya K, Dobenecker MW, Saito K, Nada S, Tarakhovsky A, Okada M. The lipid raft-anchored adaptor protein Cbp controls the oncogenic potential of c-Src. *Mol Cell* 2008; **30**: 426-436 [PMID: 18498747 DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2008.03.026]
- 7 Kanou T, Oneyama C, Kawahara K, Okimura A, Ohta M, Ikeda N, Shintani Y, Okumura M, Okada M. The transmembrane adaptor Cbp/PAG1 controls the malignant potential of human non-small cell lung cancers that have c-src upregulation. *Mol Cancer Res* 2011; 9: 103-114 [PMID: 21156787 DOI: 10.1158/1541-7786. MCR-10-0340]
- 8 Suzuki K, Oneyama C, Kimura H, Tajima S, Okada M. Downregulation of the tumor suppressor C-terminal Src kinase (Csk)binding protein (Cbp)/PAG1 is mediated by epigenetic histone modifications via the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)/ phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway. *J Biol Chem* 2011; 286: 15698-15706 [PMID: 21388951]
- 9 Zhou D, Zhang AP, Liu T, Li ZY, Yang YZ, Song RZ. [Expression of Csk-binding protein in esophageal carcinoma and its possible implications]. *Nanfang Yike Daxue Xuebao* 2011; **31**: 1781-1783 [PMID: 22027792]
- 10 Lois C, Hong EJ, Pease S, Brown EJ, Baltimore D. Germline transmission and tissue-specific expression of transgenes delivered by lentiviral vectors. *Science* 2002; 295: 868-872 [PMID: 11786607 DOI: 10.1126/science.1067081]
- 11 Lee JS, Hmama Z, Mui A, Reiner NE. Stable gene silencing in human monocytic cell lines using lentiviral-delivered small interference RNA. Silencing of the p110alpha isoform of phosphoinositide 3-kinase reveals differential regulation of adherence induced by 1alpha,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol and bacterial lipopolysaccharide. J Biol Chem 2004; 279: 9379-9388 [PMID: 14672955 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M310638200]
- 12 Song KS, Li G, Kim JS, Jing K, Kim TD, Kim JP, Seo SB, Yoo JK, Park HD, Hwang BD, Lim K, Yoon WH. Protein-bound polysaccharide from Phellinus linteus inhibits tumor growth, invasion, and angiogenesis and alters Wnt/β-catenin in SW480 human colon cancer cells. *BMC Cancer* 2011; **11**: 307 [PMID: 21781302 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2407-11-307]
- 13 Seton-Rogers SE, Lu Y, Hines LM, Koundinya M, LaBaer J, Muthuswamy SK, Brugge JS. Cooperation of the ErbB2 receptor and transforming growth factor beta in induction of migration and invasion in mammary epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 2004; 101: 1257-1262 [PMID: 14739340 DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.0308090100]
- 14 Gough W, Hulkower KI, Lynch R, McGlynn P, Uhlik M, Yan L, Lee JA. A quantitative, facile, and high-throughput image-based cell migration method is a robust alternative to the scratch assay. J Biomol Screen 2011; 16: 155-163 [PMID: 21297103 DOI: 10.1177 /1087057110393340]
- 15 Kong D, Li Y, Wang Z, Banerjee S, Sarkar FH. Inhibition of angiogenesis and invasion by 3,3'-diindolylmethane is mediated by the nuclear factor-kappaB downstream target genes MMP-9 and uPA that regulated bioavailability of vascular endothelial growth factor in prostate cancer. *Cancer Res* 2007; 67: 3310-3319 [PMID: 17409440 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4277]
- 16 Koppikar P, Choi SH, Egloff AM, Cai Q, Suzuki S, Freilino M,
Nozawa H, Thomas SM, Gooding WE, Siegfried JM, Grandis JR. Combined inhibition of c-Src and epidermal growth factor receptor abrogates growth and invasion of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* 2008; **14**: 4284-4291 [PMID: 18594011 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-5226]

- 17 Mazzocca A, Fransvea E, Dituri F, Lupo L, Antonaci S, Giannelli G. Down-regulation of connective tissue growth factor by inhibition of transforming growth factor beta blocks the tumor-stroma cross-talk and tumor progression in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology* 2010; **51**: 523-534 [PMID: 19821534 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23285]
- 18 Folkman J. Antiangiogenesis in cancer therapy--endostatin and its

mechanisms of action. *Exp Cell Res* 2006; **312**: 594-607 [PMID: 16376330 DOI: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2005.11.015]

- Guarino M. Src signaling in cancer invasion. J Cell Physiol 2010;
 223: 14-26 [PMID: 20049846 DOI: 10.1002/jcp.22011]
- 20 Michels S, Trautmann M, Sievers E, Kindler D, Huss S, Renner M, Friedrichs N, Kirfel J, Steiner S, Endl E, Wurst P, Heukamp L, Penzel R, Larsson O, Kawai A, Tanaka S, Sonobe H, Schirmacher P, Mechtersheimer G, Wardelmann E, Büttner R, Hartmann W. SRC signaling is crucial in the growth of synovial sarcoma cells. *Cancer Res* 2013; **73**: 2518-2528 [PMID: 23580575 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472]
- P- Reviewer: Fujiwara N S- Editor: Wang JL L- Editor: Wang TQ E- Editor: Maß







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1821 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1821-1826 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Case Control Study

New parameter in diagnosis of acute appendicitis: Platelet distribution width

Bulent Dinc, Alten Oskay, Selcan Enver Dinc, Bilge Bas, Sabri Tekin

Bulent Dinc, Department of General Surgery, Ataturk State Hospital, Antalya 07040, Turkey

Alten Oskay, Department of Emergency, Denizli State Hospital, Denizli 20010, Turkey

Selcan Enver Dinc, Department of Emergency, Isparta State Hospital, Isparta 32100, Turkey

Bilge Bas, Department of Gastroenterology, Ataturk State Hospital, Antalya 07040, Turkey

Sabri Tekin, Department of Surgery, Medical Park Hospitals, Antalya 07160, Turkey

Author contributions: Dinc B and Oskay A planned the study; Dinc B, Oskay A, Dinc SE, and Tekin S collected the data; Dinc B performed the data analysis; Dinc B and Bas B interpreted the data; Dinc B and Dinc SE wrote the paper.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Bulent Dinc, MD, Department of General Surgery, Ataturk State Hospital, Gulluk Street, Antalya 07040, Turkey. bulent1999@yahoo.com

Telephone: +90-242-3454550 Fax: +90-242-3343373

Received: July 10, 2014 Peer-review started: July 10, 2014 First decision: August 15, 2014 Revised: August 24, 2014 Accepted: October 14, 2014 Article in press: October 15, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To investigate the diagnostic accuracy of the mean platelet volume and platelet distribution width in acute appendicitis.

METHODS: This retrospective, case-controlled study compared 295 patients with acute appendicitis (Group I), 100 patients with other intra-abdominal infections (Group II), and 100 healthy individuals (Group III) between January 2012 and January 2013. The age, gender, and white blood cell count, neutrophil percentage, mean platelet volume, and platelet distribution width values from blood samples were compared among the groups. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS for Windows 21.0 software. In addition, the sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values and likelihood ratios, and diagnostic accuracy were calculated.

RESULTS: The mean ages of patients were 29.9 ± 12.0 years for Group I , 31.5 ± 14.0 years for Group II , and 30.4 ± 13.0 years for Group III. Demographic features such as age and gender were not significantly different among the groups. White blood cell count, neutrophil percentage and platelet distribution width were significantly higher in Group I compared to groups II and III (P < 0.05). Diagnostically, the sensitivity, specificity and diagnostic accuracy were 73.1%, 94.0%, and 78% for white blood cell count, 70.0%, 96.0%, and 76.0% for neutrophil percentage, 29.5%, 49.0%, and 34.0% for mean platelet volume, and 97.1%, 93.0%, and 96.0% for platelet distribution width, respectively. The highest diagnostic accuracy detected was for platelet distribution width between Group I and Group III (P < 0.01).

CONCLUSION: Platelet distribution width analysis can be used for diagnosis of acute appendicitis without requiring additional tests, thus reducing the cost and loss of time.

Key words: Appendicitis; Diagnosis; Platelet function test; Platelet distribution width

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Dinc B et al. Platelet function tests in acute appendicitis

Core tip: The diagnosis of acute appendicitis can be difficult and confusing. A rapid and accurate diagnosis is important because of potential complications, therefore, new biomarkers for diagnosis are needed. This study investigated the diagnostic accuracy of indicators of platelet activation, namely mean platelet volume and platelet distribution width, in acute appendicitis patients. Results shows that platelet distribution width analysis can be used for diagnosis of acute appendicitis without requiring additional tests. Therefore, it reduces the cost and loss of time.

Dinc B, Oskay A, Dinc SE, Bas B, Tekin S. New parameter in diagnosis of acute appendicitis: Platelet distribution width. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1821-1826 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1821.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1821

INTRODUCTION

Acute appendicitis (AA) is among the most common urgent abdominal surgical conditions worldwide^[1,2]. The people in Western society have an approximately 8% possibility of having AA during their lifetime^[3]. Whereas the diagnosis of AA is usually established clinically, the symptoms and findings may not always typical, in which case the establishment of diagnosis becomes difficult^[4,5]. Rapid and accurate diagnosis is important because extension of the period between the initiation of the symptoms and start of the surgical procedure increases the risk for appendiceal perforation, thereby potentially resulting in sepsis and even death^[6]. In addition, the ratio of patients undergoing appendectomy with a normal histopathologic investigation result (negative appendectomy) ranges between 5% and 42%. The morbidity of these patients who are operated on despite the absence of AA is thus increased^[7,8]. The rate of clinical diagnosis of AA is approximately 85%^[1]. Although current advanced imaging methods such as ultrasonography, computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging are promising, they are not adequate. Therefore, novel methods that differentiate AA from nonspecific abdominal pain and reduce the rate of negative appendectomy are needed. Such methods should be inexpensive and convenient, with results obtained in a short time.

Recent studies have investigated the diagnostic accuracy of inflammatory markers^[9,10]. Mean platelet volume (MPV) and platelet distribution width (PDW) are presented in the complete blood cell count, which is routinely used in emergency departments. They are the indicators of platelet activation. The size of the platelet is correlated with the activity and the function of the platelet; larger platelets are more active than small ones. Thus, MPV may be used as a biomarker in myocardial infarction, diabetes mellitus, inflammatory disorders, sepsis-like conditions, myeloproliferative diseases, massive hemorrhage, leukemia, vasculitis and post-splenectomy conditions^[11,12]. Platelet distribution width is an indicator of variation in platelet size, which can be a sign of active platelet release. Studies have demonstrated that in addition to MPV, PDW is also altered compared to healthy subjects in several conditions^[13,14].

There are very few studies investigating the diagnostic accuracy of platelet function parameters in cases of AA. We present the first case-controlled study investigating the diagnostic significance of platelet parameters, including MPV and PDW, in AA.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

The records of 295 adult patients, aged between 16 and 94 years, who underwent appendectomy (Group I), 100 patients with other intra-abdominal infections (Group II), and 100 healthy individuals (Group III) were retrospectively investigated between January 2012 and January 2013. The groups were compared by age, gender and routine tests of complete blood count. Group I was comprised of patients diagnosed with AA based on the analysis of at least two samples performed by the pathologist.

Patients were excluded from the study for: < 15 years of age, having acute or chronic infectious disease, comorbid conditions (cardiac, respiratory, renal, endocrinal, and vascular disease, cancer, *etc.*), hematologic disease and blood transfusion within the last year for any reason, using ongoing medication (analgesics, oral contraceptives, antimetabolites, *etc.*), having a histopa-thologically normal appendix following appendectomy.

There were two control groups. The first of these, Group II did not have AA but they had intra-abdominal infections that depended on causes such as acute cholecystitis, pelvic inflammatory disease, and mesenteric lymphadenitis. Group III was comprised of healthy individuals, including people who came for health control and they did not have acute or chronic disease. The control groups were selected from among people of similar age and gender to AA patients. There was no history of drug use or blood transfusion in any of the patients.

Test methods

All blood samples were obtained from the venous system and stored in tubes containing EDTA and assayed automatically using internationally certified devices. The reference values were $4.5 \times 10^9/\mu$ L- $10.8 \times 10^9/\mu$ L for white blood cell count (WBC), 40%-70% for neutrophils, 7.2-11.0 fL for MPV and 10%-18% for PDW. All results were approved by an independent biochemistry expert who was blind to the patients' histories. Extreme results were repeated again. The



Table 1 Comparison of the laboratory values between the groups											
Variable	Group I	Group Ⅱ	Group III		<i>P</i> va	lues					
	(n = 295)	(n = 100)	(n = 100)	I vs II	I <i>∨s</i> Ⅲ	∏ <i>vs</i> ∏	Overall				
White blood cell count, $\times 10^9/\mu L$	12.9 (3.1-25.7)	11.5 (5.2-20.0)	7.5 (3.5-13.6)	0.032	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001				
Neutrophil, %	73.9 (18.0-93.0)	67.9 (45.0-87.9)	57.6 (21.0-76.0)	0.031	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001				
Mean platelet volume, fL	8.5 (6.1-14.2)	8.9 (6.0-13.0)	8.9 (6.9-14.5)	NS	0.001	NS	0.003				
Platelet distribution width, %	49.0 (10.6-86.5)	40.8 (12.8-87.9)	18.4 (10.3-62.5)	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001				

Data are presented as mean (range). NS: Not significant.

Table 2	Diagnosti	c compariso	on of bl	ood paramete	ers

Parameter	Cutoff	AUC	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	PLR	NLR	DA
		(95%CI)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)			(%)
White blood cell count	$10.6 \times 10^9/\mu L$	0.87 (0.84-0.91)	73.1	94	97.1	56.0	12.1	0.3	78
Neutrophil	69.85%	0.87 (0.84-0.91)	70.0	96	97.9	54.2	23.0	0.3	76
Mean platelet volume	8.98 fL	0.62 (0.55-0.68)	29.5	49	61.1	20.1	0.5	4.5	34
Platelet distribution width	32.15%	0.95 (0.92-0.98)	97.1	93	97.4	92.1	13.8	0.0	96

AUC: Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; DA: Diagnostic accuracy; NLR: Negative likelihood ratio; NPV: Negative predictive value; PLR: Positive likelihood ratio; PPV: Positive predictive value.

results of blood samples were approved in < 10 min.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS for Windows 21.0 software (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, United States). The demographic and clinical properties of patients are expressed using mean \pm SD, median (range), and percentage values. Parametric parameters were investigated with a Student's t-test and one-way analysis of variance, and non-parametric parameters were investigated using the Mann-Whitney U, χ^2 and Kruskal-Wallis tests. The association between the numeric data was compared using a correlation analysis. The parameters in the AA and control groups were described using a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis. In addition, the sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values and likelihood ratios, and diagnostic accuracy were calculated by the area under the ROC curve. Results were evaluated within the 95%CI, and a P < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

RESULTS

The mean ages of patients were 29.9 ± 12.0 (range: 16-94 years), 31.5 ± 14.0 (range: 16-85 years) and 30.4 ± 13.0 years (range: 16-70 years) in Group I, Group II and Group II, respectively. Group I was comprised of 60.7% (179/295) men and 39.3% (116/295) women; Group II was comprised of 50.0% (50/100) men and 50.0% (50/100) women; and Group III was comprised of 60.0% (60/100) men and 40.0% (40/100) women. There were no demographic differences among the groups.

The comparisons of the laboratory values among the groups are given in Table 1. For all parameters, there were statistical differences between Group I and the two control groups (Ps < 0.05). MPV was lower in Group I, whereas PDW, WBC (Figures 1 and 2) and neutrophil percentage were higher compared to the control groups.

The diagnostic comparisons of the blood value evaluations are given in Table 2. PDW was the most important diagnostic parameter, followed by WBC, neutrophil percentage and MPV. PDW showed high positive and low negative likelihood ratios. As a result, the diagnostic accuracy for PDW is higher than WBC and neutrophil percentage. In contrast, MPV has the lowest diagnostic accuracy, with a significant difference between Group I and Group III. The ROC curves for these parameters are shown in Figure 3. The high positive accuracy of PDW can also be seen here. As the MPV accuracy shows a reduction in Group I, it is located on the negative side of the reference line as a weak positive. The ROC curve analysis is presented for MPV without correction; smaller test results used in SPSS indicate a more positive test.

DISCUSSION

AA is the most common cause of "acute abdomen" in all age groups. Although the classical symptomatology and the examination findings of AA are well known, the diagnosis remains quite difficult to make among the causes of abdominal pain^[15]. It is important to make a rapid and accurate diagnosis before the complications develop^[1]. As AA is an inflammatory process, many authors consider using biomarkers for diagnosis. Among these, WBC is the one most commonly used. Many studies support that WBC is the first indicator to be elevated in appendix inflammation^[16]. Among patients with AA, the sensitivity and specificity of WBC is







Figure 1 Blood cell counts. A: White blood cell count; B: Neutrophil percentage count variation.



Figure 2 Platelet analyses. A: Mean platelet volume; B: Platelet distribution width variation.



Figure 3 Receiver operating characteristic curves. MPV: Mean platelet volume; PDW: Platelet distribution width count; WBC: White blood cell count.

60%-87% and 53%-100%, respectively^[15], with cutoff values of 11 × 10⁹/L in the study by Bilic *et al*^[9], and 10.4 × 10³/mm³ in the study by Narci *et al*^[6], which are consistent with our findings. In addition, the 78% diagnostic accuracy enhances the significance of WBC diagnostically.

There are several studies investigating the diagnostic accuracy of neutrophils in AA. Al-Gaithy^[17] reported a sensitivity and a specificity of 70.9% and 65.5%, respectively, for neutrophil detection in patients undergoing surgery for suspected appendicitis that were classified according to pathology as AA or normal. In a case-controlled study by Bilici *et al*^{(9]} in children, the sensitivity was 77% and the specificity was 91%. In the current study, we found a sensitivity of 70% and a specificity of 96%, which is similar to the literature. The differences in ratios were potentially attributed to the variability of the individuals (adult, child, *etc.*) and the type of the designed study.

Platelet activation is related to pathophysiology of disorders with a tendency for inflammation and thrombosis. MPV, a marker of platelet activation, is being investigated for its correlation with both inflammation and thrombosis. High MPV values are associated with cardio- and cerebrovascular disorders, and low-grade inflammatory conditions prone to arterial and venous thrombosis. Low MPV values may occur in high-grade inflammatory diseases, such as active rheumatoid arthritis or attacks of familial Mediterranean fever. These results are from anti-inflammatory treatment. As a result, a decrease in MPV occurs in acute cases, whereas an increase occurs with chronic events^[18].

The proinflammatory activities of platelets are maintained by bioactive molecules stored within their alpha and dense granules^[19,20]. After activation, these molecules are rapidly secreted. However, the exact organelle activity that controls the thrombocyte volume has not yet been clearly identified^[19]. Danese *et* $al^{[20]}$ speculated that the reduced MPV could be due to the consumption or sequestration of the large activated platelets in the intestinal vasculature.

In the current trial, we detected a lower MPV in patients with AA. The cause of this remains unclear. A small number of studies failed to clearly demonstrate the correlation between MPV and AA. In the studies by Albayrak et al^[21], Bilici et al^[9] and Aydogan et al^[11], MPV was significantly lower in the AA group, and with a sensitivity and specificity of 73%-84% and 54%-84%, respectively. Uyanik et al^[15] failed to detect a correlation between AA and MPV in their study in children. However, we detected a statistical difference between the groups, and MPV was lower in the infected group. While the pathophysiology of this decrease is not known, it may be similar to the mechanism suggested by Danese *et al*^[20]. The values of sensitivity and specificity of MPV in our study, 25.9% and 49.0%, respectively, are low compared to the literature. This result may stem from the emergency surgery after the clinical history and physical examination.

Both MPV and PDW are markers of platelet immaturity, and an increase in both as compared to controls suggests that young platelets are entering peripheral circulation. PDW is a function of standard deviation of log volume and is also known as the volume change coefficient. PDW is an index of thrombocyte volume heterogeneity, similar to erythrocyte distribution. The heterogeneity of thrombocyte volume occurs due to heterogenic demarcation of megakaryocytes rather than the aging of circulating thrombocytes^[11].

There are a small number of studies that evaluate PDW. In a trial by Liang et al^[22] investigating vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease, PDW was significantly lower in the patient group compared to the control group. In contrast, Mete Ural et al^[23] detected high PDW values in patients with recurrent miscarriages. Cetin et al^[24] reported a higher PDW value in patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction compared to those with stable coronary artery disease. Yang et al^[25] detected higher PDW values in patients with severe preeclampsia relative to those with mild preeclampsia. In the literature, there exists only one study that investigates the correlation between PDW and AA. In a 202-case study by Aydogan et al^[11], patients were divided into groups as perforated and non-perforated. In this study with no control group, PDW values were significantly higher in the perforated group. In conclusion, PDW was considered as a marker that could be used in early detection of the perforation risk in AA. In the current study, we detected high PDW values in patients with AA, for which the sensitivity, specificity and diagnostic accuracy suggest that it could help in early diagnosis of AA.

This is the first study in the literature to present the correlation between AA and PDW as a casecontrolled clinical trial. Detection of higher PDW values in the AA group relative to the control groups, and the high values of sensitivity, specificity, and diagnostic accuracy detected for AA are promising for future studies in diagnosis and early prediction of potential complications. This may provide an opportunity for making a diagnosis of AA without requiring additional analysis, increased cost, or loss of time, and is practically applicable in the emergency department. Nevertheless, diagnosis of AA should always be combined with clinical, laboratory and radiologic evaluations. PDW could be an important laboratory evaluation, but should always be associated with additional signs (right lower quadrant tenderness, elevated temperature, rebound tenderness), symptoms (migration of pain, vomiting) and other laboratory tests (leukocytosis, C-reactive protein). Additional multi-center, prospective studies are needed involving a larger sample size to confirm the results of this study.

COMMENTS

Background

The diagnosis of acute appendicitis (AA) can be difficult and confusing. While the diagnosis of AA is usually established clinically, the symptoms and findings may not always be typical. Rapid and accurate diagnosis is important because of potential complications. Novel methods that differentiate AA from non-specific abdominal pain and reduce the rate of negative appendectomy are needed. Such methods should be inexpensive and convenient, with results obtained in a short time. Therefore, recent studies have been investigating the diagnostic accuracy of inflammatory markers.

Research frontiers

Mean platelet volume (MPV) and platelet distribution width (PDW) are presented in the complete blood cell count, which is routinely used in emergency departments. They are the indicators of platelet activation.

Innovations and breakthroughs

There are very few studies investigating the diagnostic accuracy of platelet function parameters in cases of AA. A diagnostic comparison of these blood values was conducted in this study. The most important parameter identified was PDW, followed by white blood cell count, neutrophil percentage and MPV. Among the laboratory evaluations for AA, PDW could be an important one, but it should always be in association with the signs (right lower quadrant tenderness, elevated temperature, rebound tenderness), symptoms (migration of pain, vomiting) and other laboratory tests (leukocytosis, C-reactive protein).

Applications

In the literature, there is no case-controlled study investigating MPV or PDW in cases with AA. This is the first study in the literature to investigate the diagnostic significance of platelet function parameters in AA.

Terminology

MPV and PDW are indicators of platelet activation and are inflammatory markers.

Peer-review

This manuscript is a well-designed, interesting, retrospective, case-controlled study. It defines a new parameter for diagnosis of AA, which is a universal problem. PDW can be an important test in the diagnosis of AA.



REFERENCES

- Yüksel Y, Dinç B, Yüksel D, Dinç SE, Mesci A. How reliable is the Alvarado score in acute appendicitis? *Ulus Travma Acil Cerrahi Derg* 2014; 20: 12-18 [PMID: 24639309 DOI: 10.5505/tjtes.2014.60569]
- 2 Sammalkorpi HE, Mentula P, Leppäniemi A. A new adult appendicitis score improves diagnostic accuracy of acute appendicitisa prospective study. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2014; 14: 114 [PMID: 24970111 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-14-114]
- 3 Nshuti R, Kruger D, Luvhengo TE. Clinical presentation of acute appendicitis in adults at the Chris Hani Baragwanath academic hospital. *Int J Emerg Med* 2014; 7: 12 [PMID: 24533851 DOI: 10.1186/1865-1380-7-12]
- 4 **Doherty GM**. Current Diagnosis and Treatment. 3rd ed. Doherty GM, editor. New York: McGraw Hill, 2010: 615-620
- 5 Tamanna MZ, Eram U, Al Harbi TM, Alrashdi SA, Khateeb SU, Aladhrai SA, Hussain AM. Clinical value of leukocyte counts in evaluation of patients with suspected appendicitis in emergency department. Ulus Travma Acil Cerrahi Derg 2012; 18: 474-478 [PMID: 23588904 DOI: 10.5505/tjtes.2012.83652]
- 6 Narci H, Turk E, Karagulle E, Togan T, Karabulut K. The role of red cell distribution width in the diagnosis of acute appendicitis: a retrospective case-controlled study. *World J Emerg Surg* 2013; 8: 46 [PMID: 24216220 DOI: 10.1186/1749-7922-8-46]
- 7 Ashdown HF, D'Souza N, Karim D, Stevens RJ, Huang A, Harnden A. Pain over speed bumps in diagnosis of acute appendicitis: diagnostic accuracy study. *BMJ* 2012; 345: e8012 [PMID: 23247977 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.e8012]
- 8 Seetahal SA, Bolorunduro OB, Sookdeo TC, Oyetunji TA, Greene WR, Frederick W, Cornwell EE, Chang DC, Siram SM. Negative appendectomy: a 10-year review of a nationally representative sample. *Am J Surg* 2011; 201: 433-437 [PMID: 21421095 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2010.10.009]
- 9 Bilici S, Sekmenli T, Göksu M, Melek M, Avci V. Mean platelet volume in diagnosis of acute appendicitis in children. *Afr Health Sci* 2011; 11: 427-432 [PMID: 22275934]
- 10 Andersson M, Rubér M, Ekerfelt C, Hallgren HB, Olaison G, Andersson RE. Can new inflammatory markers improve the diagnosis of acute appendicitis? *World J Surg* 2014; 38: 2777-2783 [PMID: 25099684]
- 11 Aydogan A, Akkucuk S, Arica S, Motor S, Karakus A, Ozkan OV, Yetim I, Temiz M. The Analysis of Mean Platelet Volume and Platelet Distribution Width Levels in Appendicitis. *Indian J Surg* 2013: 1-6 [DOI: 10.1007/s12262-013-0891-7]
- 12 Catal F, Tayman C, Tonbul A, Akça H, Kara S, Tatli MM, Oztekin O, Bilici M. Mean platelet volume (MPV) may simply predict the severity of sepsis in preterm infants. *Clin Lab* 2014; 60: 1193-1200 [PMID: 25134389]

- 13 Karagöz B, Alacacıoğlu A, Bilgi O, Demirci H, Özgün A, Erikçi AA, Sayan Ö, Yılmaz B, Kandemir EG. Platelet count and platelet distribution width increase in lung cancer patients. *Anatol J Clin Investig* 2009; **3**: 32-34
- 14 Artunc Ulkumen B, Pala HG, Calik E, Oruc Koltan S. Platelet distribution width (PDW): A putative marker for threatened preterm labour. *Pak J Med Sci* 2014; **30**: 745-748 [PMID: 25097509]
- 15 Uyanik B, Kavalci C, Arslan ED, Yilmaz F, Aslan O, Dede S, Bakir F. Role of mean platelet volume in diagnosis of childhood acute appendicitis. *Emerg Med Int* 2012; 2012: 823095 [PMID: 22970376 DOI: 10.1155/2012/823095]
- 16 Birchley D. Patients with clinical acute appendicitis should have pre-operative full blood count and C-reactive protein assays. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl* 2006; 88: 27-32 [PMID: 16460636]
- 17 Al-Gaithy ZK. Clinical value of total white blood cells and neutrophil counts in patients with suspected appendicitis: retrospective study. *World J Emerg Surg* 2012; 7: 32 [PMID: 23031349 DOI: 10.1186/1749-7922-7-32]
- 18 Gasparyan AY, Ayvazyan L, Mikhailidis DP, Kitas GD. Mean platelet volume: a link between thrombosis and inflammation? *Curr Pharm Des* 2011; 17: 47-58 [PMID: 21247392]
- 19 Kayahan H, Akarsu M, Ozcan MA, Demir S, Ates H, Unsal B, Akpinar H. Reticulated platelet levels in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2007; 22: 1429-1435 [PMID: 17549498]
- 20 Danese S, Motte Cd Cde L, Fiocchi C. Platelets in inflammatory bowel disease: clinical, pathogenic, and therapeutic implications. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2004; 99: 938-945 [PMID: 15128364]
- 21 Albayrak Y, Albayrak A, Albayrak F, Yildirim R, Aylu B, Uyanik A, Kabalar E, Güzel IC. Mean platelet volume: a new predictor in confirming acute appendicitis diagnosis. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* 2011; 17: 362-366 [PMID: 20460349 DOI: 10.1177/1076029610364520]
- 22 Liang QC, Jin D, Li Y, Wang RT. Mean platelet volume and platelet distribution width in vascular dementia and Alzheimer' s disease. *Platelets* 2014; 25: 433-438 [PMID: 24175580 DOI: 10.3109/09537104.2013.831064]
- 23 Mete Ural U, Bayoğlu Tekin Y, Balik G, Kir Şahin F, Colak S. Could platelet distribution width be a predictive marker for unexplained recurrent miscarriage? *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 2014; 290: 233-236 [PMID: 24619190 DOI: 10.1007/s00404-014-3192-x]
- 24 Cetin M, Bakirci EM, Baysal E, Tasolar H, Balli M, Cakici M, Abus S, Akturk E, Ozgul S. Increased platelet distribution width is associated with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction and thrombolysis failure. *Angiology* 2014; 65: 737-743 [PMID: 24526792 DOI: 10.1177/0003319713520068]
- 25 Yang SW, Cho SH, Kwon HS, Sohn IS, Hwang HS. Significance of the platelet distribution width as a severity marker for the development of preeclampsia. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2014; **175**: 107-111 [PMID: 24502873 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2013.12.036]

P- Reviewer: Augustin G, Ince V, Sartelli M S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: AmEditor E- Editor: Liu XM





Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1827 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1827-1837 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Case Control Study

Digitally reinforced hematoxylin-eosin polarization technique in diagnosis of rectal amyloidosis

Basak Doganavsargil, Gulruh Emiroglu Buberal, Huseyin Toz, Banu Sarsik, Burcin Pehlivanoglu, Murat Sezak, Sait Sen

Basak Doganavsargil, Gulruh Emiroglu Buberal, Banu Sarsik, Burcin Pehlivanoglu, Murat Sezak, Sait Sen, Department of Pathology, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Izmir 35100, Turkey

Huseyin Toz, Department of Nephrology, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Izmir 35100, Turkey

Author contributions: Doganavsargil B and Sen S contributed equally to the conception and design of this work; Doganavsargil B and Buberal GE conducted the research and analyzed the data; Toz H collected the clinical data; Doganavsargil B, Buberal GE, and Sen S interpreted the data; Sarsik B and Sen S designed and optimized the technique used in the study; Sezak M and Sen S arranged the study and control groups; Pehlivanoglu B and Doganavsargil B drafted the manuscript; and Doganavsargil B approved the final version of the paper.

Ethics approval: Our study has been conducted according to the general approval of our hospital's ethics committee for education and investigation using the tissue slides of cases that were diagnosed in our department before August 2011. Upon the code of Turkish Ministry of Health on 19.08.2011 with the number 28030, it is confirmed that the blood, urine, tissue samples, radiology images and materials *etc.* that had been obtained with an informed consent before August 2011 are considered anonymous.

Institutional animal care and use committee: No animalderived material was used in the study.

Conflict-of-interest: All authors have no conflict of interest related to the manuscript.

Data sharing: Technical appendix, statistical code, and dataset available from the corresponding author at bdoganavsargil@ yahoo.com. Informed consent was not obtained but the presented data are anonymized and risk of identification is low, because our study simply focuses on histopathologic findings.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Basak Doganavsargil, MD, Department

of Pathology, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Bornova, Izmir 35100, Turkey. bdoganavsargil@yahoo.com Telephone: +90-232-3881025 Fax: +90-232-3736143 Received: October 5, 2014 Peer-review started: October 6, 2014 First decision: November 14, 2014 Revised: November 28, 2014 Accepted: December 19, 2014 Article in press: December 22, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To investigate the efficacy of the digitally reinforced hematoxylin-eosin polarization (DRHEP) technique for detection of amyloidosis in rectal biopsies.

METHODS: One hundred hematoxylin-eosin (HE) stained rectal biopsies with Congo-red (CR)-positive amyloid depositions and 50 control cases with CR-negative amyloid-mimicking areas were scanned blinded to the CR results for amyloid depositions under both bright and polarized light, and digitally photographed using the DRHEP technique, to accentuate the faint birefringence observed in HE slides under polarization. The results of DRHEP and HE evaluation were statistically correlated with CR polarization results with respect to presence and localization of amyloid deposits as well as amyloid types.

RESULTS: Amyloid deposits showed yellowish-green birefringence by DRHEP, which allowed identification of amyloidosis in 41 HE-unsuspected cases (P = 0.016), 31 of which only had vascular deposits. True positivity was higher, and false negativity and positivity were lower by DRHEP, compared to evaluation by HE (69%, 31%, and 0.8% *vs* 33%, 67%, and 33%, respectively;

Doganavsargil B et al. DRHEP technique in rectal amyloidosis

P < 0.0001). The sensitivity, specificity, accuracy, and positive and negative predictive values for DRHEP were 69%, 98%, 78.6%, 98.5%, and 61.25%, respectively. Reasons for DRHEP false negativity were presence of extensive background birefringence in 12 cases, absence of CR birefringent vessel in 3 cases, and missing of the tiny deposits in 9 cases, which could be improved by experience, especially in the latter case. No correlation was found between age, gender, sites of deposits, or amyloid types.

CONCLUSION: The DRHEP technique improves diagnostic accuracy when used as an adjunct or a prior step to CR staining, especially for cases with limited tissues for further analysis.

Key words: Amyloidosis; Congo red; Hematoxylin-eosin; Microscopy; Polarization; Rectum

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Amyloid fibrils show a faint birefringence with polarization microscopy even when they are stained with hematoxylin-eosin (HE), and this effect can be reinforced when digital images are captured. We researched the efficacy of this technique in rectal biopsies and observed that it allowed identification of unsuspected cases with HE. True positivity was higher, and false negativity and positivity were lower compared to evaluation by HE. Therefore it can be used as an adjunct or a prior step to Congo-red staining, especially for cases with limited tissues for further analysis as it is a fast and safe method.

Doganavsargil B, Buberal GE, Toz H, Sarsik B, Pehlivanoglu B, Sezak M, Sen S. Digitally reinforced hematoxylin-eosin polarization technique in diagnosis of rectal amyloidosis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1827-1837 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1827.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1827

INTRODUCTION

Amyloidosis is a heterogeneous group of disorders characterized by excessive deposition of misfolded amyloid fibrils in tissues and organs. The diagnostic work-up of amyloidosis requires a multidisciplinary approach and a careful clinical evaluation; however definitive diagnosis still relies on microscopic examination of the tissues. Amyloid fibrils are seen as amorphous, eosinophilic deposits on routine hematoxylin-eosin (HE)-stained preparations, but sole HE staining is insufficient for diagnosis, as these can easily be confused with hyaline changes or sclerosis. Congo red (CR) stain and apple-green birefringence of CR-stained deposits under polarized light has long been considered as the gold standard for definitive diagnosis since it was first described by $Kyle^{[1]}$ in 1927.

However, despite the higher sensitivity and specificity of CR staining, false negative results can be seen due to the amount of the amyloid present in the tissue, age of amyloid deposits, thickness of the sections, fixation of the tissues, and even the staining technique itself^[2]. Various methods have been investigated to increase the sensitivity of CR staining and more accurately diagnose early deposits, such as combining CR with immunohistochemistry^[3] or CR fluorescence^[4]. These methods are technically challenging and are not used widely for routine diagnostic purposes.

Digitally reinforced HE polarization (DRHEP) is a recently introduced technique, which was proposed as an adjunct to the diagnosis of amyloidosis in HE-stained sections in renal biopsies^[5]. The technique is a combination of routine light microscopy and digital photography, and was inspired by the observation of amyloid fibrils showing a weak birefringence by polarization microscopy even in HE-stained slides^[6]. This faint polarization effect is, however, more pronounced and readily identifiable in digitally captured images of the area. Therefore, utilization of digital enhancement may allow detection of birefringence that is not recognizable through the microscope objective.

Although this technique is currently being used in kidney biopsies, its utility in other specimens is not well characterized. Therefore, we investigated DRHEP in rectal biopsies, as the rectum is not only one of the most frequently biopsied sites for diagnosis of amyloidosis, but also is a target organ, as the gastrointestinal (GI) tract is one of the most commonly affected organ systems in systemic amyloidosis^[7].

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data collection, preparation of study set, and histochemical staining

A retrospective data search was conducted in the Pathology database between 2000 and 2010 using the words "rectum" and "amyloid". All cases with a clinical or histologic suspicion of amyloidosis and a Congo red stain were collected. Clinical data, including patient age and amyloid subtype, were collected from patient records within the Nephrology Department.

As reliable subtyping could not be done in all cases due to either inadequacy of tissue or technical reasons, amyloid subtypes were classified into three main groups as amyloid A (AA), amyloid light-chain (AL), or undetermined for statistical analyses.

The study set was arranged by one of the researchers who blinded other researchers to the case identities and CR results. The study group was composed of 100 rectal biopsies with CR-positive amyloid deposits, and the control group consistent of 50 CR-negative cases bearing amorphous eosinophilic



amyloid-mimicking areas.

Four-micron thickness sections were obtained from paraffin-embedded tissue blocks. HE staining was carried following standard protocols. CR staining was performed using a modified stringent, alkaline, alcoholic Putchtler's method^[4].

Preparation of digital images

All HE stained sections were evaluated at low power (4×) and areas representative/suspicious for amyloid deposition were identified and photographed under both 10× and 20× magnifications. The same microscopic fields were then consecutively photographed on a dark background during polarization. CR-stained sections of the biopsies were also similarly photographed both under visible bright light and under polarization. Care was taken to capture the same or similar area that was photographed in HE images.

Digital photography was conducted according to the details of the technique described in the related reference using an Olympus BX51 polarizing microscope (Olympus Corp., Tokyo, Japan) equipped with a DP21, SAL camera^[5]. In total, each case had four images: HE, DRHEP, CR, and CR with polarization (CRP).

Evaluation of HE and DRHEP images

Both HE and DRHEP images were evaluated blind to clinical data and CR staining of the biopsies, which was regarded as the gold standard. The evaluation was done independently by two researchers. In cases of disagreement, a third opinion was obtained and a consensus diagnosis was reached with two-thirds majority.

First, plain HE and DRHEP images were consecutively evaluated for the presence of suspicious amyloid depositions. The deposits showing green or yellowish-green birefringence were regarded as positive^[5]. However, extensive yellowish-green birefringence was regarded as nonspecific refraction. Later, CR-stained images, which were photographed under both bright visible light and polarized light, were evaluated in a similar fashion, with investigators blinded to results of HE and DRHEP evaluations. The site of amyloid deposits, such as vascular (vessel walls), interstitial (lamina propria) or muscular (muscularis mucosae), were also recorded. Last, the results between DRHEP and CR staining were compared and discrepant cases were re-evaluated.

Statistical analysis

The frequency analyses and statistical evaluation were performed using SPSS 17.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States). The agreement between researchers was analyzed by κ analysis. The results of HE, DRHEP, and CR evaluation and their relationships with clinicopathologic features were compared by

nonparametric tests (χ^2). The sensitivity, specificity, accuracy, and positive and negative predictive values for HE and DRHEP were additionally calculated.

RESULTS

Clinicopathologic features

The CR-positive study group was composed of samples from 40 women and 60 men with a mean age of 53.28 ± 14.9 years (range: 16-83 years). The mean age of the control group was 51.16 ± 15.8 years (range: 14-78 years). Patient age was not significantly different between study and control groups (P = 0.146). The three most common underlying etiologies were ankylosing spondylitis, familial Mediterranean fever, and rheumatoid arthritis. The subtype of amyloidosis was AA in 54 cases and AL in 9 cases. Clinical details and amyloid types of the cases are given in Table 1.

Results of HE and DRHEP evaluation

In 74.7% of the cases, the investigators agreed upon the amyloidosis status. Amyloidosis could readily be identified both in HE and DRHEP images of 28 CR-positive cases (28%) (Figure 1). Amyloid fibrils appeared as fluffy or condensed pink deposits on HE sections (Figure 1A) and showed yellowishgreen birefringence on DRHEP images (Figure 1B). They stained salmon-pink/red by CR (Figure 1C) and showed apple-green birefringence by CRP (Figure 1D). However, DRHEP alone allowed identification of an additional 41 cases, which were not suspected by brightfield HE examination (P = 0.016), as even smaller deposits were easily identified by DRHEP because of their striking luminescence, which was comparable to CRP (Figure 2). The observed refraction pattern was specific to amyloidosis. Even though some of the foreign bodies also showed a variety of polarization patterns, they lacked the yellowishgreen tint of the polarization observed in amyloiddeposited areas (Figure 2). Likewise, collagen bundles also showed a distinct white to silver polarization by DRHEP.

Sensitivity and specificity of DRHEP evaluation:

The results of the HE and DRHEP image evaluation in study and control groups, as well as the sensitivity, specificity, accuracy, and positive and negative predictive values are given in Table 2.

There were only five cases that were suspected as positive by HE evaluation but were negative by DRHEP technique (Figure 3). However, the overall ratio of false-negative cases was lower by DRHEP evaluation compared to HE image evaluation alone (31 cases vs 67 cases, P < 0.001).

In addition, the ratio of false-positive cases by DRHEP was also significantly lower, as there was only one (0.8%) false-positive case among the DRHEP-positive group (P < 0.001) in contrast to 34 false-

Table 1 Distribution of amyloid types and clinical histories detected with digitally reinforced hematoxylin-eosin polarization and hematoxylin-eosin images among study group cases

Clinical history	Cases identified (n)						
	Total	By DRHEP	By DRHEP only	By both DRHEP and HE	By HE	By HE only	By neither technique
AA-type amyloidosis							
Ankylosing spondylitis	13	8	6	2	5	2	3
Familial mediterranean fever	13	8	3	5	5	0	5
Rheumatoid arthritis	10	5	4	1	2	1	4
Inflammatory bowel disease	6	5	3	2	2	0	1
Behcet's disease	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
Tuberculosis	2	2	2	0	0	0	0
Chronic obstructive lung disease	2	2	1	1	1	0	0
Still syndrome	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
Reiter syndrome	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
Psoriasis	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
TRAPS	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
Chronic infection	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
Total	54	34	23	11	15	3	17
AL-type amyloidosis							
Multiple myeloma	8	7	7	0	0	0	1
Plasma cell dyscrasia	1	1	0	1	1	0	0
Total	9	8	7	1	1	0	1
Amyloidosis-type undetermined							
Hereditary amyloidosis ¹	10	7	3	5	4	1	2
Chronic renal failure	5	3	1	2	2	0	2
Plasma cell dyscrasia	1	1	0	1	1	0	0
Malignancy	4	4	2	2	2	0	0
Unknown causes	17	12	5	6	8	1	4
Total	37	27	11	16	17	2	8
Overall total	100	69	41	28	33	5	26

¹Transthyretin-related amyloidosis mutation was detected in one case. TRAPS: Tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome; HE: Hematoxylin-eosin; DRHEP: Digitally reinforced hematoxylin-eosin polarization.



Figure 1 Easily identified amyloid deposits in a submucosal vessel wall (arrows). A: Brightfield view of hematoxylin-eosin (HE) staining (amyloid is stained pinkish-red); B: Digitally reinforced polarization view of the same HE-stained section. Note the yellowish green tint of birefringence; C: Brightfield view of Congo-red staining (deposits exhibit a salmon-pink appearance); D: Polarization view of the same Congo-red-stained section. Note the apple green tint of polarization is more pronounced than in the digitally reinforced HE polarization image (arrow); 10× magnification.

Baishideng®

WJG www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Tiny amyloid deposits in vessel walls, which are not striking at first sight (long arrows). A: Brightfield view of hematoxylin-eosin (HE) staining; B: Digitally reinforced polarization view of the same HE-stained section. Note the striking yellowish green tint of birefringence of amyloid in small vessel walls (long arrows) and variant colored nonspecific refraction of a foreign body (short arrow); C: Brightfield view of Congo-red staining (note the salmon pink color); D: Polarization view of the same Congo-red-stained section with apple green birefringence of deposits (arrows); 20× magnification.

Table 2 Comparison of hematoxylin-eosin and digitally rein-
forced hematoxylin-eosin polarization evaluated by Congo- red entire $w_{i}(0)$
red stain <i>n</i> (%)

Variable	DRHEP	HE
Congo red positive ($n = 100$)		
True positive	69 (69)	33 (33)
False negative	31 (31)	67 (67)
Congo red negative $(n = 50)$		
True negative	49 (98)	16 (20)
False positive	1 (4)	34 (80)
Sensitivity	69%	34%
Specificity	98%	32%
Accuracy	78.6%	33.3%
Positive predictive value	98.5	50.0
Negative predictive value	61.3	19.5

HE: Hematoxylin-eosin; DRHEP: Digitally reinforced hematoxylin-eosin polarization.

positive cases by HE evaluation only. Whether this false-positive case had an undetermined birefringent foreign body or a small amyloid deposition, which could be lost on consecutive sections, remains unclear. Overall the sensitivity, specificity, accuracy, and positive and negative predictive values for DRHEP technique were calculated as 69%, 98%, 78.6%, 98.5% and 61.25% while they were 34%, 32%, 33.3%, 50%, and 19.5% for HE evaluation respectively (Table 2).

Effect of amyloid type and site of deposition: The sites of the amyloid depositions observed by DRHEP and the effect of the DRHEP technique in identification are summarized in Table 3. It was easier to identify or suspect mixed vascular, interstitial, and muscular deposits than only vascular ones both with HE and DRHEP. Although no statistically significant correlation was found between the underlying etiologies or amyloid subtypes, DRHEP identified more cases regardless of site of distribution (Table 3).

Identification by DRHEP was not affected by the type of amyloid deposition (Table 1). However, it is noteworthy that some of the cases, such as myeloma and tuberculosis, were only evaluated as positive by DRHEP while they were not suspected by HE examination.

Although no significant correlation was found between age, gender, the sites of amyloid deposition, and amyloid type, the ratio of false positivity was higher in patients in the fifth decade (n = 15 cases; P = 0.049) if evaluated by HE alone in contrast to only one age-matched false-positive case (0.8%) in the DRHEP group.

Comparative evaluation of false-negative DRHEP cases with CRP

Thirty-one false-negative cases by DRHEP were reevaluated in comparison with the CRP images. Nine Doganavsargil B et al. DRHEP technique in rectal amyloidosis



Figure 3 Amyloid suspicious deposits in muscularis mucosa and submucosa (stars). A: Brightfield view of hematoxylin-eosin (HE) staining; B: Digitally reinforced polarization view of the same HE-stained section. Note the nonspecific refractions throughout the tissue and the aberrant artificial refraction of a foreign body on the slide just below the (stars) in A and B. No convincing birefringence for amyloidosis is observed in the suspected area (stars) by HE; C: Brightfield view of Congo-red staining with salmon pink deposits (stars); D: Polarization view of the same Congo-red-stained section with apple green birefringence of deposits (stars); 10× magnification.

Table 3 Distribution of hematoxylin-eosin and digitally reinforced hematoxylin-eosin polarization evaluation results for identifying the site of deposits confirmed by Congo-red polarization, n

Site of deposition	Confirmed		Identified by DRHEP				Identified by HE						
	by CRP	Total	<i>P</i> value	HE-/ DRHEP+	<i>P</i> value	HE + / DRHEP +	<i>P</i> value	Total	<i>P</i> value	HE+/ DRHEP-	<i>P</i> value	HE-/ DRHEP-	<i>P</i> value
Vascular deposits only	74	48	0.24	31	0.982	17	0.147	21	0.381	4	0.823	22	0.407
Mixed deposits	26	21	0.24	10	0.982	11	0.147	12	0.381	1	0.823	4	0.407
Vascular, muscular	13	9	0.24	5	0.982	4	0.147	5	0.381	1	0.823	3	0.407
Vascular, muscular,	7	6	0.24	2	0.982	4	0.147	4	0.381	0	0.823	1	0.407
interstitial													
Vascular, interstitial	6	6	0.24	3	0.982	3	0.147	3	0.381	0	0.823	0	0.407
Total number of cases	100	69	-	41	-	28	-	33	-	5	-	26	-

HE: Hematoxylin-eosin; DRHEP: Digitally reinforced hematoxylin-eosin polarization; CRP: Congo-red polarization.

(29%) cases showed positive birefringent deposits that were more easily identified on CRP images. In some of those cases, background refraction obscured the tiny deposits (Figure 4).

Apart from the nine missed cases, the most common cause of false negativity was the presence of extensive yellowish-green birefringence (38.7%), which was interpreted as nonspecific refraction. Loss of the CR positive birefringent vessel (foci) (9.7%) on the DRHEP image was the other common cause for false negativity.

Similarly, the positive foci on DRHEP images were more prominent in comparison to the two false-

negative cases by CR staining. Table 4 summarizes the causes for the discrepancy and their relationship with amyloid subtypes and clinical etiologies.

In five of the false-negative cases, the deposits were inexplicably non-birefringent in DRHEP images, though they were all positive by CR (Figure 3).

DISCUSSION

Amyloidosis is still an etiopathogenetically mysterious disease, since its first description by Nicolaus Fontanus in 1639^[1]. To date, 30 different human fibril proteins have been identified in localized or



Figure 4 False negative case with extensive refraction and tiny deposits in digitally reinforced polarization view. A: No arresting positivity was observed in initial evaluation. Note the black-appearing area in the center of the circle [hematoxylin-cosin (HE), under polarization, 10×]; B: High-power digitally reinforced polarization view of the area in circle in panel A. The yellowish green birefringence in a small vessel (arrow) is distinguished after careful examination in comparison with the Congo-red image (HE, under polarization, 40×); C: Congo-red stain positivity in the same vessel (arrow) (bright field, 40×); D: Apple green birefringence of Congo-red polarization of the same vessel (arrow) (under polarization, 40×).

Table 4 Distribution of causes of false negativity by digitally reinforced hematoxylin-eosin polarization and clinical histories

Cause of false negativity	Total number of cases, n (%)	Clinical history	п	Amyloid type
Extensive refraction	12 (38.7)	Ankylosing spondylitis	2	AA
		Familial Mediterranean fever	1	AA
		Rheumatoid arthritis	1	AA
		Behcet's disease	1	AA
		Psoriasis	1	AA
		Multiple myeloma	1	AL
		Chronic renal failure	1	Undetermined
		Hereditary	1	Undetermined
		Unknown causes	3	Undetermined
Tiny deposit ("Missed cases")	9 (29.0)	Ankylosing spondylitis	2	AA
		Familial Mediterranean fever	1	AA
		Rheumatoid arthritis	2	AA
		Inflammatory bowel disease	1	AA
		Behcet's disease	1	AA
		Hereditary	1	Undetermined
		Unknown causes	1	Undetermined
Absence of the positive vessel	3 (9.7)	Familial Mediterranean fever	1	AA
		Behcet's disease	1	AA
		Ankylosing spondylitis	1	AA
Perivascular illuminance	2 (6.5)	Familial Mediterranean fever	1	AA
		Rheumatoid arthritis	1	AA
Reason unidentified	5 (16.1)	Familial Mediterranean fever	1	AA
(Real negative? cases)		Rheumatoid arthritis	1	AA
		Chronic renal failure	1	Undetermined
		Unknown causes	1	Undetermined
		Hereditary	1	ATTR
Total number of cases	31 (100.0)		31	

AA: Amyloid A; AL: Amyloid light-chain; ATTR: Transthyretin-related amyloidosis

systemic forms of the disease^[8]. Although amyloid fibril formation results from protein misfolding due to several factors such as mutations or proteolysis, it is not clear how these different proteins, with different amino acid sequences, three-dimensional structures, and biologic functions, convert to a fibrillary form, which has a considerably uniform morphology. Even though any protein deposits that stain with CR and exhibit green birefringence by polarization microscopy are considered as amyloid^[9], we do not know how these different proteins with different physical orientations show similar birefringence under polarized light. Regardless of the mechanisms of this polarization, our results show that amyloid fibrils have a polarization property^[6] and retain this polarization effect even after staining with HE, and can be detected easily if certain conditions are met. Within the scope of this study, this polarization effect was enhanced via a digital camera attached to the polarization microscope, which was set up according to the method described in the original literature^[5].

Using the method of Sen et al^[5], amyloid fibrils show a constant yellowish-green tint under polarization on HE-stained sections, and can be detected in rectal biopsies. Although the color was different than observed in polarization of CR-stained sections, it was easily identifiable in most of the cases. The physical basis of the constant yellowish-green color observed during HE polarization and the effect of digital enhancement on this polarization is beyond the scope of this article given the polarization mechanisms observed in CR-stained sections are not fully uncovered yet^[10]. Of note, Howie *et al*^[11] pointed to different colors diverging than the classically defined apple-green tint appearing during CR polarization. Therefore, the color we observed may vary in different camera settings. The physical basis of colors seen DRHEP requires further studies dedicated to this issue. Regardless of the mechanisms, this polarization enabled visualization of even the very tiny deposits and facilitated identification of amyloidosis with 69% sensitivity. The specificity of the technique was as high as 98%, and the observed yellowish-green color with polarization was almost unique to amyloidosis, which was comparable to CRP, as false positivity was not observed apart from one case with a tiny vascular and suspicious birefringence.

We must highlight that the aim of the study is neither asserting DRHEP as a substitute for CR nor for recommending rectal biopsies for scanning of amyloidosis in rectal biopsies. CR has long been regarded as the gold standard for diagnosis of amyloidosis with higher sensitivity and specificity ratios, and abdominal fat-pad aspiration biopsies have been favored for scanning of amyloidosis since the 1970s as a safe, simple, and fast method^[12,13]. However, rectal biopsies are also still in use for diagnostic purposes in our routine practice^[14]. Rectal biopsies are challenging because of the more collagenous and muscular tissue structure compared to kidney and subcutaneous fat tissue samples. The reported sensitivity of rectal biopsies in detection of amyloidosis varies within the literature ranging from 69% to 97%, and is largely affected by tissue sampling^[15].

Identification of amyloidosis in rectum can also be valuable for prediction of renal involvement, as almost ninety percent of GI amyloidosis also have renal amyloid deposits^[7,16]. Thus, GI biopsies can also be used with comparable convenience and sensitivity^[17], and efforts to increase the diagnostic sensitivity of rectal biopsies is important. In this regard, DRHEP is valuable for distinguishing tiny amyloid deposits from sclerosis, hyalinization, or other red-pink colored structures, as they do not show the yellowish-green polarization observed in amyloidosis. Significant false positivity by HE evaluation in older patients (i.e., after the fifth decade) in our study group was meaningful in this respect, as it likely reflects hypertensive vascular changes that might have a similar morphologic appearance with amyloidosis and cause diagnostic difficulties. The higher specificity of DRHEP (96%) is therefore valuable.

The accurate diagnosis of amyloidosis in rectal biopsies is not only important for scanning purposes in clinically suspected cases, but also crucial in distinguishing it from its histologic mimics observed in the GI tract, such as collagenous colitis^[18], ischemic bowel disease^[19], and elastosis or elastofibromatous changes^[20], which may cause important diagnostic challenges in inadequate biopsies. Moreover, many of the pathologies seen in the GI tract increase the risk of amyloidosis, such as inflammatory bowel disease^[21,22], intestinal Behcet's^[23], or chronic infections as tuberculosis^[24]. Therefore a concurrent case of amyloidosis can easily be overlooked, especially in clinically unsuspected cases. However, all these diagnostic and differential diagnostic considerations indeed rely on histologic suspicion of amyloidosis in HE-stained sections, particularly when the case is not suspected clinically. As we observed in our study design, blinded review of the cases caused false negativity in 67% of the cases by sole HE evaluation; the lower sensitivity and specificity ratios might result in either missing the case totally or application of excessive CR stains to all suspected tissue blocks. In this respect, we propose that DRHEP can be used as an adjunct to both HE and CR to increase their efficacy in detecting amyloidosis. It may be of help in selecting tissue blocks for further analysis and reduce time and extra costs.

Once the polarization microscope and attached digital camera are set up, this method is easy for scanning virtually all suspected cases during routine sign-out. In fact, in three of the study group cases, clinically unsuspected amyloidosis was initially dia-

gnosed from rectal biopsies taken for other reasons, and DRHEP helped to pick up the cases as an initial step of evaluation. It was also valuable as an adjunct to CR stain in three more cases where the amyloid deposit was more extensive in HE-stained sections, and where the amyloid-bearing vessel was located at the edge of the biopsy and missed during serial cuts for CR staining. Multiple serial sections are needed to confirm the diagnosis by positivity in another vessel. Thus, we may benefit from this technique in routine practice, and with considerable safety, as the falsepositivity ratio is significantly lower, comparable to CR staining. However, DRHEP should not be used as a replacement for routine CR staining, as there are still false-negative cases despite a significantly lower false-negativity ratio than with HE alone. The most common cause of false negativity was the presence of an extensive yellowish-green background birefringence (38.7%), which was suspicious for a nonspecific refraction. Although different from the silvery-white refraction of collagenous tissue, the visual complexity carried the risk of hiding truepositive tiny deposits, as we experienced in two of the cases. Loss of the CR-positive vessel in the HE section and nonspecific perivascular illumination were the other causes of false negativity. The importance of the perivascular birefringence is not known yet; whether it reflects a true deposit too tiny to be discriminated by light microscopy could not be ruled out within the scope of this study. However, this finding is worth mentioning as some of the sections also showed a sort of refraction in CRP images.

For the missed true-positive cases, we acknowledge that the recognition of the yellowishgreen coloring upon polarization may require some experience and adjustment to the technique. After identifying the positive areas on CR, it was easier to comment on the observed refraction for discrepant cases. This troubleshooting or improved evaluation effect had a positive impact, particularly on the identification of tiny deposits. Thus, we believe that experience and increased practice may help to overcome some of these discrepancies.

The greater number of etiologically unknown cases, or cases in which the amyloid typing could not be further evaluated (other than AA or AL), is the major shortcoming of this study. Therefore further research is needed to uncover the effect of underlying etiology and amyloid types in relation to their visualization by DRHEP technique.

Today, many laboratories have adequate equipment (polarization attachment, polarization filter, and digital camera) for use with the DRHEP technique. Once the camera is attached and digital photography settings are made, it can be easily applied during routine biopsy evaluation with convincing safety. Laboratories can do their own optimizations. DRHEP may also be of help in reducing unnecessary CR staining in different tissue blocks of an individual case, which will save a considerable amount time, resources, and even tissue, in daily routine practice. It might even be valuable for the initial screening of cases of clinically unsuspected amyloidosis as a prior step or adjunct to CR evaluation^[10,15].

The utility of a grading system as previously described in renal biopsies^[25] and whether it can be applied to rectal biopsies should also be further evaluated. A standardized diagnostic approach and reporting, including the histologic structure of the deposits, should also be considered for all cases^[26].

As mentioned above, the physical basis of this polarization, the effect of the CR-staining technique^[27], or usage of a digital camera deserves further investigation. Dedicated research is also needed to reveal the relationship between the observed polarizations and the protein infrastructure of the deposits. The efficacy of the technique and its reproducibility in other tissues should also be investigated.

The data presented here will hopefully increase awareness about the DRHEP method and its efficacy as an adjunct to diagnosis in colorectal biopsies. To our knowledge, this is the first study dedicated to HE polarization in colorectal tissues.

COMMENTS

Background

Amyloidosis is a disparate set of disorders characterized by excessive deposition of amyloid fibrils in tissues and organs, rather than a single diseaseentity with known causes and consequences. It may cause a wide range of clinical symptoms related with the involved target-organ dysfunction. Amyloid fibrils are composed of 30 different proteins, but have a considerably uniform histologic morphology. The gold standard for diagnosis is demonstration of amyloid fibril deposits in tissues, which appear as homogenous deposits that stain salmon pink with Congo red, and exhibit an apple-green birefringence when scanned with a polarization microscope. However, tissue diagnosis may be troublesome, especially in small biopsies when there is a paucity of amyloid deposits or when the tissue is too small for further staining.

Research frontiers

In a previous study on renal amyloidosis, amyloid fibrils were shown to have a polarization property when scanned with a polarized microscope, even when they were stained with a standard hematoxylin-eosin stain that is used in conventional microscopic examination of tissues. However, this effect is more readily identifiable in digitally captured images as an unrevealed effect of the camera systems attached to the microscope. The utility of this technique, known as digitally reinforced hematoxylin-eosin polarization (DRHEP), has not been researched in other tissues. This is the first study to evaluate DRHEP for detecting amyloidosis in rectal biopsies.

Innovations and breakthroughs

The rectum is not only one of the most frequently biopsied sites for diagnosis of amyloidosis, but also is a target organ, as the gastrointestinal tract is one of the most commonly affected organ systems in systemic amyloidosis. Moreover, amyloidosis may complicate many primary pathologies of the gastrointestinal tract or can mimic them, requiring additional workups for either diagnosis of amyloidosis or for ruling it out. However, the rectal biopsies are often too small for further analysis. The results of the present study show that the striking yellowish-green birefringence of amyloid fibrils with DRHEP enables identification of even very tiny deposits, and that the true-positivity ratio of DRHEP is higher, while the false-negativity ratio is lower, than examination

by hematoxylin-eosin without applying polarization. The extremely low false positivity is comparable to Congo-red staining results, rendering DRHEP a sensitive and specific method for diagnosis of amyloidosis, improving diagnostic accuracy. It can be used as an adjunct or a prior step to Congo-red staining, especially for cases with limited tissues for further analysis.

Applications

Today, many laboratories have adequate equipment (polarization attachment, polarization filter, and digital camera) for use with the DRHEP technique. Thus, it is a relatively easy method to scan virtually all suspected cases during routine sign-out.

Terminology

Hematoxylin-eosin is the conventional stain used in pathology to evaluate tissues. Amyloid fibrils are seen as pinkish-red deposits under brightfield microscopy that cannot be differentiated from fibrosis, muscle tissue, or hyalinosis, with its sole appearance by this stain. Congo red, which is an aniline dye also used in the textile industry, is used for demonstrating amyloidosis in tissues. Congo-red staining is regarded as the gold standard for diagnosis of amyloidosis, and amyloid fibrils appear salmon pink with this stain. Polarized light microscopy is used to reveal polarized (light waves vibrating in only one plane) properties of tissues. Amyloid fibers show apple-green birefringence under polarized light. DRHEP is a novel technique to detect polarization of amyloid fibers under a polarization microscope without staining with Congo-red dye. The polarization effect of amyloid fibrils that are too faint to be seen with standard hematoxylin-eosin stain is more readily identifiable when digital images are captured, and amyloid fibers show yellowish-green birefringence in these images.

Peer-review

This manuscript is an interesting paper on a niche topic and is well documented.

REFERENCES

- Kyle RA. Amyloidosis: a convoluted story. Br J Haematol 2001; 114: 529-538 [PMID: 11552976 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2001.02999.x]
- 2 Puchtler H, Sweat F, Levine M. On the binding of congo red by amyloid. J Histochem Cytochem 1962; 10: 355-364 [DOI: 10.1177/10.3.355]
- 3 Linke RP, Gärtner HV, Michels H. High-sensitivity diagnosis of AA amyloidosis using Congo red and immunohistochemistry detects missed amyloid deposits. *J Histochem Cytochem* 1995; 43: 863-869 [PMID: 7642960 DOI: 10.1177/43.9.7642960]
- 4 Puchtler H, Sweat F. Congo red as a stain for fluorescence microscopy of amyloid. *J Histochem Cytochem* 1965; 13: 693-694 [PMID: 4160077 DOI: 10.1177/13.8.693]
- 5 Sen S, Sarsik Kumbaraci B. Digitally reinforced polarization of hematoxylin-eosin in the diagnosis of renal amyloidosis. *Turk Patoloji Derg* 2012; 28: 204-212 [PMID: 23011822 DOI: 10.5146/ tjpath.2012.01126]
- 6 Appel TR, Richter S, Linke RP, Makovitzky J. Histochemical and topo-optical investigations on tissue-isolated and in vitro amyloid fibrils. *Amyloid* 2005; 12: 174-183 [PMID: 16194873 DOI: 10.108 0/13506120500221906]
- 7 Ebert EC, Nagar M. Gastrointestinal manifestations of amyloidosis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2008; **103**: 776-787 [PMID: 18076735 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01669.x]
- 8 Sipe JD, Benson MD, Buxbaum JN, Ikeda S, Merlini G, Saraiva MJ, Westermark P; Nomenclature Committee of the International Society of Amyloidosis. Amyloid fibril protein nomenclature: 2012 recommendations from the Nomenclature Committee of the International Society of Amyloidosis. *Amyloid* 2012; **19**: 167-170 [PMID: 23113696 DOI: 10.3109/13506129.2012.734345]
- 9 Gertz MA. The classification and typing of amyloid deposits. Am J Clin Pathol 2004; 121: 787-789 [PMID: 15198347 DOI: 10.1309/ TR4LGLVRJKAMV5QT]
- 10 Kröger M, Kovács BM, Appel TR, Gruys E, Makovitzky J. Polarization optical and histochemical analysis of amyloid samples from various animal species. The Proceedings of the XIIIth International Symposium on Amyloidosis, "From Misfolded Proteins to Well-Designed Treatment"; May 6-10, 2012. Groningen,

the Netherlands: Groningen Unit for Amyloidosis Research and Development, 2013: 32-35

- 11 Howie AJ, Brewer DB, Howell D, Jones AP. Physical basis of colors seen in Congo red-stained amyloid in polarized light. *Lab Invest* 2008; 88: 232-242 [PMID: 18166974 DOI: 10.1038/ labinvest.3700714]
- 12 van Gameren II, Hazenberg BP, Bijzet J, van Rijswijk MH. Diagnostic accuracy of subcutaneous abdominal fat tissue aspiration for detecting systemic amyloidosis and its utility in clinical practice. *Arthritis Rheum* 2006; 54: 2015-2021 [PMID: 16732553 DOI: 10.1002/art.21902]
- 13 Westermark P, Davey E, Lindbom K, Enqvist S. Subcutaneous fat tissue for diagnosis and studies of systemic amyloidosis. *Acta Histochem* 2006; 108: 209-213 [PMID: 16714055 DOI: 10.1016/ j.acthis.2006.03.011]
- 14 Ensari C, Ensari A, Tümer N, Ertug E. Clinicopathological and epidemiological analysis of amyloidosis in Turkish patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2005; 20: 1721-1725 [PMID: 15972323 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfh890]
- 15 Bowen K, Shah N, Lewin M. AL-Amyloidosis Presenting with Negative Congo Red Staining in the Setting of High Clinical Suspicion: A Case Report. *Case Rep Nephrol* 2012; 2012: 593460 [PMID: 24555137 DOI: 10.1155/2012/593460]
- 16 Yilmaz M, Unsal A, Sokmen M, Harmankaya O, Alkim C, Kabukeuoglu F, Ozagari A. Duodenal biopsy for diagnosis of renal involvement in amyloidosis. *Clin Nephrol* 2012; 77: 114-118 [PMID: 22257541 DOI: 10.5414/CN107139]
- Kuroda T, Tanabe N, Kobayashi D, Sato H, Wada Y, Murakami S, Nakano M, Narita I. Association between clinical parameters and amyloid-positive area in gastroduodenal biopsy in reactive amyloidosis associated with rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatol Int* 2012; 32: 933-939 [PMID: 21240500 DOI: 10.1007/s00296-010-1719-4]
- 18 García-González R, Fernández FA, Garijo MF, Fernando Val-Bernal J. Amyloidosis of the rectum mimicking collagenous colitis. *Pathol Res Pract* 1998; 194: 731-735 [PMID: 9820871]
- 19 Biggers JA, Remmers AR, Lindley JD, Folse DS, Sarles HE, Fish JC. Femoral neuropathy and ischemic colitis associated with amyloidosis in hemodialysis patients. *Ann Surg* 1975; 182: 161-162 [PMID: 1211994 DOI: 10.1097/0000658-197508000-00014]
- 20 Hobbs CM, Burch DM, Sobin LH. Elastosis and elastofibromatous change in the gastrointestinal tract: a clinicopathologic study of 13 cases and a review of the literature. *Am J Clin Pathol* 2004; 122: 232-237 [PMID: 15323140 DOI: 10.1309/LBGTCG1QCD96M3NF]
- 21 Serra I, Oller B, Mañosa M, Naves JE, Zabana Y, Cabré E, Domènech E. Systemic amyloidosis in inflammatory bowel disease: retrospective study on its prevalence, clinical presentation, and outcome. *J Crohns Colitis* 2010; 4: 269-274 [PMID: 21122515 DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns.2009.11.009]
- 22 Sattianayagam PT, Gillmore JD, Pinney JH, Gibbs SD, Wechalekar AD, Gilbertson JA, Rowczenio D, Hawkins PN, Lachmann HJ. Inflammatory bowel disease and systemic AA amyloidosis. *Dig Dis Sci* 2013; 58: 1689-1697 [PMID: 23371008 DOI: 10.1007/ s10620-012-2549-x]
- 23 Utku U, Dilek M, Akpolat I, Bedir A, Akpolat T. SAA1 alpha/ alpha alleles in Behçet's disease related amyloidosis. *Clin Rheumatol* 2007; 26: 927-929 [PMID: 17039260]
- 24 Malhotra P, Agarwal R, Awasthi A, Jindal SK, Srinivasan R. How long does it take for tuberculosis to cause secondary amyloidosis? *Eur J Intern Med* 2005; 16: 437-439 [PMID: 16198905 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejim.2005.02.018]
- 25 Sen S, Sarsik B. A proposed histopathologic classification, scoring, and grading system for renal amyloidosis: standardization of renal amyloid biopsy report. *Arch Pathol Lab Med* 2010; 134: 532-544 [PMID: 20367305 DOI: 10.1043/1543-2165-134.4.532]
- 26 Picken MM, Hazenberg BP, Westermark P, Eds. Hazenberg BPC, Bijzet J. Early detection of amyloid and its reporting: where are we and where are we heading? The Proceedings of the XIIIth International Symposium on Amyloidosis, "From Misfolded Proteins to Well-Designed Treatment"; May 6-10, 2012. Groningen,

the Netherlands: Groningen Unit for Amyloidosis Research and Development, 2013: 459-466

27 Bély M, Makovitzky J. Sensitivity and specificity of Congo red

staining according to Romhányi. Comparison with Puchtler's or Bennhold's methods. *Acta Histochem* 2006; **108**: 175-180 [PMID: 16714051 DOI: 10.1016/j.acthis.2006.03.017]

> P- Reviewer: Lakatos PL, Lorenzon L L- Editor: AmEditor E- Editor: Ma S







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1838 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1838-1844 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Cohort Study

Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 protein expression and clinicopathological features in gastric cancer

Hao Chen, Dan-Ping Shen, Zi-Zhen Zhang, Jia-Hua Liu, Yan-Ying Shen, Xing-Zhi Ni

Hao Chen, Dan-Ping Shen, Zi-Zhen Zhang, Jia-Hua Liu, Xing-Zhi Ni, Department of General Surgery, Ren Ji Hospital, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai 200127, China

Yan-Ying Shen, Department of Pathology, Ren Ji Hospital, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai 200127, China

Author contributions: Chen H, Shen YY and Ni XZ designed the study; Shen DP and Liu JH analyzed the data; Chen H wrote the paper; Ni XZ and Zhang ZZ revised the manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Xing-Zhi Ni, MD, Professor of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, Ren Ji Hospital, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, 1630 Dongfang Road, Shanghai 200127, China. niyin92@gmail.com

Telephone: +86-21-68383731 Fax: +86-21-58394262 Received: April 17, 2014 Peer-review started: April 18, 2014 First decision: May 29, 2014 Revised: August 4, 2014 Accepted: September 5, 2014 Article in press: September 5, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To investigate fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 (FGFR4) protein expression in Chinese patients with resectable gastric cancer (GC) and the association with clinicopathological characteristics and survival.

METHODS: One hundred and seventy-five GC patients

who underwent curative surgical procedures were enrolled in this study. The protein expression of FGFR4 in formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded (FFPE) GC tissues was determined by immunohistochemical (IHC) analysis. Patient clinicopathological data and survival information were also collected and χ^2 statistical analysis was performed to analyze FGFR4 protein expression in the subgroups with differing clinicopathological characteristics including; gender, age, tumor location, differentiation, tumor-node-metastasis stage, macroscopic type, depth of invasion, lymph node metastases, distant metastasis, neural invasion and vascular invasion. Furthermore, some common molecular markers of GC in our cancer center, including p53, p27, topoisomerase II α (Topo II α) were also determined by IHC and their association with FGFR4 protein expression evaluated. The probability of survival for different subgroups with different clinicopathological characteristics was calculated using the Kaplan-Meier method and survival curves plotted using the log rank test.

RESULTS: Seventy seven cases (44%) were found to have high expression of FGFR4 protein. Significantly different FGFR4 expression was observed between gastric cancers with differing expression of Topo $II \alpha$ (log rank χ^2 = 9.4760, *P* = 0.0236). No significant differences were observed between subgroups defined by any of the other clinicopathological characteristics. The median survival time of the FGFR4 high expression (77 cases) and low expression groups (98 cases) was 27 mo and 39 mo, respectively. The five-year survival rates and median survival times of gastric cancers with high FGFR4 expression were worse than those with low expression (30.8% vs 39.2%, 27 mo vs 39 mo), respectively, however, no significant difference was observed in survival time (log rank χ^2 = 1.0477, P = 0.3060). Survival analysis revealed that high expression of FGFR4 was a predictor of poor outcome in GC patients if the tumor was small (less than or equal to 3 cm in size) (log rank χ^2 = 5.5033, P = 0.0190), well dif-



WJG www.wjgnet.com

1838

ferentiated (log rank χ^2 = 7.9757, *P* = 0.0047), and of T1 or T2 stage invasion depth (log rank χ^2 = 4.8827, *P* = 0.0271).

CONCLUSION: Our results suggest that high tumor expression of FGFR4 protein is not an independent risk factor for GC cancer initiation, but is a useful prognostic marker for GC patients when the tumor is relatively small, well differentiated, or in the early stages of invasion.

Key words: Gastric cancer; Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4; Protein expression; Clinicopathological characteristics; Prognosis

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: This study investigated the possible contributions of fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 (FGFR4) protein expression as a risk factor for gastric cancer (GC), and the associations between protein expression and clinicopathological parameters. The results suggested that FGFR4 protein expression may correlate with the expression of Topo II α . Furthermore, we demonstrated that FGFR4 protein expression is not a risk factor for GC initiation, but may be a useful prognostic marker for GC patients with tumors which are relatively small, well differentiated, or in the early stages of invasion.

Chen H, Shen DP, Zhang ZZ, Liu JH, Shen YY, Ni XZ. Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 protein expression and clinicopathological features in gastric cancer. *World J Gastro-enterol* 2015; 21(6): 1838-1844 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1838.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1838

INTRODUCTION

The overall survival of patients with gastric cancer (GC) continues to improve due to the introduction of multidisciplinary treatment approaches and the identification of novel targeted agents; however, GC remains the fourth most commonly diagnosed cancer and the second leading cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide^[1,2]. It remains of great clinical importance to identify new biomarkers for early diagnosis, targeted treatment and prognostic evaluation in gastric cancer.

The human fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR) 4 protein belongs to the FGFR family of receptor tyrosine kinases, which are involved in the regulation of diverse cellular processes including cell growth, differentiation, survival, and migration^[3]. Targeting of such receptors with novel drugs is a proven therapeutic strategy, as exemplified by the clinical success of trastuzumab in treating patients with HER2 amplified breast cancer^[4]. The upregulation of FGFR4 protein expression occurs in prostate^[5], breast^[6], pancre-

atic^[7], renal^[8] and ovarian cancers^[9], and has been associated with resistance to chemotherapy in breast cancer^[10]. A growing body of research indicates that inhibition of the FGF pathway may present an effective therapeutic option for cancer. Moreover, activation of the FGFR pathway may, in some cases, provide a mechanism of resistance against current targeted and antiangiogenic drugs^[11].

A recent report showed that high expression of FGFR4 protein accelerated the progression of advanced GC and might be associated with poor disease prognosis in GC patients^[12]. To our knowledge, this is the only report on the association between FGFR4 protein expression and GC progression in Chinese patients, and therefore requires further confirmation. Importantly, to date no studies have been conducted on the correlation between FGFR4 protein expression and the risk of GC. In this study, we investigated the expression of FGFR4 protein in the context of clinicopathological features and patient prognosis, using an expanded population of 175 Chinese patients with resectable GC.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

A retrospective cohort study was conducted and included 175 GC patients who underwent curative surgery at Ren Ji Hospital, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, from August 2006 to March 2009. We reviewed the medical charts and pathological records for clinicopathological parameters such as age, gender, histological subtype and pathological stage. Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded samples of tumors were evaluated for FGFR4 protein using immunohistochemical (IHC) analysis. None of the patients had undergone preoperative chemotherapy, radiation or targeted therapy. The study included 50 women and 125 men aged 28 to 85 years. The median age was 62 years. The tumor sample characteristics of all 175 cases are shown in Table 1. Of all the tumors examined, 32 (18.28%) were located in the cardiac region, 71 (40.58%) in the body, and 72 (41.14%) in the pylorus. 76 (43.43%) cases were poorly differentiated (grades I and II), and 99 (56.57%) cases were well differentiated (grades III and IV). Tumor-nodemetastasis (TNM) classification revealed that 37 cases were stage [(21.14%), 45 were stage [] (25.71%), 69 were stage III (39.43%) and 24 were stage ${
m IV}$ (13.71%). Clinical stage was determined according to the Union for International Cancer Control TNM staging system, and tumor grade was based on the World Health Organization classification. Postoperative follow-up ended in March, 2014.

Immunohistochemical staining

Tissue sections of paraffin-embedded formalin-fixed tissue blocks were deparaffinized with xylene for 5

WJG www.wjgnet.com

Chen H et al. FGFR4 protein expression in gastric cancer

expression with cli	nicopa	thological	characterist	ics <i>n</i> (⁶	%)
Clinicopathological characteristics	п	FGFR4 positive	FGFR4 negative	χ^2	<i>P</i> value
	175	77 (44.00)	98 (56.00)		
Gender				0.1140	0.8663
Male	125	56 (44.8)	69 (55.20)		
Female A ge (vr)	50	21 (42.00)	29 (58.00)	0 9211	1 0000
< 60	72	32 (44.44)	40 (55.56)	0.9211	1.0000
≥ 60	103	45 (43.69)	58 (56.31)		
Tumor size				0.1400	0.1518
$\leq 3 \text{ cm}$	60	31 (51.67)	29 (48.33)		
> 3 cm	115	46 (40.00)	69 (60.00)	1 30/17	0.4980
U	32	17 (53.13)	15 (46.88)	1.3942	0.4900
M	71	29 (40.85)	42 (59.15)		
L	72	31 (43.06)	41 (56.94)		
Tumor				0.2191	0.1129
differentiation		00 (00 1 ()	47 ((1.04)		
Poor	76	29 (38.16) 48 (48.48)	47 (61.84) 51 (51.52)		
Macroscopic type	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	40 (40.40)	51 (51.52)		
EGC	21	8 (38.10)	13 (61.90)	9.3842	0.0522
Ι	9	3 (33.33)	6 (66.67)		
П	5	3 (60.00)	2 (40.00)		
Ш	127	62 (48.82)	65 (51.18)		
IV TNIM stages	13	1 (7.69)	12 (92.31)	0 2400	0.0504
I	37	15 (40.54)	22 (59 46)	0.3499	0.9504
П	45	21 (46.67)	24 (53.33)		
Ш	69	30 (43.48)	39 (56.52)		
IV	24	11 (45.83)	13 (54.17)		
Т		0 (00 10)		0.9523	0.8128
1	21	8 (38.10)	13 (61.90) 15 (51.72)		
3	29 64	30(46.88)	34 (53.13)		
4	61	25 (40.98)	36 (59.02)		
Ν			. ,	1.8160	0.6115
0	55	27 (49.09)	28 (50.91)		
1	32	11 (34.38)	21 (65.63)		
2	24	11 (45.83) 28 (42.75)	13 (54.17)		
M	04	28 (43.73)	30 (30.23)	0.0379	1 0000
0	151	66 (43.71)	85 (56.29)	01007.5	1.0000
1	24	11 (45.83)	13 (54.17)		
Neural invasion				0.7576	0.5146
Yes	25	9 (36.00)	16 (64.00)		
NO Vascular invasion	150	68 (45.33)	82 (54.67)	0 4473	0 2356
Yes	35	13 (37.14)	22 (62.86)	0.1175	0.2550
No	140	64 (45.71)	76 (54.29)		
P53				3.0941	0.3773
0	72	37 (51.39)	35 (48.61)		
1	43	16 (37.21)	27 (62.79)		
2	20 40	7 (35.00) 17 (42.50)	13(65.00) 23(57.50)		
P27	40	17 (42.50)	25 (57.50)	0.9924	0.8031
0	87	37 (42.53)	50 (57.47)		
1	72	34 (47.22)	38 (52.78)		
2	12	4 (33.33)	8 (66.67)		
3	4	2 (50.00)	2 (50.00)	0.47(0	0.000
0	83	29 (34 94)	54 (65.06)	9.4760	0.0236
1	66	31 (46.97)	35 (53.03)		
2	25	14 (60.87)	9 (39.13)		
3	3	3 (100)	0 (0)		

FGFR4: Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4; TNM: Tumor-node-metastasis.



Figure 1 Immunohistochemical analysis of fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 protein expression (× 200). A: High expression; B: Low expression.

min, followed by two washes with 100% ethanol for 10 min each. The slides were then incubated in 95% ethanol for 10 min and washed twice in dH₂O for 5 min. Antigen retrieval was performed by placing the slides in 10 mmol/L citrate buffer (pH 6.0) and microwave treatment for 15 min. Tissue sections were cooled to room temperature (RT), and washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and distilled water. IHC was carried out on 4-µm sections using specific antibodies against FGFR4 (sc-124, Santa Cruz), p53 (sc-126, Santa Cruz), p27 (sc-393380, Santa Cruz), and Topo II α (sc-65743, Santa Cruz). IHC samples were examined by two pathologists who were experienced in gastrointestinal cancers and unaware of the clinical information. Immunostains were standardized using appropriate positive and negative controls for each antibody.

The FGFR4 was evaluated according to both the signal intensity and the percentage of stained cells. The signal intensity was scored as negative (0), weak (1), moderate (2) or strong (3). When the percentage of FGFR4 immune-positive tumor cells was considered, a score of 1 was given when < 10% of cells were positive; 2 when 10%-50% of cells were positive. Both scores were multiplied and the resulting score was used to categorize FGFR4 expression as low expression (< 3) or high expression (> 3).

The expression of p53, p27 and Topo $\,\mathrm{II}\,\alpha$ were



Figure 2 Significant difference was found between patients with high and low fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 protein expression after stratified Kaplan-Meier survival analysis. A: Patients with tumor size \leq 3 cm; B: Patients with well-differentiated gastric cancer; C: Patients with gastric cancer classified as stage T1 or T2.

assessed by determining the number of positively stained nuclei, with less than 10% of stained cells indicating a negative result. A score of 1 was given when 10%-30% of the cells stained positively. Scores of 2 or 3 were given when 30%-50% or > 50% of the cells stained positively, respectively.

Chen H et al. FGFR4 protein expression in gastric cancer

Statistical analysis

Pearson χ^2 statistical analysis was performed to assess FGFR4 protein expression in the subgroups with differing clinicopathological characteristics. The probability of survival for different subgroups was calculated using the Kaplan-Meier method and the survival curves were plotted using the log rank test. All statistics were performed using 2-sided analysis, with a significance level of P < 0.05, using the "SPSS 19.0" statistical software package.

RESULTS

FGFR 4 protein expression

According to the criteria described previously, among 175 cases, 77 (44%) had high FGFR4 protein expression (Figure 1A) and 98 (56%) had low expression (Figure 1B).

Correlation of FGFR4 protein expression with clinicopathological characteristics

A significant correlation was observed between FGFR4 protein expression and Topo II α expression in gastric cancers (log rank $\chi^2 = 9.4760$, P = 0.0236). No relationships were observed between FGFR4 expression and gender, age, tumor size, tumor location, tumor differentiation, macroscopic type, p53 status, p27 status or TNM GC classification (P > 0.05; Table 1). Furthermore, within the subgroups, no relationships were observed between FGFR4 protein expression and depth of invasion, lymph node metastasis, distant metastasis, neural invasion or vascular invasion (Table 1).

Survival analysis

The five-year survival rate for patients with tumors showing low expression of FGFR4 was 39.2%, and the median survival time was 39 mo. The five-year survival rate for patients with tumors showing high FGFR4 expression was 30.8%, and median survival time was 27 mo. However, analysis of the entire patient cohort using Kaplan-Meier survival analysis showed no difference in survival between patients with high and low FGFR4 expressing tumors (log rank $\chi^2 = 1.0477, P = 0.3060$). When the patient population was stratified by clinicopathological parameters, such as age at diagnosis, gender, tumor size, differentiation, pathological stage, neural or vascular invasion, we found that the expression of FGFR4 protein was associated with a shorter survival time in GC patients if the tumor was small (less than or equal to 3 cm in size) (log rank χ^2 = 5.5033, P = 0.0190, Figure 2A), well differentiated (log rank χ^2 = 7.9757, P = 0.0047, Figure 2B), or of T1 or T2 stage (log rank χ^2 = 4.8827, P = 0.0271, Figure 2C). No survival difChen H et al. FGFR4 protein expression in gastric cancer

Table 2 Relationship between different clinicopathological characteristics and prognosis						
Clinicopathological characteristics	FGFR4 p	ositive	FGFR4 n	egative	χ²	P value
	Median survival time (mo)	5-yr survival rate	Median survival time (mo)	5-yr survival rate		
Gender						
Male	27	27.4	47	36.7	1.1198	0.2900
Female	43	42.2	46	44.8	0.0000	0.9967
Age (yr)						
< 60	31	23.9	35	30.0	0.4080	0.5230
≥ 60	44	36.1	52	46.0	0.6206	0.4308
Tumor size						
$\leq 3 \text{ cm}$	42	40.4	60	69.0	5.5033	0.0190
> 3 cm	22	24.8	24	26.2	0.0746	0.7848
Tumor location						
U	18	31.1	38	31.4	0.7164	0.3973
М	43	31.5	46	38.1	0.0225	0.8807
L	35	29.1	52	42.5	1.1274	0.2883
Tumor						
differentiation						
Poor	17	23.4	35	20.1	2.2622	0.1326
Well	31	47.0	56	62.1	7.9757	0.0047
TNM stages						
I + II	56	57.7	60	69.6	1.3128	0.2519
III + IV	15	3.5	19	10.6	0.5328	0.4654
Т						
T1 + T2	54	55.8	60	82.1	4.8827	0.0271
T3 + T4	22	19.4	18	21.3	0.0479	0.8268
Ν						
N0	58	67.4	60	75.0	0.4856	0.4859
N1 + N2 + N3	18	10.1	25	24.3	2.5385	0.1111
М						
0	43	35.3	52	45.4	1.2078	0.2718
1	9	0.0	12	0.0	0.4042	0.5249
Neural I invasion						
Yes	19	38.9	56	18.8	2.1949	0.1385
No	36	30.2	49	43.3	3.1118	0.0777
Vascular						
I invasion						
Yes	21	13.8	22	14.3	0.0507	0.8219
No	42	34.0	54	46.2	1.7283	0.1886

FGFR4: Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4; TNM: Tumor-node-metastasis.

ferences were observed in any of the other subgroups (Table 2).

DISCUSSION

In this single-center study, we investigated the FGFR4 protein expression status of 175 resectable GC specimens using IHC analysis. Herein, we focused on the role of FGFR4 as a prognostic marker for predicting cancer behavior and clinical outcome in GC patients undergoing curative surgery. To our knowledge, this is the largest study conducted to date.

Our data showed that 44% of cases (77) exhibited high FGFR4 protein expression, a result which is in keeping with a similarly high expression rate of around 38%, documented in a previous study which also reported that GC tissues have higher FGFR4 protein expression than normal tissues^[13]. Overexpression of FGFR4 protein has been described in various malignancies and has been shown to play an important biological role. Roidl et al^[14] in 2009 demonstrated that FGFR4 expression is up-regulated in response to doxorubicin treatment in apoptosisresistant cancer cell clones. Turkington et al^[15] in 2014 demonstrated that FGFR4 has an important role in resistance to oxaliplatin and 5-FU treatment in a range of colorectal cancer cell line models, whilst Zaid et al^[9] in 2013 demonstrated that gene silencing of FGFR4 and inhibition of ligand-receptor binding both significantly decreased ovarian tumor growth both in vitro and in vivo. Recently, a study using a combination of the FGFR4 inhibitor, PD173074, and 5-fluorouracil showed an anti-proliferative and pro-apoptotic effect in GC cells in vitro^[16]. Targeting gastric cancers with high levels of FGFR4 protein expression may represent a new therapeutic modality.

In our 175 patient cohort, no relationships were observed between FGFR4 protein expression and age, gender, tumor location, tumor differentiation, macroscopic type, TNM classification or other clinicopathological characteristics (P > 0.05). This is in keeping with similar data from several published studies on GC, hepatocellular carcinoma^[17] and other tumor types. Results from earlier studies also showed that FGFR4 expression correlated significantly with the expression of human epidermal receptor 2 (HER-2), p21, and proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA)^[13]. In our study, we found that FGFR4 expression correlated positively with Topo II α expression, but not with p53 or p27.

Topo $\prod \alpha$ is a nuclear enzyme which modulates the topology of chromosomal DNA by causing transient double-stranded DNA breaks. This enzyme plays a key role in a number of DNA-related processes^[18], is essential for cell growth and is typically expressed at high levels in rapidly growing cancer cells^[19]. Notably, the fact that specific enzymatic inhibition of Topo II α results in significant antitumor activity confirms that Topo $II \alpha$ is an important target for anticancer agents^[20]. Furthermore, reports have also shown that Topo $II \alpha$ is involved in multiple mechanisms of drug resistance in primary gastric cardiac adenocarcinoma^[21]. Hence, we suggest that the correlation of high FGFR4 and Topo $II \alpha$ protein expression may, in part, explain the relatively poor prognosis for GC patients. Clearly, the underlying molecular mechanisms involved are complex and require further investigation.

In our study, the median survival time and 5-year survival rate for patients with high FGFR4 protein expression were both worse than those with low expression. However, no statistically significant differences were observed (log rank $\chi^2 = 1.0477$, P = 0.3060). These findings agree with the analysis of 94 GC patients performed by Ye *et al*^[12] in 2012. We postulate that the up-regulation of FGFR4 may contribute to an antiapoptotic effect in GC cells^[13], with



similar data reported in hepatocellular carcinoma^[22] and colorectal cancer^[23].

Notably, we observed significant statistical differences in FGFR protein expression following stratification of tumors by size, differentiation, and invasion depth (P < 0.05). The high expression of FGFR4 appears to play an important role in the prognosis of GC with fewer other risk factors including small tumor size, degree of differentiation and early stage invasive depth. Our results demonstrate that FGFR4 protein expression is a prognostic factor in relatively small (less than 3 cm), well-differentiated (grades I and II) and early stage invasive (stages I and II) GC tumors.

The role of FGFR4 as a cancer prognostic factor, however, still remains controversial. Li et al^[24] in 2014 investigated 316 colorectal cancer cases and concluded that FGFR4 positivity was significantly correlated with shorter disease-free survival (DFS) and overall survival (OS). A further study by Brito et al^[25] in 2012 demonstrated that FGFR4 protein overexpression and gene amplification were predictors of poor outcome in adult patients with adrenocortical tumors. In contrast, Dutra et al^[26] in 2012 showed that low FGFR4 protein expression was related to lymph node positivity and premature relapse of disease, as well as disease-related death after analyzing 75 patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the mouth and oropharynx. Similar disagreement also occurs in GC. Ye et al^[12] in 2012 analyzed 94 GC cases and subgroup analysis illustrated that in GC patients with III/IV stage, the prognosis of patients with high expression of FGFR4 was much poorer. This is in contrast to the data presented here. We suggest that the smaller sample size in the study by Ye et al^[12] may explain these conflicting results. Our study included a higher proportion of patients with large tumors and late-stage disease compared to the study by Ye *et al*^[12]. A further possible explanation for this</sup> may be underestimation of the biomarker heterogeneity of GC. Clearly, further research with larger sample sizes is required to explain the full impact of FGFR4 on the development and prognosis of GC.

In conclusion, to date, this is the largest study focusing on the expression of FGFR4 protein in GC. Notably, our data show that high FGFR4 protein expression is related to the expression of Topo II α and poor overall survival in patients harboring relatively small (\leq 3 cm), well-differentiated tumors with early stage invasive depth. Overall, this study suggests that FGFR4 may represent an attractive therapeutic target in a subgroup of gastric cancers.

COMMENTS

Background

The fibroblast growth factor (FGF) pathway may represent an effective therapeutic option for cancer as FGF receptor 4 (FGFR4) protein expression is upregulated in several cancers. However, there are few studies on the role of FGFR4 in gastric cancer (GC).

Research frontiers

The authors investigated FGFR4 protein expression in Chinese patients with resectable GC and the association with clinicopathological characteristics and survival.

Innovations and breakthroughs

To date, this is the largest study focusing on the expression of FGFR4 protein in GC.

Applications

FGFR4 may be an effective therapeutic biomarker for GC. More studies should be performed to investigate the role of FGFR4 in GC.

Peer-review

This is an interesting article focusing on FGFR4 protein expression GC. They concluded that the FGFR4 high expression is not an independent risk factor for GC cancer initiation but that it is a useful prognostic marker for GC patients when the tumor is relatively small, well differentiated or in early depth invasion. More studies on the role of FGFR4 in GC should be performed.

REFERENCES

- Jemal A, Siegel R, Xu J, Ward E. Cancer statistics, 2010. CA Cancer J Clin 2010; 60: 277-300 [PMID: 20610543 DOI: 10.3322/ caac.20073]
- 2 Dikken JL, Jansen EP, Cats A, Bakker B, Hartgrink HH, Kranenbarg EM, Boot H, Putter H, Peeters KC, van de Velde CJ, Verheij M. Impact of the extent of surgery and postoperative chemoradiotherapy on recurrence patterns in gastric cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010; 28: 2430-2436 [PMID: 20368551 DOI: 10.1200/ JCO.2009.26.9654]
- 3 Haugsten EM, Wiedlocha A, Olsnes S, Wesche J. Roles of fibroblast growth factor receptors in carcinogenesis. *Mol Cancer Res* 2010; 8: 1439-1452 [PMID: 21047773 DOI: 10.1158/1541-7786. MCR-10-0168]
- 4 Jain VK, Turner NC. Challenges and opportunities in the targeting of fibroblast growth factor receptors in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res* 2012; 14: 208 [PMID: 22731805 DOI: 10.1186/ bcr3139]
- 5 Gowardhan B, Douglas DA, Mathers ME, McKie AB, McCracken SR, Robson CN, Leung HY. Evaluation of the fibroblast growth factor system as a potential target for therapy in human prostate cancer. *Br J Cancer* 2005; **92**: 320-327 [PMID: 15655558 DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6602274]
- 6 Tenhagen M, van Diest PJ, Ivanova IA, van der Wall E, van der Groep P. Fibroblast growth factor receptors in breast cancer: expression, downstream effects, and possible drug targets. *Endocr Relat Cancer* 2012; 19: R115-R129 [PMID: 22508544 DOI: 10.1530/ERC-12-0060]
- 7 Leung HY, Gullick WJ, Lemoine NR. Expression and functional activity of fibroblast growth factors and their receptors in human pancreatic cancer. *Int J Cancer* 1994; **59**: 667-675 [PMID: 7960240]
- 8 Takahashi A, Sasaki H, Kim SJ, Kakizoe T, Miyao N, Sugimura T, Terada M, Tsukamoto T. Identification of receptor genes in renal cell carcinoma associated with angiogenesis by differential hybridization technique. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1999; 257: 855-859 [PMID: 10208873]
- 9 Zaid TM, Yeung TL, Thompson MS, Leung CS, Harding T, Co NN, Schmandt RS, Kwan SY, Rodriguez-Aguay C, Lopez-Berestein G, Sood AK, Wong KK, Birrer MJ, Mok SC. Identification of FGFR4 as a potential therapeutic target for advanced-stage, highgrade serous ovarian cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 2013; **19**: 809-820 [PMID: 23344261 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2736]
- Sugiyama N, Varjosalo M, Meller P, Lohi J, Hyytiäinen M, Kilpinen S, Kallioniemi O, Ingvarsen S, Engelholm LH, Taipale J, Alitalo K, Keski-Oja J, Lehti K. Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 regulates tumor invasion by coupling fibroblast growth factor signaling to extracellular matrix degradation. *Cancer Res* 2010; **70**: 7851-7861 [PMID: 20876804 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-10-1223]
- 11 Kumar SB, Narasu L, Gundla R, Dayam R, J A R P S. Fibroblast



growth factor receptor inhibitors. *Curr Pharm Des* 2013; **19**: 687-701 [PMID: 23016864]

- 12 Ye YW, Zhang X, Zhou Y, Wu J, Zhao C, Yuan L, Wang G, Du C, Wang C, Shi Y. The correlations between the expression of FGFR4 protein and clinicopathological parameters as well as prognosis of gastric cancer patients. *J Surg Oncol* 2012; 106: 872-879 [PMID: 22585711 DOI: 10.1002/jso.23153]
- 13 Ye YW, Zhou Y, Yuan L, Wang CM, Du CY, Zhou XY, Zheng BQ, Cao X, Sun MH, Fu H, Shi YQ. Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 regulates proliferation and antiapoptosis during gastric cancer progression. *Cancer* 2011; 117: 5304-5313 [PMID: 21567388 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.26207]
- 14 Roidl A, Berger HJ, Kumar S, Bange J, Knyazev P, Ullrich A. Resistance to chemotherapy is associated with fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 up-regulation. *Clin Cancer Res* 2009; 15: 2058-2066 [PMID: 19240166]
- 15 Turkington RC, Longley DB, Allen WL, Stevenson L, McLaughlin K, Dunne PD, Blayney JK, Salto-Tellez M, Van Schaeybroeck S, Johnston PG. Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 (FGFR4): a targetable regulator of drug resistance in colorectal cancer. *Cell Death Dis* 2014; **5**: e1046 [PMID: 24503538 DOI: 10.1038/cddis.2014.10]
- 16 Ye YW, Hu S, Shi YQ, Zhang XF, Zhou Y, Zhao CL, Wang GJ, Wen JG, Zong H. Combination of the FGFR4 inhibitor PD173074 and 5-fluorouracil reduces proliferation and promotes apoptosis in gastric cancer. *Oncol Rep* 2013; 30: 2777-2784 [PMID: 24126887 DOI: 10.3892/or.2013.2796]
- 17 Chen Z, Xie B, Zhu Q, Xia Q, Jiang S, Cao R, Shi L, Qi D, Li X, Cai L. FGFR4 and TGF-β1 expression in hepatocellular carcinoma: correlation with clinicopathological features and prognosis. *Int J Med Sci* 2013; **10**: 1868-1875 [PMID: 24324363 DOI: 10.7150/ ijms.6868]
- 18 Giles GI, Sharma RP. Topoisomerase enzymes as therapeutic targets for cancer chemotherapy. *Med Chem* 2005; 1: 383-394 [PMID: 16789895]

- 19 Chen W, Qiu J, Shen YM. Topoisomerase IIα, rather than IIβ, is a promising target in development of anti-cancer drugs. *Drug Discov Ther* 2012; 6: 230-237 [PMID: 23229142]
- 20 Azarova AM, Lyu YL, Lin CP, Tsai YC, Lau JY, Wang JC, Liu LF. Roles of DNA topoisomerase II isozymes in chemotherapy and secondary malignancies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2007; 104: 11014-11019 [PMID: 17578914 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0704002104]
- 21 Shi H, Lu D, Shu Y, Shi W, Lu S, Wang K. Expression of multidrug-resistance-related proteins P-glycoprotein, glutathione-S-transferases, topoisomerase-II and lung resistance protein in primary gastric cardiac adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Invest* 2008; 26: 344-351 [PMID: 18443954 DOI: 10.1080/07357900701788072]
- 22 Mellor HR. Targeted inhibition of the FGF19-FGFR4 pathway in hepatocellular carcinoma; translational safety considerations. *Liver Int* 2014; 34: e1-e9 [PMID: 24393342 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12462]
- 23 Liu R, Li J, Xie K, Zhang T, Lei Y, Chen Y, Zhang L, Huang K, Wang K, Wu H, Wu M, Nice EC, Huang C, Wei Y. FGFR4 promotes stroma-induced epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res* 2013; **73**: 5926-5935 [PMID: 23943801 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4718]
- 24 Li CS, Zhang SX, Liu HJ, Shi YL, Li LP, Guo XB, Zhang ZH. Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 as a potential prognostic and therapeutic marker in colorectal cancer. *Biomarkers* 2014; 19: 81-85 [PMID: 24410190 DOI: 10.3109/1354750X.2013.876555]
- 25 Brito LP, Ribeiro TC, Almeida MQ, Jorge AA, Soares IC, Latronico AC, Mendonca BB, Fragoso MC, Lerario AM. The role of fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 overexpression and gene amplification as prognostic markers in pediatric and adult adrenocortical tumors. *Endocr Relat Cancer* 2012; 19: L11-L13 [PMID: 22241720 DOI: 10.1530/ERC-11-0231]
- 26 Dutra RL, de Carvalho MB, Dos Santos M, Mercante AM, Gazito D, de Cicco R, Group G, Tajara EH, Louro ID, da Silva AM. FGFR4 profile as a prognostic marker in squamous cell carcinoma of the mouth and oropharynx. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e50747 [PMID: 23226373 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0050747]

P- Reviewer: Abbott DE, Uraoka T, Yahya RS S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: Webster JR E- Editor: Zhang DN







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1845 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1845-1850 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

Retrospective analysis of extra-gastrointestinal stromal tumors

Jun Ho Yi, Byeong-Bae Park, Jung Hun Kang, In Gyu Hwang, Dong Bok Shin, Sun Jin Sym, Hee Kyung Ahn, Soon Il Lee, Do Hyoung Lim, Keon Woo Park, Young-Woong Won, Sung Hee Lim, Se Hoon Park

Jun Ho Yi, Byeong-Bae Park, Division of Hematology-Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine, Hanyang University Seoul Hospital, Seoul 133-792, South Korea

Jung Hun Kang, Division of Hematology-Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine, Gyeongsang National University School of Medicine, Jinju 660-702, South Korea

In Gyu Hwang, Division of Hematology-Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine, Chung-Ang University Hospital, Chung-Ang University College of Medicine, Seoul 156-755, South Korea

Dong Bok Shin, Sun Jin Sym, Hee Kyung Ahn, Division of Hematology-Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine, Gachon University Gil Hospital, Incheon 405-760, South Korea

Soon Il Lee, Do Hyoung Lim, Keon Woo Park, Department of Hematology-Oncology, Dankook University School of Medicine, Cheonan 330-715, South Korea

Young-Woong Won, Division of Hematology and Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine, Hanyang University Guri Hospital, Hanyang University College of Medicine, Guri 471-701, South Korea

Sung Hee Lim, Se Hoon Park, Division of Hematology-Oncology, Department of Medicine, Sungkyunkwan University Samsung Medical Center, Cancer hospital, Seoul 135-710, South Korea

Author contributions: Yi JH, Kang JH, Hwang IG, Ahn HK, Lee SI, Lim DH, Won YW and Park SH designed the research; Yi JH, Park BB, Shin DB, Sym SJ and Park KW performed the research; Kang JH, Ahn HK and Lim SH analyzed the data; Yi JH, Won YW and Park SH wrote the paper.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Se Hoon Park, MD, Division of Hematology-Oncology, Department of Medicine, Sungkyunkwan University Samsung Medical Center, Cancer hospital, 10th floor, Faculty office, Seoul 135-710, South Korea. hematoma@skku.edu Telephone: +82-2-34101767 Received: May 27, 2014 Peer-review started: May 31, 2014 First decision: July 9, 2014 Revised: September 4, 2014 Accepted: October 14, 2014 Article in press: October 15, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To investigate the clinicopathologic features of patients with extra-gastrointestinal stromal tumors (EGISTs) in South Korea.

METHODS: A total of 51 patients with an EGIST were identified. The clinicopathologic features, including sex, age, location, tumor size, histology, mitotic rate, immunohistochemical features, genetic status and survival data, were analyzed.

RESULTS: The median age was 55 years (range: 29-80 years), and male:female ratio was 1:1.04. The most common site was in the mesentery (n = 15) followed by the retroperitoneum (n = 13) and omentum (n = 13)8). The median tumor size was 9.0 cm (range: 2.6-30.0 cm) and the median mitotic rate was 5.0/50HPF. (1/50 - 185/50). KIT was analyzed in 16, which revealed 10 cases with wild-type KIT and 6 cases with an exon 11 mutation. Among 51 patients, 31 patients had undergone surgery, and 10 had unresectable disease and had taken palliative imatinib, which resulted in 22.7 mo of progression-free survival. Of the patients who had undergone surgery, 18 did not take adjuvant imatinib, and 8 of these were categorized as "high risk" according to the risk criteria. However, the relapse-free survival was not different (P = 0.157) between two groups.



Yi JH et al. Clinicopathologic features of Extra-GISTs

CONCLUSION: Because the biologic behaviors of GISTs differ according to the location of the tumor, a more stratified strategy is required for managing EGISTs including incorporation of molecular features.

Key words: Gastrointestinal stromal tumor; Survival; Imatinib; Risk factor; Prognostic factor

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: A gastrointestinal stromal tumor arising outside the gastrointestinal tract is called an extra-gastrointestinal stromal tumor (EGIST). In this study, we analyzed 51 patients with an EGIST and found that, patients with an EGIST have unique clinicopathologic features and distinct disease courses. Therefore, the risk stratification of this disease should be distinguished from that of GISTs.

Yi JH, Park BB, Kang JH, Hwang IG, Shin DB, Sym SJ, Ahn HK, Lee SI, Lim DH, Park KW, Won YW, Lim SH, Park SH. Retrospective analysis of extra-gastrointestinal stromal tumors. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1845-1850 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1845.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1845

INTRODUCTION

A gastrointestinal stromal tumor (GIST) is the most common mesenchymal tumor of the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) with approximately 10 new cases diagnosed per 1 million each year^[1-3]. Surgery is the only treatment leading to a potential cure, but more than 40% of cases recur and metastasize^[4].

A GIST is thought to originate from the interstitial cells of Cajal (ICC), the pacemaker of the peristaltic movement of the GIT^[5]. More than 95% of GISTs express the KIT protein, and recently DOG1 (discovered on GIST-1) has also been suggested as a useful diagnostic marker. These two immunohistochemical markers are considered to be the most specific and sensitive markers for $GIST^{[1,6,7]}$. As for the genetic aberrations, approximately 80% of GISTs have a KIT mutation, and 8% to 10% have mutations in the gene encoding the platelet-derived growth factor receptor alpha polypeptide (PDGFRa). The gain-offunction mutations of those genes are critical in the carcinogenesis of GIST^[8]. Thus, inhibitors of KIT and $PDGFR_{\alpha}$, such as imatinib^[9], sunitinib^[10] and regorafenib^[11] are reasonable options for treatment.

The most common primary site of a GIST is the stomach (60% to 70%) followed by the ileum to jejunum (25% to 30%), the colorectum (5% to 15%), the duodenum (5%), and the esophagus (< 2%)^[12,13]. The prognosis and genetic features are distinguishable according to the anatomical location; a gastric GIST

has a better prognosis and a higher incidence of an exon 11 mutation of *KIT*, which is a favorable predictive marker for imatinib treatment, than that of a small intestinal GIST^[13,14]. Some GIST develops outside the GIT, such as in the omentum, mesentery, and retroperitoneum, and this type of tumor is called an extra-gastrointestinal stromal tumor (EGIST)^[12,15]. Although the incidence of EGISTs is reported to be approximately 10% of all GIST cases^[16,17], the clinicopathologic parameters and clinical implications of an EGIST have yet to be defined because of the rarity of these tumors. Moreover, the role of imatinib, the drug of choice for this disease, is still unclear.

In the current study, we analyzed the clinicopathologic features of patients with an EGIST from multiple institutes in South Korea.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

Patients who were diagnosed with an EGIST from 2004 to 2012 were included in the analysis. The inclusion criteria were as follows; (1) a pathologically confirmed diagnosis of a GIST; (2) tumors that arose outside the GIT; and (3) a complete medical record, including demographics, site of primary tumor and pathologic reports. Patients with tumors that were attached to the serosa of the GIT, as determined by either radiologic or surgical field findings, were excluded.

Clinicopathologic parameters

We retrospectively collected clinicopathologic parameters from patients' medical records, including age, sex, primary tumor site, tumor size, histology, mitotic rate (per 50 high-power fields, HPF, 400 × magnification level), histologic grade, immunohistochemical findings (KIT, CD34, DOG1), genetic analysis (*KIT*, *PDGFR* α), use of imatinib and the date of surgery, recurrence, progression and death. Mutations analysis was done in exons 9, 11, 13, and 17 of the *KIT* gene and those of exons 12 and 18 of the *PDGFR* α gene. The analysis of mutations *via* the polymerase chain reaction amplification of genomic DNA for the *KIT* gene (exons 9, 11, 13 and 17) and the *PDGFR* α gene (exons 12 and 18) was performed as previously described^[18,19].

Overall survival (OS) was measured from the date of diagnosis of the GIST to the date of death or last follow-up. Relapse-free survival (RFS) was measured from the date of curative surgery to the date of recurrence or last follow-up. Progression-free survival (PFS) was measured from the date of diagnosis of a metastatic or unresectable GIST to the date of progressive disease, death or last follow-up. All of the survival parameters were calculated using the Kaplan-Meier method and were compared using a log-rank test. *P* values > 0.05 were considered statistically significant, and all the *P*-values corresponded to twosided significance tests.

Table 1	Baseline cl	haracteristics o	f the patients	n	(%)
---------	-------------	------------------	----------------	---	-----

Age, median (range)	51 (29-80)
Sex	
Male	25 (49.0)
Female	26 (51.0)
Primary site	
Mesentery	15 (29.4)
Retroperitoneum	13 (25.5)
Omentum	8 (15.7)
Vagina	3 (5.9)
Liver	3 (5.9)
Ovary	2 (3.9)
Pancreas	2 (3.9)
Perianal area	2 (3.9)
Chest wall	1 (2.0)
Pleura	1 (2.0)
Prostate	1 (2.0)
Tumor size, median (range)	9.0 cm (2.6-30.0)
Mitotic rate ¹ , median (range)	5.0 (1-185)
Histologic morphology	
Epithelioid	15 (29.4)
Spindle	27 (52.9)
Pleomorphic	9 (17.7)
KIT IHC	
Positive	47 (92.2)
Negative	4 (7.8)
CD34 IHC (<i>n</i> = 31)	
Positive	25 (80.6)
Negative	6 (19.4)
DOG1 IHC (<i>n</i> = 13)	
Positive	13 (100.0)
Negative	0 (0.0)
KIT gene analysis ($n = 16$)	
Exon 11 mutation	6 (37.5)
Wild-type	10 (62.5)
$PDGFR\alpha$ gene analysis ($n = 6$)	
Exon 18 mutation	4 (66.7)
Wild type	2 (33.3)

¹Per 50 high power fields. IHC: Immunohistochemistry.

RESULTS

Patient characteristics

A total of 51 patients from 7 institutes were found to be eligible for the analysis. The median age of patients was 51 years (range: 29-80 years) and male:female ratio was 1:1.04. The most common primary site was in the mesentery (n = 15) followed by the retroperitoneum (n = 13) and omentum (n = 13)8). Other primary sites were the vagina (n = 3), liver (n = 3), ovary (n = 2), pancreas (n = 2), perianal area (n = 2), chest wall (n = 1), pleura (n = 1) and prostate (n = 1). The median size of the tumor was 9.0 cm (range 2.6-30.0 cm), and the median mitotic rate per 50 HPF was 5.0 (range: 1-185). Regarding the morphology, 15 (29.4%) were epithelioid, 27 (52.9%) were spindle cell; and 9 (17.7%) were a pleomorphic type. On immunohistochemical analysis, KIT was positive in 47 (92.2%) cases; CD34 was positive in 25 cases (80.6%, 31 cases examined), and DOG1 was positive in 13 cases (100.0%, 13 cases examined). The 4 cases not expressing KIT were with KIT gene analysis. Regarding the genetic status, KIT analysis

was performed in 16 cases with 10 (62.5%) cases of wild-type and 6 (37.5%) cases of exon 11 mutation identified. *PDGFR* α analysis was carried out in 6 cases among cases with wild-type *KIT*, and 4 (66.7%) of those examined had an exon 18 mutation. These are summarized in Table 1.

Hospital courses and survival analysis

Among 51 patients, 10 patients did not receive any type of treatment, and they were lost to follow up after the initial diagnosis. Out of the 41 remaining patients, 31 patients underwent a curative resection, 13 of whom received imatinib as an adjuvant treatment and 18 of whom did not receive adjuvant treatment. Ten of the 41 were diagnosed with metastatic or unresectable disease at the time of diagnosis and received imatinib as palliative treatment.

Regarding the histologic features of the patients who had undergone curative resection, the physicians used somewhat different criteria for imatinib treatment compared to the NIH criteria^[20]. The histologic features for the 13 patients who were treated with adjuvant imatinib were as follows: median tumor size was 11.0 cm (range: 3.0-25.0 cm); the median mitotic rate was 7.0 per 50 HPF (range: 2-185 per 50 HPF); and the median RFS was 60.1 mo. The histologic features for the 18 patients who did not receive adjuvant imatinib after surgery were as follows; the median tumor size was 6.5 cm (range: 2.6-18.0 cm); the median mitotic rate was 3.0 per 50 HPF (range: 0-45 per 50 HPF); and the median RFS could not be calculated because of the small number of event (n = 2). When we categorized these patients according to the NIH criteria for risk of recurrence, 10 patients were categorized as "low-intermediate risk", whereas 8 patients fell into the "high risk" group. However, there was no difference in the RFS between two groups (P = 0.157). When separating the two prognostic factors, a mitotic rate higher than 5/50 HPF showed a trend to predict more recurrence (P = 0.061), but this result did not reach statistical significance, and a tumor size > 5.0 cm was not associated with the risk of recurrence (P = 0.866).

Regarding the 10 patients who were treated with imatinib as a palliative measure, the median tumor size was 16.0 cm (range: 4.0-30.0 cm), the median mitotic rate was 10.0 per 50 HPF (range: 3-60), and the median PFS was 22.7 mo (95%CI: 7.9-37.5). Median OS of these patients was 37.6 mo (95%CI: 0.3-94.5).

The hospital courses of the patients and their clinicopathologic features are described in Figure 1.

DISCUSSION

In the current study, we analyzed the clinicopathologic features of 51 patients with EGISTs across 7 institutes. The demographics such as age and the sex ratio were similar to those in patients with stromal tumors that had arisen inside the GIT. And with a GIST, the KIT-

Yi JH et al. Clinicopathologic features of Extra-GISTs



Figure 1 Hospital courses and clinicopathologic features of the patients. The tumor size, mitotic rate and survival data are presented as median values. HPF: High-power field; PFS: Progression free survival; OS: Overall survival; RFS: Relapse free survival; CI: Confidence interval; N/A: Not available.

positive rate was over 90% (47/51), and DOG1positive rate was 100% (13/13). With regard to the genetic status, however, rate of KIT wild-type was higher than expected (67.5%). Imatinib achieved median PFS of 22.7 mo which is comparable to that of advanced GIST patients who were treated with the drug^[21,22].

Compared to a GIST, the prognosis of EGIST is known to be less favorable^[15,17]. This is assumed because an EGIST harbors poor prognostic factors, including high proliferative indices, a large tumor size, lymph node involvement, and distant metastasis. Because development outside GIT may result in a delay of the presentation of clinical symptoms, a considerable portion of EGIST cases are diagnosed at a late stage, which can make it difficult to manage the case surgically and thereby results in worse clinical outcomes. In contrast, there are several reports that tumor size does not impact the prognosis of EGIST patients. Reith *et al*^[15] found that a tumor size larger than 10.0 cm dose not influence the clinical outcomes of 48 patients with EGIST. Furthermore, in Yamamoto's report, tumor size did not correlate with patient survival^[23]. However, in these two studies, proliferation indices, such as the mitotic rate, cellularity and Ki-67 expression, were shown to be prognostic factors for survival.

In the current study, we observed similar results. Although tumor size was not associated with survival, the mitotic rate showed a tendency to be associated with survival. Because a substantial portion of EGISTs are diagnosed with a large tumor size, it is possible that tumor size itself may not reflect the biology of the EGIST. Because the tumor size has different clinical implications to the anatomical sites^[13], the prognostic role of tumor size in EGISTs requires further analysis.

Approximately two-thirds of patients with a conventional GIST have a *KIT* mutation at exon $11^{[3]}$. Regarding an EGIST, the incidence of this type of mutation is reported to be approximately 40%-50%, which is somewhat lower^[16,23]. In the present study, we found 6 cases with an exon 11 mutation out of 16 patients (37.5%). According to these results, it appears that EGIST patients less frequently harbor an exon 11 mutation. As this mutation is indicative of a good response to imatinib, further analysis with a greater number of cases is required.

Surgery has been the frontline treatment of an EGIST^[24-30]. After surgery, the administration of imatinib usually follows according to the NIH criteria, which are determined by the tumor size, mitotic rate and anatomic location. In the current study, physicians did not strictly apply these criteria. Although the median tumor size (11.0 cm vs 6.5 cm) and the median mitotic rate (7.0/50 vs 3.0/50) were higher in patients who were administered imatinib (n = 13) than those of the patients who were only observed after surgery (n = 18), 8 out of 18 patients should have nevertheless been treated with imatinib according to the NIH criteria. However, as previously mentioned, RFS was not different (P = 0.157).

Several hypotheses have been suggested for the carcinogenesis of an EGIST. The tumor is identical to a GIST regarding the histologic, immunohistochemical

and genetic features^[12,15,23]. Because the presence of interstitial Cajal-like cells has been reported in many organs outside the GIT, it is rational to suppose that an EGIST originates from common precursor cells that differentiate into the ICC-derived neoplasm during their development outside of the GIT. Another hypothesis is that this tumor might come from pluripotential stem cells located outside the GIT. The extramural extension of a stromal tumor within the GIT is another hypothesis.

We reported an analysis of the clinicopathologic features and hospital courses of 51 patients with an EGIST. Considering the distinct features of EGISTs, a more precise strategy is required for managing this tumor.

COMMENTS

Background

Gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GISTs) constitute approximately 1% of tumors of the gastrointestinal tract. A curative surgical resection and the use of *KIT* inhibitors are the most important treatment modalities. This type of tumor sometimes develops outside the alimentary canal and is called an extra-gastrointestinal stromal tumor (EGIST).

Research frontiers

There are several studies suggesting that the clinicopathologic and molecular features differ between a GIST and an EGIST. Because the anatomic location, histologic features and genetic status are well-known risk factors for a GIST, understanding these features of an EGIST may help us to treat this disease.

Innovations and breakthroughs

The current study is one of the largest analyses dealing with patients with EGIST, and as with other studies, the authors have found that the tumor size itself was not associated with survival. The authors are one of the first to show that the clinical outcomes of imatinib treatment in patients with an EGIST are comparable to those of patients with a GIST.

Applications

This study suggests that different risk criteria may be applied when making clinical decisions for patients with an EGIST.

Peer-review

Authors evaluate the efficacy of strategies including surgery and treatment with imatinib in patients suffering from extra-gastrointestinal stromal tumors. This work adds new data of interest to establish the more appropriate treatment of these tumors. This paper can be accepted after minor revision.

REFERENCES

- Rubin BP, Heinrich MC, Corless CL. Gastrointestinal stromal tumour. *Lancet* 2007; 369: 1731-1741 [PMID: 17512858 DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(07)60780-6]
- 2 Miettinen M, Lasota J. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors--definition, clinical, histological, immunohistochemical, and molecular genetic features and differential diagnosis. *Virchows Arch* 2001; 438: 1-12 [PMID: 11213830]
- 3 Corless CL, Barnett CM, Heinrich MC. Gastrointestinal stromal tumours: origin and molecular oncology. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2011; 11: 865-878 [PMID: 22089421 DOI: 10.1038/nrc3143]
- 4 Joensuu H. Adjuvant treatment of GIST: patient selection and treatment strategies. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* 2012; 9: 351-358 [PMID: 22525709 DOI: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2012.74]
- 5 Wang X, Mori I, Tang W, Utsunomiya H, Nakamura M, Nakamura Y, Zhou G, Kakudo K. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors: are they of cajal cell origin? *Exp Mol Pathol* 2002; 72: 172-177 [PMID: 11890726 DOI: 10.1006/exmp.2001.2419]
- 6 Liegl B, Hornick JL, Corless CL, Fletcher CD. Monoclonal antibody DOG1.1 shows higher sensitivity than KIT in the diagnosis of

gastrointestinal stromal tumors, including unusual subtypes. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2009; **33**: 437-446 [PMID: 19011564 DOI: 10.1097/ PAS.0b013e318186b158]

- 7 Miettinen M, Wang ZF, Lasota J. DOG1 antibody in the differential diagnosis of gastrointestinal stromal tumors: a study of 1840 cases. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2009; 33: 1401-1408 [PMID: 19606013 DOI: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e3181a90e1a]
- 8 Lasota J, Miettinen M. KIT and PDGFRA mutations in gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GISTs). *Semin Diagn Pathol* 2006; 23: 91-102 [PMID: 17193822]
- 9 Sleijfer S, Wiemer E, Verweij J. Drug Insight: gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST)--the solid tumor model for cancer-specific treatment. *Nat Clin Pract Oncol* 2008; 5: 102-111 [PMID: 18235442 DOI: 10.1038/ncponc1037]
- 10 Demetri GD, van Oosterom AT, Garrett CR, Blackstein ME, Shah MH, Verweij J, McArthur G, Judson IR, Heinrich MC, Morgan JA, Desai J, Fletcher CD, George S, Bello CL, Huang X, Baum CM, Casali PG. Efficacy and safety of sunitinib in patients with advanced gastrointestinal stromal tumour after failure of imatinib: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2006; **368**: 1329-1338 [PMID: 17046465 DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(06)69446-4]
- 11 Demetri GD, Reichardt P, Kang YK, Blay JY, Rutkowski P, Gelderblom H, Hohenberger P, Leahy M, von Mehren M, Joensuu H, Badalamenti G, Blackstein M, Le Cesne A, Schöffski P, Maki RG, Bauer S, Nguyen BB, Xu J, Nishida T, Chung J, Kappeler C, Kuss I, Laurent D, Casali PG. Efficacy and safety of regorafenib for advanced gastrointestinal stromal tumours after failure of imatinib and sunitinib (GRID): an international, multicentre, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet* 2013; **381**: 295-302 [PMID: 23177515 DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(12)61857-1]
- 12 Miettinen M, Monihan JM, Sarlomo-Rikala M, Kovatich AJ, Carr NJ, Emory TS, Sobin LH. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors/smooth muscle tumors (GISTs) primary in the omentum and mesentery: clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical study of 26 cases. *Am J Surg Pathol* 1999; 23: 1109-1118 [PMID: 10478672]
- 13 Miettinen M, Lasota J. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors: pathology and prognosis at different sites. *Semin Diagn Pathol* 2006; 23: 70-83 [PMID: 17193820]
- 14 Soreide K, Sandvik OM, Søreide JA, Gudlaugsson E, Mangseth K, Haugland HK. Tyrosine-kinase mutations in c-KIT and PDGFRalpha genes of imatinib naïve adult patients with gastrointestinal stromal tumours (GISTs) of the stomach and small intestine: relation to tumour-biological risk-profile and long-term outcome. *Clin Transl Oncol* 2012; 14: 619-629 [PMID: 22855146 DOI: 10.1007/s12094-012-0851-x]
- 15 Reith JD, Goldblum JR, Lyles RH, Weiss SW. Extragastrointestinal (soft tissue) stromal tumors: an analysis of 48 cases with emphasis on histologic predictors of outcome. *Mod Pathol* 2000; 13: 577-585 [PMID: 10824931 DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.3880099]
- 16 Du CY, Shi YQ, Zhou Y, Fu H, Zhao G. The analysis of status and clinical implication of KIT and PDGFRA mutations in gastrointestinal stromal tumor (GIST). *J Surg Oncol* 2008; 98: 175-178 [PMID: 18618605 DOI: 10.1002/jso.21104]
- 17 Cho MY, Sohn JH, Kim JM, Kim KM, Park YS, Kim WH, Jung JS, Jung ES, Jin SY, Kang DY, Park JB, Park HS, Choi YD, Sung SH, Kim YB, Kim H, Bae YK, Kang M, Chang HJ, Chae YS, Lee HE, Park do Y, Lee YS, Kang YK, Kim HK, Chang HK, Hong SW, Choi YH, Shin O, Gu M, Kim YW, Kim GI, Chang SJ. Current trends in the epidemiological and pathological characteristics of gastrointestinal stromal tumors in Korea, 2003-2004. *J Korean Med Sci* 2010; 25: 853-862 [PMID: 20514305 DOI: 10.3346/ jkms.2010.25.6.853]
- 18 Corless CL, McGreevey L, Haley A, Town A, Heinrich MC. KIT mutations are common in incidental gastrointestinal stromal tumors one centimeter or less in size. *Am J Pathol* 2002; 160: 1567-1572 [PMID: 12000708 DOI: 10.1016/s0002-9440(10)61103-0]
- 19 Heinrich MC, Corless CL, Duensing A, McGreevey L, Chen CJ, Joseph N, Singer S, Griffith DJ, Haley A, Town A, Demetri GD, Fletcher CD, Fletcher JA. PDGFRA activating mutations in gastrointestinal stromal tumors. *Science* 2003; 299: 708-710 [PMID:

12522257 DOI: 10.1126/science.1079666]

- 20 Goh BK, Chow PK, Yap WM, Kesavan SM, Song IC, Paul PG, Ooi BS, Chung YF, Wong WK. Which is the optimal risk stratification system for surgically treated localized primary GIST? Comparison of three contemporary prognostic criteria in 171 tumors and a proposal for a modified Armed Forces Institute of Pathology risk criteria. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2008; **15**: 2153-2163 [PMID: 18546045 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-008-9969-z]
- 21 Verweij J, Casali PG, Zalcberg J, LeCesne A, Reichardt P, Blay JY, Issels R, van Oosterom A, Hogendoorn PC, Van Glabbeke M, Bertulli R, Judson I. Progression-free survival in gastrointestinal stromal tumours with high-dose imatinib: randomised trial. *Lancet* 2004; 364: 1127-1134 [PMID: 15451219 DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(04)17098-0]
- 22 Heinrich MC, Corless CL, Demetri GD, Blanke CD, von Mehren M, Joensuu H, McGreevey LS, Chen CJ, Van den Abbeele AD, Druker BJ, Kiese B, Eisenberg B, Roberts PJ, Singer S, Fletcher CD, Silberman S, Dimitrijevic S, Fletcher JA. Kinase mutations and imatinib response in patients with metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumor. *J Clin Oncol* 2003; **21**: 4342-4349 [PMID: 14645423 DOI: 10.1200/jco.2003.04.190]
- 23 Yamamoto H, Oda Y, Kawaguchi K, Nakamura N, Takahira T, Tamiya S, Saito T, Oshiro Y, Ohta M, Yao T, Tsuneyoshi M. c-kit and PDGFRA mutations in extragastrointestinal stromal tumor (gastrointestinal stromal tumor of the soft tissue). *Am J Surg Pathol* 2004; 28: 479-488 [PMID: 15087667]

- 24 Hu X, Forster J, Damjanov I. Primary malignant gastrointestinal stromal tumor of the liver. *Arch Pathol Lab Med* 2003; 127: 1606-1608 [PMID: 14632569]
- 25 Lee JR, Anstadt MP, Khwaja S, Green LK. Gastrointestinal stromal tumor of the posterior mediastinum. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2002; 22: 1014-1016 [PMID: 12467832]
- 26 Park JK, Choi SH, Lee S, Min KO, Yun SS, Jeon HM. Malignant gastrointestinal stromal tumor of the gallbladder. *J Korean Med Sci* 2004; 19: 763-767 [PMID: 15483360]
- 27 Long KB, Butrynski JE, Blank SD, Ebrahim KS, Dressel DM, Heinrich MC, Corless CL, Hornick JL. Primary extragastrointestinal stromal tumor of the pleura: report of a unique case with genetic confirmation. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2010; 34: 907-912 [PMID: 20442644 DOI: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e3181d9f18f]
- 28 Siddiq MA, East D, Hock YL, Warfield AT. Gastrointestinal stromal tumour of the pharynx. *J Laryngol Otol* 2004; 118: 315-316 [PMID: 15117476 DOI: 10.1258/002221504323012120]
- 29 Fagkrezos D, Touloumis Z, Giannila M, Penlidis C, Papaparaskeva K, Triantopoulou C. Extra-gastrointestinal stromal tumor of the omentum: a rare case report and review of the literature. *Rare Tumors* 2012; 4: e44 [PMID: 23087800 DOI: 10.4081/rt.2012.e44]
- 30 Franzini C, Alessandri L, Piscioli I, Donato S, Faraci R, Morelli L, Del Nonno F, Licci S. Extra-gastrointestinal stromal tumor of the greater omentum: report of a case and review of the literature. *World J Surg Oncol* 2008; **6**: 25 [PMID: 18294396 DOI: 10.1186/1477-7819-6-25]

P- Reviewer: Caboclo JLF, Grizzi F, Mayol J, Plaza MA S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu XM







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1851 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1851-1856 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

Tumor regression grades: Potential outcome predictor of locally advanced rectal adenocarcinoma after preoperative radiotherapy

Yi-Fan Peng, Wei-Dong Yu, Hong-Da Pan, Lin Wang, Ming Li, Yun-Feng Yao, Jun Zhao, Jin Gu

Yi-Fan Peng, Hong-Da Pan, Lin Wang, Ming Li, Yun-Feng Yao, Jun Zhao, Jin Gu, Key Laboratory of Carcinogenesis and Translational Research (Ministry of Education), Department of Colorectal Surgery, Peking University Cancer Hospital and Institute, Beijing 100142, China

Wei-Dong Yu, Institute of Clinical Molecular Biology, People's Hospital, Peking University, Beijing 100044, China

Author contributions: Yu WD and Peng YF contributed equally to this study, performed the majority of experiments, provided financial support, and were also involved in designing the study and writing the manuscript; Pan HD and Wang L provided vital reagents and analytical tools and were also involved in revising the manuscript; Li M, Yao YF, and Zhao J collected all the clinical materials; and Gu J designed the study and wrote the manuscript.

Supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 81372593, No. 81030040 and No. 81201965; Beijing Natural Science Foundation, No. 7132052; the National High Technology Research and Development Program of China (863 Program), No. 2012AA02A506 and No. SS2014AA020801; Beijing Municipal Administration of Hospitals Special Fund for Clinical Medicine Development, No. ZY201410; and Beijing Science and Technology Commission, No. D0905001000011 and No. D101100050010068.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Jin Gu, MD, Key Laboratory of Carcinogenesis and Translational Research (Ministry of Education), Department of Colorectal Surgery, Peking University Cancer Hospital and Institute, 52 Fucheng Road, Haidian District, Beijing 100142, China. zlgujin@126.com

Telephone: +86-10-88196086 Fax: +86-10-88196238

Received: August 5, 2014 Peer-review started: August 5, 2014 First decision: September 15, 2014 Revised: September 29, 2014 Accepted: December 5, 2014 Article in press: December 8, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To analyze tumor regression grade (TRG) for prognosis of locally advanced rectal adenocarcinoma (LARA) treated with preoperative radiotherapy.

METHODS: One hundred and ninety patients with clinical stage II/III LARA were studied. All patients underwent radical surgery (between 2004 and 2010) after 30-Gy/10-fraction preoperative radiotherapy (pre-RT). All 190 patients received a short course of pre-RT and were reassessed for disease recurrence and survival; the slides of surgical specimens were reviewed and classified according to Mandard TRG. We compared patients with good response (Mandard TRG1 or TRG2) vs patients with bad/poor response (Mandard TRG3-5). Outcomes evaluated were 5-year overall survival (OS), 5-year disease-free survival (DFS), and local, distant and mixed recurrence. Fisher's exact test or χ^2 test, logrank test and proportional hazards regression analysis were used to calculate the probability that Mandard TRG was associated with patient outcomes.

RESULTS: One hundred and sixty-six of 190 patients (87.4%) were identified as Mandard bad responders (TRG3-5). High Mandard grade was correlated with tumor height (41.7% < 6 cm vs 58.3% \geq 6 cm, P = 0.050), ypT stage (75% ypT0-2 vs 25% ypT3-4, P = 0.000), and ypN stage (75% ypN0 vs 25% ypN1, P = 0.031). In univariate survival analysis, Mandard grade bad responders had significantly worse OS and DFS



than good responders (TRG1/2) (OS, 83.1% vs 96.4%, P = 0.000; DFS, 72.3% vs 92.0%, P = 0.002). In multivariate survival analysis, Mandard bad responders had significantly worse DFS than Mandard good responders (DFS 3.8 years (95%CI: 1.2-12.2 years, P = 0.026).

CONCLUSION: Mandard grade good responders had a favorable prognosis. TRG may be a potential predictor for DFS in LARA after pre-RT.

Key words: Tumor regression grade; Preoperative radiotherapy; Rectal adenocarcinoma; Disease-free survival

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: We report that Mandard tumor regression grade (TRG) predicted the outcome of locally advanced rectal adenocarcinoma after preoperative radiotherapy. We examined the correlation of TRG in the prognosis of rectal adenocarcinoma. We found that high Mandard grade was correlated with tumor height, ypT stage, and ypN stage in Mandard poor responders. In univariate survival analysis, Mandard bad responders had significantly worse overall survival and disease-free survival (DFS) compared with Mandard good responders. In multivariate survival analysis, Mandard poor responders had significantly worse DFS than Mandard good responders. Mandard good responders had a favorable prognosis.

Peng YF, Yu WD, Pan HD, Wang L, Li M, Yao YF, Zhao J, Gu J. Tumor regression grades: Potential outcome predictor of locally advanced rectal adenocarcinoma after preoperative radiotherapy. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1851-1856 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1851.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1851

INTRODUCTION

Rectal cancer is a worldwide health concern^[1]. In China, the incidence of rectal cancer is increasing at a rate of 4.2% annually, and is the fifth leading cause of cancer mortality^[2]. Surgery remains the primary therapeutic tool for rectal cancer, and locoregional recurrence has been reduced by total mesorectal excision (TME) of cancers of the middle and lower rectum^[3]. Preoperative radiotherapy (pre-RT), including short- or long-term courses, followed by TME can induce tumor regression and facilitate subsequent resection, resulting in improved local control and survival^[4].

Although short- and long-term pre-RT regimens are considered standard for rectal cancer in western countries, they are not widely recommended in Asian countries such as Japan and China, where surgeons are more likely to perform extended operations to minimize local recurrence^[5]. In China, a modified 30-Gy protocol for pre-RT was recommended by the Chinese Anti-Cancer Association in 2001 to minimize side effects and to increase flexibility without compromising therapeutic efficacy^[6]. Our previous study^[6] showed that, compared with surgery alone, the modified 30-Gy protocol was associated with significantly reduced local recurrence and complication rates. Patients had improved survival and downstaging, and clinical outcome was equivalent to standard pre-RT regimens. However, pre-RT (including the modified 30-Gy protocol) does not achieve benefit in all patients^[4]. To quantify the response to pre-RT, different systems can be used that are particularly important in situations where the pathological response is not complete. Most of them have a 5-grade system, allowing the creation of groups according to the response^[7,8]. In the present study, we aimed to assess the prognostic value of Mandard tumor regression grade (TRG)^[9] in patients with locally advanced rectal adenocarcinoma (LARA) treated with 30-Gy/10-fraction pre-RT.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethics

This study was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki (2000) of the World Medical Association. This study was approved ethically by Peking University Cancer Hospital Institutional Review Board. All patients provided written informed consent.

Clinical data

Data from 190 patients with resectable rectal adenocarcinoma treated in our hospital from June 2004 to August 2010 were collected. Eligible patients were selected according to the following criteria^[10,11]: (1) resectable rectal cancer ≤ 10 cm from the anal verge; (2) evaluated by endorectal ultrasound (ERUS) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) before treatment; (3) primary carcinoma of the rectum identified histologically; (4) no clinical evidence of distant metastases; (5) having undergone transabdominal radical resection based on the principle of TME; and (6) having undergone R0 resection. Exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) patients who underwent concurrent neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy; (2) synchronous tumors or history of other malignant tumors within 5 years; (3) familial adenomatous polyposis and/or hereditary non-polyposis colorectal carcinoma; and (4) patients who died of complications or other non-cancer-related reasons.

Pretreatment evaluation, neoadjuvant therapy and surgery

All included patients underwent ERUS or MRI to evaluate tumor size, invasion depth and extent (T stage). All patients were identified as having involvement of the

Table 1 Clinical parameters				
Variables	<i>n</i> (%)			
Sex				
Male	118 (62.1)			
Female	72 (37.9)			
Age (yr)				
< 65	129 (67.9)			
≥ 65	61 (32.1)			
Tumor height (cm)				
< 6	113 (59.5)			
≥ 6	77 (40.5)			
Pre-TNM				
П	30 (15.8)			
Ш	160 (84.2)			
Pre-RT	190			
Surgical procedure				
LAR	127 (66.8)			
APR	58 (30.6)			
Other	5 (2.6)			
Perioperative complications				
Morbidity	43 (22.6)			
Abdominal or pelvic abscess	8			
Anastomosis leak	11			
Reoperation	11			

TNM: Tumor node metastasis; Pre-RT: Preoperative radiotherapy.

pararectal lymph nodes and were diagnosed as clinical stage II/III rectal cancer. Serum carcinoembryonic antigen was measured, and abdominal computed tomography (CT) and chest radiography were also routinely performed before treatment. Pre-RT with a total dose of 30 Gy/10 fractions was adopted, as recommended by the Chinese Anti-Cancer Association, based on high-level clinical evidence^[12-14]. Surgical resection was performed 2-4 wk after full-dose RT.

TRG grade

Standard pathological tumor staging of the resected specimen was performed in accordance with the guidelines of the American Joint Committee on Cancer. Evidence of pathological complete response (ypCR) was defined as absence of viable adenocarcinoma in the surgical specimen or the presence of lakes of mucus without tumor cells. The histology of all surgical specimens was reviewed and confirmed independently and was classified based on the Mandard TRG system^[9]. Grade 1: complete regression (fibrosis without detectable tumor tissue); Grade 2: fibrosis with scattered tumor cells; Grade 3: fibrosis and tumor cells with preponderance of fibrosis; Grade 4: fibrosis and tumor cells with preponderance of tumor cells; and Grade 5: tumor tissue without changes of regression.

Postoperative therapy, follow-up and endpoint

All patients in the pre-RT group were given adjuvant chemotherapy for six to eight cycles, using the standard regimens based on 5-fluorouracil or capecitabine, such as FOLFOX, CapeOX, or capecitabine alone. Patients were followed at 3-mo intervals for the first 2 years and then at 6-mo intervals for the next 3 years. Evaluations consisted of physical examination, serum carcinoembryonic antigen, complete blood count, and blood chemical analysis. Proctoscopy, abdominal ultrasonography, CT of the abdomen and pelvis, and chest radiography were also routinely performed every 6-12 mo. Endpoints of this study were 5-year overall survival (OS) and 5-year disease-free survival (DFS).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 16.0 software. The categorical variables were analyzed with Pearson χ^2 or Fisher's exact test. Survival curves were plotted using the Kaplan-Meier method, and log-rank tests were performed to evaluate prognostic differences between groups. The Cox proportional hazards model was used for multivariate analysis. For all analyses, two-sided tests of significance were used, and P < 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Patient characteristics

We studied 190 patients (118 male, 62 female) with mid-low rectal adenocarcinoma treated with pre-RT. The median patient age was 58 years (range: 28-85 years). The median distance of the tumor from the anal verge was 5 cm (range: 1-10 cm). One hundred and twenty-nine patients had sphincter preservation, while the other 58 received abdominoperineal resection, and three underwent the Hartmann procedure. The morbidity of the series was 22.6% (Table 1).

Response to pre-RT (30 Gy/10 fractions)

The distribution of the proportions of ypTNM stages (Table 2) were as follows: complete response (no microscopic residual tumor cell), 2.6% (n = 5); Stage I , 25.8% (*n* = 49); Stage II , 27.4% (*n* = 52); and Stage III, 44.2% (n = 84). The median followup duration was 56 mo (range 3-125 mo), and the follow-up rate was 100%. Response to neoadjuvant therapy is outlined in Table 2. Classification of TRG according to the Mandard system allowed us to define two groups as previously described^[3]: TRG1/2 and TRG3-5. We verified a good response to 30 Gy/10 fractions pre-RT in 24 patients (ypCR in 5%-12.6%) and a bad response in 166 patients (87.4%). The two groups of patients (good vs bad Mandard response) were comparable with respect to age (P = 0.284), sex (P = 0.379), clinical stage (P = 0.547), and surgical procedures performed (P = 0.173), with the exception of tumor height (P = 0.050), ypN-stage (ypN0/ypN+) (P = 0.031), and ypT-stage (ypT0-2/ypT3-4) (P < 0.001) (Table 3).

Disease recurrence

Seventeen patients (8.9%) had local recurrence, 66 (34.7%) had distant recurrence, and seven (3.7%)

Table 2 Pathological parameters and clinical long-termoutcome n (%)

Variables	
Postoperative stage	
0	5 (2.6)
Ι	49 (25.8)
П	52 (27.4)
Ш	84 (44.2)
Mandard TRG	
Good response (1 or 2)	24 (12.6)
Bad response (3-5)	166 (87.4)
Overall recurrence of disease	
Local	17 (8.9)
Distant	66 (39.8)
Local and distant	7 (3.7)
5-yr OS	65.3% ± 2.2%
5-yr DFS	$61.4\% \pm 4.4\%$

OS: Overall survival; DFS: Disease-free survival; TRG: Tumor regression grades.

demographic and clinic variables n (%)					
Parameter	TRG1 + 2	TRG3 + 4 + 5	<i>P</i> value		
Sex					
Male	17 (70.8)	101 (60.8)	0.379		
Female	7 (29.2)	65 (39.2)	Fisher's Test		
Age (yr)					
< 65	15 (62.5)	114 (68.7)	0.284		
≥ 65	9 (37.5)	52 (32.3)	Fisher's Test		
Tumor height (cm)					
< 6	10 (41.7)	104 (62.7)	0.050^{1}		
≥ 6	14 (58.3)	62 (27.3)	$\chi^2 = 3.847$		
Clinical stage					
Π	5 (20.8)	25 (15.1)	0.547		
Ш	19 (79.2)	141 (84.9)	Fisher's Test		
Surgical procedure					
LAR	20 (83.3)	107 (64.5)	0.173		
APR + other	4 (16.7)	59 (35.5)	Fisher's Test		
Pathological N-stage					
ypN0	18 (75.0)	85 (51.2)	0.031^{1}		
ypN1	6 (25.0)	81 (48.8)	Fisher's Test		
Pathological T-stage					
ypT0-2	18 (75.0)	47 (28.3)	0.000^{1}		
ypT3-4	6 (25.0)	119 (71.7)	Fisher's Test		

¹Fisher's exact test 2-sided. TRG: Tumor regression grades.

had mixed recurrence.

Survival analysis

In univariate analysis, the mean follow-up was 56 mo (range: 3-125 mo). The 5-year OS and DFS was 65.3% and 61.4%, respectively (Table 2). In the different subsets, survival at 5 years was matched (Table 4). The 5-year OS and DFS in the patients who showed a bad and good response on Mandard TGR were 96.4% *vs* 83.1% (P = 0.002) and 92.0% *vs* 72.3% (P < 0.000), respectively (Table 4 and Figure 1). In multivariate Cox regression, DFS (3.8 years, 95%CI: 1.2-12.2 years, P = 0.026) in patients with bad Mandard response was significantly worse than

 Table 4
 Tumor regression grade and clinical long-term outcome

Variables		P value
5-yr OS		
Mandard good response (TRG1/2)	96.4% ± 2.0%	0.002^{1}
Mandard good response (TRG3-5)	$83.1\% \pm 4.2\%$	
ypCR (Mandard TRG1)	$100.00\%^{2}$	0.691^{1}
Mandard partial response (TRG2)	86.68% ²	
5-yr DFS		
Mandard good response (TRG1/2)	92.0% ± 3.5%	0.000^{1}
Mandard good response (TRG3-5)	72.3% ± 3.8%	
ypCR (Mandard TRG1)	$100.00\%^{2}$	0.502^{1}
Mandard partial response (TRG2)	86.68% ²	

¹Log rank test; ²No statistics were computed because all cases were censored. Univariate analysis follow-up: mean 56 mo (range: 3-125 mo). OS: Overall survival; DFS: Disease-free survival; TRG: Tumor regression grades.

in those with a good response after the following variables were entered: ypN stage (ypN0/ypN⁺), ypT stage, and tumor height. There was no significant survival difference in OS (6.5 years, 95%CI: 0.9-48.2 years, P = 0.066) between patients with bad and good Mandard response when comparing patients with complete (ypCR or Mandard TRG1) and partial (Mandard TRG2) pathological response (OS, P = 0.691; DFS, P = 0.502) (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

Neoadjuvant therapy, whether chemo-RT or RT alone, shows a significant improvement in local control and sphincter preservation^[11,14-16]. Histological changes after pre-RT for rectal carcinoma vary considerably, with some entities showing complete absence of tumor cells, whereas others exhibit a mass of tumor cells with little or no regressive changes^[17,18]. Compared with tumor downstaging or volume shrinkage, TRG can more accurately reflect tumor response at a cellular level^[8]. Unlike the United States, in China, modified pre-RT (30-Gy/10 fractions) is widely adopted^[19], thus our study addressed the clinical value of TRG following this particular RT regimen.

Our data confirmed that histological regression is closely coordinated with pathological T and N stage. As stated above, a significant proportion of cases with poor histological response contributed to the nodalpositive group, which indicated that TRG is an effective supplement to the TNM classification. A majority of studies support the view that patients with complete or partial response to preoperative treatment had better DFS than those with poor $response^{[17,20,21]}$. Our data further demonstrated this conclusion by dividing TRG into poor response and TRG into good response in the Mandard system. This could guide the clinical decision making for postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy. For example, among patients with stage II rectal cancer who had no response, intensive chemotherapy might be considered in the adjuvant

WJG | www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Kaplan-Meier survival curves were plotted to predict survival. Five-year OS (A) and 5-year DFS (B) in the two Mandard groups. OS: Overall survival; DFS: Disease-free survival; TRG: Tumor regression grades.

setting. In contrast, patients with a partial, but not complete response might not need further adjuvant chemotherapy and may benefit from fewer adverse drug effects.

Although the prognostic value of TRG has been well demonstrated, the clinical application of TRG still faces many problems. First, there are several TRG systems besides Mandard, and each has its own characteristics and indications^[22,23]; however, which TRG system is more suitable for China is still in question. Our study suggests that the Mandard system is a potential candidate for tumor regression evaluation. Second, some studies have reported that the prognostic significance of TRG is not as crucial as ypTNM stage^[24]. Thus, the association and role of TRG and TNM classification in prognostic evaluation needs to be addressed further.

Our study had some limitations. First, this study was retrospective, thus it might have had selection bias. Second, we did not compare the efficiency of the Mandard and other TRG systems in predicting tumor progression, thus, we could not conclude whether other TRG systems were better than Mandard. Third, the case number in some TRG subgroups was small, which may have influenced the reliability of the statistics.

In summary, our study demonstrates that TRG is a significant prognostic system for tumor progression and survival. It is a promising criterion for clinical decision making in adjuvant therapy.

COMMENTS

Background

This study showed that Mandard tumor regression grade (TRG) predicted the outcome of locally advanced rectal adenocarcinoma (LARA) after 30-Gy/10fraction preoperative radiotherapy (pre-RT).

Research frontiers

Neoadjuvant therapy, whether chemo-RT or RT alone, results in a significant improvement in local control and sphincter preservation. Histological changes after pre-RT for rectal carcinoma vary considerably, with some entities showing complete absence of tumor cells, whereas others exhibit a mass of tumor cells with little or no regressive changes. Compared with tumor downstaging or volume shrinkage, TRG could more accurately reflect tumor response at a cellular level.

Innovations and breakthroughs

The authors examined the correlation of TRG in the prognosis of rectal adenocarcinoma. They found that high Mandard grade was correlated with tumor height, ypT stage, and ypN stage in Mandard poor responders. In univariate survival analysis, Mandard bad responders had significantly worse overall survival and disease-free survival (DFS) than Mandard good responders (TRG1/2). In multivariate survival analysis, Mandard bad responders had significantly worse DFS than Mandard good responders. Mandard good responders had a favorable prognosis. Together, these studies suggest that TRG may be used as a potential predictor for DFS in Stage II / III LARA after short-course RT.

Applications

Mandard good responders had a favorable prognosis. TRG may be used as a potential predictor for DFS in Stage $\rm\,II\,/III\,$ LARA after 30-Gy/10-fraction pre-RT.

Terminology

The TRG was first introduced by Mandard *et al* following the management of a patient with esophageal cancer. The TRG can categorize the cancer cell ratio from tissue with fibrosis or inflammation in numerous stages throughout chemoradiotherapy. TRG was quantitated in five grades: TRG 1 (complete regression) showed absence of residual cancer and fibrosis extending through the different layers of the esophageal wall; TRG 2 was characterized by the presence of rare residual cancer cells scattered through the fibrosis; TRG 3 was characterized by an increase in the number of residual cancer cells, but fibrosis still predominated; TRG 4 showed residual cancer outgrowing fibrosis; and TRG 5 was characterized by the absence of regressive changes.

Peer-review

This is a very interesting study about Mandard TRG in patients with stage II - III LARA. In this manuscript, the authors analyzed the prognostic value of Mandard TRG in patients with stage II - III locally advanced rectal adenocarcinoma treated with 30-Gy/10-fraction preoperative radiotherapy followed by radical surgery.

REFERENCES

- Siegel R, Ward E, Brawley O, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2011: the impact of eliminating socioeconomic and racial disparities on premature cancer deaths. *CA Cancer J Clin* 2011; 61: 212-236 [PMID: 21685461 DOI: 10.3322/caac.20121]
- 2 Li M, Gu J. Changing patterns of colorectal cancer in China over a period of 20 years. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005; 11: 4685-4688 [PMID: 16094710]
- 3 Santos MD, Silva C, Rocha A, Matos E, Nogueira C, Lopes C. Tumor regression grades: can they influence rectal cancer therapy decision tree? *Int J Surg Oncol* 2013; 2013: 572149 [PMID: 24187617 DOI: 10.1155/2013/572149]
- 4 Maas M, Nelemans PJ, Valentini V, Das P, Rödel C, Kuo LJ, Calvo
FA, García-Aguilar J, Glynne-Jones R, Haustermans K, Mohiuddin M, Pucciarelli S, Small W, Suárez J, Theodoropoulos G, Biondo S, Beets-Tan RG, Beets GL. Long-term outcome in patients with a pathological complete response after chemoradiation for rectal cancer: a pooled analysis of individual patient data. *Lancet Oncol* 2010; **11**: 835-844 [PMID: 20692872 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(10)70172-8]

- 5 Terashima M, Hoshino Y, Gotoh M. [Comparisons of standard treatments for colorectal cancer between Japan and Western Countries]. Gan To Kagaku Ryoho 2007; 34: 694-699 [PMID: 17496439]
- 6 **Zhan T**, Gu J, Li M, Du C. Intermediate-fraction neoadjuvant radiotherapy for rectal cancer. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2013; **56**: 422-432 [PMID: 23478609 DOI: 10.1097/DCR.0b013e31828576c6.]
- 7 **Rule W**, Meyer J. Current status of radiation therapy for the management of rectal cancer. *Crit Rev Oncog* 2012; **17**: 331-343 [PMID: 23176041]
- 8 Thies S, Langer R. Tumor regression grading of gastrointestinal carcinomas after neoadjuvant treatment. *Front Oncol* 2013; 3: 262 [PMID: 24109590 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2013.00262]
- 9 Mandard AM, Dalibard F, Mandard JC, Marnay J, Henry-Amar M, Petiot JF, Roussel A, Jacob JH, Segol P, Samama G. Pathologic assessment of tumor regression after preoperative chemoradiotherapy of esophageal carcinoma. Clinicopathologic correlations. *Cancer* 1994; 73: 2680-2686 [PMID: 8194005]
- 10 Peng Y, Wang L, Du C, Gu J. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor can predict distant metastasis and disease-free survival for clinical stage III rectal cancer following 30-Gy/10-f preoperative radiotherapy. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2012; 27: 1555-1560 [PMID: 22645074 DOI: 10.1007/s00384-012-1485-8].]
- 11 Wang L, Zhong XG, Peng YF, Li ZW, Gu J. Prognostic value of pretreatment level of carcinoembryonic antigen on tumour downstaging and early occurring metastasis in locally advanced rectal cancer following neoadjuvant radiotherapy (30 Gy in 10 fractions). *Colorectal Dis* 2014; 16: 33-39 [PMID: 23848511 DOI: 10.1111/codi.12354]
- 12 Campa D, Vodicka P, Pardini B, Naccarati A, Carrai M, Vodickova L, Novotny J, Hemminki K, Försti A, Barale R, Canzian F. A genewide investigation on polymorphisms in the taste receptor 2R14 (TAS2R14) and susceptibility to colorectal cancer. *BMC Med Genet* 2010; **11**: 88 [PMID: 20534144 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2350-11-88]
- 13 Sebag-Montefiore D, Stephens RJ, Steele R, Monson J, Grieve R, Khanna S, Quirke P, Couture J, de Metz C, Myint AS, Bessell E, Griffiths G, Thompson LC, Parmar M. Preoperative radiotherapy versus selective postoperative chemoradiotherapy in patients with rectal cancer (MRC CR07 and NCIC-CTG C016): a multicentre, randomised trial. *Lancet* 2009; **373**: 811-820 [PMID: 19269519 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60484-0]
- 14 Cammà C, Giunta M, Fiorica F, Pagliaro L, Craxì A, Cottone M. Preoperative radiotherapy for resectable rectal cancer: A metaanalysis. *JAMA* 2000; 284: 1008-1015 [PMID: 10944647]
- 15 Kapiteijn E, Marijnen CA, Nagtegaal ID, Putter H, Steup WH,

Wiggers T, Rutten HJ, Pahlman L, Glimelius B, van Krieken JH, Leer JW, van de Velde CJ. Preoperative radiotherapy combined with total mesorectal excision for resectable rectal cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2001; **345**: 638-646 [PMID: 11547717]

- 16 Peeters KC, Marijnen CA, Nagtegaal ID, Kranenbarg EK, Putter H, Wiggers T, Rutten H, Pahlman L, Glimelius B, Leer JW, van de Velde CJ. The TME trial after a median follow-up of 6 years: increased local control but no survival benefit in irradiated patients with resectable rectal carcinoma. *Ann Surg* 2007; 246: 693-701 [PMID: 17968156]
- 17 Fokas E, Liersch T, Fietkau R, Hohenberger W, Beissbarth T, Hess C, Becker H, Ghadimi M, Mrak K, Merkel S, Raab HR, Sauer R, Wittekind C, Rödel C. Tumor regression grading after preoperative chemoradiotherapy for locally advanced rectal carcinoma revisited: updated results of the CAO/ARO/AIO-94 trial. *J Clin Oncol* 2014; **32**: 1554-1562 [PMID: 24752056 DOI: 10.1200/ JCO.2013.54.3769]
- 18 Benzoni E, Intersimone D, Terrosu G, Bresadola V, Cojutti A, Cerato F, Avellini C. Prognostic value of tumour regression grading and depth of neoplastic infiltration within the perirectal fat after combined neoadjuvant chemo-radiotherapy and surgery for rectal cancer. J Clin Pathol 2006; 59: 505-512 [PMID: 16522747]
- 19 Du CZ, Li J, Cai Y, Sun YS, Xue WC, Gu J. Effect of multidisciplinary team treatment on outcomes of patients with gastrointestinal malignancy. *World J Gastroenterol* 2011; 17: 2013-2018 [PMID: 21528081 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v17.i15.2013]
- 20 Lindebjerg J, Spindler KL, Ploen J, Jakobsen A. The prognostic value of lymph node metastases and tumour regression grade in rectal cancer patients treated with long-course preoperative chemoradiotherapy. *Colorectal Dis* 2009; 11: 264-269 [PMID: 18573119 DOI: 10.1111/j.1463-1318.2008.01599.x]
- 21 Losi L, Luppi G, Gavioli M, Iachetta F, Bertolini F, D'Amico R, Jovic G, Bertoni F, Falchi AM, Conte PF. Prognostic value of Dworak grade of regression (GR) in patients with rectal carcinoma treated with preoperative radiochemotherapy. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2006; 21: 645-651 [PMID: 16317549]
- 22 Santos MD, Silva C, Rocha A, Matos E, Nogueira C, Lopes C. Prognostic value of mandard and dworak tumor regression grading in rectal cancer: study of a single tertiary center. *ISRN Surg* 2014; 2014: 310542 [PMID: 24729903 DOI: 10.1155/2014/310542]
- 23 Rödel C, Martus P, Papadoupolos T, Füzesi L, Klimpfinger M, Fietkau R, Liersch T, Hohenberger W, Raab R, Sauer R, Wittekind C. Prognostic significance of tumor regression after preoperative chemoradiotherapy for rectal cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2005; 23: 8688-8696 [PMID: 16246976]
- 24 Kim TH, Chang HJ, Kim DY, Jung KH, Hong YS, Kim SY, Park JW, Oh JH, Lim SB, Choi HS, Jeong SY. Pathologic nodal classification is the most discriminating prognostic factor for disease-free survival in rectal cancer patients treated with preoperative chemoradiotherapy and curative resection. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2010; **77**: 1158-1165 [PMID: 19800178 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2009.06.019]

P-Reviewer: Rozzini R S-Editor: Yu J L-Editor: Webster JR E-Editor: Ma S







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1857 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1857-1864 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

Prediction of synchronous colorectal cancers by computed tomography in subjects receiving an incomplete colonoscopy: A single-center study

Er-Jun Pang, Wei-Jie Liu, Jia-Yuan Peng, Ni-Wei Chen, Jian-Hong Deng

Er-Jun Pang, Wei-Jie Liu, Jia-Yuan Peng, Department of Surgery, the Sixth People's Hospital Affiliated to Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai 200233, China

Ni-Wei Chen, Center of Endoscopy, the Sixth People's Hospital Affiliated to Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai 200233, China

Jian-Hong Deng, Department of Radiology, the Sixth People's Hospital Affiliated to Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai 200233, China

Author contributions: Pang EJ and Liu WJ contributed equally to this work; Pang EJ and Liu WJ collected the infomation of the included patients and performed the retrospective analysis; Peng JY designed the research and revised the paper for the intelectual content; Chen NW assisted in analyzing the colosocopic data; and Deng JH offered assistance in analyzing the CT findings.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Jia-Yuan Peng, MD, Department of Surgery, the Sixth People's Hospital Affiliated to Shanghai Jiao Tong University, 600 Yishan Road, Shanghai 200233,

China. pp_no_suzhi@sina.com Telephone: +86-21-64361349 Fax: +86-21-64368920 Received: April 11, 2014 Peer-review started: April 12, 2014 First decision: May 29, 2014 Revised: June 27, 2014 Accepted: July 29, 2014 Article in press: July 30, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To assess the value of computed tomography (CT) for diagnosis of synchronous colorectal cancers (SCRCs) involving incomplete colonoscopy.

METHODS: A total of 2123 cases of colorectal cancer (CRC) were reviewed and divided into two groups according to whether a complete or incomplete colonoscopy was performed. CT results and final histological findings were compared to calculate the sensitivity and specificity associated with CT for detection of SCRCs following complete *vs* incomplete colonoscopy. Factors affecting the CT detection were also analyzed.

RESULTS: Three hundred and seventy-four CRC patients underwent incomplete colonoscopy and 1749 received complete colonoscopy. Fifty-six cases of SCRCs were identified by CT, and 36 were missed. In the incomplete colonoscopy group, the sensitivity and specificity of CT were 44.8% and 93.6%, respectively. The positive and negative predictive values were 23.6% and 95.0%, respectively. In contrast, the sensitivity and specificity of CT for the complete colonoscopy group were 68.3% and 97.0%, while the positive and negative predictive values were 22.2% and 98.7%, respectively. In both groups, the mean maximum dimension of the concurrent cancers identified in the CT-negative cases was shorter than in the CT-positive cases (incomplete group: P = 0.02; complete group: P < 0.01) Topographical proximity to synchronous cancers was identified as a risk factor for missed diagnosis (P = 0.03).

CONCLUSION: CT has limited sensitivity in detecting SCRCs in patients receiving incomplete colonoscopy.



Patients with risk factors and negative CT results should be closely examined and monitored.

Key words: Synchronous colorectal cancer; Computed tomography; Colonoscopy

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: This retrospective study aimed to evaluate the diagnostic accuracy of computed tomography (CT) in predicting synchronous colorectal cancers, especially in patients with incomplete colonoscopy. The study suggested that CT remains a feasible option when complete colonoscopy cannot be performed. However, the sensitivity of CT is limited due to several factors such as small tumor size, lumen conditions, and tumor location.

Pang EJ, Liu WJ, Peng JY, Chen NW, Deng JH. Prediction of synchronous colorectal cancers by computed tomography in subjects receiving an incomplete colonoscopy: A single-center study. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1857-1864 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1857. htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1857

INTRODUCTION

Cases of synchronous colorectal cancers (SCRCs) involve the detection of two or more primary colorectal carcinomas in a single individual upon an initial diagnosis of colorectal cancers (CRC). Currently, the Warren and Gates criteria^[1] are used to diagnose SCRCs clinically. These criteria include the following key elements: (1) each tumor must be proved to be malignant; (2) each tumor must be distinct; (3) the probability of one tumor being a metastasis of another must be excluded; and (4) the synchronous lesions must be diagnosed simultaneously or within 6 mo of initial diagnosis^[2]. In cases of SCRCs, the most advanced cancer (as determined by TNM staging) is usually defined as the index cancer, while the lessadvanced tumors are considered concurrent lesions to the index cancer (Figure 1).

SCRCs are of major clinical importance because a missed diagnosis of concurrent lesions can lead to remnant cancer. The prognosis of SCRCs is typically identical to that of solitary cancer^[3,4] as long as any synchronous lesions present are correctly diagnosed prior to surgery. Colonoscopy is ideal for detecting synchronous lesions, except when bowel preparation is inadequate. Moreover, the presence of a scirrhous carcinoma may hinder the passage of an endoscope through the lumen^[5]. As a result, incomplete colonoscopy due to these or other factors can result in failure to detect additional lesions. In developing countries, such as China, conventional computed tomography (CT) is typically used to examine the remnant bowel not examined by colonoscopy because CT colonography (CTC) is generally not available. Therefore, the goal of this study was to evaluate the diagnostic accuracy of CT in predicting cases of SCRCs, especially in patients that have undergone incomplete colonoscopy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

Between January 2002 and August 2011, 2186 patients with CRC were treated at the Shanghai Sixth People's Hospital. Sixty-three patients underwent colonoscopy or CT alone, and these cases were excluded. Cases of SCRCs were defined as patients with more than one primary colorectal adenocarcinoma present at the time of resection, or within 6 mo following resection. For each patient, the most advanced carcinoma according to T staging was identified as the index carcinoma, while the remaining less-advanced cancers were identified as concurrent carcinomas. If carcinomas with the same T stage were present, the lesion with the largest volume was identified as the index carcinoma. The remaining 2123 patients were divided into two groups according to those that underwent incomplete vs complete colonoscopy (Figure 2). The main reasons for incomplete colonoscopy included: colorectal obstruction, elongation of the colon, inadequate bowel preparation, intolerance to the procedure, and diverticular disease.

Imaging techniques

All patients included underwent preoperative CT using a Lightspeed VCT (GE Medical Systems, United States). Patients were examined in the supine position and received an intravenous injection of contrast medium. Images were obtained using a conventional method with 5-mm thick sections (120 KV, 350 mA). All of the images were retrospectively and independently reviewed by at least two radiologists with knowledge of each patient's history, clinical presentation, and colonoscopy outcome. However, the radiologists were blinded to any information regarding operative findings or final diagnosis. Final CT interpretations had to be approved by both radiologists. If there were significant discrepancies, the images in question would be submitted to two additional senior radiologists for evaluation in order to obtain a final conclusion.

Analysis and statistics

Detailed pathological characteristics of the concurrent lesions for this cohort were collected by two surgeons (RRS and QCZ), and these characteristics included: maximum lesion dimension, gross appearance, differentiation, and location. The pathological results were taken as the reference standard against which the CT findings were compared. Furthermore, the





Figure 1 Illustrated model of synchronous colorectal cancers.

determination of positive or negative CT findings depended on whether both the index cancer and the concurrent cancers were simultaneously detected.

Overall sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, and negative predictive value for CT were calculated using cross-tabulation statistics. Fisher' s exact test or χ^2 test was applied to categorical variables. Numerical data (mean maximum dimension and average distance of concurrent lesion to index tumor) are expressed as mean ± SD, and were compared using Student's *t* test. A *P* value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

A total of 374 CRC patients underwent incomplete colonoscopy and four cases of SCRCs were missed due to poor bowel preparation. A total of 1749 patients received complete endoscopy and no case of SCRCs was missed. Cancer specimens were obtained from all 2123 patients either by surgery (n = 1916) or colonoscopy (n = 207). Using CT, 56 cases of SCRCs were identified, and 36 cases were not. Regarding the missed cases, 30 patients had SCRCs detected during surgery, while the remaining six were identified during postoperative colonoscopy that was performed up to 6 mo after surgery. There were no patients with local recurrence in the anastomosis. In addition, all of the cases of SCRCs in this cohort only had one concurrent lesion detected, and none of the patients had three or more CRCs simultaneously identified. There were no significant differences in patient sex, age, gross tumor appearance, cancer differentiation, location, or the presence of colonic obstruction for the incomplete and complete colonoscopy groups (Table 1).

Size of the concurrent cancers

The mean maximum dimension of the concurrent cancers identified in the CT-negative cases was shorter than that of the CT-positive cases, and this was independent of whether a complete or incomplete colonoscopy was performed (Table 1). Regarding the missed lesions for the two groups, the largest diameters were 65 mm and 45 mm for the incomplete and complete colonoscopy groups, respectively. Moreover, the smallest cancers visualized by CT for the two groups had mean maximum dimensions of 25 mm and 20 mm, respectively, and in both groups they presented as local thickening of the colon.

Topographical relationship of the index and concurrent cancers

Concurrent cancers were located in the same bowel segment as the index cancers in 14 patients in the incomplete group and 25 in the complete group. Furthermore, > 60% of these concurrent cancers were missed by CT (Figure 3), with 68.8% (11/16) being in the incomplete colonoscopy group and 60.0% (12/20) in the complete colonoscopy group (Table 1). In contrast, 23.1% and 30.2% of cases, respectively, involved the index and concurrent cancers in different bowel segments (Table 1). Furthermore, the mean distance from index cancer to concurrent cancers was 36.77 cm (CT positive) vs 19.88 cm (CT negative) in the incomplete group and 36.65 cm (CT positive) vs 24.00 cm (CT negative) in the complete group. Therefore, topographical adjacency between index and concurrent cancers is one of the risk factors for missing diagnosis of SCRCs. The anatomical distribution of the index and concurrent cancers detected are listed in Table 2.

Sensitivity and specificity

A histological examination revealed 92 cases of SCRCs in this cohort, with 29 in the incomplete group and 63 in the complete group. The corresponding sensitivity and specificity of CT for the incomplete group was 44.8% and 93.6%, respectively (Table 3), while the positive and negative predictive values were 23.6% and 95.0%, respectively. In contrast, these values for the complete colonoscopy group were 68.3%, 97.0%, 22.2% and 98.7%, respectively.

DISCUSSION

The prevalence of SCRCs has been reported to range from 3% to 6%^[3,6,7]. In the present study, the prevalence was 4.3% for 92 cases of SCRCs recorded within 10 years in a single-center database. Although the prevalence of SCRCs is not high, missed diagnosis can lead to errors in treatment and poor prognosis. Currently, colonoscopy is regarded as the best method for the direct detection of SCRCs. However, for cases that involve elongation of the colon^[8], poor bowel preparation, diverticulitis, or bowel obstruction^[9], colonoscopy may not be able to visualize entire segments of the colon. In a recent study, CTC was shown to be a valuable technique for preoperative colonic visualization of patients who had undergone incomplete

Pang EJ et al. Synchronous colorectal cancer predicted by CT



Figure 2 Flow diagram of the present study. "Positive" refers to synchronous colorectal cancers (SCRCs) detected by computed tomography (CT), while "negative" refers to SCRCs not detected by CT.

Table 1 Clinical and pathological features of the concurrent carcinomas detected by computed tomography

Concurrent lesions	Incomplete colonoscopy		P value	Complete colonoscopy		P value
	CT + (n = 13)	CT- (<i>n</i> = 16)		CT + (n = 43)	CT- (<i>n</i> = 20)	
Sex (M/F)	8/5	11/5		26/17	16/4	
Median age (yr)	63	69		66	63	
Mean maximum dimension (mm)	38 ± 11	24 ± 5	0.02	37 ± 13	25 ± 9	< 0.01
Gross appearance			0.20			0.18
Protruding	9	7		23	10	
Ulcerated	2	5		9	8	
Sclerotic	2	4		11	2	
Differentiation			0.17			0.06
Well	3	4		9	8	
Moderate	5	7		22	4	
Poor	5	5		12	8	
Location			0.71			0.41
Ascending colon	5	4		14	6	
Transverse colon	2	2		6	4	
Descending colon	4	5		13	6	
Sigmoid colon	2	3		8	1	
Rectum	0	2		2	3	
Colonic obstruction			0.46			-
Yes	6	10		0	0	
No	7	6		43	20	
Average distance to index tumor (cm)	36.77 ± 6.86	19.88 ± 4.16	0.04	36.65 ± 3.55	24.00 ± 5.11	0.05
Located in the same bowl segments with index tumor			0.03			0.03
Yes	3	11		13	12	
No	10	5		30	8	

colonoscopy^[10,11]. Furthermore, positron emission tomography (PET)/CT has also been recommended as a supplementary technique to increase the accuracy of CTC^[12]. However, the use of CTC is not widespread, mainly due to the lack of accepted guidelines for analysis of the results, and limited numbers of professionals with this experience^[13]. In addition, most patients in developing countries cannot afford to undergo PET. Therefore, CT is a more accessible method, and the aim of the present study was to

Pang EJ et al. Synchronous colorectal cancer predicted by CT

Table 2	Anatomical	distribut	ion of	index and	concurrent
cancers in	this cohort				

Index lesion	Concurrent lesions				
-	Ascending colon	Transverse colon	Descending colon	Sigmoid colon	Rectum
Incomplete group					
Ascending colon	6	1	3	1	1
Transverse colon	0	2	1	0	0
Descending colon	2	1	4	1	0
Sigmoid colon	1	0	1	2	1
Rectum	0	0	0	1	0
Total	9	4	9	5	2
Complete group					
Ascending colon	10	1	4	3	1
Transverse colon	3	3	2	0	1
Descending colon		2	7	1	2
Sigmoid colon	0	2	1	4	0
Rectum	2	2	5	1	1
Total	20	10	19	9	5

evaluate the predictive value of CT for cases of SCRCs, especially when colonoscopy was incomplete.

The overall sensitivity of CT in the present study was 44.8% for cases involving incomplete colonoscopy and 68.8% for complete colonoscopy. Both of these percentages are lower than those reported for solitary cancers detected by CT (range: 72%-84%)^[14,15]. Moreover, the sensitivity of CT for colorectal neoplasms depends on the condition of the lumen and the size of the lesion. Correspondingly, sensitivity of CT can reach as high as 95% when the lumen is distended with air, yet can be as low as 68% when the colon is collapsed^[15]. In the present series, >50% of the incomplete colonoscopy cases were due to poor bowel preparation as a result of obstruction. In addition, concurrent lesions that were smaller in size were more likely to be neglected by CT in both the incomplete and complete colonoscopy groups. For example, the average maximum dimension in the CTpositive group was about 38 mm, and it was about 25 mm in the negative group. In most cases, smaller concurrent lesions also initially presented as local thickening on CT, and in the incomplete group were often obscured by remnant fecal material caused by poor bowel preparation. However, recent studies^[16-18] have demonstrated that 7%-11% of cases involving colonic wall thickening detected by CT were predicted to have an underlying carcinoma, and colonoscopy was proposed. Taken together, these results indicate that missed diagnosis occurs in a certain proportion of SCRCs when complete colonoscopy is not additionally performed.

Another important factor associated with falsenegative findings on CT in the present cohort was proximity of index and concurrent cancers within the same bowel segment. Previously, the right and left colon have been reported to be frequent sites of SCRCs^[4]. Moreover, the topographical proximity of carcinomas on CT may lead to misdiagnosis of SCRCs

Table 3 Overall sensitivity and specificity in the two groups					
CT findings	Histol	ogical find	ings	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)
	Positive	Negative	Total		
Incomplete				44.8 (26.5, 64.3)	93.6 (90.5, 96.0)
group					
Positive	13	22	35		
Negative	16	323	339		
Complete				68.3 (55.3, 79.4)	97.0 (96.0, 97.8)
group					
Positive	43	51	94		
Negative	20	1635	1655		
Total	92	2031	2123		

Values in parentheses are 95%CI. CT: Computed tomography.

as a solitary cancer (Figure 3). For example, two individual cancers in the same bowel segment could be misinterpreted as an extension of a single cancer by CT. Generally, the direction of CRC infiltration is not along the long axis of the bowel, but rather is circumferential. Therefore, when an abnormal length of colon involvement by cancer presents on CT, SCRCs should be considered. For these suspected cases, careful palpation should be performed at the beginning of an operation because the resection range of bowel segments depends on the location of the cancers. Furthermore, if the SCRCs can be detected initially, then an extended bowel segment procedure can be scheduled in advance. Alternatively, if the concurrent cancer is detected only after the resection of the index cancer, removal of an additional bowel segment may be needed. Although supplementary resection is not complex, it is inconsistent with the en bloc principle of radical cancer resection.

There were some limitations associated with the present study. First, this was a retrospective singlecenter study. Therefore, differences in experience and professionalism among the radiologists of this center may have influenced the detection accuracy of SCRCs by CT. Second, the CT instrument used in this study was older and may have had a lower detection rate for SCRCs. Third, the operator-dependent changes should be taken into consideration, which may also have influenced the imaging results. Therefore, the results of the present study need to be verified in a multicenter prospective investigation with a large number of cases that can be analyzed using up-to-date CT instruments.

In conclusion, the present study provides evidence regarding the capacity for CT to diagnose SCRCs, especially in patients that have undergone incomplete colonoscopy. The limited detection rate of CT that was observed may have been due to several factors such as small tumor size, lumen conditions, and tumor location. However, CTC and PET/CT are not readily available at all institutions, especially in developing countries, therefore, CT remains a feasible option when complete colonoscopy cannot be performed.

Pang EJ et al. Synchronous colorectal cancer predicted by CT

Case 1



Figure 3 More than 60% of these concurrent cancers were missed by computed tomography. Case 1: A 56-year-old woman with both index and concurrent cancers located in different bowel segments that were detected by computed tomography (CT). Colonoscopy was hindered by the presence of sigmoid cancer. "A" shows the ascending colon and "S" is the sigmoid colon. The green arrows indicate the concurrent cancer and the yellow arrows indicate the index cancer; Case 2: A 68-year-old man with an index and concurrent cancer both located in the ascending colon. This case was misdiagnosed by CT as a solitary cancer due to the proximity of the two lesions. In addition, colonoscopy was hindered by the presence of a scirrhous carcinoma (index cancer indicated with yellow arrows). The green arrows indicate the concurrent cancer.

Zeishiden

Accordingly, it is important to identify the factors that can lead to false-negative results. Furthermore, both careful exploration during intraoperative colonoscopy^[19,20] and close monitoring during the follow-up period are key to obtaining accurate diagnosis and treatment of SCRCs.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Qing-Chao Zhu and Rong-Rong Shen for their assistance in reviewing the endoscopic and radiological results.

COMMENTS

Background

Synchronous colorectal cancers (SCRCs) refer to two or more primary colorectal cancers (CRCs) in a single individual with a prevalence ranging from 3% to 6%. SCRCs are clinically important because neglect of lesions leads to remnant cancer. Colonoscopy is ideal for detecting synchronous lesions but some factors may prevent the colonoscope from visualizing whole bowel segments. Conventional computed tomography (CT) is usually applied in these cases to examine the remnant bowel not accessible to colonoscopy.

Research frontiers

CT colonography (CTC) is also known as virtual colonoscopy. With advancements made in scanning technology and three-dimensional (3D) postprocessing modalities, this method has been used to detect colorectal cancers, especially small tumors. CTC has been shown to be a valuable technique for preoperative colonic visualization of patients who have undergone incomplete colonoscopy. However, good bowel preparation is necessary for accurate diagnosis.

Innovations and breakthroughs

Currently, colonoscopy is regarded as the best method for the direct detection of SCRCs. However, for cases that involve elongation of the colon, poor bowel preparation, diverticulitis, or bowel obstruction, colonoscopy may not be able to visualize entire segments of the colon. CTC or positron emission tomography (PET) was shown to be valuable for preoperative detection of lesions in patients undergoing incomplete colonoscopy. PET and CTC in most patients in developing countries are not widespread, mainly due to limited numbers of well-trained professionals, and high expense. Therefore, CT is a more accessible method, and the present study was the first to evaluate the predictive value of CT for cases of SCRCs, especially when colonoscopy was incomplete.

Applications

The study suggested that CT remains a feasible option when complete colonoscopy cannot be performed. However, the sensitivity is limited when the tumor is small or index cancer is adjacent to concurrent cancers.

Terminology

SCRCs refer to two or more primary CRCs consistent with the following key elements: (1) each tumor must be proved to be malignant; (2) each tumor must be distinct; (3) the probability of one tumor being a metastasis of another must be excluded; and (4) the synchronous lesions must be diagnosed simultaneously or within 6 mo of initial diagnosis.

Peer-review

Pang *et al* evaluated the diagnostic accuracy of CT in patients with SCRCs. It was a well-designed study, and the paper is well written. It addresses an interesting clinical area.

REFERENCES

- Warren S, Gates O. Carcinoma of ceruminous gland. *Am J Pathol* 1941; 17: 821-826.3 [PMID: 19970598]
- 2 Wang HZ, Huang XF, Wang Y, Ji JF, Gu J. Clinical features, diagnosis, treatment and prognosis of multiple primary colorectal carcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* 2004; 10: 2136-2139 [PMID: 15237453]

- 3 Latournerie M, Jooste V, Cottet V, Lepage C, Faivre J, Bouvier AM. Epidemiology and prognosis of synchronous colorectal cancers. *Br J Surg* 2008; 95: 1528-1533 [PMID: 18991301 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.6382]
- 4 Chen HS, Sheen-Chen SM. Synchronous and "early" metachronous colorectal adenocarcinoma: analysis of prognosis and current trends. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2000; 43: 1093-1099 [PMID: 10950007]
- 5 Neri E, Turini F, Cerri F, Faggioni L, Vagli P, Naldini G, Bartolozzi C. Comparison of CT colonography vs. conventional colonoscopy in mapping the segmental location of colon cancer before surgery. *Abdom Imaging* 2010; **35**: 589-595 [PMID: 19763682 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-009-9570-3]
- 6 Lam AK, Carmichael R, Gertraud Buettner P, Gopalan V, Ho YH, Siu S. Clinicopathological significance of synchronous carcinoma in colorectal cancer. *Am J Surg* 2011; 202: 39-44 [PMID: 21600553 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2010.05.012]
- 7 Nosho K, Kure S, Irahara N, Shima K, Baba Y, Spiegelman D, Meyerhardt JA, Giovannucci EL, Fuchs CS, Ogino S. A prospective cohort study shows unique epigenetic, genetic, and prognostic features of synchronous colorectal cancers. *Gastroenterology* 2009; 137: 1609-20.e1-3 [PMID: 19686742 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.08.002]
- 8 Hanson ME, Pickhardt PJ, Kim DH, Pfau PR. Anatomic factors predictive of incomplete colonoscopy based on findings at CT colonography. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 2007; 189: 774-779 [PMID: 17885044 DOI: 10.2214/ajr.07.2048]
- 9 Morini S, Zullo A, Hassan C, Lorenzetti R, Campo SM. Endoscopic management of failed colonoscopy in clinical practice: to change endoscopist, instrument, or both? *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2011; 26: 103-108 [PMID: 20686778 DOI: 10.1007/s00384-010-1016-4]
- 10 McArthur DR, Mehrzad H, Patel R, Dadds J, Pallan A, Karandikar SS, Roy-Choudhury S. CT colonography for synchronous colorectal lesions in patients with colorectal cancer: initial experience. *Eur Radiol* 2010; 20: 621-629 [PMID: 19727743 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-009-1589-x]
- 11 Liedenbaum MH, de Vries AH, van Rijn AF, Dekker HM, Willemssen FE, van Leerdam ME, van Marrewijk CJ, Fockens P, Bipat S, Bossuyt PM, Dekker E, Stoker J. CT colonography with limited bowel preparation for the detection of colorectal neoplasia in an FOBT positive screening population. *Abdom Imaging* 2010; 35: 661-668 [PMID: 19888629 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-009-9586-8]
- 12 Kinner S, Antoch G, Bockisch A, Veit-Haibach P. Whole-body PET/CT-colonography: a possible new concept for colorectal cancer staging. *Abdom Imaging* 2007; **32**: 606-612 [PMID: 17387540 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-007-9202-8]
- 13 Rockey DC. Computed tomographic colonography: ready for prime time? *Gastroenterol Clin North Am* 2010; **39**: 901-909 [PMID: 21093762 DOI: 10.1016/j.gtc.2010.08.030]
- 14 Ozel B, Pickhardt PJ, Kim DH, Schumacher C, Bhargava N, Winter TC. Accuracy of routine nontargeted CT without colonography technique for the detection of large colorectal polyps and cancer. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2010; 53: 911-918 [PMID: 20485005 DOI: 10.1007/DCR.0b013e3181d5de13]
- 15 Balthazar EJ, Megibow AJ, Hulnick D, Naidich DP. Carcinoma of the colon: detection and preoperative staging by CT. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 1988; 150: 301-306 [PMID: 3257314]
- 16 Patel P, Widjaja D, Blum S, Glandt M, Akella J, Chilimuri S, Balar B. Significance of bowel wall thickening on computed tomography scan: higher risk of pathology among African Americans compared to Hispanics. *J Natl Med Assoc* 2009; 101: 345-348 [PMID: 19397225]
- 17 Wolff JH, Rubin A, Potter JD, Lattimore W, Resnick MB, Murphy BL, Moss SF. Clinical significance of colonoscopic findings associated with colonic thickening on computed tomography: is colonoscopy warranted when thickening is detected? *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2008; 42: 472-475 [PMID: 18344892 DOI: 10.1097/ MCG.0b013e31804c7065]
- 18 Moraitis D, Singh P, Jayadevan R, Cayten CG. Colonic wall thickening on computed tomography scan and clinical correlation. Does it suggest the presence of an underlying neoplasia? *Am Surg*

2006; 72: 269-271 [PMID: 16553131]

- 19 Kaibara N, Kimura O, Nishidoi H, Miyano Y, Koga S. Intraoperative colonoscopy for the diagnosis of multiple cancers of the large intestine. *Jpn J Surg* 1982; 12: 117-121 [PMID: 7109357]
- 20 Kuramoto S, Ihara O, Sakai S, Tsuchiya T, Oohara T. Intraoperative colonoscopy in the detection of nonpalpable colonic lesions--how to identify the affected bowel segment. *Surg Endosc* 1988; 2: 76-80 [PMID: 3413660]

P- Reviewer: Chapel A, Miheller P, Zhi QM S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1865 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1865-1871 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

Prognostic factors and survival in patients with gastric stump cancer

Hua Huang, Wei Wang, Zhong Chen, Jie-Jie Jin, Zi-Wen Long, Hong Cai, Xiao-Wen Liu, Ye Zhou, Ya-Nong Wang

Hua Huang, Jie-Jie Jin, Zi-Wen Long, Hong Cai, Xiao-Wen Liu, Ye Zhou, Ya-Nong Wang, Department of Gastric Cancer and Soft Tissue Sarcoma, Fudan University Shanghai Cancer Center, Shanghai 200032, China

Hua Huang, Jie-Jie Jin, Zi-Wen Long, Hong Cai, Xiao-Wen Liu, Ye Zhou, Ya-Nong Wang, Department of Oncology, Shanghai Medical College, Fudan University, Shanghai 200032, China

Wei Wang, Zhong Chen, Department of Hepatobiliary Surgery, Affiliated Hospital of Nantong University, Nantong 226001, Jiangsu Province, China

Author contributions: Huang H and Wang W performed the research; Chen Z, Jin JJ, Long ZW, Cai H, Liu XW, Zhou Y and Wang YN analyzed the data and drafted the article.

Supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 81272726; Specialized Research Fund for the Doctoral Program of Higher Education, China, No. 20110071120097; and Shanghai Municipal Health Bureau Research Project, No. 20114174.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Ya-Nong Wang, MD, PhD, Department of Gastric Cancer and Soft Tissue Sarcoma, Fudan University Shanghai Cancer Center, 270 Dong An Road, Shanghai 200032, China. wangyanongsh@gmail.com

Telephone: +86-21-64430130 Fax: +86-21-64430130 Received: August 12, 2014

Peer-review started: August 13, 2014 First decision: August 27, 2014 Revised: September 12, 2014 Accepted: October 14, 2014 Article in press: October 15, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To elucidate the clinicopathological characteristics and prognostic factors of gastric stump cancer (GSC).

METHODS: The clinical data for 92 patients with GSC were collected at Fudan University Shanghai Cancer Center. The prognostic factors were analyzed with Cox proportional hazard models.

RESULTS: GSC tended to occur within 25 years following the primary surgery, when the initial disease is benign, whereas it primarily occurred within the first 15 years post-operation for gastric cancer. Patients with regular follow-up after primary surgery had a better survival rate. The multivariate Cox regression analysis revealed that Borrmann type I/II (HR = 3.165, 95%CI: 1.055-9.500, P = 0.040) and radical resection (HR = 1.780, 95%CI: 1.061-2.987, P = 0.029) were independent prognostic factors for GSC. The overall 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates of the 92 patients were 78.3%, 45.6% and 27.6%, respectively. The 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates of those undergoing radical resection were 79.3%, 52.2%, and 37.8%, respectively. The 5-year survival rates for stages I, II, III, and IV were 85.7%, 47.4%, 16.0%, and 13.3%, respectively (P = 0.005).

CONCLUSION: The appearance of GSC occurs sooner in patients with primary malignant cancer than in patients with a primary benign disease. Therefore, close follow-up is necessary. The overall survival of patients with GSC is poor, and curative resection can improve their prognosis.

Key words: Gastric stump cancer; Clinicopathological characteristics; Prognosis



Huang H et al. Prognostic factors for gastric stump cancer

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: We retrospectively analyzed 92 patients. This study indicated that gastric stump cancer (GSC) has unique clinicopathologic characteristics, early detection of GSC is indeed possible, close follow-up is necessary and the radical resection may significantly improve the survival.

Huang H, Wang W, Chen Z, Jin JJ, Long ZW, Cai H, Liu XW, Zhou Y, Wang YN. Prognostic factors and survival in patients with gastric stump cancer. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1865-1871 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1865.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1865

INTRODUCTION

The concept of gastric stump cancer (GSC) was originally described in the $1920s^{[1]}$, and was defined as a carcinoma occurring in the gastric remnant at least 5 years post-surgery for benign peptic ulcer disease. Currently, the concept of GSC has been expanded to include recurrence after gastric cancer resection^[2,3].

Gastric stump as a precancerous condition remains a substantial clinical concern. The incidence of GSC accounts for 1%-7% of all gastric carcinomas following gastrectomy, and this frequency continues to increase^[3-5]. Nevertheless, GSC is often described as a tumor with poor prognosis, and poor curative resection rates (38%-40%)^[6,7]. The 5-year survival rate is only 7%-20% because GSC has unique biological features compared with conventional stomach cancer, and GSC is commonly diagnosed at an advanced stage^[4,8,9].

The present study aimed to clarify the clinicopathological characteristics and operative methods for patients with GSC in order to improve their long-term outcomes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

We retrospectively analyzed 92 patients who had undergone stomach resection between January 2003 and December 2012 at the Gastric Surgery Department of Fudan University Shanghai Cancer Center, China. All the patients were diagnosed through barium meal, endoscopic, and pathological examinations. Patient information was obtained from the medical records of Fudan University Shanghai Cancer Center. The clinical symptoms included abdominal pain, emesis, dysphagia, weight loss, anemia, and weakness. The clinical variables included age, gender, initial gastric disease, interval from initial surgery, reconstruction type of the first operation, type of gastric resection, tumor location, and tumor stage.

Follow-up

All patients were regularly contacted by telephone, and all patients received a follow-up. The duration of the follow-up period was defined as the interval from treatment date to the date of death or the last follow-up. The last follow-up occurred on March 31, 2014. Sixty-seven patients died at the last followup.

Evaluation

Tumor-node-metastasis (TNM) classification of gastric carcinoma was based on the seventh edition of the American Joint Committee on Cancer staging system. The surgical and pathological findings were recorded according to the Japanese Classification of Gastric Carcinoma, and the histological types were classified as differentiated or undifferentiated. The differentiated type included papillary adenocarcinoma, while the undifferentiated type included papillary adenocarcinoma, while the undifferentiated type included poorly or undifferentiated adenocarcinoma, and mucinous carcinoma. To calculate the survival curves, only patients who underwent tumor resection were included because these were the only patients with complete histopathological data and staging data.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS version 19.0 statistical software package (SPSS IBM, United States). All continuous variables are presented as the median (range). The cumulative cause-specific overall survival rates were calculated using the Kaplan-Meier method. The log-rank test was used to assess differences between clinical factors. Cox proportional hazard models were used to determine which clinicopathological variables were predictive of GSC. P < 0.05 was regarded as significant.

RESULTS

The median age was 60.8 (range: 37-91) years, and the male:female ratio was 4.4:1. The median interval time from the initial operation to the development of GSC was 16.5 years (range: 1-40 years). The latency periods were different between benign disease and gastric cancer. GSC tended to occur within 25 years post-operation with a benign initial disease and within the first 15 years post-operation for gastric cancer (Table 1, Figure 1). Seventy-six (82.6%) patients had clinical symptoms, including abdominal pain, emesis, dysphagia, weight loss, anemia and weakness. Other patients were diagnosed *via* routine endoscopy.

The detailed clinicopathological characteristics of all the patients are listed in Table 1. Concerning the initial gastric disease, 38 (41%) patients had benign disease, and 54 (59%) patients had gastric cancer. In total, 26 (28%) patients underwent Billroth-I reconstruction, and 65 (71%) patients received Billroth-II



Table 1 Clinicopathologic features of the 92 patients with gastric stump cancer n (%)

Age (yr)1 60.8 ± 10.0 Sex75 (81)Female75 (81)Initial gastric disease75 (81)Benign38 (41)Malignant54 (59)Interval time from initial surgery (yr)116.5 ± 13.0Regular follow-up after primary surgery76 (83)No16 (17)Reconstruction of primary surgery16 (57)Billroth-126 (28)Billroth-165 (71)Roux-en-Y1 (1)Location1 (1)Anastomotic59 (64)Non-anastomotic33 (36)Tumor size (mm)14.0 ± 2.0Borrmann type113 (3)II13 (14)II3 (3)II13 (14)II69 (75)IV7 (8)Depth of invasion7T10 (0)T26 (7)T35 (5)T481(88)Lymph node involvementWN035 (38) $\geqslant M1$ 29 (32)Stage1I8 (9)II8 (9)II8 (9)II8 (9)II9 (32)Stage1I74 (80)Type of treatment74 (80)Type of treatment74 (80)Type of treatment12 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	Characteristic	Value
Sex Male 75 (81) Female 75 (81) Female 75 (81) Initial gastric disease 84 (41) Malignant 54 (59) Interval time from initial surgery (yr) ¹ 16.5 ± 13.0 Regular follow-up after primary surgery 8 Yes 76 (83) No 16 (17) Reconstruction of primary surgery 8 Billroth-1 26 (28) Billroth-1 26 (28) Billroth-1 65 (71) Roux-en-Y 1(1) Location 33 (36) Tumor size (mm) ¹ 4.0 ± 2.0 Borrmann type 1 1 3 (3) II 6 (7) <	Age (yr) ¹	60.8 ± 10.0
Male 75 (81) Female 17 (19) Initial gastric disease 38 (41) Malignant 54 (59) Interval time from initial surgery (y1) ¹ 16.5 ± 13.0 Regular follow-up after primary surgery Yes Yes 76 (83) No 16 (17) Reconstruction of primary surgery 16 (17) Reconstruction of primary surgery 11 Billroth-1 65 (71) Roux-en-Y 1 (1) Location 33 (36) Non-anastomotic 59 (64) Non-anastomotic 33 (36) Tumor size (mm) ¹ 4.0 ± 2.0 Borrmann type 1 1 3 (3) II 3 (3) II 9 (75) N 7 (8) Depth of invasion 7 (8) T1 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T3 5 (5) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement 30 (33) N0 35 (38) > N1 57 (62) Presence of distan	Sex	
Female17 (19)Initial gastric disease $38 (41)$ Malignant54 (59)Interval time from initial surgery (yr) ¹ 16.5 ± 13.0Regular follow-up after primary surgery $76 (83)$ No16 (17)Reconstruction of primary surgery 81 Billroth-165 (71)Roux-en-Y1 (1)Location $33 (36)$ Tumor size (mm) ¹ $30 (32)$ Tumor size (mm) ¹ $30 (33)$ II $3 (3)$ <td>Male</td> <td>75 (81)</td>	Male	75 (81)
Initial gastric disease 38 (41) Malignant 54 (59) Interval time from initial surgery (vr) ¹ 165 ± 13.0 Regular follow-up after primary surgery Yes Yes 76 (83) No 16 (17) Reconstruction of primary surgery 16 (17) Billroth-1 26 (28) Billroth-1 26 (28) Billroth-1 26 (28) Roux-en-Y 1 (1) Location 33 (36) Tumor size (mm) ¹ 40 ± 2.0 Bormann type 3 (3) I 3 (3) II 69 (75) IV 7 (8) Depth of invasion 7 (8) I1 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement 20 (20) N0 5 (5) T4	Female	17 (19)
Benign 38 (41) Malignant 54 (59) Interval time from initial surgery (y1) ¹ 16.5 ± 13.0 Regular follow-up after primary surgery Yes Yes 76 (83) No 16 (17) Reconstruction of primary surgery Billroth-1 Billroth-1 26 (28) Billroth-1 65 (71) Roux-en-Y 1 (1) Location 33 (36) Tumor size (mm) ¹ 4.0 ± 2.0 Bormann type 3 (3) I 3 (3) II 6 (7) IS 5 (5) IV 7 (8) Depth of invasion	Initial gastric disease	
Malignant 54 (59) Interval time from initial surgery (yr) ¹ 16.5 ± 13.0 Regular follow-up after primary surgery 76 (83) No 16 (17) Reconstruction of primary surgery 16 (17) Billroth-I 26 (28) Billroth-II 65 (71) Roux-en-Y 1 (1) Location 33 (36) Tumor size (mm) ¹ 4.0 ± 2.0 Borrmann type 1 1 3 (3) II 3 (3) II 3 (3) II 3 (3) II 9 (75) N 7 (8) Depth of invasion 1 T1 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T3 5 (5) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement 1 N0 35 (38) > N1 57 (62) Presence of distant metastasis 1 M0 63 (68) > M1 29 (32) Stage 1 I 8 (9) I 8 (9	Benign	38 (41)
Interval time from initial surgery (yr) ¹ 16.5 ± 13.0 Regular follow-up after primary surgery Yes No $16 (17)$ Reconstruction of primary surgery Billroth-I Billroth-I $26 (28)$ Billroth-I $65 (71)$ Roux-en-Y $1 (1)$ Location $33 (36)$ Tumor size (mm) ¹ 4.0 ± 2.0 Borrman type 1 I $3 (3)$ II $0 (0)$ T2 $6 (7)$ T3 $5 (5)$ T4 $81(88)$ Lymph node involvement $N0$ N0 $35 (38)$ $\geq N1$ $29 (32)$ Stage I I $8 (9)$ I $8 (9)$ I <td< td=""><td>Malignant</td><td>54 (59)</td></td<>	Malignant	54 (59)
Regular follow-up after primary surgeryYes76 (83)No16 (17)Reconstruction of primary surgery9Billroth-165 (71)Roux-en-Y1 (1)Location33 (36)Tumor size (mm) ¹ 4.0 ± 2.0Borrmann type3 (3)I13 (14)II69 (75)N7 (8)Depth of invasion7 (8)T10 (0)T26 (7)T35 (5)T481 (88)Lymph node involvement76 (62)N035 (38) \geq N157 (62)Presence of distant metastasisM0M063 (68) \geq M125 (26)II30 (33)N29 (32)Stage30 (33)I18 (20)Undifferentiated18 (20)Undifferentiated18 (20)Undifferentiated58 (63)Paliative resection58 (63)Paliative resection58 (63)Paliative resection52 (13)Chrative resection58 (63)Paliative resection58 (63)Paliative resection58 (63)Paliative resection52 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	Interval time from initial surgery (yr) ¹	16.5 ± 13.0
Yes 76 (83) No 16 (17) Reconstruction of primary surgery 16 (17) Billroth-I 26 (28) Billroth-II 65 (71) Roux-en-Y 1 (1) Location 33 (36) Tumor size (mm) ¹ 4.0 \pm 2.0 Borrmann type 1 I 3 (3) II 3 (3) II 13 (14) II 69 (75) N 76 (82) Depth of invasion 76 (7) T1 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T3 5 (5) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement No N0 35 (38) > N1 57 (62) Presence of distant metastasis M0 M0 63 (68) > M1 29 (32) Stage 1 I 8 (9) I 8 (9) <t< td=""><td>Regular follow-up after primary surgery</td><td></td></t<>	Regular follow-up after primary surgery	
No 16 (17) Reconstruction of primary surgery 16 (17) Billroth-I 26 (28) Billroth-II 65 (71) Roux-en-Y 1 (1) Location 33 (36) Anastomotic 59 (64) Non-anastomotic 33 (36) Tumor size (mm) ¹ 4.0 ± 2.0 Borrmann type 1 I 3 (3) II 13 (14) II 69 (75) N 7 (8) Depth of invasion 7 (8) T1 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T3 5 (5) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement N0 N0 35 (38) > N1 57 (62) Presence of distant metastasis M0 M0 63 (68) > M1 29 (32) Stage 1 I 8 (9) I 8 (9) I 8 (20) Undifferentiated	Yes	76 (83)
Reconstruction of primary surgeryBillroth-I26 (28)Billroth-II65 (71)Roux-en-Y1 (1)Location1 (1)Anastomotic59 (64)Non-anastomotic33 (36)Tumor size (mm) ¹ 4.0 ± 2.0Borrmann type1I3 (3)II13 (14)II69 (75)N7 (8)Depth of invasion7T10 (0)T26 (7)T35 (5)T481(8)Lymph node involvement80N035 (38)≥ N157 (62)Presence of distant metastasis0M063 (68)≥ M129 (32)Stage1I8 (9)II25 (26)III30 (33)N29 (32)Histology16 (17)Differentiated18 (20)Undifferentiated58 (63)Palliative resection58 (63)Palliative resection58 (63)Palliative resection58 (63)Palliative resection22 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	No	16 (17)
Billroth-I 26 (28) Billroth-I 65 (71) Roux-en-Y 1 (1) Location 33 (36) Anastomotic 33 (36) Tumor size (mm) ¹ 4.0 ± 2.0 Borrmann type 3 (3) I 3 (3) II 13 (14) II 69 (75) N 7 (8) Depth of invasion 7 (8) T1 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T3 5 (5) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement 30 (33) N0 35 (38) $\geq N1$ 57 (62) Presence of distant metastasis 9 M0 63 (68) $\geq M1$ 29 (32) Stage 1 I 8 (9) II 30 (33) N 29 (32) Stage 1 I 8 (20) Undifferentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 18 (20) Undifferent	Reconstruction of primary surgery	
Billroth-II 65 (71) Roux-en-Y 1 (1) Location 3 (36) Non-anastomotic 33 (36) Tumor size (mm) ¹ 4.0 \pm 2.0 Borrmann type 1 I 3 (3) II 13 (14) II 69 (75) N 7 (8) Depth of invasion 7 (8) T1 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T3 5 (5) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement 81(88) Lymph node involvement 77 (62) Presence of distant metastasis 90 M0 63 (68) \geq M1 29 (32) Stage 1 I 8 (9) I 30 (33) IV 29 (32) Histology 13 (30) Differentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 74 (80) Type of treatment 74 (80) Curative resection 58 (63) Palliative resection 58 (63) Palliative resec	Billroth- I	26 (28)
Roux-en-Y1 (1)Location 31 Anastomotic 33 (36)Tumor size (mm) ¹ 4.0 ± 2.0 Borrmann type 1 I 3 (3)I13 (14)II 69 (75)N 7 (8)Depth of invasion 7 T1 0 (0)T2 6 (7)T3 5 (5)T4 $81(88)$ Lymph node involvement 7 (62)Presence of distant metastasis $M0$ $M0$ 63 (68) $\geq M1$ 29 (32)Stage 29 (32)II 8 (9)II 25 (26)III 30 (33) N 29 (32)Histology 31 Differentiated 18 (20)Undifferentiated 74 (80)Type of treatment 74 (80)Curative resection 58 (63)Palliative resection 12 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy 16 (17)No treatment 6 (7)	Billroth-II	65 (71)
Location59 (64)Non-anastomotic33 (36)Tumor size (mm) ¹ 4.0 ± 2.0Borrmann type 1 I3 (3)II13 (14)II69 (75)N7 (8)Depth of invasion 7 (8)T10 (0)T26 (7)T35 (5)T481(88)Lymph node involvement 0 N035 (38)≥ N157 (62)Presence of distant metastasis $M0$ $M0$ 63 (68)≥ M129 (32)Stage 1 I8 (9)II25 (26)III30 (33)N29 (32)Histology 0 Differentiated18 (20)Undifferentiated74 (80)Type of treatment 2 (13)Curative resection58 (63)Palliative resection12 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	Roux-en-Y	1 (1)
Anastomotic59 (64)Non-anastomotic33 (36)Tumor size (mm) ¹ 4.0 ± 2.0Borrmann type I I3 (3)II13 (14)II99 (75)N7 (8)Depth of invasion T T10 (0)T26 (7)T35 (5)T481(88)Lymph node involvement K N035 (38) \geq N157 (62)Presence of distant metastasis M $M0$ 63 (68) \geq M129 (32)Stage I I8 (9)II25 (26)III30 (33)N29 (32)Histology G Differentiated18 (20)Undifferentiated74 (80)Type of treatment C Curative resection58 (63)Palliative resection12 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	Location	/
Non-anastomotic 33 (36) Tumor size (mm) ¹ 4.0 ± 2.0 Borrmann type 1 I 3 (3) II 13 (14) II 69 (75) N 7 (8) Depth of invasion 7 T1 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T3 5 (5) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement 81(88) N0 35 (38) ≥ N1 57 (62) Presence of distant metastasis 9 M0 63 (68) ≥ M1 29 (32) Stage 1 I 8 (9) II 30 (33) IV 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Histology 11 Differentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 74 (80) Type of treatment 20 (13) Curative resection 58 (63) Palliative resection 12 (13) Chemotherapy/radiotherapy 16 (17) No treatment 6 (7) </td <td>Anastomotic</td> <td>59 (64)</td>	Anastomotic	59 (64)
Tumor size (mm)' 4.0 ± 2.0 Borrmann type 1 I 3 (3) II 13 (14) II 69 (75) N 7 (8) Depth of invasion 7 T1 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T3 5 (5) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement 81(88) N0 35 (38) ≥ N1 57 (62) Presence of distant metastasis 9 M0 63 (68) ≥ M1 29 (32) Stage 8 (9) I 8 (9) II 30 (33) IV 30 (33) Differentiated 1	Non-anastomotic	33 (36)
I 3 (3) II 13 (14) II 69 (75) N 7 (8) Depth of invasion 0 (0) T1 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T3 5 (5) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement 35 (38) N0 35 (38) ≥ N1 57 (62) Presence of distant metastasis 40 M0 63 (68) ≥ M1 29 (32) Stage 1 I 8 (9) II 25 (26) III 30 (33) IV 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Differentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 74 (80) Type of treatment 58 (63) Palliative resection 58 (63) Palliative resection 12 (13) Chemotherapy/radiotherapy 16 (17) No treatment 6 (7)	Tumor size (mm)'	4.0 ± 2.0
1 3 (3) II 13 (14) II 69 (75) N 7 (8) Depth of invasion 7 (8) T1 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T3 5 (5) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement $8(8)$ N0 35 (38) $\geq N1$ 57 (62) Presence of distant metastasis $M0$ M0 63 (68) $\geq M1$ 29 (32) Stage 1 I 8 (9) II 25 (26) III 30 (33) N 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Differentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 74 (80) Type of treatment 20 (32) Curative resection 58 (63) Palliative resection 12 (13) Chemotherapy/radiotherapy 16 (17)	Borrmann type	a (a)
II 13 (14) II 69 (75) N 7 (8) Depth of invasion (00) T1 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T3 5 (5) T4 81(8) Lymph node involvement (7) N0 35 (38) ≥ N1 57 (62) Presence of distant metastasis $(M0)$ M0 63 (68) ≥ M1 29 (32) Stage 1 I 8 (9) II 25 (26) III 30 (33) IV 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Differentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 74 (80) Type of treatment 20 (32) Curative resection 58 (63) Palliative resection 12 (13) Chemotherapy/radiotherapy 16 (17)<	l	3 (3)
III 69 (73) \mathbb{N} 7 (8) Depth of invasion 9 (0) T1 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T3 5 (5) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement 81(88) N0 35 (38) \geq N1 57 (62) Presence of distant metastasis 0 M0 63 (68) \geq M1 29 (32) Stage 1 I 8 (9) II 25 (26) III 30 (33) \mathbb{N} 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Differentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 74 (80) Type of treatment 74 (80) Curative resection 58 (63) Palliative resection 12 (13) Chemotherapy/radiotherapy 16 (17) No treatment 6 (7)	11 	13 (14)
N 7 (8) Depth of invasion 7 T1 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T3 5 (5) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement 81(88) N0 35 (38) \geq N1 57 (62) Presence of distant metastasis 0 M0 63 (68) \geq M1 29 (32) Stage 1 I 8 (9) II 25 (26) II 30 (33) IV 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Differentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 74 (80) Type of treatment 74 (80) Curative resection 58 (63) Palliative resection 12 (13) Chemotherapy/radiotherapy 16 (17) No treatment 6 (7)	Ш. 	69 (75)
T1 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T3 5 (5) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement $N0$ N0 35 (38) $\geq N1$ 57 (62) Presence of distant metastasis $M0$ M0 63 (68) $\geq M1$ 29 (32) Stage 1 I 8 (9) II 25 (26) II 30 (33) IV 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Histology 18 (20) Undifferentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 74 (80) Type of treatment 2 (13) Chemotherapy/radiotherapy 16 (17) No treatment 6 (7)	IV Durth of investigat	7 (8)
11 0 (0) T2 6 (7) T3 5 (5) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement (0) N0 35 (38) \geq N1 57 (62) Presence of distant metastasis $(M0)$ M0 63 (68) \geq M1 29 (32) Stage $(1 \ 10)$ I 8 (9) II 25 (26) III 30 (33) IV 29 (32) Histology $(29 (32))$ Histology $(29 (32))$ Histology $(29 (32))$ Differentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 74 (80) Type of treatment $(2 (13))$ Curative resection 58 (63) Palliative resection 12 (13) Chemotherapy/radiotherapy 16 (17) No treatment 6 (7)	T1	0 (0)
12 $6(7)$ T3 $5(5)$ T4 $81(88)$ Lymph node involvement $81(88)$ N0 $35(38)$ $\geq N1$ $57(62)$ Presence of distant metastasis $M0$ $M0$ $63(68)$ $\geq M1$ $29(32)$ Stage 1 I $8(9)$ II $25(26)$ II $30(33)$ N $29(32)$ Histology $29(32)$ Histology $29(32)$ Undifferentiated $18(20)$ Undifferentiated $74(80)$ Type of treatment $Curative resection$ Curative resection $58(63)$ Palliative resection $12(13)$ Chemotherapy/radiotherapy $16(17)$ No treatment $6(7)$	11 T2	0(0)
15 5 (3) T4 81(88) Lymph node involvement (3) N0 35 (38) > N1 57 (62) Presence of distant metastasis (3) M0 63 (68) > M1 29 (32) Stage (2) I 8 (9) I 25 (26) II 30 (33) IV 29 (32) Histology (2) Differentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 74 (80) Type of treatment (2) Curative resection 58 (63) Palliative resection 12 (13) Chemotherapy/radiotherapy 16 (17) No treatment (6)	12	6 (7) E (E)
I a (160) Lymph node involvement (160) N0 $35 (38)$ $\geq N1$ $57 (62)$ Presence of distant metastasis $(M0)$ $M0$ $63 (68)$ $\geq M1$ $29 (32)$ Stage (11) I $8 (9)$ II $25 (26)$ II $30 (33)$ IV $29 (32)$ Histology $(29 (32))$ Differentiated $18 (20)$ Undifferentiated $74 (80)$ Type of treatment (213) Curative resection $58 (63)$ Palliative resection $12 (13)$ Chemotherapy/radiotherapy $16 (17)$ No treatment $6 (7)$	15 T4	5 (5) 81(88)
N035 (38) \geq N157 (62)Presence of distant metastasisM0M063 (68) \geq M129 (32)StageII8 (9)II25 (26)II30 (33)IV29 (32)Histology29 (32)Differentiated18 (20)Undifferentiated74 (80)Type of treatment58 (63)Palliative resection58 (63)Palliative resection12 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	Lymph node involvement	01(00)
$> N1$ 57 (62) Presence of distant metastasis 63 (68) $M0$ 63 (68) $\geq M1$ 29 (32) Stage 1 I 8 (9) II 25 (26) II 30 (33) IV 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Differentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 74 (80) Type of treatment 58 (63) Curative resection 58 (63) Palliative resection 12 (13) Chemotherapy/radiotherapy 16 (17) No treatment 6 (7)	NO	35 (38)
Presence of distant metastasis (G_2) M063 (68)≥ M129 (32)StageII8 (9)II25 (26)II30 (33)IV29 (32)Histology29 (32)Histology18 (20)Undifferentiated18 (20)Undifferentiated74 (80)Type of treatment58 (63)Palliative resection12 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	\geq N1	57 (62)
M063 (68) \geq M129 (32)StageII8 (9)II25 (26)II30 (33)IV29 (32)Histology29 (32)HistologyIDifferentiated18 (20)Undifferentiated74 (80)Type of treatment58 (63)Palliative resection58 (63)Palliative resection12 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	Presence of distant metastasis	07 (02)
≥ M1 29 (32) Stage 1 I 8 (9) II 25 (26) II 30 (33) IV 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Differentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 74 (80) Type of treatment 20 Curative resection 58 (63) Palliative resection 12 (13) Chemotherapy/radiotherapy 16 (17) No treatment 6 (7)	MO	63 (68)
Stage 8 (9) I 8 (9) II 25 (26) II 30 (33) IV 29 (32) Histology 29 (32) Differentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 74 (80) Type of treatment 58 (63) Curative resection 58 (63) Palliative resection 12 (13) Chemotherapy/radiotherapy 16 (17) No treatment 6 (7)	≥ M1	29 (32)
I 8 (9) II 25 (26) III 30 (33) IV 29 (32) Histology 29 Differentiated 18 (20) Undifferentiated 74 (80) Type of treatment 58 (63) Palliative resection 58 (63) Palliative resection 12 (13) Chemotherapy/radiotherapy 16 (17) No treatment 6 (7)	Stage	
II 25 (26) III 30 (33) IV 29 (32) Histology 18 (20) Undifferentiated 74 (80) Type of treatment 74 (80) Curative resection 58 (63) Palliative resection 12 (13) Chemotherapy/radiotherapy 16 (17) No treatment 6 (7)	I	8 (9)
II30 (33)IV29 (32)Histology18 (20)Undifferentiated74 (80)Type of treatment74 (80)Curative resection58 (63)Palliative resection12 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	П	25 (26)
N29 (32)Histology18 (20)Differentiated74 (80)Undifferentiated74 (80)Type of treatment12 (13)Curative resection12 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	Ш	30 (33)
HistologyDifferentiated18 (20)Undifferentiated74 (80)Type of treatment58 (63)Curative resection12 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	IV	29 (32)
Differentiated18 (20)Undifferentiated74 (80)Type of treatment74 (80)Curative resection58 (63)Palliative resection12 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	Histology	
Undifferentiated74 (80)Type of treatment58 (63)Curative resection12 (13)Palliative resection16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	Differentiated	18 (20)
Type of treatmentCurative resection58 (63)Palliative resection12 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	Undifferentiated	74 (80)
Curative resection58 (63)Palliative resection12 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	Type of treatment	
Palliative resection12 (13)Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	Curative resection	58 (63)
Chemotherapy/radiotherapy16 (17)No treatment6 (7)	Palliative resection	12 (13)
No treatment 6 (7)	Chemotherapy/radiotherapy	16 (17)
	No treatment	6 (7)

¹Age, tumor size and disease-free time are mean \pm SD.

reconstruction. Most patients (59, 64%) had malignant lesions at the anastomotic site, and the median tumor size was 4.0 cm. Additionally, Borrmann III (69, 75%) was the most common type based on the gross appearance. Histology revealed that the most common type of cancer was undifferentiated (80%). The TNM classification was as follows: stage I in 8 patients (9%), stage II in 25 (26%), stage III in 30 (33%), and stage IV in 29 (32%). The lymph node metastasis rate in patients with GSC was 38% (35/92).

Seventy patients received surgical treatments, and 58 patients were qualified for radical surgery. The



Figure 1 Time trend of stump carcinoma every 5 years for the primary gastric disease.

resectability rate was 59.8%, and 12 patients underwent palliative resection. Twenty-two patients declined surgery. Among them, 6 patients declined treatment, and 16 patients chose to receive chemotherapy/radiotherapy.

All 92 patients provided complete follow-up data. At the time of the last follow-up, 67 (72.8%) patients had died, and 25 (27.2%) patients were alive. The median survival duration was 29 mo, and the cumulative 1-, 3-, and 5-year overall survival rates were 78.3%, 45.6%, and 27.6%, respectively (Figure 2A). The survival curves also suggested that patients with regular follow-up after primary surgery had a better survival rate (Figure 2B and C). Their 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates were 93.8%, 75.0%, and 66.7%. However, the 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates were 87.5%, 47.7%, and 25.6%, respectively, for patients without regular follow-up after the primary surgery. Figure 2D demonstrates that patients with Borrmann type II cancer had the best survival rate (P = 0.0083). The 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates of the 58 patients who underwent radical resection were 79.3%, 52.2%, and 37.8%, respectively. Among them, 3 (3.3%) patients died during the peri-operative period. The perioperative mortality was similar to that of patients with conventional gastric cancer (2%-3%)^[10]. The 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates of the 12 patients who received palliative resection were 66.7%, 25.0%, and 0%, respectively, and there were significant differences between the three groups (P = 0.0007) (Figure 2E). Table 2 shows the group characteristics according to the tumor stage. The 5-year survival rates for stages I, I, III, and IV were 85.7%, 47.4%, 16.0%, and 13.3%, respectively (P = 0.005).

DISCUSSION

Despite a decline in the overall incidence of gastric cancer^[11], the incidence rate of GSC has increased during recent decades^[3-5]. The incidence of GSC accounts for 1%-2% of all gastric cancers in Japan^[2].

Huang H et al. Prognostic factors for gastric stump cancer



Figure 2 Overall survival proportions. A: Overall survival proportions of 92 patients with gastric stump cancer; B: Overall survival proportions between patients with and without regular follow-up after primary surgery are significantly different. The patients without regular follow-up after primary surgery had significantly porer overall survival; C: Overall survival proportions for patients with different stages; D: Overall survival proportions for patients with different Borrmann type; E: Overall survival proportions in gastric stump cancer according to type of treatments.

This increase indicates that we will face increasing challenges in the future.

To the best of our knowledge, the type of initial gastric disease has significant impact on the latency to GSC. The median interval for patients with benign disease is 30 years, and that for patients with gastric cancer is 12 years^[12]. The incidence of GSC after gastric resection increases over time^[13]. In the present study, the interval for benign disease was significantly longer than that for gastric cancer. Additionally, we observed different interval periods between benign disease and gastric cancer (Figure 1). The median interval time from initial operation to the development of GSC was 16.5 years (range: 1-40 years), which

is consistent with other studies^[9]. Figure 1 indicates that GSC tends to occur within 25 years following the initial benign disease, and during the 15 years post-operation for patients who have gastric cancer.

The clinical symptoms of GSC have no obvious specificity, and GSC usually manifests as upper abdominal pain, loss of appetite, swallowing difficulty, vomiting, weight loss, and anemia. GSC is often diagnosed at an advanced stage due to the lack of early symptoms. It is easily misdiagnosed as an ulcer recurrence or anastomotic inflammation, which can lead to a delayed diagnosis and the loss of the best treatment opportunity. The remnant stomach is viewed as a precancerous lesion. The specific etiology of GSC is currently

Table 2 Comparison of baseline	characteristics according to	tumor stage n (%)		
Variable		I(n = 8)	II (n = 25)	III (n = 30)	IV (<i>n</i> = 29)
Histology	Differentiated	4 (4.3)	6 (6.5)	6 (6.5)	2 (2.2)
	Undifferentiated	4 (4.3)	19 (20.6)	24 (26.1)	27 (29.3)
Tumor Location	Anastomotic	4 (4.3)	17 (18.5)	21 (22.8)	17 (18.5)
	Non-anastomotic	4 (4.3)	8 (8.7)	9 (9.8)	12 (13.0)
Initial gastric disease	Benign disease	4 (4.3)	8 (8.7)	13 (14.1)	13 (14.1)
	Gastric cancer	9 (9.8)	17 (18.5)	17 (18.5)	16 (17.4)

Values in parentheses are percentages.

Table 3 Univariate and multivariate survival analyses in gastric stump cancer patients

Variable	Univariate ¹		Multivariate ²	
	P value	HR	95%CI	P value
Age (yr) (≥ 65 <i>vs</i> < 65)	0.896			
Sex ratio (male vs female)	0.302			
Initial gastric disease (benign vs cancer)	0.443			
Interval time from initial surgery (yr) ($\ge 15 vs < 15$)	0.428			
Reconstruction of first operation (B-I vs B-II)	0.357			
Regular follow-up (yes vs no)	0.004	1.332	0.539-3.287	0.535
Tumor size (mm) ($\geq 40 vs < 40$)	0.040	0.707	0.415-1.206	0.203
Location (anastomotic vs non-anastomotic)	0.857			
Histology(differentiated vs undifferentiated)	0.005	0.470	0.212-1.038	0.062
Borrmann type (I - II vs III-IV)	0.001	3.165	1.055-9.500	0.040
Depth of invasion (T1-T2-T3 vs T4)	0.305			
Lymph node involvement (NO $vs \ge N1$)	0.254			
Presence of distant metastasis (M0 vs M1)	0.004			
Stage (I - II vs III-IV)	0.002	0.603	0.323-1.124	0.111
Type of treatment (curative vs other treatments)	0.001	1.780	1.061-2.987	0.029

¹The Kaplan-Meier method, and significance was determined by the log-rank test; ²Multivariate survival analysis was performed using Cox proportional hazard models.

unclear. According to our data, 16 (17%) patients had no clinical symptoms, and the malignant lesions of the remnant stomach were identified through periodic endoscopies. Most of these patients had early-stage GSC, and their 5-year survival rate was 66.7%. The 5-year survival rate of patients who had clinical symptoms was 19.0%. The survival curves also suggested that patients who were followed had better survival rates (Figure 2B). Regular follow-up can facilitate early detection and early therapy, which improve the survival rate.

Previous studies report the unique clinicopathological characteristics for $GSC^{[2,8,14]}$. Our analysis demonstrated that the histological type was associated with prognosis (Table 3). The prognosis of patients with GSC was ultimately determined by the Borrmann lesion type and radical resection. Tumor location was also an important factor for predicting surgical outcomes^[15-17]. The tumors commonly developed at the site of the gastrojejunal anastomosis. Some scholars thought that the type of reconstruction was associated with $GSC^{[18-20]}$. In our study the Billroth-II reconstruction and anastomotic groups were more likely to develop GSC, although there was no significant difference due to the small number of patients.

Some drugs have been used to treat GSC in Japan^[21].

However, in our study, surgery was still the most effective treatment. Although there were no significant differences in the histopathologic categories and tumor location of GSC compared with primary proximal gastric cancer^[22-24], GSC is the most frequently occurring tumor after the initial surgery and occurs in the remnant stomach due to an abnormal anatomy. Additionally, because surgery for GSC is the second surgery, there is an increased number of adhesions around the residual stomach. Therefore, radical surgery is more difficult than ordinary surgery. There were no severe complications during and after our operations, therefore, radical surgery is feasible. The survival rate in the radical resection group was significantly higher than those in the palliative resection group and the chemotherapy/ radiotherapy group. Our results demonstrated that chemotherapy/radiotherapy has a good short-term curative effect, but the long-term curative effect is still poor. Previous studies have reported higher incidences of postoperative complications in patients with GSC than in patients with primary gastric cancer^[25]. Radical resection is still the best treatment option and may improve the survival outcomes of patients with GSC.

Admittedly, our study had a relatively small sample and was based on a retrospective analysis. However, even after acknowledging these limitations, we can Huang H et al. Prognostic factors for gastric stump cancer

draw some meaningful conclusions regarding GSC.

In conclusion, the findings in the present study led us to draw the following conclusions. Borrmann type I /II and radical resection are independent prognostic factors for patients with GSC. Early detection of GSC is possible. Regular endoscopies and gastric biopsies for subtotal gastrectomy patients have significant impact on postoperative survival. Therefore, it is necessary and feasible to perform repeated endoscopic followups. If GSC is diagnosed, surgery should be performed. Additionally, radical resection may significantly improve the long-term survival of patients.

COMMENTS

Background

Gastric stump as a precancerous condition remains a substantial clinical concern. However, few studies explored the clinicopathological characteristics and prognostic factors for gastric stump cancer (GSC).

Research frontiers

GSC is often described as a tumor with a poor prognosis because of the unique biological features and it is commonly found at an advantage stage. Therefore, it is necessary to explore the clinicopathological characteristics in a great number of clinical cases.

Innovations and breakthroughs

This is the first comprehensive clinical trial about GSC in China. We observed the unique clinicopathological characteristics and prognostic factors for GSC, and the radical resection may significantly improve the long-term survival.

Applications

The results of the present study suggest that regular follow-up by endoscopy and gastric biopsy is necessary for subtotal gastrectomy patients, and the radical resection may significantly improve the long-term survival.

Terminology

The incidence of GSC accounts for 1%-7% of all gastric carcinomas following gastrectomy, and this frequency continues to increase. Gastric stump as a precancerous condition remains a substantial clinical concern. GSC is often described as a tumor with poor prognosis.

Peer-review

The manuscript is a remarkable article regarding GSC, which remains a substantial clinical concern and has its unique clinicopathological characteristics, as the appearance of GSC is earlier in the primary malignant cases than in the primary benign cases. So it is necessary to follow patients closely.

REFERENCES

- Balfour DC. Factors influencing the life expectancy of patients operated on for gastric ulcer. *Ann Surg* 1922; 76: 405-408 [PMID: 17864703]
- 2 Ohashi M, Katai H, Fukagawa T, Gotoda T, Sano T, Sasako M. Cancer of the gastric stump following distal gastrectomy for cancer. *Br J Surg* 2007; 94: 92-95 [PMID: 17054314 DOI: 10.1002/ bjs.5538]
- 3 Ahn HS, Kim JW, Yoo MW, Park do J, Lee HJ, Lee KU, Yang HK. Clinicopathological features and surgical outcomes of patients with remnant gastric cancer after a distal gastrectomy. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2008; 15: 1632-1639 [PMID: 18379851 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-008-9871-8]
- 4 Sinning C, Schaefer N, Standop J, Hirner A, Wolff M. Gastric stump carcinoma - epidemiology and current concepts in pathogenesis and treatment. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2007; 33: 133-139 [PMID: 17071041 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejso.2006.09.006]
- 5 Nozaki I, Nasu J, Kubo Y, Tanada M, Nishimura R, Kurita A. Risk factors for metachronous gastric cancer in the remnant stomach after early cancer surgery. *World J Surg* 2010; 34: 1548-1554 [PMID: 20217411 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-010-0518-0]

- 6 Sasako M, Maruyama K, Kinoshita T, Okabayashi K. Surgical treatment of carcinoma of the gastric stump. *Br J Surg* 1991; 78: 822-824 [PMID: 1873711]
- 7 Newman E, Brennan MF, Hochwald SN, Harrison LE, Karpeh MS. Gastric remnant carcinoma: just another proximal gastric cancer or a unique entity? *Am J Surg* 1997; **173**: 292-297 [PMID: 9136783 DOI: 10.1016/s0002-9610(96)00403-5]
- 8 Tanigawa N, Nomura E, Lee SW, Kaminishi M, Sugiyama M, Aikou T, Kitajima M. Current state of gastric stump carcinoma in Japan: based on the results of a nationwide survey. *World J Surg* 2010; 34: 1540-1547 [PMID: 20182716 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-010-0505-5]
- 9 Park JH, Lee JH, Rhee PL, Kim JJ, Rhee JC, Kim S, Park CK. Endoscopic Screening for Remnant Gastric Cancer: Points to be Considered. *Gut Liver* 2007; 1: 22-26 [PMID: 20485654 DOI: 10.5009/gnl.2007.1.1.22]
- 10 Ikeguchi M, Oka S, Gomyo Y, Tsujitani S, Maeta M, Kaibara N. Postoperative morbidity and mortality after gastrectomy for gastric carcinoma. *Hepatogastroenterology* 2001; 48: 1517-1520 [PMID: 11677999]
- 11 Ferlay J, Shin HR, Bray F, Forman D, Mathers C, Parkin DM. Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBOCAN 2008. *Int J Cancer* 2010; **127**: 2893-2917 [PMID: 21351269 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.25516]
- 12 Komatsu S, Ichikawa D, Okamoto K, Ikoma D, Tsujiura M, Nishimura Y, Murayama Y, Shiozaki A, Ikoma H, Kuriu Y, Nakanishi M, Fujiwara H, Ochiai T, Kokuba Y, Otsuji E. Progression of remnant gastric cancer is associated with duration of follow-up following distal gastrectomy. *World J Gastroenterol* 2012; 18: 2832-2836 [PMID: 22719193 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i22.2832]
- 13 Greene FL. Management of gastric remnant carcinoma based on the results of a 15-year endoscopic screening program. *Ann Surg* 1996; 223: 701-706; discussion 706-708 [PMID: 8645043]
- 14 Hu X, Tian DY, Cao L, Yu Y. Progression and prognosis of gastric stump cancer. *J Surg Oncol* 2009; 100: 472-476 [PMID: 19697396 DOI: 10.1002/jso.21370]
- 15 An JY, Youn HG, Ha TK, Choi MG, Kim KM, Noh JH, Sohn TS, Kim S. Clinical significance of tumor location in remnant gastric cancers developed after partial gastrectomy for primary gastric cancer. J Gastrointest Surg 2008; 12: 689-694 [PMID: 18080844]
- 16 Papachristou DN, Karas M, Fortner JG. Anastomotic recurrence in the oesophagus complicating gastrectomy for adenocarcinoma of the stomach. *Br J Surg* 1979; 66: 609-612 [PMID: 497643 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.1800660904]
- 17 Namikawa T, Kitagawa H, Iwabu J, Okabayashi T, Kobayashi M, Hanazaki K. Tumors arising at previous anastomotic site may have poor prognosis in patients with gastric stump cancer following gastrectomy. *J Gastrointest Surg* 2010; 14: 1923-1930 [PMID: 20717740 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-010-1298-4]
- 18 Sano T, Aiko T. New Japanese classifications and treatment guidelines for gastric cancer: revision concepts and major revised points. *Gastric Cancer* 2011; 14: 97-100 [PMID: 21573921 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-011-0040-6]
- 19 Nomura E, Lee SW, Tokuhara T, Nitta T, Kawai M, Uchiyama K. Functional outcomes according to the size of the gastric remnant and the type of reconstruction following distal gastrectomy for gastric cancer: an investigation including total gastrectomy. *Jpn J Clin Oncol* 2013; **43**: 1195-1202 [PMID: 24065202 DOI: 10.1093/ jjco/hy141]
- 20 Fukuhara K, Osugi H, Takada N, Takemura M, Higashino M, Kinoshita H. Reconstructive procedure after distal gastrectomy for gastric cancer that best prevents duodenogastroesophageal reflux. *World J Surg* 2002; 26: 1452-1457 [PMID: 12370787 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-002-6363-z]
- 21 Kashima Y, Adachi T, Hara N, Sohtome I, Shirasaka T. [A case of successful S-1 alternate-day administration for far-advanced remnant gastric cancer]. *Gan To Kagaku Ryoho* 2012; **39**: 469-472 [PMID: 22421782]
- 22 Schaefer N, Sinning C, Standop J, Overhaus M, Hirner A, Wolff M. Treatment and prognosis of gastric stump carcinoma in comparison

Huang H et al. Prognostic factors for gastric stump cancer

with primary proximal gastric cancer. *Am J Surg* 2007; **194**: 63-67 [PMID: 17560911 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2006.12.037]

- 23 An JY, Choi MG, Noh JH, Sohn TS, Kim S. The outcome of patients with remnant primary gastric cancer compared with those having upper one-third gastric cancer. *Am J Surg* 2007; 194: 143-147 [PMID: 17618792 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2006.10.034]
- 24 **Tokunaga M**, Sano T, Ohyama S, Hiki N, Fukunaga T, Yamada K, Yamaguchi T. Clinicopathological characteristics and survival difference between gastric stump carcinoma and primary upper

third gastric cancer. *J Gastrointest Surg* 2013; **17**: 313-318 [PMID: 23233273 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-012-2114-0]

25 Sano T, Sasako M, Yamamoto S, Nashimoto A, Kurita A, Hiratsuka M, Tsujinaka T, Kinoshita T, Arai K, Yamamura Y, Okajima K. Gastric cancer surgery: morbidity and mortality results from a prospective randomized controlled trial comparing D2 and extended para-aortic lymphadenectomy--Japan Clinical Oncology Group study 9501. J Clin Oncol 2004; 22: 2767-2773 [PMID: 15199090 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2004.10.184]

P- Reviewer: Alshehabi Z, Higgins PJ, Shen LZ S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: Wang TQ E- Editor: Liu XM







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1872 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1872-1879 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

Application of air insufflation to prevent clinical pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy

Hui Yang, Xiao-Fei Lu, Yun-Fei Xu, Hong-Da Liu, Sen Guo, Yi Liu, Yu-Xin Chen

Hui Yang, Xiao-Fei Lu, Yun-Fei Xu, Hong-Da Liu, Sen Guo, Yi Liu, Yu-Xin Chen, Department of Hepatobiliary Surgery, Qilu Hospital, Shandong University, Jinan 250012, Shandong Province, China

Xiao-Fei Lu, Department of General Surgery, Jinan Central Hospital, Shandong University, Jinan 250013, Shandong Province, China

Author contributions: Yang H and Lu XF contributed equally to this article; Chen YX designed research; Chen YX, Yang H, Lu XF, Guo S and Liu Y performed research; Xu YF and Liu HD contributed analytic tools; Yang H and Lu XF analyzed data; and Yang H wrote the paper.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Yu-Xin Chen, Professor, Department of Hepatobiliary Surgery, Qilu Hospital, Shandong University, No. 44 WenhuaXi Road, Jinan 250012, Shandong Province,

China. yxs20081020@gmail.com Telephone: +86-531-82166651 Fax: +86-531-82169243 Received: May 22, 2014 Peer-review started: May 23, 2014 First decision: June 27, 2014 Revised: July 28, 2014 Accepted: September 12, 2014

Article in press: September 16, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To introduce an air insufflation procedure and to investigate the effectiveness of air insufflation in preventing pancreatic fistula (PF).

METHODS: From March 2010 to August 2013, a total

of 185 patients underwent pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD) at our institution, and 74 patients were not involved in this study for various reasons. The clinical outcomes of 111 patients were retrospectively analyzed. The air insufflation test was performed in 46 patients to investigate the efficacy of the pancreaticojejunal anastomosis during surgery, and 65 patients who did not receive the air insufflation test served as controls. Preoperative assessments and intraoperative outcomes were compared between the 2 groups. Univariate and multivariate analyses were performed to identify the risk factors for PF.

RESULTS: The two patient groups had similar baseline demographics, preoperative assessments, operative factors, pancreatic factors and pathological results. The overall mortality, morbidity, and PF rates were 1.8%, 48.6%, and 26.1%, respectively. No significant differences were observed in either morbidity or mortality between the two groups. The rate of clinical PF (grade B and grade C PF) was significantly lower in the air insufflation test group, compared with the nonair insufflation test group (6.5% vs 23.1%, P = 0.02). Univariate analysis identified the following parameters as risk factors related to clinical PF: estimated blood loss; pancreatic duct diameter \leq 3 mm; invagination anastomosis technique; and not undergoing air insufflation test. By further analyzing these variables with multivariate logistic regression, estimated blood loss, pancreatic duct diameter \leq 3 mm and not undergoing air insufflation test were demonstrated to be independent risk factors.

CONCLUSION: Performing an air insufflation test could significantly reduce the occurrence of clinical PF after PD. Not performing an air insufflation test was an independent risk factor for clinical PF.

Key words: Pancreatic fistula; Pancreaticoduodenectomy; Air insufflation test; Surgery; Morbidity



© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: The present study introduces the application of the air insufflation test for the prevention of pancreatic fistula (PF) and investigates its effectiveness. This clinical study confirms that the air insufflation test can significantly reduce the occurrence of clinical PF. In addition, estimated blood loss, pancreatic duct diameter \leq 3 mm and not performing an air insufflation test are independent risk factors for clinical PF.

Yang H, Lu XF, Xu YF, Liu HD, Guo S, Liu Y, Chen YX. Application of air insufflation to prevent clinical pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1872-1879 Available from: URL: http://www. wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1872.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1872

INTRODUCTION

Pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD) is the standard operation for the resection of periampullary diseases. In recent years, the mortality rate has decreased dramatically to less than 5% in high-volume centers due to improved intraoperative management and better postoperative care. Unfortunately, there has not been a similar reduction in the pancreatic fistula (PF) rate, which has remained at approximately 30%^[1-3].

Pancreatic leakage has been the primary factor linked with death in some case studies^[4]. Various risk factors related to PF have been identified, such as a main pancreatic duct diameter of 3 mm or less^[2,5-8], soft pancreatic parenchyma^[7,9-12] and intraoperative blood $loss^{[2,11-13]}$. Other risk factors, such as heart disease^[9,14], age^[6], male sex^[11], cirrhotic liver and body mass index^[7], have also been reported. In addition, to prevent PF, numerous strategies have been applied in previous literatures. Intraoperative techniques, such as modified reconstruction with pancreaticogastrostomy^[15], pancreatic duct ligation^[16], the use of omentum or the falciform ligament^[17,18] and obliteration of the pancreatic duct with glue^[19], have been performed. Postoperative management, including the use of somatostatin analogs, has also been reported. However, none of these strategies has investigated pancreatic leakage during surgery. Furthermore, most of these strategies have been controversial^[20-23] and have not been routinely used in most hospital centers. More effective and confirmative surgical techniques are needed to prevent PF.

The present study introduced the air insufflation test, a simple and effective technique, for the prevention of PF. The detailed process of performing an air insufflation test during surgery and its efficacy in preventing PF are presented.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Protocol

PD was performed in 185 consecutive patients between March 2010 and August 2013 at the Qilu Hospital of Shandong University in China. The exclusion criteria applied to: patients undergoing emergency PD for trauma; patients with ongoing acute pancreatitis at the time of surgery; and operations performed by surgeons without a professional title. A total of 111 patients were enrolled in this study, and these patients were divided into 2 groups according to whether they received the air insufflation test during surgery or not. In total, 46 patients [the air insufflation test (AIT) group] received the air insufflation test during surgery, and 65 patients (controls) did not receive the air insufflation test during surgery.

Preoperative demographics and clinical information of the patients were retrospectively obtained from the patients' medical records (Table 1). Preoperative biliary drainage was the main preoperative invasive treatment. For patients with a total bilirubin level greater than 170 μ mol/L or with poor general health conditions, preoperative biliary drainage was performed.

Surgical techniques and postoperative management

The operations were performed by surgeons with professional titles specializing in hepatopancreatobiliary surgery. Conventional or pylorus-preserving PD was performed according to the decision of the individual surgeon. Segmental resection of the portal vessels or superior mesenteric vessels was performed if a pancreatic head mass was inseparable from the vessels. To reestablish gastrointestinal continuity, a two-layer end to side pancreatic duct to jejunal mucosa anastomosis (duct to mucosa) or a two-layer end to side invagination anastomosis was performed (Figure 1). After pancreaticojejunal anastomosis, an end to side hepaticojejunostomy and an antecolic gastrojejunostomy or duodenojejunostomy were performed, using the same jejunal loop. Depending on the diameter of the pancreatic duct, a Fr 4 to 10 polyvinyl catheter with multiple perforations was inserted into the pancreatic duct.

To investigate the efficacy of the pancreaticojejunal anastomosis, the air insufflation test (Figure 2) was performed in the AIT group. An intestinal clamp was used to close the distal intestinal loop approximately 6 cm from the pancreaticojejunal anastomosis. Then, the anastomosis was submerged in irrigation fluid, and air was injected gently with a 1 or 5 mL syringe through the pancreatic duct stent to determine whether there were bubbles generated in the irrigation fluid. It must be noted that air should be gently injected into the jejunal stump to prevent the pressure in the jejunal lumen from ascending too rapidly. In addition, the pressure in the jejunal

Yang H et al. Air insufflation test and pancreatic fistula

Table 1 Baseline demographics				
	AIT group $(n = 46)$	Non-AIT group $(n = 65)$	<i>P</i> value	
Age (yr)	55.3 ± 11.5	58.1 ± 7.8	0.15	
Gender			0.64	
Male	24	31		
Female	22	34		
Main presenting symptom				
Jaundice	25	35	0.96	
Abdominal pain	10	24	0.09	
Cholangitis	3	8	0.50	
ASA			0.64	
П	41	56		
Ш	5	9		
Preoperative ALT	226.0 ± 204.2	193.6 ± 205.0	0.41	
Preoperative AST	150.2 ± 152.1	138.3 ± 150.7	0.68	
Preoperative bilirubin (μ mol/L)	189.0 ± 171.9	137.11 ± 131.8	0.08	
Preoperative albumin (g/L)	66.2 ± 8.5	65.8 ± 7.8	0.81	
Presence of comorbid illness	23	27	0.38	
Mellitus diabetes	8	4	0.06	
Chronic pulmonary disease	2	4	0.68	
Artery hypertension	9	13	0.96	
Coronaropathy	4	6	1.00	
Preoperative biliary drainage			0.60	
Yes	21	33		
No	25	32		
Smoking	13	14	0.42	

ASA: American Society of Anesthesiologists; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate transaminase; AIT: Air insufflation test.

stump should be sufficiently moderate to generate bubbles but not damage the anastomosis. In clinical practice, we regarded the pressure as moderate when the tension of the jejunal wall was the same as that of normal liver tissue or the oral labia. If bubbles were present during the test, the anastomosis where the bubbles were generated was sutured. Then, the anastomosis was tested again until no bubbles were found. If the leakage could not be resolved, reanastomosis was performed. Prophylactic drains were routinely placed posterior to the pancreaticojejunal anastomosis and the hepaticojejunal anastomosis. Fibrin glue was not used in any of the patients.

Prophylactic antibiotics and somatostatin or octreotide were administered to all of the patients for 72 h postoperatively and during the first postoperative week, respectively. The nasogastric tube was removed when bowel sounds returned. An oral diet was initiated 5 to 7 d after surgery, depending on the patient's condition. The volume and characteristics of the drainage fluid were monitored every day. Amylase levels were measured on postoperative days 1, 3, 5, and 7 and when the characteristics of the drainage fluid changed, or abdominal symptoms occurred. If there was no evidence of PF, the pancreatic duct drainage catheter was locked 10 d after surgery and removed 48 h later if no abnormalities occurred. If a PF occurred, the catheter was placed in situ until the leakage was resolved.



Figure 1 Pancreaticojejunal anastomosis. This picture shows a two-layer end to side pancreatic duct to jejunal mucosa anastomosis. A: Jejunum; B: Pancreas.



Figure 2 Air insufflation test to investigate the pancreaticojejunal anastomosis. An intestinal clamp (A) was used to close the distal intestinal loop approximately 6 cm from the pancreaticojejunal anastomosis (B). Then, the anastomosis was submerged in irrigation fluid, and air was injected gently with a 1 or 5 mL syringe (C) through the pancreatic duct stent to determine whether there were bubbles generated.

Study end points

The primary end point was PF. The secondary end points were mortality and morbidity, including delayed gastric emptying (DGE), intra-abdominal hemorrhage, bile fistula, intra-abdominal infection, intra-abdominal collection, and heart failure.

Mortality and morbidity were defined as death or complications, respectively, occurring within 30 d of surgery. PF was defined as drainage of any measurable volume of fluid on or after postoperative day 3 with an amylase content greater than 3 times the serum amylase activity. The three different grades of PF (grades A-C) were defined according to the clinical impact on the patient's hospital course^[24]. Grade B and grade C PF were regarded as clinical PF. DGE represented the inability to return to a standard



Table 2 Intraoperative data and pathological diagnoses				
	AIT group $(n = 46)$	Non-AIT group $(n = 65)$	<i>P</i> value	
Operative factors				
Combined vascular resection cases	1	2	1.00	
Duration of operation (min)	372.9 ± 106.5	344.7 ± 86.4	0.13	
Estimated blood loss (mL)	347.3 ± 195.7	289.7 ± 159.9	0.09	
Blood transfusion cases	13	20	0.78	
Pancreatic factors				
Pancreatic duct diameter			0.76	
$\leq 3 \text{ mm}$	31	42		
> 3 mm	15	23		
Pancreatic texture			0.58	
Soft	34	51		
Hard	12	14		
Pancreatic anastomosis technique			0.17	
Duct to mucosa anastomosis	20	20		
End to side invagination	26	45		
anastomosis				
Pathological diagnoses			0.66	
Malignant disease	39	57		
Pancreatic carcinoma	11	17	0.79	
Ampullar carcinoma	10	12	0.67	
Cholangiocarcinoma	8	12	0.89	
Duodenal carcinoma	10	16	0.72	
Benign diseases	7	8		

Data are expressed as mean ± SD. AIT: Air insufflation test.

diet by the end of the first postoperative week and included prolonged nasogastric intubation of the patient^[25]. Postoperative hemorrhage was defined in accordance with the International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery guidelines, based on the time of onset (early or late hemorrhage), the location (intraluminal or extraluminal), and the severity (mild or severe)^[26].

Statistical analysis

The statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software, version 19.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States). Continuous data are expressed as mean \pm SD. The comparison of continuous or categorical variables was performed with Student's *t*-test or the χ^2 test (or Fisher's exact test), respectively. Significant variables from the univariate analysis were subjected to multivariate stepwise logistic regression analysis. A *P* value ≤ 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Clinical characteristics

The baseline demographics of the 111 patients included in the present study are shown in Table 1. These results suggested that the two groups were well matched for age, sex, main presenting symptom, American Society of Anesthesiologists physical status score, alanine aminotransferase, aspartate transaminase, preoperative bilirubin, preoperative albumin, presence of comorbid illness, preoperative biliary drainage and smoking status (Table 1).

Table 3 Postoperative o	outcomes		
	AIT group $(n = 46)$	Non-AIT group $(n = 65)$	<i>P</i> value
Hospital mortality	1	1	1.00
Morbidity	20	34	0.36
Pancreatic fistula	9	20	0.19
Grade A	6	5	0.54
Grade B	2	8	0.02
Grade C	1	7	
Delayed gastric emptying	5	7	1.00
Hemorrhage	3	8	0.50
Bile fistula	3	8	0.50
Intraabdominal collection	4	10	0.30
Intraabdominal infection	3	12	0.07
Wound infection	3	8	0.50
Pneumonia	1	3	0.87
Urinary tract infection	1	1	1.00
Deep vein thrombosis	1	0	0.86
Heart failure	0	2	0.63
Myocardial infarction	1	0	0.86
Hospital stay	31.2 ± 11.3	36.0 ± 14.6	0.07

AIT: Air insufflation test.

Intraoperative outcomes

The intraoperative data and pathological diagnoses are listed in Table 2. The two groups were similar in terms of operative factors, pancreatic factors and pathological diagnoses. Most of the operations (96/111, 86.5%) were performed for malignant diseases.

The AIT was successfully performed in all 46 of the patients in the AIT group. Pancreatic leakage was found in 10 patients, and immediate repair or reanastomosis was performed.

Postoperative outcomes

The overall mortality, morbidity, and PF rates of all of the patients were 1.8%, 48.6%, and 26.1%, respectively. No significant differences were found in the mortality rate (AIT group *vs* non-AIT group, 2.2% *vs* 1.5%, P = 1.00) or the overall complication rate (AIT group *vs* non-AIT group, 43.5% *vs* 52.3%, P = 0.36) between the two groups (Table 3).

PF was the most frequent complication after PD. The PF rate (AIT group vs non-AIT group, 19.6% vs 30.8%, P = 0.19) and the prevalence of grade A PF (AIT group vs non-AIT group, 13.0% vs 7.7%, P = 0.54) were comparable between the two groups. However, the incidence of clinical PF was significantly lower in the AIT group, compared with the non-AIT group (AIT group vs non-AIT group, 6.5% vs 23.1%, P = 0.02). In addition, 2 patients (of the 10 who experienced repair or re-anastomosis) suffered from grade A PF. Moreover, the overall PF rate, grade A PF rate and clinical PF rate of the remaining 36 patients in the AIT group who did not receive repair or re-anastomosis were 19.4% (n = 7), 11.1% (n =4) and 8.3% (n = 3), respectively. Interestingly, the statistical analysis revealed that the overall PF rate, grade A PF rate and clinical PF rate of the 36 patients



Yang H et al. Air insufflation test and pancreatic fistula

Table 4Univariate analypancreatic fistula	sis of risk f	actors for cl	inical
	Clinical PF group (n = 18)	Non-clinical PF group $(n = 93)$	<i>P</i> value
Age (vr)	56.6 ± 9.8	56.4 ± 10.3	0.96
Gender			0.58
Male	10	45	
Female	8	48	
ASA			0.55
П	17	80	
Ш	1	13	
ALT (U/L)	263.8 ± 298.9	191.8 ± 179.7	0.17
AST (U/L)	171.6 ± 232.3	135.8 ± 130.2	0.36
Preoperative bilirubin (µmol/L)	185.8 ± 159.8	151.2 ± 149.1	0.38
Preoperative albumin (g/L)	68.1 ± 6.8	65.6 ± 8.2	0.23
Presence of comorbid illness	5	38	0.30
Mellitus diabetes	0	11	0.27
Chronic pulmonary disease	1	5	1.00
Artery hypertension	1	16	0.37
Coronaropathy	3	6	0.33
Preoperative biliary drainage			0.25
Yes	11	43	
No	7	50	
Smoking			0.84
Yes	5	22	
No	13	71	
Operative factors			
Combined vascular resection	1	2	0.42
Duration of operation (min)	392.8 ± 103.3	349.2 ± 93.2	0.08
Estimated blood loss (mL)	428.9 ± 272.6	290.2 ± 144.0	0.05
Blood transfusion cases	7	26	0.35
Pancreatic factors			
Pancreatic duct diameter			0.02
$\leq 3 \text{ mm}$	16	57	
> 3 mm	2	36	
Pancreatic texture			0.66
Soft	15	70	
Hard	3	23	
Pancreatic anastomosis			0.02
Duct to mucosa anastomosis	2	38	
Invagination anastomosis	16	55	
Air insufflation test			0.02
Yes	3	43	
No	15	50	
Pathological diagnoses			0.96
Malignant disease	15	81	
Pancreatic carcinoma	4	20	1.00
Ampullar carcinoma	1	17	0.32
Cholangiocarcinoma	4	15	0.78
Duodenal carcinoma	6	17	0.26
Benign diseases	3	12	

ASA: American Society of Anesthesiologists; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate transaminase; PF: Pancreatic fistula.

were similar to those of the 65 patients in the non-AIT group (P > 0.05), supporting the contribution of the repair or re-anastomosis after the air insufflation test to the significant reduction of clinical PF in the AIT group. No special treatments were performed for the patients with grade A PF. Radiologic or surgical intervention for PF was required for 1 patient in the AIT group and 8 patients in the non-AIT group. Other patients were treated conservatively with enteral or parenteral nutrition, a somatostatin analog and antibiotics. The length of hospital stay was 34.0 ± 14.5 d for all of the patients, and the length of hospital stay for the AIT group was shorter than for the non-AIT group. However, this difference was only a statistical trend (AIT group *vs* non-AIT group, 31.2 ± 11.3 d *vs* 36.0 ± 14.6 d, *P* = 0.07).

Two patients died during this clinical study (AIT group *vs* non-AIT group, 1 *vs* 1, P = 1.00), and they both died due to intra-abdominal infection and hemorrhage related to PF.

Risk factors of postoperative PF

Multiple variables related to clinical PF were statistically analyzed with univariate analysis (Table 4), and four risk factors were identified: estimated blood loss; pancreatic duct diameter \leq 3 mm; invagination anastomosis technique; and not undergoing the air insufflation test.

These variables were further analyzed in multivariate analysis. The estimated blood loss, pancreatic duct diameter \leq 3 mm and not undergoing the air insufflation test were identified as independent risk factors (*P* = 0.02, 0.00 and 0.00; OR = 1.00, 28.73 and 18.00; and 95%CI: 1.00-1.01, 4.39-188.17 and 3.49-92.96, respectively) for clinical PF.

DISCUSSION

Despite the evolution of surgical techniques, the PF rate after PD has remained high. PF is one of the most frequent lethal complications after PD. Palani Velu et al^[27] reported that serum amylase on the night of surgery predicted clinically significant PF after PD. Molinari *et al*^[28] and Hashimoto *et al*^[29] both demonstrated that the amylase levels of PF patients were significantly higher than those of non-PF patients on the first postoperative day. These reports indicated that some PFs might be caused by unsuccessful anastomoses that went undiscovered during surgery, leading to the elevation of amylase levels in the drainage fluid on the first night and first postoperative day. In the present study, we used the air insufflation test to investigate the pancreatojejunal anastomosis expecting to discover the leakage during operation and repair it immediately. The air insufflation test could detect an incomplete anastomosis and was more sensitive than visual examination, with which it was often difficult to find minor leakage because of hemorrhage.

The air insufflation test did not prolong the operation time; rather, it improved the patient outcomes significantly and was simple and effective. However, there were some particularly important points to note during the testing process. We suggest that the air should be gently injected, and the pressure within the jejunum stump should be monitored throughout the entire process. Acute pancreatitis can be caused if too much air is injected, or the air is injected too quickly. When re-anastomosis is needed, a duct to mucosa anastomosis should usually be changed to an invagination anastomosis if the leakage cannot be resolved after twice re-anastomoses. In the present study, anastomotic revision was conducted in 10 patients. Of these patients, one patient experienced three times pancreaticojejunal re-anastomoses, and PF was not observed until the patient was discharged.

In accordance with the ISGPF definition^[24], the PFs in this study were classified as grade A, B or C, based on the clinical impact on the patients' in-hospital outcomes. Grade A is also called "transient fistula," and it has no clinical impact^[24]. Poor patient outcomes have primarily been caused by grade B and grade C PFs. Fuks et al^[12] examined grade C PFs in a multiple center study. They reported a reoperation rate of 97% and a mortality rate of 38.8% for grade C patients. In this study, two patients died postoperatively, and both deaths were caused by grade C PFs. The clinical PF rate (grade B and grade C) was significantly reduced in the AIT group compared with the non-AIT group (AIT group vs non-AIT group, 6.5% vs 23.1%, P = 0.02), and the radiologic or surgical intervention rate was also reduced. However, no significant difference was found (AIT group vs non-AIT group, 2.2% vs 12.3%, P = 0.12).

The current study also identified pancreatic duct diameter less than 3 mm and estimated blood loss as independent risk factors for clinical PF, consistent with previous studies^[5,6,8,30]. Duct to mucosa anastomosis was identified as a risk factor for clinical PF in univariate analysis. Different anastomosis techniques have been reported in previous studies. Pancreatic duct to jejunal mucosa anastomosis has been advocated in many series^[31,32]. Tsuji et al^[33] reported on 300 patients who underwent PD, and the incidence of fistula in the patients who received continuous suture of the pancreatic duct to the jejunal mucosa (4.2%) was significantly less than that of the patients who received interrupted sutures (17.2%) (P < 0.01). Lee et al^[34] revealed that continuous sutures for the outer layer of the pancreaticojejunostomy could significantly reduce the PF rate, compared with interrupted sutures. Interrupted suturing of the duct to the mucosa and to the outer layer of the pancreaticojejunostomy was performed in our study, and the clinical PF rate was also statistically less than with the invagination technique. The pancreatic texture has been reported as a risk factor for PF in many studies^[2,8]. The incidence of soft remnant pancreas in the clinical PF group was higher than in the non-clinical PF group (83.3% vs 75.3%), but the difference was not statistically significant (P > 0.05).

In conclusion, the present study confirmed the efficacy of the air insufflation test in preventing clinical PF. It was simple to conduct and could significantly reduce the incidence of clinical PF. Estimated blood loss, pancreatic duct diameter \leq 3 mm and not un-

dergoing the air insufflation test were identified as independent risk factors for clinical PF in multivariate analysis. This study was retrospective and carried multiple biases. Due to the relatively small number of patients included, additional research is needed to confirm the efficacy of the air insufflation test.

COMMENTS

Background

Pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD) has been the standard operation for the resection of periampullary diseases. Unfortunately, regardless of improved surgical techniques and postoperative care, the pancreatic fistula (PF) rate after PD has remained approximately 30%. Moreover, PF has been a primary factor linked with death after PD in some case studies.

Research frontiers

Different risk factors have been identified to predict PF, and numerous strategies have been reported to prevent PF. However, their efficacy has been controversial, and these strategies have not been routinely used in most medical centers. More effective and confirmative strategies are needed to reduce the incidence of PF.

Innovations and breakthroughs

Although different strategies have been adopted to prevent PF, none of them can identify whether pancreatic leakage occurs during surgery. The air insufflation test detected pancreatic leakage during the surgery, and its efficacy was also confirmed. Additionally, the risk factors related to PF were also identified in this article.

Applications

The air insufflation test could detect pancreatic leakage during PD. In the future, it might be used to identify whether leakage exists in other anastomoses, such as the hepaticojejunal anastomosis.

Terminology

PF is defined as drainage output of any measurable volume of fluid on or after postoperative day 3 with an amylase content greater than 3 times the serum amylase activity.

Peer-review

Interesting study looking at the use of insufflation of the pancreaticojejeunostomy with air to test for leaks to attempt to minimize the risk of PF. This is a useful contribution to the surgical literature.

REFERENCES

- Pratt WB, Maithel SK, Vanounou T, Huang ZS, Callery MP, Vollmer CM. Clinical and economic validation of the International Study Group of Pancreatic Fistula (ISGPF) classification scheme. *Ann Surg* 2007; 245: 443-451 [PMID: 17435552 DOI: 10.1097/01. sla.0000251708.70219.d2]
- 2 Pratt WB, Callery MP, Vollmer CM. Risk prediction for development of pancreatic fistula using the ISGPF classification scheme. *World J Surg* 2008; 32: 419-428 [PMID: 18175170 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-007-9388-5]
- 3 Reid-Lombardo KM, Farnell MB, Crippa S, Barnett M, Maupin G, Bassi C, Traverso LW. Pancreatic anastomotic leakage after pancreaticoduodenectomy in 1,507 patients: a report from the Pancreatic Anastomotic Leak Study Group. *J Gastrointest Surg* 2007; 11: 1451-148; discussion 1459 [PMID: 17710506 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-007-0270-4]
- 4 Gouma DJ, van Geenen RC, van Gulik TM, de Haan RJ, de Wit LT, Busch OR, Obertop H. Rates of complications and death after pancreaticoduodenectomy: risk factors and the impact of hospital volume. *Ann Surg* 2000; 232: 786-795 [PMID: 11088073]
- 5 Muscari F, Suc B, Kirzin S, Hay JM, Fourtanier G, Fingerhut A, Sastre B, Chipponi J, Fagniez PL, Radovanovic A. Risk factors for mortality and intra-abdominal complications after pancreatoduodenectomy: multivariate analysis in 300 patients. Surgery 2006; 139: 591-598 [PMID: 16701090 DOI: 10.1016/

j.surg.2005.08.012]

- 6 Choe YM, Lee KY, Oh CA, Lee JB, Choi SK, Hur YS, Kim SJ, Cho YU, Ahn SI, Hong KC, Shin SH, Kim KR. Risk factors affecting pancreatic fistulas after pancreaticoduodenectomy. World J Gastroenterol 2008; 14: 6970-6974 [PMID: 19058333 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.14.6970]
- 7 El Nakeeb A, Salah T, Sultan A, El Hemaly M, Askr W, Ezzat H, Hamdy E, Atef E, El Hanafy E, El-Geidie A, Abdel Wahab M, Abdallah T. Pancreatic anastomotic leakage after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Risk factors, clinical predictors, and management (single center experience). *World J Surg* 2013; 37: 1405-1418 [PMID: 23494109 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-013-1998-5]
- 8 Yang YM, Tian XD, Zhuang Y, Wang WM, Wan YL, Huang YT. Risk factors of pancreatic leakage after pancreaticoduodenectomy. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005; 11: 2456-2461 [PMID: 15832417]
- 9 Lin JW, Cameron JL, Yeo CJ, Riall TS, Lillemoe KD. Risk factors and outcomes in postpancreaticoduodenectomy pancreaticocutaneous fistula. *J Gastrointest Surg* 2004; 8: 951-959 [PMID: 15585382 DOI: 10.1016/j.gassur.2004.09.044]
- 10 Okabayashi T, Kobayashi M, Nishimori I, Sugimoto T, Onishi S, Hanazaki K. Risk factors, predictors and prevention of pancreatic fistula formation after pancreatoduodenectomy. *J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg* 2007; 14: 557-563 [PMID: 18040620 DOI: 10.1007/ s00534-007-1242-5]
- 11 Kawai M, Kondo S, Yamaue H, Wada K, Sano K, Motoi F, Unno M, Satoi S, Kwon AH, Hatori T, Yamamoto M, Matsumoto J, Murakami Y, Doi R, Ito M, Miyakawa S, Shinchi H, Natsugoe S, Nakagawara H, Ohta T, Takada T. Predictive risk factors for clinically relevant pancreatic fistula analyzed in 1,239 patients with pancreaticoduodenectomy: multicenter data collection as a project study of pancreatic surgery by the Japanese Society of Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic Surgery. *J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci* 2011; 18: 601-608 [PMID: 21491103 DOI: 10.1007/s00534-011-0373-x]
- 12 Fuks D, Piessen G, Huet E, Tavernier M, Zerbib P, Michot F, Scotte M, Triboulet JP, Mariette C, Chiche L, Salame E, Segol P, Pruvot FR, Mauvais F, Roman H, Verhaeghe P, Regimbeau JM. Life-threatening postoperative pancreatic fistula (grade C) after pancreaticoduodenectomy: incidence, prognosis, and risk factors. *Am J Surg* 2009; **197**: 702-709 [PMID: 18778804 DOI: 10.1016/ j.amjsurg.2008.03.004]
- 13 Callery MP, Pratt WB, Kent TS, Chaikof EL, Vollmer CM. A prospectively validated clinical risk score accurately predicts pancreatic fistula after pancreatoduodenectomy. *J Am Coll Surg* 2013; 216: 1-14 [PMID: 23122535 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.20 12.09.002]
- 14 Lermite E, Pessaux P, Brehant O, Teyssedou C, Pelletier I, Etienne S, Arnaud JP. Risk factors of pancreatic fistula and delayed gastric emptying after pancreaticoduodenectomy with pancreaticogastrostomy. J Am Coll Surg 2007; 204: 588-596 [PMID: 17382217 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2007.01.018]
- 15 Wellner U, Makowiec F, Fischer E, Hopt UT, Keck T. Reduced postoperative pancreatic fistula rate after pancreatogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy. *J Gastrointest Surg* 2009; 13: 745-751 [PMID: 19083070 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-008-0763-9]
- 16 Marczell AP, Stierer M. Partial pancreaticoduodenectomy (Whipple procedure) for pancreatic malignancy: occlusion of a non-anastomosed pancreatic stump with fibrin sealant. *HPB Surg* 1992; 5: 251-29; discussion 259-60 [PMID: 1356420]
- Iannitti DA, Coburn NG, Somberg J, Ryder BA, Monchik J, Cioffi WG. Use of the round ligament of the liver to decrease pancreatic fistulas: a novel technique. *J Am Coll Surg* 2006; 203: 857-864 [PMID: 17116554 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2006.08.021]
- 18 Choi SB, Lee JS, Kim WB, Song TJ, Suh SO, Choi SY. Efficacy of the omental roll-up technique in pancreaticojejunostomy as a strategy to prevent pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy. *Arch Surg* 2012; 147: 145-150 [PMID: 22351908 DOI: 10.1001/archsurg.2011.865]
- 19 Gebhardt C, Stolte M, Schwille PO, Zirngibl H, Engelhardt W. Experimental studies on pancreatic duct occlusion with prolamine. *Horm Metab Res Suppl* 1983; (13): 9-11 [PMID: 6345328]

- 20 Duffas JP, Suc B, Msika S, Fourtanier G, Muscari F, Hay JM, Fingerhut A, Millat B, Radovanowic A, Fagniez PL. A controlled randomized multicenter trial of pancreatogastrostomy or pancreatojejunostomy after pancreatoduodenectomy. *Am J Surg* 2005; **189**: 720-729 [PMID: 15910726 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2005.03.015]
- 21 Tani M, Kawai M, Hirono S, Hatori T, Imaizumi T, Nakao A, Egawa S, Asano T, Nagakawa T, Yamaue H. Use of omentum or falciform ligament does not decrease complications after pancreaticoduodenectomy: nationwide survey of the Japanese Society of Pancreatic Surgery. *Surgery* 2012; **151**: 183-191 [PMID: 21982073 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2011.07.023]
- Schulick RD, Yoshimura K. Stents, glue, etc.: is anything proven to help prevent pancreatic leaks/fistulae? *J Gastrointest Surg* 2009; 13: 1184-1186 [PMID: 19399562 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-009-0866-y]
- 23 Lowy AM, Lee JE, Pisters PW, Davidson BS, Fenoglio CJ, Stanford P, Jinnah R, Evans DB. Prospective, randomized trial of octreotide to prevent pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy for malignant disease. *Ann Surg* 1997; 226: 632-641 [PMID: 9389397]
- 24 Bassi C, Dervenis C, Butturini G, Fingerhut A, Yeo C, Izbicki J, Neoptolemos J, Sarr M, Traverso W, Buchler M. Postoperative pancreatic fistula: an international study group (ISGPF) definition. *Surgery* 2005; 138: 8-13 [PMID: 16003309 DOI: 10.1016/ j.surg.2005.05.001]
- 25 Wente MN, Bassi C, Dervenis C, Fingerhut A, Gouma DJ, Izbicki JR, Neoptolemos JP, Padbury RT, Sarr MG, Traverso LW, Yeo CJ, Büchler MW. Delayed gastric emptying (DGE) after pancreatic surgery: a suggested definition by the International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS). *Surgery* 2007; **142**: 761-768 [PMID: 17981197 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2007.05.005]
- 26 Wente MN, Veit JA, Bassi C, Dervenis C, Fingerhut A, Gouma DJ, Izbicki JR, Neoptolemos JP, Padbury RT, Sarr MG, Yeo CJ, Büchler MW. Postpancreatectomy hemorrhage (PPH): an International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS) definition. *Surgery* 2007; 142: 20-25 [PMID: 17629996 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2007.02.001]
- 27 Palani Velu LK, Chandrabalan VV, Jabbar S, McMillan DC, McKay CJ, Carter CR, Jamieson NB, Dickson EJ. Serum amylase on the night of surgery predicts clinically significant pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy. *HPB* (Oxford) 2014; 16: 610-619 [PMID: 24246024 DOI: 10.1111/hpb.12184]
- 28 Molinari E, Bassi C, Salvia R, Butturini G, Crippa S, Talamini G, Falconi M, Pederzoli P. Amylase value in drains after pancreatic resection as predictive factor of postoperative pancreatic fistula: results of a prospective study in 137 patients. *Ann Surg* 2007; 246: 281-287 [PMID: 17667507 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3180caa42f]
- 29 Hashimoto N, Ohyanagi H. Pancreatic juice output and amylase level in the drainage fluid after pancreatoduodenectomy in relation to leakage. *Hepatogastroenterology* 2002; 49: 553-555 [PMID: 11995494]
- 30 Poon RT, Fan ST, Lo CM, Ng KK, Yuen WK, Yeung C, Wong J. External drainage of pancreatic duct with a stent to reduce leakage rate of pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a prospective randomized trial. *Ann Surg* 2007; 246: 425-33; discussion 433-5 [PMID: 17717446 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181492c28]
- 31 Prenzel KL, Hölscher AH, Grabolle I, Fetzner U, Kleinert R, Gutschow CA, Stippel DL. Impact of duct-to-mucosa pancreaticojejunostomy with external drainage of the pancreatic duct after pancreaticoduodenectomy. *J Surg Res* 2011; **171**: 558-562 [PMID: 20851415 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2010.06.046]
- 32 Fragulidis GP, Arkadopoulos N, Vassiliou I, Marinis A, Theodosopoulos T, Stafyla V, Kyriazi M, Karapanos K, Dafnios N, Polydorou A, Voros D, Smyrniotis V. Pancreatic leakage after pancreaticoduodenectomy: the impact of the isolated jejunal loop length and anastomotic technique of the pancreatic stump. *Pancreas* 2009; 38: e177-e182 [PMID: 19730152 DOI: 10.1097/ MPA.0b013e3181b57705]
- 33 **Tsuji M**, Kimura H, Konishi K, Yabushita K, Maeda K, Kuroda Y. Management of continuous anastomosis of pancreatic duct and

Yang H et al. Air insufflation test and pancreatic fistula

jejunal mucosa after pancreaticoduodenectomy: historical study of 300 patients. *Surgery* 1998; **123**: 617-621 [PMID: 9626311]

34 Lee SE, Yang SH, Jang JY, Kim SW. Pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a comparison between the two pancrea-

ticojejunostomy methods for approximating the pancreatic parenchyma to the jejunal seromuscular layer: interrupted vs continuous stitches. *World J Gastroenterol* 2007; **13**: 5351-5356 [PMID: 17879405]

P- Reviewer: El Nakeeb A, Merrett ND S- Editor: Gou SX L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1880 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1880-1886 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Clinical Trials Study

Effects of oral tacrolimus as a rapid induction therapy in ulcerative colitis

Ken Kawakami, Takuya Inoue, Mitsuyuki Murano, Ken Narabayashi, Sadaharu Nouda, Kumi Ishida, Yosuke Abe, Koji Nogami, Nobuyuki Hida, Hirokazu Yamagami, Kenji Watanabe, Eiji Umegaki, Shiro Nakamura, Tetsuo Arakawa, Kazuhide Higuchi

Ken Kawakami, Takuya Inoue, Mitsuyuki Murano, Ken Narabayashi, Sadaharu Nouda, Kumi Ishida, Yosuke Abe, Eiji Umegaki, Kazuhide Higuchi, Second Department of Internal Medicine, Osaka Medical College, Osaka 569-8686, Japan

Koji Nogami, Nobuyuki Hida, Shiro Nakamura, Division of Lower Gastroenterology, Department of Internal Medicine, Hyogo College of Medicine, Hyogo Prefecture 663-8131, Japan Hirokazu Yamagami, Kenji Watanabe, Tetsuo Arakawa, Department of Gastroenterology, Osaka City University Graduate School of Medicine, Osaka 569-8686, Japan

Author contributions: Kawakami K and Inoue T performed data compilation, analysis, statistical analysis and manuscript preparation; Murono M, Narabayashi K, Nouda S, Ishida K, Abe Y, Nogami K, Hida N, Yamagami H and Watanabe K have performed the tacrolimus treatment; Umegaki E assisted in the analysis and interpretation of data; Higuchi K, Nakamura S and Arakawa T revised this manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Ken Kawakami, MD, Second Department of Internal Medicine, Osaka Medical College, 2-7 Daigakumachi, Takatsuki city, Osaka 569-8686,

Japan. in2090@poh.osaka-med.ac.jp Telephone: +81-72-6831221 Fax: +81-72-6846532 Received: June 16, 2014 Peer-review started: June 17, 2014 First decision: July 21, 2014 Revised: August 13, 2014 Accepted: September 18, 2014 Article in press: September 19, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To determine the efficacy and safety of rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus without a meal in steroid-refractory ulcerative colitis (UC) patients.

METHODS: This was a prospective, multicenter, observational study. Between May 2010 and August 2012, 49 steroid-refractory UC patients (55 flare-ups) were consecutively enrolled. All patients were treated with oral tacrolimus without a meal at an initial dose of 0.1 mg/kg per day. The dose was adjusted to maintain trough whole-blood levels of 10-15 ng/mL for the first 2 wk. Induction of remission at 2 and 4 wk after tacrolimus treatment initiation was evaluated using Lichtiger's clinical activity index (CAI).

RESULTS: The mean CAI was 12.6 \pm 3.6 at onset. Within the first 7 d, 93.5% of patients maintained high trough levels (10-15 ng/mL). The CAI significantly decreased beginning 2 d after treatment initiation. At 2 wk, 73.1% of patients experienced clinical responses. After tacrolimus initiation, 31.4% and 75.6% of patients achieved clinical remission at 2 and 4 wk, respectively. Treatment was well tolerated.

CONCLUSION: Rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus shortened the time to achievement of appropriate trough levels and demonstrated a high remission rate 28 d after treatment initiation. Rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus appears to be a useful therapy for the treatment of refractory UC.

Key words: Ulcerative colitis; Tacrolimus; Rapid induction therapy; Steroid-refractory ulcerative colitis; Inflammatory bowel disease

© The Author(s) 2015. Published by Baishideng Publishing



Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: A prospective, multicenter, observation study was conducted to determine the efficacy and safety of rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus without meal in patients with steroid-refractory ulcerative colitis. Rapid induction therapy could achieve the appropriate trough level (10-15 ng/mL) within the first 7 d and revealed a high remission rate 28 d after the initiation of the treatment. Treatment was well tolerated. Rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus appears to be a useful therapy for the treatment of refractory ulcerative colitis.

Kawakami K, Inoue T, Murano M, Narabayashi K, Nouda S, Ishida K, Abe Y, Nogami K, Hida N, Yamagami H, Watanabe K, Umegaki E, Nakamura S, Arakawa T, Higuchi K. Effects of oral tacrolimus as a rapid induction therapy in ulcerative colitis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1880-1886 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1880.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1880

INTRODUCTION

Ulcerative colitis (UC) is an idiopathic inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) characterized by a chronic relapsing/intermittent clinical course. Aminosalicylates are typically used as first-line treatment for patients with UC, while steroids are usually considered to be second-line treatment and are used to induce remission when remission cannot be achieved with aminosalicylates^[1]. Because steroids have a rapid onset of action and are highly effective, they are reserved for disease that fails to respond to primary therapy in patients with severe UC. However, these agents are associated with considerable systemic adverse effects^[2]. Nevertheless, approximately 20% of patients with UC have chronically active disease that requires several courses of steroids^[3]. As a result, many steroid-dependent/-resistant patients experience severe complications of steroid treatment before stable remission can be achieved^[3,4].

Calcineurin inhibitors, such as cyclosporine A (CsA) and tacrolimus, inhibit the production of interleukin-2 (IL-2) and activation of T lymphocytes^[5]. Since these agents have a rapid onset of action and are highly effective in patients with refractory UC, they are approved as an alternative treatment option for refractory UC under the national health insurance system in Japan^[6]. Previous reports have demonstrated the dose-dependent efficacy and safety of oral tacrolimus for remission-induction therapy in refractory UC^[7,8]. With respect to efficacy, the optimal target tacrolimus blood concentration appears to be 10-15 ng/mL^[7,8]. However, since oral tacrolimus has a slower onset of action compared to intravenous CsA^[6], we have occasionally had severe UC patients who did not demonstrate improve-

Kawakami K et al. Rapid induction with tacrolimus in UC

ment prior to achieving the appropriate trough level with oral tacrolimus using standard dosing (initial dose of 0.025 mg/kg twice daily). Even when the starting dose of tacrolimus is set to 0.1 mg/kg per day, it still takes more than 7 d to achieve the target tacrolimus blood concentration, because food intake is known to reduce serum levels of tacrolimus due to its low absorption rate^[6,7]. Therefore, rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus, starting at 0.1 mg/kg per day without meals, should be recommended as a salvage therapy for patients with steroid-dependent/resistant UC. Meanwhile, higher tacrolimus starting doses have been reported to be associated with nephrotoxicity and to have no apparent therapeutic advantage over lower doses, suggesting that lower doses should be used to avoid adverse events^[8]. However, thus far, no prospective studies designed to evaluate the efficacy and safety of rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus have been conducted. Therefore, we have conducted such a prospective, multicenter study, and report herein the efficacy and safety of rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus in steroid-refractory UC patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design and patients

This was a prospective, multicenter, observational study involving three Japanese academic centers: Hyogo College of Medicine, Osaka City Graduate School of Medicine, and Osaka Medical College. Patients admitted to hospitals for the treatment of steroid-resistant or steroid-dependent moderate/severe UC were eligible. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) > 16 years of age at admission and capable of providing written informed consent; (2) diagnosis established according to standardized criteria with prior clinical assessments, radiology, endoscopy, and histology^[9]; (3) steroid-resistant or steroiddependent UC; and (4) active colitis as assessed by a Mayo score of 8-12^[10]. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) under 16 years of age or unable to give informed consent; (2) prior abdominal surgery; (3) pregnant, at risk of pregnancy, or breast feeding; and (4) presence of active extra-intestinal infection, liver or kidney failure, or suspicious for diabetes. All patients were hospitalized and had left-sided UC (except for ulcerative proctitis) or extensive UC. The extent of colonic involvement was determined by total colonoscopy.

Patients were classified as having steroid-resistant or steroid-dependent disease in accordance with the definitions previously published by Ogata *et al*^[7] Steroid resistance was defined as a lack of response to oral or intravenous steroid therapy (daily prednisolone dose > 30 mg) over at least 2 wk, and steroid dependence was defined as recurrent flareup on steroid reduction or withdrawal, or chronic active UC for > 6 mo or frequent recurrence (more



Kawakami K et al. Rapid induction with tacrolimus in UC

Table 1Dose adjustment of rapid induction of oraltacrolimus					
Trough concentration	< Day 4	Trough concentration	Days 4-14		
> 40 ng/mL	0 mg/d	>40 ng/mL	0 mg/d		
25-40 ng/mL	-33%	30-40 ng/mL	-50%		
		20-30 ng/mL	-25%		
10-25 ng/mL	0%	10-20 ng/mL	0%		
< 10 ng/mL	33%	< 10 ng/mL	25%		

than once a year, or three times or more every two years, regardless of intensive medical therapy)^[7,11]. Patients were permitted to continue taking drugs containing 5-aminosalicylic acid during this study. Patients who were already taking steroids and/or immunosuppressant agents (azathioprine or 6-mercaptopurine) were also permitted to continue receiving these medications. However, the dosages of these agents were not allowed to be increased once the patients entered into this study. In addition, cytapheresis was prohibited during the study period.

This study was reviewed and approved by the ethical committee of each academic center. All patients were informed of the potential risks and benefits of tacrolimus therapy and provided signed informed consent forms before undergoing any procedures.

Administration and dose adjustment

All patients were hospitalized at the time of initiation of tacrolimus therapy and given oral tacrolimus without a meal at an initial dose of 0.1 mg/kg per day, given in twice-daily divided doses. Blood was collected to determine the tacrolimus whole-blood trough concentrations at 24 h and at 2, 3, 4, and 7 d and every 7 d thereafter after the initial dose. The dose was adapted to maintain trough wholeblood levels of 10-15 ng/mL for the first 2 wk. The doses were adjusted using the equations shown in Table 1. After a high trough concentration (10-15 ng/ mL) was achieved, patients could resume receiving meals. Beginning at 2 wk after the initiation of tacrolimus therapy, tacrolimus whole-blood trough concentrations were gradually maintained at a lower level of 5-10 ng/mL.

Symptom assessment and study endpoints

The primary endpoint of this study was the proportion of patients with improvement, [defined as a clinical response or clinical remission, based on Lichtiger's clinical activity index (Lichtiger score)]. The secondary endpoint was safety. Patients were hospitalized until their clinical conditions had stabilized and their tacrolimus levels were within the therapeutic range. Lichtiger scores were obtained at 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 10, 14, 21, and 28 d after the initiation of tacrolimus treatment. Response was defined as a Lichtiger score < 10 and a decrease \geq 3 (in the case of patients with a Lichtiger score less than 10 on admission, response

Table 2 Clinical details of patier	ıts
Patients, n	49
Attacks, n	55
Sex, M/F	25/24
Age (mean ± SD)	43.8 ± 16.0
Extent of disease	5/44
(left sided UC/extensive UC), n	
CAI (mean ± SD)	12.6 ± 3.9
Steroid resistant/dependent, n	38 cases, 42 flare-ups
	/13 cases, 13 flare-ups

UC: Ulcerative colitis; CAI: Clinical activity index.

was defined as a Lichtiger score decrease > 3), and clinical remission was defined as a Lichtiger score $\leq 4^{[12,13]}$. Response rate and remission rate were defined as the proportion (%) of patients achieving response or remission, respectively^[14]. Trough whole-blood levels and biochemical values, including serum creatinine and fasting blood glucose levels, were also measured.

Statistical analysis

Continuous data ware statistically analyzed using Student's *t*-test. The Wilcoxon test was used to analyze clinical scores (*i.e.*, Lichtiger scores). Results are expressed as the mean \pm SD. *P*-values < 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant. All calculations were made using the Statview system (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, United States).

RESULTS

Patient characteristics

This study was performed between May 2010 and August 2012. A total of 49 patients (55 flare-ups) with steroid-resistant or steroid-dependent UC in three Japanese academic centers were enrolled. Baseline patient characteristics are shown in Table 2. According to the Montreal classification^[15], 44 patients (89.8%) were afflicted with extensive UC, and 5 patients (10.2%) were afflicted with left-sided UC. The mean clinical activity index (CAI) was 12.6 ± 3.6 at onset, and all enrolled patients had a Lichtiger score \geq 6. Of 49 patients, 4 patients were enrolled into this study twice, and 1 patient was enrolled three times, due to relapse. Two patients had steroid-resistant disease at first admission and steroid-dependent disease at second admission. Therefore, of the 49 patients, 38 patients (42 attacks) had steroid resistance and 13 patients (13 attacks) had steroid dependence; 2/49 patients were included in both groups because they had two different types of flare-ups.

Administration and dose adjustment

Daily oral tacrolimus dosing was started at 6.47 \pm 1.18 mg (0.12 \pm 0.03 mg/kg) and significantly increased 1 d after initiation of treatment. From day





Figure 1 Daily dosage of oral tacrolimus. ${}^{a}P < 0.05 vs day 0$.



Figure 2 Mean trough whole-blood levels.

2 to day 7, relatively stable tacrolimus doses were required to maintain trough whole-blood levels of 10-15 ng/mL (8.09 ± 3.47 to 8.31 ± 2.64 mg/d and 0.15 ± 0.04 to 0.16 ± 0.05 mg/kg per day) (Figure 1). Mean trough whole-blood levels reached a maximum on day 2 (12.89 ± 7.35 ng/mL) and 93.5% of patients were able to maintain high trough levels (> 10 ng/mL) within the first 7 d of treatment (Figure 2). Mean trough whole-blood levels gradually decreased to 8.85 ± 3.27 ng/mL at day 28.

Clinical response

The mean Lichtiger score at the time of treatment initiation was 12.6 ± 3.6 . The Lichtiger score decreased significantly beginning 2 d after the initiation of tacrolimus treatment (Figure 3). Two weeks after initiation of therapy, rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus resulted in a clinical response in 73.1% of patients and a clinical remission in 31.4% of patients. Four weeks after initiation of therapy, clinical response and remission were observed in 89.6% and 75.6% of patients, respectively (Figure 4). Within 28 d of tacrolimus treatment, colectomy was required in



Figure 3 Evolution of Lichtiger scores following treatment with oral tacrolimus. ${}^{\circ}P < 0.05 \text{ vs day } 0$, ${}^{\circ}P < 0.01 \text{ vs day } 0$.



Figure 4 Clinical responses following treatment with oral tacrolimus.

3 patients due to their disease becoming refractory to tacrolimus. No significant differences in Lichtiger score, trough levels, clinical response, or clinical remission were observed between patients with steroid-resistant and steroid-dependent UC.

Adverse effects

The mean serum creatinine level did not significantly change during tacrolimus treatment. Although 48.6% (18/37) of the patients had at least one elevated glucose (> 120 mg/dL) measured while on tacrolimus treatment, mean fasting blood glucose level was significantly lower at day 21 compared with that on day 0 (86.0 ± 21.4 mg/dL and 107.3 ± 22.9 mg/dL, respectively; P = 0.012) (Figure 5). Other documented clinical reactions and laboratory abnormalities thought to be related to tacrolimus included tremors (35.7%, 15/42), headache (9.5%, 4/42), nausea (7.1%, 3/42), and hypomagnesemia (74.1%, 20/27, 1.56 ± 0.26 mg/dL) (Table 3). Overall, treatment was well tolerated, with no patient requiring treatment disruption or termination due to



Figure 5 Blood glucose level following treatment with oral tacrolimus. $^{\circ}P$ < 0.05 vs day 0.

adverse effects.

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first prospective multicenter study that has evaluated the effect of rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus in patients with refractory UC. The present results have shown that rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus was well tolerated and yielded a high clinical response rate within 2 wk and a high clinical remission rate within 4 wk after initiation of treatment. These results suggest that rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus should be an option for patients with refractory UC.

Tacrolimus is a macrolide immunosuppressant that is structurally similar to rapamycin and has been found to have potent immunosuppressive properties that are 10- to 100-fold more potent in inhibiting lymphocyte activation than CsA^[16-18]. Since less variability in absorption and serum levels is observed among patients treated with tacrolimus compared to those who receive oral CsA, tacrolimus has been suggested to be more easily and safely administered to patients with refractory UC than CsA. Ogata et al^[7] conducted the first randomized controlled trial that demonstrated the efficacy of oral tacrolimus in refractory UC patients. A total of 68.4% of patients in the high trough concentration (10-15 ng/mL) group improved within 2 wk after administration of tacrolimus, whereas only 38.1% of patients in the low trough concentration group experienced disease improvement. Thus far, several uncontrolled^[15-17,19-21] and two placebo-controlled studies^[7,8] have demonstrated that tacrolimus can induce remission in both adults and children, and these reports suggested that tacrolimus had a trough concentration-dependent effect, with the optimal target range appearing to be 10-15 ng/mL with a relatively short period of efficacy. Regarding long-term efficacy in patients with refractory

Table 3 Adverse responses n (%)					
Adverse responses	Value				
Hypomagnesemia (< 1.7 mg/dL)	20 (74.1)				
Elevated blood glucose (> 120 mg/dL)	18 (48.6)				
Tremor	15 (35.7)				
Headache	4 (9.5)				
Nausea	3 (7.1)				
Elevated serum creatinine (> 1.2 mg/dL)	2 (5.4)				

UC, Yamamoto *et al*^[13] investigated the efficacy</sup>of tacrolimus as maintenance therapy for patients with refractory UC and reported that the cumulative colectomy-free survival rate was 62% at 65 mo. The colectomy-free survival rate was significantly higher in patients who responded to tacrolimus within 30 d than in those who did not. We previously examined the short-term efficacy of tacrolimus in refractory UC and found that the clinical response rate at 4 wk after initiation of tacrolimus treatment correlated with the mean trough level at 8-21 d after treatment initiation^[22]. The primitive trough raised within 5 d after administration is considered to be important for obtaining the appropriate trough level at 8 d after tacrolimus administration. Since oral tacrolimus has a slower onset of action compared to intravenous CsA, and food intake is known to reduce tacrolimus serum trough levels due to its low absorption rate, oral tacrolimus takes more than 7 d to reach high trough levels. Therefore, we have occasionally had severe UC patients who did not demonstrate improvement prior to achieving the appropriate trough level with oral tacrolimus using standard dosing. Indeed, Schmidt et al^[23] also evaluated the short-term efficacy of oral tacrolimus in moderate to severe steroid-refractory UC using a starting dose of 0.1 mg/kg per day, and reported that clinical remission was achieved in 52.3% of patients, and 14% of patients required colectomy. In the present study, a high clinical response rate was observed at 2 wk after initiation of treatment (73.1%, 38/52) and a high clinical remission rate was achieved at 4 wk (75.6%, 34/45). Although we cannot directly compare the results of Schmidt et al[23] with those of the present study due to differences in patient baseline characteristics, rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus in the present study appears to yield high remission rates in patients with steroidrefractory UC. Strict dose adjustment of tacrolimus in the early treatment phase has been suggested to provide excellent clinical outcomes and to avoid the need for surgery for refractory UC, because the efficacy of tacrolimus depends on trough blood levels^[24]; therefore, we suggest that whole-blood tacrolimus levels should be measured in all patients, and early dose increases should be made as part of rapid induction therapy. In the present study, 0.15-0.16 mg/kg per day of oral tacrolimus was needed to achieve appropriate trough levels; the mean trough

level reached high on day 2; and 93.5% of patients could maintain high trough levels within the first 7 d of treatment. Thus far, no studies have evaluated the efficacy of, or dose adjustment for rapid induction therapy with high-dose oral tacrolimus without meals.

Similar to CsA, tacrolimus is known to be associated with many adverse effects, such as infections, renal dysfunction, hypertension, and neurological toxicity. However, these effects are generally mild and reversible. In this study, mean serum creatinine was not significantly elevated during 4 wk of treatment. Interestingly, the mean fasting blood glucose level was significantly lower 21 d after the initiation of treatment as the CAI improved. With regard to other adverse effects, many patients developed hypomagnesemia (74.1%, 1.56 ± 0.26 mg/dL), at a frequency similar to that reported in previous studies (33.3%-87.5%)^[7,16]. Although 48.6% (18/37) of the patients had at least one elevated glucose measured during this study, the mean fasting blood glucose level was significantly lower at day 21 compared with that on day 0. Benson also reported that 62.5% of patients had elevated glucose and most of them were on corticosteroid therapy at that time^[16]. We therefore consider that it was likely that the hyperglycemia observed was not related to tacrolimus treatment. Tremor appeared to be increased (35.7%) compared with that reported previously $(9.4\%-19.0\%)^{[7,8,16,25]}$. However, no significant clinical symptoms were observed during treatment, and no patient discontinued oral tacrolimus therapy due to adverse effects. Thus, we consider that rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus will play a major role in safely inducing remission in patients with refractory UC.

Regarding starting dose of oral tacrolimus and dose adjustment, 29.1%-36.4% of patients needed to do dose adjustment from day 1 to day 4 (data was not shown) and finally daily treatment of oral tacrolimus at dose of 0.15-0.16 mg/kg was needed to achieve appropriate trough levels. Therefore, we consider that oral tacrolimus at an initial dose more than 0.1 mg/kg per day may decrease the number of times of dose adjustment and be more suitable for the patients with refractory UC.

The uncontrolled study design was a limitation of this study. To clarify the efficacy of rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus, further study in which patients are randomized to either rapid induction or standard induction is necessary. Nonetheless, this is the first study to confirm that rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus is a safe and highly effective treatment for patients with refractory UC. Although any long-term effects of this treatment method remain unclear, the rapid induction therapy administered in this study may be useful for the treatment of patients with refractory UC. Further studies are needed to evaluate the long-term outcomes of rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus in patients with UC.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Dr. Takayuki Matsumoto (Division of Lower Gastroenterology, Department of Internal Medicine, Hyogo College of Medicine, Hyogo, Japan) for his helpful advice.

COMMENTS

Background

Tacrolimus has a rapid onset of action and is highly effective in refractory ulcerative colitis (UC) patients. However, the authors have occasionally have had severe UC patients who did not demonstrate improvement prior to achieving the appropriate trough level with oral tacrolimus using standard dosing (0.025 mg/kg twice daily).

Research frontiers

Because food intake is known to reduce serum levels of tacrolimus due to its low absorption rate, rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus, starting at 0.1 mg/kg per day without meals should be recommended as a salvage therapy for patients with refractory UC. However, the efficacy and safety of rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus has been unknown.

Innovations and breakthroughs

This is the first prospective multicenter study that has evaluated the effect of rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus in patients with refractory UC. The present results have shown that rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus was well tolerated and yielded a high clinical response/remission rate.

Applications

Although any long-term effects of this treatment method remain unclear, the rapid induction therapy administered in this study may be useful for the treatment of patients with refractory UC. The results of this study may help physicians decide how to use oral tacrolimus for the patients with refractory UC. **Peer-review**

This is an interesting prospective, multicenter study assessing the efficacy and safety of rapid induction therapy with oral tacrolimus in refractory UC patients.

REFERENCES

- Hanauer SB. Review article: evolving concepts in treatment and disease modification in ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2008; 27 Suppl 1: 15-21 [PMID: 18307645 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1365-2036.2008.03606.x]
- 2 Masson S, Nylander D, Mansfield JC. How important is onset of action in ulcerative colitis therapy? *Drugs* 2005; 65: 2069-2083 [PMID: 16225364 DOI: 10.2165/00003495-200565150-00001]
- 3 Faubion WA, Loftus EV, Harmsen WS, Zinsmeister AR, Sandborn WJ. The natural history of corticosteroid therapy for inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based study. *Gastroenterology* 2001; 121: 255-260 [PMID: 11487534 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2001.26279]
- 4 Bianchi Porro G, Cassinotti A, Ferrara E, Maconi G, Ardizzone S. Review article: the management of steroid dependency in ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2007; 26: 779-794 [PMID: 17767462 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2007.03334.x]
- 5 Flanagan WM, Corthésy B, Bram RJ, Crabtree GR. Nuclear association of a T-cell transcription factor blocked by FK-506 and cyclosporin A. *Nature* 1991; **352**: 803-807 [PMID: 1715516 DOI: 10.1038/352803a0]
- 6 Bamba S, Tsujikawa T, Sasaki M, Fujiyama Y, Andoh A. Immunomodulators and immunosuppressants for Japanese patients with ulcerative colitis. *ISRN Gastroenterol* 2011; 2011: 194324 [PMID: 21991497 DOI: 10.5402/2011/194324]
- 7 Ogata H, Matsui T, Nakamura M, Iida M, Takazoe M, Suzuki Y, Hibi T. A randomised dose finding study of oral tacrolimus (FK506) therapy in refractory ulcerative colitis. *Gut* 2006; 55: 1255-1262 [PMID: 16484504 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2005.081794]
- 8 Ogata H, Kato J, Hirai F, Hida N, Matsui T, Matsumoto T, Koyanagi K, Hibi T. Double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of oral tacrolimus (FK506) in the management of hospitalized patients

Baishideng®

with steroid-refractory ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2012; **18**: 803-808 [PMID: 21887732 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21853]

- 9 Marion JF, Rubin PH, Present DH. Differential Diagnosis of Chronic Ulcerative Colitis and Crohn's Disease. In: Kirsner JB, editor. Inflammatory Bowel Disease. 5th ed. Philadelphia, PA: WB Saunders, 2000: 315-325
- 10 Schroeder KW, Tremaine WJ, Ilstrup DM. Coated oral 5-aminosalicylic acid therapy for mildly to moderately active ulcerative colitis. A randomized study. *N Engl J Med* 1987; 317: 1625-1629 [PMID: 3317057 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM198712243172603]
- 11 Gavalas E, Kountouras J, Stergiopoulos C, Zavos C, Gisakis D, Nikolaidis N, Giouleme O, Chatzopoulos D, Kapetanakis N. Efficacy and safety of infliximab in steroid-dependent ulcerative colitis patients. *Hepatogastroenterology* 2007; 54: 1074-1079 [PMID: 17629042]
- 12 Van Assche G, D'Haens G, Noman M, Vermeire S, Hiele M, Asnong K, Arts J, D'Hoore A, Penninckx F, Rutgeerts P. Randomized, double-blind comparison of 4 mg/kg versus 2 mg/ kg intravenous cyclosporine in severe ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 2003; **125**: 1025-1031 [PMID: 14517785 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5085(03)01214-9]
- 13 Yamamoto S, Nakase H, Mikami S, Inoue S, Yoshino T, Takeda Y, Kasahara K, Ueno S, Uza N, Kitamura H, Tamaki H, Matsuura M, Inui K, Chiba T. Long-term effect of tacrolimus therapy in patients with refractory ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2008; 28: 589-597 [PMID: 18549460 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2008.03764.x]
- 14 Su C, Lewis JD, Goldberg B, Brensinger C, Lichtenstein GR. A meta-analysis of the placebo rates of remission and response in clinical trials of active ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 2007; 132: 516-526 [PMID: 17258720 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.12.037]
- 15 Satsangi J, Silverberg MS, Vermeire S, Colombel JF. The Montreal classification of inflammatory bowel disease: controversies, consensus, and implications. *Gut* 2006; 55: 749-753 [PMID: 16698746 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2005.082909]
- 16 Benson A, Barrett T, Sparberg M, Buchman AL. Efficacy and safety of tacrolimus in refractory ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease: a single-center experience. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2008; 14: 7-12 [PMID: 17879277]
- 17 Högenauer C, Wenzl HH, Hinterleitner TA, Petritsch W. Effect

of oral tacrolimus (FK 506) on steroid-refractory moderate/severe ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2003; **18**: 415-423 [PMID: 12940927 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2036.2003.01662.x]

- 18 Gummert JF, Ikonen T, Morris RE. Newer immunosuppressive drugs: a review. J Am Soc Nephrol 1999; 10: 1366-1380 [PMID: 10361877]
- 19 Watson S, Pensabene L, Mitchell P, Bousvaros A. Outcomes and adverse events in children and young adults undergoing tacrolimus therapy for steroid-refractory colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2011; 17: 22-29 [PMID: 20722055 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21418]
- 20 Fellermann K, Tanko Z, Herrlinger KR, Witthoeft T, Homann N, Bruening A, Ludwig D, Stange EF. Response of refractory colitis to intravenous or oral tacrolimus (FK506). *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2002; 8: 317-324 [PMID: 12479646 DOI: 10.1097/00054725-2002 09000-00002]
- 21 Inoue T, Murano M, Narabayashi K, Okada T, Nouda S, Ishida K, Kawakami K, Abe Y, Takeuchi T, Tokioka S, Umegaki E, Higuchi K. The efficacy of oral tacrolimus in patients with moderate/severe ulcerative colitis not receiving concomitant corticosteroid therapy. *Intern Med* 2013; **52**: 15-20 [PMID: 23291669 DOI: 10.2169/ internalmedicine.52.8555]
- 22 Murano M, Inoue T, Narabayashi K, Nouda S, Ishida K, Kawakami K, Kuramoto T, Abe Y, Inoue T, Murano N, Morita E, Umegaki E, Higuchi K. The safety and efficacy of rapid induction therapy using tacrolimus for severe ulcerative colitis refractory to steroid therapy. *Stomach and Intestine* 2011; **46**: 1957-1968
- 23 Schmidt KJ, Herrlinger KR, Emmrich J, Barthel D, Koc H, Lehnert H, Stange EF, Fellermann K, Büning J. Short-term efficacy of tacrolimus in steroid-refractory ulcerative colitis - experience in 130 patients. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2013; **37**: 129-136 [PMID: 23121200 DOI: 10.1111/apt.12118]
- 24 Hirai F, Takatsu N, Matsui T. Letter: short-term efficacy of tacrolimus in steroid-refractory ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2013; 37: 501 [PMID: 23336690 DOI: 10.1111/apt.12203]
- 25 Landy J, Wahed M, Peake ST, Hussein M, Ng SC, Lindsay JO, Hart AL. Oral tacrolimus as maintenance therapy for refractory ulcerative colitis--an analysis of outcomes in two London tertiary centres. J Crohns Colitis 2013; 7: e516-e521 [PMID: 23623737]

P-Reviewer: Hiraoka S, Suzuki H S-Editor: Qi Y L-Editor: A E-Editor: Zhang DN







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1887 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1887-1892 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Observational Study

Assessing cultural competency skills in gastroenterology fellowship training

Sophie Balzora, Benjamin Abiri, Xiao-Jing Wang, James McKeever, Michael Poles, Sondra Zabar, Colleen Gillespie, Elizabeth Weinshel

Sophie Balzora, Michael Poles, Elizabeth Weinshel, Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Medicine, NYU School of Medicine, New York, NY 10019, United States Benjamin Abiri, Xiao-Jing Wang, James McKeever, NYU School of Medicine, New York, NY 10019, United States Sondra Zabar, Colleen Gillespie, Division of General Internal Medicine, Department of Medicine, NYU School of Medicine, New York, NY 10019, United States

Author contributions: Balzora S contributed to study concept and design, acquisition of data, analysis/interpretation of data, drafting manuscript and critical revision of manuscript, administrative support; Abiri B contributed to study concept and design, acquisition of data, analysis/interpretation of data; Wang XJ and McKeever J contributed to analysis/interpretation of data; Poles M contributed to acquisition of data, critical revision of manuscript, administrative and technical support, study supervision; Zabar S contributed to study concept and design, analysis/interpretation of data, critical revision of manuscript, administrative and technical support; Gillespie C contributed to study concept and design, analysis/interpretation of data, statistical analysis, technical support; and Weinshel E contributed to study concept and design, acquisition of data, critical revision of manuscript, analysis/interpretation of data, administrative and technical support, study supervision.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Sophie Balzora, MD, Assistant Professor of Medicine, Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Medicine, NYU School of Medicine, NYU Langone Medical Center - Ambulatory Care West Side, 355 W. 52nd Street, 6th Floor, New York, NY 10019, United States. sophie.balzora@nyumc.org Telephone: +1-646-7542144 Fax: +1-646-7542151 Received: April 23, 2014 Peer-review started: May 28, 2014 First decision: July 9, 2014 Revised: August 12, 2014 Accepted: October 14, 2014 Article in press: October 15, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To assess and teach cultural competency skills at the fellowship training level through the use of objective structured clinical examinations (OSCEs).

METHODS: We revised four scenarios to infuse a specific focus on cross-cultural care, and to render them appropriate for gastroenterology fellows. Three are discussed here: (1) Poor Health Literacy; (2) Disclosing/ Apologizing for a Complication to a Patient Who Mistrusts the Healthcare System; and (3) Breaking Bad News to a Fatalistic Patient. A fourth case emphasizing shared decision-making will be described elsewhere. Four stations were completed by fellows and observed live by four faculty members, and the fellows' performance was assessed.

RESULTS: Eleven fellows from four programs participated in the four OSCE. In the "Poor Health Literacy" case, 18% (2/11) of participants recognized that the standardized patient (SP) had below-basic health literacy. None successfully evaluated the SP's reading skills in a culturally-sensitive manner. In "Disclosing/ Apologizing for a Complication", 4/11 (36%) personally apologized for the complication. 1/11 recognized the SP's mistrust of the medical system. With "Breaking Bad News", 27% (3/11) explored the patient's values to identify her fatalistic beliefs.

CONCLUSION: OSCEs can be used to assess deficiencies in culturally-competent care at the fellowship level. OSCEs also afford fellowships the opportunity to inform future training curricula.



Key words: Patient care; Physician-patient relations; Gastroenterology; Cultural competency; Education; Patient care; Health literacy; Health care; Graduate; Objective structured clinical examination; Trainees

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Cultural competency is an integral skill set vital to a fruitful physician-patient relationship. However, we lack tools necessary to assess and teach such skills, especially at the fellowship level. We designed an objective structured clinical examination (OSCE) on specific criteria essential to the delivery of culturallycompetent care. Our findings suggest that although the participating trainees' can adequately provide some aspects of culturally-competent care, their ability to wholly execute such care is subpar. The current fellowship program curricula may not adequately prepare its trainees to successfully employ culturally-competent care, and OSCEs provide a means to assess and teach this complex skill set.

Balzora S, Abiri B, Wang XJ, McKeever J, Poles M, Zabar S, Gillespie C, Weinshel E. Assessing cultural competency skills in gastroenterology fellowship training. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1887-1892 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1887.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1887

INTRODUCTION

There is an increasing recognition of the need for medical training programs to improve physician-patient communication and to counter the ethnic and racial disparities that exist in health care, which potentially result in poorer patient satisfaction and outcomes^[1]. In 2001, the Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) identified interpersonal and communication skills, and professionalism as two of its six core competencies for residents and fellows. Cultural competency is defined as the ability of health care professionals to communicate with and effectively provide high-quality care to patients from diverse socio-cultural backgrounds^[2]. Objective structured clinical examinations, or OSCEs, serve as a valid tool to measure the performance of trainee physicians in various aspects of patient care^[3-5]. This observation has been extended to gastroenterology training with great success^[6-8]. Still, to date, studies to assess the competency level of gastroenterology (GI) fellows in providing cross-cultural care have yet to be performed.

Therefore, the aim of this project was to use OSCEs to formally assess the ability of gastroenterology fellows who train in an urban, socioeconomically diverse population such as New York City, to implement cultural competency as a skill in a variety of challenging clinical scenarios. Here, we present three clinical cases that we have modified from cases previously described that address specific facets of cultural competency: Poor Health Literacy, Disclosing and Apologizing for a Complication to a Patient Who Mistrusts the Healthcare System, and Breaking Bad News to a Religiously Fatalistic Patient.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Using validated OSCE checklists, we revised the clinical elements of 3 previously described cases (Health literacy, Disclosing and apologizing for a complication, and Breaking bad news) to make them more suitable for GI fellows, and to add a specific focus on various aspects of cultural competency. Four faculty members from two GI training programs in New York City (NYU School of Medicine and Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai) observed the fourstation OSCE and 11 fellows (from the programs listed above, as well as Lenox Hill Hospital and St. Luke's-Roosevelt Hospital Center) participated. The standardized patients (SPs) were trained for 3 h with scripts and role-playing to standardize their case portrayals and fellow ratings.

OSCE cases

Poor Health Literacy (Health Literacy Case): The clinical scenario was of a 27 year-old new mother of Chinese descent with below-basic health literacy who was diagnosed with chronic hepatitis B virus infection during her pregnancy. The goals of the GI fellow were the following: identify the patient as health-illiterate, and successfully convey health information to her about her disease.

Disclosing and Apologizing for a Complication to a Patient Who Mistrusts the Healthcare System (Apologizing for a Complication Case): The clinical scenario was of a 50-year-old African-American male patient with a harbored mistrust of the healthcare system who undergoes an average-risk screening colonoscopy with polypectomy, subsequently complicated by a perforation. The goals of the GI fellow were the following: recognize this patient's mistrust of the medical system and how it impacted his response to the complication, admit that a medical error was made, and regain the patient's trust, and have him willingly agree to stay for follow-up care.

Breaking Bad News to a Religiously Fatalistic Patient (Breaking Bad News Case): The clinical scenario was of a 54 year-old African-American female patient with a family history of a first-degree relative with colon cancer who had just undergone a screening colonoscopy during which a likely colon cancer is found. When informed of this finding, she believes that succumbing to colon cancer is God's will for her and she refuses to consider further work-up or



Table 1 Health literacy n (%)

Competency areas and specific skills	Distribution of responses, n = 11		
	Not done	Partly done	Well done
Communication			
Information gathering			
Elicited responses using appropriate	0	5 (45)	6 (55)
questions			
Clarified information by repeating	4 (36)	5 (45)	2 (18)
Allowed patient to talk without interrupting	0	0	11 (100)
Relationship development			
Communicated concern, intention to help	0	4 (36)	7 (63)
Non-verbal behavior enriched	0	1 (9)	10 (91)
communication			
Acknowledged emotions appropriately	5 (45)	2 (18)	4 (36)
Was accepting, non-judgmental	0	6 (55)	5 (45)
Used words patient understood, explained	2 (18)	3 (27)	6 (55)
jargon			
Patient education			
Educated patient on Hep B in a culturally sensitive manner	0	6 (55)	5 (45)
Explained risks of transmission: unsafe	0	4 (36)	7 (63)
contact and safe contact		- (00)	. ()
Discussed general health education	2 (18)	9 (82)	0
Assessment	(-)	. (-)	
Evaluated reading skills in a compassionate	11	0	0
and culturally sensitive manner	(100)		
Evaluated patient's understanding of risks	5 (45)	6 (55)	0
of transmission prior to explaining unsafe	()	. ,	
contact and safe contact			
Treatment plan			
Clearly discussed next step of follow up plan	1 (9)	9 (82)	1 (9)

therapy. The goals of the GI fellow were the following: recognize the patient's strong religious beliefs, negotiate her belief system into an agreeable clinical plan of care, and ensure that the patient is amenable to following through with the treatment plan.

Evaluation

Each of the eleven GI fellows participated in all three scenarios detailed above. All OSCE stations were videotaped and observed live by faculty through the use of video media in the NYU School of Medicine Simulation Center for the Health Sciences. The fellows were allotted 15 min for each encounter with the standardized patient. Immediately following each case, feedback was provided to the fellow by the faculty observer and the SP. Data, in the form of checklists and questionnaires were collected from the fellow to specifically address cultural competency as it pertained to each of the given cases. Checklists were created to provide SPs and faculty observers with specific criteria to rate the fellows' performance. The fellows were rated with the use of a three-point scale for each assessed task: (1) "not done" (the fellow did not perform the task); (2) "partly done" (the fellow attempted to perform the task, but was unsuccessful); and (3) "well done" (the fellow addressed and performed the task successfully).

Balzora S et al. Cultural competency skills in fellowship training

Table 2 Apologizing for a complication n (%)

Competency areas and specific skills	Distribution of responses $n = 11$		
	Not done	Partly done	Well done
Patient activation			
Helped patient understand the cause of health condition	0	3 (27)	8 (73)
Helped patient understand the different available treatment options	0	3 (27)	8 (73)
Helped patient feel able to follow the	0	4 (36)	7 (63)
recommendations or take the next steps			. ,
Accountability			
Disclosed complication directly	0	0	11 (100)
Fully explained the complication	0	0	11 (100)
Personally apologized for this complication	7 (63)	0	4 (36)
Took responsibility for situation and recovery	7 (63)	0	4 (36)
Delivering bad news			
Gave opportunity for patient to respond	0	0	11 (100)
emotionally			
Responded to patient's emotions.	0	0	11 (100)
Shared decision making			
Explored patient's beliefs, values, and	0	5 (45)	6 (55)
preferences			
Engaged patient in the decision making	0	1 (9)	10 (91)
process			
Allowed for explicitly deferred decision	0	4 (36)	7 (63)
making			
Assessment			
Reassured patient that care is appropriately	8 (73)	а	3 (27)
supervised and executed, established trust			
Elicited understanding that patient mistrusts	10 (91)	а	1 (9)
system, negotiated trust in future quality of			
care			

^aScored by faculty observer as performed or not performed.

Post-OSCE

After the case scenarios were completed, a debriefing session involving each training program's respective fellows and the faculty observers was held in order for the fellows to provide feedback about the OSCE itself and its relevance as an education tool.

RESULTS

Four faculty members from two academic institutions and eleven fellows from four GI training programs participated. All participants were first-year GI fellows. Four fellows from NYU School of Medicine participated; three from the Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai's training program, and two each from St. Luke's-Roosevelt Hospital Center and Lenox Hill Hospital. Table 1 shows a detailed breakdown of the performance of the fellows in each of the categories assessed by the SP and the faculty observers in the Health literacy Case, as well as the results of the post-OSCE computer-based questionnaire completed by the fellows. Tables 2 and 3 show the results from the second and third cases, respectively.

In the Health Literacy Case, 18% of participants (2/11 fellows) recognized that the patient had below-



Table 3Breaking bad newsn (%)

Competency areas and specific skills	Distribution of responses $n = 11$		
	Not done	Partly done	Well done
Patient education			
Gave results of colonoscopy effectively	3 (27)	7 (63)	1 (9)
Explained procedures already done during colonoscopy	0	8 (73)	3 (27)
Explained next necessary steps, how results fit into longer term plans	0	7 (63)	4 (36)
Checked patient's understanding of treatment options	4 (36)	7 (63)	0
Delivering bad news Physically set the tone for receiving bad	3 (27)	8 (73)	0
news	- ()	0 (10)	
Assessed your readiness to receive news, gave warning shot	4 (36)	7 (63)	0
Gave opportunity for patient to respond emotionally	1 (9)	7 (63)	3 (27)
Responded to patient's emotions.	1 (9)	7 (63)	3 (27)
Conveyed accountability, assured appropriate treatment and follow up	1 (9)	5 (45)	5 (45)
Shared decision making			
Explored patient's beliefs, values, and preferences	1 (9)	7 (63)	3 (27)
Engaged patient in the decision making process	3 (27)	6 (55)	2 (18)
Allowed for explicitly deferred decision making	1 (9)	6 (55)	4 (36)
Assessment			
Explained and apologized for complication	3 (27)	8 (73)	0
Engaged patient in a discussion about next steps	0	7 (63)	4 (36)
Elicited understanding that patient has different beliefs, negotiated common goals	4 (36)	а	7 (63)

^aScored by faculty observer as performed or not performed.

basic health literacy. Below-basic health literacy is defined as the ability to perform only simple and concrete literacy activities (a commonly cited example: the ability to read a set of short instructions, and identify what is permissible to drink before a medical test)^[9]. None (0/11) of the fellows evaluated the SP's reading skills. Though none of the fellows thoroughly discussed the SP's general health education and assessed her level of health literacy, nearly 82% (9/11) partly performed the task, while the remaining 18% did not perform this task at all. What was done partly well by more than half of the participants (6/11) and done well by 5/11 of the fellows was the education of the SP on hepatitis B virus in a culturally sensitive manner. Despite the fellows' overall deficient performance on this OSCE station, nearly 73% (8/11) of fellows reported receiving some type of training during their medical school or post-graduate training in patient health literacy.

In the Apologizing for a Complication Case, 4/11 (36%) participants personally apologized for the complication and took responsibility for the situation. Seventy-three percent failed to reassure the patient

that the quality of care was appropriately supervised and executed. Finally, only 1/11 (9%) participants recognized that the SP harbored a mistrust of the medical care system. Similar to the previous case, nearly 73% (8/11) of fellows reported receiving some type of training during their medical school or post-graduate training in disclosing medical errors.

With the Breaking Bad News Case, 100% of the fellows agreed that this was the most challenging OSCE of the three scenarios. We found that 2/11 fellows (18%) engaged the SP in the decision-making process. According to the SP's rating, only 27% (3/11 fellows) explored the patient's beliefs, values, and preferences to recognize that she possessed strong religious and fatalistic beliefs. However, faculty observers reported that 63% of fellows effectively elicited understanding to negotiate a common goal. Only 18% of participants (2/11 fellows) were able to gain the patient's trust and have her agree to pursue further medical care.

DISCUSSION

Cultural competency is central to an effective physicianpatient relationship, but teaching its tenets has proven to be a challenge^[10]. This skill set has historically been taught implicitly, through observation of faculty and mentors, and by means of self-reflection. Though this hidden curriculum prepares trainees for some aspects of culturally-competent care, it is not without flaws^[11]. Current curricula are non-standardized, informal, and sometimes unavailable, leading to a growing interest in teaching cultural competency.

Substantial effort has been afforded to identify and eliminate cultural barriers that impede effective cross-cultural care^[12,13]. It is understood that physicians cannot apply a "one-size-fits-all" approach to patient care, especially as our patient population grows increasingly diverse. There is a need for practicums that accurately grasp the educational deficiencies in cultural competency in medical education training. The goal of this OSCE is to fill this void.

The OSCE is a validated tool for measuring performance in various aspects of patient care, particularly with the more difficult-to-measure core competencies^[14]. This project is the first of its kind to formally assess and measure gastroenterology fellows' ability to approach challenging clinical scenarios with an attuned understanding and practice of cultural competency in a standardized fashion.

It has long been cited that the lack of culturallyconscious medical care plays a pivotal role in health and health care disparities, and that there is a need to incorporate cultural awareness into the academic setting^[13]. Previous, now abandoned, efforts in cultural competency education employed a "categorical approach". The major pitfall of this approach is the concern for stereotyping care for patients based on



socio-cultural backgrounds. The fear has been that this type of educational method assumes cultural "norms" and oversimplifications, thereby sacrificing the physician-patient relationship^[2,10]. An alternative approach has since been embraced. By recognizing culturally competency as a skill set, health care providers can effectively deliver care to those of diverse backgrounds in an individualized and more culturallyaware manner^[12]. This project systematically assessed and measured areas of strength and weakness in competencies deemed necessary by the ACGME. Our intent is to inform future training curricula for fellows, so that they may provide meaningful cross-cultural care after training.

The literature shows that despite the perceived importance to teach and deliver cross-cultural care, there is little clinical time allotted to honing this skill. Moreover, a large majority of trainees felt unprepared for such challenges^[15,16]. In 2008, Lopez et al^[17] conducted a survey of 2047 residents from seven different specialties and 563 residency programs to determine whether resident physicians' socio-cultural characteristics influence self-perceived preparedness and skill in delivering cross-cultural care. With training received during medical school and/or residency controlled for, the most important factor associated with improved perceived skill level in practices believed to be of use in treating a culturally-diverse patient population was cross-cultural skills training during residency (OR: 1.71-4.22). Our project is a novel and formal assessment of trainees' crosscultural skills at the fellowship level. The three areas of cultural competency that we chose to focus on included health literacy, disclosing and apologizing for a complication in a patient who harbors mistrust in the health care system, and bearing unfavorable medical information to a patient with a strong religious belief system. The Health Literacy station revealed that few fellows were able to identify the patient as having below-basic health literacy^[18], while none of the eleven fellows explored her general health knowledge in order to effectively gauge how best to educate her about her new diagnosis of hepatitis B virus. When the nuances of patient understanding are left unrecognized or unacknowledged by the physician, patient adherence becomes less likely. With the Apologizing for a Complication Case, the majority of the fellows failed to formally apologize or take responsibility for the complication. Moreover, only one fellow was successful in identifying the patient's mistrust in the health care system, which inherently compromised the physician-patient relationship. In recognizing and confronting the grounds for mistrust in a non-threatening, honest manner, effective communication between clinician and patient is far more likely. Finally, the Breaking Bad News station was equally informative. The majority of fellows failed to include the patient in the decision-making process for the next step in management, and only two participants elicited a trustful agreement with the SP.

Our performance-improvement program is not without limitations. Though four different institutions in New York City participated, the number of fellows in this pilot program was small. A longitudinal assessment of cultural competency as a skill set has not yet been performed, and so the utility of assessment with an OSCE remains to be studied. Finally, the Breaking Bad News station illustrated that there is a discrepancy between the standardized patient and faculty observers' perception of fellows' abilities. Therefore, there may be a role for cultural competency training for faculty who are involved in teaching fellows. Expanding the employment of the OSCE into the GI fellowship curriculum for reinforcement of such competencies is an eventual goal that has already shown to be of benefit in this cross-institution initiative, but should be explored further. Awareness and formalized assessment of deficiencies in cultural competency with OSCEs is an important step in developing the appropriate skills for serving a diverse patient population.

With the advent of the ACGME's Next Accreditation System (NAS), it is incumbent upon training programs to evaluate the impact of their training methods on educational outcomes. This is accomplished by assessing trainees based on a number of important outcome-based milestones incorporated within the six domains of physician competence. The scenarios tested in the OSCE mostly directly reflect milestones within the professionalism [Responds to each patient' s unique characteristics and needs (PROF3)] and interpersonal communication [Communicates effectively with patients and caregivers (ICS1)] competencies. Implementation of these cultural competence OSCEs into the GI fellowship program curriculum serves a dual purpose. Not only do such OSCEs allow fellowship programs to assess GI fellows according to these milestones during the educational event, but they also permits us to examine the longitudinal impact on the fellows' practice, permitting further assessment of a practice-based learning and improvement milestone [Learns and Improves via feedback (PBLI1)]. Therefore, the next step will be to evaluate the trainees' performance in ongoing clinical care to assess the impact of institution of the OSCE on their continued use of cultural competence. In this way, we can be assured that we are meeting our goals of training professional fellows who excel at interpersonal communication in a culturally-competent manner.

OSCEs serve as a validated tool to assess the performance of training physicians' ability to carry out complex clinical skills. The ability to provide crosscultural care encompasses two of the six core competencies outlined by the ACGME, namely interpersonal skills and communication, and professionalism. This program is novel in its employment of the OSCE to formally test and measure cultural competency as a
vital skill set at the fellowship level. This educational tool informs fellowship curricula, and can be extended to academic faculty as well. More study is necessary to assess why and to what degree such deficiencies in cross-cultural care and educational training exist, and if the implementation of the OSCE as an educational tool improves culturally-competent patient care in the long-term.

COMMENTS

Background

Cultural competency is recognized as an essential component of a productive physician-patient relationship. Despite this recognition, our ability to effectively assess and teach these complex communication and interpersonal skills to medical trainees has not been formalized or standardized, particularly at the fellowship training level.

Research frontiers

Objective structured clinical examinations, or OSCEs, have been validated as a means of assessing complex skill sets in a measurable, reproducible context. Its novel application in cultural competency training at the fellowship level satisfies many of the core competencies set forth by the Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME).

Innovations and breakthroughs

This experiential learning endeavor for the explicit purpose of both assessing and teaching cultural competency at the fellowship level is the first of its kind. OSCEs have shown to be a wonderful tool to teach complex skill sets. The use of the OSCE during a training physician's advanced stage of formal training works to build upon and potentially reinforce any cultural competency training he or she has been exposed to through both his/her formal and hidden curricula during medical school and residency.

Applications

An eventual result of such an OSCE is to inform further medical curricula in the inclusion of such experiential learning that is centered on cultural competency.

Peer-review

For assessing the performance of training physicians' ability to carry out complex clinical skills, authors designed an OSCE on specific criteria. And the authors also addressed it was vital to providing culturally-competent care.

REFERENCES

- Brach C, Fraser I. Can cultural competency reduce racial and ethnic health disparities? A review and conceptual model. *Med Care Res Rev* 2000; 57 Suppl 1: 181-217 [PMID: 11092163 DOI: 10.1177/107755800773743655]
- 2 **Betancourt JR**, Green AR. Commentary: linking cultural competence training to improved health outcomes: perspectives from the field. *Acad Med* 2010; **85**: 583-585 [PMID: 20354370 DOI: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e3181d2b2f3]
- 3 Sloan DA, Donnelly MB, Schwartz RW, Felts JL, Blue AV, Strodel WE. The use of objective structured clinical examination (OSCE) for evaluation and instruction in graduate medical education. J Surg Res 1996; 63: 225-230 [PMID: 8661202 DOI: 10.1097/01. sla.0000118568.75888.04]

- 4 Hilliard RI, Tallett SE. The use of an objective structured clinical examination with postgraduate residents in pediatrics. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 1998; 152: 74-78 [PMID: 9452712]
- 5 Parish SJ, Ramaswamy M, Stein MR, Kachur EK, Arnsten JH. Teaching about Substance Abuse with Objective Structured Clinical Exams. J Gen Intern Med 2006; 21: 453-459 [PMID: 16704387 DOI: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00426.x]
- 6 Chander B, Kule R, Baiocco P, Chokhavatia S, Kotler D, Poles M, Zabar S, Gillespie C, Ark T, Weinshel E. Teaching the competencies: using objective structured clinical encounters for gastroenterology fellows. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2009; 7: 509-514 [PMID: 19041733 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2010.27]
- Williams R, Miler R, Shah B, Chokhavatia S, Poles M, Zabar S, Gillespie C, Weinshel E. Observing handoffs and telephone management in GI fellowship training. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2011; 106: 1410-1414 [PMID: 21811269 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2011.107]
- 8 Shah B, Miler R, Poles M, Zabar S, Gillespie C, Weinshel E, Chokhavatia S. Informed consent in the older adult: OSCEs for assessing fellows' ACGME and geriatric gastroenterology competencies. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2011; 106: 1575-1579 [PMID: 21897404 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2011.124]
- 9 Kutner M, Greenberg E, Jin Y, Paulsen C. The health literacy of America's adults: results from the 2003 National Assessment of Adult Literacy. (NCES 2006-483). November 17, 2008. Available from: URL: http://eric.ed.gov/PDFS/ED493284.pdf
- 10 Betancourt JR. Cultural competence--marginal or mainstream movement? N Engl J Med 2004; 351: 953-955 [PMID: 15342800 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMp048033]
- 11 Hafferty FW. Beyond curriculum reform: confronting medicine's hidden curriculum. Acad Med 1998; 73: 403-407 [PMID: 9580717 DOI: 10.1097/00001888-199804000-00013]
- 12 Nelson A. Unequal treatment: confronting racial and ethnic disparities in health care. *J Natl Med Assoc* 2002; **94**: 666-668 [PMID: 12152921]
- 13 Smedley BD, Stith AY, Nelson AR. Summary Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care. Washington DC: Institute of Medicine (IOM) of the National Academies. National Academies Press, 2002: 13-22. Available from: URL: http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10260.html
- 14 **Epstein RM**. Assessment in medical education. *N Engl J Med* 2007; **356**: 387-396 [PMID: 17251535]
- 15 Weissman JS, Betancourt J, Campbell EG, Park ER, Kim M, Clarridge B, Blumenthal D, Lee KC, Maina AW. Resident physicians' preparedness to provide cross-cultural care. *JAMA* 2005; 294: 1058-1067 [PMID: 16145026 DOI: 10.1001/jama.294.9.1058]
- 16 Greer JA, Park ER, Green AR, Betancourt JR, Weissman JS. Primary care resident perceived preparedness to deliver crosscultural care: an examination of training and specialty differences. *J Gen Intern Med* 2007; 22: 1107-1113 [PMID: 17516107 DOI: 10.1007/s11606-007-0229-x]
- 17 Lopez L, Vranceanu AM, Cohen AP, Betancourt J, Weissman JS. Personal characteristics associated with resident physicians' self perceptions of preparedness to deliver cross-cultural care. J Gen Intern Med 2008; 23: 1953-1958 [PMID: 18807099 DOI: 10.1007/ s11606-008-0782-y]
- 18 Rudd RE. Improving Americans' health literacy. N Engl J Med 2010; 363: 2283-2285 [PMID: 21142532 DOI: 10.1056/ NEJMp1008755]

P- Reviewer: Liu B, Morris DL S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN



WJG www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1893 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1893-1899 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Observational Study

Snapshot of an integrated psychosocial gastroenterology service

Sarah W Kinsinger, Sarah Ballou, Laurie Keefer

Sarah W Kinsinger, Sarah Ballou, Laurie Keefer, Division of Gastroenterology, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL 60611, United States

Author contributions: Kinsinger SW performed the majority of the study design and manuscript preparation (*i.e.*, data collection, data entry, interpretation and writing); Ballou S contributed to data entry, analysis and interpretation of results; and Keefer L contributed to study design, interpretation of results and editing of final manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Sarah W Kinsinger, PhD, Assistant Professor of Medicine and Psychiatry, Division of Gastroenterology, Northwestern University, 676 N. St. Clair St., suite 1400, Chicago, IL 60611,

United States. s-kinsinger@northwestern.edu Telephone: +1-312-6959317 Fax: +1-312-6957095 Received: May 27, 2014 Peer-review started: May 28, 2014 First decision: June 18, 2014 Revised: July 11, 2014 Accepted: September 5, 2014 Article in press: September 5, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To characterize the patients utilizing a gastroenterology behavioral medicine service and examine the effect of treatment on health care utilization.

METHODS: Patients were referred by their gastroenterologists for psychological treatment during a 15 mo period. Patients seen for an intake with a psychologist completed the Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI) and a checklist of psychosocial concerns. A subset of patients with functional bowel disorders also completed a disease specific quality of life measure. Chart review was conducted to obtain information on type and frequency of sessions with the psychologist, the number of outpatient gastroenterology visits, and number of gastroenterology-related medical procedures during the 6 mo following psychological intake.

RESULTS: Of 259 patients referred for treatment, 118 (46%) completed an intake with a psychologist. Diagnoses included: irritable bowel syndrome (42%), functional dyspepsia (20%), inflammatory bowel diseases (20%), esophageal symptoms (10%), and "other" (8%). Demographic variables and disease type did not differentiate between those who did and did not schedule an intake. Mean t-scores for the BSI global score index and the depression, anxiety, and somatization subscales fell below the cutoff for clinical significance (t = 63). Treatments were predominantly gut-directed hypnosis (48%) and cognitive behavioral therapy (44%). Average length of treatment was 4 sessions. Among functional gastrointestinal (GI) patients, those patients who initiated treatment received significantly fewer GI-related medical procedures during the 6 mo following the referral than patients who did not schedule an intake [t (197) = 2.69, P < 0.01].

CONCLUSION: Patients are receptive to psychological interventions for GI conditions and there is preliminary evidence that treatment can decrease health-care utilization among patients with functional GI conditions.

Key words: Psychological treatment; Irritable bowel syndrome; Functional gastrointestinal disorders; Hypnosis; Cognitive-behavioral therapy

© The Author(s) 2015. Published by Baishideng Publishing



Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Psychological interventions are effective treatment options for many chronic gastrointestinal conditions, particularly functional bowel disorders. However, psychological care has not been well integrated into standard clinical practice for gastrointestinal disorders. The aim of the current study was to examine the feasibility and acceptability of offering psychological services to patients in an outpatient gastroenterology practice and the potential impact of treatment on health care utilization.

Kinsinger SW, Ballou S, Keefer L. Snapshot of an integrated psychosocial gastroenterology service. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1893-1899 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1893.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1893

INTRODUCTION

Chronic gastrointestinal (GI) problems account for a significant proportion of physician workload in outpatient gastroenterology practices. Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) and functional bowel disorders jointly account for more than half of the patients seen by gastroenterologists^[1]. The cost of managing these conditions is high. The estimated direct cost of irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) alone is estimated to be 1.3 billion in the United States and is similar to other chronic medical conditions such as asthma, hypertension, and congestive heart failure^[2,3]. In addition, the psychosocial impact of chronic digestive symptoms is significant. Patients with both functional (e.g., IBS) and organic GI conditions (e.g., IBD) experience impaired quality of life (QOL) and increased rates of psychological distress^[4,5].

Traditional medical treatments are often inadequate for managing functional gastrointestinal conditions, particularly for patients with moderate to severe symptoms^[6]. As a result these patients often pursue alternative treatment options. In fact more than 50% of patients with IBS and IBD turn to complementary and alternative medicine treatments and nearly 1/3 of patients with IBD express interest in psychological treatment^[7-9].

Psychological interventions are now well-established, effective treatments that can complement usual medical care for many chronic GI conditions. Cognitive behavioral therapy and gut-directed hypnosis are empirically supported interventions for IBS and the American Gastroenterological Association recommends psychological treatments for moderate to severe patients^[10-12]. In addition to IBS, gutdirected hypnotherapy has been demonstrated as an effective treatment for functional dyspepsia, non-cardiac chest pain, and acid reflux^[13-15]. Less is known about the benefits of stress management and behavioral interventions for IBD. However, emerging evidence indicates that psychological interventions are beneficial for improving mood, QOL, and even prolonging remission in IBD patients^[16,17].

Many of these positive outcomes can be attributed to patients' increased self-efficacy to manage and cope with their digestive condition, thereby reducing burden on medical providers^[18]. There is some empirical evidence that psychological treatments can decrease health care utilization. For example, relaxation training contributed to less frequent doctor visits among IBS patients and psychological treatment was associated with reduced health care costs in patients with IBS^[19,20].

Despite the documented benefits of psychological interventions for GI conditions, these treatments have not been well integrated into gastroenterology practices and are not easily accessible to patients. Many barriers have been suggested, including concerns about reimbursement for behavioral services, referrals only being made for patients with significant psychological symptoms, and the misconception that patients are not receptive to psychological interventions^[11]. Palsson and Whitehead recently published a primer for gastroenterologists, encouraging providers to consider referring patients with functional GI conditions for psychological treatment and recommendations on making a successful referral^[6]. Their article is an important step in explaining how these treatments can become more integrated into the care of patients with chronic GI conditions. The purpose of the current study is to demonstrate how this integration can occur in a clinical context. This is the first study that we are aware of to evaluate the acceptability and feasibility of offering behavioral treatment as part of routine clinical practice within a gastroenterology clinic.

The goal of the current study was to characterize an integrated psychological gastroenterology service and examine impact of this service on health-care utilization. Specific aims were to: (1) examine the number of patients referred and proportion of patients that engaged in psychological treatment for their GI condition; (2) determine any demographic or disease related variables that might influence the likelihood of a patient pursuing treatment; (3) characterize the psychosocial functioning of patients pursuing behavioral treatment; and (4) among patients with functional GI conditions, evaluate the impact of receiving behavioral medicine services on health care utilization (*i.e.*, physician office visits, medical procedures).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study patients

This is a retrospective cross-sectional study of patients with chronic GI conditions referred to a GI health psychology service during a 15-mo period from



2010-2011 at our outpatient faculty practice group at Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University. All referrals were made by gastroenterologists within our outpatient practice. Referrals were not accepted from outside providers. Patients had undergone a thorough GI work-up prior to being referred for psychological services. Table 1 provides a list of criteria that we recommend physicians in our practice follow to guide them in referring appropriate patients. Gastroenterologists referred patients by explaining the rationale for psychological treatment and providing patients with a brochure with further details about the services. The gastroenterologist also placed a formal referral through our electronic medical record system that is routed to a patientliaison who then contacts the patient. This initial phone call provides the patient with opportunity to ask additional questions about behavioral medicine services, schedule the initial appointment, and review insurance coverage for the visit. Any patient referred for management of a chronic gastrointestinal condition during this 15-mo period is included in our sample, including patients who did not respond to the referral.

Measures

The following psychosocial questionnaires were completed by patients at their intake visit with the psychologist as standard clinical practice. A subset of the sample (*i.e.*, patients with functional bowel disorders; n = 43) also completed a QOL measure.

Demographics and psychosocial history: A

short demographic and psychosocial checklist was completed by each patient, which includes basic demographic data (*e.g.*, age, gender, marital status, education) as well as a checklist of current and past psychosocial concerns (PSC). The checklist included 36 items of common psychological difficulties (*e.g.*, depression, anxiety, difficulty managing stress, history of abuse, anger). Patients checked "yes" if they had ever experienced the difficulty. Patients also indicated to what extent they believed that stress impacted the course and treatment of their GI condition, a good marker of psychological insight and appropriateness for behavioral intervention.

Brief symptom inventory: BSI is an 18-item questionnaire used to assess psychological distress^[21]. The BSI yields a total (general distress) T-score and 3 subscale T-scores for depression, anxiety, and somatization. Higher scores represent greater distress. The cutoff for clinical significance for each scale is t = 63. The BSI has good internal reliability (0.71-0.85) and test-retest reliability (0.68-0.91).

IBS-QOL questionnaire: IBS-QOL questionnaire is a 34-item measure designed to assess the im-

Table 1 Guidelines for appropriate referrals for healthpsychology services

Appropriate referrals

Patients with moderate to severe functional symptoms who have not				
responded to medical management (Palsson and Whitehead, 2013)				
Stress or emotional factors are exacerbating gastrointestinal (GI)				
symptoms				
Any patient interested in non-pharmacological treatment of functional				
GI symptoms				
Patients newly diagnosed with chronic GI illness (e.g., crohn's disease;				
ulcerative colitis)				
Any patient needing assistance coping with chronic, uncomfortable				
GI symptoms				
Inappropriate referrals				
Patients with significant psychological symptoms that are				
independent of the GI condition				
Current severe psychiatric symptoms (suicidal ideation, psychotic				
disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder)				
Active eating disorder				
Low insight into the role of stress on his/her GI condition				
Poor motivation to engage in psychological treatment				

pact of bowel habits on overall functioning and QOL for people with IBS or related functional bowel disorders^[22]. Each item has a 5-point response scale (1 to 5). Item scores were reversed and then summed to derive an overall QOL index and 8 subscales (dysphoria, interference with activity, body image, health worry, food avoidance, social reactions, sexual activity, and relationships). Scores were transformed to a 1 to 100 scale ranging from 0 (poor QOL) to 100 (maximum QOL).

Retrospective chart review

Chart review was conducted on all patients referred to our service irrespective of following through with a behavioral medicine intake and included: medical diagnosis, number of physician office visits during the 6 mo following the behavioral medicine referral (including emergency room visits or primary care physician visits related to their condition) and number of diagnostic procedures related to their gastrointestinal condition in the 6 mo following the referral. Diagnostic procedures included blood work, stool studies, breath testing, imaging, and endoscopy procedures. Additionally, the number and type of treatment sessions with a psychologist was collected for patients participating in BMed treatment.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis were completed using SPSS 18.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago IL, United States). Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05 for all analyses. Demographics and psychosocial characteristics of the sample were completed computing frequencies, means, standard deviations, and percentages where applicable. We used logistic regression to examine demographic and disease variables as predictors of whether or not patients initiated treatment. Logistic regression was also used

Kinsinger SW et al. Psychosocial GI service

Table 2 Demographics based on response to referral					
Patients seen for an Patients not seen for initial intake $(n = 118)$ an intake $(n = 141)$					
Demographics					
Average age	40	38			
Gender (% female)	71	79			
Disease type					
IBD	22	29			
Functional bowel	49	59			
Dyspepsia	23	30			
Esophageal	15	11			
Other	9	12			

Patients seen for an initial intake: Includes all patients evaluated by a psychologist, including both functional GI disorders as well as other disease groups; Patients not seen for an intake: Includes all patients that were referred for psychological services by their gastroenterologist, but did not meet with a psychologist; "Other" disease group: Chronic pancreatitis, celiac disease, non-cardiac chest pain, rumination syndrome, functional vomiting, gastroparesis, eosinophilic disease, and aerophagia. Diagnosis Type refers to the patients diagnosed with each disease type. IBD: Inflammatory bowel diseases; GI: Gastrointestinal.

to examine differences in HCU among patients who did and did not engage in BMed treatment.

RESULTS

Demographics

A total of 259 internal referrals for psychological treatment were identified from February, 2010 through May, 2011. Diagnoses included IBS (42%), functional dyspepsia (20%), IBD (20%), esophageal symptoms (10%), and "other" (8%; e.g., chronic pancreatitis, non-cardiac chest pain, rumination syndrome, functional vomiting, gastroparesis, aerophagia). The majority of referrals (76.8%; n = 199) were for patients diagnosed with some type of functional GI condition (e.g., IBS, functional abdominal pain, functional dyspepsia, functional vomiting, esophageal hypersensitivity). Average age was 38 (range: 19-88) and 76% were female. Table 2 provides a breakdown of demographic data for all patients referred based on whether or not the patient met with a psychologist for an initial visit.

Nearly half of patients referred for treatment scheduled an intake with a psychologist (n = 118) and 113 of these patients completed intake forms. The following demographics were obtained from the intake forms of these 113 patients: marital status was predominantly single, divorced, or widowed (61%); patients were predominantly college educated (73%); 95% indicated that stress has a moderate or severe impact on the course or treatment of their GI condition.

Feasibility and acceptability

Of the 259 patients referred for treatment, 118 (46%) met with a psychologist for an intake. Approximately one-third (n = 87; 34%) engaged in ongoing

psychological treatment with a therapist. Treatments were predominantly gut-directed hypnosis (48%) and cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT, 44%). Mean length of treatment was 4 sessions (SD = 4.32, range: 1-21).

QOL

Disease-specific QOL was obtained from a subset of patients who were diagnosed with a functional bowel disorders using the IBS-QOL (n = 43). Mean IBS-QOL was 58.94. Food avoidance (38.6) was the most impaired subscale domain, followed by dysphoria (52.2), interference with activity (56.8) and health worry (58.8). These symptom reports are comparable to scores reported in the IBS literature^[22,23].

Psychosocial characteristics

Frequency of psychosocial concerns and mean BSI scores were calculated on the entire sample of patients that completed intake forms with the psychologist (n = 113). The most frequently reported PSC included anxiety (75%), worry (63%), and difficulty managing stress (61%). Mean *t*-scores were calculated for the BSI total score and individual subscales. T-scores for the total score (t = 51.12), depression (t = 51.34), anxiety (t = 51.28), and somatization (t = 50.04) scales all fell below the cutoff for clinical significance (t = 63), indicating that on average these patients did not report clinically significant mood difficulties.

Logistic regression analyses were run on the entire sample to determine whether demographic and disease variables predicted whether or not patients followed up on the referral for psychological services. Results indicated that demographic variables (age, gender) and disease type (IBS, functional dyspepsia, IBD, esophageal symptoms, and "other") did not differentiate between those who did and did not pursue treatment (all P > 0.13).

Health care utilization

Logistic regression was used to examine differences in HCU among patients who did and did not engage in psychological treatment. These analyses were limited to those patients diagnosed with some type of functional GI disorder (n = 199). Among functional GI patients (n = 199), those patients who initiated treatment received significantly fewer GI-related medical procedures during the 6 mo following the referral than patients who did not [t (197) = 2.69, P < 0.01], with those in treatment receiving fewer procedures (0.38 vs 0.79). There was no difference in the number of physician office visits (0.43 vs 0.54).

DISCUSSION

Chronic GI disorders cause significant quality of life impairment and account for a significant pro-

Table 3 Myths and misconceptions of psychological treatments for gastrointestinal conditions				
Myth	Fact			
Only patients with significant psychological distress will benefit from working with a health psychologist	The majority of patients seen in our clinic do not suffer from a psychological disorder and yet benefit significantly from treatment			
Only patients with functional GI conditions are appropriate for referral to psychologist	Patients with a wide-range of GI conditions can benefit (crohn's, ulcerative colitis, chronic pancreatitis, GERD): 20% of patients in this study had IBD			
Psychological treatments are expensive	Psychological treatments are often covered by insurance and are associated with reduced long-term health-care costs.			
Psychological treatment requires significant time commitment	Many patients can benefit in as few as 4 sessions			

GI: Gastrointestinal; IBD: Inflammatory bowel diseases; GERD: Gastroesophageal reflux disease.

portion of health care utilization^[24]. There is strong empirical evidence that psychological treatments for functional GI disorders are beneficial; however, the implementation of these treatments in a clinical setting has lagged behind. The results of the present study indicate that it is feasible to implement these treatments in an outpatient GI clinic and that many of the barriers to treatment that have been suggested in the past can be overcome^[11]. Table 3 provides a list of common myths about psychological treatments for GI patients and corresponding facts based on findings of this study and our experience running an integrated psychosocial GI service.

Our findings suggest that many patients are in fact receptive to and interested in psychological treatment. Over 200 patients were referred for psychological treatment within a 15-mo time span and nearly half of these patients met with a psychologist. Historically, referrals for psychological treatments are only considered for patients who are significantly distressed. Our experience has been that even patients who are functioning quite well emotionally can still benefit from these treatments. The majority of the patients in the current study identified stress as a contributing factor to their GI condition, but they were not suffering from a psychological disorder. These findings are contrary to the perception that only highly anxious or depressed patients will benefit or be interested in meeting with a psychologist.

It is notable that patients with a wide range of GI conditions utilized behavioral treatments. Traditionally, psychological referrals are only considered for patients with functional conditions. However, 20% of the referrals made in this study were for patients with inflammatory bowel disease and patients with various organic GI conditions are commonly seen by the health psychologist in our clinic (e.g., celiac sprue, pancreatitis, eosinophilic gastrointestinal diseases). Our experience has been that IBD patients in particular are eager to work with a GI health psychologist and this is consistent with research findings^[9]. Furthermore, patient demographics did not influence whether or not patients pursued health psychology services. This should encourage gastroenterologists to consider referring a wide range of patients and not assume that certain demographic groups (e.g.,

elderly) would not be interested.

Our findings are consistent with past research indicating that psychological interventions can reduce healthcare burden. For example, Creed et al^[19] found that psychological intervention, but not antidepressant medication, was associated with reduced health care costs, largely due to fewer gastroenterology follow-up visits. Similarly, our results indicate that functional GI patients who participate in psychological treatment are less likely to need further medical procedures for their GI condition. Although psychological treatments may require greater time investment from the patient initially, there is less long-term medical follow-up needed (outpatient visits, medical procedures, medications); thereby reducing burden on patients and providers. Given the effectiveness of psychological treatments for GI conditions, it is not surprising that patients engaged in these treatments were in less need of medical attention.

Another significant finding from this study is the short-term nature of treatment. The average length of treatment in our study was 4 sessions. These findings are consistent with past research indicating that a significant proportion of IBS patients treated with CBT respond to treatment within 4 wk (referred to as rapid responders) and maintain symptom improvement for at least 3 mo^[10]. These findings are contrary to the misconception that psychological treatment requires a long-term time commitment. CBT is designed to be a short-term skills-based treatment that teaches the patient to self-manage their condition. Patients will be more likely to consider psychological treatment if they understand that this is a short-term investment. It is notable that the treating provider in this study is a health psychologist with specific training and experience in gastroenterology. Implementation of psychological treatments for GI conditions requires specialized knowledge and training and these same results might not be achieved by a "general" psychotherapist. Unfortunately there are a limited number of providers with this expertise, making it challenging for physicians to find psychological providers to refer to.

Our clinical experience has been that many of the suggested barriers to offering psychological treatments for gastrointestinal conditions can be

addressed with appropriate integration of these services. By having a provider on-site, offering behavioral medicine services in conjunction with medical treatment, and streamlining referrals, patients are more receptive to health psychology services. Furthermore, effective communication of the referral by the gastroenterologist is important^[6]. Concerns have also been raised about financial cost as a barrier to psychological treatment. It is worth noting that health psychologists have specialized billing codes (i.e., health and behavior codes) that allow for behavioral treatment to be billed under the patient' s medical insurance. All patients seen for treatment in this study received behavioral intervention through their medical insurance. These billing codes not only make treatments more accessible to patients, but also de-stigmatize treatment by differentiating it from mental health treatment.

Although this study contributes important findings, its limitations should be noted. Our sample was drawn from Northwestern's outpatient gastroenterology clinic, located in downtown Chicago. This patient population is typically well-educated, affluent, and has adequate resources to benefit from psychological treatments. Additional barriers might be present for patients from different geographical areas with more diverse socioeconomic status. This study was also limited by small sample size of various disease groups. An important goal of future research will be to obtain chart review data on a larger portion of patients, collect additional measures of HCU (e.g., clinic phone calls, medication use), and examine barriers to participating in psychological services. Despite these limitations, this study provides insight into the role that psychologists can play in improving care and outcomes of patients with gastrointestinal conditions.

COMMENTS

Background

Chronic gastrointestinal (GI) conditions can cause significant quality of life impairment and account for a significant proportion of health care utilization. Traditional medical treatments are often inadequate for managing these conditions, particularly for patients with moderate to severe functional GI disorders.

Research frontiers

Psychological interventions such as medical hypnosis and cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT) are empirically supported interventions for a variety of functional GI disorders, such as irritable bowel syndrome. These psychological treatments provide symptom relief in addition to improvements in mood and quality of life. Although there is strong empirical support for the use of psychological treatments with GI patients, the implementation of these interventions in clinical settings has been limited.

Innovations and breakthroughs

This study demonstrates the feasibility of integrating psychological treatment in an outpatient GI clinic. Gastroenterologists are often hesitant to refer patients for psychological treatment due to misconceptions about these interventions and perceived barriers to treatment. The findings of this study indicate that a wide range of patients are receptive to psychological treatment and that these interventions can decrease reliance of patients on medical providers.

Applications

This article provides a model for integrating psychological services into an outpatient GI practice and documents the benefits for both patients and providers of offering integrated psychological care.

Terminology

CBT refers to a type of psychotherapy that is short-term, collaborative, and aimed at addressing symptoms by helping the patient change thinking, behavior, and emotional responses. CBT has been found to be effective for numerous mental and physical health disorders.

Peer-review

This is an interesting study of the feasibility and effect of psychological interventions in the management of common GI disorders. The manuscript is well written, the tables are well organized, and the results are outlined in a very effective manner. This article will attract a significant number of readers, especially among gastroenterologists with specific interest in functional GI disorders.

REFERENCES

- Russo MW, Gaynes BN, Drossman DA. A national survey of practice patterns of gastroenterologists with comparison to the past two decades. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 1999; 29: 339-343 [PMID: 10599638 DOI: 10.1097/00004836-199912000-00009]
- 2 Inadomi JM, Fennerty MB, Bjorkman D. Systematic review: the economic impact of irritable bowel syndrome. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2003; 18: 671-682 [PMID: 14510740 DOI: 10.1046/ j.1365-2036.2003.t01-1-01736.x]
- 3 **Cash B**, Sullivan S, Barghout V. Total costs of IBS: employer and managed care perspective. *Am J Manag Care* 2005; **11**: S7-16 [PMID: 15926759]
- 4 Häuser W, Janke KH, Klump B, Hinz A. Anxiety and depression in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: comparisons with chronic liver disease patients and the general population. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2011; 17: 621-632 [PMID: 20848528 DOI: 10.1002/ ibd.21346]
- 5 Lea R, Whorwell PJ. New insights into the psychosocial aspects of irritable bowel syndrome. *Curr Gastroenterol Rep* 2003; 5: 343-350 [PMID: 12864966 DOI: 10.1007/s11894-003-0073-z]
- 6 Palsson OS, Whitehead WE. Psychological treatments in functional gastrointestinal disorders: a primer for the gastroenterologist. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013; 11: 208-16; quiz e22-3 [PMID: 23103907 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2012.10.031]
- 7 Hussain Z, Quigley EM. Systematic review: Complementary and alternative medicine in the irritable bowel syndrome. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2006; 23: 465-471 [PMID: 16441466 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2006.02776.x]
- 8 Hilsden RJ, Verhoef MJ, Best A, Pocobelli G. Complementary and alternative medicine use by Canadian patients with inflammatory bowel disease: results from a national survey. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2003; **98**: 1563-1568 [PMID: 12873578 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2003.07519.x]
- 9 Michsler W, Weichselberger M, Offerlbauer-Ernst A, Dejaco C, Reinisch W, Vogelsang H, Machold K, Stamm T, Gangl A, Moser G. Which patients with IBD need psychological interventions? A controlled study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2008; 14: 1273-1280 [PMID: 18393373 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.20462]
- 10 Lackner JM, Gudleski GD, Keefer L, Krasner SS, Powell C, Katz LA. Rapid response to cognitive behavior therapy predicts treatment outcome in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2010; 8: 426-432 [PMID: 20170751 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2010.02.007]
- 11 Palsson OS, Whitehead WE. The growing case for hypnosis as adjunctive therapy for functional gastrointestinal disorders. *Gastroenterology* 2002; **123**: 2132-2135 [PMID: 12454867 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2002.37286]
- 12 Tan G, Hammond DC, Joseph G. Hypnosis and irritable bowel syndrome: a review of efficacy and mechanism of action. *Am J Clin Hypn* 2005; 47: 161-178 [PMID: 15754863 DOI: 10.1080/00

029157.2005.10401481]

- 13 Palsson OS, Whitehead WE. Hypnosis for non-cardiac chest pain. Gut 2006; 55: 1381-1384 [PMID: 16966696 DOI: 10.1136/ gut.2006.095489]
- 14 Miller V, Jones H, Whorwell PJ. Hypnotherapy for non-cardiac chest pain: long-term follow-up. *Gut* 2007; 56: 1643 [PMID: 17938446 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2007.132621]
- 15 Calvert EL, Houghton LA, Cooper P, Morris J, Whorwell PJ. Long-term improvement in functional dyspepsia using hypnotherapy. *Gastroenterology* 2002; **123**: 1778-1785 [PMID: 12454833 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2002.37071]
- 16 Keefer L, Taft TH, Kiebles JL, Martinovich Z, Barrett TA, Palsson OS. Gut-directed hypnotherapy significantly augments clinical remission in quiescent ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2013; 38: 761-771 [PMID: 23957526 DOI: 10.1111/apt.12449]
- 17 von Wietersheim J, Kessler H. Psychotherapy with chronic inflammatory bowel disease patients: a review. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2006; 12: 1175-1184 [PMID: 17119392 DOI: 10.1097/01. mib.0000236925.87502.e0]
- 18 Keefer L, Kiebles JL, Kwiatek MA, Palsson O, Taft TH, Martinovich Z, Barrett TA. The potential role of a self-management intervention for ulcerative colitis: a brief report from the ulcerative colitis hypnotherapy trial. *Biol Res Nurs* 2012; 14: 71-77 [PMID: 21362636 DOI: 10.1177/1099800410397629]
- 19 Creed F, Fernandes L, Guthrie E, Palmer S, Ratcliffe J, Read N, Rigby C, Thompson D, Tomenson B. The cost-effectiveness of psychotherapy and paroxetine for severe irritable bowel syndrome.

Gastroenterology 2003; **124**: 303-317 [PMID: 12557136 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2003.50055]

- 20 van der Veek PP, van Rood YR, Masclee AA. Clinical trial: shortand long-term benefit of relaxation training for irritable bowel syndrome. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2007; 26: 943-952 [PMID: 17767479 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2007.03437.x]
- 21 **Derogatis LR**. Brief Symptom Inventory 18. Minneapolis: National Computer Systems Pearson, Inc., 2000
- Patrick DL, Drossman DA, Frederick IO, DiCesare J, Puder KL. Quality of life in persons with irritable bowel syndrome: development and validation of a new measure. *Dig Dis Sci* 1998; 43: 400-411 [PMID: 9512138]
- 23 Paré P, Gray J, Lam S, Balshaw R, Khorasheh S, Barbeau M, Kelly S, McBurney CR. Health-related quality of life, work productivity, and health care resource utilization of subjects with irritable bowel syndrome: baseline results from LOGIC (Longitudinal Outcomes Study of Gastrointestinal Symptoms in Canada), a naturalistic study. *Clin Ther* 2006; 28: 1726-1735; discussion 1726-1735 [PMID: 17157129 DOI: 10.1016/ j.clinthera.2006.10.010]
- 24 Peery AF, Dellon ES, Lund J, Crockett SD, McGowan CE, Bulsiewicz WJ, Gangarosa LM, Thiny MT, Stizenberg K, Morgan DR, Ringel Y, Kim HP, Dibonaventura MD, Carroll CF, Allen JK, Cook SF, Sandler RS, Kappelman MD, Shaheen NJ. Burden of gastrointestinal disease in the United States: 2012 update. *Gastroenterology* 2012; 143: 1179-87.e1-3 [PMID: 22885331 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.08.002]

P- Reviewer: Day AS, Jadallah AK S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1900 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1900-1906 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Observational Study

Measures of patient radiation exposure during endoscopic retrograde cholangiography: Beyond fluoroscopy time

Toufic Kachaamy, Edwyn Harrison, Rahul Pannala, William Pavlicek, Michael D Crowell, Douglas O Faigel

Toufic Kachaamy, Cancer Treatment Centers of America, Goodyear, AZ 85338, United States

Edwyn Harrison, Rahul Pannala, William Pavlicek, Michael D Crowell, Douglas O Faigel, Mayo Clinic, Arizona, AZ 85338, United States

Author contributions: Kachaamy T contributed to research design, data collection, data analysis and wrote the manuscript; Pannala R and Harrison E contributed equally to research design, data analysis and manuscript editing; Pavlicek W contributed to data collection, physics of radiation analysis and manuscript editing; Crowell MD provided statistical support for research design and data analysis and manuscript editing; and Faigel DO designed the research, contributed to data collection, data analysis and manuscript editing.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Toufic Kachaamy, MD, Cancer Treatment Centers of America, 14200 Celebrate Life Way, Goodyear, AZ 85338, United States. toufic.kachaamy@ctca-hope.com Telephone: +1-623-2073846 Fax: +1-623- 9328633 Received: July 11, 2014 Peer-review started: July 13, 2014

First decision: August 6, 2014 Revised: September 7, 2014 Accepted: October 14, 2014 Article in press: October 15, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To determine whether fluoroscope time is a good predictor of patient radiation exposure during endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography.

METHODS: This is a prospective observational study of consecutive patients undergoing endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in a tertiary care setting. Data related to radiation exposure were collected. The following measures were obtained: Fluoroscopy time (FT), dose area product (DAP) and dose at reference point (DOSERP). Coefficients of determination were calculated to analyze the correlation between FT, DAP and DOSRP. Agreement between FT and DAP/DOSRP was assessed using Bland Altman plots.

RESULTS: Four hundred sixty-three data sets were obtained. Fluoroscopy time average was 7.3 min. Fluoroscopy related radiation accounted for 86% of the total DAP while acquisition films related radiation accounted for 14% of the DAP. For any given FT there are wide ranges of DAP and DOSERP and the variability in both increases as fluoroscopy time increases. The coefficient of determination (R²) on the non transformed data for DAP and DOSERP versus FT were respectively 0.416 and 0.554. While fluoroscopy use was the largest contributor to patient radiation exposure during endoscopic retrograde cholangiography (ERCP), there is a wide variability in DAP and DOSERP that is not accounted for by FT. DAP and DOSERP increase in variability as FT increases. This translates into poor accuracy of FT in predicting DAP and DOSERP at higher radiation doses.

CONCLUSION: DAP and DOSERP in addition to FT should be adopted as new ERCP quality measures to estimate patient radiation exposure.

Key words: Cholangiopancreatography; Endoscopic retrograde; Fluoroscopy; Radiation; Endoscopy; Standards

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiography (ERCP) performance requires endoscopic skills and the use of



fluoroscopy with inherent patient and staff radiation exposure. Current ERCP quality measures do not include any measures of radiation. There has been a suggestion to include fluoroscopy time as a radiation quality measure in ERCP. This article provides data on the strength of correlation between fluoroscopy time and more direct measures of radiation exposure such as dose area product and dose at reference point. It also provides a recommendation to include all three measures as quality measures for ERCP. The article presents important principles to achieve the as low as reasonable achievable radiation doses during ERCP.

Kachaamy T, Harrison E, Pannala R, Pavlicek W, Crowell MD, Faigel DO. Measures of patient radiation exposure during endoscopic retrograde cholangiography: Beyond fluoroscopy time. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1900-1906 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1900. htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1900

INTRODUCTION

Endoscopic retrograde cholangiography (ERCP) is one the most resource intensive complex endoscopic procedures routinely performed. It requires in addition to endoscopic skills the ability to interpret radiologic images in real time. It is also the one with the highest risk. The American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE) and the American College of Gastroenterology (ACG) established a task force in 2006 to create quality metrics for endoscopy including ERCP. The quality measures proposed for ERCP are listed in Table 1 and are designed to represent measurable endpoints indicative of high quality care^[1].

The use of fluoroscopy inherent to ERCP results in patients and staff radiation exposure. Since publication of the 2006 guidelines, fluoroscopy time has been proposed as a potential quality metric to add to the original quality measures which did not include a measure of radiation exposure^[2]. Radiation exposure in the United States and worldwide have been increasing significantly^[3]. Radiation doses to patients and staff during ERCP can be similar to other interventional radiologic procedures^[4,5]. While the effects of radiation from one ERCP are unlikely to have any negative effects on patients' health, the cumulative effects of multiple radiologic procedures including ERCPs can be detrimental. A recent study suggested that radiation doses during ERCP may have declined in recent years partly due to better equipment and partly due to the experience gained in ERCP^[6]. We believe that measures of radiation exposure during ERCP need to be included as quality indicators. Good measures should be accurate and easily measured. They should be comparable across centers to compare performance and be included in quality improvement projects. They

Kachaamy T et al. ERCP radiation exposure measures

Table 1 Proposed quality Indicators for endoscopic retrograde cholangiography	
Quality indicator	

1 Appropriate indication
2 Informed consent
3 Assessment of procedural difficulty
4 Prophylactic antibiotics
5 Cannulation rates
Desired duct
Use of precut
6 Extraction of common bile duct stones
7 Biliary stent placement
8 Complete documentation
9 Complication rates: pancreatitis, bleeding, perforation, and cholangitis

can help endoscopists become more cognizant of their radiation use and in time reduce patient and staff radiation exposure. The ideal measures would also be comparable to measures in other radiologic procedures as we envision a patient specific radiation exposure measure and ways to minimize radiation exposure as one of the future goals of the healthcare system. Fluoroscopy time has been proposed to be used as a quality measure for ERCP, however, fluoroscopy time is but one of several factors that determine radiation exposure, may not be the most accurate surrogate marker and has its limitations. In fact guidelines for patient radiation dose management from the society of interventional radiology recommend that fluoroscopy time be used with caution to monitor patient radiation doses because of poor correlation with other dose metrics)^[7]. This article attempts to define an evidence based quality measure of patient radiation exposure specific to ERCP.

When X-ray energy is absorbed by tissue an electrical charge is produced. In the international system of units (SI) this is measured in Grays. 1 Gray = 1 J/kg. Because different tissues absorb radiation differently the energy produced is tissue dependant. The radiation dose absorbed in humans is measured in tems (radiation equivalent in men) the unit of which in the SI is Sieverts (Sv)^[8]. Ionization can cause DNA damage. There are many different forms of radiation related injuries including stochastic and deterministic injuries. In stochastic the probability of an event is related to the amount of exposure but the severity is not; such is the case in cancer induction. Deterministic injuries occur after a certain threshold is reached; an example would be skin related burns^[6]. In stochastic injuries there is no amount of radiation which does not lead to possible injury and thus the concept of linear-no-threshold model of radiation exposure. A consequence of this model is the evolution of the concept of using radiation doses as low as reasonably achievable to perform the task or study (ALARA principle). A simplistic estimate of radiation risk from epidemiologic studies suggest that a lifetime exposure to 1 Sv increases the cancer risk by 10% and cancer mortality by 5%^[9]. For reference



Kachaamy T et al. ERCP radiation exposure measures

Table 2 Radiation data mean and range							
	DAPt	DOSERPt	DAPf	DOSERPf	DAPa	DOSERPa	FLUORO_TIME
Mean	0.0022529	0.28213	0.1269457	0.126946	0.000296	0.001784	7.31
Minimum	0.0000013	0.00004	0.0000013	0.00004	0	0	1.00
Maximum	0.004545	1.92667	0.0042557	0.4832	0.000289	0.0291	2141

a CT scan exposes the patient to around 10 mSv and translates to an increase by one cancer in every 1000 CT scans. There are many measures of radiation exposure that can be used. Dose Area Product (DAP) is the product of the dose absorbed and the area irradiated and is expressed in Gy square cm. It is an estimation of the entire dose of radiation that the patient receives and is thought to correlate the with long term biologic risk from radiation or stochastic injury. Dose at the reference point (DOSERP) is another measure used and is the dose of radiation delivered to a specific point in space which is, unless otherwise specified, along the central ray 15 cm from the isocenter toward the X-ray tube. DOSERP is relevant to skin injury and deterministic injury. Both can be easily measured by detectors installed on the fluoroscopy unit and the results can be made to be automatically included in reports and transmitted to a database. Because of the ease of measurement, fluoroscopy time has been used as a measure of radiation exposure in ERCP. The assumptions are that FT is a good indicator of radiation exposure and their relationship is linear. However, FT is just one of several factors that determine radiation exposure. These factors include acquisition (spot) films, fluoroscopy pulse rate, patient distance from the x-ray tube, use of oblique imaging, magnification and patient body mass index (BMI). In fact, multiple studies of non-GI interventional radiologic procedures have found FT to be a poor predictor of patient radiation doses such as interventional radiology societies caution against relying exclusively on FT as a measure for patient radiation exposure^[5,7,10-12].

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A part of an ongoing quality initiative we prospectively collected data from all ERCPs performed in our tertiary care center from January 2012 until June 2013. The following information was obtained: Dose area product (DAP) in milligray meter squared, radiation dose of the reference point in Gray (Gy) DOSERP and fluoroscopy time (FT). DAP and DOSERP data were divided into total, fluoroscopy related and spot films acquisition related: DAPt, DAPf, DAPa, DOSERPt, DOSERPf and DOSERPa respectively. The fluoroscopy unit used was a Siemens unit with the following model and settings: Model - Artis zee multipurpose stand, Software - VC14J, Detector - Flat panel, Pulse per second - 3 PPS for Fluoroscopy, kVp - 125 kVp for fluoro and 120 kVp for spots (maximum) and mA - 800 mA for fluoro (maximum). 0.1 mm Copper filtration was used in addition to the standard filtration. Radiation meters permanently installed on the fluoroscopy unit provided DAP and DOSRP measurements. Scatter plots were generated. Coefficients of variation were determined on both the transformed and non transformed data. Bland Altman plots were obtained. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS. The study was exempt from review of the institutional because the data was collected without patient identifiers.

All procedures were performed by three experienced therapeutic endoscopists with the possible involvement of a 4th year advanced endoscopy fellow. Procedures were done in the prone position under general anesthesia. Olympus endoscopic equipment and Boston Scientific short wire rapid exchange accessories were used.

RESULTS

Four hundred sixty-three data sets were obtained. ERCPs were performed by three different attendings. A fellow was involved in approximately 60% of the procedures. The radiation data mean and ranges are shown in Table 2. Fluoroscopy time average was 7.3 min. Fluoroscopy related radiation accounted for 86% of the total DAP while acquisition films related radiation accounted for 14% of the DAP. Every acquisition film was equivalent to approximately 15 seconds of fluoroscopy time (data obtained from a sample of the total data).

Scatter plots for DAP and DOSERP as a function of FT are shown in Figure 1. The scatter plot show that for any given FT there are wide ranges of DAP and DOSERP and the variability in both increases as fluoroscopy time increases. This is confirmed by the Bland Altman plots where a significant proportional bias was seen and increased as FT increased (Figure 2). The coefficient of variation (R) for DAP versus fluoroscopy time was 0.645. The coefficient of determination (R²) on the non transformed data for DAP and DOSERP versus FT were respectively 0.416 and 0.554. A better linear relationship was found using the log transformed data and the coefficient of variation were 0.66 and 0.69. Data on magnification were available on 183 patients. Changes in magnification accounted for only 6% of the variability in DAP and DOSERP.

WJG www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Scatter plot. A: Dose area product and fluoroscopy time; B: Dose at reference point and fluoroscopy time. DAP: Dose area product; DOSRP: Dose at reference point.



Figure 2 Bland Altman plott. A: Dose area product and fluoroscopy time; B: Dose at reference point and fluoroscopy time. DAP: Dose area product; DOSRP: Dose at reference point.

DISCUSSION

The use of fluoroscopy is inherent to ERCP. Since the quality measures proposed by the joint ASGE/ ACG task force there has been proposal to include fluoroscopy time as a additional quality indicator to monitor and improve on patient radiation exposure during $\mathsf{ERCP}^{\scriptscriptstyle[2]}$. In addition, most studies which looked at patient radiation exposure during ERCP in the past relied on FT. For example a study which looked at factors associated with increased patient exposure used FT as a measure of radiation exposure^[13]. Another study which found that radiation exposure during ERCP was lower when providers with more experience performed the procedure used FT as the outcome measured^[14]. Other studies looked at the critical determinant of fluoroscopy duration, the effect of training on fluoroscopy duration and the effect of time limited fluoroscopy^[15-17]. One very large study which looked at the experience of the endoscopist and "radiation exposure" in ERCP found that more

experienced endoscopist used less fluoroscopy time. These studies assumed that radiation exposure strongly correlated with FT^[15]. Prior studies which looked at the relationship between DAP and FT had a small number of patients 20, 73 and 54 patients^[4,18,19]. A recent study found no correlation between DAP and FT or total number of films taken^[20]. A large study which reported fluoroscopy time, DAP and DOSERP found a strong but "not perfect" with an $r = 0.728^{[6]}$. Our data shows that fluoroscopy use is the largest contributor to patient radiation exposure during ERCP. While there is a good correlation between DAP, DOSERP and FT, there is a wide variability in DAP and DOSERP that is not accounted for by FT. DAP and DOSERP increase in variability as FT increases, and this translates into poor accuracy of FT in predicting DAP and DOSERP where it matters most *i.e.* at higher radiation doses. Thus, while there is a correlation between FT and exposure, the correlation is not accurate resulting in both under and overestimations of radiation dose if FT were relied upon alone.

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

Kachaamy T et al. ERCP radiation exposure measures



Figure 3 Good patient positioning: Patient is close to the detector and far from the X-ray tube.

DAP and DOSERP reflect multiple other factors not reflected by FT including the patient size and position, the geometry and setting of the fluoroscopy equipment, collimation, angulation, magnification, total number of acquisition films obtained, and radiation filtration. While some factors such as patient size are not controllable by the endoscopist many are modifiable. Some factors can be modified a priori and for all procedures like the equipment settings including pulse per second and filtration. For example changing the pulse rate on the machine from 15 to 3 can decrease patient radiation doses fivefold. This will not be reflected in FT. Copper filtration will filter radiation to the patient which does not contribute to the quality of images and thus decreasing patient radiation exposure without significantly affecting the quality of the image^[21]. Some ways to decrease radiation exposure require meticulous attention at the beginning of the procedure like the patient and detector position (Figure 3).

Others ways to decrease radiation doses need behavior modification during the procedure: For instance using last image save instead of acquisition films and using magnification only when it helps significantly in the task being performed and reverting back to the lowest needed magnification once the higher resolution is no longer needed. That being said, in our study magnification had a small effect on total exposure and we believe that the magnification relationship to total radiation exposure is more complex than the obvious. While there is no doubt that magnification increases the amount of radiation per unit time delivered to a point in space, it may involve a smaller radiation field and thus the effect on DAP is complex. In addition, if magnification allows the faster performance of the needed task it might decrease fluoroscopy time with the end result being less radiation than what would be expected purely from magnification. This might explain why magnification was only responsible for 6% of the variation in our data. We would like to emphasize however that magnification does not always lead to better visualization

Table 3 ALARA principles				
ALARA principles				
Keep the patient away	Use fluorosave instead of acquisition			
from the radiation source	images			
Keep the detector close to	Keep angulation to a minimum			
the patient				
Lower the exposure rate (PPS)	Add 0.1 mm Cu filtration for all protocols			
Use lowest needed magnification	Step back during acquisition			
Use collimation	Use personal protective equipment			
Limit fluoroscopy on-time	Use lead shielding on the fluoroscopy unit			

especially if multiple magnification factors are used as the image can become more blurred at higher magnification. This can happen because magnification can alter the focus of the radiation beam on the detector. Suggestions to help the endoscopist follow the ALARA principles are listed in Table 3.

There are additional benefits for using more direct measures of radiation exposure such as DAP and DOSERP over FT. They are comparable among centers and can be used to establish useful benchmarks for quality improvement. They are also comparable to measures obtained during other imaging procedures and interventional radiologic procedure making a patient centered cumulative radiation measure possible. They will also help the endoscopist collaborate with the radiology department to identify ways to decrease patient and staff radiation exposure beyond just looking at FT. DAP and DOSERP have their limitations. For example they both ignore the radiation delivered to the patient as a result of backscatter. While DOSERP is a good estimate of the skin dose delivered to the patient, the best estimate of skin injury would be the peak skin dose (PSD). PSD represents the highest level of radiation that any part of the skin receives. PSD however is very difficult to measure or determine. Both DAP and DOSERP are easily measured and the values collected can be automated making quality improvement projects easier to implement. In addition current FDA guidelines require any new fluoroscopic unit installed in the United States to have the capability of measuring radiation exposure making this type of quality measure eventually possible for all endoscopists using fluoroscopy. The uncertainties in these measures are currently estimated to be + or -50% for DOSERP and +130% to -70% for FT. DAP uncertainty in measurement is in between these values. While none of these measures are highly accurate in determining the exact amount of radiation exposure, FT is the least accurate^[20]. For the above reasons, we believe it is time for endoscopists performing ERCP on regular basis to join other fluoroscopy based disciplines in monitoring their patient radiation exposure by incorporating DAP and DOSERP measurements in addition to FT as part of their quality measures.



WJG www.wjgnet.com

Patient radiation exposure is increasing in the United States and worldwide. Patient radiation exposure during ERCP can be similar to other interventional radiologic procedures. Quality measures reflecting patient radiation exposure during ERCP are needed. Based on the above data, we recommend adopting DAP and DOSERP in addition to FT as new ERCP quality measures to estimate patient radiation exposure.

COMMENTS

Background

Endoscopic retrograde cholangiography (ERCP) is one of the most complicated gastrointestinal procedures routinely performed. It requires in addition to endoscopic skills the use of fluoroscopy with inherent patient and staff radiation exposure. Quality measures were proposed in 2006 by a joint the American Society of Gastrointestinal endoscopy and the American College of Gastroenterology task force but did not include any measures of radiation. Since the publication of these quality measures fluoroscopy time has been proposed to be added as a measure reflecting patient radiation exposure.

Research frontiers

Studies of fluoroscopy time correlation with patient radiation exposure during ERCP are small. Interventional radiology and cardiology literature suggest that fluoroscopy time is an inaccurate measure of radiation exposure. Well designed large studies looking at ERCP radiation quality measures are lacking.

Innovation and breakthroughs

This is the largest study on radiation measures in ERCP. The findings are contrary to prior small studies which showed that fluoroscopy time is an excellent measure of patient radiation exposure. The findings are consistent with other fluoroscopy based disciplines and recommendation of interventional radiology societies.

Applications

The authors recommend using Dose Area Product and Dose at Reference Point in addition to Fluroroscopy time as measures of patient radiation exposure. These measures will allow creation of ERCP specific radiation benchmarks which can be comparable among centers. They will also allow the possibility of tracking total radiation dose for a given patient across disciplines including diagnostic imaging.

Terminology

Dose area product (DAP): is a surrogate marker of the radiation risk to the tissue irradiated. It is the product of the radiation dose absorbed and the area irradiated expressed in gray cm square. It does not account for the radiation dose cause by scatter. It is easily measured by placing a dosimeter beyond the collimator in a way to intercept the radiation beam. DAP correlates with the risk of stochastic effects such as cancer induction. Dose at reference point (DOSRP): is the dose of radiation delivered to a specific point in space which is, unless otherwise specified, along the central ray 15 cm from the isocenter toward the x-ray tube. It does not include radiation related to backscatter. DOSRP correlates with the risk of deterministic effects such as skin injury. Peak Skin dose: is the highest radiation dose received by any part of the patient skin. This includes radiation from the primary X-ray bean and backscatter. It is difficult to measure but is the best estimate of deterministic effects. Stochastic effects: a radiation effect whose probability of occurrence is related to the amount of exposure but the severity is not; such is the case in cancer induction. Deterministic effects: a radiation effect whose probability occurs after a certain threshold is reached; an example would be skin related burns.

Peer-review

This is a very interesting prospective and descriptive study. The authors have been able to show that fluoroscopy time is not an accurate indirect measurement of the radiation exposure during the ERCP procedure to the patient and medical staff.

REFERENCES

1 Baron TH, Petersen BT, Mergener K, Chak A, Cohen J, Deal

SE, Hoffman B, Jacobson BC, Petrini JL, Safdi MA, Faigel DO, Pike IM. Quality indicators for endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2006; **63**: S29-S34 [PMID: 16564909 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2006.02.019]

- Romagnuolo J, Cotton PB. Recording ERCP fluoroscopy metrics using a multinational quality network: establishing benchmarks and examining time-related improvements. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2013; 108: 1224-1230 [PMID: 23912400 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2012.388]
- 3 Mettler FA, Bhargavan M, Faulkner K, Gilley DB, Gray JE, Ibbott GS, Lipoti JA, Mahesh M, McCrohan JL, Stabin MG, Thomadsen BR, Yoshizumi TT. Radiologic and nuclear medicine studies in the United States and worldwide: frequency, radiation dose, and comparison with other radiation sources--1950-2007. *Radiology* 2009; 253: 520-531 [PMID: 19789227 DOI: 10.1148/ radiol.2532082010]
- 4 Buls N, Pages J, Mana F, Osteaux M. Patient and staff exposure during endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. *Br J Radiol* 2002; **75**: 435-443 [PMID: 12036837 DOI: 10.1259/ bjr.75.893.750435]
- 5 Brambilla M, Marano G, Dominietto M, Cotroneo AR, Carriero A. Patient radiation doses and references levels in interventional radiology. *Radiol Med* 2004; 107: 408-418 [PMID: 15103292]
- 6 Rodríguez-Perálvarez ML, Miñano-Herrrero JA, Hervás-Molina AJ, Benítez-Cantero JM, García-Sánchez V, Naranjo-Rodríguez A, Pleguezuelo-Navarro M, Soler-Cantos Mdel M, de la Mata-García M. Radio induced cancer risk during ERCP. Is it a real clinical problem? *Rev Esp Enferm Dig* 2011; **103**: 191-195 [PMID: 21526872 DOI: 10.4321/S1130-01082011000400004]
- 7 Stecker MS, Balter S, Towbin RB, Miller DL, Vañó E, Bartal G, Angle JF, Chao CP, Cohen AM, Dixon RG, Gross K, Hartnell GG, Schueler B, Statler JD, de Baère T, Cardella JF. Guidelines for patient radiation dose management. *J Vasc Interv Radiol* 2009; 20: S263-S273 [PMID: 19560006 DOI: 10.1016/j.jvir.2009.04.037]
- 8 Campbell N, Sparrow K, Fortier M, Ponich T. Practical radiation safety and protection for the endoscopist during ERCP. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2002; 55: 552-557 [PMID: 11923771 DOI: 10.1067/mge.2002.122578]
- 9 Royal HD. Effects of low level radiation-what's new? *Semin Nucl Med* 2008; 38: 392-402 [PMID: 18662560 DOI: 10.1053/j.semnuc lmed.2008.05.006]
- 10 Panuccio G, Greenberg RK, Wunderle K, Mastracci TM, Eagleton MG, Davros W. Comparison of indirect radiation dose estimates with directly measured radiation dose for patients and operators during complex endovascular procedures. *J Vasc Surg* 2011; 53: 885-894.e1; discussion 894 [PMID: 21292431]
- Weiss DJ, Pipinos II, Longo GM, Lynch TG, Rutar FJ, Johanning JM. Direct and indirect measurement of patient radiation exposure during endovascular aortic aneurysm repair. *Ann Vasc Surg* 2008; 22: 723-729 [PMID: 18992664 DOI: 10.1016/j.avsg.2008.06.008]
- 12 Mohapatra A, Greenberg RK, Mastracci TM, Eagleton MJ, Thornsberry B. Radiation exposure to operating room personnel and patients during endovascular procedures. *J Vasc Surg* 2013; 58: 702-709 [PMID: 23810300 DOI: 10.1016/j.jvs.2013.02.032]
- 13 Boix J, Lorenzo-Zúñiga V. Radiation dose to patients during endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 3: 140-144 [PMID: 21860683 DOI: 10.4253/wjge. v3.i7.140]
- 14 Gonzalez-Gonzalez JA, Martínez-Vazquez MA, Maldonado-Garza HJ, Garza-Galindo AA. Radiation doses to ERCP patients are significantly lower with experienced endoscopists. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 73: 415 [PMID: 21295662 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.06.009]
- 15 Kim E, McLoughlin M, Lam EC, Amar J, Byrne M, Telford J, Enns R. Prospective analysis of fluoroscopy duration during ERCP: critical determinants. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; **72**: 50-57 [PMID: 20620272 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.04.012]
- 16 Uradomo LT, Lustberg ME, Darwin PE. Effect of physician training on fluoroscopy time during ERCP. *Dig Dis Sci* 2006; 51: 909-914 [PMID: 16718536 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-005-9007-y]
- 17 Uradomo LT, Goldberg EM, Darwin PE. Time-limited fluoroscopy to reduce radiation exposure during ERCP: a prospective randomized trial. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2007; 66: 84-89 [PMID:

Kachaamy T et al. ERCP radiation exposure measures

17591479 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2006.10.055]

- 18 Larkin CJ, Workman A, Wright RE, Tham TC. Radiation doses to patients during ERCP. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2001; 53: 161-164 [PMID: 11174284 DOI: 10.1067/mge.2001.111389]
- 19 Heyd RL, Kopecky KK, Sherman S, Lehman GA, Stockberger SM. Radiation exposure to patients and personnel during interventional ERCP at a teaching institution. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1996; 44: 287-292 [PMID: 8885348 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(96)70166-9]
- 20 Tsapaki V, Paraskeva KD, Mathou N, Andrikopoulos E, Tentas P, Triantopoulou C, Karagiannis JA. Patient and endoscopist radiation doses during ERCP procedures. *Radiat Prot Dosimetry* 2011; 147: 111-113 [PMID: 21743074 DOI: 10.1093/rpd/ncr285]
- 21 Fetterly KA. Investigation of the practical aspects of an additional 0.1 mm copper x-ray spectral filter for cine acquisition mode imaging in a clinical care setting. *Health Phys* 2010; **99**: 624-630 [PMID: 20938232 DOI: 10.1097/HP.0b013e3181d96964]

P- Reviewer: Rabago L, Singhal S S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu XM







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1907 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1907-1914 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Observational Study

Significance of low level infliximab in the absence of anti-infliximab antibodies

Bella Ungar, Adi Anafy, Henit Yanai, Yulia Ron, Miri Yavzori, Orit Picard, Ella Fudim, Ronen Loebstein, Uri Kopylov, Yehuda Chowers, Iris Dotan, Rami Eliakim, Shomron Ben-Horin

Bella Ungar, Adi Anafy, Miri Yavzori, Orit Picard, Ella Fudim, Uri Kopylov, Rami Eliakim, Shomron Ben-Horin, Department of Gastroenterology, Sheba Medical Center Tel Hashomer and Sackler School of Medicine, Tel-Aviv University, Tel-Aviv 6997801, Israel

Henit Yanai, Yulia Ron, Iris Dotan, IBD Center, Department of Gastroenterology, Tel-Aviv Sourasky Medical Center and Sackler School of Medicine, Tel-Aviv University, Tel-Aviv 6997801, Israel Ronen Loebstein, Institute of Clinical Pharmacology, Sheba Medical Center Tel Hashomer and Sackler School of Medicine, Tel-Aviv University, Tel-Aviv 6997801, Israel

Yehuda Chowers, Rambam Health Care Campus and Bruce Rappaport School of Medicine, Technion Institute of Technology, Haifa 31999, Israel

Author contributions: Ungar B, Anafi A and Yanai H analyzed the data; Ungar B drafted the manuscript; Yavzori M, Fudim E and Picard O performed the laboratory research; Kopylov U, Ron Y, Loebstein R, Dotan I and Eliakim R assisted in data acquisition and drafted the manuscript; Ben-Horin S conceived the study, designed the research and drafted the manuscript; all authors finally approved the manuscript.

Supported by (in part) "Talpiot" Medical Leadership program of the Sheba Medical Center (to SBH) and the Helmsley Charitable Trust (To SBH, RE, ID and YC).

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Bella Ungar, MD, Department of Gastroenterology, Sheba Medical Center Tel Hashomer and Sackler School of Medicine, Tel-Aviv University, Tel-Aviv 6997801, Israel. bellageyshis@gmail.com

Telephone: +972-3-5302694 Fax: +972-3-5303160 Received: August 8, 2014 Peer-review started: August 9, 2014 First decision: August 27, 2014 Revised: September 8, 2014 Accepted: October 14, 2014 Article in press: October 15, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To evaluate the prevalence of double negative (DN) sera and the mechanisms responsible for DN status.

METHODS: Sera of inflammatory bowel disease patients treated with infliximab (IFX) were tested for drug/antibodies to infliximab (ATI) trough levels and the proportion of DN results was compared between a commercially available double antigen ELISA (with labeled IFX as the detection antibody) and an antilambda ELISA (with anti-human lambda chain detection antibody). Repeat testing with lower than customary serum dilution (1:10) was performed. Patients with DN status were matched with IFX+/ATI- controls and were followed-up for subsequent development of nontransient ATI to investigate if DN status precedes ATI.

RESULTS: Of 67 sera obtained at time of loss of response, only 6/67 (9%) were DN by anti-lambda ELISA compared to 27/67 (40%) with double antigen ELISA (P < 0.001, Fisher's Exact test). Of the latter 27 sera, 22% were also DN by anti-lambda ELISA, whereas 44% were actually IFX positive (IFX+ATI-), 30% were ATI positive (IFX-ATI+) and 4% were double positive (IFX+ATI+). Re-testing using a 1:10 dilution converted most DN results into IFX+ and /or ATI+ status. Patients with DN status had shorter survival free of non-transient ATI compared with matched controls (log rank test, P < 0.001). In 9/30 (30%) of these patients, non transient ATI occurred before and after the event at which the DN serum was obtained, supporting the view that a DN result may represent a



particular time-point along the two curves of ATI titer rise and infliximab drug level decline.

CONCLUSION: DN status may result from false negative detection of IFX or ATI by double antigen ELISA, suggesting a transitional state of low-level immunogenicity, rather than non-immunological clearance.

Key words: Inflammatory bowel disease; Biological therapy; Infliximab; Immunology; Drug response

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Among patients who lose response to infliximab (IFX) 10%-60% have low IFX levels in the absence of antibodies to infliximab (ATI) - double negative (DN) status. We explored the prevalence and the mechanisms responsible for DN status. The prevalence of DN sera varied with the assay and dilution used. Patients with DN status had shorter survival free of ATI compared with matched controls (P < 0.001). We believe that DN status may result from false negative detection of IFX or ATI by a conventional ELISA assay, suggesting a transitional state of low-level immunogenicity, rather than non-immunological drug clearance.

Ungar B, Anafy A, Yanai H, Ron Y, Yavzori M, Picard O, Fudim E, Loebstein R, Kopylov U, Chowers Y, Dotan I, Eliakim R, Ben-Horin S. Significance of low level infliximab in the absence of anti-infliximab antibodies. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1907-1914 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1907.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1907

INTRODUCTION

Infliximab (IFX) is a chimeric mouse - human monoclonal immunoglobulin G1 (IgG1) antibody against tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α). It is effective in inducing and maintaining remission in crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC)^[1-3]. Between 30%-70% of patients who initially respond to IFX subsequently lose their response and experience exacerbation of symptoms, necessitating either dose escalation, switch to another anti-TNF agent, concomitant immunomodulator therapy or surgical intervention^[4-6]. Antibodies to infliximab (ATI) develop in approximately 40% of IFX treated patients and correlate with lower IFX trough levels and clinical loss of response (LOR)^[7,8]. In 10%-60% of LOR patients, pharmacokinetic tests reveal low IFX trough levels and absence of detectable ATI, designated double negative (DN) status (IFX-/ATI-)^[5,9]. Furthermore, several studies, including the SONIC trial, demonstrated that among patients with LOR, the DN status was in fact the more common scenario rather than

the expected IFX-/ATI+ status^[7,10].

There is a lack of data regarding the mechanisms responsible for the DN status and its consequence. DN status has been attributed to both immune and non-immune clearance of anti-TNF, as well as to technical limitations, such as non-uniform timing of measurement (trough levels are more sensitive than in-between infusions)^[5,11]. The uncertainty about the causes and implications of an IFX-/ATI- status makes it hard to establish optimal strategies to prevent and/or manage LOR events in the presence of such a pharmacokinetic situation.

The aims of the present study were to evaluate the frequency and clinical significance of DN status among IFX-treated IBD patients (both in general and at time of LOR) and to investigate the impact of the diagnostic technique on the incidence of this phenomenon.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design and patient population

The study population included IBD patients treated with IFX at the gastroenterology departments of Sheba medical center and the Tel-Aviv Sourasky Medical Center between February 2009 and October 2013, who had available sera stored. All participants provided written informed consent and the ethics committees of the two medical centers approved the study. Pre-infusion sera were obtained and analyzed for trough IFX and ATI levels. Sera of patients whose infusions were delayed for over 2 wk from the scheduled date were excluded.

The study consisted of two separate parts: (1) an analytical part, which targeted differences between assays and technical limitations; and (2) a clinical part, aiming to study the natural history of the DN phenomenon (Figure 1). In the analytical part of the study, IFX and ATI trough levels of patients experiencing LOR were evaluated using two different ELISA assays: double antigen and anti-lambda ELISA. Subsequently, the fraction of IgG4 ATI was measured and compared in a sample of patients with discrepant results between the two ELISA assays to investigate if the conflicting results stemmed from a predominant monovalent IgG4 ATI response. Finally, to investigate the analytical accuracy of the anti-lambda ELISA, this assay was repeated in 45 randomly selected DN sera using a serum dilution of 1:10 (rather than the conventional 1:100 dilution). Patients' sera in this analysis were tested regardless of response status, and sera of healthy volunteers unexposed to IFX served as controls.

The clinical part was a case-control study; cases were patients with IBD who had at least one DN (IFX-ATI-) measurement during routine followup (not necessarily at a point of LOR) and controls were IBD patients with positive drug levels without ATI (IFX+ATI-). The starting point of the analysis was defined as the month of the DN event in the





Figure 1 Flow chart of the patients included in the two parts of this study. The analytical part (dashed lines) comprised a comparison of two different assays and of two different serum dilutions; the clinical part (solid lines) followed up, in a case-control study, double negative patients versus patients with adequate infliximab levels for subsequent antibodies to infliximab formation and clinical outcome. DN: Double negative; LOR: Loss of response; AL: Anti-lambda; DA: Double-antigen; IFX: Infliximab; ATI: Antibodies to infliximab.

cases and the matching month in the controls. The pharmacokinetics at the end of follow-up were correlated to clinical outcome. Cases and controls were matched according to the duration of IFX therapy. Patients with unavailable subsequent measurements were excluded. Antibody formation was defined as positive when a patient tested positive for ATI during follow-up on more than two consecutive time points. Transient antibodies were defined as measurable ATI on up to two consecutive infusions, which disappeared on subsequent infusions without any alteration of therapy^[8,12,13]. Permanent, non-transient, ATI comprised the primary end point, while transient ATI were disregarded. Clinical response was defined by an improvement in disease activity indexes, the Harvey-Bradshaw index (HBI) and the simple clinical colitis activity index (SCCAI) for CD and UC patients, respectively, coupled with a treating physician's decision to continue IFX therapy without alteration. Clinical response was evaluated on the day of IFX infusion. Secondary LOR was defined as increased disease activity (a rise of > 3 points in HBI score or of > 2 points in SCCAI for CD and UC, respectively) after achieving an appropriate induction response^[14-16]. When unavailable, clinical response was determined by the documented physician's global assessment.

Measurement of IFX by TNF- α -blocker-monitoring infliximab drug level ELISA

IFX levels were measured by a commercially available quantitative ELISA, $TNF-\alpha$ -blocker-monitoring (Immundiagnostik, Bensheim, Germany), following the manufacturer's instructions. The assay's detection

threshold was IFX > 1 μ g/mL.

Measurement of ATI by TNF- α -blocker-ADA double antigen ELISA

ATI levels were measured by a commercially available qualitative TNF- α -blocker-ADA (antibodies against infliximab, Immundiagnostik, Bensheim, Germany), following the manufacturer's instructions. The assay's detection threshold was ATI > 10 AU/mL, which was standardized in our laboratories to 1 AU/mL.

In house determination of IFX levels

A volume of 100 μ L of 1:100 diluted serum was added to pre-plated 750 ng/mL TNF α (Peprotech, Rocky Hill, NJ, United States) and incubated for 90 min. Following washing, horseradish peroxidase (HRP) labeled goat anti-human Fc fragment antibody (MP Biomedicals, Solon, OH, United States) at a concentration of 0.62 μ g/mL was added for 60 min and reacted with the tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate. The results were then read on an ELISA reader. Quantification of the measured IFX concentration was done by calibration to a standard curve in which exogenous IFX (Schering Plough, NJ, United States) was added at concentrations between 3 and 200 ng/mL. The assay's detection threshold was IFX > 0.6 μ g/mL.

Measurement of ATI by anti-human lambda chain detection antibody ELISA

ATI were determined as previously described^[11,17]. Briefly, IFX (0.1 mg/mL) was added to pre-plated TNF α (500 ng/mL) in 100 μ L wells of ELISA plates



Figure 2 ELISA tests of patients with loss of response. Out of 67 patients with loss of response, 27 (40%) were double negative with double antigen ELISA. Of those, only 6 (9%) were DN using anti-lambda ELISA. LOR: Loss of response; DN: Double negative; IFX: Infliximab; ATI: Antibodies to infliximab.

(Nunc, Roskilde, Denmark). After drying, 100 μ L of serum (1:100 dilution) was added and incubated for 90 min at room temperature. Plates were then washed and goat anti-human λ chain HRP-labeled antibody (Sertec, Oxford, United Kingdom) was added at a dilution of 2.5×10^4 for 60 min and reacted with the TMB substrate. The results were read by an ELISA reader EL-800 (Biotek Instruments, Winooski, VT, United States) and expressed as mcg/mL-equivalent (mcg/mL-e) after normalization *vs* results obtained using additions of graded concentrations between 9 and 600 ng/mL of HRP labeled goat anti-human F(ab')2 fragment antibody (MP Biomedicals). The assay's detection threshold was ATI > 2.5 μ g/mL-eq.

Measurement of IgG4 fraction of ATI

IFX (0.1 mg/mL) was added to pre-plated TNF α (500 ng/mL) in 100 μ L wells of ELISA plates (Nunc). After drying, 100 μ L of diluted serum (1:100) was added and incubated at room temperature. Plates were then washed and an HRP-labeled monoclonal antibody to human IgG4 (fc-specific, Acris antibodies CN AM20252HR-N) was added and reacted with the TMB substrate. The results were read by an ELISA reader EL-800 (Biotek Instruments) and expressed as mcg/mL. Normalization was obtained using graded concentrations of Human IgG4 Kappa (Millipore CN AG508).

Statistical analysis

Categorical variables were analyzed by Fisher's exact test. Kaplan-Meier survival curves were plotted to assess the temporal rate of events and the log rank test was computed for the comparison between survival free durations. Odds ratio and 95%CI were computed for all compared variables. The analysis was performed using MedCalc software (version 12.2.1.0, Mariakerke, Belgium). A two-tailed P < 0.05

was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Prevalence of the DN status using two ELISA assays

Out of 188 sera obtained from patients with LOR during regular IFX therapy, 67 were randomly selected for comparative analysis using the two techniques (anti-lambda and double antigen ELISA, Figure 1). In this analysis, 27/67 sera (40%) tested IFX-/ATI- with double antigen-ELISA compared to 6/67 (9%) with anti-lambda-ELISA (P < 0.001, Fisher's exact test). The calculated number needed to test (NNT) for a false-negative DN result by doubleantigen ELISA was 3.2. As depicted in Figure 2, when applying anti-lambda-ELISA to the 27 sera that were IFX-/ATI- with the double antigen assay, only 6 (22%) remained DN, while 12 (44%) were actually IFX positive (IFX+ATI-), 8 (30%) were ATI positive (IFX-ATI+) and one serum (4%) was double positive (IFX+ATI+).

Double negativity on 1:10 dilution anti-lambda ELISA

When investigating the occurrence of double negativity regardless of patients' response status, we found that only 92 of the 1495 sera (6%) analyzed at our center between 2009-2013 were DN by anti-lambda ELISA (Figure 1). To examine whether some of these DN sera represented low-titer ATI or low level IFX, we randomly selected 45 DN sera and re-tested them at a 1:10 dilution to increase analytical sensitivity (compared with standard anti-lambda testing using 1:100 serum dilution). Upon this 1:10 dilution test, 24 (53%) DN sera became IFX positive (IFX+ATI-), 15 (33%) were double positive (IFX+ATI+) and 5 (11%) were ATI positive (IFX-ATI+). Only one serum (2%) retained its double negativity on 1:10 dilution (Figure 3). This transformation into detectable levels on 1:10 dilution was primarily caused by the fact that all 30 sera of healthy controls unexposed to IFX remained DN when tested by 1:10 dilution, but with lower detection cut-off levels.

Determination of IgG4 vs IgG1 ATI

IgG4 are monovalent antibodies (as opposed to the bivalent IgG1), and are thereby detectable by the anti-lambda ELISA, rather than by the double antigen assay^[18]. Therefore, we assumed that a DN status on double antigen ELISA might be a result of non-detection of IgG4 ATI. To test this, we analyzed five sera that were DN by the double antigen ELISA and ATI positive by the anti-lambda ELISA (IFX-ATI-), as well as five sera that were ATI positive on both assays (IFX-ATI+). Contrary to our assumption, IgG4 levels were higher among the double antigen ELISA ATI+ positive sera (Median 6.6, IQR 0.9-7.4 *vs* median 0.5, IQR 0.07-0.97, P = 0.047, respectively).



Figure 3 Re-testing of double negative sera to increase analytical sensitivity. To examine whether some of the double negative sera represented low-titer antibodies to infliximab or low-level infliximab, we randomly selected 45 double negative sera and re-tested them at a 1:10 dilution to increase analytical sensitivity (compared with standard anti-lambda testing using 1:100 serum dilution). A: IFX and ATI values of double negative vs healthy controls' sera, analyzed at 1:100 dilution anti-lambda ELISA. Cut off values for double negativity: IFX < 1 μ g/mL, ATI < 2.1 μ g/mL-eq. DN sera - black squares, healthy controls - circles; B: IFX and ATI values of sera DN on 1:100 dilution vs healthy controls analyzed at 1:10 dilution anti-lambda ELISA. Cut off values for double negativity: IFX < 0.04 μ g/mL, ATI < 0.6 μ g/mL-eq. Previously DN sera (on 1:100 dilution) - black squares, healthy controls - circles. DN: Double negative; IFX: Infliximab; ATI: Antibodies to infliximab.

Subsequent ATI formation and clinical response rate in DN patients

To investigate whether DN status is a harbinger of pending immunogenicity, we sought to determine whether patients with DN sera were predisposed to develop ATI compared with patients with measurable IFX (IFX+ATI-). During the study period, 44 out of 155 patients on standard IFX regiment had at least one DN serum sample determined by anti-lambda ELISA (Figure 1). Fourteen of them were excluded from analysis because of missing data (10 were inconsistently followed, two were lost to follow up after the DN event and two received infusions outside our center). Thus, 30 patients (25 CD, 5 UC) were included and matched with 30 controls (27 CD, 3 UC). Median follow up time was 21 ± 25.1 mo vs 20.75 \pm 25.5 mo, respectively, P = 0.97. The patients' demographic and clinical characteristics are presented in Table 1.

ATI formation was significantly more frequent among the DN group compared with controls (OR = 11, 95%CI: 3.3-36.8, $P \le 0.001$). In 9/30 (30%) DN patients who developed non-transient ATI, ATI formation occurred both before and after the event at which the DN serum was obtained (Figure 4), supporting the fact that a DN result may represent a particular time-point along the two curves of ATI titer rise and IFX drug level decline.

To investigate the temporal evolution of immunogenicity in DN patients, Kaplan-Meier analysis was performed. ATI free survival was significantly longer among controls (log rank test, P < 0.001, Figure 5A) than among DN cases. Of note, ATI appearance prior to the DN status was disregarded in this analysis. Nevertheless, when considering ATI existence before the starting point as positive, similar results were obtained (log rank test, P < 0.001). Secondary LOR was also more frequent among DN cases (OR = 4.66 95%CI: 1.57-13.86, *P* = 0.006) and survival free of secondary LOR was significantly shorter than among controls (*P* = 0.02, log rank test, Figure 5B).

DISCUSSION

A substantial portion of IFX treated patients develop low trough levels of IFX in the absence of measurable ATI (IFX-ATI-), *i.e.*, a DN status. Several studies have demonstrated that among patients with LOR, a DN result is more prevalent than antibody positive sera^[10,19]. The actual mechanism of LOR remains unclear in most such cases, and the role - if any of immunogenicity in instigating this phenomenon remains to be determined. In addition to assay limitations and irregular sampling time-points, DN status has been attributed to non-immune clearance of anti-TNF, high tissue inflammatory burden "absorbing" anti-TNF drug and temporal "window phenomenon", which refers to sampling when all drug-ATI complexes have been cleared^[5,11,20].

Studies that employed double antigen ELISA assay reported 20%-40% of the patients as DN, regardless of response status^[7,9,21,22]. Vande Casteele *et al*^[12] recently demonstrated a prevalence of only 11% using the homogeneous mobility shift assay (HMSA). Little data exists comparing different methods for IFX and ATI level measurement. Steenholdt *et al*^[23] recently demonstrated a lower detection rate of ATI using double-antigen ELISA than by other essays. In the current study, double negativity was significantly more prevalent when using the double antigen ELISA compared with the anti-lambda ELISA (40% *vs* 9%, *P* < 0.001). Furthermore, when applying antilambda ELISA to the sera that were IFX-/ATI- by the double antigen assay, only six (22%) remained DN.

Table 1 Background disposition and clinical characteristics n (%)					
Parameter	Cases	Controls	P value	OR (95%CI)	
Gender			0.19	2.0 (0.70-5.70)	
Male	15 (50)	10 (33.3)			
Female	15 (50)	20 (66.6)			
Type of IBD			0.45	0.56 (0.12-2.57)	
CD	25 (83.3)	27 (90.0)			
UC	5 (16.7)	3 (10.0)			
Duration of IFX therapy ¹ (mo)	21 ± 25.1	20.75 ± 25.5	0.97		
Concomitant therapy	11 (36.7)	11 (36.7)	1.00	1.00 (0.35-2.86)	
Episodic therapy	6 (20)	6 (20.0)	1.00	1.00 (0.28-3.54)	
Median age (yr)	33 ± 15.2	28.5 ± 10.7	0.24		
Median disease duration (yr)	10.5 ± 9	9 ± 7.7	0.65		
Median age at diagnosis (yr)	22 ± 12.4	20 ± 9.7	0.19		
CD - disease location					
Ileal	9 (36)	8 (29.7)	0.62	1.30 (0.41-4.30)	
Ileo-colonic	8 (32)	11 (40.7)	0.51	0.68 (0.22-2.10)	
Colonic	8 (32)	8 (29.6)	0.85	1.10 (0.34-3.63)	
CD - upper GI involvement	2 (8)	2 (7.4)	0.93	1.08 (0.14-8.40)	
CD - anal/perianal involvement	13 (52)	14 (51.8)	0.99	1.00 (0.34-3.00)	
CD - disease behavior					
Non stricturing non penetrating	12 (48)	12 (44.5)	0.79	1.15 (0.38-3.43)	
Stricturing	8 (32)	10 (37.0)	0.70	0.80 (0.25-2.50)	
Penetrating	5 (20)	5 (18.5)	0.89	1.10 (0.28-4.40)	
UC - disease location					
Proctitis	0	0			
Left-sided colitis	2 (40)	1 (33.3)			
Extensive colitis	3 (60)	2 (66.7)			
Extra-intestinal manifestations	15 (50)	15 (50.0)	1.00	1.00 (0.36-2.75)	
Smoking	2 (6.7)	5 (16.7)	0.24	0.30 (0.06-2.00)	
Immunomodulator therapy prior to infliximab therapy	26 (86.7)	23 (76.7)	0.32	1.97 (0.51-7.63)	
Adalimumab therapy prior to infliximab therapy	4 (13.3)	0	0.12	10.30 (0.53-201.00)	
Surgery prior to infliximab therapy	8 (26.7)	7 (23.3)	0.76	1.19 (0.37-3.85)	

¹All patients received infliximab infusions at a standard protocol of 5 mg/kg at 0, 2, 6 and every 8 wk. IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease; CD: Crohn's disease; UC: Ulcerative colitis; GI: Gastro-intestinal.



Figure 4 Temporal formation of antibodies to infliximab in nine patients in whom antibodies to infliximab positive sera preceded double negative sera. ATI formation before DN event (triangles), ATI formation after DN event (circles). ATI: Antibodies to infliximab; DN: Double negative.

We assumed that the higher frequency of double negativity using double antigen ELISA stems at least partly from false negative detection of IFX or ATI. As IgG4-ATI levels were not higher among the double antigen ELISA DN sera, double negativity cannot be attributed to the technical inability of double antigen ELISA to detect ATI in patients with a predominance of IgG4-ATI.

Interestingly, only one serum out of 45 examined

with 1:100 dilution anti-lambda ELISA retained its double negativity at 1:10 dilution anti-lambda. The other sera became mostly IFX+ATI- or IFX-ATI+. The fact that almost all sera "lost" their DN status at 1:10 dilution implied that at least part of this phenomenon probably arises from low drug and ATI levels close to the detection threshold of the more sensitive antilambda assay. These sera may reflect a transitional state of immunological equilibrium between antibodymediated IFX clearance and endogenous ATI production, rather than genuine non-immunological drug clearance. Notably, in clinical practice, physicians should be aware that some patients may present with DN status at trough merely because of arriving late for a delayed infusion. Such cases were excluded from the present work.

Few studies have addressed the question of subsequent ATI development in patients with DN sera. Hanauer *et al*^[7] demonstrated that only 2.5% of DN patients turned ATI+ at week 76, although IFX infusions were halted at week 46. By contrast, Seow *et al*^[9] showed that 77% of DN UC patients later developed ATI, regardless of response status. In our study, double negativity was also predictive of future non-transient ATI formation. This re-enforced our conclusion that DN status is an immunologically



Figure 5 Survival free of antibodies to infliximab and loss of response. A: ATI development in cases *vs* controls; B: Secondary LOR in cases *vs* controls. The asterisk shows that five of the controls experienced secondary LOR at a time-point comparable to the double negative event. ATI: Antibodies to infliximab; LOR: Loss of response.

mediated phenomenon, albeit with low titer antibodies close or below the detection level of the assay when employed by certain specifications. As previously demonstrated, transient ATI had little clinical and immunological significance^[8,12,13].

There are several limitations to our study. Primarily, the results were obtained with the double antigen ELISA and the anti-lambda ELISA; however, corroborating studies using other assays, such as HMSA, are pertinent. Secondly, because treating physicians were not blinded to the results, one cannot exclude that the DN status of the sera analyzed may have influenced clinical management. However, LOR was defined per clinical indexes and constituted only the secondary outcome. Finally, previous events of positive ATI might influence future ATI formation. To neutralize such past effects, we performed an analysis incorporating former ATI events as if they occurred at time zero, which yielded similar results.

In conclusion, the type of assay employed influences the occurrence of DN status. DN is rarely observed when LOR patients' sera are analyzed by the sensitive anti-lambda assay, and in many cases it probably results from low-level immunogenicity rather than elusive non-immunogenic mechanisms. Further studies are required to better assess the immunological processes leading to the absence of both drug and ATI, to investigate possible drug clearance pathways and to define appropriate interventions in these patients.

COMMENTS

Background

Antibodies to infliximab (ATI) correlate with lower infliximab (IFX) trough levels and loss of response (LOR). However, 10%-60% of LOR patients have low IFX levels in the absence of ATI, which are designated double negative (DN) status.

Research frontiers

The clinical and immunological significance of the DN status is currently unknown.

Innovations and breakthroughs

Only 9% of sera obtained at time of LOR were DN by anti-lambda ELISA compared with 40% with double antigen ELISA (P < 0.001, Fisher's Exact test). Re-testing with 1:10 dilution converted most of the DN results into IFX+ and /or ATI+ status. Patients with DN status had shorter survival free of non-transient ATI compared with matched controls (log rank test, P < 0.001).

Applications

The type of assay employed influences the occurrence of DN status. It is rarely observed when LOR patients' sera are analyzed by the sensitive anti-lambda assay, and in many cases it probably results from low-level immunogenicity rather than non-immunogenic mechanisms. Further studies are required to better assess the immunological processes leading to the absence of both drug and ATI, to investigate possible drug clearance pathways and to define appropriate interventions in these patients.

Terminology

DN status: A serum sample that is negative for both infliximab and ATI (IFX-ATI-). Double antigen ELISA: A commercially available ELISA assay for the detection of ATI, which incorporates infliximab as the detection antibody. Anti-lambda ELISA assay: An in-house developed ELISA assay for the detection of ATI, which incorporates an anti-human λ chain antibody as the detection antibody. LOR: Loss of clinical response to infliximab therapy.

Peer-review

This manuscript evaluates the prevalence and clinical significance of DN status among infliximab-treated inflammatory bowel disease patients. The article is well written and is suitable to be published.

REFERENCES

- Hanauer SB, Feagan BG, Lichtenstein GR, Mayer LF, Schreiber S, Colombel JF, Rachmilewitz D, Wolf DC, Olson A, Bao W, Rutgeerts P; ACCENT I Study Group. Maintenance infliximab for Crohn's disease: the ACCENT I randomised trial. *Lancet* 2002; 359: 1541-1549 [PMID: 12047962 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)0 8512-4]
- 2 Sands BE, Anderson FH, Bernstein CN, Chey WY, Feagan BG, Fedorak RN, Kamm MA, Korzenik JR, Lashner BA, Onken JE, Rachmilewitz D, Rutgeerts P, Wild G, Wolf DC, Marsters PA, Travers SB, Blank MA, van Deventer SJ. Infliximab maintenance therapy for fistulizing Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 2004; 350: 876-885 [PMID: 14985485 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa030815]
- 3 Rutgeerts P, Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Reinisch W, Olson A, Johanns J, Travers S, Rachmilewitz D, Hanauer SB, Lichtenstein GR, de Villiers WJ, Present D, Sands BE, Colombel JF. Infliximab for induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. *N Engl J Med* 2005; **353**: 2462-2476 [PMID: 16339095 DOI: 10.1056/ NEJMoa050516]
- 4 **Kopylov U**, Mantzaris GJ, Katsanos KH, Reenaers C, Ellul P, Rahier JF, Israeli E, Lakatos PL, Fiorino G, Cesarini M, Tsianos



EV, Louis E, Ben-Horin S. The efficacy of shortening the dosing interval to once every six weeks in Crohn's patients losing response to maintenance dose of infliximab. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2011; **33**: 349-357 [PMID: 21118397 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2010]

- 5 Ben-Horin S, Chowers Y. Review article: loss of response to anti-TNF treatments in Crohn's disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2011; 33: 987-995 [PMID: 21366636 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2011.04612]
- 6 Gisbert JP, Panés J. Loss of response and requirement of infliximab dose intensification in Crohn's disease: a review. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2009; 104: 760-767 [PMID: 19174781 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2008.88]
- 7 Hanauer SB, Wagner CL, Bala M, Mayer L, Travers S, Diamond RH, Olson A, Bao W, Rutgeerts P. Incidence and importance of antibody responses to infliximab after maintenance or episodic treatment in Crohn's disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2004; 2: 542-553 [PMID: 15224278 DOI: 10.1016/S1542-3565(04)00238-1]
- 8 Ungar B, Chowers Y, Yavzori M, Picard O, Fudim E, Har-Noy O, Kopylov U, Eliakim R, Ben-Horin S; ABIRISK consortium. The temporal evolution of antidrug antibodies in patients with inflammatory bowel disease treated with infliximab. *Gut* 2014; 63: 1258-1264 [PMID: 24041539 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2013-305259]
- 9 Seow CH, Newman A, Irwin SP, Steinhart AH, Silverberg MS, Greenberg GR. Trough serum infliximab: a predictive factor of clinical outcome for infliximab treatment in acute ulcerative colitis. *Gut* 2010; **59**: 49-54 [PMID: 19651627 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2009]
- 10 Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Reinisch W, Mantzaris GJ, Kornbluth A, Rachmilewitz D, Lichtiger S, D'Haens G, Diamond RH, Broussard DL, Tang KL, van der Woude CJ, Rutgeerts P. Infliximab, azathioprine, or combination therapy for Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 2010; 362: 1383-1395 [PMID: 20393175 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0904492]
- 11 Kopylov U, Mazor Y, Yavzori M, Fudim E, Katz L, Coscas D, Picard O, Chowers Y, Eliakim R, Ben-Horin S. Clinical utility of antihuman lambda chain-based enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) versus double antigen ELISA for the detection of anti-infliximab antibodies. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2012; 18: 1628-1633 [PMID: 22038899 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21919]
- 12 Vande Casteele N, Gils A, Singh S, Ohrmund L, Hauenstein S, Rutgeerts P, Vermeire S. Antibody response to infliximab and its impact on pharmacokinetics can be transient. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2013; 108: 962-971 [PMID: 23419382 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2013.12]
- 13 Steenholdt C, Al-khalaf M, Brynskov J, Bendtzen K, Thomsen OØ, Ainsworth MA. Clinical implications of variations in antiinfliximab antibody levels in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2012; 18: 2209-2217 [PMID: 22344964 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.22910]
- 14 Higgins PD, Schwartz M, Mapili J, Krokos I, Leung J, Zim-

mermann EM. Patient defined dichotomous end points for remission and clinical improvement in ulcerative colitis. *Gut* 2005; **54**: 782-788 [PMID: 15888785 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2004.056358]

- 15 Harvey RF, Bradshaw JM. A simple index of Crohn's-disease activity. Lancet 1980; 1: 514 [PMID: 6102236 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(80)9 2767-1]
- 16 Vermeire S, Schreiber S, Sandborn WJ, Dubois C, Rutgeerts P. Correlation between the Crohn's disease activity and Harvey-Bradshaw indices in assessing Crohn's disease severity. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2010; 8: 357-363 [PMID: 20096379 DOI: 10.1016/ j.cgh.2010.01.001]
- 17 Ben-Horin S, Yavzori M, Katz L, Kopylov U, Picard O, Fudim E, Coscas D, Bar-Meir S, Goldstein I, Chowers Y. The immunogenic part of infliximab is the F(ab')2, but measuring antibodies to the intact infliximab molecule is more clinically useful. *Gut* 2011; 60: 41-48 [PMID: 20519742 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2009.201533]
- 18 Nirula A, Glaser SM, Kalled SL, Taylor FR. What is IgG4? A review of the biology of a unique immunoglobulin subtype. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* 2011; 23: 119-124 [PMID: 21124094 DOI: 10.1097/BOR.0b013e3283412fd4]
- 19 Afif W, Loftus EV, Faubion WA, Kane SV, Bruining DH, Hanson KA, Sandborn WJ. Clinical utility of measuring infliximab and human anti-chimeric antibody concentrations in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2010; 105: 1133-1139 [PMID: 20145610 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2010.9]
- 20 Ordás I, Feagan BG, Sandborn WJ. Therapeutic drug monitoring of tumor necrosis factor antagonists in inflammatory bowel disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 10: 1079-187; quiz 1079-187; [PMID: 22813440 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2012.06.032]
- 21 Maser EA, Villela R, Silverberg MS, Greenberg GR. Association of trough serum infliximab to clinical outcome after scheduled maintenance treatment for Crohn's disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006; 4: 1248-1254 [PMID: 16931170 DOI: 10.1016/ j.cgh.2006.06.025]
- 22 Pariente B, Pineton de Chambrun G, Krzysiek R, Desroches M, Louis G, De Cassan C, Baudry C, Gornet JM, Desreumaux P, Emilie D, Colombel JF, Allez M. Trough levels and antibodies to infliximab may not predict response to intensification of infliximab therapy in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2012; 18: 1199-1206 [PMID: 22127789 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21839]
- 23 Steenholdt C, Ainsworth MA, Tovey M, Klausen TW, Thomsen OO, Brynskov J, Bendtzen K. Comparison of techniques for monitoring infliximab and antibodies against infliximab in Crohn's disease. *Ther Drug Monit* 2013; 35: 530-538 [PMID: 23765033 DOI: 10.1097/FTD.0b013e31828d23c3]

P- Reviewer: De Silva AP, Trifan A S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: Stewart GJ E- Editor: Ma S





WJG | www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1915 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1915-1926 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Prospective Study

Human cytomegalovirus and Epstein-Barr virus infection in inflammatory bowel disease: Need for mucosal viral load measurement

Rachele Ciccocioppo, Francesca Racca, Stefania Paolucci, Giulia Campanini, Lodovica Pozzi, Elena Betti, Roberta Riboni, Alessandro Vanoli, Fausto Baldanti, Gino Roberto Corazza

Rachele Ciccocioppo, Francesca Racca, Elena Betti, Gino Roberto Corazza, Centre for the Study and Cure of Inflammatory Bowel Disease, Clinica Medica I, IRCCS San Matteo Hospital Foundation, University of Pavia, 27100 Pavia, Italy

Stefania Paolucci, Giulia Campanini, Fausto Baldanti, SS Virologia Molecolare - SC Virologia e Microbiologia, Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo, 27100 Pavia, Italy

Lodovica Pozzi, Servizio di Endoscopia Digestiva, Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo, 27100 Pavia, Italy

Roberta Riboni, Alessandro Vanoli, Servizio di Anatomia Patologica; Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo, 27100 Pavia, Italy

Author contributions: Ciccocioppo R designed the study, was in charge of the diagnostic and therapeutic management of the patients, analyzed and interpreted the data, wrote the manuscript, and obtained funding. She has approved the final draft submitted; Racca F collected and analyzed the data. She has approved the final draft submitted; Paolucci S and Campanini G performed the quantitative real-time PCR analysis; They have approved the final draft submitted; Pozzi L carried out the endoscopic examinations with appropriate biopsy sampling. She has approved the final draft submitted; Betti E was involved in collecting patients' clinical data and technical support. She has approved the final draft submitted; Riboni R performed the immunohistochemistry analysis. She has approved the final draft submitted; Vanoli A analyzed the immunohistochemistry results. He has approved the final draft submitted; Baldanti F participated in the management of patients and in drafting the manuscript. He has approved the final draft submitted; Corazza GR was in charge of the management of the patients and critically revised the article for important intellectual content, he has approved the final draft submitted.

Supported by (in part) Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo (Progetto di Ricerca Corrente) entitled: "Studio della espressione del recettore per i prodotti finali della glicosilazione avanzata (RAGE) nelle Malattie Infiammatorie Croniche Intestinali", No. 08064409.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license,

which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Rachele Ciccocioppo, MD, Centre for the Study and Cure of Inflammatory Bowel Disease, Clinica Medica I, IRCCS San Matteo Hospital Foundation, University of Pavia, Piazzale Golgi 19, 27100 Pavia,

Italy. rachele.ciccocioppo@unipv.it Telephone: +39-382-502786 Fax: +39-382-502618 Received: August 6, 2014 Peer-review started: August 6, 2014 First decision: September 15, 2014 Revised: October 3, 2014 Accepted: November 18, 2014 Article in press: November 19, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To evaluate the best diagnostic technique and risk factors of the human Cytomegalovirus (HCMV) and Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD).

METHODS: A cohort of 40 IBD patients (17 refractory) and 40 controls underwent peripheral blood and endoscopic colonic mucosal sample harvest. Viral infection was assessed by quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction and immunohistochemistry, and correlations with clinical and endoscopic indexes of activity, and risk factors were investigated.

RESULTS: All refractory patients carried detectable levels of HCMV and/or EBV mucosal load as compared



to 13/23 (56.5%) non-refractory and 13/40 (32.5%) controls. The median DNA value was significantly higher in refractory (HCMV 286 and EBV 5.440 copies/10⁵ cells) than in non-refractory (HCMV 0 and EBV 6 copies/ 10^5 cells; P < 0.05 and < 0.001) IBD patients and controls (HCMV and EBV 0 copies/ 10^5 cells; P <0.001 for both). Refractory patients showed DNA peak values $\ge 10^3$ copies/10⁵ cells in diseased mucosa in comparison to non-diseased mucosa (P < 0.0121 for HCMV and < 0.0004 for EBV), while non-refractory patients and controls invariably displayed levels below this threshold, thus allowing us to differentiate viral colitis from mucosal infection. Moreover, the mucosal load positively correlated with the values found in the peripheral blood, whilst no correlation with the number of positive cells at immunohistochemistry was found. Steroid use was identified as a significant risk factor for both HCMV (P = 0.018) and EBV (P = 0.002) colitis. Finally, a course of specific antiviral therapy with ganciclovir was successful in all refractory patients with HCMV colitis, whilst refractory patients with EBV colitis did not show any improvement despite steroid tapering and discontinuation of the other medications.

CONCLUSION: Viral colitis appeared to contribute to mucosal lesions in refractory IBD, and its correct diagnosis and management require quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction assay of mucosal specimens.

Key words: Inflammatory bowel disease; Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction; Steroid therapy; Refractory; Viral infection

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: This study investigated the presence of human Cytomegalovirus and Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection in patients with refractory and non-refractory inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). We identified quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction assay of mucosal specimens as the best diagnostic technique. This allowed us to distinguish between viral colitis and infection through the identification of a cutoff value. All refractory IBD patients carried the highest mucosal viral loads, which correlated with the severity of mucosal damage and endoscopic activity. EBV infection was the most prevalent. Finally, steroid therapy was identified as a significant risk factor for viral colitis.

Ciccocioppo R, Racca F, Paolucci S, Campanini G, Pozzi L, Betti E, Riboni R, Vanoli A, Baldanti F, Corazza GR. Human cytomegalovirus and Epstein-Barr virus infection in inflammatory bowel disease: Need for mucosal viral load measurement. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1915-1926 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1915. htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1915

INTRODUCTION

Growing evidence highlights the role of early treatment of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) by means of a more aggressive therapy, in order to achieve mucosal healing and prevent disease progression^[1]. As a consequence, a sizeable number of patients are on immunosuppressive and/or biological drugs which, in turn, lead to an increased risk of opportunistic infections^[2,3]. Among these, the widespread human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) and Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) are capable of establishing latency in target cells and reactivating in cases of reduced host immunity^[4], giving rise to both systemic and endorgan disease, which can also be localized localized to the gastrointestinal tract^[5,6]. In addition, an increased risk of lymphoma has been recently found in IBD patients under immunosuppressive and/or immunomodulator therapies, especially among young males under thiopurines, where a role for primary EBV infection has been proposed^[7], as in the case of the post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease^[8]. A further condition now possibly associated with both HCMV and EBV infections is hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis^[9].

To date, the information available on the frequency, role and risk factors of HCMV and EBV in IBD exacerbation and their diagnostic and therapeutic approaches is conflicting^[10,11]. The causes for this discrepancy lie in the differences amongst the patients enrolled, the diagnostic methods applied, and the retrospective design of the majority of studies. Herein, we prospectively evaluated the presence of HCMV and EBV infections in a cohort of IBD patients in comparison to control subjects, through both immunohistochemistry and quantitative realtime polymerase chain reaction (PCR), in order to investigate the contribution of these opportunistic viral infections to disease activity and the risk factors for their reactivation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study population

From September 2011 to February 2013, patients suffering from Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC), both responders and non-responders to conventional therapies, and diagnosed on the basis of widely accepted criteria^[12,13], were prospectively enrolled. For the non-responder group, steroid-refractoriness was defined as the persistence of active disease despite prednisolone, or equivalent, of up to 0.75 mg/kg per day over a period of four weeks^[12,13]; primary and secondary non-response to anti-tumor necrosis factor- α agents, *i.e.*, infliximab and adalimumab, was considered as the lack of clinical improvement with induction therapy or re-

Baishideng®

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

currence of disease activity during maintenance therapy despite an appropriate interval adjustment and dose escalation with exclusion of concomitant conditions, respectively^[14]; and resistance to immunosuppressive therapy, i.e., Azathioprine, after the dosage adjustment was carried out on the basis of the erythrocyte levels of the active metabolite, 6-thioguanine nucleotide^[15]. Finally, for those patients under combination therapies, refractoriness was defined as the persistence of active disease despite a treatment duration of at least four weeks. All patients underwent lower endoscopy as part of their diagnostic workup for disease relapse or follow-up. Patient assessment was performed according to the Montreal classification^[16], and also included: clinical examination, body mass index calculation, evaluation of smoking habits, routine laboratory tests, and assessment of both clinical (CD activity index: CDAI^[17] and colitis activity index: CAI^[18]) and endoscopic (SES-CD^[19] and Baron^[20]) indexes of activity. As a control group, sex- and age-matched subjects undergoing lower endoscopy for irritable bowel syndrome or screening for polyps, who were not taking any drugs, were recruited. The presence of concomitant autoimmune diseases, primary immunodeficiencies, cancer or organ failure was considered exclusion criteria.

Quantitation of HCMV and EBV DNA

For each patient and control, the HCMV and EBV load was assessed in terms of DNA copies on both freshly collected peripheral blood samples and endoscopic specimens harvested from all colonic segments (right, transverse, descending, and sigma-rectum), by quantitative real-time PCR technique as previously reported^[21]. Specifically, in the IBD group, biopsies were taken from both inflamed and healthy mucosa as assessed during the endoscopic examination, that is from the edge of the ulcers and the nearby damaged zones for the former and at least 20 cm away from the affected areas for the latter. Viral DNA extraction was performed by using the NucliSENS® easyMAG[®] kit (BioMérieux; Lyon, France). Results were expressed as viral DNA copies/ml blood and copies/10⁵ cells. Normalization of HCMV and EBV DNA load in tissue samples was obtained by quantitative determination of β_2 -microglobulin gene^[22]. The lower detection limit was 10 DNA input target DNA copies^[21,22].

Immunohistochemistry

Mucosal specimens harvested in parallel from the same areas as those for the PCR assay, were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin and paraffine-embedded. Sections (5 μ m) were transferred to pretreated glass slides (DAKO, Denmark) and stored at 37 °C overnight. The hematoxylin-eosin staining was performed following standard protocol, while the specific immunostaining for HCMV and EBV was carried out on seriate sections after microwave demasking treatment. The slides were then washed

and incubated for two hours with the following mouse monoclonal antibodies: anti-HCMV (clones CCH2 and DDG9 that recognize HCMV immediate-early and early antigens, respectively, at 1:300 dilution; DAKO), and anti-LMP1 (clone CS1-4 reactive to EBV latent membrane protein-1, at 1:100 dilution; DAKO). Finally, a universal biotinylated secondary antibody (DAKO) was applied, followed by the usual reactions to allow color development (liquid DAB + Substrate Chromogen System; DAKO) and counterstaining with Harris' hematoxylin. Appropriate positive controls and non-immune protein-negative controls were used, and positive cells were evaluated by a pathologist blinded to patient diagnosis and clinical disease status.

Statistical analysis

Baseline demographic and disease features are presented by using descriptive statistics. As such, continuous variables were described as median, while categorical variables were expressed as counts and percentages, all with range. The univariate analysis was carried out to compare data between groups by applying the following tests: Fisher's exact test or Wilcoxon matched pairs signed-ranks, and Mann-Whitney or Kruskal-Wallis, for categorical and continuous variables, respectively, as appropriate. The multiple regression analysis was performed to assess the association between possible risk factors and the occurrence of viral infections. The individual demographic and clinical variables (including gender, age, body mass index, smoking habits, duration of both therapies and disease, concomitant immunosuppressive therapy, clinical and endoscopic indexes of activity) were considered as risk factors. The Spearman rank correlation test was applied to measure the association between continuous variables, and the calculation of the OR at 95%CI was assessed. GraphPad InStat 3.0 was used for computation. A 2-sided *P*-value ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Ethical considerations

All samples were collected for diagnostic purposes and only residual aliquots of both peripheral blood and mucosal specimens from control subjects were used, after the subjects had signed the informed consent, and in accordance with the recommendations of the local Bio-Ethics Committee.

RESULTS

Study population

A total of 17 refractory and 23 non-refractory IBD patients, and 40 control subjects whose clinical features are presented in Table 1 were consecutively recruited at the Department of Internal Medicine, IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo Foundation (Pavia, Italy). Specifically, all refractory patients were admitted to the hospital for severe active disease, while in the



Table 1 Demographic and clinical features of inflammatory bowel disease patients						
	Responders	Refractory	Controls	P value		
Number of patients	23	17	40			
Male/female	14/9	9/8	24/16			
Body mass index ¹	22.8 (19.9-26.4)	20.3 (16.4-22.5)	23.4 (18.9-27.3)			
Age (yr) ¹	45 (16-68)	50 (16-61)	46 (17-68)	NS		
CDAI score ¹	145 (124-205)	383 (265-595)	NA	0.002		
Number of patients	12	4				
Location	L1 = 2	L1 = 0		NS		
	L2 = 3	L2 = 0				
	L3 = 7	L3 = 4				
	L4 = 0	L4 = 0				
CAI score ¹	6 (3.5-9.5)	10 (8.25-11)	NA	0.040		
Number of patients	11	13				
Location	E1 = 2	E1 = 0		NS		
	E2 = 3	E2 = 5				
	E3 = 6	E3 = 8				
Endoscopic activity indexes			NA			
SES-CD	6.2	10.6		0.010		
Baron	1.4	2.6		0.050		
Illness duration (yr) ¹	6.5 (1.75-11)	5 (1-7)	NA	NS		
Systemic steroids	4	14	NA	0.001		
Topical steroids	5	8	NA	NS		
Biological agents	5	8	NA	NS		
Azathioprine	7	5	NA	NS		
Biological + steroid	0	6	NA	0.0032		
Biological + azathioprine	1	4	NA	NS		
Azathioprine + steroid	1	0	NA	NS		

¹The values are given as median (range). L1: Terminal ileum; L2: Colon; L3: Ileo-colon; L4: Upper gastrointestinal location; E1: Ulcerative proctitis; E2: Left sided UC; E3: Extensive UC; NA: Not-applicable; NS: Not significant; CDAI: Crohn's disease activity index. Systemic steroids included: Metilprednisolone and prednisone; topical steroids included: Budesonide and beclometasone dipropionate; biological agents included: Infliximab and adalimumab.

Table 2 Mucosal viral loads				
	HCMV	EBV		
Number of patients	15/80	32/80		
Refractory	286	5.440		
	(0-221.697)	(0-966.333)		
Diseased mucosa	30.763	8.294		
	(11.911-221.697)	(1.020-966.333)		
	0	281		
Non-diseased mucosa	(0-3)	(12-400)		
Responders	0	6		
	(0-273)	(0-973)		
Diseased mucosa	0	9		
	(0-273)	(0-973)		
Non-diseased mucosa	0	4		
	(0-2)	(0-63)		
Controls	0	0		
	(0-41)	(0-34)		

The values are given as copies of $DNA/10^5$ cells and showed as median (range). HCMV: Human Cytomegalovirus; EBV: Epstein-Barr virus.

non-refractory group, the hospitalization rate was 39%.

Mucosal viral load

Detectable copies of viral DNA were found in all (17/17, 100%) refractory, 13 out of 23 (56.5%) non-refractory IBD patients, and 13 out of 40 (32.5%) controls, with HCMV DNA evident in four refractory and five non-refractory IBD patients, and two controls, EBV DNA found in nine refractory and eight non-refractory IBD

patients, and 11 controls, and double positivity found only in four refractory patients. The median values with ranges of DNA copies of both viruses, as obtained by pooling together the data from all colonic segments of each patient and then, in the IBD groups, from both inflamed and non-inflamed mucosa, are shown in Table 2. It is worth of noting that the median values for both HCMV (Figure 1, panel A) and EBV (Figure 1, panel B) were significantly higher in refractory IBD compared to non-refractory IBD patients and controls, while non-refractory IBD patients did not show significantly different values compared to controls (Figure 1, panels A and B). Moreover, refractory IBD patients invariably showed DNA peak values $\ge 10^3$ copies/ 10^5 cells in at least one colonic segment, while patients with nonrefractory IBD and controls displayed viral DNA peak levels below 10^3 and 10^2 copies/ 10^5 cells, respectively (Figure 1, panels A and B). Finally, upon analyzing the viral DNA loads within the refractory IBD group, the median values were found to be significantly higher in diseased vs non-diseased mucosa (Figure 1, panels C and D), whilst no difference was found when the median viral DNA levels of non-diseased mucosa were compared with those found in both non-refractory IBD patients and controls. It is worth noting that there was a positive correlation (r = 0.71 and 0.79 for HCMV and EBV, respectively) between the mucosal viral load in the refractory IBD and the degree of endoscopic activity (Table 1). In this regard, a narrow overlap between the extension and severity of mucosal le-





Figure 1 Refractory inflammatory bowel disease patients (full circles) showed statistically significant higher values in comparison with non-refractory patients (empty circles) and controls (empty rhombuses; panels A and B). A peculiar distribution is observed with non-refractory patients displaying values always below 10³ and controls below 10⁵ copies/10⁵ cells (red dotted lines). Within the refractory group, the macroscopically diseased areas (full triangles) carried DNA viral loads invariably over 10³ copies/10⁵ cells compared to non-diseased mucosa (empty triangles; panels C and D). The black bars indicate the median values. NS: Not significant; HCMV: Human Cytomegalovirus; EBV: Epstein-Barr virus.

sions with the viral load distribution was invariably found (representative cases are shown in Figure 2). By contrast, no correlation between viral load and clinical indexes of disease activity and no preferential association between HCMV or EBV with UC or CD were observed.

Blood viral load

Viral DNA was detected in 11/17 patients with refractory IBD (median values for HCMV and EBV: 0 copies/mL, range: 300-26.000, and 100-7.900, respectively), 1/23 of non-refractory IBD (450 copies/mL), and none of the controls. Specifically, two refractory patients showed HCMV DNA, five refractory patients and one non-refractory patient had EBV DNA, and four refractory patients carried both DNAs. All these patients carried the same virus(es) at mucosal level, and a significant positive correlation between the values in the two compartments (r =0.67 for HCMV and 0.61 for EBV) was observed. The sensitivity of the PCR assay performed on peripheral blood samples as compared to that on tissue samples, therefore, was 23% for HCMV and 45% for EBV, with a specificity of 100% for both, while the positive predictive value was 76.4% and 17.6%, and the negative predictive value was 65.0% and 80.9% for HCMV and EBV, respectively.

Histological and endoscopic features

As far as immunohistochemistry is concerned (representative cases shown in Figure 3), although the specimens were harvested from the same mucosal areas as those taken for the PCR assay, HCMV positive cells were found in only 11 cases (five had a DNA load $> 10^3$ copies/10⁵ cells, and six were negative), while EBV positive cells were detected in 17 cases (five had a viral DNA load > 10^3 copies, eight < 10^3 copies/ 10^5 cells, and four negative), thus showing a sensitivity of 33% for both viruses, a specificity of 90% for HCMV and 0% for EBV, with positive predictive values of 66% and 80%, and negative predictive values of 71% and 0% for HCMV and EBV, respectively. No correlations between the mean number of positive cells and the level of mucosal viral load for either virus or the degree of endoscopic activity were found.

As regards the endoscopic features of refractory IBD patients, the mucosal lesions appeared indistinguishable from those of the underlying disease, despite the invariable presence of the superimposed viral end-organ disease, as evident in Figures 4, 5, and 6 showing representative cases. It is worth noting that mucosal healing was observed in all cases with isolated HCMV colitis (Figure 4, panel C and F) following specific antiviral therapy (see below). Conversely, no amelioration was evident in any of the cases carrying



Figure 2 Six representative refractory patients with Human Cytomegalovirus - upper panels - and Epstein-Barr virus - lower panels - superimposed colitis. The distribution of the DNA viral loads (given as number of copies/10⁵ cells) along the colon perfectly matches the distribution and severity of mucosal lesions as shown by the arbitrary red scale. HCMV: Human Cytomegalovirus; EBV: Epstein-Barr virus.



Figure 3 Pathognomonic "cytomegalic" cell (*i.e.*, enlarged cell surrounded by a light-coloured halo, red arrow) with a brown reactive nuclear inclusion (thin black arrows) and a few scattered positive cells for the human Cytomegalovirus are shown (panel A, immunoperoxidase-hematoxylin, original magnification × 250). Some positive cells with brown nuclei (thin black arrows) are evident following the specific staining for the Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen-1 (panel B, immunoperoxidase-hematoxylin, original magnification × 400).

both viruses (Figure 6, panels C and F), nor in most of those with EBV (Figure 5, panels E and F), except the patient (Figure 5, panel D) who underwent a course of treatment with rituximab (see below).

Impact of current therapies

Systemic steroid use was identified as a significant risk factor for both HCMV and EBV colitis (P = 0.018 and 0.0020, OR = 11.4 and 12, 95%CI: 1.23-106.11 and 2.37-60.67, respectively), while the use of biologic agents and topical steroids was closely related to EBV

colitis (P = 0.021 and 0.008, OR = 7.8 and 10.2, 95%CI: 1.32-46.64 and 1.73-60.92, respectively). No significant correlation was found between an increased risk of development of viral end-organ disease and the use of immunosuppressants, the duration of both therapies and underlying disease, age, gender, smoking habits, or body mass index.

Patients' outcome

All refractory patients with HCMV colitis underwent a course of specific antiviral therapy with ganciclovir Endoscopic features of HCMV colitis



Figure 4 Presence of profound, round and longitudinal ulcers covered by a fibrino-purulent exudate (black arrows) and embedded in edematous and erythematous mucosa are clearly evident (panels A and D). The healing process, usually observed after three months from the end of specific antiviral therapy, may result in both white scars (red arrows, panel C) or restitution ad integrum (panel F), passing through a phase of slight improvement (panels B and E).

Endoscopic features of EBV colitis



Figure 5 Presence of holes in the mucosa with exposure of the underlying muscular layer (black arrows), surrounded by granular and spontaneously bleeding zones, is clearly evident (panels A to C). After a three-month washout period from any therapy for the primary disease, the healing process with white scars (red arrow) was observed in the only patient who underwent a cycle with rituximab (panel D), whilst a slight or no improvement was observed in the other two representative cases.

At onset

After 12 wk



WJG www.wjgnet.com

Endoscopic features of EBV plus HCMV colitis



Figure 6 Severe lesions characterized by a pronounced, nodular-cobblestone appearance, punctuated by multiple, deep ulcerations (panels A, B, D, E), which did not heal (panels C, F), were found in those refractory patients with high DNA loads of both viruses.

(5 mg/kg bid iv) for three weeks^[11], with monitoring of mucosal and blood viral load at the end of therapy and, following discharge, after four and 12 wk, as arbitrarily scheduled. All patients reached a satisfactory general condition with a sharp decrease in both clinical and endoscopic indexes of activity [median values: 249 (range: 166-302) and 10.37 (8.7-12.2) after four weeks, and 173 (132-209) and 7.2 (5.9-9.3) after 12 wk for CD patients, and 7 (range: 4-9) and 1 (2-1) after four weeks, and 5 (4-7) and 1 (1-2) after 12 wk for UC patients]. The viral mucosal DNA levels also decreased significantly (P = 0.031) by the end of therapy (Figure 7A), and remained stable afterwards (data not shown), with patients experiencing a good quality of life during a median follow-up period of 11 mo (range: 6-22). In contrast, refractory patients with EBV colitis did not show any improvement in either clinical or endoscopic activity indexes [median values: 396 (range: 281-595) and 11.49 (range: 8.9-12.4) after four weeks, and 295 (range: 351-244), and 10.44 (range: 9.0-11.7) after 12 wk for CD patients, and 11 (range: 8-13) and 2 (range: 2-3) after four weeks, and 11 (range: 8-12) and 2 (range: 2-3) after 12 wk for UC patients]. Likewise, no significant decrease of mucosal (or blood when positive) EBV DNA levels was observed, despite steroid tapering and discontinuation of the other medications in 9/15 patients (Figure 7B). Remarkably, in the only case where the patient underwent treatment with the anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody rituximab (375 mg/m² body surface iv weekly for 4 wk^[8]), EBV DNA was cleared from both blood and colonic mucosa. However, after six months, a worsening of the patient's clinical condition characterized by fever and intestinal bleeding was observed, with mucosal EBV load > 10^3 copies/ 10^5 cells, resulting in a colectomy. In this regard, 7/9 refractory patients with EBV colitis underwent colectomy within a median period of 5 mo (range: 2-9), as well as 3/4 patients carrying both virus DNAs within a median period of 8 mo (range: 5-14), despite the fact that HCMV had been cleared by antiviral therapy. The remaining patients developed chronically active colitis, thus adversely affecting their quality of life. During the same follow-up period, only two nonrefractory CD patients underwent intestinal resection due to strictures.

DISCUSSION

Despite a growing interest in opportunistic viral infections in IBD, several crucial points still remain unsolved, such as their prevalence and role in tissue damage during exacerbation, the best diagnostic and therapeutic approaches, as well as the risk factors^[2,3,10,11]. The reported frequency of HCMV infection, for instance, ranged from 10%^[23,24] to 36%^[25,26], whilst that of EBV was higher, ranging from 41%^[27]





Figure 7 Median values of human Cytomegalovirus (panel A) and Epstein Barr virus (panel B) DNA levels of each refractory patient at onset and at the end of antiviral therapy in human Cytomegalovirus cases, and at four weeks after washout or reduction of current treatment in patients with Epstein-Barr virus infection. A dramatic decrease of mucosal viral loads was observed in all patients with HCMV colitis, except one who continued steroid therapy while taking ganciclovir. By contrast, no modification of mucosal viral load values was observed in any patient with EBV colitis, except the one who underwent a cycle of therapy with rituximab. HCMV: Human Cytomegalovirus; EBV: Epstein Barr virus.

to 64%^[28]. In addition, most of the studies were retrospective, included surgery specimens, applied different techniques, and therefore, the results are not comparable. As far as the detection method is concerned, immunohistochemistry was the most widely used method^[23,28-30], and it is given as the screening test in the decisional algorithm for the management of HCMV infection in IBD^[31]. However, quantitative real-time PCR assay carried out on nucleic acids extracted from formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded intestinal specimens has recently proved to increase the sensitivity of immunohistochemistry^[32]. Moreover, the application of this technique on fresh biological samples has emerged as the best technique^[24,33-35] as it has the advantage of being highly sensitive, rapid, and reproducible. Our results fit in with this evidence, since when comparing the two techniques, immunohistochemistry showed low predictable values, both positive and negative, possibly due to the suboptimal specificity and sensitivity of the primary antibodies used and the lack of correlation with the lytic phase of the viruses. Similar results were obtained in congenital HCMV infection when the same primary antibodies were used^[36], which hamper its usefulness in the management of IBD patients. By contrast, quantitative real-time PCR on freshly collected mucosal biopsies displayed not only a better performance, but also allowed us to distinguish between viral infection and colitis, since a positive result did not necessarily imply that the patient was suffering from an active HCMV or EBV end-organ disease. Accordingly, two main groups of mucosal viral load may be identified: that with peak values greater than 10³ copies/10⁵ cells, and that with values below this threshold. Since all refractory patients carried mucosal viral loads invariably greater than 10³ copies/10⁵ cells in at least in one colonic segment, it is conceivable that this indicates a symptomatic viralrelated colitis that is superimposed on the underlying primary illness. Interestingly, our systematic sampling of all colonic segments made it possible to build up a map of the mucosal viral loads that perfectly overlaps with the severity of macroscopic lesions and correlates with the endoscopic indexes of activity. On the other hand, the presence of a number of DNA copies lower than $10^3/10^5$ cells only in patients with quiescent disease might be related to the periodic viral reactivation that usually occurs even in healthy people without this triggers of symptoms^[4]. However, on comparing the values found in non-refractory IBD patients with those found in control patients, a median mucosal peak value of 1 logarithm unit higher was observed in IBD patients. This finding could prove to be of some clinical use as a warning for closer followup and caution in prescribing those therapies that favor the disruption of the delicate balance between the host immune response and viral activity, which leads to precipitation or exacerbation of mucosal injury. A similar distinction between viral colitis and infection could not be achieved by previous studies even when applying PCR-based techniques, since the differences in expressing the results (as copies by microgram of total DNA extracted^[24,34] or milligram of tissue^[33]), the sensitivity of the test, and the lack of control population made it impossible to draw definite conclusions. In this regard, the possibility of measuring the DNA viral load in stool samples, thus avoiding an invasive endoscopic exam, has already been explored^[37]. However, the lack of control populations, the limited number of cases enrolled and,

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

in most of all, the absence of an exact correspondence between the levels found in the mucosa and stool samples, did not allow the authors in question to differentiate between viral end-organ disease and reactivation/infection. Moreover, the presence of some technical limitations such as the need for a fresh, liquid stool sample made this diagnostic test unsuitable for the management of IBD patients. Finally, the search for circulating class M specific anti-virus antibodies is rather ineffective in detecting an active disease, since elevated levels can persist for up to two years after infection, and immunocompromised patients may not mount an IgM response^[38].

We believe, therefore, that the previous definitions of HCMV or EBV infection and colitis, often used interchangeably, and simply referring to the evidence of viral positivity in colonic tissue of symptomatic patients by means of any technique^[11,38], are confusing and should be assessed by applying the quantitative real-time PCR method on freshly harvested mucosal biopsies. However, further studies are warranted in order to optimize the mucosal sampling and assess the risk stratification in order to achieve early recognition and appropriate management of these conditions. It is worth noting that we confirmed^[39,40] EBV as the most prevalent infection, since half (49%) of the IBD patients and almost all of the refractory patients (88%) showed EBV positivity alone or in combination with HCMV. This observation is of great clinical relevance if we consider that, so far, the majority of papers have instead focused on HCMV infection. Furthermore, the exact correspondence between the macroscopically damaged areas and those carrying the highest viral loads strengthens the hypothesis that both viruses play a role in contributing to mucosal lesions. In this regard, a suggested viral tropism to sites of inflammation^[41], and their ability to affect cytokine production may account for how they escape host immune surveillance directly at mucosal level^[42]. Moreover, the possible presence of malnourishment and the increasing and early use of aggressive therapies^[38] whose main target are T-cells, which play a crucial role in controlling HCMV and EBV latency and reactivation^[43], represent potential co-factors in triggering viral colitis. The use of steroids, azathioprine or 6-mercaptopurine, and infliximab, indeed, has been found to produce similar effects in significantly increasing the OR for HCMV infection (3.4, 3.1, and 4.4, respectively), with the combined use of two or three of these drugs yielding an OR of 14.5^[2,44]. However, infliximab did not appear to affect the incidence of latent virus reactivation in the short-term^[45], but mostly in long-term treatment^[3]. Our results only partially confirmed these data, since immunosuppressants did not increase the risk of developing a superimposed viral colitis, while the use of biologic agents and topical steroids was closely related to EBV colitis. Moreover, although anti-tumor necrosis factor- α agents have been shown to cause widespread HCMV infection^[46], we did not substantiate

this result. Most importantly, as in transplant patients^[47], systemic steroid use was identified as a significant risk factor for both HCMV and EBV colitis, probably due to their ability to increase viral protein production, as shown *in vitro*^[48]. No additional factors, including duration of therapy or disease, age and degree of malnourishment were found to be related to the risk of developing viral colitis. Interestingly, only those patients with mucosal viral loads approaching 10⁵ copies/10⁵ cells showed detectable viral DNA even in peripheral blood, as already found in recipients of solid organ transplants where a HCMV end-organ disease may exist independently from systemic involvement^[49].

Finally, if our evidence is confirmed by larger studies, the rate of "true" refractoriness to standard therapies may shrink considerably, since a sizeable number of patients would instead be diagnosed as suffering from viral colitis. Remarkably, mucosal healing, mirrored by a sharp decrease in the viral load, was invariably observed in HCMV colitis following specific antiviral therapy^[11] together with a quick tapering and then discontinuation of steroids, whilst the immunosuppressive and biological agents may be continued by virtue of their long-lasting effect, which blocks any attempt to recover immunological competence in the short term. By contrast, both the mucosal viral load and indexes of activity remained largely unmodified in those patients with EBV colitis, despite the washout or tapering of the current therapies, and the vast majority of them underwent colectomy. The only patient who showed a substantial, although transient, drop in the mucosal viral load was the one treated with rituximab in an attempt to rapidly deplete the B lymphocytes which host the virus^[41], since no efficacious therapy is available to date^[4].

In conclusion, the use of quantitative real-time PCR assay on freshly harvested mucosal specimens proved to be more effective than immunohistochemistry in the diagnosis of opportunistic viral infection and allowed us to identify a threshold value that distinguishes infection from end-organ disease, whose clinical management is largely different.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Ms. Sheila McVeigh for her thorough revision of the English text.

COMMENTS

Background

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), including Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, are disabling, lifelong, pathological conditions affecting the gastrointestinal tract, mainly the colon, triggered and sustained by a dysregulated immune response towards antigens of the gut microbiota. A better understanding of the fine mechanisms responsible for tissue injury has led to the use of more aggressive therapies even in the early phase of the disease aimed at achieving mucosal healing and preventing disease progression. However, the increasing use of immune-suppressant and immune-modulant molecules carries the risk of



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

opportunistic infections, including those due to human Cytomegalovirus (HCMV) and Epstein Barr virus (EBV).

Research frontiers

To date, the information available on the frequency, role and risk factors of HCMV and EBV infections in IBD exacerbation and their diagnostic and therapeutic approaches is conflicting. The causes for this discrepancy lie in the differences amongst the patients enrolled, the diagnostic methods applied, and the retrospective design of the majority of studies.

Innovations and breakthroughs

This study prospectively investigated the presence of HCMV and EBV infection in IBD patients and control subjects by applying immunohistochemistry and quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assay, carried out on both peripheral blood and fresh mucosal samples. The latter proved to be the best diagnostic technique, since it allowed us to distinguish between viral colitis and infection by identifying a cutoff value. Interestingly, all refractory IBD patients carried the highest mucosal viral loads, which correlated with the severity of mucosal damage and endoscopic activity. EBV infection was found to be the most prevalent, and steroid therapy was identified as a significant risk factor. Finally, with a view to treatment, a course of antiviral therapy was of benefit in determining both the disappearance of viral DNA and mucosal healing in HCMV-related colitis, whilst the vast majority of patients with EBV colitis underwent colectomy.

Applications

This study contributes to our understanding of the frequency and role of opportunistic viral infection in refractory IBD patients and provides the basis for the use of real time quantitative PCR as the gold standard diagnostic technique in differentiating viral end-organ disease from infection. This technique also allows the patients to be monitored.

Terminology

Inflammatory bowel diseases are chronic enteropathies triggered and sustained by an abnormal immune response to usually-tolerated antigens, which develops in genetically susceptible individuals. Refractoriness is defined as the lack of response to current therapies. Opportunistic viral infections, including HCMV and EBV, are those caused by organisms capable of establishing latency in target cells and reactivating in cases of reduced host defence, such as during immunosuppressive or immunomodulant therapy, giving rise to both systemic and end-organ disease, which can also be localized to the gastrointestinal tract.

Peer-review

The authors investigated CMV and EBV in tissue specimens of refractory and non-refractory mixed IBD patients by quantitative real-time PCR and immunohistochemistry. Additionally, the whole colon was mapped in oder to correlated viral loads to endoscopic lesions. This is a very good paper.

REFERENCES

- Hanauer SB, Kornbluth AA, Messick J, Rubin DT, Sandborn WJ, Sands BE. Clinical scenarios in IBD: optimizing the use of conventional and biologic agents. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2010; 16 Suppl 1: S1-S11 [PMID: 21104734 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21529]
- 2 Toruner M, Loftus EV, Harmsen WS, Zinsmeister AR, Orenstein R, Sandborn WJ, Colombel JF, Egan LJ. Risk factors for opportunistic infections in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 2008; 134: 929-936 [PMID: 18294633 DOI: 10.1052/j.gastro.2008.01.012]
- Ford AC, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Opportunistic infections with antitumor necrosis factor-α therapy in inflammatory bowel disease: metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2013; 108: 1268-1276 [PMID: 23649185 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2013.138]
- 4 **Fishman JA**. Overview: cytomegalovirus and the herpesviruses in transplantation. *Am J Transplant* 2013; **13** Suppl 3: 1-8; quiz 8 [PMID: 23347210 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12002]
- Ljungman P, Griffiths P, Paya C. Definitions of cytomegalovirus infection and disease in transplant recipients. *Clin Infect Dis* 2002; 34: 1094-1097 [PMID: 11914998 DOI: 10.1086/339329]
- 6 Tashiro Y, Goto M, Takemoto Y, Sato E, Shirahama H, Utsunomiya A, Eizuru Y, Yonezawa S. Epstein-Barr virus-associated enteritis with multiple ulcers after stem cell transplantation: first histologically confirmed case. *Pathol Int* 2006; 56: 530-537 [PMID: 16930333 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1827.2006.02001.x]

- 7 **Beaugerie L**, Sokol H, Seksik P. Noncolorectal malignancies in inflammatory bowel disease: more than meets the eye. *Dig Dis* 2009; **27**: 375-381 [PMID: 19786768 DOI: 10.1159/000228577]
- 8 Green M, Michaels MG. Epstein-Barr virus infection and posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder. *Am J Transplant* 2013; 13 Suppl 3: 41-54; quiz 54 [PMID: 23347213 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12004]
- 9 Rosado FG, Kim AS. Hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis: an update on diagnosis and pathogenesis. *Am J Clin Pathol* 2013; 139: 713-727 [PMID: 23690113 DOI: 10.1309/AJCP4ZDKJ4ICOUAT]
- 10 Hommes DW, Sterringa G, van Deventer SJ, Tytgat GN, Weel J. The pathogenicity of cytomegalovirus in inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review and evidence-based recommendations for future research. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2004; 10: 245-250 [PMID: 15290919 DOI: 10.1097/00054725-200405000-00011]
- Lawlor G, Moss AC. Cytomegalovirus in inflammatory bowel disease: pathogen or innocent bystander? *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2010; 16: 1620-1627 [PMID: 20232408 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21275]
- 12 Van Assche G, Dignass A, Panes J, Beaugerie L, Karagiannis J, Allez M, Ochsenkühn T, Orchard T, Rogler G, Louis E, Kupcinskas L, Mantzaris G, Travis S, Stange E. The second European evidencebased Consensus on the diagnosis and management of Crohn's disease: Definitions and diagnosis. *J Crohns Colitis* 2010; **4**: 7-27 [PMID: 21122488 DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns.2009.12.003]
- 13 Dignass A, Eliakim R, Magro F, Maaser C, Chowers Y, Geboes K, Mantzaris G, Reinisch W, Colombel JF, Vermeire S, Travis S, Lindsay JO, Van Assche G. Second European evidence-based consensus on the diagnosis and management of ulcerative colitis part 1: definitions and diagnosis. *J Crohns Colitis* 2012; 6: 965-990 [PMID: 23040452 DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns.2012.09.003]
- Yanai H, Hanauer SB. Assessing response and loss of response to biological therapies in IBD. Am J Gastroenterol 2011; 106: 685-698 [PMID: 21427713 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2011.103]
- 15 Bradford K, Shih DQ. Optimizing 6-mercaptopurine and azathioprine therapy in the management of inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol 2011; 17: 4166-4173 [PMID: 22072847 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v17.i37.4166]
- 16 Satsangi J, Silverberg MS, Vermeire S, Colombel JF. The Montreal classification of inflammatory bowel disease: controversies, consensus, and implications. *Gut* 2006; 55: 749-753 [PMID: 16698746 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2005.082909]
- 17 Best WR, Becktel JM, Singleton JW, Kern F. Development of a Crohn's disease activity index. National Cooperative Crohn's Disease Study. *Gastroenterology* 1976; 70: 439-444 [PMID: 1248701]
- 18 Rachmilewitz D. Coated mesalazine (5-aminosalicylic acid) versus sulphasalazine in the treatment of active ulcerative colitis: a randomised trial. *BMJ* 1989; 298: 82-86 [PMID: 2563951 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.298.6666.82]
- 19 Daperno M, D'Haens G, Van Assche G, Baert F, Bulois P, Maunoury V, Sostegni R, Rocca R, Pera A, Gevers A, Mary JY, Colombel JF, Rutgeerts P. Development and validation of a new, simplified endoscopic activity score for Crohn's disease: the SES-CD. *Gastro-intest Endosc* 2004; 60: 505-512 [PMID: 15472670 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(04)01878-4]
- 20 Baron JH, Connell AM, Lennard-jones JE. Variation between observers in describing mucosal appearances in proctocolitis. *Br Med* J 1964; 1: 89-92 [PMID: 14075156 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.1.5375.89]
- 21 Furione M, Rognoni V, Cabano E, Baldanti F. Kinetics of human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) DNAemia in transplanted patients expressed in international units as determined with the Abbott RealTime CMV assay and an in-house assay. *J Clin Virol* 2012; 55: 317-322 [PMID: 22989927 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcv.2012.08.017]
- 22 Watzinger F, Suda M, Preuner S, Baumgartinger R, Ebner K, Baskova L, Niesters HG, Lawitschka A, Lion T. Real-time quantitative PCR assays for detection and monitoring of pathogenic human viruses in immunosuppressed pediatric patients. *J Clin Microbiol* 2004; 42: 5189-5198 [PMID: 15528714 DOI: 10.1128/ JCM.42.11.5189-5198.2004]
- 23 Maher MM, Nassar MI. Acute cytomegalovirus infection is a risk factor in refractory and complicated inflammatory bowel disease. *Dig Dis Sci* 2009; 54: 2456-2462 [PMID: 19093204 DOI: 10.1007/

is10620-008-0639-6]

- 24 Lévêque N, Brixi-Benmansour H, Reig T, Renois F, Talmud D, Brodard V, Coste JF, De Champs C, Andréoletti L, Diebold MD. Low frequency of cytomegalovirus infection during exacerbations of inflammatory bowel diseases. *J Med Virol* 2010; 82: 1694-1700 [PMID: 20827767 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.21877]
- Kandiel A, Lashner B. Cytomegalovirus colitis complicating inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2006; 101: 2857-2865 [PMID: 17026558 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2006.00869.
 x]
- 26 Cottone M, Pietrosi G, Martorana G, Casà A, Pecoraro G, Oliva L, Orlando A, Rosselli M, Rizzo A, Pagliaro L. Prevalence of cytomegalovirus infection in severe refractory ulcerative and Crohn's colitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2001; 96: 773-775 [PMID: 11280549 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2001.03620.x]
- 27 Bertalot G, Villanacci V, Gramegna M, Orvieto E, Negrini R, Saleri A, Terraroli C, Ravelli P, Cestari R, Viale G. Evidence of Epstein-Barr virus infection in ulcerative colitis. *Dig Liver Dis* 2001; 33: 551-558 [PMID: 11816543 DOI: 10.1016/S1590-8658(01)80106-7]
- 28 Yanai H, Shimizu N, Nagasaki S, Mitani N, Okita K. Epstein-Barr virus infection of the colon with inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1999; 94: 1582-1586 [PMID: 10364028 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.1999.01148.x]
- 29 Vega R, Bertrán X, Menacho M, Domènech E, Moreno de Vega V, Hombrados M, Cabré E, Ojanguren I, Gassull MA. Cytomegalovirus infection in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Gastroenterol 1999; 94: 1053-1056 [PMID: 10201482 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.1999.01013.x]
- 30 Kim JJ, Simpson N, Klipfel N, Debose R, Barr N, Laine L. Cytomegalovirus infection in patients with active inflammatory bowel disease. *Dig Dis Sci* 2010; 55: 1059-1065 [PMID: 20112061 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-010-1126-4]
- 31 Pillet S, Pozzetto B, Jarlot C, Paul S, Roblin X. Management of cytomegalovirus infection in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Dig Liver Dis* 2012; 44: 541-548 [PMID: 22538204 DOI: 10.1016/ j.dld.2012.03.018]
- 32 McCoy MH, Post K, Sen JD, Chang HY, Zhao Z, Fan R, Chen S, Leland D, Cheng L, Lin J. qPCR increases sensitivity to detect cytomegalovirus in formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue of gastrointestinal biopsies. *Hum Pathol* 2014; 45: 48-53 [PMID: 24139212 DOI: 10.1016/j.humpath.2013.07.040]
- 33 Roblin X, Pillet S, Oussalah A, Berthelot P, Del Tedesco E, Phelip JM, Chambonnière ML, Garraud O, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Pozzetto B. Cytomegalovirus load in inflamed intestinal tissue is predictive of resistance to immunosuppressive therapy in ulcerative colitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2011; **106**: 2001-2008 [PMID: 21788989 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2011.202]
- 34 Yoshino T, Nakase H, Ueno S, Uza N, Inoue S, Mikami S, Matsuura M, Ohmori K, Sakurai T, Nagayama S, Hasegawa S, Sakai Y, Chiba T. Usefulness of quantitative real-time PCR assay for early detection of cytomegalovirus infection in patients with ulcerative colitis refractory to immunosuppressive therapies. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2007; 13: 1516-1521 [PMID: 17828781 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.20253]
- 35 Ganzenmueller T, Henke-Gendo C, Schlué J, Wedemeyer J, Huebner S, Heim A. Quantification of cytomegalovirus DNA levels in intestinal biopsies as a diagnostic tool for CMV intestinal disease. J Clin Virol 2009; 46: 254-258 [PMID: 19748823 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcv.2009.08.008]
- 36 Folkins AK, Chisholm KM, Guo FP, McDowell M, Aziz N, Pinsky BA. Diagnosis of congenital CMV using PCR performed on formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded placental tissue. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2013; 37: 1413-1420 [PMID: 23797721 DOI: 10.1097/

PAS.0b013e318290f171]

- 37 Herfarth HH, Long MD, Rubinas TC, Sandridge M, Miller MB. Evaluation of a non-invasive method to detect cytomegalovirus (CMV)-DNA in stool samples of patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD): a pilot study. *Dig Dis Sci* 2010; **55**: 1053-1058 [PMID: 20165976 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-010-1146-0]
- 38 Rahier JF, Magro F, Abreu C, Armuzzi A, Ben-Horin S, Chowers Y, Cottone M, de Ridder L, Doherty G, Ehehalt R, Esteve M, Katsanos K, Lees CW, Macmahon E, Moreels T, Reinisch W, Tilg H, Tremblay L, Veereman-Wauters G, Viget N, Yazdanpanah Y, Eliakim R, Colombel JF. Second European evidence-based consensus on the prevention, diagnosis and management of opportunistic infections in inflammatory bowel disease. *J Crohns Colitis* 2014; 8: 443-468 [PMID: 24613021 DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns.2013.12.013]
- 39 Dimitroulia E, Pitiriga VC, Piperaki ET, Spanakis NE, Tsakris A. Inflammatory bowel disease exacerbation associated with Epstein-Barr virus infection. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2013; 56: 322-327 [PMID: 23392146 DOI: 10.1097/DCR.0b013e31827cd02c]
- 40 Ryan JL, Shen YJ, Morgan DR, Thorne LB, Kenney SC, Dominguez RL, Gulley ML. Epstein-Barr virus infection is common in inflamed gastrointestinal mucosa. *Dig Dis Sci* 2012; 57: 1887-1898 [PMID: 22410851 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-012-2116-5]
- 41 Sankaran-Walters S, Ransibrahmanakul K, Grishina I, Hung J, Martinez E, Prindiville T, Dandekar S. Epstein-Barr virus replication linked to B cell proliferation in inflamed areas of colonic mucosa of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *J Clin Virol* 2011; 50: 31-36 [PMID: 21035384 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcv.2010.09.011]
- 42 Iwamoto GK, Monick MM, Clark BD, Auron PE, Stinski MF, Hunninghake GW. Modulation of interleukin 1 beta gene expression by the immediate early genes of human cytomegalovirus. *J Clin Invest* 1990; 85: 1853-1857 [PMID: 2161430 DOI: 10.1172/ JCI114645]
- 43 Vogl BA, Fagin U, Nerbas L, Schlenke P, Lamprecht P, Jabs WJ. Longitudinal analysis of frequency and reactivity of Epstein-Barr virus-specific T lymphocytes and their association with intermittent viral reactivation. *J Med Virol* 2012; 84: 119-131 [PMID: 22095540 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.22258]
- Baroco AL, Oldfield EC. Gastrointestinal cytomegalovirus disease in the immunocompromised patient. *Curr Gastroenterol Rep* 2008; 10: 409-416 [PMID: 18627655 DOI: 10.1007/s11894-008-0077-9]
- 45 Lavagna A, Bergallo M, Daperno M, Sostegni R, Costa C, Leto R, Crocellà L, Molinaro G, Rocca R, Cavallo R, Pera A. Infliximab and the risk of latent viruses reactivation in active Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2007; 13: 896-902 [PMID: 17345605 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.20131]
- 46 Helbling D, Breitbach TH, Krause M. Disseminated cytomegalovirus infection in Crohn's disease following anti-tumour necrosis factor therapy. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2002; 14: 1393-1395 [PMID: 12468964 DOI: 10.1097/00042737-200212000-00018]
- 47 Nebbia G, Mattes FM, Sabin CA, Samonakis D, Rolando N, Burroughs AK, Emery VC. Differential effects of prednisolone and azathioprine on the development of human cytomegalovirus replication post liver transplantation. *Transplantation* 2007; 84: 605-610 [PMID: 17876273 DOI: 10.1097/01.tp.0000280555.08651.11]
- 48 Forbes BA, Bonville CA, Dock NL. The effects of a promoter of cell differentiation and selected hormones on human cytomegalovirus infection using an in vitro cell system. *J Infect Dis* 1990; 162: 39-45 [PMID: 1693943 DOI: 10.1093/infdis/162.1.39]
- 49 Gerna G, Lilleri D, Furione M, Castiglioni B, Meloni F, Rampino T, Agozzino M, Arbustini E. Human cytomegalovirus end-organ disease is associated with high or low systemic viral load in preemptively treated solid-organ transplant recipients. *New Microbiol* 2012; **35**: 279-287 [PMID: 22842597]

P- Reviewer: Blonski W, Day AS, Fries W, Gaertner W S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu XM





WJG www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1927

Prospective Study

World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1927-1931 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Acute fatty liver of pregnancy: Over six months follow-up study of twenty-five patients

Hao-Feng Xiong, Jing-Yuan Liu, Li-Min Guo, Xing-Wang Li

Hao-Feng Xiong, Jing-Yuan Liu, Li-Min Guo, Intensive Care Unit, Beijing Ditan Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing 100015, China

Xing-Wang Li, The Center of Infectious Diseases, Beijing Ditan Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing 100015, China

Author contributions: Xiong HF and Liu JY contributed equally to this work; Xiong HF, Liu JY, Guo LM and Li XW designed research; Xiong HF and Liu JY performed research, analyzed data and wrote the paper.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Xing-Wang Li, Professor, The Center of Infectious Diseases, Beijing Ditan Hospital, Capital Medical University, No. 8 Jing Shun East Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing 100015, China. ditanlxw@163.com

Telephone: +86-10-84322678 Fax: +86-10-84322678 Received: May 28, 2014 Peer-review started: May 28, 2014 First decision: June 27, 2014 Revised: July 29, 2014 Accepted: September 5, 2014 Article in press: September 5, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To evaluate the prognosis of patients with acute fatty liver of pregnancy (AFLP) 6 mo or longer after discharge.

METHODS: The records of pregnant patients diagnosed with AFLP at Beijing Ditan Hospital over a 16-year period were reviewed in November 2012. Patients were

monitored using abdominal ultrasound, liver and kidney functions, and routine blood examination.

RESULTS: A total of 42 patients were diagnosed with AFLP during the study period, and 25 were followed. The mean follow-up duration was 54.5 mo (range: 6.5-181 mo). All patients were in good physical condition, but one patient had gestational diabetes. The renal and liver functions normalized in all patients after recovery, including in those with pre-existing liver or kidney failure. The ultrasound findings were normal in 12 patients, an increasingly coarsened echo-pattern and increased echogenicity of the liver in 10 patients, and mild to moderate fatty liver infiltration in 3 patients. Cirrhosis or liver nodules were not observed in any patient.

CONCLUSION: Acute liver failure and acute renal failure in AFLP patients is reversible. Patients do not require any specific long-term follow-up after recovery from AFLP if their liver function tests have normalized and they remain well.

Key words: Acute fatty liver of pregnancy; Acute liver failure; Acute renal failure; Follow-up study

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Acute fatty liver of pregnancy (AFLP) is a rare but life-threatening complication of pregnancy. Acute liver failure (ALF) and acute renal failure are the most important and threatening complication of AFLP. ALF due to viral hepatitis is known to potentially cause severe liver fibrosis and cirrhosis, but it is unknown whether the same outcome is possible for AFLP patients. The potential for continued progression or chronic sequelae is also unknown. Hence, the aim of this study was to evaluate the prognosis of patients with AFLP 6 mo or longer after discharge.


Xiong HF, Liu JY, Guo LM, Li XW. Acute fatty liver of pregnancy: Over six months follow-up study of twenty-five patients. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1927-1931 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1927.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1927

INTRODUCTION

Acute fatty liver of pregnancy (AFLP) is a rare but life-threatening complication of pregnancy. This condition is defined as microvesicular fatty infiltration of hepatocytes during the second half of pregnancy (usually the third trimester), and it remains a common cause of liver failure during pregnancy. Since it was first described by Stander and Cadden^[1] in 1934 and Sheehan^[2] in 1940, numerous cases have been reported. The mortality of AFLP used to be very high, up to 85%^[3], but with early recognition and prompt termination of pregnancy, the prognosis has improved, and the mortality is now estimated to be between 0% and 12.5%^[4-9]. However, AFLP still causes severe maternal morbidity and in some cases mortality, especially in certain critical patients^[10].

Acute liver failure (ALF) and acute renal failure (ARF) are the most important and life-threatening complications of AFLP^[11,12]. ALF due to viral hepatitis is known to potentially cause severe liver fibrosis and cirrhosis, but it is unknown whether the same outcome is possible for AFLP patients. The potential for continued progression or chronic sequelae is also unknown. The aim of the present study was to evaluate the prognosis of patients with AFLP 6 months or longer after recovery. Notably, this study is the largest single-center, hospital-based follow-up investigation series worldwide.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patient selection criteria and exclusion criteria

AFLP was diagnosed based on clinical and laboratory criteria as follows: (1) patients with symptoms of anorexia, fatigue, nausea, vomiting, jaundice, and abnormal liver function during the third trimester of pregnancy; (2) characteristic laboratory findings; (3) ultrasound images showing a fatty liver; (4) exclusion of other causes of liver dysfunction, such as viral hepatitis, biliary tract disease, and cholestasis of pregnancy; and (5) liver biopsy sample with characteristic pathologic changes. All cases conformed to the diagnostic criteria mentioned above, except liver biopsy. Because of their severe condition, prolonged prothrombin times, reduced platelet counts, and/or the patients' refusal, only four patients underwent liver biopsy.

Study design

From January 1996 to May 2012, 42 cases of AFLP

were identified at Beijing Ditan Hospital, Capital Medical University in Beijing, China. There were three maternal deaths (7.14%). In the 39 surviving patients, 25 patients consented to follow-up study. Records were reviewed in the 25 enrolled patients for presenting symptoms, laboratory findings, maternal complications, and neonatal outcomes. Demographic data included maternal age, gestational age, and comorbidities. Laboratory evaluation included measurement of liver function, complete blood cell count, coagulation profile, and renal function tests. Patients were monitored using abdominal ultrasound, liver and kidney function tests, and routine blood examination.

Ethics statement

This study was part of the research work "Correlation of mitochondrial trifunctional protein (MTP) α subunit G1528C mutation and AFLP onset" which had been undertaken in May 2011. In accordance with the requirements of the Ethics Committee, we obtained written informed consent from the patients or the authorized clients of the patients (because some patients were in a critical state and were unable to sign the consent themselves). The authorized clients were the husband of the patients; according to Chinese law, they were the next of kin of the patients. We had informed our IRB that we obtained written informed consent from the next of kin of these participants. The Ethics Committee of Beijing Ditan Hospital, Capital Medical University approved the entire study design, methods and consent procedure used in this study. The approval number is QN 2011-06. All the data were collected anonymously.

Definitions

ALF was diagnosed based on clinical and laboratory criteria as follows: evidence of coagulopathy, usually an international normalized ratio \geq 1.5 or a prothrombin activity \leq 40%; serum total bilirubin \geq 171 μ mol/L or a daily rise \geq 17.1 μ mol/L; and any degree of mental alteration (encephalopathy) in a patient without preexisting liver disease and illness < 2 wk duration^[13-15].

ARF was defined as the deterioration of renal function over days to weeks and a serum creatinine (Cr) $\geq 265.2 \ \mu mol/L$; acute renal impairment was defined as a deterioration in renal function and a Cr > 150 $\mu mol/L$. Hypoglycemia was defined as symptoms of hypoglycemia occurring simultaneously with a blood glucose < 50 mg/dL (2.8 mmol/L).

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using statistical software (SPSS, Chicago, IL, United States), and P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Normally distributed data were expressed as the mean and standard deviation, and were analyzed using the *t*-test. Measured data were plotted on a receiver operating

Table 1 Laboratory findings in patients with acute fatty liver of pregnancy during hospitalization and at follow-up								
Laboratory test	Peak/nadir average during hospital	Peak/nadir range during hospital	Average at follow-up	Range at follow-up				
ALT (U/L)	376.4	34.0-1457.0	17.8	8.2-52.0				
AST (U/L)	385.4	10.0-2144.0	18.4	10.1-42.1				
TBIL (µmol/L)	258.8	16.0-225.0	12.8	4.7-23.6				
Albumin (g/L)	26.0	15.0-37.3	47.2	43.9-54.2				
BUN (mmol/L)	9.52	2.0-33.4	5.2	2.9-9.0				
Cr (µmol/L)	207.3	66.0-522.0	55.7	45.0-67.7				
UA (µmol/L)	331.1	168-542.0	262.5	176.0-390.8				
Glucose (mmol/L)	3.5	1.2-6.3	5.8	4.5-16.0				
WBC (× 10 ⁹ /L)	22.1	4.3-56.3	5.5	3.5-5.5				
HGB (g/L)	82.0	37.0-140.8	128.6	102.0-146.0				
$PLT (\times 10^{9}/L)$	81.6	16.0-242.0	226.5	135.0-375.0				

characteristic curve and referenced by sensitivity and specificity. Counted data were expressed as the frequency and rate, and χ^2 or Fisher's exact tests were used for analysis. Logistic regression was used to analyze relative factors. Data not normally distributed were expressed as the median and quartile, and analyzed using the rank sum test.

RESULTS

In the 25 enrolled patients, three patients were positive for hepatitis B, which was considered in the differential diagnosis but later excluded. All patients underwent an abdominal ultrasound examination, but a hyperechoic liver was only observed in 15 patients. The diagnosis was confirmed by liver biopsy in only one patient.

During hospitalization, the mean maternal age was 27.2 years (range: 21-34 years), and the mean gestational age at delivery was 35.3 wk (range: 26-42 wk). Delivery occurred by cesarean section in 19 patients and vaginally in six patients. The mean total duration of hospitalization was 25.5 d (range: 6-77 d). The prodromal phase lasted a mean 9 d before admission (range: 0.5-25 d). Reported symptoms included jaundice or dark urine (n = 18), nausea and vomiting (n = 16), malaise (n = 15), and abdominal pain (n = 7). Three patients did not report prodrome and had no complaints related to AFLP at the time of admission.

Laboratory results during hospitalization for the 25 patients are summarized in Table 1. All but one patient had elevated liver enzyme activities; in this particular patient, other criteria for the disease were fulfilled, and the diagnosis was confirmed by liver biopsy at the time of cesarean delivery. The total bilirubin concentration was elevated in 24 cases. Leukocytosis (leukocyte count > 11 000 cells/mm³) was noted in 23 of 25 patients.

None of the patients underwent liver transplantation. Maternal morbidity was attributed to acute renal injury (18 cases), acute renal failure (8 cases with a urine output < 400 mL/d requiring CRRT), hepatic encephalopathy (10 cases), and postpartum hemorrhage > 500 mL (10 cases). The mean volume of blood loss was 1940 \pm 1098 mL (range: 500-4000 mL). Other complications were as follows: hypoglycemia (eight cases), disseminated intravascular coagulopathy (five cases), pneumonia [four cases, all developed acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) requiring mechanical ventilation], mental disturbances such as visual hallucinations, auditory hallucinations, and delusion of persecution (five cases), upper gastrointestinal hemorrhage (two cases), and acute pancreatitis (two cases). There were five cases of diabetes insipidus; all of the patients experienced acute renal injury, but only two patients experienced acute renal failure.

The mean follow-up time duration was 54.5 mo (range: 6.5-181 mo). The laboratory findings are summarized in Table 1. All patients were in good physical condition, but one patient had gestational diabetes. The renal and liver function returned to normal in all patients, including those with preexisting liver or kidney failure. The ultrasound findings were completely normal in 12 patients; an increased coarse echo-pattern and increased echogenicity of the liver was observed in 10 patients and a mild to moderate fatty liver in 3 patients. Cirrhosis or liver nodules were not observed in any patient.

DISCUSSION

First described in 1934 by Stander and Cadden^[1] as "acute yellow atrophy of the liver," AFLP is a medical and obstetric emergency and remains a common cause of liver failure during pregnancy^[16]. Recent data indicate a decrease in maternal and neonatal mortalities associated with AFLP owing to increased awareness and earlier recognition of the disease based on its clinical and laboratory findings and significant changes in the facilities over the 16-year recruitment period^[6,7,17].

The symptoms presently observed were similar to those found previously^[4-9]. Typically, AFLP initially presents with non-specific symptoms such as acute abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, and malaise, usually occurring during the third trimester of pregnancy or during the immediate puerperium. The initial symptoms of AFLP are atypical and could be overlooked, and this disease progresses rapidly and causes multiorgan dysfunction in a very short time; therefore, it is important to be especially vigilant for AFLP development.

After developing the described symptoms, complications typical of AFLP begin to appear, including renal insufficiency, encephalopathy, coma, coagulopathy, infections, ARDS, and acute pancreatitis.

ALF is a common complication of AFLP and one of the most common causes of liver failure during pregnancy. AFLP can sometimes be confused with fulminate liver failure caused by viral hepatitis. In this series, 13 of 25 patients (52%) developed ALF, and nine patients became comatose, which are findings similar to those in other studies^[9,18-20]. ALF due to viral hepatitis may result in severe liver fibrosis and cirrhosis, but this does not occur in AFLP patients; we did not observe liver cirrhosis or chronic hepatitis in any of the patients during follow-up, and all have recovered well. Ober and Lecompte^[21] reported that the pathologic changes in the liver are "of a reversible kind;" the clinical course and histopathologic findings clearly point to a functional failure-not a destructive form of hepatic insufficiency. Rolfes and Ishak^[22] also observed that the lipid infiltration completely disappeared in as little as 5 wk of convalescence and did not progress to hepatic scarring and other chronic sequelae. We suspect that AFLP is usually self-limiting and is a reversible form of acute hepatic failure that does not generally require transplantation. Patients do not require specific long-term follow-up after recovery from AFLP if their liver function tests have normalized and they remain well.

The overall morbidity of renal impairment (Cr > 150 μ mol/L) was 72.0%, and incidence of ARF requiring renal replacement treatment was 32.0%. Castro et al^[9] reported that all AFLP patients had some degree of renal insufficiency on admission. The finding of renal insufficiency early during the course of disease suggests that the renal complications are not the result of hepatic dysfunction. In a study of autopsied patients, Rolfes et al[22] demonstrated the presence of sparse microvesicular fat in the kidneys of half the cases in frozen sections stained with oil red-O. The cause of ARF may be related to the inhibition of fat β -oxidation early on^[23]; the hepatorenal syndrome probably contributes to the renal dysfunction as well, especially late in the course of disease. Renal function completely recovered at discharge and follow-up, suggesting that the renal damage in AFLP patients is reversible.

In conclusion, acute liver failure and acute renal failure in AFLP patients is reversible. Patients do not require any specific long-term follow-up after recovery from AFLP if their liver function tests have normalized and they remain well.

COMMENTS

Background

Acute fatty liver of pregnancy (AFLP) is a rare but life-threatening complication of pregnancy. Acute liver failure (ALF) and acute renal failure are the most important and threatening complications of AFLP. ALF due to viral hepatitis is known to potentially cause severe liver fibrosis and cirrhosis, but it is unknown whether the same outcome is possible for AFLP patients. The potential for continued progression or chronic sequelae is also unknown.

Research frontiers

In recent years, research has focused on the pathogenesis of AFLP. It is thought to be caused by a disordered metabolism of fatty acids by mitochondria in the mother, caused by deficiency in the long-chain 3-hydroxyacyl-coenzyme A dehydrogenase (LCHAD) enzyme. The gene responsible for LCHAD has been isolated, and the most common mutation found in *AFLP* is the E474Q missense mutation. In another study, the authors also tested for E474Q mutation in these patients and in healthy controls; relevant data have not been published.

Innovations and breakthroughs

This study is the largest single-center, hospital-based, follow-up investigation series worldwide. The study showed that ALF and acute renal failure in AFLP patients is reversible. Patients do not require any specific long-term follow-up after recovery from AFLP if their liver function tests have normalized and they remain well.

Applications

AFLP is a rare but life-threatening complication of pregnancy. This follow-up study can provide a good reference for better understanding of the disease for both patients and doctors.

Peer-review

This is a clearly written manuscript - a small and simple study, materials and methods appear good. The article evaluated the prognosis in patients with acute fatty liver of pregnancy discharged over six months and concluded that acute liver failure and acute renal failure in AFLP patient is reversible; mothers do not need specific long-term follow-up after recovery from AFLP providing their liver function tests have normalized and they remain well.

REFERENCES

- 1 Stander H, Cadden B. Acute yellow atrophy of the liver in pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1934; 28: 61-69
- 2 **Sheehan HL**. The pathology of acute yellow atrophy and delayed chloroform poisoning. *J Obstet Gynaecol* 1940; **47**: 49-62 [DOI: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1940.tb14731.x]
- Kaplan MM. Acute fatty liver of pregnancy. N Engl J Med 1985;
 313: 367-370 [PMID: 3892299]
- 4 Knight M, Nelson-Piercy C, Kurinczuk JJ, Spark P, Brocklehurst P. A prospective national study of acute fatty liver of pregnancy in the UK. *Gut* 2008; 57: 951-956 [PMID: 18332072 DOI: 10.1136/ gut.2008.148676]
- 5 Mellouli MM, Amara FB, Maghrebi H, Bouchnack M, Khaled N, Reziga H. Acute fatty liver of pregnancy over a 10-year period at a Tunisian tertiary care center. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 2012; **117**: 88-89 [PMID: 22257770 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2011.11.012]
- 6 Vigil-de Gracia P, Montufar-Rueda C. Acute fatty liver of pregnancy: diagnosis, treatment, and outcome based on 35 consecutive cases. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med* 2011; 24: 1143-1146 [PMID: 21668324 DOI: 10.3109/14767058.2010.531325]
- 7 Lau HH, Chen YY, Huang JP, Chen CY, Su TH, Chen CP. Acute fatty liver of pregnancy in a Taiwanese tertiary care center: a retrospective review. *Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol* 2010; **49**: 156-159 [PMID: 20708520 DOI: 10.1016/S1028-4559(10)60033-2]
- 8 Wei Q, Zhang L, Liu X. Clinical diagnosis and treatment of acute fatty liver of pregnancy: a literature review and 11 new cases. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2010; 36: 751-756 [PMID: 20666940 DOI: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2010.01242.x]
- 9 Castro MA, Fassett MJ, Reynolds TB, Shaw KJ, Goodwin TM. Reversible peripartum liver failure: a new perspective on the diagnosis, treatment, and cause of acute fatty liver of pregnancy, based on 28 consecutive cases. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1999; 181:

389-395 [PMID: 10454689]

- 10 Dekker RR, Schutte JM, Stekelenburg J, Zwart JJ, van Roosmalen J. Maternal mortality and severe maternal morbidity from acute fatty liver of pregnancy in the Netherlands. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2011; 157: 27-31 [PMID: 21439706 DOI: 10.1016/ j.ejogrb.2011.02.015]
- 11 Jayanthi V, Udayakumar N. Acute liver failure in pregnancy: an overview. *Minerva Gastroenterol Dietol* 2008; 54: 75-84 [PMID: 18299670]
- 12 Frise MC, Frise CJ, Nelson-Piercy C. Management of the critically ill obstetric patient. *Obstet Gynaecol Reprod Med* 2012; 22: 241-247 [DOI: 10.1016/j.ogrm.2012.06.003]
- 13 Liver Failure and Artificial Liver Group, Chinese Society of Infectious Diseases, Chinese Medical Association; Severe Liver Diseases and Artificial Liver Group, Chinese Society of Hepatology, Chinese Medical Association. [Diagnostic and treatment guidelines for liver failure]. *Zhonghua Gan Zang Bing Zazhi* 2006; 14: 643-646 [PMID: 16995974]
- 14 Polson J, Lee WM. AASLD position paper: the management of acute liver failure. *Hepatology* 2005; 41: 1179-1197 [PMID: 15841455 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20703]
- 15 Stravitz RT, Kramer AH, Davern T, Shaikh AO, Caldwell SH, Mehta RL, Blei AT, Fontana RJ, McGuire BM, Rossaro L, Smith AD, Lee WM. Intensive care of patients with acute liver failure: recommendations of the U.S. Acute Liver Failure Study Group. *Crit Care Med* 2007; **35**: 2498-2508 [PMID: 17901832 DOI: 10.1097/01.ccm.0000287592.94554.5f]

- 16 Joshi D, James A, Quaglia A, Westbrook RH, Heneghan MA. Liver disease in pregnancy. *Lancet* 2010; **375**: 594-605 [PMID: 20159293 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61495-1]
- 17 Aso K, Hojo S, Yumoto Y, Fukushima K, Miyazaki M, Kotoh K, Wake N. Three cases of acute fatty liver of pregnancy: postpartum clinical course depends on interval between onset of symptoms and termination of pregnancy. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med* 2010; 23: 1047-1049 [PMID: 20718581 DOI: 10.3109/14767050903353232]
- 18 Hepburn IS, Schade RR. Pregnancy-associated liver disorders. Dig Dis Sci 2008; 53: 2334-2358 [PMID: 18256934 DOI: 10.1007/ s10620-007-0167-9]
- 19 Heneghan MA, Selzner M, Yoshida EM, Mullhaupt B. Pregnancy and sexual function in liver transplantation. *J Hepatol* 2008; 49: 507-519 [PMID: 18715668 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2008.07.011]
- 20 Gregory TL, Hughes S, Coleman MA, De Silva A. Acute fatty liver of pregnancy; three cases and discussion of analgesia and anaesthesia. *Int J Obstet Anesth* 2007; 16: 175-179 [PMID: 17275281 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijoa.2006.10.004]
- 21 Ober WB, Lecompte PM. Acute fatty metamorphosis of the liver associated with pregnancy; a distinctive lesion. *Am J Med* 1955; 19: 743-758 [PMID: 13268476]
- 22 Rolfes DB, Ishak KG. Acute fatty liver of pregnancy: a clinicopathologic study of 35 cases. *Hepatology* 1985; 5: 1149-1158 [PMID: 2415437]
- 23 Ganesan C, Maynard SE. Acute kidney injury in pregnancy: the thrombotic microangiopathies. *J Nephrol* 2011; 24: 554-563 [PMID: 21240869 DOI: 10.5301/JN.2011.6250]

P- Reviewer: Matsuzaki Y, Sanal MG, Yan M S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: Logan S E- Editor: Zhang DN







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1932 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1932-1937 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Prospective Study

Incidence and psychological-behavioral characteristics of refractory functional dyspepsia: A large, multi-center, prospective investigation from China

Shu-Man Jiang, Lin Jia, Xiao-Gai Lei, Ming Xu, Sheng-Bing Wang, Jing Liu, Min Song, Wei-Dong Li

Shu-Man Jiang, Lin Jia, Xiao-Gai Lei, Jing Liu, Min Song, Wei-Dong Li, Department of Gastroenterology, Guangzhou First People's Hospital, Guangzhou Medical University, Guangzhou 510180, Guangdong Province, China

Shu-Man Jiang, Lin Jia, Jing Liu, Department of Gastroenterology, Guangzhou Nansha Central Hospital, Guangzhou 510180, Guangdong Province, China

Ming Xu, Department of Gastroenterology, Guangdong Province Second People's Hospital, Guangzhou 510180, Guangdong Province, China

Sheng-Bing Wang, Department of Gastroenterology, Meizhou Municipal People's Hospital, Guangzhou 510180, Guangdong Province, China

Author contributions: Jiang SM, Jia L and Lei XG designed the study; Lei XG, Xu M, Wang SB, Liu J and Song M performed the study; Jiang SM, Jia L and Li WD analyzed the data; Jiang SM and Jia L wrote the paper; Jiang SM and Jia L contributed to the work equally and should be regarded as cofirst authors.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Lin Jia, MD, Professor, Department of Gastroenterology, Guangzhou First People's Hospital, Guangzhou Medical University, 195 Dongfeng West Road, Guangzhou 510180, Guangdong Province, China. jialin@medmail.com.cn Telephone: +86-20-81628809

Fax: +86-20-81628809 Fax: +86-20-81628809 Received: August 12, 2014 Peer-review started: August 13, 2014 First decision: September 15, 2014 Revised: September 27, 2014 Accepted: October 20, 2014 Article in press: October 21, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To explore the incidence and psychological and behavioral characteristics of refractory functional dyspepsia (RFD) in China.

METHODS: The subjects of this study were 1341 new outpatients with functional dyspepsia (FD) who were diagnosed according to the Rome III criteria at four hospitals in Guangdong Province between June and September 2012, and 100 healthy volunteers. All subjects completed questionnaires and scales administered.

RESULTS: Three-hundred and twenty-seven of the 1341 patients with FD had RFD (24.4%). Patients with RFD had a longer disease duration and a more severe form of the disease than patients with non-refractory FD (NRFD). The prevalence of depression and anxiety symptoms was higher in patients with RFD than in patients with NRFD. The prevalence of unhealthy eating behaviors, lack of physical activity, and sleeping disorders was higher in patients with RFD than in patients with NRFD. Patients with RFD sought medical advice on more occasions and spent more money on treatment than patients with NRFD. Finally, patients with RFD had poorer quality of life than patients with NRFD.

CONCLUSION: RFD is not rare in clinical practice and should get attention by patients and doctors because of its long duration, severe symptoms, and associations with abnormal psychology and poor quality of life.

Key words: Refractory functional dyspepsia; Psychologicalbehavioral characteristics; Depression; Anxiety; Behavior; Quality of life

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core tip: Functional dyspepsia is the most common functional gastrointestinal disease. Refractory functional dyspepsia (RFD) even makes patients see a doctor repeatedly and aggravates their medical expenses. However, there is rare research concerning the psychologicalbehavioral characteristics of RFD patients until now. Thus we performed a large, multicenter investigation of RFD in China, and the findings may illustrate the importance of recognition and diagnosis of RFD, and provide a basis for clinical treatment and the relapse prevention of this condition.

Jiang SM, Jia L, Lei XG, Xu M, Wang SB, Liu J, Song M, Li WD. Incidence and psychological-behavioral characteristics of refractory functional dyspepsia: A large, multi-center, prospective investigation from China. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1932-1937 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1932.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1932

INTRODUCTION

Functional dyspepsia (FD) is one of the most common functional gastrointestinal diseases^[1]. Because of differences between Asian and Western countries in diet, lifestyle, environment, and genetic factors, functional gastrointestinal diseases in Asian countries are different from those in Western countries with regard to symptoms, epidemiology, etiology, and pathogenesis^[1,2]. Refractory FD (RFD) refers to FD that has continuous symptoms for at least 6 mo that has been unresponsive to at least two medical treatments, such as acid suppressors, proton pump inhibitors, prokinetics, or Helicobacter pylori (H. *pylori*) eradication^[3]. The failure to respond to treatments is the main reason that RFD patients make repeated visits to a doctor and escalate their medical expenses. However, the pathogenesis of RFD and the reasons this disease fails to respond to treatment are not fully understood. Moreover, there is little research concerning the psychological and behavioral characteristics of patients with RFD.

In this study, we present data from a large, multicenter investigation of RFD in China that were collected as a part of a registered study (ChiCTR-TRC-12001968). The focus of the present study was to quantify the incidence of RFD and to identify the psychological and behavioral characteristics of patients with RFD to illustrate the importance of recognizing and diagnosing RFD, and to provide a basis for clinical treatment and relapse prevention.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethics statement

All participants gave written informed consent. The

study was approved by the ethics committees of Guangzhou Nansha Central Hospital, Guangzhou First People's Hospital, Guangdong Province Second People's Hospital, and Meizhou Municipal People's Hospital.

Study subjects

The study involved 9802 patients who visited the digestive department outpatient service of Guangzhou Nansha Central Hospital, Guangzhou First People's Hospital, Guangdong Province Second People's Hospital, or Meizhou Municipal People's Hospital from June to September 2012. FD and the subtype of FD [epigastric pain syndrome (EPS) or postprandial distress syndrome (PDS)] were diagnosed according to the Rome III criteria^[4]. Patient exclusion criteria were: (1) an endoscopic examination revealed an ulcer, erosion, tumor, another organic disease, or evidence of esophagitis; (2) a history of ulcers, erosion, tumors, other organic diseases, or esophagitis; (3) a laboratory examination, ultrasound, or X-ray revealed an organic disease associated with the liver, gallbladder, pancreas, or intestine; (4) diabetes, connective tissue disease, mental disease, or other systemic diseases; (5) a history of abdominal operations; (6) pregnancy or lactation; and (7) other functional gastrointestinal disorders such as irritable bowel syndrome and gastroesophageal reflux disease. In addition, the FD patients who had to report continuous symptoms for at least 6 mo but failed to respond to at least two medical treatments (such as acid suppressors, proton pump inhibitors, prokinetics, or *H. pylori* eradication) were defined with RFD^[3]. All FD patients who did not meet these criteria were classed as non-refractory FD (NRFD) patients.

One hundred healthy volunteers were included as control subjects. Healthy volunteers did not exhibit the following symptoms for 3 mo prior to the study: postprandial fullness, early satiety, epigastric pain, burning epigastric pain, abdominal pain, diarrhea, constipation, and other gastrointestinal symptoms. Healthy volunteers had normal function of the heart, liver, and kidneys, no recent history of drug use, no history of mental disease and no history of surgery.

Data collection

Two unified training doctors obtained data from patients and healthy volunteers in all hospitals. Data collection took place *via* face-to-face interviews in a quiet environment. Consultation time was 20-30 min per subject.

The 25-item Nepean Dyspepsia Index was utilized to evaluate the severity of patients' symptoms. The symptom checklist included frequency, severity and bothersomeness of 15 upper gastrointestinal symptoms, and a higher total score indicates a more severe digestive symptom^[5].

The 17-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAMD) and the 14-item Hamilton Anxiety Rating

Jiang SM et al. Incidence and psychological-behavioral characteristics of RFD

Table 1 General characteristics of the study subjects n (%)								
Feature	RFD ($n = 327$)	NRFD ($n = 1014$)	Healthy volunteers $(n = 100)$	P value ¹	P value ²			
Gender				0.300	0.470			
Male	127 (38.8)	427 (42.1)	45 (45.0)					
Female	200 (61.2)	587 (57.9)	55 (55.0)					
Age group				0.110	0.110			
$\leq 20 \text{ yr}$	8 (2.4)	39 (3.8)	2 (2.0)					
21-30 yr	54 (16.5)	215 (21.2)	24 (24.0)					
31-40 yr	84 (25.7)	289 (28.5)	28 (28.0)					
41-50 yr	113 (34.6)	294 (29.0)	27 (27.0)					
51-60 yr	52 (15.9)	130 (12.8)	17 (17.0)					
> 60 yr	16 (4.9)	47 (4.6)	2 (2.0)					
Age, yr	41.91 ± 11.30	39.60 ± 11.81	39.83 ± 12.42	0.001	0.780			
Subtype								
EPS	120 (36.7)	457 (45.1)	-	0.010	-			
PDS	94 (28.7)	280 (27.6)	-	0.690	-			
EPS + PDS	113 (34.6)	277 (27.3)	-	0.010	-			
Duration of disease, (yr)	6.01 ± 2.87	3.76 ± 1.83	-	0.002	-			
Severity of disease								
Mild	101 (30.9)	459 (45.3)	-	0.001	-			
Moderate	148 (45.3)	407 (40.1)	-	0.100	-			
Severe	78 (23.9)	148 (14.6)	-	0.003	-			

¹Comparison between RFD and NRFD patients; ²Comparison between all functional dyspepsia patients (RFD and NRFD combined) and healthy volunteers. Continuous data were compared across groups using one-way ANOVA and Student-Newman-Keuls test for multiple comparisons. Count data were compared across groups using a χ^2 test. RFD: Refractory functional dyspepsia; NRFD: Non-refractory functional dyspepsia; EPS: Epigastric pain syndrome; PDS: Postprandial distress syndrome.

Scale (HAMA) were used to evaluate the degrees of depression and anxiety symptoms. Higher scores indicate more severe depressive or anxious conditions. Depression symptoms were classified as severe (HAMD score ≥ 25), moderate (HAMD score 18-24), mild (HAMD score 7-17) or none (HAMD score ≤ 6)^[6,7]. Anxiety symptoms were also classified as severe (HAMA score ≥ 24), moderate (HAMA score 15-23), mild (HAMA score 8-14) or none (HAMA score ≤ 7)^[8,9].

The unhealthy eating behaviors were investigated including the aspects of skip meals (less than three meals a day), eating late (1 h later than the normal meal time) and eating extra meal (more than three meals a day). The working behaviors included the aspects of working in the day (the time period from 6 am to 6 pm), working at night (the time period from 6 pm to 6 am) and no work, and study was also considered a work. Physical activity was evaluated using the International Physical Questionnaire (IPAQ), and low/moderate/high levels of physical activity were defined according to the guideline for data analysis of IPAQ^[10]. Sleeping was also assessed using the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI). A high PSQI score indicates poor sleep, and patients with a PSQI score > 5 were considered to have a sleep disorder^[11]. Quality of life was evaluated using the Short Form 36 Health Survey Questionnaire (SF-36). High SF-36 scores indicate better quality of life^[12]. Patients were investigated about the amount of money spent on former treatments (drugs, examination, fee, traffic, etc.) when they were diagnosed with FD or RFD. The money was quantified by Chinese Yuan (CNY).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS 13.0 for Windows. Continuous data are expressed as mean \pm SD, and were compared across groups (RFD, NRFD, healthy volunteers) using one-way ANOVA and Student-Newman-Keuls test for multiple comparisons. Count data were compared across groups using a χ^2 test. All tests were two-tailed and P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Especially, a χ^2 test for independence was used to determine whether severity of disease, depression and anxiety symptoms was related to RFD, and $\chi^2 > 6.635$ was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Study sample

Of 1600 patients diagnosed with FD, 390 fulfilled the criteria for RFD. A total of 1341 patients (n =327 for RFD and n = 1014 for NRFD) completed the questionnaire battery. These patients comprised 554 males and 787 females and were between 18 and 76 years old (mean age = 40.17 ± 11.72 years). The 100 healthy volunteers comprised 45 males and 55 females and were between 18 and 78 years old (mean age = 39.83 ± 12.42 years). Characteristics of healthy volunteers were similar to those of the patients (Table 1).

Incidence and disease characteristics

Of 9802 outpatients, 1600 (16.3%) were diagnosed with FD and 390 (4.0%) were diagnosed with RFD.



Table 2 Psychological and behavioral characteristics and quality of life of the study subjects n (%)									
Characteristic	RFD	NRFD	Healthy volunteers $(n = 100)$	P value					
	(n = 327)	(n = 1014)							
Depression symptoms	207 (63.3) ^{a, c}	212 (20.9) ^c	10 (10.0)	0.002					
Mild	112 (34.3) ^{a, c}	170 (16.8)	10 (10.0)	0.001					
Moderate	61 (18.7) ^{a, c}	34 (3.4)	0 (0)	0.001					
Severe	34 (10.4) ^{a, c}	8 (0.8)	0 (0)	0.004					
HAMD score	$11.65 \pm 6.51^{a, c}$	$7.15 \pm 3.34^{\circ}$	1.66 ± 2.50	0.003					
Anxiety symptoms	201 (61.5) ^{a, c}	236 (23.3) ^c	10 (10.0)	0.002					
Mild	97 (29.7) ^{a, c}	162 (16)	10 (10.0)	0.001					
Moderate	74 (22.6) ^{a, c}	60 (5.9) ^c	0 (0)	0.003					
Severe	30 (9.2) ^{a, c}	14 (1.4)	0 (0)	0.001					
HAMA score	10.84 ± 5.82) ^{a, c}	$6.83 \pm 3.53)^{\circ}$	2.26 ± 2.68	0.001					
Both depression and anxiety symptoms	186 (56.9) ^{a, c}	171 (16.9) ^c	6 (6.0)	0.001					
Eating behavior									
Skip meals	68 (20.8) ^{a, c}	131 (12.9) ^c	4 (4.0)	0.010					
Eating late	92 (28.1) ^{a, c}	222 (21.9) ^c	6 (6.0)	0.001					
Eating extra meal	30 (9.2) ^{a, c}	55 (5.4) ^c	3 (3.0)	0.010					
Physical activity level									
High	98 (30.0) ^c	332 (32.7) ^c	44 (44.0)	0.030					
Moderate	156 (47.7)	536 (52.9)	54 (54.0)	0.240					
Low	73 (22.3) ^{a, c}	146 (14.4) ^c	2 (2.0)	0.001					
Working time									
Working in the day	160 (48.9)	529 (52.2)	56 (56.0)	0.400					
Working at night	22 (6.7)	101 (10.0) ^c	2 (2.0)	0.010					
No work	126 (38.5) ^b	333 (32.8)	25 (25.0)	0.030					
Sleeping disorder	204 (62.4) ^{a, c}	334 (32.9)°	13 (13.0)	0.001					
PSQI score	$8.87 \pm 5.00^{a, c}$	$5.70 \pm 4.12^{\circ}$	2.95 ± 2.78	0.001					
SF-36 score	61.17 ± 16.77 ^{a, c}	$74.96 \pm 13.51^{\circ}$	88.18 ± 7.30	0.001					
Number of times seeking medical advice	13.41 ± 7.66	4.09 ± 2.20	-	0.002					
Cost of treatments	3797.28 ± 1406.41	1523.07 ± 665.35	-	0.001					

Continuous data are expressed as mean \pm SD, and were compared across groups using one-way ANOVA and Student-Newman-Keuls test for multiple comparisons. Count data were compared across groups using a χ^2 test. ^aP < 0.05 vs NRFD patients; ^cP < 0.05 vs healthy volunteers. RFD: Refractory functional dyspepsia; NRFD: Non-refractory functional dyspepsia; HAMA: Hamilton Anxiety Scale; HAMD: Hamilton Depression Scale; PSQI: Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index; SF-36: MOS 36-item Short Form Health Survey.

RFD accounted for 24.4% (390/1600) of all FD diagnoses. Among the 1341 patients who completed the questionnaire, the incidence of RFD was highest in patients that were 41-50 years old. Females were more than males in patients with RFD (61.2% vs 38.8%, P < 0.05). Incidence of the EPS subtype was lower in patients with RFD than in patients with NRFD (36.7% vs 45.1%, P < 0.05), whereas incidence of the EPS + PDS subtype was higher in patients with RFD than in patients with NRFD (34.6% vs 27.3%, P < 0.05; Table 1). Disease duration was longer for patients with RFD than for patients with NRFD (6.01 ± 2.87 years vs 3.76 ± 1.83 years, P < 0.05; Table 1). RFD was related to severity of disease ($\chi^2 > 6.635$), most patients with RFD or NRFD had moderate symptoms, but the proportion of patients with severe symptoms was higher in RFD than in NRFD (23.9% vs 14.6%, *P* < 0.05; Table 1).

Psychological characteristics

The prevalence of depression and anxiety symptoms was higher in patients with RFD (63.3%, 207/327 and 61.5%, 201/327, respectively) than in patients with NRFD (20.9% and 23.3%, respectively) or healthy volunteers (10.0% and 10.0%, respectively; Table 2). Similarly, more patients presented both

depression and anxiety symptoms in the RFD group than those in the NRFD group or healthy volunteers group (P < 0.05 for all; Table 2). This trend was apparent for all degrees of severity. The prevalence of mild, moderate, and severe depression and anxiety symptoms was higher in patients with RFD than in patients with NRFD (P < 0.05 for all; Table 2). Moreover, RFD was measured related to severity of depression and anxiety symptoms ($\chi^2 > 6.635$ for both). The total HAMA and HAMD scores, which represent the severity of depression and anxiety symptoms, respectively, were also higher in patients with RFD than in patients with NRFD and healthy volunteers (P< 0.05 for all; Table 2).

Behavioral characteristics

The prevalence of unhealthy eating behaviors, such as skipping meals, eating late, and eating extra meals, was higher in patients with RFD than in patients with NRFD or healthy volunteers (P < 0.05 for all; Table 2). Most patients and healthy volunteers reported a moderate level of physical activity, but the proportion of subjects that reported a low level of exercise was higher among patients with RFD than patients with NRFD or healthy volunteers (P < 0.05; Table 2). The proportion of subjects without work was higher

among patients with RFD than patients with NRFD or healthy volunteers, but a significant difference only existed between RFD patients and healthy volunteers (Table 2). The proportion of subjects who worked during the day was similar among the three groups. The proportion of subjects who worked at night was higher in patients with NRFD than in patients with RFD or healthy volunteers, but a significant difference only existed between NRFD patients and healthy volunteers (Table 2). The prevalence of sleeping disorders was higher in patients with RFD (62.4%, 204/327) than in patients with NRFD (32.9%, 334/1014, P < 0.05) or healthy volunteers (13.0%, 13/100, P < 0.05), and PSQI scores, which represent quality of sleep, were higher in patients with RFD than in patients with NRFD or healthy volunteers (P <0.05 for both; Table 2).

Quality of life

The SF-36 score, which indicates quality of life, was lower in patients with RFD than in patients with NRFD or healthy volunteers (P < 0.05 for both; Table 2). Furthermore, the numbers of times that subjects had sought medical advice and the amount of money spent on treatment were higher in patients with RFD than in patients with NRFD (P < 0.05 for both; Table 2).

DISCUSSION

Estimates of the worldwide prevalence of dyspepsia in the general population range from 7%-40%^[13]. With a decline in the incidence of peptic ulcer disease and gastric cancer, the incidence of FD is set to increase. RFD has a poor curative effect^[3,14,15], thus it should be taken seriously by the medical community. In 2000, Hamilton et al^[3] defined chronic FD as FD that had been present for at least half a year and persisted after at least two conventional drug treatments. At present, there is no unified and precise definition of RFD. In this study, RFD was defined according to both the Rome III criteria and the criteria of Hamilton et al^[3], and accounted for 4.0% of all digestive department outpatients and 24.4% of FD cases, indicating that RFD is not rare in clinical practice. RFD was characterized by a long course and high disease severity.

EPS is the main subtype of FD in Western countries, but PDS is the predominant subtype in Japan^[16]. Differences in the prevalence of FD subtypes may be uniquely related to differences in dietary habits, customs, the social and cultural environment, and genetic factors. In this study, we found that the prevalence of the EPS + PDS subtype was significantly higher among patients with RFD than among patients with NRFD. This may provide a clue as to the obstinacy of RFD.

The pathogenesis of functional gastrointestinal disorders is complex, and is related to gastrointestinal

motility dysfunction, visceral hypersensitivity^[17-19], the change between brain-gut axis and gastrointestinal hormones, eating behaviors^[20-24], or psychology^[25]. Doi *et al*^[26] reported that the prevalence of psychological disorders was significantly higher in patients with FD than in the general population. Similarly, the psychological outcomes of our study indicated that the prevalence of depression and anxiety symptoms was higher in patients with RFD than in patients with NRFD or healthy volunteers, and the severity of symptoms associated with depression and anxiety was higher in patients with RFD than in patients with NRFD or healthy individuals.

Some behavioral characteristics were also revealed in this investigation. The prevalence of unhealthy eating behaviors (such as meal skipping, eating late, and eating an extra meal), low levels of physical activity, no work, and sleeping disorders was higher for patients with RFD than for patients with NRFD or healthy volunteers. Sleeping disorders are common for patients with FD, both in China and around the world. Miwa^[23] reported that the proportion of subjects who thought they slept enough was significantly lower among patients with FD-irritable bowel syndrome overlap than among control subjects. We believe that sleep disorders in RFD may be the result of other underlying problems, such as depression, anxiety, or other psychological conditions.

Because of the characteristics described above, RFD patients sought medical advice more often and spent more money on treatment than patients with NRFD or healthy volunteers. All of these negative factors combine to reduce quality of life, which was reflected in our SF-36 results.

In summary, the medical community should pay more attention to RFD diagnosis and to the importance of an unhealthy lifestyle, abnormal psychological characteristics, and sleeping disorders in RFD.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Le-Qing You, Wei Huang, Yao-Xing Huang, and Hai-Xia Ye for collecting clinical data and Professor Ming-Zhi Xu for guidance in scale using.

COMMENTS

Background

The incidence of functional dyspepsia (FD) is set to increase nowadays. Refractory functional dyspepsia (RFD) even makes patients see a doctor repeatedly and aggravate their medical expenses. However, the pathogenesis of RFD and the reasons this disease fails to respond to treatment are not fully understood. There is rare research concerning the psychological-behavioral characteristics of RFD patients until now.

Research frontiers

At present, there is no unified and precise definition of RFD. The research about pathogenesis, psychological and behavioral characteristics of RFD is limited.

Innovations and breakthroughs

This study was to quantify the incidence of RFD and to identify the psy-



chological and behavioral characteristics of patients with RFD by a large, multicenter and prospective investigation. The findings revealed that RFD is not rare in clinical practice and should get attention by patients and doctors because of its long duration, severe symptoms, and associations with abnormal psychology and poor quality of life.

Applications

The findings can illustrate the importance of recognizing and diagnosing RFD, and to provide a basis for clinical treatment and relapse prevention.

Terminology

Epigastric pain syndrome or postprandial distress syndrome is one of the subtypes of FD. It is detailedly defined in the Rome ${\rm III}$ criteria.

Peer-review

This is a good and practical study in which the authors analyzed the incidence and psychological-behavioral characteristics of RFD patients. It is believed that the findings can enhance the recognition and diagnosis for RFD, and provide a basis for the further research about RFD.

REFERENCES

- Miwa H, Ghoshal UC, Gonlachanvit S, Gwee KA, Ang TL, Chang FY, Fock KM, Hongo M, Hou X, Kachintorn U, Ke M, Lai KH, Lee KJ, Lu CL, Mahadeva S, Miura S, Park H, Rhee PL, Sugano K, Vilaichone RK, Wong BC, Bak YT. Asian consensus report on functional dyspepsia. *J Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2012; 18: 150-168 [PMID: 22523724 DOI: 10.5056/jnm.2012.18.2.150]
- 2 Oshima T, Toyoshima F, Nakajima S, Fukui H, Watari J, Miwa H. Genetic factors for functional dyspepsia. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 26 Suppl 3: 83-87 [PMID: 21443717 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2011.06639.x]
- 3 Hamilton J, Guthrie E, Creed F, Thompson D, Tomenson B, Bennett R, Moriarty K, Stephens W, Liston R. A randomized controlled trial of psychotherapy in patients with chronic functional dyspepsia. *Gastroenterology* 2000; **119**: 661-669 [PMID: 10982759 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2000.16493]
- 4 Tack J, Talley NJ, Camilleri M, Holtmann G, Hu P, Malagelada JR, Stanghellini V. Functional gastroduodenal disorders. *Gastroenterology* 2006; 130: 1466-1479 [PMID: 16678560 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.11.059]
- 5 Talley NJ, Haque M, Wyeth JW, Stace NH, Tytgat GN, Stanghellini V, Holtmann G, Verlinden M, Jones M. Development of a new dyspepsia impact scale: the Nepean Dyspepsia Index. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 1999; 13: 225-235 [PMID: 10102954 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2036.1999.00445.x]
- 6 Hamilton M. A rating scale for depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1960; 23: 56-62 [PMID: 14399272 DOI: 10.1136/ jnnp.23.1.56]
- 7 Miller IW, Bishop S, Norman WH, Maddever H. The Modified Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression: reliability and validity. *Psychiatry Res* 1985; 14: 131-142 [PMID: 3857653]
- 8 Hamilton M. The assessment of anxiety states by rating. *Br J Med Psychol* 1959; **32**: 50-55 [PMID: 13638508]
- 9 Matza LS, Morlock R, Sexton C, Malley K, Feltner D. Identifying HAM-A cutoffs for mild, moderate, and severe generalized anxiety disorder. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res* 2010; 19: 223-232 [PMID: 20718076 DOI: 10.1002/mpr.323]
- 10 **IPAQ Research Committee**. Guidelines for Data Processing and Analysis of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) 2005. Available from: URL: http://www.ipaq.ki.se
- 11 Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Res* 1989; 28: 193-213 [PMID: 2748771 DOI: 10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4]
- 12 **Ware JE**, Snow KK, Kosinski M, Gandek B. SF-36 Health survey: manual and interpretation guide. The Health Institute: New

England Medical Center, 1993; 1-12

- Goh KL. Clinical and epidemiological perspectives of dyspepsia in a multiracial Malaysian population. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011;
 Suppl 3: 35-38 [PMID: 21443706 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.201 1.06648.x]
- 14 Talley NJ. How to manage the difficult-to-treat dyspeptic patient. Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007; 4: 35-42 [PMID: 17203087 DOI: 10.1038/ncpgasthep0685]
- 15 Haag S, Senf W, Tagay S, Langkafel M, Braun-Lang U, Pietsch A, Heuft G, Talley NJ, Holtmann G. Is there a benefit from intensified medical and psychological interventions in patients with functional dyspepsia not responding to conventional therapy? *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2007; 25: 973-986 [PMID: 17403002 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1365-2036.2007.03277.x]
- 16 Manabe N, Haruma K. Diagnosis and treatment of dyspeptic patients in Japan. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011; 26 Suppl 3: 27-31 [PMID: 21443704 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2011.06628.x]
- 17 Lee KJ, Vos R, Janssens J, Tack J. Influence of duodenal acidification on the sensorimotor function of the proximal stomach in humans. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2004; 286: G278-G284 [PMID: 12760903 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00086.2003]
- 18 Oshima T, Okugawa T, Tomita T, Sakurai J, Toyoshima F, Watari J, Yamaguchi K, Fujimoto K, Adachi K, Kinoshita Y, Kusunoki H, Haruma K, Miwa H. Generation of dyspeptic symptoms by direct acid and water infusion into the stomachs of functional dyspepsia patients and healthy subjects. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2012; 35: 175-182 [PMID: 22085402 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2011.04918. x]
- 19 Tack J, Van Den Elzen B, Tytgat G, Wajs E, Van Nueten L, De Ridder F, Boeckxstaens G. A placebo-controlled trial of the 5-HT1A agonist R-137696 on symptoms, visceral hypersensitivity and on impaired accommodation in functional dyspepsia. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2009; 21: 619-626, e23-e24 [PMID: 19220756 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2008.01260.x]
- Filipović BF, Randjelovic T, Kovacevic N, Milinić N, Markovic O, Gajić M, Filipović BR. Laboratory parameters and nutritional status in patients with functional dyspepsia. *Eur J Intern Med* 2011; 22: 300-304 [PMID: 21570652 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejim.2011.01.012]
- 21 Creed F, Ratcliffe J, Fernandez L, Tomenson B, Palmer S, Rigby C, Guthrie E, Read N, Thompson D. Health-related quality of life and health care costs in severe, refractory irritable bowel syndrome. *Ann Intern Med* 2001; **134**: 860-868 [PMID: 11346322 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-134-9_Part_2-200105011-00010]
- 22 Santonicola A, Siniscalchi M, Capone P, Gallotta S, Ciacci C, Iovino P. Prevalence of functional dyspepsia and its subgroups in patients with eating disorders. *World J Gastroenterol* 2012; 18: 4379-4385 [PMID: 22969202 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i32.4379]
- 23 Miwa H. Life style in persons with functional gastrointestinal disorders--large-scale internet survey of lifestyle in Japan. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2012; 24: 464-471, e217 [PMID: 22292849 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2011.01872.x]
- 24 Egloff N, Beer C, Gschossmann JM, Sendensky A, von Känel R. [Multimodal therapy of functional gastrointestinal disorders]. *Praxis* (Bern 1994) 2010; **99**: 487-493 [PMID: 20391354 DOI: 10.1024/1661-8157/a000095]
- 25 Zeng F, Qin W, Yang Y, Zhang D, Liu J, Zhou G, Sun J, Lu S, Tang Y, Chen Y, Lan L, Yu S, Li Y, Gao X, Gong Q, Tian J, Liang F. Regional brain structural abnormality in meal-related functional dyspepsia patients: a voxel-based morphometry study. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e68383 [PMID: 23844192 DOI: 10.1371/journal. pone.0068383]
- 26 Doi Y, Minowa M, Okawa M, Uchiyama M. Prevalence of sleep disturbance and hypnotic medication use in relation to sociodemographic factors in the general Japanese adult population. J Epidemiol 2000; 10: 79-86 [PMID: 10778031 DOI: 10.2188/jea.10.79]

P-Reviewer: Okumura T S-Editor: Qi Y L-Editor: Wang TQ E-Editor: Liu XM





Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1938 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1938-1944 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Randomized Controlled Trial

Split-dose menthol-enhanced PEG vs PEG-ascorbic acid for colonoscopy preparation

Ala I Sharara, Ali H Harb, Fayez S Sarkis, Jean M Chalhoub, Rami Badreddine, Fadi H Mourad, Mahmoud Othman, Omar Masri

Ala I Sharara, Ali H Harb, Fayez S Sarkis, Jean M Chalhoub, Rami Badreddine, Fadi H Mourad, Mahmoud Othman, Omar Masri, Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Internal Medicine, American University of Beirut Medical Center, 11-0236/16-B Beirut, Lebanon

Author contributions: Sharara AI designed the research study; Sharara AI and Harb AH drafted the manuscript; Sharara AI, Harb AH and Sarkis FS performed research; Sharara AI, Harb AH, Sarkis FS, Masri O, Othman M, Badreddine R and Mourad FH recruited patients, interpreted the data and critically reviewed the manuscript; Harb AH performed the statistical data analysis; Harb AH and Sarkis FS performed the regulatory administration tasks; Chalhoub JM did the final editing of the manuscript, executed the figures, and managed references; all authors approved the submitted version of the manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Ala I Sharara, MD, FACG, AGAF. Professor, Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Internal Medicine, American University of Beirut Medical Center, Riad El Solh, 11-0236/16-B Beirut, Lebanon. as08@aub.edu.lb

Received: August 6, 2014

Peer-review started: August 8, 2014 First decision: August 27, 2014 Revised: September 30, 2014 Accepted: November 18, 2014 Article in press: November 19, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To compare the efficacy and palatability of 4 L polyethylene glycol electrolyte (PEG) plus sugarfree menthol candy (PEG + M) vs reduced-volume 2 L ascorbic acid-supplemented PEG (AscPEG).

METHODS: In a randomized controlled trial setting, ambulatory patients scheduled for elective colonoscopy were prospectively enrolled. Patients were randomized to receive either PEG + M or AscPEG, both splitdosed with minimal dietary restriction. Palatability was assessed on a linear scale of 1 to 5 (1 = disgusting; 5 = tasty). Quality of preparation was scored by assignment-blinded endoscopists using the modified Aronchick and Ottawa scales. The main outcomes were the palatability and efficacy of the preparation. Secondary outcomes included patient willingness to retake the same preparation again in the future and completion of the prescribed preparation.

RESULTS: Overall, 200 patients were enrolled (100 patients per arm). PEG + M was more palatable than AscPEG (76% vs 62%, P = 0.03). Completing the preparation was not different between study groups (91% PEG + M vs 86% AscPEG, P = 0.38) but more patients were willing to retake PEG + M (54% vs 40% respectively, P = 0.047). There was no significant difference between PEG + M vs AscPEG in adequate cleansing on both the modified Aronchick (82% vs 77%, P = 0.31) and the Ottawa scale (85% vs 74%, P = 0.054). However, PEG + M was superior in the left colon on the Ottawa subsegmental score (score 0-2: 94% for PEG + M vs 81% for AscPEG, P = 0.005) and received significantly more excellent ratings than AscPEG on the modified Aronchick scale (61% vs 43%, P = 0.009). Both preparations performed less well in afternoon vs morning examinations (inadequate: 29%) vs 15.2%, P = 0.02).

CONCLUSION: 4 L PEG plus menthol has better palatability and acceptability than 2 L ascorbic acid-PEG and is associated with a higher rate of excellent



preparations; Clinicaltrial.gov identifier: NCT01788709.

Key words: Colonoscopy; Bowel preparation; Efficacy; Tolerability; Menthol

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Colon preparations are generally poorly tolerated. As a result, suboptimal bowel preparation can occur in as many as 25%-40% of cases. Volume and palatability of the purgative are important determinants of tolerability and adherence and, consequently of efficacy. In this randomized controlled trial, we investigate the efficacy and palatability of two colonic preparations (4 L PEG + menthol candy *vs* 2 L ascorbic acid supplemented -PEG) given as split-dose and with minimal dietary restrictions. Both preparations were similarly effective at achieving adequate colon preparation but 4 L PEG + M had superior palatability and tolerability and was associated with more excellent ratings.

Sharara AI, Harb AH, Sarkis FS, Chalhoub JM, Badreddine R, Mourad FH, Othman M, Masri O. Split-dose menthol-enhanced PEG vs PEG-ascorbic acid for colonoscopy preparation. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1938-1944 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1938.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1938

INTRODUCTION

Colorectal cancer continues to be one of the leading causes of death worldwide^[1]. A combination of early detection and removal of precursor lesions has proven beneficial in decreasing its incidence and mortality^[2,3]. However and despite the advent of several screening modalities^[4-7], optical colonoscopy remains the preferred procedure due to its superior diagnostic sensitivity^[8], unique capability that allows sampling and removal of luminal pathology^[9], and cost-effectiveness^[10]. These performance characteristics are, however, highly dependent on the quality of colon preparation^[11,12]. Suboptimal preparations are associated with a higher adenoma miss rate, prolonged procedure time, incomplete examinations^[11], and increased cost due to need for an earlier repeat examination^[13].

Polyethylene glycol electrolyte (PEG) solution is the most commonly used purgative for colon cleansing due to its superior safety profile^[14] and high efficacy^[15]. In a recent meta-analysis, 4 L splitdose PEG was found to be superior to other bowel preparation comparators suggesting it should be the standard against which new bowel preparations should be compared^[15]. However, the unpalatable taste and large volume required for proper cleansing are the most commonly reported reasons to avoid colonoscopy^[12]. The preparation is poorly tolerated by patients resulting in incomplete adherence and consequently low-quality preparations^[16]. An important development was the concept of dose splitting, where as much as half of the preparation is consumed on the day of the examination, leading to improved efficacy^[17] and tolerability^[18]. Further refinements^[19-21], adjuvants^[18,22], and modifications^[23-25] of PEG solutions followed. The addition of high-dose ascorbic acid to PEG (AscPEG) improved taste and helped reduce the volume of the preparation to 2 L, making it one of the most commonly prescribed purgatives in the United States. Another simple refinement involves the addition of menthol candy to 4 L split PEG resulting in significant benefit in terms of patient tolerability, acceptability and compliance, and leading to a higher rate of excellent preparations^[26]. In this study, we aim to directly compare two tested modifications of the split-dose PEG preparation, namely 4 L PEG with menthol candy (PEG + M) vs 2 L AscPEG.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

The study was conducted at the American University of Beirut Medical Center between February and December 2013. Patients seen in the outpatient clinics requiring elective colonoscopies were approached about the study by their respective endoscopist. Exclusion criteria included age less than 18, pregnant or lactating women, prior intestinal resection or bariatric surgery, chronic renal disease (creatinine clearance < 60 mL/min), severe congestive heart failure (New York Heart Association class II or IV), dehydration, history of severe constipation (< 1 bowel movement every 3 d), chronic laxative abuse, and history of inflammatory bowel disease. Patients with phenylketonuria, known significant gastroparesis, known or suspected bowel obstruction were also excluded. Due to potential for priming by a previous colonoscopy experience in the past 5 years that might alter anticipation and response, patients who had a colonoscopy within the last 5 years were also excluded.

After informed consent was obtained, patients were referred to the study coordinator where they received one of the two regimens based on a previously computer-generated 1:1 randomization list. Detailed written instructions and verbal explanations were provided to all patients. On the day of the colonoscopy, patients were interviewed by an independent investigator prior to the procedure. Colonoscopies were performed by one of five endoscopists blinded to the preparation. All exams were performed under conscious sedation in the endoscopy unit between 9:00 am and 4:00 pm. The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the American University of Beirut on December 2012, and the



study was registered with Clinicaltrial.gov identifier: NCT01788709.

Preparation instructions

Detailed written instructions and verbal explanations were provided to all patients at the time of colonoscopy scheduling, emphasizing the importance of complete intake of the solution to ensure a more effective procedure. On the day preceding the colonoscopy, patients were allowed to consume an unrestricted breakfast and lunch till 3 pm, followed by a full-fluid dinner (*e.g.*, milk, water, soda, clear broth, tea, or yoghurt) until 7 pm. Only clear fluids were allowed after 7 pm (*e.g.*, water, clear soda, tea).

Patients in the first arm received 4 L PEG (Fortrans[®], Ibsen, Paris, France) divided into 2 L consumed from 7-9 pm on the day preceding the colonoscopy, and 2 L on the day of the colonoscopy, taken no earlier than 4 h before the scheduled appointment, and completed a minimum of 90 min before the procedure. Patients in this arm were provided with sugar-free, colorless, menthol candy (Halls®, Cadbury Adams, NJ, United States) and instructed to suck on a candy while drinking the PEG solution (PEG + M). Patients in the second arm received 2 L reduced-volume ascorbic acid-supplemented PEG-electrolyte solution (AscPEG) (MoviPrep[®], Norgine, Harefield, United Kingdom) mixed according the manufacturer's instructions plus 1L of clear fluids of the patient's choice and dose-split over 2 d. The first liter of AscPEG was consumed at 7 pm the day before colonoscopy with a minimum of 500 mL of clear fluids, and another 1 L of AscPEG plus a minimum of 500 mL of clear fluids on the day of the colonoscopy, to be completed no more than 4 h before the procedure and at least 90 min before the procedure.

Data collection

Immediately before colonoscopy, patients were interviewed by an independent investigator. Patients were asked to report their perception of the solution's palatability by checking a linear scale on a boxed diagram from 1 to 5 (disgusting, moderately poor taste, slightly poor taste, acceptable, and tasty) and express the degree of willingness to take the preparation again in the future. An assessment of compliance and adherence was also performed with the volume remaining of the solution recorded. The quality of bowel cleansing was graded immediately following colonoscopy by the performing endoscopist who was blinded to the preparation assigned. Endoscopists were asked to provide a score for each patient using the modified Aronchick scale and Ottawa scale.

Study design and endpoints

The primary end points of the study were the quality of the preparation and the palatability of the administered solution. Secondary endpoints included willingness to retake the same preparation again in the future, and completion of the preparation. The solutions were considered palatable if they received 4 or 5 on the 5-point palatability scale (acceptable or tasty) and unpalatable for a score of 1-3 (disgusting, moderately poor taste, or slightly poor taste). Patients with an Aronchick score of excellent or good were considered to have an adequate preparation, whereas those with poor, inadequate, and fair were considered to have an inadequate preparation. On the Ottawa scale, segmental scores were collected and an overall score was calculated. A total score of > 8 was considered to indicate an inadequate preparation and a score of \leq 7 was deemed adequate. Preparations with a total score of \leq 4 were considered excellent, provided that no individual colonic segment received a score higher than 1. Patients were considered to have completed the preparation if they consumed \geq 90% of the preparation volume.

Sample size calculation was based on published data showing 90% adequate preparation with menthol-enhanced PEG (PEG + M)^[26] and 65%-85% (average: 75%) for reduced volume AscPEG^[24,27,28]. Using a of 0.05 and a power of 0.80, the sample size required to show significance was calculated to be 97 patients per arm. Hence, it was decided to recruit 100 patients per arm taking into account possible withdrawals. SPSS version 20.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois, United States) was used for data entry and analysis. The proportions in 2×2 contingency tables were compared by the χ^2 test. A P value of less than 0.05 was considered significant. The primary investigator and co-authors had access to the study data and had reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

RESULTS

Two hundred patients successfully completed the study with 100 patients enrolled in each arm. Nine patients cancelled appointments for reasons unrelated to the quality or taste of the preparation and were replaced by a similar number of patients. Additionally, 4 patients took a different preparation or unauthorized adjuvants, 3 patients were found to have IBD at the time of colonoscopy, 1 patient forgot to use the menthol candy, 1 patient was found to have a history of laxative abuse, and 1 patient could not be scoped beyond the left colon. All of these cases were excluded. Two patients both belonging to the AscPEG arm had cancelled procedure due to bad preparation quality. These patients were included in the study and received the worst scoring on both scales. The mean age of enrolled patients was 54.5 ± 13.7 years (range: 21-85) with 52% males. Patients' characteristics and indications for colonoscopy were not different between the two groups (Table 1).

There was no difference between the two pre-



Table 1 Patient characteristics						
	PEG + M	AscPEG	<i>P</i> value			
Age (mean ± SD, yr)	55 ± 13.8	54 ± 13.7	0.88			
Male subjects	54%	50%	0.74			
BMI (mean \pm SD, kg/m ²)	27 ± 4.7	27 ± 4.9	0.54			
Indication						
Screening	46%	43%	0.70			
Hematochezia	13%	13%	0.95			
Abdominal pain	14%	12%	0.75			
Change in bowel habits	10%	6%	0.41			
Surveillance	7%	9%	0.53			
Positive FOBT	4%	5%	0.74			
Weight loss	2%	1%	0.27			
Anemia	2%	5%	0.31			
Diverticular disease	0%	2%	0.20			
Others	2%	4%	0.28			

PEG + M: PEG electrolyte solution + menthol; AscPEG: Ascorbic acid PEG electrolyte solution.

Table 2	Percentage adequate	preparation	by colonic	segment
using the	Ottawa scale			

	PEG + M	AscPEG	<i>P</i> value
Right	84%	79%	0.340
Mid	95%	89%	0.110
Left	94%	81%	0.005^{1}
Overall	85%	74%	0.054

¹Significant *P*-value. PEG + M: PEG electrolyte solution + menthol; AscPEG: Ascorbic acid PEG electrolyte solution.

parations in the rate of adequate preparations on the Aronchick scale (82% for PEG + M vs 77% for AscPEG, P = 0.31) (Figure 1). On the same scale, a significantly higher number of patients receiving PEG + M were found to have an excellent preparation (61% vs 43% AscPEG, P = 0.009). The mean score on the Ottawa scale was better for PEG + M vs AscPEG (5.1 \pm 2.4 vs 5.8 \pm 3.0, P = 0.09) as was the rate of adequate preparations (overall score \leq 7: 85% vs 74%, P = 0.054) but these were not statistically significant (Figure 2). Table 2 shows the Ottawa scores according to colonic segment. Using a segmental score of 0-2 as indication of an adequate cleansing^[29] there was no significant difference between preparations in the right and mid-colon. However, PEG + M was superior in the left colon (94% for PEG + M vs 81% for AscPEG, P = 0.005).

PEG + M was significantly more palatable than AscPEG (76% vs 62%, P = 0.03) (Figure 3). Similarly, a significantly higher number of patients were willing to retake PEG + M again in the future compared to AscPEG (54% vs 40%, P = 0.047). Patients in the PEG + M arm had a lower rate of non-compliance with the prescribed volume compared to AscPEG, but this difference was not significant (9% vs 14%, P = 0.38).

There was no difference in the number of patients undergoing colonoscopy in the afternoon between



Figure 1 Quality of bowel preparation on the modified Aronchick scale. *P*-value for the difference between AscPEG and PEG + M Aronchick scores is 0.31; *P*-value for the difference between excellent results with PEG + M and AscPEG is 0.009. PEG + M: PEG electrolyte solution + menthol; AscPEG: Ascorbic acid PEG electrolyte solution.



Figure 2 Overall preparation score according to the Ottawa score (a lower score indicates a better preparation). *P*-value for the difference between AscPEG and PEG + M Ottawa scores is 0.054. PEG + M: PEG electrolyte solution + menthol; AscPEG: Ascorbic acid PEG electrolyte solution.

study groups (40% PEG + M vs 35% AscPEG, P = NS). However, PM colonoscopies had a higher rate of inadequate preparation compared to AM colonoscopies (29% vs 15.2%, P = 0.02) with no significant difference between study groups. On univariate analysis, BMI, age, and gender were not associated with inadequate preparations.

DISCUSSION

The ideal bowel preparation should be simple to

Sharara AI et al. PEG + menthol vs PEG-ascorbic acid



Figure 3 Palatability of the colon preparation (score ≤ 3: Unpalatable; 4 or 5: Palatable). *P*-value for the difference in palatability between AscPEG and PEG + M is 0.03. PEG + M: PEG electrolyte solution + menthol; AscPEG: Ascorbic acid PEG electrolyte solution.

administer, palatable, well tolerated, safe and effective. Despite the unquestionable need for adequate colon cleansing, suboptimal bowel preparation occurs with surprising frequency in as many as 25% to 40% of cases^[12]. Inadequate bowel preparation is associated with canceled procedures, prolonged procedure time, incomplete examination, increased cost, and missed pathology. Split-dose 4 L PEG is superior to other comparator preparations and is considered the gold standard against which other regimens should be compared^[15,30]. Although highly effective even with minimal dietary restriction, splitdose 4 L PEG is limited by the high volume and unpleasant taste leading to poor acceptability by patients. To circumvent the volume and taste issue, a new formulation of PEG including ascorbic acid was developed (AscPEG). The added megadose of ascorbic acid is not completely absorbed, exerting an osmotic effect in the colon thereby reducing the necessary effective volume of cleansing solution to 2 L. When compared to split-dose 4 L PEG in a "quasi-randomized" study, AscPEG was similar in achieving adequate bowel preparation^[28]. However, more excellent preparations were reported in the 4 L PEG arm (79% vs 52% for AscPEG, P < 0.001). No significant difference was found between the two preparations in terms of taste, tolerability or acceptability.

Another successful way to circumvent the aforementioned limitation of the split-dose 4 L PEG standard was the simple use of menthol candy (PEG + M) as an adjunct resulting in enhanced palatability, acceptability as well as a higher number of excellent preparations^[26]. The results of this study confirm that this simple addition not only results in a high rate of adequate preparations, but also in improved palatability and acceptability (including willingness to retake in the future) over AscPEG so far considered a more patient-friendly preparation in terms of volume and taste.

The importance of this study is in showing that split-dose PEG + M is arguably the new and improved gold standard for combining efficacy (providing more excellent preparations), palatability, tolerability, and acceptability. Our study did not show a significant difference between the two preparations on the Ottawa scale perhaps due a type I error and/or to inherent limitations of the Ottawa scale. Current bowel preparation scales have significant limitations in distinguishing effective preparations and, with the exception of the relatively simple yet highly subjective modified Aronchick scale, in providing a validated and clinically relevant separation between distinct stages of the full spectrum of bowel cleanliness. For example, the Ottawa scale is overly sensitive to the presence of residual liquid in the colon (even when that liquid is clear) leading to a final score that may not necessarily reflect visualization of the mucosa^[31] and which is not readily convertible into the relevant subjective ratings generally used by endoscopists. In our study this limitation of the Ottawa scale was evident when we tried defining broad categories (adequate vs inadequate or excellent vs less than excellent) based on numerical clustering. In practice, clinicians are not interested in such complex scoring systems and prefer to rely instead on a simple subjective dichotomous scoring system: adequate vs inadequate. The limitations of the various bowel preparations scales and the non-inferiority design of most studies of bowel preparation are equally important considerations as small, yet important differences, may go unnoticed in clinical trials.

A recent editorial by Rex ushered in an era of increased expectations for the efficacy of bowel preparations noting that "efficacy and tolerability are related, and together constitute the main ingredients of effectiveness"^[30]. The performance characteristics of colonoscopy are highly dependent on the quality of the preparation. A recent study showed that a fair bowel preparation is associated with 18-fold increase in the odds of receiving a post-colonoscopy surveillance recommendation that is inconsistent with current guidelines^[32]. Narrowing the gap by shifting to safe, palatable, tolerable, and highly effective preparations is therefore a necessity that appears increasingly achievable.

Our study has few limitations. The study was conducted at a single center limiting the generalizability of the results and the sample size may have underestimated some true differences between the two interventions. Patients receiving PEG + M were provided with free packets of sugar-free menthol candy and it is unclear if, outside of clinical trials, patients will realize the value of this simple addition, purchase the menthol candy (retail price of about \$2 for a packet of 25 candies), and follow the simple instructions for use. An accurate estimate of patient compliance to dietary changes was not recorded but is likely a minimal factor given the largely unrestricted diet. Lastly, we did not examine intra or interobserver variability, however, a scoring bias is unlikely given the random study design and the blinding of the endoscopists.

In summary, this study confirms that both splitdose preparations are effective at achieving adequate colon cleansing with minimal dietary restrictions. Menthol-enhanced split-dose 4 L PEG (PEG + M) was superior to split-dose 2 L AscPEG in terms of palatability, acceptability, and excellence in quality. The simple addition of menthol candy is an easy and safe strategy and leads to improved effectiveness of split-dose 4L PEG and to a favorable quality improvement that should further enhance the power of colonoscopy.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Robert H Habib for assistance with the statistical analysis.

COMMENTS

Background

Colon preparations are poorly tolerated.

Research frontiers

Improving palatability and tolerability of bowel purgative solutions are key elements to effective bowel cleansing.

Innovations and breakthroughs

Both bowel preparations are effective. However, polyethylene glycol electrolyte (PEG) plus menthol candy is more palatable than ascorbic-acid PEG and is associated with better tolerability and high quality bowel preparation.

Applications

The simple adjuvant use of menthol candy with PEG improves tolerability and adherence.

Peer-review

The authors have performed a well conducted single blind randomized study comparing menthol-enhanced PEG vs PEG-ascorbic acid for colonoscopy preparation. They've carried out an important study in the realm of colonoscopy bowel preparation and have done an excellent job of conveying its importance not only in regards to the necessity of an effective bowel preparation for a good colonoscopy exam, but the role palatability has in this respect and the implications of a poor exam including inappropriate surveillance exam intervals. The study is novel in that examination of two well-tolerated and effective bowel preparations have not been examined head-to-head previously, with findings that should have a significant impact in the future administration of an effective and tolerable bowel preparation.

REFERENCES

- Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. *CA Cancer J Clin* 2011; 61: 69-90 [PMID: 21296855 DOI: 10.3322/caac.20107]
- Winawer SJ, Zauber AG, Ho MN, O'Brien MJ, Gottlieb LS, Sternberg SS, Waye JD, Schapiro M, Bond JH, Panish JF. Prevention of colorectal cancer by colonoscopic polypectomy. The National Polyp Study Workgroup. N Engl J Med 1993; 329: 1977-1981

[PMID: 8247072 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199312303292701]

- 3 Levin B, Lieberman DA, McFarland B, Andrews KS, Brooks D, Bond J, Dash C, Giardiello FM, Glick S, Johnson D, Johnson CD, Levin TR, Pickhardt PJ, Rex DK, Smith RA, Thorson A, Winawer SJ. Screening and surveillance for the early detection of colorectal cancer and adenomatous polyps, 2008: a joint guideline from the American Cancer Society, the US Multi-Society Task Force on Colorectal Cancer, and the American College of Radiology. *Gastroenterology* 2008; **134**: 1570-1595 [PMID: 18384785 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.02.002]
- 4 Atkin W, Dadswell E, Wooldrage K, Kralj-Hans I, von Wagner C, Edwards R, Yao G, Kay C, Burling D, Faiz O, Teare J, Lilford RJ, Morton D, Wardle J, Halligan S. Computed tomographic colonography versus colonoscopy for investigation of patients with symptoms suggestive of colorectal cancer (SIGGAR): a multicentre randomised trial. *Lancet* 2013; **381**: 1194-1202 [PMID: 23414650 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62186-2]
- 5 van Rossum LG, van Rijn AF, Laheij RJ, van Oijen MG, Fockens P, van Krieken HH, Verbeek AL, Jansen JB, Dekker E. Random comparison of guaiac and immunochemical fecal occult blood tests for colorectal cancer in a screening population. *Gastroenterology* 2008; 135: 82-90 [PMID: 18482589 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.03.040]
- 6 Sacher-Huvelin S, Coron E, Gaudric M, Planche L, Benamouzig R, Maunoury V, Filoche B, Frédéric M, Saurin JC, Subtil C, Lecleire S, Cellier C, Coumaros D, Heresbach D, Galmiche JP. Colon capsule endoscopy vs. colonoscopy in patients at average or increased risk of colorectal cancer. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2010; **32**: 1145-1153 [PMID: 21039676 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2010.04458.x]
- 7 Segnan N, Armaroli P, Bonelli L, Risio M, Sciallero S, Zappa M, Andreoni B, Arrigoni A, Bisanti L, Casella C, Crosta C, Falcini F, Ferrero F, Giacomin A, Giuliani O, Santarelli A, Visioli CB, Zanetti R, Atkin WS, Senore C. Once-only sigmoidoscopy in colorectal cancer screening: follow-up findings of the Italian Randomized Controlled Trial--SCORE. J Natl Cancer Inst 2011; 103: 1310-1322 [PMID: 21852264 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djr284]
- 8 Winawer S, Fletcher R, Rex D, Bond J, Burt R, Ferrucci J, Ganiats T, Levin T, Woolf S, Johnson D, Kirk L, Litin S, Simmang C. Colorectal cancer screening and surveillance: clinical guidelines and rationale-Update based on new evidence. *Gastroenterology* 2003; 124: 544-560 [PMID: 12557158 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2003.50044]
- 9 Rex DK, Johnson DA, Lieberman DA, Burt RW, Sonnenberg A. Colorectal cancer prevention 2000: screening recommendations of the American College of Gastroenterology. American College of Gastroenterology. Am J Gastroenterol 2000; 95: 868-877 [PMID: 10763931]
- 10 Vijan S, Hwang EW, Hofer TP, Hayward RA. Which colon cancer screening test? A comparison of costs, effectiveness, and compliance. *Am J Med* 2001; 111: 593-601 [PMID: 11755501 DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9343(01)00977-9]
- 11 Froehlich F, Wietlisbach V, Gonvers JJ, Burnand B, Vader JP. Impact of colonic cleansing on quality and diagnostic yield of colonoscopy: the European Panel of Appropriateness of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy European multicenter study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2005; 61: 378-384 [PMID: 15758907 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(04)02776-2]
- 12 Sharara AI, Abou Mrad RR. The modern bowel preparation in colonoscopy. *Gastroenterol Clin North Am* 2013; 42: 577-598 [PMID: 23931861 DOI: 10.1016/j.gtc.2013.05.010]
- 13 Rex DK, Imperiale TF, Latinovich DR, Bratcher LL. Impact of bowel preparation on efficiency and cost of colonoscopy. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2002; 97: 1696-1700 [PMID: 12135020 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2002.05827.x]
- 14 Connor A, Tolan D, Hughes S, Carr N, Tomson C. Consensus guidelines for the safe prescription and administration of oral bowelcleansing agents. *Gut* 2012; 61: 1525-1532 [PMID: 22842619 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300861]
- 15 Enestvedt BK, Tofani C, Laine LA, Tierney A, Fennerty MB. 4-Liter split-dose polyethylene glycol is superior to other bowel preparations, based on systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 10: 1225-1231 [PMID: 22940741 DOI: 10.1016/

j.cgh.2012.08.029]

- 16 Lichtenstein GR, Cohen LB, Uribarri J. Review article: Bowel preparation for colonoscopy--the importance of adequate hydration. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2007; 26: 633-641 [PMID: 17697197 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2007.03406.x]
- 17 Aoun E, Abdul-Baki H, Azar C, Mourad F, Barada K, Berro Z, Tarchichi M, Sharara AI. A randomized single-blind trial of splitdose PEG-electrolyte solution without dietary restriction compared with whole dose PEG-electrolyte solution with dietary restriction for colonoscopy preparation. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2005; 62: 213-218 [PMID: 16046981 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(05)00371-8]
- 18 El Sayed AM, Kanafani ZA, Mourad FH, Soweid AM, Barada KA, Adorian CS, Nasreddine WA, Sharara AI. A randomized singleblind trial of whole versus split-dose polyethylene glycol-electrolyte solution for colonoscopy preparation. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2003; 58: 36-40 [PMID: 12838218 DOI: 10.1067/mge.2003.318]
- 19 Clarkston WK, Tsen TN, Dies DF, Schratz CL, Vaswani SK, Bjerregaard P. Oral sodium phosphate versus sulfate-free polyethylene glycol electrolyte lavage solution in outpatient preparation for colonoscopy: a prospective comparison. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1996; 43: 42-48 [PMID: 8903817 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(96)70259-6]
- 20 Hamilton D, Mulcahy D, Walsh D, Farrelly C, Tormey WP, Watson G. Sodium picosulphate compared with polyethylene glycol solution for large bowel lavage: a prospective randomised trial. Br J Clin Pract 1996; 50: 73-75 [PMID: 8731641]
- 21 Di Palma JA, Rodriguez R, McGowan J, Cleveland Mv. A randomized clinical study evaluating the safety and efficacy of a new, reduced-volume, oral sulfate colon-cleansing preparation for colonoscopy. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2009; 104: 2275-2284 [PMID: 19584830 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2009.389]
- 22 Abdul-Baki H, Hashash JG, Elhajj II, Azar C, El Zahabi L, Mourad FH, Barada KA, Sharara AI. A randomized, controlled, double-blind trial of the adjunct use of tegaserod in whole-dose or split-dose polyethylene glycol electrolyte solution for colonoscopy preparation. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2008; 68: 294-300; quiz 334, 336 [PMID: 18511049 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2008.01.044]
- 23 Froehlich F, Fried M, Schnegg JF, Gonvers JJ. Low sodium solution for colonic cleansing: a double-blind, controlled, randomized prospective study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1992; **38**: 579-581 [PMID: 1397915 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(92)70521-5]
- 24 **Bitoun A**, Ponchon T, Barthet M, Coffin B, Dugué C, Halphen M. Results of a prospective randomised multicentre controlled

trial comparing a new 2-L ascorbic acid plus polyethylene glycol and electrolyte solution vs. sodium phosphate solution in patients undergoing elective colonoscopy. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2006; **24**: 1631-1642 [PMID: 17094774 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2006.03167. x]

- 25 Hjelkrem M, Stengel J, Liu M, Jones DP, Harrison SA. MiraLAX is not as effective as GoLytely in bowel cleansing before screening colonoscopies. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 9: 326-332.e1 [PMID: 21115134]
- 26 Sharara AI, El-Halabi MM, Abou Fadel CG, Sarkis FS. Sugarfree menthol candy drops improve the palatability and bowel cleansing effect of polyethylene glycol electrolyte solution. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; 78: 886-891 [PMID: 23769143 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.05.015]
- 27 Ell C, Fischbach W, Bronisch HJ, Dertinger S, Layer P, Rünzi M, Schneider T, Kachel G, Grüger J, Köllinger M, Nagell W, Goerg KJ, Wanitschke R, Gruss HJ. Randomized trial of low-volume PEG solution versus standard PEG + electrolytes for bowel cleansing before colonoscopy. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2008; **103**: 883-893 [PMID: 18190651 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01708.x]
- 28 Corporaal S, Kleibeuker JH, Koornstra JJ. Low-volume PEG plus ascorbic acid versus high-volume PEG as bowel preparation for colonoscopy. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2010; 45: 1380-1386 [PMID: 20602568 DOI: 10.3109/00365521003734158]
- 29 Katz PO, Rex DK, Epstein M, Grandhi NK, Vanner S, Hookey LC, Alderfer V, Joseph RE. A dual-action, low-volume bowel cleanser administered the day before colonoscopy: results from the SEE CLEAR II study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2013; 108: 401-409 [PMID: 23318484 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2012.441]
- 30 Rex DK. Bowel preparation for colonoscopy: entering an era of increased expectations for efficacy. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2014; 12: 458-462 [PMID: 24239858 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2013.11.003]
- 31 Gerard DP, Foster DB, Raiser MW, Holden JL, Karrison TG. Validation of a new bowel preparation scale for measuring colon cleansing for colonoscopy: the chicago bowel preparation scale. *Clin Transl Gastroenterol* 2013; 4: e43 [PMID: 24304940 DOI: 10.1038/ctg.2013.16]
- 32 Menees SB, Elliott E, Govani S, Anastassiades C, Judd S, Urganus A, Boyce S, Schoenfeld P. The impact of bowel cleansing on follow-up recommendations in average-risk patients with a normal colonoscopy. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2014; 109: 148-154 [PMID: 24496417 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2013.243]

P- Reviewer: Greenspan M, Ianiro G, Tang D S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu XM







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1945 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1945-1955 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

Gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors treated with high dose octreotide-LAR: A systematic literature review

Michael S Broder, David Beenhouwer, Jonathan R Strosberg, Maureen P Neary, Dasha Cherepanov

Michael S Broder, David Beenhouwer, Dasha Cherepanov, Partnership for Health Analytic Research, LLC, Beverly Hills, CA 90212, United States

Jonathan R Strosberg, H. Lee Moffitt Cancer Center and Research Institute, Tampa, FL 33612, United States

Maureen P Neary, Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation, East Hanover, NJ 07936, United States

Author contributions: Broder MS and Cherepanov D contributed substantially to conception, design, management of the study, interpretation of data, drafting of the manuscript, revising the manuscript critically for significant intellectual content; Beenhouwer D contributed substantially to conception, design, interpretation of data, drafting of the manuscript or revising it critically for significant intellectual content, performed the search and abstraction of studies; Strosberg JR contributed substantially to interpretation of data, revising the manuscript critically for significant intellectual content; Neary MP contributed substantially to conception, interpretation of data, revision of the manuscript; all authors approved the final manuscript.

Supported by Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation, One Health Plaza, East Hanover, NJ 07936-1080, United States.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Michael S Broder, MD, MSHS, Partnership for Health Analytic Research, LLC, 280 South Beverly Drive, Suite 404, Beverly Hills, CA 90212, United States. mbroder@pharllc.com Telephone: +1-310-8589555 Fax: +1-310-8589552 Received: March 26, 2014 Peer-review started: March 26, 2014 First decision: April 28, 2014 Revised: July 31, 2014 Accepted: September 18, 2014

Article in press: September 19, 2014

Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To review literature on efficacy and safety of octreotide-long-acting repeatable (LAR) used at doses higher than the Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved 30 mg/mo for treatment of neuroendocrine tumors (NETs).

METHODS: We searched PubMed and Cochrane Library from 1998-2012, 5 conferences (American Society of Clinical Oncology, Endocrine Society, European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society, European Society for Medical Oncology, North American Neuroendocrine Tumor Society) from 2000-2013 using MeSH and keyterms including neuroendocrine tumors, carcinoid tumor, carcinoma, neuroendocrine, and octreotide. Bibliographies of accepted articles were also searched. Two reviewers reviewed titles, abstracts, and full-length articles. Studies that reported data on efficacy and safety of \geq 30 mg/mo octreotide-LAR for NETs in human subjects, published in any language were included in the review.

RESULTS: The search identified 1086 publications, of which 238 underwent full-text review (20 were translated into English); 17 were included in the review. Studies varied in designs, subjects, octreotide-LAR regimens, and definition of outcomes. Eleven studies reported use of higher doses to control symptoms and tumor progression, although symptom severity and formal quality-of-life analysis were not quantitatively measured. Ten studies reported efficacy, describing 260 subjects with doses ranging from 40 mg/mo or 30 mg/3 wk up to 120 mg/mo. Eight studies reported expert clinical opinion that supported dose escalation of octreotide-LAR up to 60 mg/mo for symptom control and suggested increased doses may be effective at preventing tumor progression. Eight studies reported safety; there was no evidence of increased toxicity associated with doses of octreotide-LAR > 30 mg/mo.

CONCLUSION: As reported in this review, octreotide-



LAR at doses > 30 mg/mo is being prescribed for symptom and tumor control in NET patients. Furthermore, expert clinical opinion provided support for escalation of somatostatin analogs for refractory hormonal symptoms.

Key words: Carcinoma; Neuroendocrine; Carcinoid syndrome; Carcinoid tumor; Gastrointestinal neoplasms; Neuroendocrine tumor; Antineoplastic agents; Hormonal; Dose-Response relationship; Drug; Octreotide; Literature review; Efficacy; Effectiveness; Symptom control; Tumor progression control; Diarrhea; Abdominal pain; Flushing

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Although octreotide-long-acting repeatable (LAR) is Food and Drug Administration approved for alleviating severe diarrhea/flushing associated with metastatic carcinoid tumors at doses \leq 30 mg every 4 wk, our review found that several studies within the published literature described the use of above-label doses of octreotide-LAR for symptom and tumor control of neuroendocrine tumors. Expert clinical opinion, as reported in this review, supports escalation of somatostatin analogs for patients with refractory hormonal symptoms.

Broder MS, Beenhouwer D, Strosberg JR, Neary MP, Cherepanov D. Gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors treated with high dose octreotide-LAR: A systematic literature review. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1945-1955 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1945.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1945

INTRODUCTION

Gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) are rare and generally slow-growing neoplasms that secrete various peptides and neuroamines, some of which cause clinical symptoms^[1]. The annual incidence of NETs is approximately 40-50 cases per million, which is about 1%-2% of all gastrointestinal malignancies. These tumors may be classified in multiple ways but are often divided into carcinoid tumors and pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (pNET). Symptoms are often nonspecific, leading in many cases to delayed diagnosis.

First-line systemic therapy for NETs often consists of somatostatin analogs (SSAs) such as octreotide acetate (Sandostatin[®]; Novartis Pharmaceutical Company, East Hanover, NJ, United States) or lanreotide (Somatuline[®]; Ipsen Pharmaceuticals, Paris, France). These drugs, initially developed to palliate the symptoms of carcinoid syndrome, have an inhibitory effect on secretion of gastrointestinal hormones (*e.g.*, serotonin). Accumulating data indicate that SSAs are also capable of inhibiting NET growth^[2,3]. Currently, the maximum FDA-approved dosage and administration of octreotide long-acting repeatable (LAR), indicated for severe diarrhea/flushing episodes associated with metastatic carcinoid tumors and VIPomas, is 30 mg every 4 wk^[4].

A recent physician expert consensus panel highlighted the appropriateness of using standard dose SSAs for control of hormonal symptoms and tumor growth in patients with advanced carcinoid tumors, as well as increasing dose/frequency of SSAs in treatment of refractory carcinoid syndrome^[2]. The panel also recommended that increase in the dose/frequency of SSAs be considered for patients with radiographic progression, particularly in cases where disease was previously stabilized at a lower dose. Additionally, in clinical practice, octreotide-LAR is sometimes prescribed at above-label doses but evidence for this practice has not been systematically assessed. Motivated by the recent expert panel consensus and anecdotal evidence from clinical practices, our aim was to systematically review the published literature on efficacy and safety of octreotide-LAR used at doses higher than the Food and Drug Administration (FDA)approved 30 mg and/or administered at a frequency greater than every 4 wk for management of NETs.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data sources and search strategy

We searched PubMed and the Cochrane Library databases and five conferences: American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) annual meeting and ASCO Gastrointestinal Cancers Symposium, Endocrine Society (ENDO), European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS), European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO), and North American Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (NANETS). In supplementing our search, we also reviewed reference lists of records included for data abstraction and asked for article nominations from physician experts that were part of a NET treatment consensus panel^[2].

We searched PubMed using the keywords and Medical Subject Headings terms: "neuroendocrine tumors", "carcinoid tumor", and "carcinoma, neuroendocrine", and "octreotide". Our search was limited to human subjects and studies published from 1998 to present. The search year limit of "1998" was imposed based on octreotide acetate LAR (Sandostatin LAR) original approval date (www.accessdata.fda.gov/). In addition to the terms used in the PubMed search, the Cochrane Library was also searched using word combinations of "octreotide" and limited to Cochrane Reviews and Protocols. Conference abstracts were searched using an expanded version of search terms listed above: neuroendocrine tumor, neuroendocrine tumour(s), neuroendocrine carcinoma(s), carcinoid tumor(s), carcinoid tumour(s), carcinoid syndrome, octreotide, and sandostatin. The conference search was limited to studies in human subjects and published in 2000 or later.

Screening and selection criteria

Identified articles were screened in three phases, article title and abstract review, first full article review, and second full article review, and conference abstracts in one phase. Articles were advanced to the next phase of screening only if they met the screening criteria or if it was unclear if they met the screening criteria in the prior screening phase. The first and second screening phases were done by a single reviewer and the third by two reviewers. In the first phase, titles and abstracts of identified studies were screened for data in human subjects on the drug (octreotide-LAR) and condition (neuroendocrine tumors) of interest. If an article that passed this screening phase was not in English, it was translated and moved to phase two (first full article review). In phase two, studies were screened for use of octreotide acetate LAR at doses > 30 mg/4 wk. In phase three, an article was excluded if an outcome of interest (efficacy, safety, and/or expert clinical opinion) was not reported or if the article was a case report, since case reports present data on too few patients to be able to draw any generalizable conclusions. Conference abstracts were screened by a single reviewer in one phase. Studies that passed the screening were abstracted. All screening and abstraction of the identified studies was done using specialized software^[5].

Outcome measures

The outcomes of interest included reports of efficacy/effectiveness and safety surrounding the use of octreotide-LAR at doses higher than 30 mg or administered at a frequency greater than 4 wk. We also reviewed expert clinical opinion statements surrounding the use of above-label use of octreotide-LAR. Measures of efficacy included symptom burden, disease markers, tumor response, time to progression of disease, requirements for additional intervention, and survival. Measures of safety included frequency of various adverse effects.

Quality assurance

The weighted Kappa inter-rater reliability was calculated between the two reviewers at the screening phase using an independently-screened sample of articles, considering that a Kappa value ranging from 0.81 to 0.99 is interpreted to indicate "almost perfect agreement"^[6]. After determining that the inter-rater reliability was high $(i.e., > 0.81)^{[6]}$, the remaining articles were divided between the two reviewers. Data were also first independently extracted from a sample of accepted articles by the two reviewers, and any resultant inconsistencies were discussed. The remaining articles were then split up between the two reviewers to finalize data extraction. Further accuracy of data abstraction was assured by ongoing consultation between the reviewers and the research team, such that ambiguities were resolved via consensus. The Oxford's Centre for Evidence-based Medicine Levels of Evidence (OCEBM) was used to assign a quality of evidence grade of 1 to 5 to each included study, with 1 indicated a study with the strongest scientific basis for support of conclusions and 5 the weakest (*e.g.*, expert opinion)^[7].

RESULTS

Search and screening

The PubMed and the Cochrane Library databases searches, conducted on 12/9/12, yielded 705 articles: 692 were identified in PubMed, 13 in the Cochrane Library database, and 3 more provided by experts (Figure 1). A search of conferences resulted in 116 abstracts identified from the ASCO meetings (87 from 2000-2012 annual meetings; 29 from 2004-2013 Gastrointestinal Cancers Symposiums), 83 from 2000-2012 ENDO meetings, 92 from 2004, 2006, 2009-2012 ENETS meetings, 29 from 2000 and 2002-2012 ESMO meetings, and 54 from 2008-2012 NANETS meetings. An update to the search was conducted in June 2013 to identify articles in the ASCO 2013 meeting, which resulted in 4 more abstracts. A total of 708 articles and 378 conference abstracts were screened.

In the first phase of screening, 848 of 1086 records were excluded from further screening (Figure 1). Twenty articles were translated before phase two (2 from Spanish, 6 from Italian, 4 from Japanese, 1 from French, 6 from Hungarian, and 1 from Danish). In phase two, 205 of 230 full-length articles were excluded due to lack of data on the use of octreotide acetate LAR at doses > 30 mg/mo. In the final phase, 15 of 33 additional articles (10 did not discuss outcomes of interest and 5 were case reports) were excluded. Bibliographies of the 10 accepted fulllength articles were screened for additional studies of interest but no additional studies were identified. Eight of the 378 identified abstracts passed the screening and were abstracted. The weighted kappa for the two reviewers was 0.94^[6]. During abstraction, it was determined that 2 of the 10 included articles reported data on the same patients, hence only the most relevant and recent of the two studies (Woltering 2006), which reported data on outcomes of interest, was retained in this review.

Description of included studies

The review consisted of 17 studies, including 8 conference abstracts and 9 articles (Table 1). Four were clinical studies, one was a report of a modified Delphi process^[2], one was a systematic review^[21], two were non-systematic reviews^[8,9] and one was a letter to the editor^[10]. Seven conference abstracts reported on clinical studies and one a randomized phase II trial. Eight studies were performed in the United States, two in Italy, one in both the United States and Europe, and the location for the remaining 6 was not reported.



Broder MS et al. High dose octreotide-LAR in NETs



Figure 1 Record search and screening flow chart. ¹Phase II : Title and abstract screen of all identified records through database search; screens for records that contain: octreotide LAR, neuroendocrine tumors, and human subjects. ²Duplicates include duplicate abstracts presented at different conferences and data reported in full-length articles included in this review. ³Phase II : Full-text screen of those records that passed phase I ; screens for records containing use of octreotide LAR of doses greater than 30 mg/4 wk. ⁴Phase III : Full-text screen of those records that passed phase II ; screen for records containing safety and effectiveness outcomes, and exclude records that are case reports. ⁵Two of the 10 included articles reported data on the same patients, hence only the most recent study (Woltering 2006) was retained in this review. American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO), Endocrine Society (ENDO), European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS), European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO), and North American Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (NANETS).

Ten studies considered efficacy, 8 addressed safety, and eight provided expert clinical opinion. OCEBM grades ranged from 2b to 5, with 9 studies out of 17 scoring 4 or 5.

Efficacy

The efficacy of high dose octreotide-LAR was reported in 10 studies, of which 4 were full-length articles^[11-20] (Table 2). Doses studied ranged from a minimum of either 40 mg per month or 30 mg per 3 wk up to a maximum of 120 mg per month. The studies describe over 260 subjects who received increased doses of octreotide-LAR (the exact number cannot be stated with certainty, as some studies did not report the number of patients treated with above-label doses and grouped them with other patients).

Chadha *et al*^[12] retrospectively studied high dose octreotide-LAR used to treat 30 patients with GEP-NETs. Compared to 24 subjects receiving conventional dose octreotide-LAR therapy, there was a trend (P = 0.12) toward increased time before further treatment intervention was required in this group but no effect on survival (P = 0.48). Ferolla^[14] was the only prospective trial of high dose octreotide-LAR,

examining the effect of 30 mg every 3 wk on tumor progression, serum markers and symptoms. The comparator group was historical and consisted of the same subjects receiving octreotide-LAR 30 mg/mo. Control of symptoms was seen with increased dose of octreotide-LAR, with 40% noting normalization and 60% noting control of symptoms (flushing, diarrhea, and bronchospasm). The time to tumor progression and the time to biochemical progression (increase in serum CGA, serum gastrin and/or urinary 5-HIAA) were both significantly delayed (P < 0.01). The study reported that "weakness and well-being improved in all patients" but a specific tool for measuring quality of life was not described. One of the larger studies^[11] reported physician practice patterns in medical management of 392 patients with NETs. Data were reported by doses delivered rather than by patients treated, so it was not possible to compare this study to the other studies of efficacy that used more standard methodology. Tumor responses to doses of octreotide-LAR 20 and 30 mg were similar to those at doses of 40 and 60 mg. Woltering^[20] examined whether CqA levels correlated with octreotide-LAR dose and symptoms in 40 patients with carcinoid

Ref. (OCEBM)	Country, timeframe	Study design	Study subjects	Doses of SLAR administered (number of patients or number of doses)	Reasons for high dose SLAR ²	Relevant outcomes reported		
Strosberg <i>et al</i> ^[2] 2013 (5)	United States	Modified delphi process	404 patient scenarios of patients with unresectable metastatic well-differentiated carcinoid tumors	Subset of patient scenarios treated with SLAR (frequency: every 2 wk, 3 wk, 4 wk; dosing 30 mg, 40 mg, 60 mg, 90 mg,	NA/NR	Expert clinical opinion		
Colao <i>et al^[8]</i> 2010 (5)	Italy	Literature review	Pituitary tumors and NETs	120 mg) NA/NR	NA/NR	Expert clinical opinion		
Oberg <i>et al</i> ^[9] 2004 (5)	Europe, United States	Literature review	Relating to pts. with GEPNETs	NA/NR	NA/NR	Expert clinical opinion		
Yao <i>et al</i> ⁽³⁾ 2008 (5)	United States	Letter to editor	Relating to pts. with NETs	NA/NR	NA/NK	expert clinical opinion		
2011 (3b)	2000-2006	multicenter medical chart review	NETs (with or without CS), treated with SLAR \geq 4 mo	10 mg (22 doses), 20 mg (224), 30 mg (316), 40 mg (78), 50 mg (16), 60 mg (42)	efficacy	safety		
Chadha <i>et al</i> ^[12] 2009 (2b)	United States, 2002-2007	Retrospective single- center medical chart review	54 pts. with GEPNETs treated with SLAR 20-30 mg	Median high dose of SLAR 40 mg, ranging 40-90 mg/mo (30 pts.)	Control of symptoms, treatment of tumor	Efficacy, safety, Expert clinical opinion		
Costa <i>et al</i> ^[13] 2006 ¹ (4)	2005	Retrospective case series	9 pts. with progressive metastatic NETs treated with SLAR 20 mg/mo	20 mg/mo (9 pts.); 30 mg/mo, 40 mg/mo (3 pts.)	Treatment of tumor	Efficacy, Expert clinical		
Ferolla <i>et al</i> ^[14] 2012 (2b)	Italy	Multicenter open- label non-randomized prospective clinical trial	28 pts. with well- differentiated NETs, progressing at standard dose SLAR ≥ 6 mo	30 mg/28 d initially for 6-32 mo (28 pts.); 30 mg/21 d (28 pts.) for 4-48 mo	Control of symptoms, treatment of tumor, other	Efficacy, safety		
Koumarianou <i>et</i> <i>al</i> ^[15] 2010 ¹ (4)	2008-2009	Retrospective case series	13 pts. with pretreated progressive metastatic GEPNETs	30 mg/3 wk (12 pts.)	Treatment of tumor	Efficacy, safety		
Markovich <i>et al</i> ^[16] 2012 ¹ (4)		Retrospective clinical trial	31 pts. with pretreated progressing disseminated NETs	20 mg/mo initially (29 pts.); 30 mg/mo (18); 40 mg/mo (13) long acting octreotide	Control of symptoms, treatment of	Efficacy, safety		
Valle <i>et al</i> ^[17] 2001 ¹ (4)		Retrospective single- center case series	8 pts. with metastatic carcinoid syndrome	Initially 20 mg/mo (5 pts), 15 mg/mo, 60/mo, 20/2 wk (all 1); escalated to 20 mg/3 wk, 30 mg/3 wk, 50 mg/4 wk, 120 mg/4 wk (4 pts.)	Control of symptoms	Efficacy, safety		
Weber <i>et al</i> ^[18] 2012 ¹ (4)	United States, 2000-2010	Retrospective single- center medical chart review	337 pts. with metastatic small- bowel carcinoid tumors, treated with SLAR	27% (99 pts.) with increased high dose; common max doses were 40 mg/4 wk (37 pts.), 60 mg/mo (34), 30 mg/3 wk (17)	Control of symptoms, tumor progression, other	Efficacy		
Wolin <i>et al</i> ^[19] 2013 ¹ (2b)		Multicenter randomized phase Ⅲ clinical trial	110 pts. with unresponsive NET symptoms to standard dose SLAR	40 mg/28 d (57 pts.)	Control of symptoms	Efficacy, safety		
Woltering <i>et al</i> ^[20] 2006 (3)	United States	Non-randomized prospective clinical trial	40 pts. with carcinoid syndrome on stable doses of SLAR for ≥ 3 mo	20 mg (8 pts.), 30 mg (19), 60 mg (13) SLAR/mo	Control of symptoms	Efficacy		
Ludlam <i>et al</i> ^[21] 2011 (3a)	1965-2010	Systematic literature review	Relating to pts. with NETs	NA/NR	Control of symptoms	Safety		
Strosberg <i>et al</i> ^[22] 2013 ¹ (2b)	United States, 2004-2010	Retrospective multicenter medical chart review	271 pts. with carcinoid and pancreatic NETs, treated with octreotide-LAR	40% (<i>n</i> = 82) of carcinoid pts had high dose: common max doses of 40 mg/mo (39%), 40 mg/3 wk (18%), 30 mg/2 wk (17%); and 23% (15) of pNET pts: 40 mg/mo (33%), 30 mg/2 wk (27%), 60 mg/mo (27%)	Control of symptoms, treatment of tumor, other	Expert clinical opinion		



Broder MS et al. High dose octreotide-LAR in NETs

Xu <i>et al</i> ^[23] 2012 ¹ (3b)	United States, 1999-2007	Retrospective analysis of SEER-Medicare claims	355 pts. with NETs	26 pts. (7.3%) with ≤ 10 mg initially, of which 3.9% increased to > 40 mg; 91 (25.6%) with 11-20 mg initially, 5.5% increased to 31-40 mg and 4.4% to > 40 mg; 147 (41.4%) with 21-30 mg initially, 11.6% increased to 31-40 mg and 10.9% to > 40 mg; 65 (18.3%) with 31-40 mg initially, 86.2% increased to 31-40 mg and 13.9% to > 40 mg; 26 (7.3%) with > 40 mg initially, 100% increased to > 40 mg; 134 pts. (37.7%) escalated to > 30 mg/ mo during 1 st year of therapy	NA/NR	Expert clinical opinion
--	-----------------------------	--	--------------------	---	-------	----------------------------

¹Conference abstract; ²Control of symptoms (flushing, diarrhea, and *etc.*); treatment of tumor (tumor progression); other (biochemical markers). NA/NR: Not applicable/not reported; OCEBM: Oxford's Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine Levels Of Evidence; CS: Carcinoid syndrome; NETs: Neuroendocrine tumors; GEPNETs: Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors; SLAR: Octreotide long-acting repeatable; pts.: Patients.

syndrome, and determined that CgA levels were similar for those receiving octreotide-LAR 20 mg, 30 mg or 60 mg/mo.

Six conference abstracts reported efficacy of high dose octreotide-LAR^[13,15-19]. Costa^[13] analyzed characteristics and clinical outcomes in patients with progressive metastatic NETs treated with octreotide-LAR. The authors noted that "after evidence of objective progressive disease in liver, a second response with disease stabilization was achieved with octreotide dosage increase from 30 mg to 40 mg every 4 wk" in two subjects that received high dose octreotide-LAR. Koumarianou^[15] studied efficacy of octreotide-LAR (30 mg/3 wk) combination therapy in 13 subjects with NETs. There was no comparator group. Disease remained stable in 25% (3/12) and 75% showed over > 50% reduction in tumor size. The median progression free survival in evaluable patients was 24.6 wk. Markovich^[16] studied the efficacy of long acting octreotide (including octreotide-LAR, Octreotide-Depot and Octreotide-LONG) 30-40 mg/ mo in heavily pretreated patients with disseminated NETs. Subjects (n = 29) initially received long-acting octreotide 20 mg/mo and the dose was escalated to 30 mg/mo (n = 18) or 40 mg/mo (n = 13). The reason for dose escalation was disease progression in 19 and lack of symptom control in 12. Those receiving long-acting octreotide alone (n = 14) did not have a response. However, tumor growth was controlled in 25 subjects (80.7%). Median time to progression in the total group was 18 mo. The report did not indicate what percentage of subjects specifically received octreotide-LAR vs other forms of long acting octreotide. Valle *et al*^[17] determined patient acceptability and control of carcinoid-related symptoms in 8 patients receiving octreotide-LAR, two of which started on high dose. Three subjects required dose escalation to high dose octreotide-LAR to control symptoms. Valle et al^[17] reported "patients who required continued dose-escalation

of Sandostatin LAR showed evidence of increased urinary 5-HIAA suggesting increased disease activity." Weber et al^[18] determined the frequency of "abovelabel" octreotide-LAR dosing and outcomes. Of 337 subjects treated with octreotide-LAR for metastatic NETs at a single tertiary care institution, 99 (27%) received high dose. The indications for dose increase were worsening carcinoid syndrome (60 patients), radiographic progression (33 patients), and rising urine 5-HIAA (6 patients). Among patients whose doses were increased for refractory carcinoid syndrome, flushing improved in 56% and diarrhea improved in 62%. Finally, a randomized phase III clinical trial by Wolin *et al*^[19] showed that treatment with</sup>octreotide-LAR to 40 mg/4 wk led to better control of diarrhea and flushing at 6 mo after starting treatment. Progression free survival was 6.8 mo. The comparator arm in this trial was a novel long-acting somatostatin analog (pasireotide-LAR 60 mg/4 wk), which showed a longer progression free survival (11.8 mo).

Considering these studies together, there is a trend supporting the use of octreotide-LAR at above-label doses to control symptoms and tumor progression.

Safety

The safety of high dose octreotide-LAR was reported in 8 studies^[11,12,14+17,19,21] (Table 3). There was no increased toxicity compared to conventional dose therapy reported in 3 of the studies that examined safety^[12,17,21]. Wolin *et al*^[19] compared octreotide-LAR treatment arm to patients using pasireotide-LAR, and showed the two arms have a similar safety profile (diarrhea: 7% *vs* 9%; abdominal pain: 9% *vs* 2%) except for the higher frequency of hyperglycemia (0% *vs* 11%) in the pasireotide group, and 4 (7%) and 7 (13%) patients that discontinued due to adverse events. Overall, our review shows that adverse events were not well described. This may be because octreotide-LAR has a favorable safety profile and that modest increases in the dose may not lead to significant

Table 2 Efficacy of octreotide long-acting repeatable > 30 mg/mo							
Ref.	Symptoms	Disease markers ²	Tumor response/Disease progression				
Anthony et al ^[11] 2011	NA/NR	NA/NR	Complete response rates: 2% (20 mg), 1% (30 mg), 0% (40 mg), 2% (60 mg); partial response: 6% (20mg), 8% (30 mg), 4% (40 mg), 10% (60 mg); stable disease: 57% (20 mg), 57% (30 mg), 55% (40 mg), 50% (60 mg); progression: 21% (20 mg), 25% (30 mg), 18% (40 mg), 29% (60 mg)				
Chadha <i>et al</i> ^[12] 2009	NA/NR	NA/NR	Median time to intervention was 2.9 mo (conventional dose group) vs 17.7 mo (high-dose) (P = 0.12)				
Costa <i>et al</i> ^[13] 2006 ¹	NA/NR	NA/NR	After evidence of progressive disease in liver, disease stabilization was achieved with increase to 30 mg and to 40 mg/mo				
Ferolla <i>et al</i> ^[14] 2012	Complete normalization: 40%; partial symptom control: 60%; flushing (normalized in 71.4%, improved in 28.6%), diarrhea (70%, 30%); pain (disappeared in 33%; improved in 67%); bronchospasm improved in 100%; hypoglycemia improved in 100%; weakness/ well-being improved in all pts	30% of pts. with elevated markers responded to higher dose; significant response to high dose SLAR was in 30% of pts. with high CgA, 57.1% of pts. with high 5-HIAA, and 100% of pts. with high gastrin; median time-to-biochemical progression was 30 mo (SLAR 30 mg/21 d) vs 14 mo (standard dose) ($P \le 0.01$)	Partial response in 7.2%, stable disease in 92.8%; median time to progression was 30 mo. (SLAR 30 mg/21 d) vs 9 mo. (standard dose) (<i>P</i> < 0.0001);				
Koumarianou <i>et al</i> ^[15] 2010 ¹	NA/NR	NA/NR	75% (9/12) with > 50% tumor size reduction, and 25% had stable disease; median PFS was 24.6 wk				
Markovich <i>et al</i> ^[16] 2012 ¹	NA/NR	NA/NR	Partial response in 3.2%, stable disease in 80.7%, progressed in 16.1%; tumor growth control in 83.9%, pts. had biochemical response and symptom relief (results not broken down by dose)				
Valle <i>et al</i> ^[17] 2001 ¹	Improvement in flushing, diarrhea, and bronchospasm (results not broken down by dose)	pts. with dose-escalation of SLAR had increased 5-HIAA, suggesting increased disease activity					
Weber <i>et al</i> ^[18] 2012 ¹	In pts., with increased doses of SLAR for refractory CS, 62% had improvement in diarrhea and 56% had improvement in flushing	NA/NR	NA/NR				
Wolin <i>et al</i> ^[19] 2013 ¹	At month 6, symptom response was 21% (9/43) in pasireotide-LAR vs 27% (12/45) in ocrteotide-LAR arms (OR = 0.73; 95% CI: 0.27-1.97; $P = 0.53$); 36.5% ± 29.1% had a reduction in diarrhea/d and a 49.4% ± 36.7% in flushing/2 wk	NA/NR	Median PFS was 6.8 mo in octreotide- LAR vs 11.8 mo pasireotide-LAR arms (HR = 0.46; P = 0.045)				
Woltering <i>et al</i> ^[20] 2006	Flushing not controlled in 0% (20 mg), 11.1% (30 mg), vs 7.1% (60 mg) SLAR groups (P = 1.0); diarrhea not controlled in 0% of pts. (20 mg), 27.8% (30 mg), vs 30.8% (60 mg) groups (P = 0.3182)	Mean absolute serum CgA: 53.1 (20 mg SLAR), 65.8 (30 mg), 70.7 (60 mg) (<i>P</i> = 0.9847); mean absolute plasma CgA: 56.6 (20 mg), 66.2 (30 mg), 65.2 (60 mg) (<i>P</i> = 0.9092)	NA/NR				

¹Conference abstract, ²Disease makers: 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA), chromogranin A (CgA), gastrin, and insulin. NA/NR: Not applicable/not reported; CS: Carcinoid syndrome; SLAR: Octreotide long-acting repeatable; PFS: Progression free survival.

increases in toxicity, or because the studies were too small to identify rare events.

Expert clinical opinion

Expert clinical opinions were reported in 8 articles^[2,8-10,12,13,22,23] (Table 4). Both Oberg *et al*^[9] and Strosberg *et al*^[2] supported the idea of increasing octreotide-LAR dose up to 60 mg/mo for control of symptoms. Chadha *et al*^[12], Colao *et al*^[8], and Costa *et al*^[13] further suggested that increased doses of octreotide-LAR may be effective for tumor progression. Strosberg *et al*^[22] reported above-label dosing of octreotide-LAR is common in NCCN institutions, and the primary indication is refractory carcinoid syndrome. Yao *et al*^[10] cautioned that until there are appropriate studies (*i.e.*, randomized controlled trials) completed, escalating doses of octreotide-LAR should be done only for control of symptoms. Xu *et al*^[23]

Table 3 Safety of octre	otide long-acting repeatable > 30 mg/mo
Ref.	Safety
Anthony et al ^[11] 2011	NA/NR (adverse events not broken down by SLAR dose); of 392 pts., 8.7% had hyperglycemia, 6.4% had cholelithiasis, 2.8%
	had cholecystitis, 2.3% had steatorrhea, and 1.5% had hypoglycemia, and 22% had \ge 1 adverse event during SLAR use
Chadha <i>et al</i> ^[12] 2009	p 4129: "No treatment related toxicities were reported."
Ferolla et al ^[14] 2012	p 329: "No additional toxicity was recorded for the schedule treatment with LAR 30 mg every 21 d when compared with
	standard LAR dose and no treatment discontinuation or dose modification was required. Adverse events observed in
	patients in treatment with LAR 30 mg every 21 d were diarrhea in 1, abdominal pain in 1, cholelithiasis in 2, pyrexia in 1
	patient. No constipation, dizziness, arterial hypertension or any other adverse event was observed."
Koumarianou <i>et al</i> ^[15] 2010 ¹	"Patients reported no significant symptoms related to treatment adverse events. Two patients experienced a
	grade I neutropenia and one patient a grade II thrombocytopenia. One patient did not receive treatment due to persistent
[21]	nausea and vomiting resistant to metoclopramide."
Ludlam <i>et al</i> ^[21] 2011	p 838: "A trial designed to compare two dose levels of octreotide LAR (30 and 40 mg/mo) highlighted the ability of
	octreotide LAR to control diarrhea in patients with active or prior chemotherapy-induced diarrhea. Fewer patients in the 40
	mg/mo group compared with those in the 30 mg/mo group experienced severe diarrhea (62% vs 48%; $P = 0.14$), required
	intravenous fluid (32% vs 19%; $P = 0.10$), or had diarrhea-related unscheduled healthcare visits (42% vs 28%; $P = 0.11$). Most
	importantly, adverse events were balanced between the two groups."
Markovich <i>et al</i> ⁽¹⁷⁾ 2012	"I olerability of long-acting octreotide in a dose of 30-40 mg was satisfactory for all pts."
Valle et al ⁽¹⁾ 2001	"All patients found the long-acting analogue acceptable and none requested a change back to conventional daily octreotide.
	Sandostatin LAK is an alternative somatostatin analogue that is nightly acceptable to patients; doses may be safely escalated
Walip at $al^{[19]} 2012^1$	If required, $(11\% \times 0\%)$ discretes (0% $\times 7\%)$ and abdominal usin (2% $\times 0\%)$ were the most common grade 2/4 AEs in
Womiter ur 2015	Typergreenia (11% 050%), diamea (5% 057%), all abdominal part (2% 057%) were the noise common grade $5/4$ AEs in the provident of the providence of 2000 and $4/700$ by the transformation of the providence of 2000 and $4/700$ by the providence of 2000 by the providence of
	AE P and O chowed a similar safety profile except for the higher frequency of hyperalycomia in P"
	AE. 1 and O showed a similar safety prome except for the higher frequency of hypergrycenna in F.

¹Conference abstract. NA/NR: Not applicable/not reported.

Table 4 Expert clinical opinion statements on use of octreotide long-acting repeatable > 30 mg/mo

Ref.	Quoted expert clinical opinion
Chadha <i>et al</i> ^[12] 2009	p 4130: "Our experience and those of others have shown that S-LAR can provide disease control to prolong time needed for liver-
	directed therapies and systemic therapies. Dose escalation provides an opportunity to spare patients from morbidities associated
	with these procedures and systemic therapy."
Colao <i>et al</i> ^[8] 2010	p 290: "The dosages of SSAs currently used are probably insufficient to determine control of hormone secretion and tumor
5401 A	growth both in acromegaly and NETs."
Costa <i>et al</i> ^[13] 2006 ¹	"Dose increase with octreotide LAR should be offered to those patients who progress after achieving a first objective response
101	with SS analogues."
Oberg <i>et al</i> ^[9] 2004	p 970: "As a general rule, if the total IR dose is 200-600 μ g/d, LAR 20 mg should be tried, and if total IR dose is 750-1500 μ g/d,
	LAR 30 mg should be tried. The LAR doses range from 20 to 60 mg/28 d. Supplementary administration with the IR form of
	octreotide in patients escaping anti-secretory response is often required during long-term treatment with LAR. If it is necessary
	to give the patient rescue doses of IR octreotide three or four times per week, increase the LAR dose to 30 mg/4 wk, or reduce
	the interval between administrations of the depot formulation (e.g., 20 mg/3 wk). Furthermore, the temporal occurrence of
	hypersecretion during the 4-week dosing interval should be considered. For example, if the rescue s.c. therapy is required during
	the week before the next injection of LAR, then a reduction of the dosing interval by 1 wk is advisable. On the other hand, if the
	need for rescue medication occurs sporadically throughout the month then increasing the dose stepwise by 10 mg/mo up to 60
C. 1	mg/mo should be tried. Doses of LAR > 60 mg/mo are rarely of added value."
Strosberg <i>et al</i> ⁴ 2013	p 5: "In patients with uncontrolled secretory symptoms, increasing the dose/ frequency of SSAs is appropriate (median rating, 8),
	particularly among patients who had previously responded to a lower dose. The panel considered dose escalations of octreotide
	LAR up to $60 \text{ mg}/4 \text{ wk}$ (median rating, 7) or up to $40 \text{ mg}/3 \text{ wk}$ (median rating, 7) to be reasonable adjustments for refractory
	carcinoid syndrome. Increasing the dose/ frequency of SSAs may be considered in patients with radiographic progression,
	particularly those whose disease was previously stabilized at a lower dose. The panel considered an increase in dose/ frequency
	up to 40 mg/3 or 4 wk to be reasonable (median rating: 4-5.5). There is a lack of evidence that increasing the dose/ frequency of
Charalterine of al ^[22] 2012 ¹	"Abare label design of established and the NGCN institution. The estimates in distitution is a for the estimated
Strosberg et al. 7 2015	Above label dosing of octreolide LAK is common in NCCN institutions. The primary indication is refractory carcinold
Vet at al ^[23] 2012 ¹	syncrome.
Au el m ^{- 2} 2012	outrainingses showed that patients requently required the escatation of outroute LAK dose during their course of miless. A
Vac. at a1 ^[10] 2008	p 229: "Although extractide how to be a concerned and concerned and the rear approved uses of 50 mg/mo.
1 a0 et ut 2000	p 550. Annough ocheonde has proven to be a safe and encacious drug for carcinold syndrome, it nonetheless can cause adverse available
	events in course sector inca, chore massis, and ripper gryce and other to chore the afford in the down to sector the sector in a discost a chore a chore afford and the that down the information in the advector fitter in the
	to show that occessible has a disease-stabilizing effect and at what does this effect occurs in multiality, we advocate utrating the
	occessive LAR dose according to symptoms rather than to an arbitrary blood level.

¹Conference abstract. NCCN: National Comprehensive Cancer Network; NETs: Neuroendocrine tumors; S-LAR: Octreotide long-acting repeatable; FDA: Food and Drug Administration; SSAs: Somatostatin analogues.

Baishideng® WJG | www.wjgnet.com

reported that a substantial number of patients in this study required doses greater than the FDA approved dose of 30 mg/mo. Overall, our review indicated that clinical experts support dose escalation of octreotide-LAR.

DISCUSSION

There is a general trend supporting the use of high dose octreotide-LAR for control of symptoms and limited data supporting the use of high-dose octreotide for control of tumor progression in patients with NETs. There were no published data identified suggesting increased toxicity of octreotide-LAR at above FDA-approved dosage and frequency of administration. The lack of data may imply that there is no significant toxicity, which is consistent with reports of higher doses used in acromegaly without significant toxicity^[21], or that the studies were too small to identify uncommon adverse events. Several studies provided expert clinical opinion statements, mostly endorsing use of above-label doses of octreotide-LAR for patients with symptom or tumor progression.

There were 4 articles and 6 abstracts that reported on the efficacy of octreotide-LAR > 30 mg/mo in over 260 patients^[11-20]. Ferolla *et al*^[14] showed efficacy of octreotide-LAR > 30 mg/mo, indicating that biochemical and tumor progression were more rapid with lower dose using historical controls. The key results reported by Weber et al^[18], demonstrating that octreotide-LAR is commonly prescribed in doses or schedules above the label-recommended dose and frequency for refractory carcinoid syndrome, are now available in greater detail in a full-length article by Strosberg *et al*^[24]. No studies showed a negative</sup> effect on efficacy of high dose octreotide-LAR. In most studies, higher octreotide-LAR doses were used as rescue or salvage therapy, and it may be that response rates would be higher in treatment-naïve patients.

Our review of 4 articles and 4 abstracts, evaluating over 220 patients^[11,12,14-17,19,21], found no evidence of increased toxicity associated with doses of octreotide-LAR > 30 mg/mo. None of the studies included in this review reported significant toxicity, although these studies did not report power analyses or a priori calculations of sample size.

Expert clinical opinion expressed in 6 of 8 articles^[2,8,9,12,13,22] supported the use of higher doses of octreotide-LAR when lower doses are inadequate to control disease. One study reported that abovelabel octreotide-LAR is commonly prescribed in NCCN institutions^[22]. Most experts suggested that higher doses should be used in cases where there is tumor progression or lack of symptom control on lower doses. Yao *et al*^[10] questioned the use of higher doses due to lack of high-level evidence supporting this practice.

Strengths and limitations

The strength of this review lies in its comprehensive search, review, and synthesis of global literature on above the FDA-approved label dosage and frequency of administration of octreotide-LAR in patients with NETs. This study also has limitations. The data on symptom improvement are limited by lack of quantitative measurements of symptom severity and absence of formal quality of life analysis. Nine of the 17 included studies were retrospective, and retrospective studies may be subject to recall and reporting biases. The only prospective trial reporting efficacy data in a full-length article^[14] used historical controls, which may limit estimation of effects. Wolin et al^[19] reported on a randomized clinical trial of pasireotide-LAR (comparator arm) vs octreotide-LAR 40 mg/28 d. However, this trial did not assess other doses of octreotide-LAR. The studies included in this review varied in design, patient population, octreotide-LAR regimens, and definitions of outcomes, and the data were reported in several ways across the reviewed studies. Thus, the heterogeneity of these data made it difficult to compare directly between studies and prevented us from conducting a metaanalysis. OCEBM grades ranged from 2b to 5, with 9 studies out of 17 scoring 4 or 5, indicating a relatively low quality of evidence (grade C)^[7]. Of the 10 studies that reported data on efficacy and of the 8 that reported data on safety, 5 and 4 were small (< 100 patients) retrospective studies, respectively. Finally, in this study, we were unable to assess separately the effects of octreotide-LAR co-therapy vs monotherapy on safety and efficacy outcomes given the limited data for co-therapy in this review.

Future research efforts should focus on establishing efficacy and safety of prescribing octreotide-LAR at doses higher than the FDA-approved 30 mg/mo for management of neuroendocrine tumors using generalizable randomized controlled trial study designs. Studies comparing the safety of octreotide-LAR in patients treated with doses < 30 mg/mo *vs* those treated with above-label regimens of octreotide-LAR are also warranted.

In conclusion, this systematic literature review suggests that above-label doses of octreotide-LAR are being used frequently for the management of NETs in clinical practice and excess toxicity has not been observed in the reviewed studies. In most articles reviewed, above-label octreotide-LAR appears to be prescribed in patients with disease progression or uncontrolled symptoms while on standard dose therapy. Expert clinical opinion, as reported in this review, supports escalation of SSAs for patients with refractory hormonal symptoms. However, given limited published information on this topic, the safety and efficacy of above-label doses and/or frequency of octreotide-LAR in treatment of NETs warrants further evaluation.

COMMENTS

Background

Gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) are rare and generally slowgrowing neoplasms that secrete various peptides and neuroamines, some of which cause clinical symptoms. These tumors may be classified in multiple ways but are often divided into carcinoid tumors and pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. First-line systemic therapy for NETs often consists of somatostatin analogs (SSAs) such as octreotide acetate or lanreotide.

Research frontiers

The maximum Food And Drug Administration-approved dosage and administration of octreotide long-acting repeatable (LAR), indicated for severe diarrhea/flushing episodes associated with metastatic carcinoid tumors and VIPomas, is 30 mg every 4 wk. However, in clinical practice, octreotide-LAR is sometimes prescribed at above-label doses but evidence for this practice has not been systematically assessed.

Innovations and breakthroughs

This systematic literature review suggests that above-label doses of octreotide-LAR are being used frequently for the management of NETs in clinical practice and excess toxicity was not observed in the reviewed studies. In most articles reviewed, above-label octreotide-LAR appears to be prescribed in patients with disease progression or uncontrolled symptoms while on standard dose therapy. Expert clinical opinion, as reported in this review, supports escalation of SSAs for patients with refractory hormonal symptoms. However, given limited published information on this topic, the safety and efficacy of above-label doses and/or frequency of octreotide-LAR in treatment of NETs warrants further evaluation.

Applications

The strength of this study lies in its comprehensive search, review, and synthesis of global literature on above the FDA-approved label dosage and frequency of administration of octreotide-LAR in patients with NETs. Thus, the findings summarized in this review may inform clinicians who manage patients with NETs and motivate future research in this field.

Peer-review

This is an informative, well conducted and documented review about a focused topic on the use of above-label doses of octreotide-LAR in patients with NETs.

REFERENCES

- Vinik AI, Woltering EA, Warner RR, Caplin M, O'Dorisio TM, Wiseman GA, Coppola D, Go VL. NANETS consensus guidelines for the diagnosis of neuroendocrine tumor. *Pancreas* 2010; 39: 713-734 [PMID: 20664471 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e3181ebaffd]
- 2 Strosberg JR, Fisher GA, Benson AB, Malin JL, Anthony LB, Arslan B, Gibbs JF, Greeno E, Iyer RV, Kim MK, Maples WJ, Philip PA, Wolin EM, Cherepanov D, Broder MS. Systemic treatment in unresectable metastatic well-differentiated carcinoid tumors: consensus results from a modified delphi process. *Pancreas* 2013; 42: 397-404 [PMID: 23211372 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e31826d 3a17]
- 3 Rinke A, Müller HH, Schade-Brittinger C, Klose KJ, Barth P, Wied M, Mayer C, Aminossadati B, Pape UF, Bläker M, Harder J, Arnold C, Gress T, Arnold R. Placebo-controlled, doubleblind, prospective, randomized study on the effect of octreotide LAR in the control of tumor growth in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine midgut tumors: a report from the PROMID Study Group. J Clin Oncol 2009; 27: 4656-4663 [PMID: 19704057 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.22.8510]
- 4 Sandostatin LAR Depot [prescribing information]. East Hanover, New Jersey: Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation; 2011. Accessed 7/30/14. Available from: URL: http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/ scripts/cder/drugsatfda/
- 5 DistillerSR (Version 2.0). (2012) Ottawa, Ontario, Canada: Evidence Partners Incorporated. Available from: URL: http://systematic-review. net
- 6 Viera AJ, Garrett JM. Understanding interobserver agreement: the kappa statistic. *Fam Med* 2005; 37: 360-363 [PMID: 15883903]
- 7 OCEBM Levels of Evidence Working Group. "The Oxford 2011

Levels of Evidence". Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine. Available from: URL: http://www.cebm.net/index.aspx?o=5653

- 8 Colao A, Faggiano A, Pivonello R. Somatostatin analogues: treatment of pituitary and neuroendocrine tumors. *Prog Brain Res* 2010; 182: 281-294 [PMID: 20541670 DOI: 10.1016/S0079-6123(10)82012-6]
- 9 Oberg K, Kvols L, Caplin M, Delle Fave G, de Herder W, Rindi G, Ruszniewski P, Woltering EA, Wiedenmann B. Consensus report on the use of somatostatin analogs for the management of neuroendocrine tumors of the gastroenteropancreatic system. *Ann Oncol* 2004; **15**: 966-973 [PMID: 15151956 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdh216]
- 10 Yao JC, Kvols LK. Octreotide LAR in carcinoid: how to dose? Pancreas 2008; 37: 337-338; author reply 338-339 [PMID: 18815562 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e31818adf4b]
- 11 Anthony L, Vinik AI. Evaluating the characteristics and the management of patients with neuroendocrine tumors receiving octreotide LAR during a 6-year period. *Pancreas* 2011; **40**: 987-994 [PMID: 21697761 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e31821f66b4]
- 12 Chadha MK, Lombardo J, Mashtare T, Wilding GE, Litwin A, Raczyk C, Gibbs JF, Kuvshinoff B, Javle MM, Iyer RV. High-dose octreotide acetate for management of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. *Anticancer Res* 2009; 29: 4127-4130 [PMID: 19846960]
- 13 Costa L, Quintela A, Rodrigues T, Pinto A, Távora I. Somatostatin Analogues to Control Disease Progression in Neuroendocrine Tumors (NET): A Review of Patients' Characteristics and Clinical Outcome. In: 3rd Annual ENETS Conference, March 22-24, 2006, Prague, Czech Republic. Available from: URL: http://www.karger.com/Article/ Pdf/93339
- 14 Ferolla P, Faggiano A, Grimaldi F, Ferone D, Scarpelli G, Ramundo V, Severino R, Bellucci MC, Camera LM, Lombardi G, Angeletti G, Colao A. Shortened interval of long-acting octreotide administration is effective in patients with well-differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas in progression on standard doses. J Endocrinol Invest 2012; 35: 326-331 [PMID: 21757992 DOI: 10.3275/7869]
- 15 Koumarianou A, Zilos A, Syrios J, Kanakis G, Antoniou S, Liaskos K, Dokou A, Pectasides D, Tsavaris N, Kaltsas G. Metronomic Combination Therapy Including Temozolamide, Bevacizumab and Somatostatin Analogue for the Treatment of Malignant Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. In: 7th Annual ENETS Conference, March 11-12, 2010, Berlin, Germany. Available from: URL: http://www.karger.com/Article/Abstract/313935
- 16 Markovich A, Emelianova G, Gorbounova V, Bruzgin V, Orel N. Long Acting Octreotide in Pts with Disseminated Neuroendocrine Tumors. In: ESMO 2012 Congress, September 28-October 2, 2012, Vienna, Austria. Available from: URL: http://annonc.oxfordjournals. org/content/supplemental
- 17 Valle JW, Clayton A, Danson S, Burgess A, Meehan M, Hawkins RE. The Use of Sandostation-LAR in the Treatment of Carcinoid Syndrome Experience from a Single Centre. In: 37th Annual Meeting of the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO), May 12-15, 2001, San Francisco, CA. Accessed December 2012. Available from: URL: http://www.asco.org/ASCOv2/Meetings/ Abstracts
- 18 Weber JM, Feldman M, Kvols L, Strosberg JR. Above-label doses of octreotide-LAR in patients with metastatic small intestinal carcinoid tumors. In: 48th American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) Annual Meeting 2012, June 1-5, 2012, Chicago, IL. Available from: URL: http://www.asco.org/ASCOv2/Meetings/ Abstracts
- 19 Wolin EM, Jarzab B, Eriksson B, Walter T, Toumpanakis C, Morse M, Tomassetti P, Weber M, Fogelman DR, Ramage J, Poon D, Huang JM, Hudson M, Zhi X, Pasieka JL, Mahamat A, Swahn F, Newell-Price J, Mansoor W, Oberg KE. A multicenter, randomized, blinded, phase III study of pasireotide LAR versus octreotide LAR in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine tumors (NET) with disease-related symptoms inadequately controlled by somatostatin analogs [abstract]. In: 2013 American Society of Clinical Oncology Annual Meeting; 2013 May 31-June 4; Chicago, IL. *J Clin Oncol* 2013; **31** suppl: abstract 4031

- 20 Woltering EA, Hilton RS, Zolfoghary CM, Thomson J, Zietz S, Go VL, Vinik AI, Vinik E, O'Dorisio TM, Mamikunian G. Validation of serum versus plasma measurements of chromogranin a levels in patients with carcinoid tumors: lack of correlation between absolute chromogranin a levels and symptom frequency. *Pancreas* 2006; **33**: 250-254 [PMID: 17003646 DOI: 10.1097/01. mpa.0000235302.73615.d4]
- 21 Ludlam WH, Anthony L. Safety review: dose optimization of somatostatin analogs in patients with acromegaly and neuroendocrine tumors. *Adv Ther* 2011; 28: 825-841 [PMID: 21964965 DOI: 10.1007/s12325-011-0062-9]
- 22 Strosberg JR, Bobiak S, Zornosa CC, Choti MA, Bergsland EK, Benson AB, Bloomston M, Kulke M, Shah MH, Ya JC. Dosing

patterns for octreotide LAR in neuroendocrine tumor (NET) patients: NCCN NET outcomes database [abstract]. *J Clin Oncol* 2013; **31** suppl: abstract 4142

- 23 Xu Y, Shih YT, Leary C, Shen C, Yao JC. Dosing patterns of octreotide LAR among elderly patients with neuroendocrine tumors: Analysis of the SEER-Medicare database. In: 48th American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) Annual Meeting 2012, June 1-5, 2012, Chicago, IL. Available from: URL: http://www.asco.org/ ASCOv2/Meetings/Abstracts
- 24 Strosberg J, Weber J, Feldman M, Goldman J, Almhanna K, Kvols L. Above-Label Doses of Octreotide-LAR in Patients With Metastatic Small Intestinal Carcinoid Tumors. *Gastrointest Cancer Res* 2013; 6: 81-85 [PMID: 23936548]

P- Reviewer: Gevers TJG, Gonzalez-Reimers E, Paydas S S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu XM







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1956 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1956-1971 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

Distinctive inflammatory bowel disease phenotype in primary sclerosing cholangitis

A Boudewijn de Vries, Marcel Janse, Hans Blokzijl, Rinse K Weersma

A Boudewijn de Vries, Marcel Janse, Hans Blokzijl, Rinse K Weersma, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University Medical Centre Groningen, University of Groningen, 9700 RB Groningen, The Netherlands

Author contributions: de Vries AB and Janse M performed the research, analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript; Blokzijl H and Weersma RK were responsible for the study concept and design and were involved in editing and revision of the manuscript; all authors gave their final approval of the published version.

Supported by Partners Seeking a Cure and a VIDI grant from the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research, No. 016.136.308 (to Weersma RK).

Conflict-of-interest: All authors have no conflict of interest related to the manuscript.

Data sharing: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Rinse K Weersma, MD, PhD, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University Medical Centre Groningen, University of Groningen, PO Box 30001, Hanzeplein 1, 9700 RB Groningen,

The Netherlands. r.k.weersma@umcg.nl Telephone: +31-50-3610426 Fax: +31-50-3619306 Received: June 11, 2014 Peer-review started: June 12, 2014 First decision: August 6, 2014 Revised: October 31, 2014 Accepted: January 8, 2015 Article in press: January 8, 2015 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To review the current literature for the specific

clinical characteristics of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) associated with primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC).

METHODS: A systematical review for clinical characteristics of IBD in PSC was performed by conducting a broad search for "primary sclerosing cholangitis" in Pubmed. "Clinical characteristics" were specified into five predefined subthemes: epidemiology of IBD in PSC, characteristics of IBD in PSC (i.e., location, disease behavior), risk of colorectal cancer development, IBD recurrence and de novo disease after liver transplantation for PSC, and safety and complications after proctocolectomy with ileal pouchanal anastomosis. Papers were selected for inclusion based on their relevance to the subthemes, and were reviewed by two independent reviewers. Only full papers relevant to PSC-IBD were included. Additionally the references of recent reviews for PSC (< 5 years old) were scrutinized for relevant articles.

RESULTS: Initial literature search for PSC yielded 4704 results. After careful review 65 papers, comprising a total of 11406 PSC-IBD patients, were selected and divided according to subtheme. Four manuscripts overlapped and were included in two subthemes. Prevalence of IBD in PSC shows a large variance, ranging from 46.5% to 98.7% with ulcerative colitis (UC) being the most common type (> 75%). The highest IBD rates in PSC are found in papers reviewing both endoscopic and histological data for IBD diagnosis. Although IBD in PSC is found to be a quiescent disease, pancolitis occurs often, with rates varying from 35% to 95%. Both backwash ileitis and rectal sparing are observed infrequently. The development of dysplasia or colorectal carcinoma is increased in PSC-IBD; the cumulative 10 years risk varying between 0% and 11%. Exacerbation of IBD is common after liver transplantation for PSC and *de novo* disease is seen in 1.3% to 31.3% of PSC-IBD patients. The risk for development of pouchitis in PSC-IBD is found to be



significant, affecting 13.8% to 90% of the patients after proctocolectomy with ileo anal-pouch anastomosis.

CONCLUSION: IBD in primary sclerosing cholangitis represents a distinct phenotype that differs from UC and Crohn's disease and therefore requires specialized management.

Key words: Primary sclerosing cholangitis; Inflammatory bowel disease; Incidence; Clinical characteristics; Risk of colorectal carcinoma; Liver transplantation; Pouchitis

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) in primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC) is observed to have different characteristics in comparison with conventional IBD without PSC. Based on these differences a distinct phenotype of IBD is suspected. Existing literature was reviewed for clinical characteristics of IBD in PSC yielding 65 studies consisting of 11406 PSC-IBD patients. A large variation for reported characteristics was found, which seem to be related to case ascertainment. This emphasizes the importance of full colonoscopy and biopsies to accurately diagnose IBD in PSC. Overall however, IBD in PSC shows large differences in comparison with conventional IBD, therefore representing a distinct phenotype.

de Vries AB, Janse M, Blokzijl H, Weersma RK. Distinctive inflammatory bowel disease phenotype in primary sclerosing cholangitis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1956-1971 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/ v21/i6/1956.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1956

INTRODUCTION

Primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC) is a chronic cholestatic liver disease characterized by inflammation and fibrosis of both the intrahepatic and extrahepatic bile ducts^[1]. There is no curative therapy available and in most cases, PSC leads to liver cirrhosis and liver failure ultimately requiring liver transplantation^[2,3]. In the United States and Western Europe, the reported incidence of PSC is 0.9 and 1.3 per 100.000/year, and the prevalence is 8.5 and 13.6 per 100000^[4,5]. There is a strong relationship between PSC and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). Approximately 50% to 80% of the patients with PSC are also diagnosed with IBD, finding ulcerative colitis (UC) in approximately 80% of these cases and Crohn's disease (CD) or unclassified IBD (IBD-U) in the remaining 20%^[6]. In patients with IBD, PSC is found much less common. Approximately 2.4% to 7.5% of UC patients and 3.4% of CD patients are diagnosed with PSC^[7]. With the established relationship between PSC and

IBD^[1,8], several studies aimed to characterize the clinical course and features of concomitant IBD and its differences from conventional UC and CD^[9-12]. These studies showed increasing evidence that PSC-IBD may represent a distinctive phenotype in addition to the established and defined phenotypes UC and CD^[11]. The IBD in PSC is frequently reported as a pancolitis, relatively often with rectal sparing. Although colitis in PSC tends to follow a quiescent course, patients with PSC-IBD are found to have a relatively high risk of developing colorectal carcinoma compared to IBD patients without PSC^[13]. However, while evidence for distinct PSC-IBD phenotype is increasing, its reported characteristics vary. In this systematic review of the literature we therefore aimed to describe the specific characteristics of the PSC-IBD phenotype based on the most recent literature. We reviewed prevalence of IBD in PSC, its phenotypic characteristics and the risk of development of colorectal malignancy. In addition we looked at IBD associated with PSC in relation to its clinical course or de novo presentation after orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT) and we reviewed the safety of proctocolectomy and incidence of pouchitis reported for PSC-IDB. Finally, we discussed the shared and non-shared genetic factors to further highlight the distinct nature of this phenotype. Insight into how PSC-IBD differs from general IBD, will help clinicians in the field of IBD in their approach for this specific group of patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We first defined relevant subthemes related to the subject of IBD in PSC based on clinical observations and recent literature.

Themes of interest

Epidemiology of IBD in PSC: Reported incidence, methods of case ascertainment and geographical variation.

Phenotypic features of IBD in PSC: Disease localization, activity, and its association with backwash ileitis and rectal sparing.

Colorectal cancer risk in PSC-IBD: The incidence and risk in comparison with conventional IBD.

PSC-IBD in relation to liver transplantation: Disease behavior after OLT and the occurrence of *de novo* IBD.

Ileal pouch anal anastomosis in PSC-IBD: Safety of the procedure and pouch complications.

A broad literature search using the keyword "primary sclerosing cholangitis" was performed in PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed),

de Vries AB et al. PSC-IBD: A systematic review of the clinical characteristics



Figure 1 Flow chart paper inclusion: An overview of study selection for papers included in the present review. PSC: Primary sclerosing cholangitis; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease; CRC: Colorectal cancer; OLT: Orthotopic liver transplantation.

an online database comprising more than 23 million citations for biomedical literature from MEDLINE, life sciences journals, and online books. Relevant papers addressing the defined subthemes were selected based on title and abstract. Papers not found relevant by both reviewers (BdV and MJ) were excluded. When in disagreement, papers were discussed and included or excluded based on mutual agreement. We only included full papers relevant to PSC-IBD. Additionally the references of recent review papers (< 5 years) concerning PSC-IBD were scrutinized for relevant articles. Full papers of the selected abstracts were reviewed by BdV. References in manuscripts specifically assessing the IBD phenotype in PSC were hand-searched to identify other relevant papers.

RESULTS

The literature search on "PSC" yielded 4704 results. After reviewing titles and manuscript type (excluding reviews), a total of 781 papers were selected for assessment of their abstracts. After careful review, 215 papers were selected and divided into a specific subtheme. The scrutinizing of references from reviews and PSC-IBD manuscripts yielded another 16 papers. After reading the full text, 65 papers, comprising a total of 11406 patients with PSC-IBD, were selected for the review (Figure 1). Criteria for study selection were study size, relevance to the subthemes, and specification of data (*i.e.*, number of patients with backwash ileitis, localization of IBD). Four papers^[11,14-16] overlapped, and were included in two subthemes.

Epidemiology: Reported incidence and prevalence of IBD in PSC

Literature search and evaluation of reviews yielded 18 papers with a total of 6589 included PSC-IBD patients. Data concerning epidemiology of PSC and associated IBD are summarized in Table 1.

PSC is a rare disease with a reported incidence between 0.07 and 1.31 per $100000^{[4,17]}$. The prevalence of associated IBD ranged from $46.5\%^{[17]}$ to $98.7\%^{[18]}$, with UC being the most common type (> 75%) in PSC-IBD (Table 1). CD in PSC-IBD is found in approximately 16% of PSC patients (range:

1958

Table 1 Epidemiology primary sclerosing cholangitis - inflammatory bowel disease n (%)										
Ref.	Country	Period	Incidence ¹	PSC	Male Gender	PSC-IBD	PSC-UC	PSC-CD	PSC-IBD-U	Diagnosis IBD
Rabinovitz et al ^[100] , 1990	United States	NA	NA	66	NA	47 (71.2)	39 (83.0)	8 (17.0)	0	IBD ^{2,3}
Farrant <i>et al</i> ^[19] , 1991	United Kingdom	1972-1989	NA	126	78 (61.9)	85 (67.5)	83 (97.6)	2 (2.4)	NA	IBD^2
Schrumpf et al ^[18] , 1994	Norway	1975-1989	NA	77	51 (66.2)	76 (98.7)	58 (76.3)	11 (14.5)	7 (9.2)	IBD ^{2,3}
Escorsell et al ^[17] , 1994	Spain	1984-1988	0.07	43	26 (60.5)	20 (46.5)	19 (95.0)	1 (5.0)	NA	IBD^4
Broomé <i>et al</i> ^[2] , 1996	Sweden	? - 1992	NA	305	195 (63.9)	249 (81.6)	220 (88.4)	20 (8.0)	9 (3.6)	IBD^2
Boberg <i>et al</i> ^[4] , 1998	Norway	1986-1995	1.31	17	12 (70.6)	12 (70.6)	9 (75.0)	2 (16.7)	1 (8.3)	IBD^4
Ponsioen et al ^[20] , 2002	The Netherlands	1979-1999	NA	174	105 (60.3)	114 (65.5)	83 (72.8)	28 (24.6)	3 (2.6)	IBD^4
Bambha <i>et al</i> ^[5] , 2003	United States	1976-2000	0.90	22	15 (68.3)	16 (72.7)	12 (75.0)	3 (18.8)	1 (5.0)	IBD^{2}
Kingham <i>et al</i> ^[101] , 2004	United Kingdom	1984-2003	0.91	53	33 (62.3)	33 (62.3)	30 (90.9)	3 (19.1)	0	IBD^4
Bergquist <i>et al</i> ^[102] , 2005	Sweden	1984-1999	NA	145	100 (69.0)	126 (86.9)	107 (84.9)	19 (15.1)	0	IBD ^{2,3}
Tischendorf et al ^[103] , 2007	' Germany	1978-2004	NA	273	195 (71.4)	172 (63.0)	141 (82.0)	29 (16.9)	2 (1.2)	IBD ^{2,3}
Bergquist <i>et al</i> ^[104] , 2007	Sweden	1984-2004	NA	246	165 (67.1)	195 (79.3)	166 (85.1)	21 (10.8)	8 (4.1)	IBD ^{2,3}
Kaplan <i>et al</i> ^[14] , 2007	Canada	2000-2005	0.92	49	27 (55.1)	36 (73.5)	17 (47.2)	19 (52.8)	0	IBD ^{2,3}
Card <i>et al</i> ^[3] , 2008	United Kingdom	1987-2002	0.41	223	141 (63.2)	108 (48.4)	67 (62.0)	13 (12.0)	28 (25.9)	IBD^4
Lindkvist <i>et al</i> ^[105] , 2010	Sweden	1992-2005	1.22	199	142 (71.4)	152 (76.4)	129 (84.9)	17 (11.2)	5 (3.3)	IBD^4
Bowlus <i>et al</i> ^[106] , 2010	United States	1995-2009	NA	6767	4475 (66.1)	4637 (68.5)	3067 (66.1)	1090 (23.5)	480 (10.4)	IBD^4
Toy <i>et al</i> ^[107] , 2011	United States	2000-2006	0.41	169	101 (59.8)	109 (64.5)	95 (87.2)	13 (11.9)	1 (0.9)	IBD^4
Boonstra <i>et al</i> ^[22] , 2013	The Netherlands	2000-2007	0.50	590	375 (63.6)	402 (68.1)	308 (76.6)	78 (19.4)	16 (4.0)	IBD ^{2,3}

¹Incidence for PSC per 100000 people; ²IBD Endoscopic findings; ³IBD Histological findings (biopsies); ⁴IBD diagnosis not specified/medical records only. PSC: Primary sclerosing cholangitis; UC: Ulcerative colitis; CD: Crohns disease; IBD-U: Inflammatory bowel disease unclassified; NA: Not available.



Figure 2 Case ascertainment: A comparison of included primary sclerosing cholangitis - inflammatory bowel disease epidemiology studies based on case ascertainment. PSC: Primary sclerosing cholangitis; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease.

 $2.4\%^{[19]}$ - $24.8\%^{[20]}$). IBD-U is the least common IBDtype in PSC, seldom representing more than 5%. The actual percentages are expected to be even lower, as studies on IBD-U with and without associated PSC show that part of the initial IBD-U diagnosis is later re-classified as either UC or CD^[15,21].

Varying IBD rates found in PSC: A recent large Dutch population-based study showed lower incidence rates for both PSC and PSC-IBD when compared with most other studies^[22]. This emphasizes the importance of large multi-center studies with proper

case ascertainment in studying rare diseases. In this review, all but two of the selected studies concerning epidemiology reviewed cholangiography or MRCP imaging to confirm the PSC diagnosis. Endoscopic imaging was reviewed in ten (55.5%) studies, of which seven also reviewed histological data to ascertain the method of IBD diagnosis in the included patients (Table 1). In the remaining eight studies, the presence of IBD in PSC was established or excluded based on registry data, physician surveys, or notes in medical file without reviewing original endoscopy or histology. Combined study population of these groups consisted of 1446 (endoscopy and histology), 453 (endoscopy only) and 7645 (no review of original endoscopy or histology) PSC patients respectively. The studies that used both endoscopic and histological confirmation for IBD diagnosis seem to show a higher median percentage of IBD in PSC when compared with studies that only used endoscopy or did not review diagnostic workup for IBD (Figure 2).

Geographic variation IBD - PSC: Geographic variation in the incidence of PSC and associated IBD has been reported, with highest rates found in Western Europe and North America (Table 1) and lower rates in Asia^[23-25]. Several studies from Asia reported an incidence of IBD in PSC ranging between 20% and $34\%^{[24,26-28]}$.

Key points: Approximately 70% of patients with PSC have associated IBD, predominantly UC. The highest rates of IBD in PSC were observed in papers using strict case ascertainment criteria. Large geographic differences in the incidence of PSC and associated

de Vries AB et al. PSC-IBD: A systematic review of the clinical characteristics

Table 2 Phenotypic	featu	res prima	ry scleros	ing chola	ngitis - in	flammato	ory bowel	disease	n (%)				
Ref.	IBD	PSC-IBD	Pro	ctitis	Left	sided	Pano	olitis	Back	cwash	Rectal	Sparing	Diagnosis
	(<i>n</i>)	(<i>n</i>)	IBD	PSC-IBD	IBD	PSC-IBD	IBD	PSC-IBD	IBD	PSC-IBD	IBD	PSC-IBD	IBD
Olsson <i>et al</i> ^[9] , 1991	1445	55	552 (38.2)	3 (5.5)	NA	NA	893 (61.8)	52 (94.5)	NA	NA	NA	NA	IBD ^{1,2}
Loftus <i>et al</i> ^[11] , 2005	142	71	NA	NA	NA	NA	76 (53.5)	60 (84.5)	10 (7.0)	20 (28.2)	8 (5.6)	34 (47.9)	IBD ^{1,2}
Kaplan <i>et al</i> ^[14] , 2007	0	36	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	17 (47.2)	NA	4 (11.1)	NA	2 (5.6)	IBD ^{1,2}
Sokol <i>et al</i> ^[15] , 2008	150	75	138 (92.0)	68 (90.7)	130 (86.7)	68 (90.7)	91 (60.7)	49 (65.3)	36 (24.0)	14 (18.7)	20 (13.3)	15 (20.0)	IBD ^{1,2}
Joo <i>et al</i> ^[31] , 2009	40	40	0	0	14 (35.0)	3 (7.5)	18 (45.0)	34 (85.0)	3 (7.5)	4 (10.0)	10 (25.0)	11 (27.5)	$IBD^{1,2}$
Sano et al ^[32] , 2010	60	20	18 (30.0)	1 (5.0)	19 (31.7)	1 (5.0)	21 (35.0)	7 (35.0)	NA	NA	NA	NA	IBD ^{1,2}
Ye <i>et al</i> ^[25] , 2011	63	21	NA	NA	NA	NA	35 (55.6)	20 (95.2)	2 (3.2)	9 (42.9)	1 (1.6)	8 (38.1)	IBD ^{1,2}
Jørgensen et al ^[33] , 2012	0	110	NA	NA	NA	3 (2.7)	NA	60 (54.5)	NA	17 (15.5)	NA	73 (66.4)	$IBD^{1,2}$
O'toole <i>et al</i> ^[35] , 2012	2649	103	209 (7.9)	1 (1.0)	649 (24.5)	23 (22.3)	663 (25.0)	56 (54.4)	NA	NA	NA	NA	$IBD^{1,2}$
Boonstra et al ^[12] , 2012	0	380	NA	9 (2.4)	NA	34 (8.9)	NA	219 (57.6)	NA	NA	NA	NA	IBD ^{1,2}
Boonstra <i>et al</i> ^[12] , 2012 ³	80	80	4 (5.0)	2 (2.5)	16 (20.0)	2 (2.5)	35 (43.8)	52 (65.0)	2 (2.5)	4 (5.0)	1 (1.3)	8 (10.0)	IBD ^{1,2}
Schaeffer et al ^[34] , 2013	0	97	NA	0	NA	17 (17.5)	NA	42 (43.3)	NA	NA	NA	NA	IBD ^{1,2}
Sinakos <i>et al</i> ^[30] , 2013	0	129	NA	NA	NA	16 (12.4)	NA	76 (58.9)	NA	15 (11.6)	NA	31 (24.0)	IBD ^{1,2}
Mean			28.8%	13.4%	39.6%	18.8%	47.5%	64.7%	12.3%	16.7%	9.9%	30.9%	

¹IBD Endoscopic findings; ²IBD Histological findings (biopsies); ³Subgroup analysis. PSC: Primary sclerosing cholangitis; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease; NA: Not available.

IBD between east and west are reported.

Distinctive features of IBD in PSC

Frequently documented characteristics of IBD in PSC include a mild or quiescent disease course and a high rate of pancolitis^[9,29,30]. The association with backwash ileitis and rectal sparing in PSC-IBD is also suggested, but less consistently. The present review included twelve studies (1217 patients with PSC-IBD) describing features of IBD in PSC, which are summarized in Table 2. In seven (58.3%) studies a comparison with conventional IBD was made.

Disease activity: Out of the twelve included studies, eight (66.6%) characterized the clinical course of IBD in PSC. All eight studies classified the IBD's overall activity as mild^[9,11,15,30-34]. Every included study reviewed endoscopic and histological data to confirm IBD diagnosis (Table 2). In addition, four studies also assessed histological severity of inflammation in different segments of the colon, none finding severe inflammation in PSC-IBD^[31-34]. The majority of these studies found that prevalence for inflammation was highest in the right-sided colon and lowest toward the distal colon. Both Joo *et al*^[31] and Sano *et al*^[32] reported this was significantly different (0.019 and 0.034 respectively) in matched IBD-controls, with histologically graded inflammation being highest in the proximal colon and lowest in the rectum for PSC-IBD. In accordance with these results, two studies^[12,33] reported a significant predominance of right-sided inflammation in PSC-IBD observed during endoscopy.

Disease localization in PSC-IBD: Localization and extent of IBD were determined by endoscopy in the majority of studies (Table 2). Involvement of the whole colon is more common in PSC-IBD $(35\%^{[32]}-95\%^{[25]}$, mean 64.7%) than in IBD controls $(25\%^{[35]}-62\%^{[9]}$, mean 47.5%). Several authors have found these differences to be significant^[11,12,25]. The reported rates of left sided colitis in PSC-IBD varies between studies $(2.5\%^{[12]}-90.7\%^{[15]}$, mean 18.8%), but are lower than in IBD without concomitant PSC $(20\%^{[12]}-86.7\%^{[15]}$, mean 39.6%). The overall reported occurrence of proctitis-only is low for PSC-IBD in most studies $(1\%^{[35]}-5.5\%^{[9]}$, Table 2) and less common in comparison with IBD controls $(5\%^{[12]}-38\%^{[9]})$.

Backwash ileitis: Backwash ileitis (BWI) is an inflammation of the ileum due to diminished ileocecal valve function in severe UC, allowing for retrograde flow of colonic content and inflammation of the ileum^[36]. The reported rates of BWI found for PSC-UC range between 5.0%-42.9% (mean 16.7%). In UC without PSC involvement of the ileum is infrequent, with reported rates ranging from 2.5%^[12] to 24%^[15] (mean 12.3%, Table 2).

Rectal sparing: Rectal sparing (RS) is described as rectal mucosa in UC or CD which is completely or partially spared from active or chronic inflammation in comparison to the more proximal colon^[37]. The frequency of RS in PSC-IBD is specified in eight studies (Table 2). The reported incidence shows a large variation ranging from $5.6\%^{[14]}$ and $66.4\%^{[33]}$ (mean 30.9%) in PSC-IBD, compared with $1.6\%^{[25]}$ and $25\%^{[31]}$ (mean 9.9%) in IBD without PSC.

PSC-CD: The localization of PSC-CD is specified in five studies^[11,12,14], two of which focused on the PSC-CD phenotype^[38,39]. Colonic involvement in PSC-CD is reported most often (36.8%^[14]-82.1%^[38] followed by involvement of both ileum and colon (21.8%^[12]-57.9%^[14]). Isolated ileal involvement is



rare in PSC-CD (2%^[39]-5%^[12]). The rate of ileitis is similar or lower in PSC-CD compared with CD controls^[12,38,39]. Rectal sparing is not significantly increased in PSC-CD^[12,38] and isolated upper gastrointestinal CD is reported in only two patients^[15,39]. The disease activity in PSC-CD is characterized as similar or less active then in CD controls, with lower rates of stricturing and penetrating disease seen during endoscopy^[12,38,39].

Key points: IBD associated with PSC is characterized by a quiescent course with a predominance for mild right-sided inflammation and a proximal- or pancolitis. Although less common than pancolitis, both backwash ileitis and rectal sparing are more often found in PSC-UC compared with UC. In addition, strictures and penetrating disease were found to be less common in PSC-CD than in CD without PSC.

Colorectal cancer risk in PSC-IBD

The increased risk of development of colorectal cancer (CRC) in IBD has been widely recognized for several decades^[40-44]. Both disease extent and duration of IBD have been identified as factors associated with this increased cancer risk^[41,43,44]. An additional risk for development of dysplasia and CRC in PSC-IBD was observed by several authors^[45-48]. A total of twenty-two studies assessing CRC risk in PSC-IBD were reviewed, comprising a total of 2936 patients with PSC-IBD (Table 3).

CRC incidence and location in PSC-IBD: The 10-year cumulative risk for the development of colonic dysplasia and CRC in PSC-IBD is reported in five studies $^{[45,49-52]}$ and varies between $0\%^{[49]}$ and 11%^[50]. In these studies the data on dysplasia or CRC development for IBD without PSC is limited, showing a 10 year cumulative risk of approximately 2%^[45,50,51]. The observed percentage of included PSC-IBD patients developing dysplasia and CRC shows large differences, ranging from $1.3\%^{[53]}$ to $66.7\%^{[54]}$. For the IBD controls, these percentages vary from $0.7\%^{[55]}$ to $30.1\%^{[46]}$. The mean time interval between diagnosis of IBD and development of CRC in PSC-IBD ranges between 12.2^[49] and 20^[56] years (Table 3). In comparison, in IBD without PSC the mean interval varies between 17.5^[50] and 44.4^[15] years. The median age at which dysplasia or CRC presented itself was specified in three studies on PSC-IBD and in one study on IBD, being lower in the former (Table 3). For IBD the development of CRC in the recto-sigmoid has been described more common in UC whereas CD shows a more equal distribution between right sided and left sided colonic malignancy^[57]. Dysplasia or CRC in PSC-IBD frequently develops in the proximal colon with reported rates varying between 28.6%^[11] and 100%^[55]. For IBD a proximal development of CRC

and dysplasia is found less common $(0\%^{[15]}-50\%^{[11]})$, Table 3).

CRC in PSC-CD and PSC without IBD: Limited data is available on the risk of CRC development in PSC-CD patients as it is less prevalent, and often only represents a few cases within PSC-IBD cohorts. Furthermore, disease characteristics of IBD in PSC can make it difficult to distinguish between UC and CD, resulting in a change of diagnosis during followup. A study by Lindström *et al*^[38], which compared 28 PSC-CD patients with 46 CD controls found an increased risk of CRC development in PSC-CD that was comparable to the risk in PSC-UC. In contrast, a study by Braden et al^[58] found a lower risk in PSC-CD compared with PSC-UC by looking at CRC development in 166 PSC-IBD (35 PSC-CD) and 216 IBD controls (102 CD). Risk of CRC development in PSC patients without IBD was found to be low^[22,29,48,52].

Key points: The development of dysplasia and CRC in PSC-IBD is increased and has predominance for right-sided localization in comparison to conventional IBD. Based on limited results, presentation of dysplasia or CRC in PSC-IBD at a younger age is suggested. It remains unclear whether the interval between IBD diagnosis and dysplasia or CRC development was shorter.

PSC-IBD in relation to liver transplantation

In PSC patients after orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT), IBD exacerbations and even development of *de novo* IBD have been reported by a number of studies, despite continuous use of immunosuppressive medication^[59-62]. To review IBD disease activity and *de novo* presentation in PSC-IBD after OLT, eight studies comprising 519 patients with PSC-IBD were included. Papers concerning both autoimmune hepatitis and PSC were scrutinized for PSC-IBD data only. An overview of the selected papers is presented in Table 4.

IBD Exacerbations and *de novo* **disease after OLT for PSC:** Exacerbation of IBD after OLT is estimated to occur in $8.6\%^{[63]}$ to $51.5\%^{[62]}$ of the patients, whereas *de novo* IBD is seen less frequently, varying from $1.3\%^{[64]}$ to $31.3\%^{[61]}$ in patients transplanted for PSC. Long term outcome for IBD in PSC is reported in seven studies, with colectomy rates after OLT varying from $4.3\%^{[59]}$ to $19.5\%^{[65]}$ (Table 4). Treatment-refractory IBD as an indication for colectomy ranged from $0\%^{[59]}$ to $85.7\%^{[60]}$.

Key points: Approximately 32.6% of patients with PSC-IBD experience an exacerbation of IBD after their liver transplantation. In addition, approximately 18.3% of patients develop *de novo* IBD after liver

Baishideng®

BD FSC-IBD IBO FSC-IBD ISO FSC-IBD ISO FSC-IBD ISO FSC-IBD ISO FSC-IBD ISO FSC-IBD ISO FSC-IBD FSC-IBD FSC-IBD	Ref.	IBD (n)	PSC-IBD (n)	Country	Dysp	lasia	Risk/ir	ncidence	Proxim	al colon ¹	Age dysplasi	ia diagnosis (yr)	IBD dur	ation (yr)	Diagnosis IBD
$ \begin{array}{rcccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$					IBD	PSC-IBD	IBD	PSC-IBD	BD	PSC-IBD	IBD	PSC-IBD	IBD	PSC-IBD	
$ \begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	Broomé et al ^[45] , 1995	80	40	Sweden	7 (8.8)	11 (27.5)	CR = 10 yr: 2%	CR = 10 yr: 9%	NA	NA	NA	NA	26.0^{2}	18.0^{2}	$IBD^{3,4}$
Brenthall et $a^{[m]}$, 1996 25 20 United States 4 (16) 9 (45) NA OR = 49 NA	Gurbuz et al ^[49] , 1995	0	35	United States	NA	13 (37.1)	NA	CR = 10 yr: 0%	NA	NA	NA	51.4^{2}	NA	12.2^{2}	$\mathrm{IBD}^{3,4}$
$ \begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	Brentnall <i>et al</i> ^[56] , 1996	25	20	United States	4 (16)	9 (45)	NA	OR = 4.9	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	20.0^{2}	$IBD^{3,4}$
Kontield et $a^{[6]}$, 1997 0 58 Sweden NA 5(8.6) NA	Loftus <i>et al</i> ^[29] , 1996	0	143	United States	NA	27 (18.9)	NA	CR = 20 yr: 17%	NA	$42.9\%^{5}$	NA	41.0^{6}	NA	NA	$IBD^{3,4}$
$ \begin{array}{rcrcl} Leidenius t t d t t t t t t $t$$	Kornfeld <i>et al</i> ^[48] , 1997	0	58	Sweden	NA	5(8.6)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	IBD^7
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Leidenius <i>et al</i> ^[50] , 1997	45	45	Finland	4(8.9)	13 (28.9)	CR = 10 yr: 3%	CR = 10 yr: 11%	NA	NA	NA	NA	17.5^{2}	11.0^{6}	$IBD^{3,4}$
Shetty et a ^[84] , 1999 196 132 United States 11 (5.6) 33 (25) RR = 1 RR = 3.15 20.0% 76.5% NA	Marchesa <i>et al^[54]</i> , 1997 ⁸	1185	27	United States	145 (12.2)	18 (66.7)	NA	RR = 10.4	$40.8\%^{5}$	$100.0\%^{5}$	NA	NA	NA	NA	IBD^4
Lindberg et af ^[40] , 2001 103 19 Sweden 31 (30.1) 12 (63.2) CR = 20 yr: 32% 32.3% 69.2% NA	Shetty et al ^[84] , 1999	196	132	United States	11 (5.6)	33 (25)	RR = 1	RR = 3.15	$20.0\%^{5}$	$76.5\%^{5}$	NA	NA	NA	NA	$IBD^{3,4}$
Bergquist et $a^{[108]}$, 2002 0 477 Sweden NA 35 (7.3) NA SIR = 10.3 NA	Lindberg et al ^[46] , 2001	103	19	Sweden	31 (30.1)	12 (63.2)	CR = 20 yr: 16%	CR = 20 yr: 32%	32.3%	69.2%	NA	NA	NA	NA	$IBD^{3,4}$
Loftus et al ^[13] , 2005 142 71 United States 15 (10.6) 18 (25.4) CP = 10 yr: 53% 50% ³ 28.6% ⁵ NA	Bergquist et al ^[108] , 2002	0	477	Sweden	NA	35 (7.3)	NA	SIR = 10.3	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	$\mathrm{IBD}^{3,4}$
Kaplan et al ^[10] , 2007045CanadaNA5 (111)NAIR = 3.1NANANANANANALepistic et al ^[10] , 200838952Finland63 (16.2)17 (32.7)CR = 20 yr: 0.39CR = 20 yr: 0.43NANANANANANANASokol et al ^[10] , 200815075France2 (1.3)10 (13.3)CR = 25 yr: 1.5%CR = 25 yr: 1.5%NANANANA44.4²1Terg et al ^[51] , 2008126The NetherlandsNA35 (27.8)NACR = 10 yr: 11%NANANA84.4²1Terg et al ^[51] , 20090126The NetherlandsNA35 (27.8)NACR = 10 yr: 11%NANANANANALindström et al ^[53] , 20120126The NetherlandsNA35 (27.8)NACR = 10 yr: 11%NANANANALindström et al ^[53] , 20120126The NetherlandsNA36.5)9 (32.1)NACR = 10 yr: 11%NANANANABraden et al ^[53] , 20120784United Kingdom14 (6.5)14 (8.4)CIR = 2.9%CIR = 7.5%30.0%37.4%NANAIndström et al ^[53] , 20120784United Kingdom14 (6.5)14 (8.4)CIR = 2.9%CIR = 7.5%30.0%37.4%NAImm et al ^[53] , 20120784NA16.79 (7)9 (7)87.88.0%1	Loftus <i>et al</i> ^[11] , 2005	142	71	United States	15 (10.6)	18 (25.4)	CP = 10 yr: 20%	CP = 10 yr: 53%	$50\%^{5}$	$28.6\%^{5}$	NA	NA	12.1^{6}	12.7^{6}	$IBD^{3,4}$
Lepistic $tat^{[16]}$, 2008 389 52 Finland 63 (16.2) 17 (32.7) CR = 20 yr: 0.39 NA NA<	Kaplan <i>et al^[109]</i> , 2007	0	45	Canada	NA	5 (11.1)	NA	IR = 3.1	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	$IBD^{3,4}$
Sokol et $al^{[13]}$, 2008 150 75 France 2 (1.3) 10 (13.3) CR = 25 yr: 15% CR = 25 yr: 25.6% 00.0% ⁵ NA NA NA 44.4 ² 1 Terg et $al^{[51]}$, 2008 64 39 Argentina 2 (3.1) 7 (17.9) CR = 10 yr: 21.6% CR = 10 yr: 21.6% NA	Lepistö <i>et al</i> ^[16] , 2008	389	52	Finland	63 (16.2)	17 (32.7)	CR = 20 yr: 0.39	CR = 20 yr: 0.43	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	IBD^4
Terg et al ^[51] , 2008 64 39 Argentina 2 (3.1) 7 (17.9) CR = 10 yrr. 20% NA	Sokol <i>et al</i> ^[15] , 2008	150	75	France	2 (1.3)	10(13.3)	CR = 25 yr: 1.5%	CR = 25 yr: 25.6%	$0.0\%^{5}$	$100.0\%^{5}$	NA	NA	44.4^{2}	17.4^{2}	$\mathrm{IBD}^{3,4}$
Claesen et $a^{[23]}$, 2009 0 126 The Netherlands NA 35 (27.8) NA CR = 10 yr. 9% NA 63.0% ⁵ NA NA NA 1A Lindström et $a^{[58]}$, 2011 46 28 Sweden 3 (6.5) 9 (32.1) NA CR = 57.8 0.0% 66.0% NA NA 10.0° 1 Braden et $a^{[58]}$, 2012 216 166 United Kingdom 14 (6.5) 14 (8.4) CIR = 7.5% 30.0% 65.0% NA NA 10.0° 1 Braden et $a^{[58]}$, 2012 0 784 United Kingdom 14 (6.5) 14 (8.4) CIR = 7.5% 30.0% 55.7% NA NA NA Imam et $a^{[58]}$, 2012 0 784 UA 10 (1.3) NA 1 = 0.4/yr NA 57.4° NA 77.4° NA 37.4° NA 37.4° NA 56 9.0° 50.0° 50.0° 50.0° 50.0° 50.0° 50.0° 50.0° 50.0° 50.0° 50.0° <td< td=""><td>Terg <i>et al</i>^[51], 2008</td><td>64</td><td>39</td><td>Argentina</td><td>2 (3.1)</td><td>7 (17.9)</td><td>CR = 10 yr: 2.0%</td><td>CR = 10 yr: 11%</td><td>NA</td><td>NA</td><td>NA</td><td>NA</td><td>NA</td><td>NA</td><td>$IBD^{3,4}$</td></td<>	Terg <i>et al</i> ^[51] , 2008	64	39	Argentina	2 (3.1)	7 (17.9)	CR = 10 yr: 2.0%	CR = 10 yr: 11%	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	$IBD^{3,4}$
Lindström et al ^[58] , 2011 46 28 Sweden 3 (6.5) 9 (32.1) NA OR = 6.78 0.0% 66.0% NA NA 100° 1 Braden et al ^[58] , 2012 216 166 United Kingdom 14 (6.5) 14 (8.4) CIR = 7.5% 30.0% 55.7% NA NA NA Imam et al ^[58] , 2012 0 784 United Kingdom 14 (6.5) 14 (8.4) CIR = 7.5% 30.0% 35.7% NA NA NA Imam et al ^[58] , 2012 0 784 United States NA 10 (1.3) NA 1 = 0.4/yr NA 87.4° NA Jess et al ^[58] , 2012 0 784 NA 10 (1.3) NA 1 = 0.4/yr NA 87.4° NA Jess et al ^[51] , 2012 0 152 Sweden NA 37.0° 100.0% 71.66 64.0° NA NA NA Boonstra et al ^[23] , 2013 722 402 The Netherlands 7 (1) 19 (4.7) SIR = 8.6 NA NA NA NA NA 10° 10° 10° <td< td=""><td>Claessen <i>et al^[52]</i>, 2009</td><td>0</td><td>126</td><td>The Netherlands</td><td>NA</td><td>35 (27.8)</td><td>NA</td><td>CR = 10 yr: 9%</td><td>NA</td><td>$63.0\%^{5}$</td><td>NA</td><td>NA</td><td>NA</td><td>12.6^6</td><td>$IBD^{3,4}$</td></td<>	Claessen <i>et al^[52]</i> , 2009	0	126	The Netherlands	NA	35 (27.8)	NA	CR = 10 yr: 9%	NA	$63.0\%^{5}$	NA	NA	NA	12.6^6	$IBD^{3,4}$
Braden et al ^[58] , 2012 216 166 United Kingdom 14 (6.5) 14 (8.4) CIR = 7.5% 30.0% 35.7% NA NA NA Imam et al ^[58] , 2012 0 784 United States NA 10 (1.3) NA 1 = 0.4/yr NA 60.0% NA 37.4 ² NA Jess et al ^[53] , 2012 0 784 United States NA 10 (1.3) NA 1 = 0.4/yr NA 87.4 ² NA Jess et al ^[53] , 2012 47374 NA Denmark 329 (0.7) 9 (7) ⁹ RR = 1.07 (UC) RR = 9.13 38.0% 100.0% 71.66 64.0 ⁶ NA 1 de Valle et al ^[23] , 2012 0 152 Sweden NA 3(2.0) NA SIR = 4.31 NA NA NA NA NA 10 4.0 ⁶ 10 10 4.7 SIR = 4.31 NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 10 10 ⁶ 10 ⁶ 10 ⁶ 1.0 ⁶ 10 ⁶ 1.0 ⁶ 10 ⁶ 1.0 ⁶	Lindström <i>et al</i> ^[38] , 2011	46	28	Sweden	3 (6.5)	9 (32.1)	NA	OR = 6.78	0.0%	66.0%	NA	NA	10.0^{6}	12.0^{6}	$IBD^{3,4}$
Imam et $d^{[50]}$, 2012 0 784 United States NA 10 (1.3) NA 1 = 0.4/ yr NA 60.0% NA 37.4 ² NA 1 Jess et $a^{[50]}$, 2012 47374 NA Donmark 329 (0.7) 9 (?) ⁹ RR = 1.07 (UC) RR = 9.13 38.0% 100.0% 71.66 64.0 ⁶ NA 1 de Valle et $a^{[79]}$, 2012 0 152 Sweden NA 3 (2.0) NA SIR = 4.31 NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 10 40 ⁶ 10 ⁶ 56 39.0 ⁶ 4.0 ⁶ 10 ⁶	Braden <i>et al</i> ^[58] , 2012	216	166	United Kingdom	14 (6.5)	14(8.4)	CIR = 2.9%	CIR = 7.5%	30.0%	35.7%	NA	NA	NA	NA	$IBD^{3,4}$
Jess et al ^[53] , 2012 47374 NA Denmark 329 (0.7) 9 (?) ⁹ RR = 1.07 (UC) RR = 9.13 38.0% 100.0% 71.66 64.0 ⁶ NA 1 de Valle et al ^[20] , 2012 0 152 Sweden NA 3 (2.0) NA SIR = 4.31 NA NA NA NA NA NA NA SO Boonstra et al ^[22] , 2013 722 402 The Netherlands 7 (1) 19 (4.7) SIR = 1.2 SIR = 8.6 NA NA SO 39.0^6 4.0 ⁶ 54.0 ⁶ 54.0 ⁶ 54.0 ⁶ 55.0 ⁶ 5	Imam <i>et al</i> ^[53] , 2012	0	784	United States	NA	10(1.3)	NA	I = 0.4/yr	NA	60.0%	NA	37.4^{2}	NA	NA	$IBD^{3,4}$
de Valle <i>et al</i> ^[20] , 2012 0 152 Sweden NA 3 (2.0) NA SIR = 4.31 NA NA NA NA NA NA NA Boonstra <i>et al</i> ^[22] , 2013 722 402 The Netherlands 7 (1) 19 (4.7) SIR = 1.2 SIR = 8.6 NA NA 596 39.0° 4.0°	Jess et $al^{[55]}$, 2012	47374	NA	Denmark	329 (0.7)	6 (j)	RR = 1.07 (UC)	RR = 9.13	38.0%	100.0%	71.66	64.0^{6}	NA	13.7^{6}	IBD^7
Boonstra <i>et al</i> ^[22] , 2013 722 402 The Netherlands 7 (1) 19 (4.7) SIR = 1.2 SIR = 8.6 NA NA 596 39.0 ⁶ 4.0 ⁶ 7	de Valle <i>et al^[79]</i> , 2012	0	152	Sweden	NA	3 (2.0)	NA	SIR = 4.31	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	$IBD^{3,4}$
	Boonstra <i>et al^[22]</i> , 2013	722	402	The Netherlands	7 (1)	19(4.7)	SIR = 1.2	SIR = 8.6	NA	NA	596	39.0^{6}	4.0^{6}	15.0^{6}	$IBD^{3,4}$

RR: Relative risk; CR: Cumulative risk; CP: Cumulative probability; CIR: Cumulative incidence rate; SIR: Standard incidence rate; OR: Odds ratio, IR: Incidence rate; I: Incidence; NA: Not available; PSC: Primary sclerosing From cecum to splenic flexura; "Endoscopic findings, "Histological findings (biopsies); "For CRC only; "Median; "Unknown or not reviewed; "Abstract; "Population based study, amount of PSC-IBD patients not specified. cholangitis; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease.

transplantation for PSC.

PSC-IBD in relation to proctocolectomy

³SC. A long term complication after IPAA is the development of an acute or chronic inflammation of the ileal pouch^[66]. Several reports have associated PSC-UC Restorative proctocolectomy with ileal pouch anal anastomosis (IPAA) is performed for colonic dysplasia or treatment-refractory disease in UC with and without with a more frequent development of pouchitis in comparison with UC without liver involvement^[67-70]. We reviewed nine studies that researched pouchitis in PSC-BD after proctocolectomy, comprising a total of 379 PSC-IBD patients with IPAA (Table 5). Pouchitis incidence: The reported overall incidence of pouchitis (ranging from an isolated episode to chronic pouchitis) for PSC-UC ranges from 13.8%^[71] to 90%^[68] compared with 11.9%^[71] to 52.8%^[72] in UC without PSC. In addition, the number of patients with chronic pouchitis in PSC-IBD varies from 13.8%^[71] to 70%^[68]. Chronic pouchitis is found in 9.6%^[72] to 15%^[69] of the IBD patients after proctocolectomy and IPAA. Apart from the incidence of pouchitis, pouch failure



Table 4 Primary scleros	sing c	holangitis	- inflamm	atory bowel	disease and li	iver transplan	tation <i>n</i> (%	6)	
Ref.	n		Pre-OL	г			Post-G	OLT	
		PSC only	PSC-IBD	Intact colon ¹	De novo IBD	Exacerbation	Colectomy	Refractory IBD	Median follow-up (yr)
Dvorchik et al ^[65] , 2002	192	0	192	169 (88.0)	NA	22 (13.0)	33 (19.5)	22 (66.7)	5.9 ³
Haagsma et al ^[59] , 2003	48	25 (52.1)	23 (47.9)	23 (100.0)	6 (24.0)	9 (39.1)	1 (4.3)	0	7.2
Verdonk et al ^[88] , 2006	60	15 (25.0)	45 (75.0)	45 (100.0)	3 (20.0)	NA	NA	NA	6.1
Cholongitas et al ^[62] , 2007 ²	56	18 (32.1)	38 (67.9)	33 (68.8)	3 (16.6)	17 (51.5)	7 (16.7)	3 (42.9)	2.8
Moncrief et al ^[61] , 2010	59	16 (27.1)	42 (71.2)	32 (76.2)	5 (31.3)	13 (40.6)	6 (18.8)	4 (66.7)	5.6
Joshi <i>et al</i> ^[60] , 2011	110	36 (32.7)	74 (67.3)	65 (87.8)	6 (16.7)	33 (50.8)	7 (10.8)	6 (85.7)	6.5 ³
Navaneethan et al ^[63] , 2012	77	0	77	58 (75.3)	NA	5 (8.6)	9 (15.5)	3 (33.3)	5.0
Mosli <i>et al</i> ^[64] , 2013	105	77 (73.3)	28 (26.7)	24 (85.7)	1 (1.3)	6 (25.0)	2 (8.3)	0	7.3 ³

¹Patients with PSC-IBD and without proctocolectomy prior to OLT; ²Study population corrected for survival > 1 year after OLT (*n* = 56, 18 PSC only, 33 PSC-IBD, 5 PSC-IBD with pre-OLT colectomy, extracted from paper); ³Mean instead of median. OLT: Orthotopic liver transplantation; PSC: Primary sclerosing cholangitis; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease; NA: Not available.

during follow up was assessed in five studies, which all showed similar results (Table 5). Pouch failure was seen in $1.5\%^{[71]}$ to $16.1\%^{[70]}$ of the PSC-IBD patients and in $3.3\%^{[16]}$ to $11.2\%^{[72]}$ of the IBD patients after IPAA. Safety of proctocolectomy with IPAA in PSC-IBD was discussed in three studies, with the majority describing it as a safe procedure^[73,74].

Key points: Pouchitis after IPAA is more frequently found in PSC-IBD patients compared with IBD patients. Rate of pouch failure seems similar for IBD patients with and without PSC. Although data are limited, proctocolectomy with IPAA is deemed safe in PSC-IBD patients by the majority of studies.

DISCUSSION

In this review we have characterized the clinical features of IBD associated with PSC. In addition, we aimed to provide data to assist clinicians in the IBD field, to aid management for this specific group. PSC-IBD can be said to represent a distinct phenotype that differs from both UC and CD.

The prevalence for IBD found in PSC is high, being present in approximately 70% of the cases, with a large variation found between studies. The most common type is UC which represents > 75% of IBD found in PSC, followed by the less common CD and infrequently seen IBD-U. In contrast, a relative high prevalence of CD was found in a study by Kaplan et al^[14] reporting 38.8% CD in the total of included patients with PSC. As possible explanations the authors suggested an increasing trend of awareness of PSC in IBD other than UC and the high prevalence of CD found (1.5 times that of UC) in the province of Alberta, Canada. Geographic differences could explain the large variation found in IBD prevalence in PSC. We found a high prevalence of IBD in PSC patients (> 60%) in Europe and North America, compared with lower rates of approximately 30% IBD in PSC patients in Asia. In most studies from Asia on PSC-IBD however, endoscopic and histological data were

not specified for the IBD diagnosis, making case ascertainment unreliable. A more recent Japanese study^[32] establishing IBD diagnosis in PSC based on both endoscopic and histological data, showed an IBD incidence of 68%, similar to the percentage found in studies from Europe and North America. Although these results were based on a small study population and need to be validated by future large multicenter studies, they do suggest that case ascertainment affects the prevalence of IBD found in PSC. To explore whether reported rates of IBD in PSC are influenced by method of case ascertainment, a comparison between included epidemiological studies was made. Strikingly, the highest rates of IBD in PSC were found in studies using the most stringent criteria, reviewing both endoscopic and histology data, to exclude or establish the presence of IBD in PSC. In addition, the lowest prevalence of IBD in PSC was reported in studies using registry data, physician surveys or notes in the medical file without reviewing original endoscopy or histology. These results are in accordance with the observation that IBD in PSC can be present without clinical signs and with normal endoscopic appearance^[33,75], resulting in underdiagnosis^[45]. This observation stresses the importance of histological diagnosis in PSC-IBD. In contrast, one of the largest PSC population-based studies to date, shows a relatively low rate of IBD in PSC patients (68.1%), while reviewing both histology and endoscopy^[22]. Our findings can therefore not fully explain the large variation found in IBD prevalence in PSC, but they do stress the importance of full endoscopy combined with random biopsies to determine the presence of IBD in PSC patients.

The present review found that IBD in PSC patients is characterized by a mild disease activity, seldom showing severe inflammation. The prevalence of colonic inflammation follows a proximal to distal distribution, with most activity found in the cecum and ascending colon. A pancolitis is seen in > 60%of IBD associated with PSC. Isolated distal colon involvement in PSC-IBD is seen in < 20%, with

Baishideng®
tef.	Country	IBD (n)	PSC-IBD (n)		PAA	Pouc	thitis	Chronic ₁	ouchitis	Pouch	failure	Diagnosis
				IBD	PSC-IBD	IBD	PSC-IBD	IBD	PSC-IBD	IBD	PSC-IBD	
cartheuser et al ^[74] , 1993	United States	NA	40	NA	40	NA	19 (47.5)	NA	NA	NA	NA	D^1
'enna <i>et al^[69],</i> 1996	United States	1043	54	1043	54	336 (32.2)	34 (63.0)	$?(15.0)^2$? (60.0) ²	NA	NA	D^3
itola <i>et al^[68]</i> , 1998	Finland	63	10	63	10	19 (30.2)	9 (90.0)	7 (11.1)	7 (70.0)	NA	NA	D^3
orgun <i>et al</i> ^[71] , 2005	United States	260	65	260	65	31 (11.9)	9 (13.8)	31 (11.9)	9 (13.8)	19 (7.3)	1 (1.5)	$D^{3,4,5}$
bdelrazeg <i>et al^[67]</i> , 2007	United Kingdom	182	16	182	16	53 (29.1)	11 (68.8)	18 (9.9)	9 (56.3)	NA	NA	$D^{3,4,5}$
epistö <i>et al</i> ^[16] , 2008	Finland	389	52	389	52	101 (26.0)	25 (48.1)	NA	NA	13 (3.3)	2 (3.8)	D1
$lambda a a^{[72]}$, 2010	Norway	178	11	178	11	94 (52.8)	8 (72.0)	17(9.6)	4 (36.4)	20 (11.2)	1 (9.1)	$\mathrm{D}^{3,4}$
fathis <i>et al</i> ^[73] , 2011	United States	NA	100	NA	100	NA	64 (64.0)	NA	16(16.0)	NA	3 (3.0)	$D^{3,4,5}$
lock et $al^{[70]}$, 2013	Norway	113	48	62	31	20 (32.3)	27 (87.1)	8 (12.9)	20 (64.5)	4 (6.5)	5 (16.1)	$D^{3,4,5}$

Not specified, ³Not otherwise specified in paper, ³Clinical diagnosis pouchitis, ⁴Endoscopic diagnosis pouchitis, ³Histological diagnosis pouchitis, IPAA: Ileal pouch anal anastomosis, PSC: Primary sclerosing cholangitis; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease; NA: Not available; D: Diagnosis.

of this distribution is unknown, a possible contributing factor was proposed by Schaeffer et alⁱ³⁴, who found differences in localization based on initial disease presentation in PSC-IBD. PSC diagnosis followed by IBD development was more often associated with right sided colonic inflammation, while pancolitis was found solated proctitis being uncommon. IBD in PSC can therefore be characterized by pancolitis and or right-sided colon involvement. While the exact mechanism more frequent in IBD developing before PSC diagnosis.

rom differences in definition, the localization and degree of colonic inflammation have also been associated with prevalence of BWI. Haskell *et al*¹³⁶, reporting a 17% prevalence of BWI in UC (n = 200), noted the importance of correlating the presence of histological cecal colonic inflammation with ileitis findings in UC to ound between studies, which can be explained by differences in BWI diagnosis based on definition. Some studies, for example, noted all histological changes of distinguish these from ileal involvement in CD. In addition, several studies reported on the relation between the degree of inflammatory activity of the whole colon or UC in PSC, representing the lower limits of total rates found. While the high rates of right-sided and complete colonic involvement make an association between SC-UC and BWI seem plausible, the overall percentage was found to be low. Available data on BWI are conflicting and studies differ in histological and diagnostic eature of PSC-UC as it is only found in approximately 16% of the patients. Comparison between rates observed in PSC-UC is complicated by a large variation the ileum as $BWI^{[11,25]}$, while others specified between active inflammation and chronic inflammation and only used the former for the observed BWI rates^[31]. Apart or cecum and the incidence of BWI^[31,36,76]. In three (37.5%) of these studies^[12,31,33], cecal inflammation was correlated with findings of BWI in the ileum. Jørgensen et a^{331} found a significantly (P = 0.017) higher degree of cecal inflammation in patients with BWI. Interestingly, these three studies all reported BWI rates < 12% which in turn could not be confirmed by other studies^[12,31]. While more frequently found in PSC-UC compared with IBD without PSC, BWI seems to be an uncommon Although a relation between backwash ileitis (BWI) and PSC-UC has been documented, it is not undisputed. Some studies for example, reported high rates^[11,25] criteria. Our results emphasize the need to correlate histological findings in the ileum with cecal findings in order to accurately asses the presence of BWI in PSC-UC. Vonetheless, based on recent literature, BWI is more frequently observed PSC-UC compared with UC without PSC.

Similar to BWI, rectal sparing (RS) was reported as a common feature of IBD in PSC^[11,30], together with extensive colitis and a predominance for right-sided nflammation^[33]. Based on the reviewed papers, RS seems to be present in approximately one third of the patients with PSC-IBD, but large inconsistencies Endoscopic imaging in quiescent disease, for example, could give the impression of macroscopic rectal sparing but does not exclude microscopic inflammation. between studies are found. In most studies, the presence of RS was based on either endoscopic or histological data, but this approach has several limitations. -urthermore, a history of recent local steroid therapy can influence the endoscopic appearance of rectal mucosa, but only two studies^[11,12] took this into account.



Finally, discrepancies in diagnosis of RS have been reported, showing rectal involvement in resected specimens despite frequently found rectal sparing in biopsies^[37]. A comparison between rates of RS in PSC-IBD patients and rates found in IBD controls also yielded conflicting results. While all studies comparing RS incidence between PSC-IBD and IBD controls found higher rates in the former group, differences were significant in only two studies^[11,25]. In contrast, Joo et al^[31] found almost equal rates of RS in both UC and UC with associated PSC in their review of histological specimens. Both these results and the previously stated limitations regarding the diagnosis of RS, make it difficult to see RS as a distinct feature of the PSC-IBD phenotype. Diagnosis of true RS requires both endoscopic and histological absence of inflammation with the exclusion of recent (< 6 mo) local steroid therapy.

Based on limited results from small subgroup populations, we found that the characteristics of CD in PSC are similar to those found in UC associated with PSC. Disease activity is mild with an observed lower frequency of stricturing and penetrating disease compared with conventional CD. An isolated colitis is most common, being present in 55% of the patients with PSC-CD. Notably, the severity of PSC-CD may also be less, compared with PSC associated with UC. This was suggested by two studies^[39,39,77] that found higher rates of small duct PSC in CD compared with PSC-UC, with one also finding a non-significant (P =0.06) trend for increased survival^[39].

PSC as a third and separate risk factor for CRC in concomitant IBD was first proposed by Broomé *et al*^[78] in 1992 and was subsequently confirmed by several authors^[22,38,46]. Other studies, however, have questioned this finding. They found that PSC did not constitute an additional risk of CRC^[11,29,79] and proposed that PSC-IBD characteristics, *i.e.*, pancolitis and mild sub-clinical disease, facilitate the two previously mentioned risk factors for CRC development in IBD and explain the higher rates of CRC in PSC-IBD^[11].

A comparison between the estimated risk of dysplasia and CRC development in PSC-IBD poses a challenge, as the use of statistical analyses and output parameters greatly varies between studies (Table 3). The most common reported format for colonic dysplasia and CRC development is the cumulative 10 year risk, which ranges from 0% to 11% for PSC-IBD. In all studies combined, development of dysplasia or CRC is observed in approximately 24% of patients with PSC and associated IBD. In contrast, in IBD controls the development of dysplasia or CRC is observed in 9% of the patients, with a reported estimated cumulative 10 years risk of 2%. In addition, a recent large French prospective study on neoplasia in IBD found an even lower rate of patients developing colonic neoplasia. In this study 0.3% of

19486 patients developed high grade dysplasia or $\mbox{CRC}^{[80]}.$

The included studies on both IBD and PSC-IBD differed greatly with respect to reported rates of dysplasia and CRC development. These differences are likely caused by the retrospective nature of the studies and by differences between centers regarding referral bias. Furthermore, discrepancies in the definition of dysplasia were found. Some studies reported all types of dysplasia, including low grade dysplasia, whereas other studies only registered colorectal cancer. While the progression of low grade dysplasia to advanced neoplasia in IBD has been shown to be low^[81,82], it is worth noting that an increased risk of progression in PSC-IBD has been observed^[83] making its inclusion justifiable. Based on these results and by taking study limitations into account, an increased risk of development of dysplasia and CRC in PSC-IBD can be confirmed. Future studies would benefit from a standard statistical output parameter to determine the risk of development of CRC in PSC-IBD.

Apart from an increased risk of CRC, a shorter interval between diagnosis of IBD and development of CRC in PSC-IBD was also reported^[47]. The combined mean interval between development of IBD and colonic dysplasia or CRC found in patients with PSC-IBD is 19 years compared with 26 years for IBD patients without PSC. The observed median interval however, shows the opposite, with equal or even lower median intervals in IBD compared with PSC-IBD (Table 3). Although data on the age of both PSC-IBD patients and IBD patients without PSC at diagnosis of CRC were scarce, a lower median age at diagnosis of CRC was suggested for the former group. Based on these results, it is unclear whether the age of presentation and the interval between IBD diagnosis and development of large bowel neoplasia are lower in PSC-IBD compared with IBD. As both a younger age at CRC diagnosis and the efficacy of early surveillance in PSC-IBD have been confirmed and disputed^[22,53], further studies are warranted.

As noted earlier, in PSC-IBD, a predisposition for development of right-sided colonic dysplasia and CRC has been observed^[46,54,55,84]. While the reported percentages vary, a high predominance (> 60%) for dysplasia and CRC development in the proximal colon is confirmed by the majority of studies. The exact cause of increased dysplasia and CRC development in PSC-IBD however, remains unknown. A proposed mechanism is a cytotoxic and carcinogenic effect of secondary bile acids accumulating in the proximal colon due to defective small intestine reabsorption in cholestatic liver disease^[85]. This assumption is strengthened by the association found between high concentrations of bile acids and the development of colon carcinoma in colitis^[86].

The clinical course of IBD in PSC after liver transplantation was both observed to stabilize $^{\left[87\right] }$ or

to worsen^[88]. In all studies combined, we found that approximately 32% of patients with PSC-IBD experience an exacerbation after OLT. For the development of de novo IBD after receiving a liver transplantation for PSC this was approximately 18%. These results are slightly lower than those presented in a recent review by Singh et al^[89], who found IBD to worsen in a third of PSC-IBD patients after OLT. The different rates found for exacerbation and de novo presentation of IBD after liver transplantation for PSC have been contributed to the type of immunosuppressive medication, with lower rates reported for cyclosporin A and azathioprine compared with tacrolimus^[59,88,90]. A proposed mechanism is the stronger suppression of interleukin-2 production by T-cells in tacrolimus compared to cyclosporin A, resulting in an inability to activate a regulatory response^[59]. A subsequent study by the same group was not able to find a drug specific effect for tacrolimus on regulatory T cells in noninflamed colon mucosa of OLT patients^[91]. Although further (pathophysiological) studies are required, the use of cyclosporin and azathioprine over tacrolimus seems to have a more favorable outcome on IBD after OLT for PSC, and should therefore be considered.

An early study by Cangemi et al^[92] showed no beneficial effect of proctocolectomy on the progression or development of complications in PSC patients. In addition, careful consideration was urged in choosing proctocolectomy with ileostomy as the treatment of choice for colonic disease in PSC-UC, as it resulted in frequent development of parastomal varices. The safety and complications of proctocolectomy with ileal pouch-anal anastomosis (IPAA) in PSC-IBD were infrequently reported. While two out of three studies described proctocolectomy to be safe in PSC-IBD finding no increased mortality, a significant number of patients experienced postoperative morbidity (29% and 39% respectively^[73,74]). Reported complications ranged from urinary tract and wound infections to bacterial cholangitis or hepatic decompensation. While peristomal varices are a common problem in ileostomy after proctocolectomy^[93], none of the included studies demonstrated development of perianastomotic varices in IPAA. A less favorable outcome in PSC-IBD after colectomy was suggested, however, by a more recent study in which one-third of the patients progressed to OLT or death within an mean of 2.6 years^[94]. In addition, this study stressed the importance of pre-operative assessment of liver function, finding a low preoperative platelet count and a low albumin level to be related to worse outcomes.

A frequently reported long term complication of IPAA in both IBD and PSC-IBD is pouchitis. Symptoms of pouchitis reported in the included studies are (bloody) diarrhea, abdominal cramping, urgency, malaise, and fever^[95,96]. The definitions and diagnostic criteria for pouchitis however differed substantially

between studies, making comparisons difficult. For instance, most authors found increased overall rates of pouchitis in PSC-UC, while Gorgun *et al*^[71], who only looked at chronic pouchitis, found lower rates (13.8%) that were comparable to UC controls. Based on the included studies, we found that approximately 60% of PSC-UC patients experienced at least one episode of pouchitis after proctocolectomy with IPAA. This is more frequent when compared with conventional IBD after IPAA where pouchitis is observed in approximately one-third of the patients. Chronic pouchitis after IPAA is observed less frequently, but it still occurred more often in PSC-IBD when compared to IBD without PSC. Although pouchitis was found more common in PSC-IBD after IPAA, the rate of pouch failure does not seem to be increased and is comparable to IBD without PSC.

From a molecular perspective there is also increasing evidence that PSC-IBD is distinct from UC and CD. Large scale genetic studies performed within the International IBD Genetics Consortium have identified 163 independent genetic loci to be associated with IBD. The majority of these loci are shared between both UC and CD^[97]. Similar studies have been performed within the International PSC study group, and they identified 16 independent loci outside the HLA region^[98]. Mathematical modeling of these genetic variants showed that PSC is genetically more similar to UC than to CD which is comparable to the clinical observation. A striking finding of these studies is that only 50% of the PSC risk loci are shared with IBD. Based on power calculations and the fact that more than 70 % of the PSC patients had concomitant IBD one would have expected that many more of the 163 IBD loci would be associated with PSC than is currently observed^[98,99]. These intriguing findings suggest that from a genetic perspective IBD-PSC is different from both CD and UC.

Based on our findings, several recommendations can be made concerning futures studies and the management of IBD associated with PSC.

Large differences between IBD rates in PSC were found. Therefore, to accurately assess or exclude the presence of IBD in PSC, a full colonoscopy with multiple biopsies from every segment and terminal ileum is required. Furthermore, the additional diagnostic criteria and a uniform definition are needed to assess the actual presence of backwash ileitis and rectal sparing in PSC-IBD patients.

Studies on the risk of the development of colonic neoplasia in PSC-IBD would benefit from a standard statistical outcome allowing comparison. The increase in the development of large bowel neoplasia in PSC-IBD patients observed in these studies requires frequent surveillance colonoscopy. The optimal timing of the start of surveillance warrants further study as recent data were found to be contradictory.

The use of cyclosporin A and azathioprine in-



stead of tacrolimus should be considered after liver transplantation for PSC, as the former were associated with a lower rate of IBD exacerbation and the development of *de novo* disease.

The safety and outcome of proctocolectomy in PSC-IBD depend upon the severity of liver disease, something which should always be assessed preoperatively. Ileal pouch-anal anastomosis reconstruction after colectomy in PSC-IBD was associated with a frequent development of pouchitis, and patients should be informed about this risk. Choosing for IPAA instead of ileostomy in PSC-IBD, however, seems favorable as the risk of development of local perianastomotic varices is low.

In conclusion, although IBD in PSC is common, there is a large variance in observed rates, which seems to be related to case ascertainment and, possibly, geographical variance. Based on the described clinical characteristics, the higher risk of development of colonic neoplasia, and the increasing molecular evidence, PSC-IBD should be regarded as a distinct phenotype of IBD, which differs from UC and CD and which therefore requires specialized management.

COMMENTS

Background

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) in Primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC) often presents as quiescent disease affecting the whole colon. It is reported to be associated with backwash ileitis and rectal sparing. In addition an increased risk for the development of colorectal carcinoma has been described in several studies.

Research frontiers

Based on differences in disease characteristics it has been suggested that IBD in PSC represents a distinct phenotype in addition to ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease. Studies looking at the characteristics for this phenotype however are limited.

Innovations and breakthroughs

While previous studies have summarized different aspects of IBD in PSC, studies providing a description of the PSC-IBD phenotype are limited. By reviewing existing literature on five relevant subthemes, an overview of the characteristics of the PSC-IBD phenotype is provided.

Applications

The results of this study suggest that IBD in PSC is different from conventional IBD and therefore represents a distinct phenotype which requires specialized management.

Terminology

PSC is a chronic cholestatic liver disease characterized by inflammation and fibrosis of both the intrahepatic and extrahepatic bile ducts. There is no curative therapy available and in most cases, PSC leads to liver cirrhosis and liver failure ultimately requiring liver transplantation. In the majority of cases PSC is accompanied by IBD most often UC.

Peer-review

The authors provided a systemic review on PSC-IBD characteristics compare to UC and IBD. The review is interesting and well done.

REFERENCES

- Chapman RW, Arborgh BA, Rhodes JM, Summerfield JA, Dick R, Scheuer PJ, Sherlock S. Primary sclerosing cholangitis: a review of its clinical features, cholangiography, and hepatic histology. *Gut* 1980; 21: 870-877 [PMID: 7439807]
- 2 Broomé U, Olsson R, Lööf L, Bodemar G, Hultcrantz R, Da-

nielsson A, Prytz H, Sandberg-Gertzén H, Wallerstedt S, Lindberg G. Natural history and prognostic factors in 305 Swedish patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Gut* 1996; **38**: 610-615 [PMID: 8707097]

- 3 Card TR, Solaymani-Dodaran M, West J. Incidence and mortality of primary sclerosing cholangitis in the UK: a population-based cohort study. *J Hepatol* 2008; 48: 939-944 [PMID: 18433916 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2008.02.017]
- 4 Boberg KM, Aadland E, Jahnsen J, Raknerud N, Stiris M, Bell H. Incidence and prevalence of primary biliary cirrhosis, primary sclerosing cholangitis, and autoimmune hepatitis in a Norwegian population. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1998; **33**: 99-103 [PMID: 9489916]
- 5 Bambha K, Kim WR, Talwalkar J, Torgerson H, Benson JT, Therneau TM, Loftus EV, Yawn BP, Dickson ER, Melton LJ. Incidence, clinical spectrum, and outcomes of primary sclerosing cholangitis in a United States community. *Gastroenterology* 2003; 125: 1364-1369 [PMID: 14598252]
- 6 Fausa O, Schrumpf E, Elgjo K. Relationship of inflammatory bowel disease and primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Semin Liver Dis* 1991; 11: 31-39 [PMID: 2047887 DOI: 10.1055/s-2008-1040420]
- 7 Chapman R, Fevery J, Kalloo A, Nagorney DM, Boberg KM, Shneider B, Gores GJ; American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Diagnosis and management of primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Hepatology* 2010; **51**: 660-678 [PMID: 20101749 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23294]
- 8 Wiesner RH, LaRusso NF. Clinicopathologic features of the syndrome of primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Gastroenterology* 1980; **79**: 200-206 [PMID: 7399227]
- 9 Olsson R, Danielsson A, Järnerot G, Lindström E, Lööf L, Rolny P, Rydén BO, Tysk C, Wallerstedt S. Prevalence of primary sclerosing cholangitis in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1991; 100: 1319-1323 [PMID: 2013375]
- 10 Lundqvist K, Broomé U. Differences in colonic disease activity in patients with ulcerative colitis with and without primary sclerosing cholangitis: a case control study. *Dis Colon Rectum* 1997; 40: 451-456 [PMID: 9106695]
- 11 Loftus EV, Harewood GC, Loftus CG, Tremaine WJ, Harmsen WS, Zinsmeister AR, Jewell DA, Sandborn WJ. PSC-IBD: a unique form of inflammatory bowel disease associated with primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Gut* 2005; 54: 91-96 [PMID: 15591511 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2004.046615]
- 12 Boonstra K, van Erpecum KJ, van Nieuwkerk KM, Drenth JP, Poen AC, Witteman BJ, Tuynman HA, Beuers U, Ponsioen CY. Primary sclerosing cholangitis is associated with a distinct phenotype of inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2012; 18: 2270-2276 [PMID: 22407885 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.22938]
- 13 Eaton JE, Talwalkar JA, Lazaridis KN, Gores GJ, Lindor KD. Pathogenesis of primary sclerosing cholangitis and advances in diagnosis and management. *Gastroenterology* 2013; 145: 521-536 [PMID: 23827861 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.06.052]
- 14 Kaplan GG, Laupland KB, Butzner D, Urbanski SJ, Lee SS. The burden of large and small duct primary sclerosing cholangitis in adults and children: a population-based analysis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2007; 102: 1042-1049 [PMID: 17313496 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1572-0241.2007.01103.x]
- 15 Sokol H, Cosnes J, Chazouilleres O, Beaugerie L, Tiret E, Poupon R, Seksik P. Disease activity and cancer risk in inflammatory bowel disease associated with primary sclerosing cholangitis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2008; 14: 3497-3503 [PMID: 18567077]
- 16 Lepistö A, Kärkkäinen P, Järvinen HJ. Prevalence of primary sclerosing cholangitis in ulcerative colitis patients undergoing proctocolectomy and ileal pouch-anal anastomosis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2008; 14: 775-779 [PMID: 18253951 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.20384]
- 17 Escorsell A, Parés A, Rodés J, Solís-Herruzo JA, Miras M, de la Morena E. Epidemiology of primary sclerosing cholangitis in Spain. Spanish Association for the Study of the Liver. *J Hepatol* 1994; 21: 787-791 [PMID: 7890895]
- 18 Schrumpf E, Abdelnoor M, Fausa O, Elgjo K, Jenssen E, Kolmannskog F. Risk factors in primary sclerosing cholangitis. J



Hepatol 1994; 21: 1061-1066 [PMID: 7699228]

- 19 Farrant JM, Hayllar KM, Wilkinson ML, Karani J, Portmann BC, Westaby D, Williams R. Natural history and prognostic variables in primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Gastroenterology* 1991; 100: 1710-1717 [PMID: 1850376]
- 20 Ponsioen CY, Vrouenraets SM, Prawirodirdjo W, Rajaram R, Rauws EA, Mulder CJ, Reitsma JB, Heisterkamp SH, Tytgat GN. Natural history of primary sclerosing cholangitis and prognostic value of cholangiography in a Dutch population. *Gut* 2002; **51**: 562-566 [PMID: 12235081]
- 21 Wells AD, McMillan I, Price AB, Ritchie JK, Nicholls RJ. Natural history of indeterminate colitis. *Br J Surg* 1991; 78: 179-181 [PMID: 2015465]
- 22 Boonstra K, Weersma RK, van Erpecum KJ, Rauws EA, Spanier BW, Poen AC, van Nieuwkerk KM, Drenth JP, Witteman BJ, Tuynman HA, Naber AH, Kingma PJ, van Buuren HR, van Hoek B, Vleggaar FP, van Geloven N, Beuers U, Ponsioen CY. Populationbased epidemiology, malignancy risk, and outcome of primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Hepatology* 2013; **58**: 2045-2055 [PMID: 23775876 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26565]
- 23 Shorbagi A, Bayraktar Y. Primary sclerosing cholangitis--what is the difference between east and west? *World J Gastroenterol* 2008; 14: 3974-3981 [PMID: 18609680]
- 24 Takikawa H, Manabe T. Primary sclerosing cholangitis in Japananalysis of 192 cases. J Gastroenterol 1997; 32: 134-137 [PMID: 9058310]
- 25 Ye BD, Yang SK, Boo SJ, Cho YK, Yang DH, Yoon SM, Kim KJ, Byeon JS, Myung SJ, Yu CS, Yun SC, Kim JH. Clinical characteristics of ulcerative colitis associated with primary sclerosing cholangitis in Korea. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2011; 17: 1901-1906 [PMID: 21830268 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21569]
- 26 Ang TL, Fock KM, Ng TM, Teo EK, Chua TS, Tan JY. Clinical profile of primary sclerosing cholangitis in Singapore. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002; 17: 908-913 [PMID: 12164967]
- 27 Tanaka A, Takamori Y, Toda G, Ohnishi S, Takikawa H. Outcome and prognostic factors of 391 Japanese patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Liver Int* 2008; 28: 983-989 [PMID: 18397233 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2008.01726.x]
- 28 Tanaka A, Tazuma S, Okazaki K, Tsubouchi H, Inui K, Takikawa H. Nationwide survey for primary sclerosing cholangitis and IgG4-related sclerosing cholangitis in Japan. *J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci* 2014; 21: 43-50 [PMID: 24353071 DOI: 10.1002/jhbp.50]
- 29 Loftus EV, Sandborn WJ, Tremaine WJ, Mahoney DW, Zinsmeister AR, Offord KP, Melton LJ. Risk of colorectal neoplasia in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Gastroenterology* 1996; 110: 432-440 [PMID: 8566590]
- 30 Sinakos E, Samuel S, Enders F, Loftus EV, Sandborn WJ, Lindor KD. Inflammatory bowel disease in primary sclerosing cholangitis: a robust yet changing relationship. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2013; **19**: 1004-1009 [PMID: 23502353 DOI: 10.1097/ MIB.0b013e3182802893]
- 31 Joo M, Abreu-e-Lima P, Farraye F, Smith T, Swaroop P, Gardner L, Lauwers GY, Odze RD. Pathologic features of ulcerative colitis in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis: a case-control study. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2009; **33**: 854-862 [PMID: 19295408 DOI: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e318196d018]
- 32 Sano H, Nakazawa T, Ando T, Hayashi K, Naitoh I, Okumura F, Miyabe K, Yoshida M, Takahashi S, Ohara H, Joh T. Clinical characteristics of inflammatory bowel disease associated with primary sclerosing cholangitis. *J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci* 2011; 18: 154-161 [PMID: 20740366 DOI: 10.1007/s00534-010-0319-8]
- 33 Jørgensen KK, Grzyb K, Lundin KE, Clausen OP, Aamodt G, Schrumpf E, Vatn MH, Boberg KM. Inflammatory bowel disease in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis: clinical characterization in liver transplanted and nontransplanted patients. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2012; 18: 536-545 [PMID: 21456044 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21699]
- 34 **Schaeffer DF**, Win LL, Hafezi-Bakhtiari S, Cino M, Hirschfield GM, El-Zimaity H. The phenotypic expression of inflammatory

bowel disease in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis differs in the distribution of colitis. *Dig Dis Sci* 2013; **58**: 2608-2614 [PMID: 23670229 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-013-2697-7]

- 35 O'Toole A, Alakkari A, Keegan D, Doherty G, Mulcahy H, O'Donoghue D. Primary sclerosing cholangitis and disease distribution in inflammatory bowel disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; **10**: 439-441 [PMID: 22094024 DOI: 10.1016/ j.cgh.2011.11.010]
- 36 Haskell H, Andrews CW, Reddy SI, Dendrinos K, Farraye FA, Stucchi AF, Becker JM, Odze RD. Pathologic features and clinical significance of "backwash" ileitis in ulcerative colitis. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2005; 29: 1472-1481 [PMID: 16224214]
- 37 Joo M, Odze RD. Rectal sparing and skip lesions in ulcerative colitis: a comparative study of endoscopic and histologic findings in patients who underwent proctocolectomy. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2010; 34: 689-696 [PMID: 20410806 DOI: 10.1097/ PAS.0b013e3181db84cd]
- 38 Lindström L, Lapidus A, Ost A, Bergquist A. Increased risk of colorectal cancer and dysplasia in patients with Crohn's colitis and primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2011; 54: 1392-1397 [PMID: 21979184 DOI: 10.1097/DCR.0b013e31822bbc c1]
- 39 Halliday JS, Djordjevic J, Lust M, Culver EL, Braden B, Travis SP, Chapman RW. A unique clinical phenotype of primary sclerosing cholangitis associated with Crohn's disease. J Crohns Colitis 2012; 6: 174-181 [PMID: 22325171 DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns. 2011.07.015]
- 40 Macdougall IP. The Cancer Risk in Ulcerative Colitis. *Lancet* 1964; 2: 655-658 [PMID: 14188905]
- 41 Gyde SN, Prior P, Macartney JC, Thompson H, Waterhouse JA, Allan RN. Malignancy in Crohn's disease. *Gut* 1980; 21: 1024-1029 [PMID: 7461462]
- 42 **Ekbom A**, Helmick C, Zack M, Adami HO. Increased risk of large-bowel cancer in Crohn's disease with colonic involvement. *Lancet* 1990; **336**: 357-359 [PMID: 1975343]
- Ekbom A, Helmick C, Zack M, Adami HO. Ulcerative colitis and colorectal cancer. A population-based study. *N Engl J Med* 1990; 323: 1228-1233 [PMID: 2215606 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM1990110132 31802]
- 44 Dawson IM, Pryse-Davies J. The development of carcinoma of the large intestine in ulcerative colitis. *Br J Surg* 1959; 47: 113-128 [PMID: 13814581]
- 45 Broomé U, Löfberg R, Veress B, Eriksson LS. Primary sclerosing cholangitis and ulcerative colitis: evidence for increased neoplastic potential. *Hepatology* 1995; 22: 1404-1408 [PMID: 7590655]
- 46 Lindberg BU, Broomé U, Persson B. Proximal colorectal dysplasia or cancer in ulcerative colitis. The impact of primary sclerosing cholangitis and sulfasalazine: results from a 20-year surveillance study. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2001; 44: 77-85 [PMID: 11805567]
- 47 Thackeray EW, Charatcharoenwitthaya P, Elfaki D, Sinakos E, Lindor KD. Colon neoplasms develop early in the course of inflammatory bowel disease and primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 9: 52-56 [PMID: 20920596 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2010.09.020]
- 48 Kornfeld D, Ekbom A, Ihre T. Is there an excess risk for colorectal cancer in patients with ulcerative colitis and concomitant primary sclerosing cholangitis? A population based study. *Gut* 1997; 41: 522-525 [PMID: 9391253]
- 49 Gurbuz AK, Giardiello FM, Bayless TM. Colorectal neoplasia in patients with ulcerative colitis and primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Dis Colon Rectum* 1995; 38: 37-41 [PMID: 7813342]
- 50 Leidenius MH, Färkkilä MA, Kärkkäinen P, Taskinen EI, Kellokumpu IH, Höckerstedt KA. Colorectal dysplasia and carcinoma in patients with ulcerative colitis and primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1997; **32**: 706-711 [PMID: 9246712]
- 51 Terg R, Sambuelli A, Coronel E, Mazzuco J, Cartier M, Negreira S, Muñoz A, Gil A, Miguez C, Huernos S, Romero G, Goncalvez S, Levi D, Abecasis R. Prevalence of primary sclerosing cholangitis

in patients with ulcerative colitis and the risk of developing malignancies. A large prospective study. *Acta Gastroenterol Latinoam* 2008; **38**: 26-33 [PMID: 18533354]

- 52 Claessen MM, Vleggaar FP, Tytgat KM, Siersema PD, van Buuren HR. High lifetime risk of cancer in primary sclerosing cholangitis. *J Hepatol* 2009; 50: 158-164 [PMID: 19012991 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jhep.2008.08.013]
- 53 Imam MH, Thackeray EW, Lindor KD. Colonic neoplasia in young patients with inflammatory bowel disease and primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Colorectal Dis* 2013; 15: 198-203 [PMID: 22712545 DOI: 10.1111/j.1463-1318.2012.03133.x]
- 54 Marchesa P, Lashner BA, Lavery IC, Milsom J, Hull TL, Strong SA, Church JM, Navarro G, Fazio VW. The risk of cancer and dysplasia among ulcerative colitis patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1997; **92**: 1285-1288 [PMID: 9260790]
- 55 Jess T, Simonsen J, Jørgensen KT, Pedersen BV, Nielsen NM, Frisch M. Decreasing risk of colorectal cancer in patients with inflammatory bowel disease over 30 years. *Gastroenterology* 2012; 143: 375-81.e1; quiz e13-4 [PMID: 22522090 DOI: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2012.04.016]
- 56 Brentnall TA, Haggitt RC, Rabinovitch PS, Kimmey MB, Bronner MP, Levine DS, Kowdley KV, Stevens AC, Crispin DA, Emond M, Rubin CE. Risk and natural history of colonic neoplasia in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis and ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1996; 110: 331-338 [PMID: 8566577]
- 57 Choi PM, Zelig MP. Similarity of colorectal cancer in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis: implications for carcinogenesis and prevention. *Gut* 1994; 35: 950-954 [PMID: 8063223]
- 58 Braden B, Halliday J, Aryasingha S, Sharifi Y, Checchin D, Warren BF, Kitiyakara T, Travis SP, Chapman RW. Risk for colorectal neoplasia in patients with colonic Crohn's disease and concomitant primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 10: 303-308 [PMID: 22037429 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2011.10.020]
- 59 Haagsma EB, Van Den Berg AP, Kleibeuker JH, Slooff MJ, Dijkstra G. Inflammatory bowel disease after liver transplantation: the effect of different immunosuppressive regimens. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2003; 18: 33-44 [PMID: 12848624]
- 60 Joshi D, Bjarnason I, Belgaumkar A, O'Grady J, Suddle A, Heneghan MA, Aluvihare V, Rela M, Heaton N, Agarwal K. The impact of inflammatory bowel disease post-liver transplantation for primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Liver Int* 2013; 33: 53-61 [PMID: 22103794 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2011.02677.x]
- 61 Moncrief KJ, Savu A, Ma MM, Bain VG, Wong WW, Tandon P. The natural history of inflammatory bowel disease and primary sclerosing cholangitis after liver transplantation--a singlecentre experience. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2010; 24: 40-46 [PMID: 20186355]
- 62 Cholongitas E, Papatheodoridis GV, Zappoli P, Giannakopoulos A, Patch D, Marelli L, Shusang V, Kalambokis G, Shirling G, Rolando N, Burroughs AK. Combined HLA-DR and -DQ disparity is associated with a stable course of ulcerative colitis after liver transplantation for primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Liver Transpl* 2007; 13: 552-557 [PMID: 17394153 DOI: 10.1002/lt.21077]
- 63 Navaneethan U, Choudhary M, Venkatesh PG, Lashner BA, Remzi FH, Shen B, Kiran RP. The effects of liver transplantation on the clinical course of colitis in ulcerative colitis patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2012; **35**: 1054-1063 [PMID: 22428731 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2012.05067.x]
- 64 Mosli M, Croome K, Qumosani K, Al-Judaibi B, Beaton M, Marotta P, Chandok N. The effect of liver transplantation for primary sclerosing cholangitis on disease activity in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* (N Y) 2013; 9: 434-441 [PMID: 23935552]
- 65 Dvorchik I, Subotin M, Demetris AJ, Fung JJ, Starzl TE, Wieand S, Abu-Elmagd KM. Effect of liver transplantation on inflammatory bowel disease in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Hepatology* 2002; 35: 380-384 [PMID: 11826412 DOI: 10.1053/ jhep.2002.30695]

- 66 Moskowitz RL, Shepherd NA, Nicholls RJ. An assessment of inflammation in the reservoir after restorative proctocolectomy with ileoanal ileal reservoir. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 1986; 1: 167-174 [PMID: 3039030]
- 67 Abdelrazeq AS, Kandiyil N, Botterill ID, Lund JN, Reynolds JR, Holdsworth PJ, Leveson SH. Predictors for acute and chronic pouchitis following restorative proctocolectomy for ulcerative colitis. *Colorectal Dis* 2008; 10: 805-813 [PMID: 18005192]
- 68 Aitola P, Matikainen M, Mattila J, Tomminen T, Hiltunen KM. Chronic inflammatory changes in the pouch mucosa are associated with cholangitis found on peroperative liver biopsy specimens at restorative proctocolectomy for ulcerative colitis. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1998; 33: 289-293 [PMID: 9548623]
- 69 Penna C, Dozois R, Tremaine W, Sandborn W, LaRusso N, Schleck C, Ilstrup D. Pouchitis after ileal pouch-anal anastomosis for ulcerative colitis occurs with increased frequency in patients with associated primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Gut* 1996; 38: 234-239 [PMID: 8801203]
- Block M, Jørgensen KK, Oresland T, Lindholm E, Grzyb K, Cvancarova M, Vatn MH, Boberg KM, Börjesson L. Colectomy for patients with ulcerative colitis and primary sclerosing cholangitis
 what next? *J Crohns Colitis* 2014; 8: 421-430 [PMID: 24239402 DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns.2013.10.008]
- 71 Gorgun E, Remzi FH, Manilich E, Preen M, Shen B, Fazio VW. Surgical outcome in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis undergoing ileal pouch-anal anastomosis: a case-control study. *Surgery* 2005; 138: 631-637; discussion 637-639 [PMID: 16269291]
- 72 Wasmuth HH, Tranø G, Endreseth BH, Wibe A, Rydning A, Myrvold HE. Primary sclerosing cholangitis and extraintestinal manifestations in patients with ulcerative colitis and ileal pouchanal anastomosis. *J Gastrointest Surg* 2010; 14: 1099-1104 [PMID: 20480253 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-010-1223-x]
- 73 Mathis KL, Benavente-Chenhalls LA, Dozois EJ, Wolff BG, Larson DW. Short- and long-term surgical outcomes in patients undergoing proctocolectomy with ileal pouch-anal anastomosis in the setting of primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2011; 54: 787-792 [PMID: 21654244 DOI: 10.1007/ DCR.0b013e318217eea7]
- 74 Kartheuser AH, Dozois RR, Wiesner RH, LaRusso NF, Ilstrup DM, Schleck CD. Complications and risk factors after ileal pouchanal anastomosis for ulcerative colitis associated with primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Ann Surg* 1993; 217: 314-320 [PMID: 8466305]
- 75 Broomé U, Löfberg R, Lundqvist K, Veress B. Subclinical time span of inflammatory bowel disease in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Dis Colon Rectum* 1995; **38**: 1301-1305 [PMID: 7497843]
- 76 Goldstein N, Dulai M. Contemporary morphologic definition of backwash ileitis in ulcerative colitis and features that distinguish it from Crohn disease. *Am J Clin Pathol* 2006; **126**: 365-376 [PMID: 16880149 DOI: 10.1309/UAXMW3428PGN9HJ3]
- 77 Rasmussen HH, Fallingborg JF, Mortensen PB, Vyberg M, Tage-Jensen U, Rasmussen SN. Hepatobiliary dysfunction and primary sclerosing cholangitis in patients with Crohn's disease. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1997; 32: 604-610 [PMID: 9200295]
- 78 Broomé U, Lindberg G, Löfberg R. Primary sclerosing cholangitis in ulcerative colitis--a risk factor for the development of dysplasia and DNA aneuploidy? *Gastroenterology* 1992; 102: 1877-1880 [PMID: 1587406]
- 79 de Valle MB, Björnsson E, Lindkvist B. Mortality and cancer risk related to primary sclerosing cholangitis in a Swedish populationbased cohort. *Liver Int* 2012; 32: 441-448 [PMID: 22098097 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2011.02614.x]
- 80 Beaugerie L, Svrcek M, Seksik P, Bouvier AM, Simon T, Allez M, Brixi H, Gornet JM, Altwegg R, Beau P, Duclos B, Bourreille A, Faivre J, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Fléjou JF, Carrat F. Risk of colorectal high-grade dysplasia and cancer in a prospective observational cohort of patients with inflammatory bowel disease.

Gastroenterology 2013; **145**: 166-175.e8 [PMID: 23541909 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.03.044]

- 81 Navaneethan U, Jegadeesan R, Gutierrez NG, Venkatesh PG, Hammel JP, Shen B, Kiran RP. Progression of low-grade dysplasia to advanced neoplasia based on the location and morphology of dysplasia in ulcerative colitis patients with extensive colitis under colonoscopic surveillance. *J Crohns Colitis* 2013; 7: e684-e691 [PMID: 23916526 DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns.2013.06.006]
- 82 Jess T, Loftus EV, Velayos FS, Harmsen WS, Zinsmeister AR, Smyrk TC, Tremaine WJ, Melton LJ, Munkholm P, Sandborn WJ. Incidence and prognosis of colorectal dysplasia in inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based study from Olmsted County, Minnesota. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2006; **12**: 669-676 [PMID: 16917220]
- 83 Venkatesh PG, Jegadeesan R, Gutierrez NG, Sanaka MR, Navaneethan U. Natural history of low grade dysplasia in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis and ulcerative colitis. J Crohns Colitis 2013; 7: 968-973 [PMID: 23433613 DOI: 10.1016/ j.crohns.2013.02.002]
- 84 Shetty K, Rybicki L, Brzezinski A, Carey WD, Lashner BA. The risk for cancer or dysplasia in ulcerative colitis patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1999; 94: 1643-1649 [PMID: 10364038 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.1999.01156.x]
- 85 Torres J, Pineton de Chambrun G, Itzkowitz S, Sachar DB, Colombel JF. Review article: colorectal neoplasia in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis and inflammatory bowel disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2011; 34: 497-508 [PMID: 21692821 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2011.04753.x]
- 86 Hill MJ, Melville DM, Lennard-Jones JE, Neale K, Ritchie JK. Faecal bile acids, dysplasia, and carcinoma in ulcerative colitis. *Lancet* 1987; 2: 185-186 [PMID: 2885641]
- 87 Befeler AS, Lissoos TW, Schiano TD, Conjeevaram H, Dasgupta KA, Millis JM, Newell KA, Thistlethwaite JR, Baker AL. Clinical course and management of inflammatory bowel disease after liver transplantation. *Transplantation* 1998; 65: 393-396 [PMID: 9484758]
- 88 Verdonk RC, Dijkstra G, Haagsma EB, Shostrom VK, Van den Berg AP, Kleibeuker JH, Langnas AN, Sudan DL. Inflammatory bowel disease after liver transplantation: risk factors for recurrence and de novo disease. *Am J Transplant* 2006; 6: 1422-1429 [PMID: 16686766 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2006.01333.x]
- 89 Singh S, Loftus EV, Talwalkar JA. Inflammatory bowel disease after liver transplantation for primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2013; 108: 1417-1425 [PMID: 23896954 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2013.163]
- 90 Jørgensen KK, Lindström L, Cvancarova M, Karlsen TH, Castedal M, Friman S, Schrumpf E, Foss A, Isoniemi H, Nordin A, Holte K, Rasmussen A, Bergquist A, Vatn MH, Boberg KM. Immunosuppression after liver transplantation for primary sclerosing cholangitis influences activity of inflammatory bowel disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013; **11**: 517-523 [PMID: 23333218 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2012.12.027]
- 91 Verdonk RC, Haagsma EB, Jonker MR, Bok LI, Zandvoort JH, Kleibeuker JH, Faber KN, Dijkstra G. Effects of different immunosuppressive regimens on regulatory T-cells in noninflamed colon of liver transplant recipients. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2007; 13: 703-709 [PMID: 17230494 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.20087]
- 92 Cangemi JR, Wiesner RH, Beaver SJ, Ludwig J, MacCarty RL, Dozois RR, Zinsmeister AR, LaRusso NF. Effect of proctocolectomy for chronic ulcerative colitis on the natural history of primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Gastroenterology* 1989; 96: 790-794 [PMID: 2914641]
- 93 Wiesner RH, LaRusso NF, Dozois RR, Beaver SJ. Peristomal varices after proctocolectomy in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Gastroenterology* 1986; **90**: 316-322 [PMID: 2934290]
- 94 Treeprasertsuk S, Björnsson E, Sinakos E, Weeding E, Lindor KD. Outcome of patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis and ulcerative colitis undergoing colectomy. *World J Gastrointest Pharmacol Ther* 2013; 4: 61-68 [PMID: 23919218 DOI: 10.4292/

wjgpt.v4.i3.61]

- 95 Lohmuller JL, Pemberton JH, Dozois RR, Ilstrup D, van Heerden J. Pouchitis and extraintestinal manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease after ileal pouch-anal anastomosis. *Ann Surg* 1990; 211: 622-627; discussion 627-629 [PMID: 2339922]
- 96 Kuisma J, Järvinen H, Kahri A, Färkkilä M. Factors associated with disease activity of pouchitis after surgery for ulcerative colitis. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2004; **39**: 544-548 [PMID: 15223678 DOI: 10.1080/00365520410004668]
- 97 Jostins L, Ripke S, Weersma RK, Duerr RH, McGovern DP, Hui KY, Lee JC, Schumm LP, Sharma Y, Anderson CA, Essers J, Mitrovic M, Ning K, Cleynen I, Theatre E, Spain SL, Raychaudhuri S, Goyette P, Wei Z, Abraham C, Achkar JP, Ahmad T, Amininejad L, Ananthakrishnan AN, Andersen V, Andrews JM, Baidoo L, Balschun T, Bampton PA, Bitton A, Boucher G, Brand S, Büning C, Cohain A, Cichon S, D'Amato M, De Jong D, Devaney KL, Dubinsky M, Edwards C, Ellinghaus D, Ferguson LR, Franchimont D, Fransen K, Gearry R, Georges M, Gieger C, Glas J, Haritunians T, Hart A, Hawkey C, Hedl M, Hu X, Karlsen TH, Kupcinskas L, Kugathasan S, Latiano A, Laukens D, Lawrance IC, Lees CW, Louis E, Mahy G, Mansfield J, Morgan AR, Mowat C, Newman W, Palmieri O, Ponsioen CY, Potocnik U, Prescott NJ, Regueiro M, Rotter JI, Russell RK, Sanderson JD, Sans M, Satsangi J, Schreiber S, Simms LA, Sventoraityte J, Targan SR, Taylor KD, Tremelling M, Verspaget HW, De Vos M, Wijmenga C, Wilson DC, Winkelmann J, Xavier RJ, Zeissig S, Zhang B, Zhang CK, Zhao H, Silverberg MS, Annese V, Hakonarson H, Brant SR, Radford-Smith G, Mathew CG, Rioux JD, Schadt EE, Daly MJ, Franke A, Parkes M, Vermeire S, Barrett JC, Cho JH. Host-microbe interactions have shaped the genetic architecture of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature 2012; 491: 119-124 [PMID: 23128233 DOI: 10.1038/nature11582]
- 98 Liu JZ, Almarri MA, Gaffney DJ, Mells GF, Jostins L, Cordell HJ, Ducker SJ, Day DB, Heneghan MA, Neuberger JM, Donaldson PT, Bathgate AJ, Burroughs A, Davies MH, Jones DE, Alexander GJ, Barrett JC, Sandford RN, Anderson CA. Dense fine-mapping study identifies new susceptibility loci for primary biliary cirrhosis. *Nat Genet* 2012; 44: 1137-1141 [PMID: 22961000 DOI: 10.1038/ ng.2395]
- 99 Henriksen EK, Melum E, Karlsen TH. Update on primary sclerosing cholangitis genetics. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol* 2014; **30**: 310-319 [PMID: 24565892 DOI: 10.1097/MOG.00000000000052]
- 100 Rabinovitz M, Gavaler JS, Schade RR, Dindzans VJ, Chien MC, Van Thiel DH. Does primary sclerosing cholangitis occurring in association with inflammatory bowel disease differ from that occurring in the absence of inflammatory bowel disease? A study of sixty-six subjects. *Hepatology* 1990; **11**: 7-11 [PMID: 2295474]
- 101 Kingham JG, Kochar N, Gravenor MB. Incidence, clinical patterns, and outcomes of primary sclerosing cholangitis in South Wales, United Kingdom. *Gastroenterology* 2004; **126**: 1929-1930 [PMID: 15188211]
- 102 Bergquist A, Lindberg G, Saarinen S, Broomé U. Increased prevalence of primary sclerosing cholangitis among first-degree relatives. J Hepatol 2005; 42: 252-256 [PMID: 15664252 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2004.10.011]
- 103 Tischendorf JJ, Hecker H, Krüger M, Manns MP, Meier PN. Characterization, outcome, and prognosis in 273 patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis: A single center study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2007; 102: 107-114 [PMID: 17037993 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1572-0241.2006.00872.x]
- 104 Bergquist A, Said K, Broomé U. Changes over a 20-year period in the clinical presentation of primary sclerosing cholangitis in Sweden. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2007; 42: 88-93 [PMID: 17190768 DOI: 10.1080/00365520600787994]
- 105 Lindkvist B, Benito de Valle M, Gullberg B, Björnsson E. Incidence and prevalence of primary sclerosing cholangitis in a defined adult population in Sweden. *Hepatology* 2010; **52**: 571-577 [PMID: 20683956 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23678]
- 106 **Bowlus CL**, Li CS, Karlsen TH, Lie BA, Selmi C. Primary sclerosing cholangitis in genetically diverse populations listed for



liver transplantation: unique clinical and human leukocyte antigen associations. *Liver Transpl* 2010; **16**: 1324-1330 [PMID: 21031548 DOI: 10.1002/lt.22161]

- 107 Toy E, Balasubramanian S, Selmi C, Li CS, Bowlus CL. The prevalence, incidence and natural history of primary sclerosing cholangitis in an ethnically diverse population. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2011; 11: 83 [PMID: 21767410 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-11-83]
- 108 Bergquist A, Ekbom A, Olsson R, Kornfeldt D, Lööf L, Danielsson A, Hultcrantz R, Lindgren S, Prytz H, Sandberg-Gertzén H, Almer

S, Granath F, Broomé U. Hepatic and extrahepatic malignancies in primary sclerosing cholangitis. *J Hepatol* 2002; **36**: 321-327 [PMID: 11867174]

109 Kaplan GG, Heitman SJ, Hilsden RJ, Urbanski S, Myers RP, Lee SS, Burak KW, Swain M, Panaccione R. Population-based analysis of practices and costs of surveillance for colonic dysplasia in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis and colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2007; 13: 1401-1407 [PMID: 17600816 DOI: 10.1002/ ibd.20204]

> P- Reviewer: Kaya M, Sakai Y, Zeng Z S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: A E- Editor: Ma S







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1972 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1972-1981 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

Chronic hepatitis C genotype 1 treatment roadmap for resource constrained settings

Seng Gee Lim

Seng Gee Lim, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Medicine, National University Health System, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore 119228, Singapore

Author contributions: Lim SG contributed to the manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Seng Gee Lim, MBBS, MD, FRCP, FRACP, FAMS, Director of Hepatology, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Medicine, National University Health System, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, 5 Lower Kent Ridge Road, Singapore 119228, Singapore. mdclimsg@nus.edu.sg

Telephone: +65-67724369 Fax: +65-67724361 Received: June 18, 2014 Peer-review started: June 19, 2014 First decision: July 9, 2014 Revised: July 21, 2014 Accepted: September 18, 2014 Article in press: September 19, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To use existing hepatitis C virus (HCV) antiviral therapies as access to new treatments is limited.

METHODS: A PubMed search for randomised control trials or meta-analysis related to response-guided therapy of HCV genotype 1 patients was undertaken using pegylated interferon and ribavirin (PR), boceprevir (B) and telaprevir (T) and lead-in where response-guided therapy at TW4(TW4), 8(TW8), 10(TW10), or

12(TW12) based on HCVRNA(+) or HCVRNA(-). Studies presented at major conferences were also used. Where necessary, a post-hoc analysis was performed. A response-guided management roadmap was created based on sustained virological response (SVR).

RESULTS: Starting with PR, those with HCVRNA(-) at TW4 have > 86% SVR, while those are HCVRNA(+) have 34%-41.7% SVR. HCVRNA(-) TW4 patients can have 24 wk PR if HCVRNA < 400000 IU/mL. Alternatively, 28 wk BPR has similar SVR. If HCVRNA(+) at TW4, 72 wk PR leads to 53% SVR, hence BPR is a better option, and if HCVRNA(-) by TW8, 28 wk therapy is sufficient. If HCVRNA(+) at TW8, then HCVRNA should be checked at TW10 and TW12. By TW12, HCVRNA \geq 100 IU/mL activates the stopping rule. This roadmap is applicable for treatment-naïve, treatment failures and cirrhotic patients. Validation from an Asia Pacific early access boceprevir program confirmed the findings that HCVRNA(-) at TW4, or TW8 conferred > 80% SVR, leading to the "80-80" rule.

CONCLUSION: Using a roadmap based on HCVRNA(-) at TW4 or TW8 (the "80-80" rule), high SVR can be achieved, and guide the best choices for treatment, and also reduces drug exposure in poor responders.

Key words: Chronic hepatitis C; hepatitis C virus RNA; Sustained virological response; Cirrhosis; Boceprevir; Telaprevir; Response-guided therapy; Peginterferon; Partial responder; Ribavirin

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Lex management of hepatitis C virus (HCV) genotype 1 using a simplified road map and "80-80" rule can help physicians manage their patients better. This roadmap distills the essential findings from using pegylated interferon and ribavirin as well as boceprevir



using treatment week 4 and 8 virological responses based on whether HCVRNA is detectable or not.

Lim SG. Chronic hepatitis C genotype 1 treatment roadmap for resource constrained settings. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1972-1981 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet. com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1972.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1972

INTRODUCTION

Chronic Hepatitis C is the one of most common causes of chronic viral liver disease worldwide afflicting 130-170 million persons^[1], leading to significant morbidity and mortality due to liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma of infected persons. The standard of care for hepatitis C therapy has long been pegylated interferon and ribavirin for 48 wk until 2011, but this therapy has been suboptimal in efficacy, safety and tolerance^[2]. In 2011, the first generation protease inhibitors, boceprevir and telaprevir^[3] were approved, then in 2013, simeprevir^[4] and sofosbuvir^[5] were approved by the United States Food and Drug Adminstration and then by the European Medicines Agency. They represent a substantial advance in efficacy with better tolerability, but come at a high cost. While resource rich countries can afford to use these treatments as first line therapy, access to such expensive, may be limited in resource constrained countries. Resource constrained countries are defined as those countries where the latest therapies sofosbuvir and simeprevir and not currently available nor likely in the near future, and where pegylated interferon and ribavirin (PR) ± boceprevir, are are still the standard of care. The roles of these new agents, in the context of PR with or without boceprevir and telaprevir is unclear in treatment naïve patients and in treatment failures, particularly where there is little experience on its use in resource constrained countries. The first generation protease inhibitors may still have a role in current management of chronic hepatitis C genotype 1 patients, although telaprevir is less widely available, and does not use a lead-in strategy. Hence, it is a somewhat less optimal therapeutic choice in a resource constrained setting. Alternatively, the complex treatment strategy for boceprevir based on presence of cirrhosis and previous treatment failure is compounded by the differences between the United States^[6] and the European label^[7] with regards to the duration of therapy. Different algorithms have been proposed for different types of hepatitis C virus (HCV) patients: treatment naïve, treatment experienced and for cirrhotics. Consequently, there is an important unmet need to simplify treatment strategy using a roadmap based management that can provide a practical guide for decision making at fixed timepoints

(weeks 4, 8, 10 and 12) during HCV treatment. Undetectable or detectable HCVRNA was used as a decision tool as this only relied on the test result at that timepoint, in contrast to previous decision tools such as reduction of HCVRNA from baseline of or by stratifying the reduction in HCVRNA which requires at least two results.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A PubMed search for meta-analyses or randomised control trials of hepatitis C genotype 1 treatment with PR for 24, 48 and 72 wk, where treatment week 4 (TW4) HCVRNA results and SVR were reported. Where no published articles were available, studies published in abstract format from key international liver meetings were utilised.

For boceprevir treatment, randomised control trials of phase 2 and 3 studies were used. In studies where the information on detectable or undetectable HCVRNA at TW4, 8, 10 or 12 were not presented, a post-hoc analysis was performed and data was extracted from the following studies: the phase 2 study (SPRINT-1) and the phase 3 (SPRINT-2 and RESPOND-2) boceprevir clinical trials^[8-10], and PROVIDE studies^[11]. Data was also included from analyses from a metaanalysis of cirrhotic patients^[12] derived from five phase 3 boceprevir trials (SPRINT-2, RESPOND-2, peg2a, PROVIDE and anemia management study). The detailed methodology and primary outcomes from these studies have been are available in clinical trials. gov: NCT00423670, NCT00708500; NCT00705432, and NCT00910624. For telaprevir therapy, there is little information on lead-in and response-guided therapy.

End points and statistics

The primary end point in all studies was SVR, defined as undetectable HCVRNA 24 wk after completing treatment. Plasma HCVRNA levels were measured using COBAS TaqMan or COBAS TaqMan 2.0 (Roche Diagnostics) with respective lower limits of detection of 15 IU/mL and 9.3 IU/mL. Virologic response rates were assessed at various time points during therapy, at TW4, TW8, TW10 and TW12 after starting PR, and during boceprevir or telaprevir therapy.

RESULTS

Importance of TW4 HCVRNA as a predictor of SVR

TW4 has been validated as the most important predictor of SVR^[13]. With regards to predictors of SVR^[14]. multivariate analysis showed that the strongest predictor of SVR in Caucasians and Black patients given boceprevir triple therapy was ≥ 1 log reduction in HCVRNA, even stronger that the IL28B cc genotype. In the largest Asian study of peginterferon and ribavirin^[15], multivariate analysis again showed that week 4 undetectable HCVRNA was a stronger predictor





Figure 1 Treatment week 4 (A), hepatitis C virus RNA negative (B) and hepatitis C virus RNA positive (C). A: All patients eligible for PR therapy regardless of whether they are treatment naïve, previous treatment failures or cirrhotics. Patients who achieve RVR after 4 wk lead-in either have detectable or undetectable HCVRNA. Those with undetectable HCVRNA have SVR > 86% while those with detectable HCVRNA have SVR 34%-41.7%; B: These patients have a high possibility of SVR so PR therapy can be shortened to 24 wk if they have baseline viral load < 400000 IU/mL). If they do not have good baseline predictors, therapy can also be shortened by addition of boceprevir (4 wk lead-in, 24 wk boceprevir + PR). If they also have IL28B CC genotype, telaprevir and PR can be used for 12 wk as well. Alternatively, they can continue on to 48 wk PR; C: These patients have a low possibility of SVR (41.7%) hence the alternative is to extend PR to 72 wk (53% SVR) or to add boceprevir (61%-66% SVR). TW: Treatment week; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; PR: Pegylated interferon and ribavirin; SVR: Sustained virological response.

of SVR than IL28B cc genotype. Consequently while IL28B genotype is still an important predictor, it may not be crucial in the decision to start therapy since week 4 HCVRNA is the stronger predictor.

SVR and TW4 response

The largest randomized control trial (RCT) of 48 wk PR^[13] had few Asians, but the SVR rate in those with undetectable HCVRNA at TW4 was 86% while those with detectable HCVRNA had SVR of 33.9%. In the largest Asian RCT of 48 wk PR^[15], those with undetectable HCVRNA at TW4 had 98% SVR, but if HCVRNA was detectable, SVR was 34.5%, remarkably similar to non-Asians. Consequently the first decision point of the roadmap is TW4 (Figure 1A). The difference in the two studies was that undetectable HCVRNA at TW4 was achieved in only 8.9% of patients in the IDEAL study, but 54.8% in the Asian study due to the high prevalence of the IL28B good response genotype^[16].

TW4 Response: Those who have undetectable HCVRNA

With a high SVR of 86%-98% with 48 wk PR, can therapy be shortened? A meta-analysis^[17] showed that SVR was significantly higher with 48 wk PR, 94.1% vs 79.7% for 24 wk PR (RR = 1.15; 95%CI: 1.07-1.24; P < 0.0001). But those with low baseline viral load (< 40000 IU/mL), had no difference in SVR, 95.5% for 48 wk PR vs 90.6% in the 24 wk PR

(RR = 1.05; 95%CI: 0.99-1.11; P = not significant). Consequently, only those low baseline viral load can have 24 wk PR.

Can BPR for 24 wk be an alternative? In the SPRINT-2 study^[9], those who achieved undetectable HCVRNA at TW4 and TW8 had 24 wk BPR had 88% SVR, compared to 97% SVR of 97% in those who had 48 wk BPR (P = NS), making this an alternative to 48 wk PR (Figure 1B).

An alternative to boceprevir is telaprevir. In the CONCISE study^[18], treatment naïve or relapser patients with the IL28B CC genotype who had undetectable HCVRNA at TW4 who were randomised to 12 wk of telaprevir and PR (TPR) achieved 87% SVR compared to 97% in the 12 wk TPR+12 wk PR group (P = NS). This is the only study telaprevir was used with lead-in based on undetectable HCVRNA at TW4.

Those who have detectable HCVRNA at TW4

A Cochrane systematic review^[19] addressed whether 72 wk PR was superior to 48 wk PR in these patients. The meta-analysis showed 41.7% SVR for 48 wk PR, with a risk ratio of 1.27 (95%CI: 1.07-1.50), or 53% (95%CI: 44.6%-62.6%) SVR for 72 wk PR (Figure 1C). Importantly, this meta-analysis included both Caucasian and Asian studies with no significant difference between them in tests of heterogeneity.

The SVR rate of patients who have detectable HCVRNA at TW4 in the SPRINT-2 study^[9], was 65%



Figure 2 Treatment week 8 (A) and treatment week 8 to week 24 (B). A: These patients regardless of the treatment week 4 responses have a high possibility of SVR if they are HCVRNA negative (SVR > 87%) and are eligible for shortened therapy but if they are HCVRNA positive, then SVR rates are low, 35%-41.7%; B: After addition of boceprevir, with undetectable HCVRNA, these patients are eligible for shortened therapy (4 wk lead-in, 24 wk boceprevir +PR). However if they are HCVRNA positive then HCVRNA at weeks 10 and 12 are useful to guide therapy. Those who are HCVRNA \ge 100 IU/mL at week 12 or have detectable HCVRNA at week 24 fulfill the stopping rules. ¹Not eligible for shortened therapy - should complete 32 wk BPR ± 12 wk PR or complete 44 wk BPR. HCV: Hepatitis C virus; PR: Pegylated interferon and ribavirin; SVR: Sustained virological response.

in the RGT group and 66% in 48 wk fixed duration therapy group, while in RESPOND-2, no analysis was performed of SVR rates in those with detectable HCVRNA at TW4, as the analysis was based on interferon responsiveness, defined as HCVRNA decline at TW4 by < $1\log_{10} \ge$. The PROVIDE study^[11] was analysed in a similar manner. Fortunately, a post hoc analysis can be performed using the abstract presented by Vierling *et al*^[20] which showed the different levels of interferon responsiveness at TW4 for RESPOND-2. SVR in those with detectable HCVRNA at TW4 was calculated to be 61% (95/156) (range: 31%-90%) in the RGT group, and 66% (103/156) (range: 13%-100%) for the 48 wk fixed duration group. Consequently, the SVR rate in those who have detectable HCVRNA at TW4 is remarkably similar, 61%-66% regardless whether patients are treatment naïve or failures, and regardless of RGT or 48 wk fixed duration therapy (Figure 1C). However, SVR could be as low as 33% if the patient was a "null responder" or as high as 80% in "partial responders" at TW4^[21].

TW8 response

HCVRNA undetectable with BPR: In SPRINT-2^[9], treatment naïve patients with undetectable HCVRNA at TW8, had 88% SVR with RGT compared to 90% SVR with BPR 48 wk. In the RESPOND-2 study^[10], prior treatment failure patients with undetectable HCVRNA at TW8, had 86% SVR with RGT compared to 88% SVR with 48 wk BPR. These findings confirm that those with undetectable HCVRNA will benefit from 24 wk BPR (Figure 2A). Even treatment naïve poor interferon responders at TW4, or "null responders" (< 1log HCVRNA reduction at TW4), in a post-hoc analysis of the SPRINT-2 and RESPOND-2 studies, who have undetectable HCVRNA at TW8, achieve 83% SVR^[22].

HCVRNA detectable with BPR: In the SPRINT-2^[9], treatment naïve late responders (HCVRNA detectable at TW8 but undetectable at treatment week 24) achieved 73.1% SVR with RGT compared to 75% SVR with 48 wk fixed duration therapy. However, when all patients with detectable HCVRNA at TW8 are examined in Th SPRINT-2 study, the SVR rate is only 36% for RGT and 40% for 48 wk fixed dose therapy, as these include patients who have detectable HCVRNA at TW24 (which invoke the futility rule for stopping therapy). However, we do not need to wait to TW24, as by TW12 the futility rule can also be applied to patients with HCVRNA \ge 100 IU/mL^[23] (Figure 2B). In the RESPOND-2 study^[10], SVR data on those with detectable HCVRNA at TW8 were not presented but can be extracted as a posthoc analysis. Since the total SVR rates were known for group 2 (95/162, 58.6%) and group 3 (107/161, 66.4%) and the rates for patients with undetectable HCVRNA at TW8 are known, for group 2 (74/161, 46%), and group 3 (84/161, 52%), as well as SVR rates are known for group 2 (64/74, 86%), and group 3 (74/84, 88%), we can calculate SVR rates in those with detectable HCVRNA at TW8 in group 2 (31/88, 35%), and group 3 (33/80, 41.2%). Group 2 patients were in the RGT arm, and group 3 were in the fixed duration 48 wk therapy arm. Pooling group 2 and 3 together we can calculate that 168/323 (52%) of prior treatment failure patients had

detectable HCVRNA at TW8.

Consequently, both SPRINT-2 and RESPOND-2 studies demonstrate remarkably similar results for those with detectable HCVRNA at TW8, with SVR rates of 35%-36% for RCT and 40%-41.2% for fixed duration 48 wk therapy, regardless of their prior response to therapy.

TW10 and 12 response

For patients who have detectable HCVRNA at TW8, rather than wait for TW12, undetectable HCVRNA at TW10 can also be used to determine if SVR is likely (Figure 2B). In an post-hoc analysis combining SPRINT-2 and RESPOND-2 studies^[24], those with detectable HCVRNA at TW8 were evaluated at TW10 and undetectable HCVRNA at TW10 and at TW12 conferred SVR of 79% while a detectable HCVRNA at TW10 followed by undetectable HCVRNA at TW12 conferred a SVR of 59% (Figure 2B), provided they maintained undetectable HCVRNA through to treatment week 24.

Treatment naïve vs treatment failure patients

Based on the data above, it would seem that response-guided management using undetectable HCVRNA successively at TW4, 8, 10 and 12 predict a high chance of SVR regardless of whether a patient is treatment naïve or a prior treatment failure, but does this apply to cirrhotics?

Cirrhosis

It is well known that SVR is impacted by the presence of progressive fibrosis and cirrhosis. Subanalyses from randomised control trials show that RVR is lower in cirrhotic patients compared to non-cirrhotics^[25,26]. In the CHARIOT study^[25], RVR in F0-2 patients was 24% compared to 18% in those with F3-4. Overall SVR was much lower in those with cirrhosis (10%) compared to those without fibrosis, F0 (70%). Those with RVR and F0-2 achieved 80% SVR but those with F3-4 had only 63% SVR. Bruno et al^[26], collated three RCTs showing that RVR in those without advanced fibrosis was 23.6% compared to 11% with advanced fibrosis. SVR was lower in those with cirrhosis (33%) compared to those without bridging fibrosis (60%). Notably, those who achieved RVR without advanced fibrosis had SVR of 95% compared to 89% in those with advanced fibrosis.

Consequently, responses to boceprevir in cirrhotics needs evaluation. A meta-analysis of all boceprevir treated patients with cirrhosis^[12] found that all those with undetectable HCVRNA at TW8 has similar SVR, 86% for F0-2, 85% for F3 and 89% for F4. Undetectable HCVRNA at TW8 was the strongest predictor of SVR by multivariate analysis with OR = 10.57 (95%CI: 5.23-21.36). Consequently, we can be confident that the findings from non-cirrhotics are

similar in cirrhotics (Figure 2A).

Duration of boceprevir triple therapy

Based on the response-guided management proposed for boceprevir (Figures 2B and 3), patients who have undetectable HCVRNA at TW8 can shorten therapy to 24 wk of BPR (after lead-in). This is true even for patients with cirrhosis and even for those who had previous PR treatment failure. However, it is important to note that the boceprevir label^[23] advises duration of boceprevir triple therapy based on whether the patient is treatment naïve, is an early or late responder, has prior treatment failure or has cirrhosis. Only in treatment naïve early responders is it recommended to for 24 wk BPR. In cirrhosis and previous null responders, it is recommended to have 44 wk of BPR (after 4 wk lead-in). For the remainder, late responders, prior treatment failures the recommendation is for 32 wk of BPR (after 4 wk lead-in) with or without an extra 12 wk PR tail. We should be mindful that the 32 wk BPR proposal is not supported by evidence, only by modeling. This confusing recommendation leaves much to be desired since it does not simplify management, and that the prior documentation of null response can be rather poor, not to mention that diagnosis of cirrhosis with non-invasive markers is not always optimal, making it difficult at times to select the correct duration of therapy. Although our proposed roadmap simplifies therapy considerably in those who are good responders regardless of prior treatment failure or presence of cirrhosis, when in doubt, the package insert should be followed^[23].

How long should those with detectable HCVRNA at TW8 be treated with BPR? Based on the package insert, at least 32 wk of BPR \pm 12 wk of PR tail. Given these patients are the most likely to fail therapy, they should be given the maximum benefit with 44 wk BPR, as supported by the SPRINT-2 and RESPOND-2 studies.

Consolidated roadmap based management

In Figure 3A, a consolidated management approach to HCV genotype 1 is proposed regardless of the baseline characteristics of treatment naïve, treatment failure or cirrhosis.

80-80 Rule

Using the roadmap based management, we can invoke an "80-80" rule, that is, if undetectable HCVRNA is achieved at TW4, > 80% SVR will be obtained, or using boceprevir, undetectable HCVRNA is achieved at TW8, > 80% SVR will also be obtained (Figure 3C). The possibility of failure if HCVRNA is detectable at TW8 is higher. In a post-hoc analysis from SPRINT-2, there were 64% (83/129) failures in the RGT arm, and 60% (79/131) in the fixed duration

Baishideng®



Baishideng®

WJG www.wjgnet.com

Lim SG. HCV treatment roadmap



Figure 3 Roadmap for GT1 hepatitis C virus (A), Roadmap for GT1 hepatitis C virus and new direct acting antivirals (B) and the "80-80" Rule (C). A: Full roadmap showing timepoints, predicted SVR based on undetectable HCVRNA at timepoints, and alternative choices at each timepoint. ¹Not eligible for shortened therapy - should complete 32 wk BPR ± 12 wk PR or complete 44 wk BPR; B: Modification of the roadmap showing that new DAAs can be considered at Treatment week (TW)4 or TW8 if HCVRNA is positive; C: Main points of the roadmap showing that if HCVRNA is negative at TW4 (on PR) or 8 (on BPR) then there is > 80% SVR. If HCVRNA is positive at week 4, then there is 41.7% SVR if 48 wk PR is continued, but at week 8, if HCVRNA is positive while on BPR then the possibility of SVR is 35%-41.2%. HCV: Hepatitis C virus; PR: Pegylated interferon and ribavirin; SVR: Sustained virological response.

arm, while in RESPOND-2, failures in the RGT arm were 64.7% (57/88), and the fixed duration arm was 58.8% (47/80). Overall, with detectable HCVRNA at TW8, the chance of failure is approximately 60%.

Validation of roadmap

The proposed roadmap was derived from randomised control trials but how would it perform in real life? In an early access program for boceprevir, the Boceprevir Named Patient Program (BNPP), investigators from Singapore, Thailand, Malaysia and Australia decided to pool their patients into a study, Boceprevir Early-Access For Advanced Fibrosis/Cirrhosis To Evaluate Outcomes In Asia-Pacific HCV Genotype 1 Non-Responders And Relapser Patients (BEACON study). A total of 150 patients (Asians = 86, Caucasians = 63) were enrolled and these patients had to have previous treatment failure with PR, and had to have advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis, but no decompensated liver disease. The final data analysis is currently being prepared for publication (manuscript in press, World J Gastroenterology). Applying the roadmap strategy to the BEACON study, those who have undetectable HCVRNA at TW4, have 100% SVR (14/14), while those who have undetectable HCVRNA at TW8 have 87% SVR (74/85). Those who have detectable HCVRNA at TW4 have 58% SVR (72/124) and those who have detectable HCVRNA at TW8 have 22% SVR. These patients represent the most difficult to treat subtypes, as they have had previous treatment failure, and also have advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis. The findings of BEACON confirm that in real-life settings, the roadmap strategy is indeed valid.

When to introduce second generation DAAs

When the "80-80" rule is not met, treatment failure

becomes more likely. This rule can be met as early as TW4, when an alternative is to introduce new DAAs (Figure 3B) such as sofosbuvir and PR, however, there is no data on the SVR rates in treatment-experienced patients. An alternative is simeprevir and PR, but in null responders, SVR was 58.8%^[27]. As patients who are HCVRNA positive at TW4 are enriched for null responders, simeprevir and PR would not be an optimal alternative. At TW8, detectable HCVRNA also increases the likelihood of treatment failure to 60% making alternative new DAAs an option (Figure 3B). Again such patients would be enriched for null responders hence simeprevir and PR is a suboptimal, nor is there data on such patients treated with sofosbuvir and PR. However, such patients can be rescued in the near future with the new generation of interferon-free oral treatments, and null responders achieve > 90% SVR with the Abbvie quad regimen^[28], the sofosbuvir-ledispavir ± ribavirin combination^[29], and the sofosbuvir-simeprevir combination^[30]. Sofosbuvir and ledispavir ± ribavirin was also effective in patients with baseline protease inhibitor resistance associated variants^[31].

DISCUSSION

These are rather exciting times for patients who suffer from chronic hepatitis C. Sofosbuvir^[5] and simeprevir^[4] have both been very recently been approved for treatment of chronic hepatitis C which appear to be a substantial improvement over the current DAAs, telaprevir and boceprevir. However, access to the newly approved DAAs will be gradual as approval in different countries and regions are likely to take years. In the interim, hepatitis C treatment in each country or region needs to adapt to the evolving

situation and to determine the best strategy for SVR, bearing in mind cost of therapy is a critical factor in resource constrained settings. In the immediate and near term, PR is still likely to be the mainstay of therapy in resource constrained settings since not only is it the only available therapy, but even boceprevir and telaprevir constitute a considerable cost, not taking into consideration adverse events, tolerability and toxicity.

The current analysis is a distillation of existing literature showing that by using TW4 and TW8 HCVRNA, dichotomised to detectable or undetectable, provides a high level of predictability for SVR, simplifying the complexity and confusion of using log reduction in HCVRNA, and stratifying by type of prior treatment failure or presence of absence of cirrhosis. This response-guided approach is particularly appealing in countries where IL28B CC genotype is prevalent, since a greater proportion of patients have undetectable HCVRNA at TW4. In countries where the IL28B T genotype is more prevalent, the TW4 response is likely to be poor, and more reliance will be placed on the TW8 response. At TW4 or TW8, if HCVRNA is undetectable, SVR > 80%, leading to the "80-80" rule, making this reassuring for both physicians and patients that SVR is likely, encouraging compliance, and making tolerability of adverse events more bearable. Moreover, the roadmap allows patients to terminate treatment as early as TW12 if HCVRNA \geq 100 IU/mL, if response to therapy is unfavorable, based on the stopping rule. Consequently the roadmap also can provide at each timepoint the likelihood of treatment failure and such patients can have the option of stopping therapy and consider the new generation of DAAs, where data is available.

There are some caveats to the roadmap strategy since it provides likelihood of SVR in those who are able to tolerate therapy. A significant proportion of patients have adverse events to pegylated interferon, ribavirin and boceprevir or the combination, and discontinuation of therapy occurs in a substantial proportion of patients due to adverse events. In the CUPIC study^[32] patients who were at risk of developing severe complications including sepsis and death, had a low serum albumin < 35 g/dL and a low platelet count < 10000/L. Consequently boceprevir or telaprevir therapy is not recommended in such patients due to the high risk of these complications. In such patients, they should look to interferon-free therapy and the new generation of DAAs.

With the new generation of DAAs around the corner, the era of interferon-free regimens is around the corner. Moreover, approval of the new DAAs may take as long as 3-4 years in some Asian countries. Consequently the new DAAs, which currently come with a high cost of therapy, having cheaper but almost as effective alternatives a choice to be considered. Consequently, PR is still likely to be a first line therapy

for cost reasons, both in countries with and without reimbursement. One can speculate that the current first generation DAAs could be used as second-line therapy when RVR fails, and the new DAAs could become a third line therapy when both first and second line are ineffective. Clearly this can change if cost structures alter. In the ideal world, interferon based regimes are inconvenient and carry adverse events which makes tolerance and compliance an important issue. While the future points to an interferon-free HCV treatment, we should discount the utility of interferon based regimens as an interim measure for patient management.

COMMENTS

Background

Although new all oral antiviral agents for hepatitis C virus (HCV) are available in some countries, many countries who have constrained resources still are using pegylated interferon and ribavirin and first generation direct-acting antivirals.

Research frontiers

There is still confusion on how to use pegylated interferon, ribavirin with or without first generation direct-acting antivirals, and a distillation of the available best evidence can provide a practical guide for on-treatment management.

Innovations and breakthroughs

On-treatment response based on detectable or undetectable HCVRNA at week 4 or 8 can guide continuing or changing treatment. This can be summarised as the "80-80" rule which means SVR \ge 80% can be achieved if HCVRNA is negative at week 4 or 8 of therapy.

Applications

This roadmap is applicable to all HCV genotype 1 patients regardless of whether.

Peer-review

Dr. Lim SG described the road map for antiviral therapy to HCV genotype 1 patients. This study is review article. As the author pointed out, direct acting antivirals present substantial advance in efficacy with better tolerability, though they are very expensive.

REFERENCES

- 1 World Health Organization. WHO headquarters fact sheet: Hepatitis C. WHO Health Topics 2010. Available from: URL: http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/communicable-diseases/ hepatitis/data-and-statistics/hepatitis-c
- 2 Ghany MG, Strader DB, Thomas DL, Seeff LB. Diagnosis, management, and treatment of hepatitis C: an update. *Hepatology* 2009; 49: 1335-1374 [PMID: 19330875 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22759]
- 3 Casey LC, Lee WM. Hepatitis C virus therapy update 2013. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2013; 29: 243-249 [PMID: 23563981 DOI: 10.1097/MOG.0b013e32835ff972]
- 4 **Food And Drug Administration**. FDA approves new treatment for hepatitis C virus. 2013. Available from: URL: http://www.fda. gov/newsevents/newsroom/pressannouncements/ucm376449.htm
- 5 Food And Drug Administration. Approval of Sovaldi (sofosbuvir) tablets for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C. 2013. Available from: URL: http://www.fda.gov/forconsumers/byaudience/ forpatientadvocates/ucm377920.htm
- 6 Food and Drug Administration, USA. Product label for Vitcrelis. 2011
- 7 **European Medicines Authority, European Union**. Product label for Victrelis. 2011
- 8 Kwo PY, Lawitz EJ, McCone J, Schiff ER, Vierling JM, Pound D, Davis MN, Galati JS, Gordon SC, Ravendhran N, Rossaro L, Anderson FH, Jacobson IM, Rubin R, Koury K, Pedicone LD, Brass CA, Chaudhri E, Albrecht JK. Efficacy of boceprevir, an NS3 protease inhibitor, in combination with peginterferon alfa-2b

and ribavirin in treatment-naive patients with genotype 1 hepatitis C infection (SPRINT-1): an open-label, randomised, multicentre phase 2 trial. *Lancet* 2010; **376**: 705-716 [PMID: 20692693 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60934-8]

- 9 Poordad F, McCone J, Bacon BR, Bruno S, Manns MP, Sulkowski MS, Jacobson IM, Reddy KR, Goodman ZD, Boparai N, DiNubile MJ, Sniukiene V, Brass CA, Albrecht JK, Bronowicki JP. Boceprevir for untreated chronic HCV genotype 1 infection. *N Engl J Med* 2011; **364**: 1195-1206 [PMID: 21449783 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1010494]
- 10 Bacon BR, Gordon SC, Lawitz E, Marcellin P, Vierling JM, Zeuzem S, Poordad F, Goodman ZD, Sings HL, Boparai N, Burroughs M, Brass CA, Albrecht JK, Esteban R. Boceprevir for previously treated chronic HCV genotype 1 infection. *N Engl J Med* 2011; 364: 1207-1217 [PMID: 21449784 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1009482]
- 11 Vierling J, Davis M, Flamm S, Gordon S, Lawitz E, Yoshida E, Galati J, Luketic V, McCone J, Jacobson I, Marcellin P, Muir A, Poordad F, Pedicone LD, Deng W, Treite M, Wahl J, Bronowicki JP. Sustained Virologic Response (SVR) in Prior PegInterferon/ Ribavirin (PR) Treatment Failures After Retreatment with Boceprevir (BOC) PR: PROVIDE Study Interim Results. Boston: American Association for Study of Liver Dsiease, 2011: 931
- 12 Vierling JM, Zeuzem S, Poordad F, Bronowicki JP, Manns M, Bacon BR, Esteban R, Flamm SL, Kwo PY, Pedicone LD, Deng W, Dutko FJ, DiNubile MJ, Koury KJ, Helmond FA, Wahl J, Bruno S. Safety and Efficacy Of Boceprevir/Peginterferon/Ribavirin (Boc/ P/R) Combination Therapy for Chronic HCV G1 Patients With Compensated Cirrhosis: A Meta-Analysis of five Phase 3 Clinical Trials. Amsterdam: European Association for Study of Liver, 2013: abstract 1430
- 13 McHutchison JG, Lawitz EJ, Shiffman ML, Muir AJ, Galler GW, McCone J, Nyberg LM, Lee WM, Ghalib RH, Schiff ER, Galati JS, Bacon BR, Davis MN, Mukhopadhyay P, Koury K, Noviello S, Pedicone LD, Brass CA, Albrecht JK, Sulkowski MS. Peginterferon alfa-2b or alfa-2a with ribavirin for treatment of hepatitis C infection. *N Engl J Med* 2009; **361**: 580-593 [PMID: 19625712 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0808010]
- 14 Poordad F, Bronowicki JP, Gordon SC, Zeuzem S, Jacobson IM, Sulkowski MS, Poynard T, Morgan TR, Molony C, Pedicone LD, Sings HL, Burroughs MH, Sniukiene V, Boparai N, Goteti VS, Brass CA, Albrecht JK, Bacon BR. Factors that predict response of patients with hepatitis C virus infection to boceprevir. *Gastroenterology* 2012; 143: 608-18.e1-5 [PMID: 22626609 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.05.011]
- 15 Liu CH, Liang CC, Liu CJ, Tseng TC, Lin CL, Yang SS, Su TH, Hsu SJ, Lin JW, Chen JH, Chen PJ, Chen DS, Kao JH. Interleukin 28B genetic polymorphisms and viral factors help identify HCV genotype-1 patients who benefit from 24-week pegylated interferon plus ribavirin therapy. *Antivir Ther* 2012; **17**: 477-484 [PMID: 22301466 DOI: 10.3851/IMP2026]
- 16 Thomas DL, Thio CL, Martin MP, Qi Y, Ge D, O'Huigin C, Kidd J, Kidd K, Khakoo SI, Alexander G, Goedert JJ, Kirk GD, Donfield SM, Rosen HR, Tobler LH, Busch MP, McHutchison JG, Goldstein DB, Carrington M. Genetic variation in IL28B and spontaneous clearance of hepatitis C virus. *Nature* 2009; 461: 798-801 [PMID: 19759533]
- 17 Di Martino V, Richou C, Cervoni JP, Sanchez-Tapias JM, Jensen DM, Mangia A, Buti M, Sheppard F, Ferenci P, Thévenot T. Response-guided peg-interferon plus ribavirin treatment duration in chronic hepatitis C: meta-analyses of randomized, controlled trials and implications for the future. *Hepatology* 2011; 54: 789-800 [PMID: 21674553 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24480]
- 18 Nelson DR, Poordad F, Feld JJ, Fried MW, Jacobson IM, Pockros P, Sulkowski MS, Zeuzem S, Bengtsson L, George S, Friedman MI, Teamobot CS. High SVR Rates (SVR4) for 12-week Total Telaprevir Combination Therapy in IL28B CC Treatment-naive and Prior Relapsers with G1 Chronic Hepatitis C: CONCISE Interim Analysis. Amsterdam: EASL, 2013
- 19 **Katz LH**, Goldvaser H, Gafter-Gvili A, Tur-Kaspa R. Extended peginterferon plus ribavirin treatment for 72 weeks versus standard

peginterferon plus ribavirin treatment for 48 weeks in chronic hepatitis C genotype 1 infected slow-responder adult patients. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2012; **9**: CD008516 [PMID: 22972122 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD008516.pub2]

- 20 Vierling JM, Lawitz EJ, Poordad F, Sulkowski MS, Bourliere M, Buti M, Cooper C, Galati JS, Albrecht JK, Boparai N, Brass CA, Burroughs M, Sniukiene V, Bruno S. Four-week Therapy With Peginterferon Alfa-2b/Ribavirin Effectively Predicts Sustained Virologic Response in Previously Untreated and Previous-Treatment-Failure Patients With HCV-1 Treated With Boceprevir Plus Peginterferon Alfa-2b/Ribavirin. Berlin: European Association for Study of Liver, 2011: 481
- 21 Lim SG, Yu ML, Piratvisuth T, Hu KQ, Poordad F, Bronowicki JP, Bognar FA, Deng W, Wahl J, Helmond FA. Treatment-week 4 response with peginterferon/ribavirin predicts treatment outcome to boceprevir: implications for Asian patients with chronic hepatitis C genotype 1. Singapore: Asia Pacific Association for Study of Liver, 2013: Abstract 1476
- 22 Bacon B, Bruno S, Schiff E, Kwo P, Buti M, Pedicone L, Deng W, Burroughs M, Brass C, Albrecht J, Flamm S. Predictors of Sustained Virologic Response Among Poor Interferon Responders When Boceprevir is Added to Peginterferon alfa-2b/Ribavirin. Massachusetts: American Association for Study of Liver Disease, 2011
- 23 Vitrellis package insert. Whitehouse Station: Merck Sharpe and Dohme, 2011
- 24 Lawitz E, Poordad F, Bronowicki JP, Marcellin P, Feinman SV, Kwo P, Guyader D, Davis M, Harrison S, Pedicone L, Jiang R, Burroughs M, Brass C, Albrecht J, Zeuzem S. The Effect of Using Lower Limit of Quantitation (LLQ) vs Lower Limit of Detection (LLD) for the Definition of Undetectable HCV RNA: Data from the RESPOND-2 and SPRINT-2 trials. Boston: American Association for Study of Liver Disease, 2011: Abstract 167
- 25 Cheng WS, Roberts SK, McCaughan G, Sievert W, Weltman M, Crawford D, Rawlinson W, Marks PS, Thommes J, Rizkalla B, Yoshihara M, Dore GJ. Low virological response and high relapse rates in hepatitis C genotype 1 patients with advanced fibrosis despite adequate therapeutic dosing. *J Hepatol* 2010; **53**: 616-623 [PMID: 20619475 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2010.04.024]
- 26 Bruno S, Shiffman ML, Roberts SK, Gane EJ, Messinger D, Hadziyannis SJ, Marcellin P. Efficacy and safety of peginterferon alfa-2a (40KD) plus ribavirin in hepatitis C patients with advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 2010; **51**: 388-397 [PMID: 19918980 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23340]
- 27 Zeuzem S, Berg T, Gane E, Ferenci P, Foster GR, Fried MW, Hezode C, Hirschfield GM, Jacobson I, Nikitin I, Pockros PJ, Poordad F, Scott J, Lenz O, Peeters M, Sekar V, De Smedt G, Sinha R, Beumont-Mauviel M. Simeprevir increases rate of sustained virologic response among treatment-experienced patients with HCV genotype-1 infection: a phase IIb trial. *Gastroenterology* 2014; 146: 430-41.e6 [PMID: 24184810 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.10.058]
- 28 Kowdley KV, Lawitz E, Poordad F, Cohen DE, Nelson D, Zeuzem S, Everson GT, Kwo P, Foster GR, Sulkowski M, Xie W, Larsen L, Khatri A, Podsadecki T, Bernstein B. Safety and Efficacy of Interferon-free Regimens of ABT-450/R, ABT-267, ABT-333 /- Ribavirin In Patients with Chronic HCV GT1 Infection: Results from the AVIATOR Study. Amsterdam: European Association for Study of Liver, 2013
- 29 Gane EJ, Stedman CA, Hyland RH, Ding X, Pang PS, Symonds WT, McHutchison JG. ELECTRON: All-Oral Sofosbuvir-Based 12-Week Regimens for the Treatment of Chronic HCV GT 1 Infection. Amsterdam: European Association of Study of the Liver, 2013
- 30 Jacobson IM, Ghalib RH, Rodriguez-Torres M, Younossi ZM, Corregidor A, Sulkowski MS, DeJesus E, Pearlman B, Rabinovitz M, Gitlin N, Lim JK, Pockros PJ, Fevery B, Lambrecht T, Symonds WT, Picchio G, Lawitz E. SVR results of a once-daily regimen of simeprevir (TMC435) plus sofosbuvir (GS-7977) with or without ribavirin in cirrhotic and non-cirrhotic HCV genotype 1 treatmentnaïve and prior null responder patients: The COSMOS study.

1980

- 31 Hebner C, Pang PS, Hyland RH, Miller MD, Mo H, Lawitz E, Poordad F, Membreno FE. Once Daily Sofosbuvir/Ledipasvir Fixed Dose Combination is Highly Effective in Subjects with Baseline NS5A Inhibitor and NS3 Protease Inhibitor Resistance-Associated Variants: The Lonestar Trial. Washington: American Association for Study of Liver Disease, 2013: 1844
- 32 Hézode C, Fontaine H, Dorival C, Larrey D, Zoulim F, Canva V, de Ledinghen V, Poynard T, Samuel D, Bourlière M, Zarski JP,

Raabe JJ, Alric L, Marcellin P, Riachi G, Bernard PH, Loustaud-Ratti V, Métivier S, Tran A, Serfaty L, Abergel A, Causse X, Di Martino V, Guyader D, Lucidarme D, Grando-Lemaire V, Hillon P, Feray C, Dao T, Cacoub P, Rosa I, Attali P, Petrov-Sanchez V, Barthe Y, Pawlotsky JM, Pol S, Carrat F, Bronowicki JP. Triple therapy in treatment-experienced patients with HCV-cirrhosis in a multicentre cohort of the French Early Access Programme (ANRS CO20-CUPIC) - NCT01514890. *J Hepatol* 2013; **59**: 434-441 [PMID: 23669289 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.04.035]

P- Reviewer: Abe H, O'Connor KS, Torres C S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: A E- Editor: Ma S







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1982 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1982-1988 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

CASE REPORT

Successful treatment of conversion chemotherapy for initially unresectable synchronous colorectal liver metastasis

Kenta Baba, Akihiko Oshita, Mohei Kohyama, Satoshi Inoue, Yuta Kuroo, Takuro Yamaguchi, Hiroyuki Nakamura, Yoichi Sugiyama, Tatsuya Tazaki, Masaru Sasaki, Yuji Imamura, Yutaka Daimaru, Hideki Ohdan, Atsushi Nakamitsu

Kenta Baba, Akihiko Oshita, Mohei Kohyama, Satoshi Inoue, Yuta Kuroo, Takuro Yamaguchi, Hiroyuki Nakamura, Yoichi Sugiyama, Tatsuya Tazaki, Masaru Sasaki, Yuji Imamura, Atsushi Nakamitsu, Department of Surgery, JA Hiroshima General Hospital, Hiroshima 738-8503, Japan

Akihiko Oshita, Hideki Ohdan, Department of Gastroenterological and Transplant Surgery, Applied Life Sciences, Institute of Biomedical and Health Sciences, Hiroshima University, Hiroshima 734-8551, Japan

Yutaka Daimaru, Department of Pathology, JA Hiroshima General Hospital, Hiroshima 738-8503, Japan

Author contributions: The first two authors contributed equally to this work; Oshita A and Kohyama M designed the surgical strategy; Oshita A, Baba K, Kohyama M and Sasaki M performed the operation; Inoue S, Kuroo Y, Yamaguchi T, Nakamura H, Sugiyama Y, Tazaki T, Imamura Y and Nakamitsu A are members of the operating team; Daimaru Y evaluated the historical findings; Baba K and Oshita A wrote the paper; Ohdan H revised the manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Akihiko Oshita, MD, PhD, Department of Surgery, JA Hiroshima General Hospital, 1-3-3 Jigozen, Hatsukaichi, Hiroshima 738-8503, Japan. oshita-akihiko@umin.ac.jp

Telephone: +81-829-363111 Fax: +81-829-365573 Received: May 23, 2014 Peer-review started: May 26, 2014 First decision: June 18, 2014 Revised: July 3, 2014 Accepted: July 24, 2014 Article in press: July 25, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

A 72-year-old woman with a sigmoid colon cancer and a synchronous colorectal liver metastasis (CRLM), which involved the right hepatic vein (RHV) and the inferior vena cava (IVC), was referred to our hospital. The metastatic lesion was diagnosed as initially unresectable because of its invasion into the confluence of the RHV and IVC. After she had undergone laparoscopic sigmoidectomy for the original tumor, she consequently had 3 courses of modified 5-fluorouracil, leucovorin, and oxaliplatin (mFOLFOX6) plus cetuximab. Computed tomography revealed a partial response, and the confluence of the RHV and IVC got free from cancer invasion. After 3 additional courses of mFOLFOX6 plus cetuximab, preoperative percutaneous transhepatic portal vein embolization (PTPE) was performed to secure the future remnant liver volume. Finally, a right hemihepatectomy was performed. The postoperative course was uneventful. The patient was discharged from the hospital on postoperative day 13. She had neither local recurrence nor distant metastasis 18 mo after the last surgical intervention. This multidisciplinary strategy, consisting of conversion chemotherapy using FOLFOX plus cetuximab and PTPE, could contribute in facilitating curative hepatic resection for initially unresectable CRLM.

Key words: Initially unresectable; Colorectal liver metastasis; Conversion chemotherapy; Cetuximab; Percutaneous transhepatic portal vein embolization

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: A 72-year-old woman with a sigmoid colon



cancer and a synchronous colorectal liver metastasis (CRLM) was referred to our hospital. The metastatic lesion was diagnosed to be initially unresectable. After she had undergone laparoscopic sigmoidectomy for the original tumor, she consequently had 6 courses of modified 5-fluorouracil, leucovorin, and oxaliplatin plus cetuximab, resulting in conversion chemotherapy. Preoperative percutaneous transhepatic portal vein embolization was performed to secure the future remnant liver volume. Finally, a right hemihepatectomy was successfully performed. The postoperative course was uneventful. She had no recurrence for 18 mo. This multidisciplinary strategy could contribute in facilitating curative hepatic resection for initially unresectable CRLM.

Baba K, Oshita A, Kohyama M, Inoue S, Kuroo Y, Yamaguchi T, Nakamura H, Sugiyama Y, Tazaki T, Sasaki M, Imamura Y, Daimaru Y, Ohdan H, Nakamitsu A. Successful treatment of conversion chemotherapy for initially unresectable synchronous colorectal liver metastasis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1982-1988 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet. com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/1982.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1982

INTRODUCTION

The incidence of colorectal cancer is increasing, and it is now the fourth leading cause of cancer deaths worldwide^[1]. According to GLOBOCAN 2008 estimates, about 12.7 million cancer cases and 7.6 million cancer deaths were estimated to have occurred in 2008^[2]. Over half of patients with colorectal cancer will develop metastatic disease, with a quarter having distant metastatic lesions at diagnosis, often in the liver^[3]. Although hepatic resection remains the only potentially curative treatment in patients with colorectal liver metastasis (CRLM)^[4-7], only 15% to 20% of patients with CRLM are suitable for surgical resection^[8,9]. Here, we report a case of conversion chemotherapy using 5-fluorouracil, leucovorin, and oxaliplatin (FOLFOX) plus cetuximab, combined with portal vein embolization, which led to a successfully curative liver resection in a patient with initially unresectable synchronous CRLM.

CASE REPORT

A 72-year-old woman with a high level of carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) was referred to our hospital for the further diagnosis from a previous physician. She had no previous history of serious diseases, operations, or hospitalizations. She had a family history of gastric cancer on her mother's side. Laboratory workup showed that CEA level had increased to 27.0 ng/mL, and serum levels of transaminases were slightly elevated. Total colonoscopy revealed a tumor at the sigmoid colon. Computed tomography (CT) revealed a synchronous CRLM. It was diagnosed as unresectable due to its invasion of the right hepatic vein (RHV) and the inferior vena cava (IVC) (Figure 1A and B). Thus, she underwent just a sigmoidectomy with lymph node dissection. Histopathological analysis resulted in the diagnosis of a well-to-moderately differentiated adenocarcinoma. Since the cancer cells were found to have wild-type KRAS, a combination therapy of mFOLFOX6 with cetuximab [Day 1: 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) 400 mg/m² bolus injection; leucovorin (LV) 200 $mg/(m^2.2 h)$ with oxaliplatin (L-OHP) 85 $mg/(m^2.2 h)$; cetuximab 250 mg/(m².2 h); 5-FU 2400 mg/(m².46 h) continuous infusion; Day 8: cetuximab 250 mg/ (m².1 h), every 2 wk] was chosen as the first-line chemotherapy, considering the possibility of conversion chemotherapy. Follow-up CT revealed that the CRLM had a partial response, and that the confluence of the RHV and IVC was free from cancer invasion after 3 courses of systemic chemotherapy (Figure 1C and D). In addition, the serum level of CEA decreased significantly (Figure 2). The residual liver volume was regarded as insufficient for right hemihepatectomy. Thus, percutaneous transhepatic portal embolization (PTPE) was carried out after an additional 3 courses of chemotherapy. Three weeks after PTPE, CT revealed an increase of the estimated future remnant liver ratio from 36.2% to 46.9%, with no detectable presence of any other metastatic lesion. This CRLM was finally regarded as resectable with a normal hepatic functional reserve (Table 1). Six weeks after the last course of chemotherapy, a right hemihepatectomy and cholecystectomy were performed because of the invasion to the right branch of the portal vein. After the mobilization of the right lobe and the completion of hepatic transection, the RHV and a part of the IVC was side-clamped with a Satinsky clamp and divided. The surgical margins, observed with a frozen section, had no malignancy. The side-clamped IVC was simply closed with a continuous suture without severe stenosis. The postoperative course was uneventful. The patient was discharged on postoperative day 13. The histopathological analysis revealed a welldifferentiated adenocarcinoma, consistent with CRLM. The tumor was comprised of approximately 50% viable cancer cells, and the remainder was necrotic (Figure 3). The patient had an additional 6 courses of mFOLFOX6 after hepatectomy. She had neither local recurrence nor distant metastasis 18 mo after the last surgical intervention.

DISCUSSION

Liver resection is the only potentially curative treatment with an expectation of long-term survival in patients with CRLM^[4-7]. However, approximately 80% of patients with CRLM have unresectable disease,



Baba K et al. Conversion chemotherapy for initially unresectable CRLM



Figure 1 Enhanced computed tomography. A, B: Before chemotherapy. A huge synchronous colorectal liver metastasis was involving the right hepatic vein (RHV; arrow) and the inferior vena cava (IVC; arrowhead); C, D: After chemotherapy. The tumor was dramatically reduced, and the IVC was isolated from the tumor (arrowhead).



Figure 2 Serum levels of carcinoembryonic antigen. FOLFOX: 5-fluorouracil, leucovorin, and oxaliplatin; Cet: Cetuximab; PTPE: Percutaneous transhepatic portal vein embolization.

and long-term survival is poor in this setting^[10]. In selected patients with unresectable metastases, CRLM may be down-staged by systemic chemotherapy with or without molecular targeted therapy, so that liver resection may be completed^[11-15]. Once a complete curative resection is achieved, long-term survival would be expected, even in patients with initially unresectable CRLM^[10,16-19]. Moreover, there is a positive correlation between the response rate to chemotherapy and the resection rate of liver metastases^[20]. Therefore, response rates are very important when selecting

patients for resection.

Currently, L-OHP and irinotecan have been widely used for patients with CRLM. The resection rate is significantly higher in patients receiving FOLFOX (5-FU + LV + L-OHP) than in those receiving FOLFIRI (5-FU + LV + irinotecan), according to a randomized GERCOR study^[21]. To make matters worse, preoperative treatment with irinotecan has been reported to be associated with an increased risk of steatohepatitis. Steatohepatitis is associated with an increase in 90-day mortality after hepatic surgery^[22]. While, L-OHP-based chemotherapy is associated with a significantly higher incidence of sinusoidal obstruction syndrome (SOS)^[23,24]. SOS resulted in a poorer hepatic functional reserve and in a higher complication rate after major hepatectomy^[24], but with no increase in mortality^[22]. Therefore, we selected mFOLFOX6 as first-line chemotherapy, considering the future possibility of liver surgery.

The development of efficient molecular-targeted drugs, such as cetuximab or bevacizumab, have opened new perspectives in the treatment of resectable and unresectable liver metastases. In patients with KRAS wild-type tumors, chemotherapy with cetuximab yields high response rates compared with historical controls, and leads to significantly increased resectability^[25-29]. The phase III NORDIC7 and COIN trials reported that first-line L-OHP-based chemotherapy plus cetuximab has no confirmed

Table 1	Laboratory data
WBC	6000/L
RBC	$343 \times 10^4 / L$
Hb	10.7 g/dL
Hct	34.6%
Plt	$24.8 \times 10^4 / L$
PT	100.1%
HPT	75.7%
AT3	107%
CEA	2.9 ng/mL
CA19-9	14.1 U/mL
ICG-R15	6.7%
CRP	0.077 mg/dL
T-Bil	0.5 mg/dL
AST	29 IU/L
ALT	24 IU/L
LDH	220 IU/L
γ - GTP	72 IU/L
ALP	385 IU/L
CHE	112 IU/L
T-cho	164 mg/dL
TP	6.1 g/dL
Alb	3.4 g/dL
BUN	15 mg/dL
Cre	0.62 mg/dL
Na	141 mEq/L
Κ	4.2 mEq/L
C1	108 mEq/L
Ca	8.6 mEq/L

Hb: Hemoglobin; Hct: Hematocrit; Plt: Platelet; PT: Prothrombin time; HPT: Hepaplastin test; AT3: Antithrombin III; CEA: Carcinoembryonic antigen; CA19-9: Carbohydrate antigen 19-9; ICG-R15: Indocyanine green retention rate at 15 min; CRP: C-reactive protein; T-Bil: Total bilirubin; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase; γ-GTP: Gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase; ALP: Alanine phosphatase; CHE: Cholinesterase; T-cho: Total cholesterol; TP: Total protein; Alb: Albumin; BUN: Blood urea nitrogen; Cre: Creatinine.

benefit^[30,31]. However, in the NORDIC7 trial, patients received FLOX plus cetuximab, and in the COIN trial, patients received FOLFOX or XELOX (capecitabine + L-OHP) plus cetuximab. On the other hand, in the CELIM study^[32], the response rates were significantly higher in patients whose tumors were wild type for KRAS (46 of 67 patients, 70%) than in those with KRAS mutations (11 of 27 patients, 41%). The R0 resection rates were 38% *vs* 30% (25 of 52 *vs* 18 of 44 patients) for FOLFOX plus cetuximab *vs* FOLFIRI plus cetuximab, respectively. Therefore, we selected FOLFOX plus cetuximab as the chemotherapy regimen.

It is quite difficult to predict the response to the tumor with chemotherapy. Negri *et al*^[33] and Catalano *et al*^[34] reported that mucinous histology predicts for poor response rate and overall survival in patients with colorectal cancer with fluorouracil-based or oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy. In our case, the histology of the original site was well-to-moderately differentiated adenocarcinoma. It might lead a good response with mFOLFOX6 plus cetuximab.

To secure the future remnant liver volume, PTPE may be considered as an option in selected patients^[35-37].

Baba K et al. Conversion chemotherapy for initially unresectable CRLM



Figure 3 Resected specimen. A: Cut surface. The tumor was 70 mm × 40 mm in size. The tumor was grayish-white and stony hard; B, C: Hematoxylin and eosin (HE) staining of the resected specimen; B: HE staining, × 400. Adenocarcinoma; C: HE, × 100. Approximately 50% of the adenocarcinoma was necrotic.

The purpose of preoperative PTPE is to initiate compensatory hypertrophy in the future remnant liver in an attempt to counteract liver failure after major hepatectomy^[38-40]. Nagino *et al*^[41] underlined that indocyanine green clearance of the future liver remnant after PTPE should be more than 0.05 for major hepatectomy in patients with biliary cancers. However, liver function of our case was damaged due to 6 courses of FOLFOX. As an indication of PTPE for the patient with chemotherapy associated steatohepatitis remains controversial, it is to be elucidated.

There is no evidence on how many courses are the most effective for facilitating surgical resection in patients responsive to chemotherapy. It has been reported that the median duration of response to FOLFOX ranges from 4 to 6 courses^[21,42]. Use of more than 6 courses of L-OHP-based chemotherapy is significantly associated with SOS^[24]. Among patients undergoing a major hepatectomy, SOS was associated with significantly higher morbidity and longer hospital stays^[24]. Therefore, preoperative chemotherapy was performed for total of 6 courses.

In conclusion, we herein report a case successfully treated with a multidisciplinary strategy, consisting of conversion chemotherapy using FOLFOX plus cetuximab and PTPE. This strategy may contribute to improve resectability for initially unresectable CRLM, thus leading to prolonged survival.

COMMENTS

Case characteristics

A 72-year-old female with a high level of carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) was referred to our hospital.

Clinical diagnosis

The patient had no clinical symptoms.

Differential diagnosis

A high level of CEA are associated with adenocarcinoma; colon cancer, stomach cancer, lung cancer, pancreatic cancer, and so on.

Laboratory diagnosis

Laboratory workup showed that CEA level increased to 27.0 ng/mL.

Imaging diagnosis

Computed tomography revealed a synchronous colorectal liver metastasis, which involved the right hepatic vein and the inferior vena cava.

Pathological diagnosis

Histopathological analysis resulted in the diagnosis of a well-to-moderately differentiated adenocarcinoma, and the cancer cells were found to have wild-type KRAS.

Treatment

The patient underwent laparoscopic sigmoidectomy, followed by 5-fluorouracil, leucovorin, and oxaliplatin plus cetuximab, portal vein embolization for future remnant liver volume, and a right hemihepatectomy.

Term explanation

Conversion chemotherapy is a method that liver resection becomes possible by intensive chemotherapy, in patients with initially unresectable colorectal liver metastases (CRLM).

Experiences and lessons

In selected patients with unresectable metastases, CRLM may be down-staged by systemic chemotherapy with or without molecular targeted therapy, so that liver resection may be completed.

Peer-review

Conversion chemotherapy might lead to a successfully curative liver resection in a patient with initially unresectable synchronous CRLM. However, it depends on patients if systemic chemotherapy is effective.

REFERENCES

- Ferlay J, Shin HR, Bray F, Forman D, Mathers C, Parkin DM. Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBOCAN 2008. *Int J Cancer* 2010; 127: 2893-2917 [PMID: 21351269 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.25516]
- 2 Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. *CA Cancer J Clin* 2011; **61**: 69-90 [PMID: 21296855 DOI: 10.3322/caac.20107]
- 3 O'Connell JB, Maggard MA, Ko CY. Colon cancer survival rates with the new American Joint Committee on Cancer sixth edition staging. J Natl Cancer Inst 2004; 96: 1420-1425 [PMID: 15467030 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djh275]

- 4 Adam R, Pascal G, Azoulay D, Tanaka K, Castaing D, Bismuth H. Liver resection for colorectal metastases: the third hepatectomy. *Ann Surg* 2003; 238: 871-883; discussion 883-884 [PMID: 14631224 DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000098112.04758.4e]
- 5 Fong Y, Fortner J, Sun RL, Brennan MF, Blumgart LH. Clinical score for predicting recurrence after hepatic resection for metastatic colorectal cancer: analysis of 1001 consecutive cases. *Ann Surg* 1999; 230: 309-318; discussion 318-321 [PMID: 10493478 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-199909000-00004]
- 6 Minagawa M, Makuuchi M, Torzilli G, Takayama T, Kawasaki S, Kosuge T, Yamamoto J, Imamura H. Extension of the frontiers of surgical indications in the treatment of liver metastases from colorectal cancer: long-term results. *Ann Surg* 2000; 231: 487-499 [PMID: 10749608 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-200004000-00006]
- 7 Jaeck D, Bachellier P, Guiguet M, Boudjema K, Vaillant JC, Balladur P, Nordlinger B. Long-term survival following resection of colorectal hepatic metastases. Association Française de Chirurgie. Br J Surg 1997; 84: 977-980 [PMID: 9240140 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.1800840719]
- 8 Steele G, Ravikumar TS. Resection of hepatic metastases from colorectal cancer. Biologic perspective. *Ann Surg* 1989; 210: 127-138 [PMID: 2667471 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-198908000-00 001]
- 9 Scheele J. Hepatectomy for liver metastases. Br J Surg 1993; 80: 274-276 [PMID: 8472130 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.1800800302]
- 10 Adam R, Delvart V, Pascal G, Valeanu A, Castaing D, Azoulay D, Giacchetti S, Paule B, Kunstlinger F, Ghémard O, Levi F, Bismuth H. Rescue surgery for unresectable colorectal liver metastases downstaged by chemotherapy: a model to predict long-term survival. *Ann Surg* 2004; 240: 644-657; discussion 657-658 [PMID: 15383792]
- 11 Fowler WC, Eisenberg BL, Hoffman JP. Hepatic resection following systemic chemotherapy for metastatic colorectal carcinoma. *J Surg Oncol* 1992; **51**: 122-125 [PMID: 1405651 DOI: 10.1002/jso.2930510212]
- 12 Elias D, Lasser P, Rougier P, Ducreux M, Bognel C, Roche A. Frequency, technical aspects, results, and indications of major hepatectomy after prolonged intra-arterial hepatic chemotherapy for initially unresectable hepatic tumors. *J Am Coll Surg* 1995; 180: 213-219 [PMID: 7850058]
- 13 Bismuth H, Adam R, Lévi F, Farabos C, Waechter F, Castaing D, Majno P, Engerran L. Resection of nonresectable liver metastases from colorectal cancer after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Ann Surg* 1996; 224: 509-20; discussion 520-2 [PMID: 8857855 DOI: 10.10 97/0000658-199610000-00009]
- 14 Meric F, Patt YZ, Curley SA, Chase J, Roh MS, Vauthey JN, Ellis LM. Surgery after downstaging of unresectable hepatic tumors with intra-arterial chemotherapy. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2000; 7: 490-495 [PMID: 10947016 DOI: 10.1007/s10434-000-0490-2]
- 15 Shankar A, Leonard P, Renaut AJ, Lederman J, Lees WR, Gillams AR, Harrison E, Taylor I. Neo-adjuvant therapy improves resectability rates for colorectal liver metastases. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl* 2001; 83: 85-88 [PMID: 11320935]
- 16 Giacchetti S, Itzhaki M, Gruia G, Adam R, Zidani R, Kunstlinger F, Brienza S, Alafaci E, Bertheault-Cvitkovic F, Jasmin C, Reynes M, Bismuth H, Misset JL, Lévi F. Long-term survival of patients with unresectable colorectal cancer liver metastases following infusional chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil, leucovorin, oxaliplatin and surgery. *Ann Oncol* 1999; 10: 663-669 [PMID: 10442188 DOI: 10.1023/A:1008347829017]
- 17 Adam R, Wicherts DA, de Haas RJ, Ciacio O, Lévi F, Paule B, Ducreux M, Azoulay D, Bismuth H, Castaing D. Patients with initially unresectable colorectal liver metastases: is there a possibility of cure? *J Clin Oncol* 2009; 27: 1829-1835 [PMID: 19273699 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2008.19.9273]
- Akgül Ö, Çetinkaya E, Ersöz Ş, Tez M. Role of surgery in colorectal cancer liver metastases. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 6113-6122 [PMID: 24876733 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i20.6113]
- 19 Hasegawa K, Takahashi M, Ohba M, Kaneko J, Aoki T, Sakamoto



Y, Sugawara Y, Kokudo N. Perioperative chemotherapy and liver resection for hepatic metastases of colorectal cancer. *J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci* 2012; **19**: 503-508 [PMID: 22426591 DOI: 10.1007/s00534-012-0509-7]

- 20 Folprecht G, Grothey A, Alberts S, Raab HR, Köhne CH. Neoadjuvant treatment of unresectable colorectal liver metastases: correlation between tumour response and resection rates. *Ann Oncol* 2005; 16: 1311-1319 [PMID: 15870084 DOI: 10.1093/ annonc/mdi246]
- 21 Tournigand C, André T, Achille E, Lledo G, Flesh M, Mery-Mignard D, Quinaux E, Couteau C, Buyse M, Ganem G, Landi B, Colin P, Louvet C, de Gramont A. FOLFIRI followed by FOLFOX6 or the reverse sequence in advanced colorectal cancer: a randomized GERCOR study. *J Clin Oncol* 2004; 22: 229-237 [PMID: 14657227 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2004.05.113]
- 22 Vauthey JN, Pawlik TM, Ribero D, Wu TT, Zorzi D, Hoff PM, Xiong HQ, Eng C, Lauwers GY, Mino-Kenudson M, Risio M, Muratore A, Capussotti L, Curley SA, Abdalla EK. Chemotherapy regimen predicts steatohepatitis and an increase in 90-day mortality after surgery for hepatic colorectal metastases. *J Clin Oncol* 2006; 24: 2065-2072 [PMID: 16648507 DOI: 10.1200/ JCO.2005.05.3074]
- 23 Rubbia-Brandt L, Audard V, Sartoretti P, Roth AD, Brezault C, Le Charpentier M, Dousset B, Morel P, Soubrane O, Chaussade S, Mentha G, Terris B. Severe hepatic sinusoidal obstruction associated with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Ann Oncol* 2004; 15: 460-466 [PMID: 14998849 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdh095]
- 24 Nakano H, Oussoultzoglou E, Rosso E, Casnedi S, Chenard-Neu MP, Dufour P, Bachellier P, Jaeck D. Sinusoidal injury increases morbidity after major hepatectomy in patients with colorectal liver metastases receiving preoperative chemotherapy. *Ann Surg* 2008; 247: 118-124 [PMID: 18156931 DOI: 10.1097/ SLA.0b013e31815774de]
- 25 Van Cutsem E, Köhne CH, Hitre E, Zaluski J, Chang Chien CR, Makhson A, D'Haens G, Pintér T, Lim R, Bodoky G, Roh JK, Folprecht G, Ruff P, Stroh C, Tejpar S, Schlichting M, Nippgen J, Rougier P. Cetuximab and chemotherapy as initial treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2009; **360**: 1408-1417 [PMID: 19339720 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0805019]
- 26 Stintzing S, Fischer von Weikersthal L, Decker T, Vehling-Kaiser U, Jäger E, Heintges T, Stoll C, Giessen C, Modest DP, Neumann J, Jung A, Kirchner T, Scheithauer W, Heinemann V. FOLFIRI plus cetuximab versus FOLFIRI plus bevacizumab as first-line treatment for patients with metastatic colorectal cancer-subgroup analysis of patients with KRAS: mutated tumours in the randomised German AIO study KRK-0306. *Ann Oncol* 2012; 23: 1693-1699 [PMID: 22219013 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdr571]
- 27 Okines A, Puerto OD, Cunningham D, Chau I, Van Cutsem E, Saltz L, Cassidy J. Surgery with curative-intent in patients treated with first-line chemotherapy plus bevacizumab for metastatic colorectal cancer First BEAT and the randomised phase-III NO16966 trial. Br J Cancer 2009; 101: 1033-1038 [PMID: 19789532 DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6605259]
- 28 Bokemeyer C, Bondarenko I, Makhson A, Hartmann JT, Aparicio J, de Braud F, Donea S, Ludwig H, Schuch G, Stroh C, Loos AH, Zubel A, Koralewski P. Fluorouracil, leucovorin, and oxaliplatin with and without cetuximab in the first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2009; 27: 663-671 [PMID: 19114683 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2008.20.8397]
- 29 Ocvirk J, Brodowicz T, Wrba F, Ciuleanu TE, Kurteva G, Beslija S, Koza I, Pápai Z, Messinger D, Yilmaz U, Faluhelyi Z, Yalcin S, Papamichael D, Wenczl M, Mrsic-Krmpotic Z, Shacham-Shmueli E, Vrbanec D, Esser R, Scheithauer W, Zielinski CC. Cetuximab plus FOLFOX6 or FOLFIRI in metastatic colorectal cancer: CECOG trial. *World J Gastroenterol* 2010; **16**: 3133-3143 [PMID: 20593498 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v16.i25.3133]
- 30 Tveit KM, Guren T, Glimelius B, Pfeiffer P, Sorbye H, Pyrhonen S,

Sigurdsson F, Kure E, Ikdahl T, Skovlund E, Fokstuen T, Hansen F, Hofsli E, Birkemeyer E, Johnsson A, Starkhammar H, Yilmaz MK, Keldsen N, Erdal AB, Dajani O, Dahl O, Christoffersen T. Phase III trial of cetuximab with continuous or intermittent fluorouracil, leucovorin, and oxaliplatin (Nordic FLOX) versus FLOX alone in first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer: the NORDIC-VII study. *J Clin Oncol* 2012; **30**: 1755-1762 [PMID: 22473155 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2011.38.0915]

- 31 Maughan TS, Adams RA, Smith CG, Meade AM, Seymour MT, Wilson RH, Idziaszczyk S, Harris R, Fisher D, Kenny SL, Kay E, Mitchell JK, Madi A, Jasani B, James MD, Bridgewater J, Kennedy MJ, Claes B, Lambrechts D, Kaplan R, Cheadle JP. Addition of cetuximab to oxaliplatin-based first-line combination chemotherapy for treatment of advanced colorectal cancer: results of the randomised phase 3 MRC COIN trial. *Lancet* 2011; 377: 2103-2114 [PMID: 21641636 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60613-2]
- 32 Folprecht G, Gruenberger T, Bechstein WO, Raab HR, Lordick F, Hartmann JT, Lang H, Frilling A, Stoehlmacher J, Weitz J, Konopke R, Stroszczynski C, Liersch T, Ockert D, Herrmann T, Goekkurt E, Parisi F, Köhne CH. Tumour response and secondary resectability of colorectal liver metastases following neoadjuvant chemotherapy with cetuximab: the CELIM randomised phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2010; 11: 38-47 [PMID: 19942479 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70330-4]
- 33 Negri FV, Wotherspoon A, Cunningham D, Norman AR, Chong G, Ross PJ. Mucinous histology predicts for reduced fluorouracil responsiveness and survival in advanced colorectal cancer. *Ann Oncol* 2005; 16: 1305-1310 [PMID: 15857840 DOI: 10.1093/ annonc/mdi244]
- 34 Catalano V, Loupakis F, Graziano F, Torresi U, Bisonni R, Mari D, Fornaro L, Baldelli AM, Giordani P, Rossi D, Alessandroni P, Giustini L, Silva RR, Falcone A, D'Emidio S, Fedeli SL. Mucinous histology predicts for poor response rate and overall survival of patients with colorectal cancer and treated with first-line oxaliplatin- and/or irinotecan-based chemotherapy. *Br J Cancer* 2009; 100: 881-887 [PMID: 19259089 DOI: 10.1038/ sj.bjc.6604955]
- 35 Kinoshita H, Sakai K, Hirohashi K, Igawa S, Yamasaki O, Kubo S. Preoperative portal vein embolization for hepatocellular carcinoma. *World J Surg* 1986; 10: 803-808 [PMID: 3022488 DOI: 10.1007/ BF01655244]
- 36 Honjo I, Suzuki T, Ozawa K, Takasan H, Kitamura O. Ligation of a branch of the portal vein for carcinoma of the liver. *Am J Surg* 1975; 130: 296-302 [PMID: 170837 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9610(75) 90389-X]
- 37 Chun YS, Vauthey JN, Ribero D, Donadon M, Mullen JT, Eng C, Madoff DC, Chang DZ, Ho L, Kopetz S, Wei SH, Curley SA, Abdalla EK. Systemic chemotherapy and two-stage hepatectomy for extensive bilateral colorectal liver metastases: perioperative safety and survival. *J Gastrointest Surg* 2007; **11**: 1498-1504; discussion 1504-1505 [PMID: 17849166 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-007-0272-2]
- 38 Makuuchi M, Thai BL, Takayasu K, Takayama T, Kosuge T, Gunvén P, Yamazaki S, Hasegawa H, Ozaki H. Preoperative portal embolization to increase safety of major hepatectomy for hilar bile duct carcinoma: a preliminary report. *Surgery* 1990; **107**: 521-527 [PMID: 2333592]
- 39 Nagino M, Nimura Y, Kamiya J, Kondo S, Uesaka K, Kin Y, Hayakawa N, Yamamoto H. Changes in hepatic lobe volume in biliary tract cancer patients after right portal vein embolization. *Hepatology* 1995; 21: 434-439 [PMID: 7843717]
- 40 **Ribero D**, Chun YS, Vauthey JN. Standardized liver volumetry for portal vein embolization. *Semin Intervent Radiol* 2008; **25**: 104-109 [PMID: 21326551 DOI: 10.1055/s-2008-1076681]
- 41 **Nagino M**, Kamiya J, Nishio H, Ebata T, Arai T, Nimura Y. Two hundred forty consecutive portal vein embolizations before extended hepatectomy for biliary cancer: surgical outcome and

WJG www.wjgnet.com

long-term follow-up. *Ann Surg* 2006; **243**: 364-372 [PMID: 16495702 DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000201482.11876.14]

42 **de Gramont A**, Figer A, Seymour M, Homerin M, Hmissi A, Cassidy J, Boni C, Cortes-Funes H, Cervantes A, Freyer G, Papamichael D, Le Bail N, Louvet C, Hendler D, de Braud F, Wilson C, Morvan F, Bonetti A. Leucovorin and fluorouracil with or without oxaliplatin as first-line treatment in advanced colorectal cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2000; **18**: 2938-2947 [PMID: 10944126]

P- Reviewer: Bujanda L, Shao R, Sulkowski S S- Editor: Gou SX L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1989 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1989-1993 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

CASE REPORT

Rapidly aggravated skeletal muscle metastases from an intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma

Jiyoung Lee, Sung Wook Lee, Sang Young Han, Yang Hyun Baek, Su Young Kim, Hyo In Rhyou

Jiyoung Lee, Sung Wook Lee, Sang Young Han, Yang Hyun Baek, Su Young Kim, Hyo In Rhyou, Department of internal medicine, Dong-A University, College of Medicine, Busan 602-715, South Korea

Author contributions: Lee J and Lee SW designed the research; Lee J and Kim SY collected the patient's clinical data; Han SY and Baek YH analyzed the data; Lee J and Rhyou HI wrote the paper.

Supported by Dong-A University Hospital, Pusan, South Korea. Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Sung Wook Lee, MD, Department of internal medicine, Dong-A University, College of Medicine, 26 Daeshingongwonro, Seo-Gu, Busan 602-715,

South Korea. sunglee@dau.ac.kr Telephone: +82-51-240-2983 Fax: +82-51-242-5852 Received: June 26, 2014 Peer-review started: June 26, 2014 First decision: August 6, 2014 Revised: September 11, 2014 Accepted: October 14, 2014 Article in press: October 15, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

We present a rare case of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma (ICC) with multiple skeletal muscle metastases. The patient was a 55-year-old Asian woman presenting with abdominal pain; abdominal and pelvic computed tomography and magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography revealed an unresectable ICC with hepatic metastasis and metastastatic lymphadenopathy in the porto-caval area. After 3 mo of treatment with palliative radiotherapy and chemotherapy, magnetic resonance imaging of the thoracolumbar spine detected right psoas muscle and paraspinous muscle metastases. We performed an ultrasound-guided percutaneous fineneedle biopsy that confirmed a similar pattern of poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma. The patient treated with palliative chemotherapy and achieved 10 mo of survival. Here we report the first case quickly spread to multiple sites of muscle even though the three-month treatment, compare to the other cases reported muscle metastases at diagnosis.

Key words: Intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma; Skeletal muscle metastasis; Adenocarcinoma

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: The case presented with multiple skeletal muscle metastases from an intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma which only 5 cases have been reported so far.

Lee J, Lee SW, Han SY, Baek YH, Kim SY, Rhyou HI. Rapidly aggravated skeletal muscle metastases from an intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1989-1993 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/ v21/i6/1989.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1989

INTRODUCTION

An intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma (ICC) is a malignant tumor that originates in the small bile ducts. The risk factors for cholangiocarcinoma are primary sclerosing cholangitis, biliary-duct cysts, hepatolithiasis, liver fluke infections, and conditions such as hepatitis B infection, hepatitis C infection, obesity, and cirrhosis^[1]. Surgical resection is the only treatment



Lee J et al. Muscle metastasis from intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma



Figure 1 Computed tomography, magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography, and positron-emission tomography-computed tomography showing an intrahepatic cholangiocalcinoma in the liver at first diagnosis. A: Computed tomography axial scan shows an ill-defined, low-attenuation mass in segments S1 and S5 of the liver; B: Contrast-enhanced, T1-weighted, axial image shows the 6-cm, peripherally enhanced mass in segments S1, S5, and S8; C and D: In the positron-emission tomography-computed tomography images, an area of strong hypermetabolism is noted (arrows), corresponding to the 6-cm soft tissue mass in the liver (maximum standardized uptake value, 10.4).

modality providing a chance for cure; the reported median survival, after surgical resection, ranges from 16 to 46 mo, with a 5-year survival rate of 21%-25%^[2]. If the tumor is unresectable, the median survival is less than 1 year. In this setting, patients may need palliative therapies such as surgical or endoscopic biliary drainage, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, radiofrequency ablation, hepatic intraarterial chemotherapy, photodynamic therapy or stenting^[3].

Common metastatic sites for ICC are the regional lymph nodes (hilar, peripancreatic, and periaortic lymph nodes) and adjacent organs. Hematogenous ICC metastases commonly occur to distant organs, such as the lungs, bones, and adrenal glands, but skeletal muscle metastasis is unusual for any malignancy. Here, we describe an unusual case of distant skeletal muscle metastasis from an ICC.

CASE REPORT

A 55-year-old Asian woman presented to our gastroenterology department with abdominal pain. Ultrasound and contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CT) examinations of her abdomen and pelvis, reported by the referring hospital, showed an ill defined, low-density lesion in segments S1, S5, and S8 of liver (Figure 1A). The patient's past medical history included cholecystectomy with Roux-en-Y hepaticojejunostomy because of an intrahepatic duct stone, and common hepatic duct stones in 1995. In 2009, she had undergone coil-embolization for an unruptured aneurysm(12 mm \times 9 mm \times 10 mm) of her left internal carotid artery communicating segment. She denied tobacco or alcohol use, and her family medical history was unremarkable.

Upon admission, a physical examination determined her blood pressure (100/60 mmHg), pulse (70/min), respiration rate (20/min), and temperature (36.6 $^{\circ}$ C). Upon examination, the patient was not icteric but had right upper quadrant abdominal tenderness. Laboratory tests revealed her white blood cell 6330/µL (3000-9300/µL), platelet 214000/µL (140000-360000/ μL), hemoglobin 11.9 g/dL (11-15 g/dL), blood urea nitrogen 24 mg/dL (8-26 mg/dL), creatinine 0.8 mg/dL (0.7-1.0 mg/dL), aspartate aminotransferase 32 IU/L (0-35 IU/L), alanine aminotransferase 29 IU/L (10-35 IU/L), alkaline phosphatase 589 IU/L (104-338 IU/L), total bilirubin 0.6 mg/dL (0.2-1.2 mg/dL), alpha-fetoprotein 4.54 ng/mL (0-15 ng/mL), carcinoembryonic antigen 9.45 ng/mL (0-8 ng/mL), and carbohydrate antigen 19-9 3.01 U/mL(0-37 U/mL). All hepatic viral markers were negative, as was her chest radiograph. Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography (MRCP) showed a 5.7 cm, heterogeneous hepatic mass in S1, S5, and S8, and multiple hepatic metastases in the right lobe (Figure

Lee J et al. Muscle metastasis from intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma



Figure 2 Histopatholgic findings. A and C: Liver shows a poorly differentiated cholangiocarcinoma. (hematoxylin and eosin, x 40, x 400); B: Skeletal muscle tissue shows metastasis of a poorly differentiated cholangiocarcinoma (hematoxylin and eosin, x 40); D and E: Neoplastic glands were positive in cytokeratin 7 and cytokeratin 19 staining (immunostain, x 400).

1B). An ultrasound-guided percutaneous needle biopsy of the low-echoic liver mass was performed; histopathology confirmed a poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma (Figure 2A and C), which was positive for cytokeratins 7 and 19 (Figure 2D and E). Positronemission tomography-computed tomography (PET-CT) detected a 6 cm, hypermetabolic, intrahepatic malignancy involving S1, adjacent to the right lobe of the liver (maximum standardized uptake value, 10.41), multiple hepatic metastases in the right lobe, and metastatic lymphadenopathy in the porto-caval, common hepatic, and left para-aortic areas (Figure 1C and D).

The patient received palliative three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy, with a total dose of 4750 cGy in 19, 250 cGy fractions and concurrent chemotherapy with monthly intra-arterial floxuridine (0.3 mg/kg per day, days 1-14). After 3 mo of treatment, she complained of low back pain; magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of her thoracolumbar spine revealed metastatic masses in both the paraspinous and right psoas muscles (Figure 3A and B). An ultrasoundguided percutaneous needle biopsy of the low-echoic, paraspinous muscle confirmed a metastatic poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma (Figure 2B). PET-CT showed multiple, distant, metastatic hypermetabolic masses in her paravertebral area, left upper arm, bilateral periscapular area, anterior and posterior chest walls, bilateral psoas muscles, lower anterior abdominal wall, bilateral gluteal muscles, and bilateral

proximal thigh muscles (Figure 3C-F). The patient was then subjected to chemotherapy with once every 3 wk gemcitabine (1000 mg/m² per day) and cisplatin (100 mg/m² per day) but died 10 mo after diagnosis of this progressive disease.

DISCUSSION

Distant metastases to skeletal muscle are rare, despite the skeletal muscle accounting for approximately 50% of the total body mass and its abundant vascularization^[4]. The reason for this low metastatic rate is not well understood. The effects of lactic acid on tumor cell production^[5], and the influence of variable and turbulent blood flow, β -adrenergic stimulation, tissue oxygen levels, and host immune responses may provide protection to the skeletal muscle^[6]. Moreover, protease inhibitors in the extracellular matrix of the muscle may also help prevent cancer cell invasion^[7].

However, recent improvements in radiological procedures may facilitate a more frequent diagnosis of skeletal muscle metastasis. CT, MRI, ultrasound, 67 Ga scintigraphy, and PET-CT are useful for establishing a diagnosis of intramuscular metastasis. CT provides an accurate means of evaluating and defining the extent of skeletal muscle tumors and their relationship to adjacent bones, fascial planes, vessels, and fat. MRI is the gold standard for imaging of skeletal muscle disease and is a valuable modality in the detection of skeletal muscle metastasis^[8]. T1-

WJG www.wjgnet.com

Lee J et al. Muscle metastasis from intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma



Figure 3 Thoracolumbar spine magnetic resonance imaging and positron-emission tomography-computed tomography images show multiple skeletal metastases in a whole body scan after 3 mo of palliative radiochemotherapy from first diagnosis. A and B: T2-weighted, axial images show ill-defined, high signal intensity masses in the psoas and paraspinal muscles; C and D: Positron-emission tomography-computed tomography (PET-CT) images show multiple masses with hypermetabolism in the paravertebral area, left upper arm, bilateral periscapular area, anterior and posterior chest walls, bilateral psoas muscles, lower anterior abdominal wall, bilateral gluteal muscles, and both proximal thigh muscles; E and F: Follow-up PET-CT images show aggravated multiple muscle metastasis after 3 and 7 mo of gemcitabine-cisplatin combination chemotherapy.

Table 1	Clinical features of	patients with skeletal muscle metastasis

Patient No. (Ref.)	Age (yr)/sex	Ethnicities	Primary origin CC	Metastatic sites	Treatment	Follow-up (mo)	Outcome
1 ^[14]	48/F	NA	Extrahepatic-	Rectus femoris	Resection	8	Dead
2 ^[15]	45/M	Asian	Intrahepatic	Paraspinal muscle in thorax,	Chemotherapy,	4	Dead
				buttock	Radiation		
3 ^[4]	44/M	Asian	Intrahepatic-	Bilateral psoas and spinal erector	NA	NA	NA
				muscles			
$4^{[16]}$	69/W	NA	Extrahepatic-	Psoas and iliacus muscles	Radiation	2	Dead
5 ^[17]	72/M	NA	NA	Calf muscle	Resection	NA	NA

CC: Cholangiocarcinoma; NA: Not applicable.

weighted images of skeletal muscle metastasis have a low- to iso-intense signal, and there is high signal intensity in T2-weighted images^[9,10]. Since these findings are not specific for soft tissue metastasis of carcinomas, pathological examinations of biopsy specimens provide the most useful findings for differentiating soft tissue metastasis of a carcinoma from soft tissue sarcomas and abscesses.

Treatment guidelines have not been established for patients with carcinomas and distant skeletal muscle metastases. External beam radiation, chemotherapy, surgical resection of localized disease, and combination therapies have been considered for their potential improvement of patient symptoms, without any significant prolongation of survival. Hence, the prognosis for carcinoma patients with distant metastases to the skeletal muscle is poor, with a median survival of less than 12 mo^[11-13].

To our knowledge, only 5 other cases of metastases to skeletal muscle from cholangiocarcinoma have been reported in the world literature (Table 1).

In conclusion, we describe the first patient rapidly metastasized multiple sites of muscle from ICC even though the three-month palliative radiochemotherapy, compare to the other cases reported muscle metastases at diagnosis.

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

COMMENTS

Case characteristics

A 55-year-old Asian woman with a history of cholecystectomy with roux-en-Y hepaticojejunostomy because of IHD stones presented with abdominal pain.

Clinical diagnosis

On physical examination, the patient had tenderness over right upper quadrant of abdomen.

Differential diagnosis

Hepatocellularcarcinoma, cholangiocarcinoma, metastatic carcinoma

Laboratory diagnosis

WBC 6330/uL, AFP 4.54 ng/mL, CEA 9.45 ng/mL, and CA 19-9 3.01 U/mL; liver function test were within normal limits.

Imaging diagnosis

Computed tomography (CT)/positron-emission tomography (PET) scan showed 5.7 cm, heterogeneous hepatic mass in S1, S5, and S8 with SUV of 10.4, and follow-up PET-CT showed multiple, distant, metastatic hypermetabolic masses in her paravertebral area, left upper arm, bilateral periscapular area, anterior and posterior chest walls, bilateral psoas muscles, lower anterior abdominal wall, bilateral gluteal muscles, and bilateral proximal thigh muscles.

Pathological diagnosis

Ultrasound guided liver biopsy and muscle biopsy revealed a poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma of cytokeratins 7 and 19 positive.

Treatment

The patient was treated with concurrent chemotherapy(intra-arterial floxuridine) and radiation therapy (4750 cGy in 19, 250 cGy fractions) and then palliative Gemcitabine-cisplatin after progression.

Related reports

Only 5 other cases of metastatic carcinoma to muscle have been reported and the pathogenesis and treatment has not been established.

Term explanation

An intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma (ICC) is a malignant tumor that originates in the small bile ducts and rarely metastasized to skeletal muscle.

Experiences and lessons

This case report represents rapidly progressed to multiple muscle metastasis from ICC, compare to the other cases reported muscle metastases at diagnosis.

Peer-review

The case report of a "rapidly aggravated skeletal muscle metastases from an intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma" is very exciting data to the reader and may provide the novel important information of this cancer. However, the manuscript writing didn't focus and summarize the results to support the conclusion. Moreover, many points should be concerned before consideration to publish.

REFERENCES

- Tyson GL, El-Serag HB. Risk factors for cholangiocarcinoma. *Hepatology* 2011; 54: 173-184 [PMID: 21488076 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.24351]
- 2 Seyama Y, Kubota K, Sano K, Noie T, Takayama T, Kosuge T, Makuuchi M. Long-term outcome of extended hemihepatectomy

for hilar bile duct cancer with no mortality and high survival rate. Ann Surg 2003; **238**: 73-83 [PMID: 12832968 DOI: 10.1097/01. SLA.0000074960.55004.72]

- 3 Malhi H, Gores GJ. Cholangiocarcinoma: modern advances in understanding a deadly old disease. *J Hepatol* 2006; 45: 856-867 [PMID: 17030071 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2006.09.001]
- 4 Kwon OS, Jun DW, Kim SH, Chung MY, Kim NI, Song MH, Lee HH, Kim SH, Jo YJ, Park YS, Joo JE. Distant skeletal muscle metastasis from intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma presenting as Budd-Chiari syndrome. *World J Gastroenterol* 2007; 13: 3141-3143 [PMID: 17589935]
- 5 Seely S. Possible reasons for the high resistance of muscle to cancer. *Med Hypotheses* 1980; **6**: 133-137 [PMID: 7393016]
- 6 Sridhar KS, Rao RK, Kunhardt B. Skeletal muscle metastases from lung cancer. *Cancer* 1987; 59: 1530-1534 [PMID: 2434211]
- 7 Pauli BU, Schwartz DE, Thonar EJ, Kuettner KE. Tumor invasion and host extracellular matrix. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* 1983; 2: 129-152 [PMID: 6352011]
- 8 Pretorius ES, Fishman EK. Helical CT of skeletal muscle metastases from primary carcinomas. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 2000; 174: 401-404 [PMID: 10658714 DOI: 10.2214/ajr.174.2.1740401]
- 9 Amano Y, Kumazaki T. Gastric carcinoma metastasis to calf muscles: MR findings. *Radiat Med* 1996; 14: 35-36 [PMID: 8725376]
- 10 Williams JB, Youngberg RA, Bui-Mansfield LT, Pitcher JD. MR imaging of skeletal muscle metastases. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 1997; 168: 555-557 [PMID: 9016246 DOI: 10.2214/ajr.168.2.9016246]
- Porile JL, Olopade OI, Hoffman PC. Gastric adenocarcinoma presenting with soft tissue masses. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1990; 85: 76-77 [PMID: 2296968]
- 12 Kondo S, Onodera H, Kan S, Uchida S, Toguchida J, Imamura M. Intramuscular metastasis from gastric cancer. *Gastric Cancer* 2002; 5: 107-111 [PMID: 12111587 DOI: 10.1007/s101200200018]
- 13 Sudo A, Ogihara Y, Shiokawa Y, Fujinami S, Sekiguchi S. Intramuscular metastasis of carcinoma. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 1993; (296): 213-217 [PMID: 8222429]
- 14 Ding GH, Yang JH, Cheng SQ, Gong H, Liu K, Dai BH, Gong B, Zhao LH, Cong WM, Wu MC. Hilar Cholangiocarcinoma with Synchronous Metastases to Breast and Skeletal Muscle: A Case Report and Literature Review. *Zhongde Linchuang Zhongliuxue Zazhi* 2006; 5: P216-P218
- 15 Park SK, Kim YS, Kim SG, Jang JY, Moon JH, Lee MS, Kim BS, Koh ES, Park JM. Detection of distant metastasis to skeletal muscle by 18F-FDG-PET in a case of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. *Korean J Hepatol* 2010; 16: 325-328 [PMID: 20924217 DOI: 10.3350/kjhep.2010.16.3.325]
- 16 Li J, Henry MR, Roberts LR. Rare distant skeletal muscle metastasis from hilar cholangiocarcinoma: report of a case. J Gastrointest Cancer 2011; 42: 171-173 [PMID: 21153451 DOI: 10.1007/s12029-010-9237-x]
- 17 Yoshimura Y, Isobe K, Koike T, Arai H, Aoki K, Kato H. Metastatic carcinoma to subcutaneous tissue and skeletal muscle: clinicopathological features in 11 cases. *Jpn J Clin Oncol* 2011; 41: 358-364 [PMID: 21051532 DOI: 10.1093/jjco/hyq199]

P- Reviewer: Pinlaor S, Plentz RR S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: A E- Editor: Ma S





WJG | www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1994 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1994-1999 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

CASE REPORT

Retreatment with peginterferon and ribavirin in chronic hepatitis C

Yong Min Jo, Sung Wook Lee, Sang Young Han, Yang Hyun Baek, Soo Young Kim, Woo Jae Kim, Ji Hye Ahn, Ji Young Lee

Yong Min Jo, Sung Wook Lee, Sang Young Han, Yang Hyun Baek, Soo Young Kim, Woo Jae Kim, Ji Hye Ahn, Ji Young Lee, Department of Internal Medicine, Dong-A University School of Medicine, Busan 602-715, South Korea

Author contributions: Jo YM and Lee SW performed the majority of the clinical practice and experiments; Han SY and Baek YH provided the patient medical records; Kim SY and Kim WJ contributed to the editing of the manuscript; Jo YM, Ahn JH and Lee JY designed the study and wrote the manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Sung Wook Lee, MD, PhD, Department of Internal Medicine, Dong-A University School of Medicine, 3 Ga 1, Dongdaesin-dong, Seo-gu, Busan 602-715,

South Korea. sunglee@dau.ac.kr Telephone: +82-51-2405627 Fax: +82-51-2402087 Received: July 27, 2014 Peer-review started: July 27, 2014 First decision: August 15, 2014 Revised: October 27, 2014 Accepted: November 7, 2014 Article in press: November 11, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

The development of boceprevir and telaprevir was a major step forward in the treatment of chronic hepatitis C. In addition, the treatment of these infections has been recently revolutionized by the approval of sofosbuvir and simeprevir. However, there are several challenges associated with the application of novel drugs, such as new and more frequent adverse events, new drug interactions, and excessively high treatment costs. An additional concern is viral resistance. These considerations highlight the fact that direct-acting antiviral agents are not a panacea and may not be the best option for all patients who are in need of therapy. This retrospective study revealed that the sustained virologic response was not significantly reduced following peginterferon and ribavirin retreatment compared with the new therapy. We suggest that patients who experience relapse shortly after completing treatment with peginterferon and ribavirin have a reasonable chance of achieving a sustained virologic response when retreated with these drugs alone.

Key words: Chronic hepatitis C; Direct-acting antiviral agents; Peginterferon; Ribavirin; Retreatment

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Chronic hepatitis C-infected patients who experience relapse shortly after completing treatment with peginterferon and ribavirin have a reasonable chance of achieving a sustained virologic response when retreated with these drugs alone. Thus, it would be very reasonable to proceed with peginterferon and ribavirin retreatment alone, particularly in patients with factors associated with high rates of sustained virologic response, such as a low viral load at relapse (< 400000 IU/mL) and an early virologic response at week 12 of retreatment.

Jo YM, Lee SW, Han SY, Baek YH, Kim SY, Kim WJ, Ahn JH, Lee JY. Retreatment with peginterferon and ribavirin in chronic hepatitis C. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 1994-1999 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/ v21/i6/1994.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1994



INTRODUCTION

Hepatitis C is an infection caused by a viral attack on the liver, and leads to inflammation and chronic liver disease. The long-term consequences of hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection are minimal changes, chronic hepatitis, cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma^[1-3]. From 1995-2000, the overall prevalence of HCV infection among Koreans over 40 years of age was estimated to be 1.29%^[4]. Approximately 25% of chronically infected patients ultimately progress to cirrhosis and other complications^[5-8].

The aim of HCV treatment is to achieve sustained eradication of the virus and prevent progression to cirrhosis and related complications^[9]. Sustained virologic response (SVR) is the term used for successful treatment of HCV, and refers to the viremia 24 wk after completion of antiviral therapy^[10,11].

Initial treatment for chronic hepatitis C is carried out using a combination of conventional interferonalpha and ribavirin over a period of 24-48 wk according to the patient's genotype. Interferon-alpha has progressively been replaced by peginterferon, which has emerged as the most effective regimen^[12].

The recommended treatment for chronic hepatitis C infection consisted of combination therapy with peginterferon and ribavirin until May 2011, when the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) licensed the first direct-acting antiviral agents that directly impeded viral replication. In clinical trials of chronic hepatitis C patients receiving peginterferon and ribavirin combined with boceprevir or telaprevir, SVR has been accomplished in 63%-75% of treatment-naïve patients, in 69%-88% of peginterferon and ribavirin relapsers, and in up to 33% of peginterferon and ribavirin non-responders^[13-16]. Recently, the FDA has approved sofosbuvir and simeprevir for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C as components of a combination treatment regimen.

Triple therapy is connected with increased adverse events, and thus requires closer patient observation compared with the previous treatment. Additionally, boceprevir and telaprevir may induce HCV-resistant mutations, and it is likely that cross-resistance to direct-acting antiviral agents will emerge in some patients who are without SVR^[17,18]. The clinical impacts of resistance to sofosbuvir and simeprevir have not been well-established.

The aim of this retrospective study was to assess the efficacy of peginterferon and ribavirin therapy in patients with chronic hepatitis who have relapsed following an initial course of peginterferon-based therapy to facilitate the development of a novel treatment for HCV infection.

CASE REPORT

Case 1 The patient in this case was a 37-year-old male with a history of intravenous drug abuse. HCV infection was diagnosed in September 2008 on the basis of amplification of HCV RNA genotype 1b. Serum HCV RNA level was 585026 IU/mL at baseline. It was suggested that his HCV infection was caused by intravenous drug abuse. Physical examination was unremarkable. The serum aspartate aminotransferase (AST) level was 56 IU/L. Serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT), gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT), and alkaline phosphatase (ALP) were normal. The bilirubin, serum creatinine, and prothrombin time (PT) were normal. Liver function was reported as Child-Turcotte-Pugh (CTP) class A. Liver ultrasonography indicated chronic liver disease with mild splenomegaly.

In January 2009, combination therapy with peginterferon alpha-2a and ribavirin was initiated with the informed consent of the patient. Peginterferon alpha-2a was administered subcutaneously at a weekly dose of 180 μ g together with 1200 mg/d ribavirin for 48 wk. Serum HCV RNA levels were determined at baseline and at week 12 by quantitative PCR. The patient accomplished complete early virologic response (EVR). Additionally, he accomplished an end-of-treatment response (ETR) at week 48.

However, in March 2010, at 15 wk after the completion of treatment, the reappearance of serum HCV RNA was documented. The serum HCV RNA level was 13367 IU/mL. Immediately after virologic relapse was documented, combination therapy with peginterferon alpha-2b and ribavirin was initiated as retreatment. A weekly dose of 120 μ g peginterferon alpha-2b was administered subcutaneously together with 1200 mg/d ribavirin for 12 wk. The patient did not achieve a rapid virologic response (RVR) at week 4 of retreatment, but he did achieve complete EVR at week 12. Additionally, undetectable serum HCV RNA was determined at week 24 by qualitative PCR. The patient attained SVR at 24 wk following the discontinuation of retreatment.

Case 2

The patient in this case was a 58-year-old male with a chronic hepatitis C-infected spouse. HCV infection was diagnosed in February 2007 on the basis of amplification of HCV RNA genotype 1b. The serum HCV RNA level was 3420000 IU/mL at baseline, as determined by quantitative PCR. It was suggested that his HCV infection had been transmitted by sexual intercourse. Physical examination was unremarkable. The serum ALT level was 54 IU/L and the serum AST level was normal. The GGT level was 103 IU/L. The ALP level was normal. The serum creatinine and total bilirubin were normal. Liver function was reported as CTP class A. Liver ultrasonography indicated chronic liver disease with mild splenomegaly.

In February 2007, combination therapy with peginterferon alpha-2b and ribavirin was initiated with the informed consent of the patient. A weekly dose



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

of 100 μ g of peginterferon alpha-2b was administered subcutaneously together with 1200 mg/d of ribavirin for 29 wk. This patient tolerated the ribavirin well. Because of leukopenia, peginterferon alpha-2b was administered at a weekly dose of 80 μ g for the remaining treatment period. Serum HCV RNA levels were determined at baseline and at weeks 4 and 12 by quantitative PCR. Because of his partial EVR, undetectable serum HCV RNA was confirmed at week 24. The patient achieved ETR at week 48 of therapy.

However, in May 2008, at 11 wk after the end of antiviral therapy, the reappearance of serum HCV RNA was documented. The serum HCV RNA level was 536 IU/mL, as determined by quantitative PCR assay. Immediate virologic relapse was documented, and combination therapy with peginterferon alpha-2b and ribavirin was initiated as retreatment. Peginterferon alpha-2b was administered at a weekly dose of 80 μ g together with a 1200 mg/d ribavirin for 12 wk. The patient did not accomplish RVR at week 4 of retreatment, but did achieve complete EVR at week 12. Additionally, undetectable serum HCV RNA was determined at week 24. The patient achieved SVR at 24 wk following the discontinuation of retreatment.

Case 3

The third patient was a 60-year-old male with a chronic hepatitis C-infected spouse. HCV infection was diagnosed in April 2007 on the basis of amplification of HCV RNA genotype 1b. The serum HCV RNA level was 7710000 IU/mL at baseline, as determined by quantitative PCR. It was suggested that his HCV infection was transmitted by sexual intercourse. Physical examination was unremarkable. The serum AST level was 78 IU/L. The ALT, GGT, and ALP were normal. The PT, bilirubin, and serum creatinine were normal. Liver function was reported as CTP class A. Liver ultrasonography indicated chronic liver disease with mild splenomegaly.

In April 2007, combination therapy with peginterferon alpha-2b and ribavirin was initiated with the informed consent of the patient. Peginterferon alpha-2b was administered at a weekly dose of 80 μ g together with a daily dose of 1000 mg of ribavirin for 48 wk. Serum HCV RNA levels were determined at baseline and at weeks 4 and 12 by quantitative PCR. The patient did not achieve RVR, but did achieve a partial EVR. Because he did not attain complete EVR, undetectable serum HCV RNA was determined at week 24 by qualitative PCR. The patient attained an ETR at week 48 of therapy.

However, in May 2008, at 12 wk after the completion of antiviral therapy, the reappearance of HCV RNA in his serum was determined by qualitative PCR and a serum ALT level of 45 IU/L. Virologic relapse was immediately documented and peginterferon alpha-2b and ribavirin combination therapy was initiated as retreatment. Peginterferon alpha-2b was administered subcutaneously at a weekly dose of 80 μ g together with 1000 mg/d ribavirin for 12 wk. The serum ALT levels were 16, 23, and 20 IU/L at weeks 4, 12, and 24 of retreatment, respectively. This patient did not accomplish RVR at week 4 of retreatment, but did accomplish complete EVR at week 12. Additionally, undetectable serum HCV RNA was determined at week 24 by qualitative PCR. This patient attained SVR at 24 wk following the discontinuation of retreatment.

Case 4

The fourth patient was a 40-year-old male with a chronic hepatitis C-infected spouse. HCV infection was diagnosed in July 2006 on the basis of amplification of HCV genotype 2a/2c. The serum HCV RNA level was 113000 IU/mL at baseline. It was suggested that his HCV infection was transmitted by sexual intercourse. Physical examination was unremarkable. The serum AST was 56 IU/L. The ALT, GGT, and ALP were normal. The PT, bilirubin, and serum creatinine were normal. Liver function was reported as CTP class A. Liver ultrasonography indicated chronic liver disease with mild splenomegaly.

In October 2006, combination therapy with peginterferon alpha-2b and ribavirin was initiated with the informed consent of the patient. Peginterferon alpha-2b was administered at a weekly dose of 120 μ g together with 800 mg/d of ribavirin for 24 wk. Serum HCV RNA levels were determined at baseline and at weeks 4 and 12 by quantitative PCR. This patient did not achieve RVR, but did achieve complete EVR. However, he lacked an ETR at week 24 of therapy. The serum HCV RNA level was 155 IU/mL, as determined by quantitative PCR.

Combination therapy with peginterferon alpha-2a and ribavirin was immediately initiated as retreatment. Peginterferon alpha-2a was subcutaneously administered at a weekly dose of 180 μ g together with 800 mg/d of ribavirin for 12 wk. The patient did not accomplish RVR at week 4 of retreatment, but did accomplish complete EVR at week 12. Additionally, undetectable serum HCV RNA was determined at week 24 by qualitative PCR. He accomplished SVR at 24 wk following interruption of retreatment.

The baseline characteristics and antiviral therapy regimens of these patients are presented in Table 1.

DISCUSSION

The first-line treatment for chronic hepatitis C was peginterferon-ribavirin treatment until May 2011, when the first direct-acting antiviral agents were licensed by the FDA for use with peginterferon and ribavirin in treatment-naïve and treatment-experienced HCV-infected patients with compensated liver cirrhosis. HCV-infected patients following the addition of the first direct-acting antiviral agents to combined peginterferon and ribavirin treatment accomplished



Table 1 Baseline character	istics of patients			
Characteristics	Case 1	Case 2	Case 3	Case 4
Gender	Male	Male	Male	Male
Age (yr)	37	58	60	40
Body weight (kg)	80	69	63	84
Height (m)	1.75	1.69	1.65	1.84
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	26.1	24.2	23.1	24.8
HCV genotype	1b	1b	1b	2a/2c
HCV infection route	Intravenous drug abuse	Sexual intercourse	Sexual intercourse	Sexual intercourse
Serum HCV RNA level at	585026	3420000	7710000	113000
baseline (IU/mL)				
Antiviral therapy regimen	Peginterferon α -2a and	Peginterferon α -2b and	Peginterferon α -2b and ribavirin	Peginterferon α -2b and
	ribavirin for 48 wk	ribavirin for 48 wk	for 48 wk	ribavirin for 48 wk
	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow
	Peginterferon α -2b and	Peginterferon α -2b and	Peginterferon α -2b and ribavirin	Peginterferon α -2a and
	ribavirin for 12 wk	ribavirin for 12 wk	for 12 wk	ribavirin for 12 wk

HCV: Hepatitis C virus.

higher SVR rates compared with peginterferonribavirin treatment. Recently, the FDA approved sofosbuvir and simeprevir for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C. The addition of direct-acting antiviral agents to combined peginterferon and ribavirin treatment represents a significant advancement in HCV treatment^[13-16].

Non-responders to peginterferon-based therapy or those who relapse following this therapy are increasing in number, with such individuals displaying decompensated liver cirrhosis. Before the availability of direct-acting antiviral agents, limited retreatment options were available for these patients. Recently, retreatment with peginterferon and ribavirin plus a direct-acting antiviral agent has been shown to lead to a higher SVR rate compared with peginterferonribavirin treatment^[15-18].

The development of direct-acting antiviral agents marks a major step towards the eventual aim of more potent and shorter courses of treatment, and other compounds are also being developed with different viral targets. This is a rapidly-changing era in HCV treatment, with such major developments being achieved as new compounds that can cooperate with clinicians to manage this hard-to-cure virus.

A new era of treatment for HCV is dawning with the development of direct-acting antiviral agents, but these new agents are not a magic bullet. Unfortunately, clinical trials have recognized that the use of these new agents in isolation leads to the prompt emergence of viral resistance and mutations^[19,20].

The onset of the acquired immune deficiency syndrome pandemic led to antiviral drugs with diverse mechanisms being developed. However, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) remains unconquered due to its viral resistance. Many properties of HCV are similar to that of HIV. Thus, resistance can be the primary scourge of anti-HCV treatment.

Almost all patients will experience treatment related adverse events that lead to poor tolerability,

which can in turn result in early treatment interruption. The addition of direct-acting antiviral agents to peginterferon-based treatment is connected by adverse events, and thus requires the interruption of direct-acting antiviral agents in 10%-12% of patients^[21]. Adverse events that occur with increased frequency in subjects receiving direct-acting antiviral agents include anemia, leukopenia, taste disorder, gastrointestinal discomfort, fatigue, skin eruption, and perianal discomfort^[13-16].

These considerations highlight the fact that directacting antiviral agents are not a cure-all and may not be the best choice for all patients who need treatment.

This retrospective study revealed that retreatment with peginterferon-ribavirin treatment may be of value in some patients in whom previous peginterferon and ribavirin combination therapy has failed.

After the completion of initial antiviral treatment, patients are monitored to assess their treatment response and the occurrence of adverse events. Laboratory monitoring includes measurements of white blood cell count, aminotransferase, serum creatinine, and HCV RNA at 4, 8, 12, and 24 wk after end of treatment. Patients with virologic relapse are immediately retreated with peginterferon and ribavirin. This retrospective study indicated that the SVR was not significantly decreased in patients retreated with peginterferon and ribavirin compared with the new therapy.

Pre-retreatment predictors of response may be helpful for informing patients of their probability of SVR. SVR rates were higher in treatment-naïve patients with a viral load of less than 400000 IU/mL^[11]. Likewise, the results of this study clearly demonstrate that viral load at relapse is very important in predicting the outcome of retreatment. The changes in the HCV RNA levels in these patients are presented in Table 2.

The absence of EVR is the most powerful means

Jo YM et al. Retreatment with peginterferon and ribavirin

Table 2 Changes in	hepatitis C v	irus RNA	Table 2 Changes in hepatitis C virus RNA level (IU/mL)								
Weeks of treatment			Previous treatm	ent		Retreatme	ent				
	0	12	24	48	0	12	36				
Case 1	585026	< 50	Negative	Negative	13367	< 50 (complete EVR)	Negative (SVR)				
Case 2	3420000	63	Negative	Negative	536	< 50 (complete EVR)	Negative (SVR)				
Case 3	7710000	226	Negative	Negative	Positive ¹	< 50 (complete EVR)	Negative (SVR)				
Case 4	113000	< 50	Positive	N/A	155	< 50 (complete EVR)	Negative (SVR)				

¹Positive of hepatitis C virus RNA was determined by qualitative PCR. EVR: Early virologic response; SVR: Sustained virologic response.

of identifying non-responders in treatment-naïve patients^[22,23]. All patients achieving complete EVR also achieved SVR in this study. The outcomes of this study clearly show that complete EVR is very important in predicting the outcome of retreatment (Table 2).

There is no common consent regarding the retreatment period for chronic hepatitis C-infected patients who have previously relapsed. Almost all patients treated with peginterferon-ribavirin treatment have experienced adverse events. Adverse events represent a major cause for patients giving up on the treatment. Therefore, the optimal duration of retreatment should be based on virologic clearance to promote the adherence of patients to the regimen. In this study, after peginterferon plus ribavirin was administered for 12 wk, patients achieved complete EVR at week 12 of retreatment and SVR at 24 wk following discontinuation of retreatment.

The evolution of compounds that inhibit virus replication by inhibiting either HCV protease or polymerase will refine the treatment of hepatitis C. Many such drugs are currently under development. New drugs promise to increase the SVR rates for chronic hepatitis C-infected patients and possibly shorten treatment duration. However, this enhanced response comes with an increased incidence of adverse events and a higher cost. An additional concern with regard to newer therapies is that of viral resistance. The emergence of resistant variants has not been observed with the current peginterferon and ribavirin therapy. In addition, adherence to the new therapeutic regimens cannot be omnipotent.

Retreatment with peginterferon and ribavirin plus a direct-acting antiviral agent in chronic hepatitis C-infected patients has led to higher SVR rates compared with those achieved with previous treatment in clinical trials. SVR was achieved in 69%-88% of relapsers and in 29%-33% of null responders^[13-16]. This retrospective study determined that SVR was not significantly reduced by the peginterferon and ribavirin combination therapy compared with the new therapy.

Collectively, we suggest that patients who relapse shortly after completing treatment with peginterferon plus ribavirin have a reasonable chance of achieving SVR when retreated with peginterferon and ribavirin alone. It would be very reasonable to proceed with this retreatment, particularly in those patients possessing factors connected by high rates of SVR, such as a low viral load at relapse (< 400000 IU/mL) and complete EVR at week 12 of retreatment

New direct-acting antiviral agents cannot be the best retreatment option for motivated patients who have previously relapsed. When making the decision to treat using a new therapy, the clinician must consider the benefits of the simpler, lesstoxic regimen connected by lower SVR rate with the new therapy and its associated higher toxicity, complexity, increased risk of resistance development, and potentially higher SVR rate.

A limitation of our study is that there were insufficient numbers of patients to strongly substantiate our findings. Secondly, information regarding liver histology and interleukin 28B gene polymorphism was not reported.

COMMENTS

Case characteristics

Case 1: A 37-year-old male with a history of chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection caused by intravenous drug abuse. Case 2: A 58-year-old male with a chronic hepatitis C-infected spouse; it was suggested that his HCV infection had been transmitted by sexual intercourse.

Clinical diagnosis

HCV was diagnosed on the basis of amplification of HCV RNA.

Differential diagnosis

Viral hepatitis, drug-induced hepatitis, autoimmune hepatitis, and steato-hepatitis.

Laboratory diagnosis

Case 1: HCV RNA level of 585026 IU/mL. Case 2: HCV RNA level of 3420000 IU/mL.

Imaging diagnosis

Case 1: Liver ultrasonography showed early liver cirrhosis with splenomegaly. Case 2: Liver ultrasonography showed chronic liver disease with mild splenomegaly.

Treatment

The two patients were treated with peginterferon and ribavirin.

Related reports

There is no consensus on a retreatment method for patients with HCV who have previously relapsed.

Term explanation

Sustained virologic response is the absence of HCV RNA in the blood at 24 wk after treatment completion.

Experiences and lessons

These findings suggest that patients who relapse shortly after completing treatment with peginterferon plus ribavirin have a reasonable chance of SVR when retreated with the previous treatment.



Peer-review

This article discusses chronic hepatitis C retreatment methods in patients who have previously relapsed.

REFERENCES

- Lavanchy D. The global burden of hepatitis C. *Liver Int* 2009; 29 Suppl 1: 74-81 [PMID: 19207969 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2008.0 1934.x]
- Williams R. Global challenges in liver disease. *Hepatology* 2006;
 44: 521-526 [PMID: 16941687 DOI: 10.1002/hep.21347]
- 3 European Association for Study of Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: management of hepatitis C virus infection. *J Hepatol* 2014; 60: 392-420 [PMID: 24331294 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.11.003]
- 4 Shin HR. Epidemiology of hepatitis C virus in Korea. Intervirology 2006; 49: 18-22 [PMID: 16166784 DOI: 10.1159/000087258]
- 5 Seeff LB. Natural history of chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 2002; 36: S35-S46 [PMID: 12407575 DOI: 10.1002/hep.1840360706]
- 6 Hajarizadeh B, Grebely J, Dore GJ. Epidemiology and natural history of HCV infection. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013; 10: 553-562 [PMID: 23817321 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2013.107]
- 7 Holmes J, Thompson A, Bell S. Hepatitis C--an update. *Aust Fam Physician* 2013; **42**: 452-456 [PMID: 23826595]
- 8 Maasoumy B, Wedemeyer H. Natural history of acute and chronic hepatitis C. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol* 2012; 26: 401-412 [PMID: 23199500 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpg.2012.09.009]
- 9 Manns MP, Wedemeyer H, Cornberg M. Treating viral hepatitis C: efficacy, side effects, and complications. *Gut* 2006; 55: 1350-1359 [PMID: 16905701 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2005.076646]
- 10 Lindsay KL. Introduction to therapy of hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 2002; 36: S114-S120 [PMID: 12407584 DOI: 10.1002/hep.1840360715]
- 11 Ghany MG, Strader DB, Thomas DL, Seeff LB. Diagnosis, management, and treatment of hepatitis C: an update. *Hepatology* 2009; 49: 1335-1374 [PMID: 19330875 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22759]
- 12 Strader DB, Wright T, Thomas DL, Seeff LB. Diagnosis, management, and treatment of hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 2004; 39: 1147-1171 [PMID: 15057920 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20119]
- 13 Poordad F, McCone J, Bacon BR, Bruno S, Manns MP, Sulkowski MS, Jacobson IM, Reddy KR, Goodman ZD, Boparai N, DiNubile MJ, Sniukiene V, Brass CA, Albrecht JK, Bronowicki JP. Boceprevir for untreated chronic HCV genotype 1 infection. *N Engl J Med* 2011; **364**: 1195-1206 [PMID: 21449783 DOI: 10.1056/nejmoa1010494]
- 14 Jacobson IM, McHutchison JG, Dusheiko G, Di Bisceglie AM, Reddy KR, Bzowej NH, Marcellin P, Muir AJ, Ferenci P, Flisiak R, George J, Rizzetto M, Shouval D, Sola R, Terg RA, Yoshida EM, Adda N, Bengtsson L, Sankoh AJ, Kieffer TL, George S, Kauffman

RS, Zeuzem S. Telaprevir for previously untreated chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *N Engl J Med* 2011; **364**: 2405-2416 [PMID: 21696307 DOI: 10.1056/nejmoa1012912]

- 15 Zeuzem S, Andreone P, Pol S, Lawitz E, Diago M, Roberts S, Focaccia R, Younossi Z, Foster GR, Horban A, Ferenci P, Nevens F, Müllhaupt B, Pockros P, Terg R, Shouval D, van Hoek B, Weiland O, Van Heeswijk R, De Meyer S, Luo D, Boogaerts G, Polo R, Picchio G, Beumont M. Telaprevir for retreatment of HCV infection. *N Engl J Med* 2011; **364**: 2417-2428 [PMID: 21696308 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1013086]
- 16 Bacon BR, Gordon SC, Lawitz E, Marcellin P, Vierling JM, Zeuzem S, Poordad F, Goodman ZD, Sings HL, Boparai N, Burroughs M, Brass CA, Albrecht JK, Esteban R. Boceprevir for previously treated chronic HCV genotype 1 infection. *N Engl J Med* 2011; 364: 1207-1217 [PMID: 21449784 DOI: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1009482]
- 17 Victrelis (boceprevir; package insert). Whitehouse Station, NJ: Schering Corporation, 2011
- 18 Incivek (telaprevir; package insert). Cambridge, MA: Vertex Pharmaceuticals Inc, 2011
- 19 Susser S, Forestier N, Welker M, Vermehren J, Karey U, Zeuzem S, Sarrazin C. 12 Detection of resistant variants in the hepatitis C virus NS3 protease gene by clonal sequencing at long-term follow-up in patients treated with boceprevir. *Hepatology* 2009; 50: S7 [DOI: 10.1016/S0168-8278(09)60014-3]
- 20 Sarrazin C, Kieffer TL, Bartels D, Hanzelka B, Müh U, Welker M, Wincheringer D, Zhou Y, Chu HM, Lin C, Weegink C, Reesink H, Zeuzem S, Kwong AD. Dynamic hepatitis C virus genotypic and phenotypic changes in patients treated with the protease inhibitor telaprevir. *Gastroenterology* 2007; **132**: 1767-1777 [PMID: 17484874 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.02.037]
- 21 Hézode C, Forestier N, Dusheiko G, Ferenci P, Pol S, Goeser T, Bronowicki JP, Bourlière M, Gharakhanian S, Bengtsson L, McNair L, George S, Kieffer T, Kwong A, Kauffman RS, Alam J, Pawlotsky JM, Zeuzem S. Telaprevir and peginterferon with or without ribavirin for chronic HCV infection. *N Engl J Med* 2009; 360: 1839-1850 [PMID: 19403903 DOI: 10.1056/nejmoa0807650]
- 22 Fried MW, Shiffman ML, Reddy KR, Smith C, Marinos G, Gonçales FL, Häussinger D, Diago M, Carosi G, Dhumeaux D, Craxi A, Lin A, Hoffman J, Yu J. Peginterferon alfa-2a plus ribavirin for chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *N Engl J Med* 2002; 347: 975-982 [PMID: 12324553 DOI: 10.1056/nejmoa020047]
- 23 Davis GL, Wong JB, McHutchison JG, Manns MP, Harvey J, Albrecht J. Early virologic response to treatment with peginterferon alfa-2b plus ribavirin in patients with chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 2003; 38: 645-652 [PMID: 12939591 DOI: 10.1053/ jhep.2003.50364]

P- Reviewer: Oshiumi H S- Editor: Yu J L- Editor: Rutherford A E- Editor: Ma S






Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.2000 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 2000-2004 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

CASE REPORT

Successful treatment of complex cholangiolithiasis following orthotopic liver transplantation with interventional radiology

Chuan-Guo Zhou, Bao-Jie Wei, Kun Gao, Ding-Ke Dai, Ren-You Zhai

Chuan-Guo Zhou, Bao-Jie Wei, Kun Gao, Ding-Ke Dai, Ren-You Zhai, Department of Radiology, Beijing Chaoyang Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing 100020, China

Author contributions: Zhou CG and Zhai RY designed the study; Wei BJ and Gao K were the patient's attending doctors; Dai DK, Wei BJ and Gao K performed interventional procedures; Zhou CG and Wei BJ organized the report; Zhou CG wrote the paper.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Ren-You Zhai, MD, Professor, Department of Radiology, Beijing Chaoyang Hospital, Capital Medical University, No. 8 Gongren Tiyuchang Nan Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing 100020, China. ryzhai219@hotmail.com

Telephone: +86-10-85231908 Fax: +86-10-65935214

Received: May 18, 2014 Peer-review started: May 19, 2014 First decision: June 10, 2014 Revised: June 28, 2014 Accepted: July 29, 2014 Article in press: July 30, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

Bile duct stones are a serious and the third most common complication of the biliary system that can occur following liver transplantation. The incidence rate of bile duct stones after liver transplantation is 1.8%-18%. The management of biliary stones is usually performed with endoscopic techniques; however, the technique may prove to be challenging in the treatment of the intrahepatic bile duct stones. We herein report a case of a 40-year-old man with rare, complex bile duct stones that were successfully eliminated with percutaneous interventional techniques. The complex bile duct stones were defined as a large number of bile stones filling the intra- and extrahepatic bile tracts, resulting in a cast formation within the biliary tree. Common complications such as hemobilia and acute pancreatitis were not present during the perioperative period. The follow-up period was 20 mo long. During the postoperative period, the patient maintained normal temperature, and normal total bilirubin and direct bilirubin levels. The patient is now living a high quality life. This case report highlights the safety and efficacy of the percutaneous interventional approach in the removal of complex bile duct stones following liver transplantation.

Key words: Complex bile duct stones; Percutaneous interventional technique; Liver transplantation; Intrahepatic bile tract; Extrahepatic bile tract

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Bile duct stones are a rare, but serious complication that can occur following liver transplantation and can be very difficult to treat with endoscopic techniques. A case is presented involving a 40-year-old man who developed complex bile duct stones following liver transplantation, with a large number of stones filling the intra- and extrahepatic bile tracts and forming a cast in the biliary tree. The patient's stones were successfully removed using percutaneous interventional techniques, highlighting the safety and efficacy of this approach in the removal of complex bile duct stones following liver transplantation.

Zhou CG, Wei BJ, Gao K, Dai DK, Zhai RY. Successful treatment of complex cholangiolithiasis following orthotopic



liver transplantation with interventional radiology. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21(6): 2000-2004 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v21/i6/2000.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.2000

INTRODUCTION

Liver transplantation is the only effective method for the treatment of terminal-stage chronic liver diseases. However, there is a high incidence of biliary complications following liver transplantation and longterm, repeated therapies, as the biliary epithelium appears to be more susceptible to ischemia than the liver parenchyma^[1,2]. Biliary stones, though uncommon, are a serious complication of orthotopic liver transplantation, which, if not properly treated, may result in severe infection of the biliary tract, liver failure, and even graft loss. The incidence of biliary stones in liver transplant patients varies widely from 1.8%-18% $^{\scriptscriptstyle [3\text{-}5]}$. Biliary stones are sometimes managed with interventional radiology, surgery or retransplantation, but most commonly treated with endoscopy^[6-9]. The disadvantage of endoscopy is a potential for the development of serious complications such as hemobilia and acute pancreatitis. Furthermore, endoscopy is technically more challenging in the treatment of intrahepatic bile stones. Following stone extraction there is a recurrence rate of 17% within a median of six months^[10,11].

Percutaneous interventional techniques represent an alternative approach for the treatment of bile duct stones. These techniques provide a safe and effective approach for the treatment of not only extrahepatic, but also intrahepatic, bile stones. Here, we present a case of rare, complex bile duct stones following orthotopic liver transplantation. The bile duct stones were considered complex, as a large number were found within the intra- and extrahepatic bile tracts, forming a cast in the biliary tree. The removal of bile duct stones was performed successfully using percutaneous interventional techniques. This case report provides an alternative option for managing difficult and serious complications following liver transplantation.

CASE REPORT

In May 2009, a 40-year-old man underwent classic orthotopic liver transplantation for the treatment of end-stage liver disease secondary to hepatocellular carcinoma from liver cirrhosis. The patient's posttransplantation recovery was uneventful; however, three months after the surgery his skin and sclera gradually became yellow. The primary diagnosis was obstructive jaundice, which was confirmed by magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography (MRCP) and cholangiography, and treated with percutaneous





transhepatic biliary drainage. In August 2011, due to persistent aggravated jaundice, the patient was referred to our section for further treatment.

The patient's medical history showed presence of both hepatitis B and liver cirrhosis. The laboratory examination revealed: total bilirubin, 140 µmol/L (normal, 3.4-20.5 µmol/L); direct bilirubin, 125 μmol/L (normal, 0-6.8 μmol/L); alkaline phosphatase, 152 U/L (normal, 50-136 U/L); gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase, 77 U/L (normal, 5-85 U/L); hepatitis B surface antigen, negative; alpha-fetoprotein, 2.5 ng/mL (normal, 0-13.6 ng/L); and normal total cholesterol and triglyceride levels. The MRCP showed presence of a large number of bile duct stones in the intra- and extrahepatic bile ducts with a mild dilation of the intrahepatic bile duct. Percutaneous transhepatic cholangiography (PTC) showed molding of the intra- and extrahepatic bile ducts into a duct cast by the stones (Figure 1).

Interventional procedures

Informed consent was obtained from the patient prior to the interventional procedures. The first procedure was carried out on September 20, 2011. First, a hydrophilic, coated guidewire was used to traverse the stenosis section of the biliary anastomotic stricture entering into the jejunum. Second, an 8 mm



Zhou CG et al. Complex cholangiolithiasis treated with interventional radiology



Figure 2 Crushing of the extrahepatic bile duct stones. Percutaneous transhepatic cholangiography showing that bile duct stones were crushed from the A: Proximal; B: Distal duct with the inflated balloon catheter.

× 40 mm balloon catheter (ATB5-35-40-8-4.0; COOK Inc., Bloomington, IN, United States) was placed over the guidewire at the extrahepatic bile duct. Consequently, the extrahepatic bile duct stones were crushed from the proximal to distal bile duct using the inflated balloon catheter (Figure 2). Finally, a biliary tunnel was formed in the biliary cast, and the stone fragments were flushed with a 12 F biliary drainage tube. The procedure was carried out two more times afterwards. The inflated balloon catheter was used to push some of the bigger fragments to the duodenum via balloon sphincteroplasty. On December 5, 2011, a double balloon catheter technique was used for efficient elimination of the intrahepatic bile stones and left side percutaneous transhepatic biliary drainage was performed. Balloon catheters [8 mm × 40 mm and 10 mm × 40 mm (ATB5-35-40-10-4.0; COOK Inc.)] were placed in the left- and right-side bile ducts and simultaneously inflated in order to crush the intrahepatic bile stones. On December 28, 2011, a basket extractor (Nitinol Tipless Stone Extractor, NTSE-030115-UDH-MB; COOK Inc.) was used to cut some of the large residual stones (Figure 3).

Four months after the percutaneous transhepatic biliary drainage, PTC showed no presence of bile duct stones in either the intra- or extrahepatic or bile ducts. The intrahepatic bile duct was not dilated while the extrahepatic bile duct was mildly dilated (Figure 4). Hence, the left-side drainage tube was removed



Figure 3 Percutaneous interventional techniques used on the intrahepatic bile stones. A: The intrahepatic bile stones were crushed with the double balloon catheter technique; B: The large residual stones were cut with the basket extractor (arrow).

on April 16, 2012 while the right-side drainage tube was removed on May 23, 2012. All of the procedures were free from complications. The follow-up period was 20 mo (until February 2014). During the post-operative period, the patient maintained normal body temperature, as well as normal levels of total and direct bilirubin. The patient is now able to live a normal life.

DISCUSSION

Orthotopic liver transplantation is currently the standard therapy for end-stage liver diseases. Despite great improvements in organ preservation, immunosuppression, and surgical techniques, biliary complications (BCs), including non-anastomotic and anastomotic strictures, stone formation, and bile leaks, remain a common source of morbidity. Consequently, patients may undergo long-term and repeated therapies including percutaneous, endoscopic, and surgical procedures. BCs may also increase liver retransplantation rates and influence graft and patient survival rates. The overall incidence of BCs after orthotopic liver transplantation is between 5% and 25%^[6]. Although the underlying reasons for the bile stone formation are unknown, some research indicates that anastomotic strictures, bacterial infections, ischemia, elevated total cholesterol, and



Figure 4 Elimination of bile duct stones. Percutaneous transhepatic cholangiography showed no presence of the bile stones and a normal biliary tree four months after the percutaneous interventional procedures.

triglyceride levels could predispose a patient to the formation of biliary stones or $sludge^{[5,6,12]}$.

This case report presents a rare occurrence of complex bile stones following orthotopic liver transplantation and their successful elimination using the percutaneous interventional technique. The case presented a serious situation in which both the intraand extrahepatic bile ducts were filled with a large number of stones, making their removal by endoscopy difficult. Hence, a series of percutaneous interventional techniques were used in the treatment of the patient. The extrahepatic bile duct stones were crushed with the inflated balloon catheter, and the stone fragments were flushed by a drainage tube. Some of the large stone fragments were pushed into the duodenum via balloon sphincteroplasty. The intrahepatic bile stones were eliminated with the double-balloon catheter technique and a basket extractor was used to cut the large residual stones. The biliary drainage tube was reserved, and ursodeoxycholic acid was administrated to promote biliary excretion and avoid biliary tract infection. Four months later, the bile stones were completely eliminated, and normal liver function was recovered with no perioperative complications. The patient had no clinical symptoms, and the laboratory examinations were normal at the last check-up. The patient is now living a high quality of life.

In conclusion, the percutaneous interventional technique provides a safe and effective treatment of bile stones following orthotopic liver transplantation without commonly associated complications, such as hemobilia or acute pancreatitis. The case presented here demonstrates that the percutaneous interventional technique is especially suitable for the removal of complex bile stones, which are otherwise difficult to treat endoscopically.

COMMENTS

Case characteristics

A 40-year-old male patient with a history of orthotopic liver transplantation presented with aggravated jaundice.

Clinical diagnosis

A large number of bile duct stones filled both the intra- and extrahepatic bile ducts with mild dilation of the intrahepatic bile duct.

Differential diagnosis

Anastomotic stenosis, common bile duct stone, and malignant obstructive jaundice.

Laboratory diagnosis

Total bilirubin, 140 $\mu mol/L;$ direct bilirubin, 125 $\mu mol/L;$ alpha-fetoprotein, 2.5 ng/mL.

Imaging diagnosis

Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography showed a large number of bile duct stones in the intra- and extrahepatic bile ducts with an associated mild dilation of the intrahepatic bile duct.

Treatment

The patient was treated with a series of percutaneous interventional procedures.

Related reports

An endoscopy is commonly used in the management of biliary stones; however, endoscopy may be technically challenging in the treatment of the intrahepatic bile stones.

Term explanation

Complex bile duct stones are defined as a large number of bile stones within the intra- and extrahepatic bile tracts forming a cast in the biliary tree.

Experiences and lessons

This case report emphasizes the safety and efficacy of the percutaneous interventional approach in the removal of complex bile duct stones following liver transplantation.

Peer-review

This article applies a percutaneous interventional technique in the elimination of complex bile duct stones following orthotopic liver transplantation.

REFERENCES

- Noack K, Bronk SF, Kato A, Gores GJ. The greater vulnerability of bile duct cells to reoxygenation injury than to anoxia. Implications for the pathogenesis of biliary strictures after liver transplantation. *Transplantation* 1993; 56: 495-500 [PMID: 8212138]
- 2 Seehofer D, Eurich D, Veltzke-Schlieker W, Neuhaus P. Biliary complications after liver transplantation: old problems and new challenges. *Am J Transplant* 2013; 13: 253-265 [PMID: 23331505 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12034]
- 3 Yu ZY, Zhang M, Qin YS, Zhou XP, Cai MY, Yu SF, Ke QH, Zheng SS. Risk factors of choledocholithiasis formation after liver transplantation. *Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int* 2013; 12: 215-217 [PMID: 23558078 DOI: 10.1016/S1499-3872(13)60034-X]
- 4 Cillo U, Burra P, Norberto L, D'Amico D. Bile duct stones and casts after liver transplantation: Different entities but similar prevention strategy? *Liver Transpl* 2008; 14: 1400-1403 [PMID: 18825732 DOI: 10.1002/lt.21628]
- 5 Spier BJ, Pfau PR, Lorenze KR, Knechtle SJ, Said A. Risk factors and outcomes in post-liver transplantation bile duct stones and casts: A case-control study. *Liver Transpl* 2008; 14: 1461-1465 [PMID: 18825682 DOI: 10.1002/lt.21511]
- 6 Balderramo D, Navasa M, Cardenas A. Current management of biliary complications after liver transplantation: emphasis on endoscopic therapy. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 34: 107-115 [PMID: 20692731 DOI: 10.1016/j.gastrohep.2010.05.008]
- 7 Verdonk RC, Buis CI, Porte RJ, Haagsma EB. Biliary complications after liver transplantation: a review. *Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl* 2006; (243): 89-101 [PMID: 16782628 DOI: 10.1080/00365520600 664375]
- 8 Arain MA, Attam R, Freeman ML. Advances in endoscopic management of biliary tract complications after liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2013; 19: 482-498 [PMID: 23417867 DOI: 10.1002/ lt.23624]
- 9 Attam R, Freeman ML. Endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation for large common bile duct stones. *J Hepatobiliary Pan*-



WJG www.wjgnet.com

creat Surg 2009; **16**: 618-623 [PMID: 19551331 DOI: 10.1007/ s00534-009-0134-2]

- 10 Thuluvath PJ, Pfau PR, Kimmey MB, Ginsberg GG. Biliary complications after liver transplantation: the role of endoscopy. *Endoscopy* 2005; 37: 857-863 [PMID: 16116539 DOI: 10.1055/ s-2005-870192]
- 11 Chahal P, Baron TH, Poterucha JJ, Rosen CB. Endoscopic

retrograde cholangiography in post-orthotopic liver transplant population with Roux-en-Y biliary reconstruction. *Liver Transpl* 2007; **13**: 1168-1173 [PMID: 17663414 DOI: 10.1002/lt.21198]

12 Londoño MC, Balderramo D, Cárdenas A. Management of biliary complications after orthotopic liver transplantation: the role of endoscopy. *World J Gastroenterol* 2008; 14: 493-497 [PMID: 18203278 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.14.493]

> P- Reviewer: Higuera-de la Tijera MF S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN







Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

8226 Regency Drive, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-223-8242 Fax: +1-925-223-8243 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx http://www.wjgnet.com





© 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.